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PREFACE.

The chief object of the Handbook for the Rhine is to
supply the traveller with such information as will render
him as nearly as possible independent of hotel-keepers,
commissionnaires, and guides, and thus enable him the
more thoroughly to enjoy and appreeiste the objects of
interest he meets with on his tour.

The Handbook is based almost entirely upon the per-

Soual qbservation of, thp; Editer, and the eountry de-
mmd,w been repeatedly  gxplored by bim with a
view to mﬁmu'e the latest posaible infarmation; but, as
changes are constantly taking place, he will highly appre-
ciate any communications with which travellers may
kindly favour him, if the, result of their ewn experience.
Those already received from numerous correspondents,
which he gratefully acknowledges, have in many cases
proved most serviceable.

The present edition, which corresponds with the 29th
in German and the 17th in French, has been thoroughly
revised and brought up to date. For the article om
Rhenish Art the Editor is indebted to the late Professor
Anton Springer of Leipsie.

. The Maps and PrLANS, on which special care has
been bestowed, will often render material service to the
traveller, and enable him at a glance to ascertain his
bearings and select the best routes.

TiME TaBLES. Information regarding trains, steam-
boats, and diligences is most trustworthy when obtained
from local sources. The best German publications of
the kind are ‘Hendschels Telegraph' (2 .#), published
at Frankfort on the Main, and issued monthly -during
the summer season, and the ‘Reichs-Kursbuck’ (2 M),
published at Berlin, issued eight times a year.

HeieHTS are given in English feet (1 Engl. ft. =
0,3048 métre), DisTANCES in English miles (except in the

case of mounhin-exchl}‘rﬁégigtg time they occupy
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is given as more convenient), and the POPULATIONS in
accordance with the most recent census.

HoteLs. The Editor has endeavoured to enumerate,
mnot only the first-class hotels, but others also of more
modest pretensions, which may be safely selected by the
‘voyageur en gargon’, with little sacrifice of comfort
and great saving of expenditure. Although changes fre-
‘quently take place, and prices generally have an upward
tendency, the average charges stated in the Handbook
will enable the traveller to form a fair estimate of his prob-
able expenditure. It is advisable to ascertain the charge
for rooms in advance. The asterisks indicate those hotels
which the Editor has reason to believe to be provided
with the comforts and conveniences expected in an up-
to-date establishment, and also to be well managed and
with a reasonable scale of charges. Houses of a more
modest character, when good-of their class, are described
as ‘fair’ or ‘very fair’. At the same time he does not
doubt that comfortable quarters may often be obtained at
inns which he has not recommended or even mentioned.

The Editor regrets that he is unable to answer all
communications. To hotel-proprietors, tradesmen, and
others he begs to intimate that a character for fair deal-
ing and courtesy towards travellers forms the sole pass-
port to his commendation, and that advertisements of
every kind are strictly excluded from his Handbooks.

Abbreviations. .
R. = room, route; L. = luncheon, light; B. = breakfast; D. = dinner;
8. = supper; A = attendance; rfmts. = refreshments; pens. = pension

(§.e. board and lodging). — N. = north, northern, etc.; S. = south, etc.;
E. = east, etc.; W, = west, etc. — r. = right; 1. = left. — M. = English
mile; ft. = Engl. foot. — 4 = mark; pf. = pfennig; fr. = franc; c. =
centime. — hr. = hour; min, = minute. — Carr. = carriage; omn, =
omnibas, — ca. = circa, about. — Comp. = compare.

The letter 4 with a date, after the name of a person, indicates the
year of his death. The number of feet given after the name of a place in-
dicates its height above the sea-level. The number of miles placed be-
fore the principal places on railway-routes and highroads generally indi-
cates their distance from the starting-point of the route.

Asterisks are used as marks of commendation.
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INTRODUCTION.

I. Language.

A slight acquaintance with German is indispensable for those
who desire to explore the more remote parts of the Rhenish
Provinces. Tourists who do not deviate from the beaten track will
generally find English or French spoken at the principal hotels and
the usual resorts of strangers; but if they are entirely ignorant of
the language they must be prepared occasionally to submit, to the
extortions practised by porters, cab-drivers, and others of a like
class, which even the data furnished by the Handbook will not
always enable them to avoid.

II. Money. Travelling Eipomm.

Mongy. The German mark (), which is nearly equivalent to
the English shilling, is divided into 100 pfennigs. Banknotes of 5,
20, and 50 . are issued by the German Imperial Bank (‘Deutsche
Reichsbank’), and others of 100, 500, and 1000 .# by the Imperial
Bank and by twelve other banks which possess the privilege. The
current gold coins are pieces of 10 and of 20 marks, the intrinsic
value of which is somewhat lower than that of the English half-
sovereign and sovereign (1.. being worth about 20 .4 43 pf.). The
paper currency is of the same value as the precious metals. The
silver coilns are pieces of 5, 8 (the old dollar), 2, 1, and 1/ mark
(50 pt.). In nickel there are coins of 10 and b pfennigs, and in
copper there are pieces of 2 and 1 pfennig.

English sovereigns and banknotes may be exchanged at all the
principal towns in Germany, and napoleons are also favourably
received (20 fr. = 16s. = 16 .4, and often a little more). Those
who travel with large sums should carry them in the form of letters
of credit or in circular notes of 5i. or 10Z., rather than in banknotes
or gold, as the value of the former, if lost or stolen, is recoverable.

TRAVELLING ExpeNsEs. The expense of a tour in the Rhenish
Provinces depends of course on a great variety of circumstances. Of
late years many complaints have justly been made of the exorbitant
charges at some of the Rhenish hotels; but it may be stated generally
that travelling in Glermany, and even on the Rhine, is less ex-
pensive, and in some respects more comfortable, than in most
other countries in Europe. The pedestrian of moderate require-
ments, who has attained tolerable proficiency in the language and
avoids the beaten track as much as possible, will have no difficulty
in limiting his expenditure to 8-10 .4 per day; but those who prefer
driving to walking, frequent the most expensive hotels; and require
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the services of guides and commissionnaires, must be prepared to
expend at least 25-30.4 daily.

III. Passports. Custom House.

PassPorTs are, as a rale, unnecessary for travellers in Germany,
but they are occasionally required to prove the identity of the trav-
eller, to procure admission to collections, and to obtain delivery of
registered letters. Cyclists (comp. p. xviil) should always carry a
passport. Among the principal passport-agents in London are:
Buss, 4 Adelaide Street, Strand (charge 4s., including agent’s fee);
C. Smith and Son, 23 Craven Street, Charing Cross (inclusive fee 4s.);
Thomas Cook & Son, Ludgate Circus (fee 3s. 6d.); and Henry
Blacklock & Co. (‘Bradshaw’s Guides’; fee Ds.). An extra charge is
made for each visa, should such be necessary.

CustoM Houss formalities are now almost everywhere lenient,
As a rule, however, articles purchased during the journey, which
are not destined for personal use, should be declared at the frontier.

IV. Routes from London to the Rhine.

Cologne, as the focus of the Rhenish districts, is taken as the
goal of the under-noted routes; but it will be easy to make the re-
quisite allowances if some other point be the tourist's destination.
— Luggage may be registered through to destination (booking-fee
4-6d. per package), but is examined at the frontier (see below).
Bicycles are registered as ordinary luggage for an extra fee of bs. —
Second-class passengers may travel in the saloon of the steamers for
a small extra fee (from 23, upwards). — Uniformed Irniterpreters
attend the Continental trains at the chief points of departure and
arrival. — German (Central Europe) time is 1 hr. ahead of Green-
wich time. — For fuller details as to hours of trains, sleeping car-
riages, station-omnibuses, etc., see the time-tables of the South
Eastern § Chatham and the Great Eastern Railways, Cook’s Continen-
tal Time-Tables, or Bradshaw's Continental Railway Guide.

& Vi Ostend and Ghent.

Duration of direct 6_1d0m-ney 1244 hrs. Through-fares, 1st clags 27. 1ds.
6d., 2nd class 11, 19s. 6d.; return-fares 4i. 12s. 6d., 3I. 7s. 2. Extra-fare
on ‘train de luxe' (10 a.m.) 10s. 6d.. Charge for excess-luggage, 3s. 3d. per
201bs. Return-tickets valid for 45 days.

SouTH EAsTERN & OHATHAM RaiLwaY from Charing Cross or Victoria
to (78 M.) Dover Pier in 2-21/; hre. — STRAMER from Dover to (49 M.) Ostend
in 73-%‘/111;13 — RAILWAY to (216 M.) Cologne vid Brussels or vilk Malines
in {-{‘/g2 hrs.

Luggage is examined at Herdesthal (p. 3). Passengers by the morning
service may, on notice given to the conductor. of the train at Ostend,
Bruges, or Gixent, obtain dinner-baskets at Malines (/2 fr., wine included).

b. Vis Flushing. :

Duration of journey 141/5-15 hrs. Through-fares 2. 7+.-8d., 11. 12s.;
return (available for 45 days) 3l 10s. 9d., 24, 7s. 3d.; ‘extra-fare on corridor-
train (‘D' train) 2s.; excess-luggage 1s. ta. per 20 lbs.
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RAILWAY from Victoria, Holborn, or St. Pauls to (
in 11/¢-11/ hr, — Breanur from Queenboro to (120 M.) m.u in 7'/,—8 hea,
— RAILWAY from Flushing to (24 M.) Cologne via Venlo in T-8 hrs.
. Luggage examined at Goch (p. 58). Table dhite on the day-steamer h
B-estanxm&-cm attached to the chief trains from Flushing.

¢, Vid Hoek van Holland.

Duration of journey 16 hrs. Fares . bs., 11, 9s. 14d.; return (45 days)
31. Ts. 6d., 2. As. 9d.; extra-fare on ‘D’ or corridor train 2: excess-luggage
1s. 6d. per 20 1bs.

GREAT EASTERN RAILWAY from Inmool Street to (101/s M.) Harwich in
113 hr, — SteaMer from Harwich to (108 M.) Hoek van Holiand in T hrs.
— Rarway from Hoek van Holllnd to (186 M.) Cologne, vid Rotterdam,
Nymwegen, and Venlo, in 61/2 hrs
. Luggage examined at czm . 58). Restaurant-car attached to the
boat-train from Hoek van Hollan

d, Vi Oalais,

Duration of joumy 18‘/:-18 hrs. Fares 8i. 4s. 9d., 21 6s. 4d.; return
i‘b days) B. 10s. 24 . 4d.; extra-fare on ‘train de luxe’ (€] m) 13s.
d; ext.eas-luggn.ge éa 3d er ﬂ)lbs

RaLwAY from Charing Cross, Victoria, or Cannon Street to (18 M.) Dover

.Pier in 2-21/3 hrs. — STEAMER from Dover to (256 M.) Calais in 11/4-11/2 hr, —
RaILwaY from Calais to Brussels and (229 M.) Golom in 10-14

Lugﬁ,e examined at Hcrbuthal (p. 3). Rest urant or dining cars ‘attached

to the chief trainas.

V. Railways.

Ramways. Railway-travelling is cheaper in Germany than in
‘other parts of Europe, Belgium excepted, and the carriages are
generally clean and comfortable. Those of the second class, with
spring-seats, are sometimes nearly as good as the first in England.
The first-class carriages, lined with velvet, and comparatively little
used, are recommended to the lover of fresh air, as he will be more
likely to secure 4 seat next the window. The third-class travelling
community are generally quiet and respectable, and the carriages tol-
erably clean. On a few railways there is éven a fourth class, without
seats. Smoking is permitted in all the carriages, except those ‘Fiir
Nicht-Raucher’ and the coupés for ladies. The average fares for the
different classes are about 13/,d., 11/,d., and 4/sd. per Engl. M.
respectively. The extra-charge for a seat in the D Corridor Trains
1s-1 4 for any distance below 150 Kil. (ca. 93 M.) and 2 .4 for any
greater distance. The speed seldom exceeds 25 M. per hour. On
some of ‘the lines 20-50 lbs. of luggage are free, in addition to
smaller articles carried in the hand, over-weight being charged for
at moderate rates; but on many of the lines all luggage in the van
must be paid for. In all cases the heavier luggage must be booked,
and a ticket procured for it; this being done, the traveller need not
enquire after his ‘1mped1menta.’ until he arrives and presents his
ticket at his final destination (where they will be kept in safe
custody, several days usually gratis). Where, however, a frontier
has to be crossed the traveller should see his luggage cleared at the
sustom-house in person. — Circular Tickets for prolonged tours are
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issued at considerably reduced rates (see the time~tables), but are
only partly available for the Rhine steamers (see below). Ordinary
return-tickets are available for one to three days. — At the larger
stations all information may be obtained from the uniformed Portier.

V1. Steamboats on the Rhine.

Travellers for pleasure should undoubtedly selest the Rhine
steamers between Mayence and Cologne in preference to the rail-
way, in spite of the fact that their punctuality (especially in going
upstream) cannot be so implicitly depended on. The first steamer
came from London to Ooblenz in 1847. Regular service above
Cologne was instituted in 1827. The passenger-service is carried
on mainly by the united Cologne and Diisseldorf Companics, the
steamers of the former having black, of the latter black-and-white
funnels. The admirable saloon-steamers of these companies ac-
complish the journey from Mayence to Cologne in 73/4 hrs,, and
that from Cologne to Mayence in 4121/4 hrs,, touching, in descend-
ing, at Biebrich, Coblenz, and Bonn only; in ascending, at Bingen
also, The Netherlands Steam-Ship Co. (funnels black below and
white above), which formerly carried on a freight-service almost
exclusively, now also runs two saloon-steamers for passengers (piers
different from those of the other companies). These have the ad-
vantage for travellers to or from Rotterdam that no change of boat
is needed. The ordinary steamers stop at numerous small places
where passengers are landed in boats. The charge for landing or
embarking, including 100 1bs, of luggage, is 10 pf.

The fares are very moderate, those for voyages upstream being
one-sixth less than for those in the reverse direction. The express
fares are somewhat higher than the ordinary. The express-steamers
carry saloon-passengers only. Each passenger is allowed 1001bs. of
luggage free. Additional advantages are offered by the issue of re-
turn-tickets, one class of which is valid for a week, another within
the current year. Railway Circular Tickets (see above), the so-
called ‘Elective Railway Tickets' ( Wahlfreic Eisenbahnkarten), and
the tickets issued by the usual tourists’ agents are available for the
steamers between Cologne and Mayence, subject to conditions
printed on the tickets. It is important to note that in these cases
the train may be exchanged for the steamer, or vice versd, only at
the terminal station in the coupon. Third-class passengers may
travel in the saloon on paying the difference to the purser (‘Con-
dukteur’) on board. : :

Passengers embarking at stations with piers must take tickets at the
office om shore, and those embarking at other stations should obtain them
from the Jmner immediately on going on board, as otherwise they may
be compelled to pay the fare fram the steamer's first point of departure.
The holder of a ticket worth 2 .4 and upwards is at liberty to break
his journey, Brovided he signify his lnten'gon to the purser before the
‘ckets are collected. If the journey be resamed at a station mearer the
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Passenger’s destination than that at which he disembarked, the ticket
ceases to be valid for the imtervening stations. Tickets must also be
stamped at the office or by the conductor at the station where the journey
is renmen‘i hnd the same ragulntlon applies to return-tickets at the be-
ginning of the return-j

In autumn the ateameu are often unpunctual in consequence of the
fogs which then prevail. At this season it is sometimes prudent to delay
taking, tickets until the steamer is actually in sight.

Refreshments are provided on board the steamers, in the style of the
Jarger hotels. Table d’hdte on the German steamers at 1 o'clock 3 .4,
children half-price; ices B0 pf. extra. The wines are made a apechl
feature in the commissariat.

Travellers starting at an early hour will find breakfast on board
pleasanter than a hurried meal before leaving their hotel. The waiters
occasionally offer worthless books, maps, and panoramas for sale at ex-
orbitant prices.

Fall of the Rhine.
Height above the level of the sea of —

Feet. Feet.
The Toma-See, source of the The Rhine at Mannheim 280
Vorder-Rhein . . . 7689 » » n Mayence . 265
The Rheinwald Glacier, cra- - » » Coblenz . . . 180
dle of the Hinter-Rhein 7268 ” » » Cologne . . . 142
The Lake of Constance . . 1305 » »n o Diisseldorf . . T8
The Rhine at Bile . . . . 803. » » » Emmerich 83
Breadth of the Rhine.
Yards. Yards.
At Bile. . . . . 189 At Boom . . . . . . . . DB2
» Mannheim. . . 429 » Cologne . . . . . . . 433
» Mayence . . . . . . . AR » Diisseldorf . 409
» Coblenz S .. 999 Schenkenachanz(Dutchfront.)BO!)
Length of the Rhine, Engl. Miles.
From Bdle to Kehl . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 8
» Kehl to Manpheim . . . . . . . . . . . . 82
» Mannheim to Mayence . e e e e e 451/;
» Mayence to Bingem . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18/
» BingentoCoblenz . . . . . . . . . . .. . .. 3
» Coblenz to Cologne . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . B9
» Cologne to Diisseldorf . . e e e e e By
» Disseldorf to Emmerich . . . 661/2
» Emmerich to Briel (German Ocem) 101
» Bile to the German Ocean . . . 526
Average Depth of the Rhine. Feet.
Between Bile and Strassburg . . . . e e e e e 8-12
p  Btrassburg and Mayence. . . . . . . . . . . . . b2
Mayence and Boon. . . . . . . . . . . . ... 876
At the Lurlei . . . e e e e e e .. 76
Between Bonn and Cologne . .o 10-30
and Diisseldorf. . . . . . . . . . . . 12-66

»

Baepeker's Rhine. 15th Edit.
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VII. Walking Excursions.

The pedestrian is unquestionably the most independent of
travellers, and to him alone the beautiful scenery of some of the
more remote districts is accessible. For a short tour a couple of
flannel shirts, a pair of worsted stockings, slippers, the grticles
of the toilet, a light waterproof, and a stout umbrella will generally
be found a sufficient equipment. Strong and well-tried boots are
essential to comfort. Heavy and complicated knapsacks should be
avoided; a light pouch or game-bag is far less irksome, and its
position may be shifted at pleasure. A more extensive reserve of
clothing should not exceed the limits of a spall portmanteau, which
can be easily wielded, and may be forwarded from town to town
by post.

The banks of the Rhine abound in charming scenery, which it
will amply reward the pedestrian to explore; many districts replets ,
with both historical and natural interest are described in the fol-
lowing pages. The following are especially recommended to the
notice of travellers: The Seven Mts. (R. 13), the Eifel (R. 26),
the banks of the Moselle (R. 25), the Taunus (R. 29), the Oden-
wald (R. 31), the Black Forest (R. 48), the Vosges (RR. 42, 44),
and the environs of Schaffhausen and Falls of the Rhine (R. 49). By
consulting the Handbook the traveller will discover many attractive
spots, both in these and other districts.

VIII. Cycling Notes.

Oyeling is very prevalent in the Rhenish districts, and there are
suitable roads all the way from Holland to Bile and the Lake of
Constance. Among the most popular bits for wheeling are the left
bank of the Rhine from Bonn to Bingen, the Rheingau, the valley
of the Moselle, the road from Frankfort to Heidelberg, the Neckar
valley and the W. slopes of the Black Forest, and the roads skirting
the Haardt Mts. and the Vosges. Excursions in the Black Forest,
the Vosges, or other mountainous districts make considerable de-
mands on the strength and staying power of the rider, but some
delightful rides downhill may be begun at the highest-lying railway-
stations. Dangerous places are generally marked on the cycling
maps mentioned at p. xix, but the cyclist should always be careful
on roads unknown to him. Strong brakes and a good lamp for night-
riding are indispensable.

Some of the narrower and steeper streets in towns and villages
are apt to be closed to the cyclist, and restrictions are also often made
on the use of the wheel in public parks. In most cases a namber-
plate has to be attached to the bicyle, and the police have the right
to demand the exhibition of the cyclist’s club-ticket, orpassport. All
regulations of this kind are stringently enforced by the ‘authorities.
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The rule of the road is to keep to the right in meeting, and to pass
on the left in overtaking. Led horses must be met and passed on

the side on which the man in charge is.

On the Prussian and Hessian State Railways uncrated bicycles are
carried as personal luggage when accompanied by the rider. The latter
has, however, to take a bicycle-ticket (‘Fahrradkarte’; price 50 pf.) and has
himself to take his wheel to and from the baggage-car. If carriages are
changed en routs, he is also respomsible for transferring his wheel from
one train to the other. Many express-trains (esp. the 8o-called D-trains,

. xv) do mnot carry unpacked bicycles. — In Baden and the Bavarian

alatinate the bicycle is given in charge of the baggage-master like ord-
inary luggage. In Alsace and German Lorraine special compartments are
provided for cyclists, with apparatus for suspending their machines.

The German steamers on the Rhine do not carry bicyecles unless special
tickets have been taken at the agencies beforehand. P. gers have them-
selves to deposit their wheels in the steerage, where they are generally
left without anyone to look after them. The Dutch steamboat company
makes no charge for bicycles, and moreover provides stands for them on
the main deck.

The best Oycling Maps of the Rhenish districts are those issued by
L. Ravenstein of Frankfort for Wiesbaden and neighbourhood (4 .), the
Environs of Frankfort (3 .#), Starkenburg (Valley of the Rhine, Odenwald,
& Spessart; 4 #), Upper Hesse (4 .#), and the Bavarian Palatinate &
Rhenish Hesse (4 ). — A series of cheaper maps (1!/z 4 each) for Central
Europe is issued by ZLicbenow and Ravenstein of Leipsic. Those available
for visitors to the Rhine are Nos. 84 (Cologne), 856 (Wetzlar), 98 (Priim),
99 (Frankfort), 112 (Tréves), 118 (Mannheim), 127 (Strassburg), 110 (Colmar),
and 141 (Freiburg). — The German volume of the Continental Road Book
of the Cyclists’ Touring Club (price 5s.) will be found useful.

No duty is levied at the frontier on bicycles accompanied by their
;-id;rs, but a charge of 8-10 4 is made on crated machines, if they
ook new.

IX. Hotels.

The first-class hotels in the prinoipal towns and watering-places
throughout Germany are generally good and somewhat expensive;
but it frequently happens that in old-fashioned hotels of unassum-
ing exterior, particularly in places off the beaten track, the travel-
ler inds more real comfort and much lower charges.

The average charges in the first-class hotels are as follows : room
(including light and attendance) 3-5 .#, plain breakfast 1-11/; 4,
dinner 3-5 .#, pension (i.e. board and lodging) 6-10 4. In some
of the most luxurious} houses, and for extra accommodation, the
charges are considerably higher. When not otherwise indicated,
R. (room) in the Handbook is used to include light (L.) and atten-
dance (A.).

When the traveller remains for a week or more at a hotel, it is
advisable to pay, or at least call for his account every two or three
days, in order that erroneous insertions may be detected. Verbal
reckonings are objectionable, except in some of the more remote
and primitive districts where bills are never written. A waiter’s
mental arithmetic is faulty, and the faults are seldom in favour
of the traveller. A favourite practice is to present the. billcat-the
last moment, when mistakes or wilful imposition cannot easily

b *
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be detected or rectified. Those who purpose starting early in the
morning will do well to ask for their bills on the previous evening.

English travellers often impose considerable trouble by ordering
things almost unknown in German usage; and if ignorance of the
language be added to want of conformity to the customs, mis-
understandings and disputes are apt to ensue. The reader is there-
fore recommended to acquire if possible such a moderate proficiency
in the language as to render him intelligible to the servants, and to
endeavour to adapt his requirements to the habits of the country.
For this purpose Baedeker's Manual of Conversation (3 .4) and
Baedeker's Conversation Dictionary (in four languages; 8 #) will
be found useful.

X, Climate. Grape Cure.

The climate of W. Germany is influenced by the comparative
proximity of the North Sea, which renders the temperature remark-
ably mild. While the annual mean temperature in E. Germany is
only about 42-48° Fahr., in the valley of the Rhine it rises to over
51° (Cologne 50.2°, Coblenz 50.9°, Heidelberg 51.4°). Thus, owing
to the early springs and the long warm autumns, a tour in the
Rhenish provinces is still enjoyable at a season when the Alps and
the mountainous districts of Central Germany are beginning to feel
the frosts of the coming winter. This geniality of climate is also
very favourable to the ripening of the grapes; and hence it is that
the ‘Grape Cure’, a very popular continental institution, long
established in Southern Tyrol and on the banks of the Lake of
Geneva, has been introduced into the Rhenish Provinces also.

Grapes when eaten in moderate quantity (1-21bs. daily) have
a soothing effect on the mucous membrane, and in conjunction
with a generous diet contribute materially to restore the strength
of convalescents. When eaten in greater quantities (3-8 1bs. daily),

the vegetable acid and salts produce an effect similar to that of

mineral waters containing Glauber’s or common salt. The grapes
of the Rhenish Palatinate (‘Gutedel’ or ‘Junker’, and ‘Oester-
reicher’ or ‘Sylvaner’) are large, thin-skinned, and well-flavoured,
and hence this district is the centre of the ‘Cure’. Gleisweiler
(p. 290) is especially frequented on account of its favourable
situation and the proximity of the vineyards, in which visitors
may gather the grapes for themselves. The grapes of Diirkheim
(p. 287), Edenkoben (p. 290), and Neustadt (p. 288) are also in great
request. Good dessert-grapes may, however, be procured almost
everywhere on the Rhine, and the grape-cure may be undergone
at Konigswinter, Honnef, Boppard, St. Goarshausen, Assmanns-
hausen, Wiesbaden, Badenweiler, and numerous other summer-
Tesorts.
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XI. Wines of the Rhine and Moselle.

While the palm must be yielded to France for her red wines,
no country in the world can compete with the Rhenish Provinces in
the vast variety and excellence of the white wines which they
produce. On the banks of the Rhine from Mayence to Bonn, a dis-
tance of 90 M., the cultivation of the vine may be seen in the
greatest possible perfection.

No error has been more prevalent than that the Rhenish and
Moselle wines possess an injurious acidity. Liebig on the contrary
affirms, not only that the exquisite bouquet of the Rhine wines
is owing to the free acid which they contain, but that some of
their most salutary properties arise from the tartar present in them,
To this he attributes the immunity enjoyed by those who use the
German wines from the uric acid diathesis. Many others who have
investigated the subject entertain the same opinion. Another ad-
vantage possessed by Rhenish wines is the total absence of brandy,
an ingredient with which the wines of Spain, Portugal, and Sicily
are almost invariably fortified, to the utter destruction of their
flavour, and the injury of the health of the consumer. The diseases
which attack spirit-drinkers, chiefly disorders of the liver, are com-
monly met with amongst consumers of fortified ‘wines, though such
maladies rarely follow even the intemperate use of pure wine., That
the addition of alcohol to wine is unnecessary for its preservation is
proved by the fact that Rhine wines often retain their excellence
for half-a-century, although they seldom contain more than eight
or nine per cent of alcohol. The very property of keeping is indeed
mainly attributable to the fact that the fermentation is more per-
fect in Rhenish wines than in those of Spain and Portugal, where
fermentation is checked by the addition of brandy. With the white
wines of France the same object is effected by sulphuration. By
these processes the richness and sweetness of new wine are artific-
ially and unwholesomely retained.

The traveller who finds the table-wine of the hotels unpala-
table, and whose eye wanders in bewilderment over the ‘Wein-
karte’, is recommended to select a bottle of still Hock or Moselle
at 3-4 & per bottle, at which price the taste ought to be grati-
fled. The hotel-prices of the high-class still wines, as well as of
the sparkling wines, are often exorbitant.

The Rheingau, a district about 15 M. in length, produces the
finest wines of the Rhine. Here is situated Schloss Johannisberg,
a most favoured spot, yielding a wine almost without rival. As the
celebrated vineyards do not exceed 5D acres in area, little of this
rare product falls to the share of the ordinary public. Moreover the
first quality is only obtained in the finest seasons; the grapes
are selected with the utmost care from the ripest (bunches, not
a drop of the precious juice being allowed to escape; the’ yield,
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under the most favourable circumstances, is therefore very limited.
The various qualities of this wine are sold in the cask at Schloss
Johannisberg by public auction. It is remarkable for raciness, de-
licacy of flavour, and bouquet, rather than for strength. The other
wines of the vicinity, distinguished by the name of Johannisberg-
Klaus, and those yielded by the vineyards of Count Schonborn, are
also highly esteemed. There is also ‘Johannisberger’ produced from
the vineyards of the village of that name, but this is inferior to
many of the other products of the Rheingau. In this neighbour-
hood are Riidesheim and Geisenheim, both producing first-class wines.
Bingen is a favourable district for strong wines; the hill behind it
yields Scharlachberger (see below). Below Bingen, on the opposite
bank, is Assmannshausen, the red wine of which holds a high rank
and in good vintages vies with Burgundy of the best class, being made
from the same species of grape ; but unfortunately, like the latter, it
is often impaired by travelling. The Marcobrunn vineyard, between
Hattenheim and Erbach, produces a white wine of exquisite flavour
and bouquet. The wines, however, which compete most successfully
with Johannisberger and trench closely upon its celebrity, are the
Steinberger, produced from the carefully-cultivated vineyards on the
hill at the back of Hattenheim, and the Rauenthaler Berg (p. 142),
the best vintages of which are unsurpassed in flavour and quality.
Hochheim, situated on the Main, yields a wine of very superior
quality, and has given the name of ‘Hook’ to the produce of the
country generally.

The Valley of the Rhine below Bingen produces many pleasant
and wholesome wines, but inferior to the above. Those of Lorch,
Engholl, Steeg, Oberwesel, and Boppard may be mentioned among
the white. The Rheinbleicherte (i.e. ‘bleich rothe’, or pale red) of
Steeg, Oberwesel, and Bacharach, and the light-red wines of Salsig,
Camp, Horchheim, the Kreusberg (near Ehrenbreitstein), and Urbar
are also esteemed. Most of the wines grown below Coblenz are light-
red. Linz produces excellent Rheinbleicherte.

Rhenish Bavaria yields a vast quantity of white wine, gener-
ally known as wine of the Haardt, or Palatinate. The best
qualities are those of Ruppertsberg, Deidesheim, and Forst, after
which rank those of Ungstein, Diirkheim, Wachenheim, and Konigs-
bach. Good red wines are grown at Gimmeldingen and Callstadt. The
inferior wines of this district usually have a coarse, earthy flavour.

Rhenish Hesse produces the excellent Scharlachberger above
mentioned, next to which rank Niersteiner, Oppenheimer, Lau-
benheimer, and Bodenheimer, all pleasant wines, but less delicate
than those of the Rheingau. Liebfrauenmilch (‘Lait de Notre Dame”)
is a good sound wine which owes much of its reputation to the su-
perior wines sold under that name, and to the quaintness of the
name itself. The vineyards where it is grown (p.285) are incapable
of producing a tenth part of the wine usually so called.) The flat
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vineyards of Ingelheim between Mayence and Bingen yield a good
light-red wine.

The Nahe wines, like those of the Palatinate, possess considerable
body, but little flavour. That of the Scharlachberg near Bingen is
sometimes classed as a Nahe wine, and is the best of this group.

The Valley of the Ahr is the most northern point at whioh the
grape is successfully cnltivated. Its light and wholesome ‘Ahr-
bleicherte’ are chiefly consumed in the neighbourhood of their growth.
They are strengthening and astringent in their properties, and
resemble Burgundy of an inferior class. The best are those of
Walporsheim, Ahrweiler, and Bodendorf.

The Moselle wines are chiefly grown amidst rugged and sterile-
looking slate rocks, and are distinguished by their delicate, aromatic
flavour, though the inferior varieties are apt to be rather acid in
bad years. They are considered remarkably wholesome, being fre-
quently recommended to persons of sedentary habits. The best are
Brauneberger, Ohligsberger, and Berncasteler Doctor, which possess
a delicious ‘bouquet’ ; and next to these may be placed the wines of
Zcltingen, Graach, Pisport, and Grinhaus.

The Baar wines possess even less body than those of the Moselle,
but surpass them in aroma. Scharshofberger is a most excellent
wine of this distriot.

Markgrifier, the wine of the Duchy of Baden (Affenthal red,
Klingenberg white), the wines of Alsace, the Neckar wines, and
those of the Bergstrasse are almost entirely consumed in their re-
spective distriots.

The difference which exists among the products of the various
vintages on the Rhine presents a marked contrast to the tolerably
uniform quality maintained by the wines of Southern Europe. The
best wine-years of the nineteenth century in the Rhinegau were
1806, 1811, 1822, 1834, 1846, 1867, 1862, 1865, 1868, 1893, and
1895; and good average vintages occurred in 1801, 1802, 1804,
1807, 1815, 1818, 1819, 18256-27, 1831, 18356, 1848, 1855, 1868,
1869, 1864, 1884, 1886, 1889, 1892, and 41897. But even in these-
years the yield was by no means uniformly excellent in all parts of
the Rhineland. The climatic conditions are not the same in all the
districts; different years seem to suit the different kinds of vine;
and the vineyards in the most favoured positions, where the grapes
ripen soonest, often suffer the most severely from the early spring
frosts. In a full ‘autumn’, which is hardly ever attained, a ‘morgen’

about 3/5 acre) of land, with 3600-4000 vines, should yield 5 ‘ohm’
about 150 gallons) of wine.

Many of the inns on the Middle and Upper Rhine (especially in the
smaller towns) have wine on draught, which, though not entered on the
wine-list, is frequently better than the cheaper wines in bottle.

8parkling Wines. The effervescing German wines were first
manufactured at Esslingen (in 1826), Heilbronn, Wiirsburg; and
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Mayence, and afterwards at Tr2ves, Coblens, and various other
places. These wines, generally known in England as Sparkling
Hock and Moselle, are distinguished from the French wines by the
predominance of the flavour of the grape, and when obtained in
unexoceptionable quarters, are a light, pl t, and wholesome
beverage.

The process is precisely the same as that employed in the preparation
of Champagne. The wine (which at the outset is an ordinary still wine,
worth 1s. or 1s. 84. per bottle) is bottled after the first fermentation is over;
and, by the addition of a small quantity of sugar and exposure to a mod-
erately warm temperature, a second fermentation and the generation of
carbonic acid are produced. The bottles are then placed on racks with
their corks downwards, where they remain a month or more, and are
opened several times to allow the escape of the sediment. At this stage of
the process as many as 20-25 per cent of the bottles usually burst, while
the contents of the survivors are much diminished. When the wine has
thus been thoroughly clarified, the bottles are filled up, a small quantity
of syrup (cognac and sagar) is added to give the requisite sweetness and
body, and the final corking then takes place. The sparkling wine thus
laboriously prepared for the market is worth more than double the original
still wine from which it is manufactured. The inferior qualities are gener-
ally the most effervescent.

The traveller is cautioned against dealing with any but the most
respectable wine-merchants, and should remember that excellence
of quality is quite incompatible with lowness of price. As a pleasant
and wholesome summer-beverage the Rhenish wines of the second
and third class may be imported at a moderate price, the duty
and carriage amounting to 4-5s. per dozen; but the higher class of
Rhine-wine, of which Marcobrunner may be taken as a sample,
cannot be drunk in England under five or six shillings a bottle.

XII. Rhenish Art.

In the valley of the Rhine we find that several different strata
of civilisation, if we may use the expression, had deposited them-
selves ere the rest of Germany had abandoned its’ primitive forest
life. The lowest of these strata, were a section of them exhibited
in geological fashion, would show an ante-Roman period, when the
natives carried on a busy trade with the Mediterranean seaports and
with Etruria. After C2sar’s campaigns a new stratum was gradually
formed by the occupation of the country by Roman military colo-
nists. This stratum was afterwards sadly contorted and broken by
the storms of the barbarian migrations, and was at length almost
entirely covered by that of the Frankish-Christian period, which
began in the 7th century.

On Rhenish soil antiquarians will find frequent opportunities
of tracing back the history of human culture to its earliest begin-
nings, while the RoMAN relics are so numerous and important as to
arrest the eye of even the superficial observer. The Peutinger
Tabula, the medimval copy of a Roman map, now preserved at
Vienna, shows the pfincipal towns on the Rhine and also on the
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tributaries of its left side, together with the roads connecting them,
and even the baths and other public buildings with which they
were embellished. The Roman colonies on the Rhine, being chiefly
the headquarters of the different legions, always presented a mili-
tary character. Most of the existing monuments are accordingly
votive stones and tombstones of soldiers. The artistic forms are,
as a rule, somewhat primitive, while the subjects are frequently
borrowed from the Oriental worship of Mithras. We also find that
in some cases Gallic deities have been Romanised. The principal
collections of Roman antiquities' are at Bonn, Cologne, Wiesbaden,
Carlsruhe, Mannheim, Speyer, Mayence, and Tréves. At Tréves,
moreover, we obtain an admirable idea of the character of a very
important Roman provinecial town.

Treéves, the capital of Germania Inferior, and for a considerable
time an imperial residence, did mot merely possess buildings of
practical utility like most of the other colonies, but was also embel-
lished with some of the noblest decorative Roman structures ever
erected north of the Alps. On the banks of the Moselle also, outside
the town, rose a long series of villas, many of which were richly de-
corated with mosaics. Before the decline of the Roman supremacy
CHRISTIANITY established itself on the banks of the Rhine, but
no churches of the earliest Christian epoch are now extant. The
only relics of that period are the nucleus of the cathedral of Traves,
a number of tombstones at Trdves, and several monumental in-
scriptions, such as that in the porch of St. Gereon at Cologne.

In consequence of the barbarian migrations, the Roman-Christian
culture was afterwards almost completely buried beneath a new
stratum of German paganism, and the vast valley of the Rhine
relapsed into its primitive rudeness, although at Cologne and Traves
the arts were not entirely extinct. The Austrasian princes, however,
were munificent patrons of the church, and the Bishops of Traves
and Cologne ( Nicetius and Charentinus, about the middle of the 6th
cent.) distinguished themselves by their zeal for church-building.

The artistic efforts of the Merovingian period, of which a few
traces only are left, as in the Cathedral at Tréves, appear to have
been very insignificant compared with those of Charlemagne’s reign
(768-814). In the prosecution of his numerous undertakings the
great emperor was not merely stimulated by his zeal for the promo-
tion of art, but by his ardent desire to revive the arcient glory of
the Roman empire and to invest his capital with all the splendour of
the ancient imperial residences, and particularly that of Ravenna.
The Carlovingian art was entirely centred around the court of the
emperor, and he was personally attended by a circle of scholars
called his academy. Among the members of the academy was
Eginhard, who in consequence of his surname Bezaleel has been
supposed to have been familiar with art, but of whose labours in
that sphere nothing certain is known. To him is attributed cthe
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building of the Palace Chapel at Aix-la-Chapelle (now the Cath-
edral), which is still in comparatively good preservation. It is ob-
viously a copy of the court-chapel at Ravenna (San Vitale), but
has been more judiciously and articulately designed, and has in its
turn served asamodel for later edifices, for which either its ground-
plan (as at Ottmarsheim in Alsace), or its double row of columns in
the interior of the rotunda (as in the case of 8t. Maria im Capitol
at Cologne and the Minster at Essen), has been borrowed.

The magnificence of the palacqs which the great emperor pos-
sessed on the banks of the Rhine was a favourite theme with the
poets and prose-writers of the day. According to their accounts the
Palace at Ingelheim was not inferior in splendour to that of Aix-la-
Chapelle itself, but of that edifice there is now no trace beyond a
few fragments of walls and of columns which have been transferred
to other buildings. The same variety of capitals is also seen in the
Church of St. Justin at Hochst am Main founded under Abp. Otgar
of Mayence (826-847). — During the later Carlovingian period the
Rhineland again suffered severely from an irruption of barbarians.
At this period the Normans took possession of the banks of the
river and penetrated into its side-valleys; but civilisation was now
too far advanced to be seriously retarded by this catastrophe.

Endowed with a rich art-heritage handed down by antiquity,
the Rhenish-Frankish tribes gradually overspread the country after
the middle of the 10th cent., from which period down to the Re-
formation the development of Rhenish art is traceable without in-
terruption.

In the EarRLY MmopLe Acrs (10th-12tb cent.) Rhenish art
differed materially from that of most other parts of Germany in
being the product of an already cultivated soil, where ancient
models were abundant, while in these other districts it was the
growth of a soil previously untilled. On the banks of the Rhine
were preserved fragments of Roman and early-Christian edifices;
there the eye was familiar with architectural forms and mouldings;
in the Rhenish towns were always to be found artificers possessed
of considerable manual skill; and owing to the constant com-
munication kept up with foreign places skilled labour could always
be readily imported when necessary. Rhenish art was thus matured
considerably earlier than that of Lower Saxony and Swabia. At
the same time the features common to the whole of early medi@val
art in the west recur in that of the Rhine also. The forms of
worship having been well defined in the early-Christian period,
the churches all present a certain uniformity of appearance. Like
the early-Christian basilicas, the Rhenish churches of the 10th-
12th cent. are of an elongated form; they possess aisles which are
lower and narrower than the nave; the altar is placed at theround-
ed extremity of the nave; and on the whole the basilica type is
preserved throughout.
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The Rhenish edifices also possess the characteristics of the
Romanesque Style, which are common to the great majority of
works of the 10th-12th centuries. In this style the pillars and
columns are connected by means of round arches, the doors and
windows also terminate in round arches, and the naves and aisles
are either covered with flat roofs or with groined vaulting of round-
ed form. The Cubical Capital, which was probably invented by
medizval architects for the purpose of forming a harmonious con-
necting link between the column and the arch above, is also used
in the Rhineland, and the copings and mouldings of the Rhenish
buildings are the same as those employed in the contemporaneous
edifices of Western Europe. The Rhenish architecture, however, oc-
cupies an independent position of its own within the Romanesque
group. The character of the building-material (red sandstone or
tufa), local traditions, and the prevalent taste of the period all
combine to impart to the Rhenish buildings a distinctive character
which seldom or never recurs in other countries. At an early period
the use of alternate courses of different colours came into vogue.
Thus we find arches faced with stone alternating with light-coloured
brick, the latter material having been taken from Roman ruins;
and when the architects bad exhausted their supply of bricks, the
art of making which was unknown in Germany in the early middle
ages, they produced the same effect by the use of dark and light
coloured stones. The copings on pillars and walls were generally
copied from Roman models, and the ancient Corinthian Capitals,
formed of a wreath of leaves, were imitated with varying success
(as, indeed, had also been the case in the Carlovingian epooh).
The long-established practice of art, and the wealth which the
Rhenish towns succeeded in amassing at an early period, enabled
them gradually to extend the dimensions of their churches, to
develop the construction of vaulting earlier than elsewhere, and
to impart to their buildings a picturesque richness of effect. —
The same conditions were likewise favourable to the development
of the GorposmitH’s ART, and that of ENaMRL PainTING. The
Rhinelanders also attained considerable proficiency in Muran
PaInTING at an early period, but for the plastic art they displayed
less aptitude.

As early as the 11th cent. the practice of art and of artistic
handicrafts seems to have become naturalised in the Rhenish towns
and in those of Lorraine. In all the larger towns extensive building
operations were undertaken, and at the same time a number of
handsome abbey-churches sprangup. At Strassburga cathedral was
erected by Bishop Werner; at Cologne the archbishops Heribert and
Anno exhibited much zeal for church-building; and at T'réves the
cathedral was extended by Poppo. The grandest monuments of
QGerman medizval art, however, are the three CENTRAL RHBNISH
CaruEprALs of Mayence, Speyer, and Worms, examples_of the



xxvili RHENISH ART.

golden prime of a style which began and also ended earlier here
than in other northern districts. It was not till the Gothio period
that France and England fully realised their architectural ideals,
while the independent exertions of German masters had already
culminated in their Romanesque cathedrals. It has frequently
been asserted that these cathedrals originally possessed flat roofs
only, and were not covered with vaulting till the 12th cent.; but
recent researches prove that the vaulting of Mayence Cathedral dates
from immediately after 1081, when the older wooden roof was de-
stroyed by fire. It is also probable that the nave of Speyer Cath-
edral, in spite of its gigantic proportions, also received a stone vault-
ed roof soon after 1097. The charming Abbey Church of Laach proves
that vaulted churches were easily and skilfully constructed in the
first half of the 12th cent., notwithstanding the novelty of the style.
While the pillars of this church are of uniform pattern and are
placed at considerable intervals, those of the Central Rhenish ca-
thedrals are placed much closer together, and those which bear the
vaulting are differently shaped from those supporting the arcades.
Towards the end of the 12th cent., and for a considerable part

of the 13th, CoLoaNE was the chief cradle of Rhenish art. The sa-
- credness of the city as the custodian of the highly revered relics of
the Magi, combined with the wealth and the political power of its
enterprising citizens, not only led to the rebuilding of all the prin-
cipal churches at this period, but was conducive to the general pro-
gress of architecture, and contributed to impart a rich and pictur-
esque decorative character to the city itself. The architects do not
seem to have aimed at grandeur of dimensions. The naves of the
churches are usually small and insignificant, but the builders ex~
pended their utmost skill on the embellishment of the choirs. The
apse, in combination with the rounded transepts, was regarded as
the nucleus of the church, the other distinctive features of which
consisted of the gable of the choir, the dome, and the towers. As an
example of the picturesque effect of this arrangement we may men-
tion the Church of the Apostles at Cologne when viewed from the
Neumarkt. At the same time variety of ornament, richness of ar-
ticulation, and pleasing effects of colour were also studied. Immed-
iately under the roof runs a gallery, which is of some structural
importance inasmuch as it lessens the dead weight of the wall, but
is also effective in a decorative point of view as the small columns
stand out in strong contrast to the dark background. Generally,
indeed, the Rhenish masters appear to have devoted much attention
to such effects of light and shade. Under the gallery runs a frieze
consisting of dark slabs framed with light-coloured stone; the col-
umns and half-columns are of a different material from the walls;
and even the pilasters are composed of differently-coloured stones.
In keeping with this picturesque character is the richness of the
ornamentation. The architects were not satisfled with straight and
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simple lines. Their windows are either round or fan-shaped, and
they are disposed in groups or enclosed within a pointed arch. The
portals consist of archways resting on several columns; the space
above the doors is filled with sculpture; and the fagade is enlivened
with narrow pillars and entwined arches. Buildings of this char-
acter, which are typical of the Rhineland, and occur in almost every
town of any importance, are usually described as belonging to the
TRANSITIONAL STYLB, as if the forms recurring in them were iden-
tical with those which pave the way for the Gothic. The term,
however, is entirely misapplied, as it is impossible in the rich and
handsome Rhenish churches of the 42th and beginning of the 13th
cent. to discover the slightest germ of the Gothic style. The style
may, however, be appropriately characterised as the final and most
ornate manifestation of Romanesque architecture, a definition which
is borne out by the general tendencies of Rhenish art. As an auxil-
{ary of this style we may now mention the art of MurAL PAINTING,
which was developed at an unusually early period. Most of these
paintings were unfortunately covered with whitewash at a later pe-
riod, but those still existing (at Sehwarz-Rheindorf, opposite Bonn,
the paintings of which resemble a symbolic poem, at Brauweiler
near Cologne, in 8t. Maria im Capitol at Cologne, etc.) exhibit a
rich and thoughtful style of composition, and show that the painters
were skilled in drawing and even in the delineation of complicated
action. We cannot with any certainty judge of the colouring, but
we at least possess sufficient materials to warrant the inference that
the art of wall-painting was industriously practised on the banks of
the Rhine as early as the second half of the 12th century.

This prevalent branch of the Romanesque style, with its highly
developed ornamentation, was not hastily abandoned by the Rhenish
masters, and it was not till about the year 1250 that the Gothic
8tyle, introduced from France, was completely nationalised in this
part of Germany. The precise manner in which the Gothic archi-
tecture, with its spirited flying buttresses, lofty vaulting, and other
members relieving the monotony of the walls, was introduced into
the valley of the Rhine is unknown; but it was probably adopted
simultaneously at several different points. At Cologne we observe
in the church of 8t. Gereon an attempt to apply the new precepts to
the old forms, and in the church of the Minorites we have a some-
what plain example of Gothic dating from the middle of the 13th
century. In the Liebfrauen-Kirche at Tréves the Gothic forms were
successfully adapted at an early period to an unusual ground-plan.
The Cistercian Church at Marienstatt in Nassau is a fine example of
the early-Gothic style, destitute as yet of all ornamentation, and to
the same style belong the church of Rufach in Alsace and the west-
ern parts of St. Thomas at Strassburg. In the second half of the
13th cent. began the construction of the great GoTHICCATHEDRALS.
Those of Cologne and Mets were designed entirely in the Gothic
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style, while at Strassburg and Freiburg the earlier Romanesque be-
ginnings were adapted to the new Gothic work. Goethe has con-
tributed much to immortalise the name of Erwin of Steinbach, who
is usually described as the originator of Strassburg Minster, but that
master’s actual share of the work seems to have been limited to the
W. fagade. The masters of the Strassburg as well as of the
Cologne cathedral must have been thoroughly conversant with the
details of French Gothic, but they were very far from being mere
mechanical copyists. The facade at Cologne and the tower at
Strassburg are entirely emanations of German imagination. In
order, however, to convince himself of the independence of the
German masters of the Gothic style the traveller must not confine
his attention to the great cathedrals. Among the SMaLLER GoTHIC
CuurcHEs he will discover frequent proofs of originality and not
a few gems of architecture. Among these smaller churches we
may mention the grave and dignified Abbey Church of Altenberg,
near Cologne, and the Collegiate Chureh of Xanten, erected under
the influence of Cologne masters; the superb Church of St. Cath-
arine at Oppenheim and the ponderous Cathedral of Frankfort on the
Central Rhine; and lastly, in Alsace, the Church of St. George at
Schlettstadt, the Church of 8S. Peter and Paul at Weissenburg, the
church of Nieder-Haslach, and that of Thann, with its graceful
tower. The numerous churches of the Mendicant and Dominican
orders, some of which have nave and aisles of equal height, are gen-
erally too plain and monotonous to arouse much general interest.

The highest efforts of the Gothic architects in this part of Ger-
many were devoted to the building of churches, but the Rhenish
districts also contain SrouLA®R EpIFICES, including castles, town-
halls, guild-houses, and private mansions, which present Gothic
forms or at least Gothic characteristics.

The eye, however, is less frequently struck by buildings of this
class than by the churches, partly because well-preserved examples
are now comparatively rare, and partly because in secular archi-
tecture generally there is usually less room for marked changes of
style. Throughout the whole of the middle ages the dwelling-houses,
for example, were constructed of timber, and the character of their
ornamentation was rather determined by the nature of the material
than by the fashion of the day. Even in the case of the stone
houses the projecting upper stories frequently recall the style of
their wooden predecessors. The architectural character of the
palaces, chateaux, and castles, on the other hand, was necessarily
determined by military considerations. As the requirements of both
defensive and offensive operations were almost equally important
during the 11th cent. and again during the 13th, the chiteaux and
castles retained the same forms for several centuries. Of Barba-
rossa’s residence at Gelnhausen, an imperial palace of the; Roman-
esque period, there still exist considerable ruins. The palace of the
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same emperor at Hagenau (11567) was entirely destroyed during
the Thirty Years’ War. Among the medizval CastrLes those of
Alsace are very numerous and important. The most considerable
are the three Castles of Rappolisweiler, that of Hoh-Barr near Za-
bern (1170), the Hoh-Kinigsburg, the Wasenburg, near Nieder-
bronn, and the Lichtenberg near Neuweiler, the last three belonging
to the Gothic period. Most of the hills on the banks of the Rhine
and its tributaries are also crowned with the ruins of medizval
castles, or others rebuilt in their original style. In most cases the
pinnacled Bergfried, or keep, which was used both for purposes of
attack and defence, is still standing; remains of the Palas, or
dwelling-house, are also frequently preserved; and in many cases
the outworks, gateways, and towers by which the approach to the
castle was protected are still traceable. These ruins, however, which
impart 8o picturesque a charm to the scenery of the Rhine, rarely
possess much artistic value. The most interesting of the Rhenish
castles is that of Reichenberg, near St. Goarshausen, with its three
stories borne by columns.

The Gothic architecture is also notable for the richness of its
PrasTi0 ORNAMENTATION. The portals and the various niches
and canopies are generally filled with statues, and the gables and
other parts of the building adorned with reliefs. The finest speci-
mens of Gothic statuary are to be seen on the Portals of the Lieb-
frauen-Kirche at Treves and the Cathedrals of Strassburg and Frei-
burg. The Statues of the Apostles in the choir of the Cologne Cath-
edral also afford evidence that the Gothic sculpture was sometimes
richly coloured. The same cathedral also contains the Monument
of Archbishop Conrad von Hochstaden, the finest specimen of bronze
statuary of the Gothic period. The numerous tombstones of that
period must also be examined by the student of the progress of
Gothic sculpture, such as those of Archbishop Siegfried, Peter Aspelt,
and Johann von Nassau, in the Cathedral of Mayence, and those of
Giinther von Schwarsburg and Johann von Holshausen and his Wife
in the Cathedral of Frankfort. The best examples of late-Gothic
sculpture, which afterwards degenerated into a mere handicraft, are
to be found in the altars of carved wood.

Throughout the middle ages, however, Rhenish artists evinc-
ed more aptitude for the art of PAINTING than for that of sculpture.
The stained glass at Strassburg, Cologne, and Oppenheim, and the
remains of 14th cent. mural paintings at Cologne are not less val-
uable than the easel-pictures of the 15th cent. which are still pre-
served.

The CoLOGNB ScHOOL oF PAINTING was the first of those which
attained to any celebrity on German soil. The earliest master of
the school known to us by name is Meister Wilhelm, who flourished
at the end of the 14th cent., and from whose brush we possess
one authentic work in the faded mural paintings of the Hansa-Saal
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in the Rathhaus of Cologne (now preserved in the Wallraf-Richartz
Museum). A number of easel-pieces are attributed to him with
little or no foundation. There is, however, better authority for
attributing to Meister Stephan Lochner the execution of the Dom-
bild, the finest German painting of the 15th century. This master, .
who was a native of the district of Constance, and died in 1451,
has been successful in substituting figures of considerable spirit
and life for the traditional types of his predecessors, with their
emaciated arms, their undeveloped busts, and their childish ex-
pression of countenance, but he has failed to take the next step to-
wards fldelity to nature by omitting to individualise his characters.
His female figures are all exactly alike, and his male figures, though
divided into young and old, are also destitute of distinctive charac-
ter. In his treatment of the drapery, weapons, gold trinkets, and
all other external accessories, however, Meister Stephan cannot be
reproached with the fault of monotony; in executing these details
he is scrupulously faithful to nature, and his task was doubtless
facilitated by his occasional use of the newly-invented art of oil-
painting. The Dombild, the Madonna with the Violets (preserved
in the Archiepiscopal Museum), and the Madonna in the Arbour of
Roses (in the Museum) are the most important works of this school,
the career of which somewhat resembled that of the early-Flemish
school under the leadership of Hubert van Eyck. The Rhenish mas-
ters, however, were soon surpassed by their Flemish contemporaries,
and ere long entirely lost their independence. About the end of
the 15th cent. the art of painting in the Rhineland was at length
thoroughly pervaded with Flemish influence. The new style, how-
ever, was least successfully imitated on the Lower Rhine, and
particularly at Cologne. A number of pictures of the end of the 15th
and beginning of the 16th cent., mostly found in churches of Co-
logne, have been collected by the brothers Boisserée, Hr. Wallraf,
and others. The drawing is stiff, the colouring gaudy, and the ex-
pression harsh. These works are generally classed in accordance
with their subjects; and we thus frequently hear of the ‘Master of
the Lyversberg Passion’, the ‘Master of the St. Bartholomew’, and
other equally vague designations. The historian of art will find
abundant opportunity of studying this school in the Wallraf-Richartz
Museum of Cologne. One of the best masters of the Lower Rhine
was Jan Joest of Calcar, who painted the high-altar-piece in the
principal church there about 1505. Portrait- painting was also
practised with some success at this period by Barthel de Bruyn,
Johann von Mehlem, and others.

The UPPBR RHENISH AND ALBMANNIAN SCHOOL OF PAINTING
had a more prosperous career than the Lower Rhenish. The masters
of this school also succumbed to Flemish influence, but they suc-
ceeded in making a better use of what they had learned.in the
Netherlands. At the head of the school was Martin Schongauer of
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Colmar (d. 1488), a pupil of Rogier van der Weyden, and more
famous as an engraver than as a painter. The engraver’s art, in-
deed, fostered by the advance of scientiftc pursuits, was mole
rapidly and suecessfully developed than that of painting. The
Younger Holbein, Mathias Griinewald, and Hans Baldung Grien
were also members of this school, but as their training was not
strictly Rhenish they are only mentioned here in passing. Holbein’s
famous ‘Madonna of Burgomaster Meyer’ is preserved at the Palace
of Darmstadt.

‘When, at a somewhat later period, the tide of the Renaissance
overflowed theRhineland, it met with little or no resistance. . After
a brief conflict with the Gothic architecture, which gave rise to the

erection of a number of curious buildings in a mixed style, the -

Renaissance, introduced from France and Flanders, and possessing
little in common with the genuine Italian Renaissance, became
naturalised on the banks of the Rhine about the middle of the 16th
century. This new style of art, however, never throve satisfactorily
on Rhenish soil, partly because the Rhineland had ceared to be a
great centre of civilisation as it had been in the middle ages, part-
ly because the sway of ecclesiastical princes is less favourable to the
steady progress of art than that of hereditary sovereigns, and also
because this unfortunate region was the theatre of numerous wgrs
which of course paralysed all artistic effort. Although Renaissance
art never took the form of a permanent and organic system, it has
bequeathed to the Rhineland several works of great importance.
Foremost among these is the Castle of Heidelberg, the most sumptu-
ous example of German Renaissance, next to which we may men-
tion the Porch of the Rathhaus of Cologne, the fragment of the
Rathhaus of Jiilich, and the Schloss of Aschaffenburg. On the Upper
Rhine, in the Palatinate, and in Baden we encounter a number of
handsome chiteaux and pleasing houses in the Renaissance style of
the 16th century.

The history of the Prastic ArT of the Renaissance period is
traceable in the numerous tombstones of the 16th and 17th cen-
turies, which are to be found not only in the large churches of the
principal towns, but also in smaller and more remote places, such
a8 Simmern, Boppard, and 8t. Arnual near Saarbriicken.

The dependence of the Rhineland on the Netherlands, which is
often noticeable in the province of architecture, is still more ob-
vious in the PaiNnTiNé of this period. Numerous Netherlands
masters migrated te the German courts, and the Germans them~
selves imitated these foreign masters, even when they drew their
inspirations from the Italians. In the second half of the 16th cent.
the German masters fell under the influence of the Dutch school,
and when French taste came to be in vogue they again yielded their
homage to the fashion of the day. Many of these painters, even
down to the 18th cent., such as Roos, Juncker, and Seekatz, possessed
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considerable natural ability and manual skill, but at the present day
their works are well-nigh consigned to oblivion.

The most imposing of the Rhenish edifices of the 18th century
are the palaces in the BARoqur and Rococo StyLBs, erected by the
various petty Rhenish princes, temporal and spiritual, in imitation
of the palace of Versailles, such as those of Carlsruhe, Mannheim,
Bruchsal, Brithl, and Bonn.

At the close of the century the Rhenish principalities were
swept away by the French Revolution, and with them were extin-
guished the last signs of the vitality of art. After the restoration
of peace, however, a revival began to take place. The Boisserée collec-
tion (p. xxxii) was the means of bringing early-Rhenish art into very
favourable notice and of inspiring the public with confldence in the
capabilities of Rhenish artists. The ‘Romantioists’ were desirous
that Cologne should be made the new centre of art and science, but
in 1818 the university was founded at Bonn, and in 1819 the
academy at DUssBLDORF was re-established. The painter Cornelius,
who was appointed director of the academy, and who usually spent
the winter only at Dilsseldorf (and the summer at Munich), exer-
cised no great influence on the progress of Rhenish art. He was
succeeded by Wilhelm Schadow (1827), under whose able guidance
the Diisseldorf School was brought into the right track and secured
the favour of the public. The chief subjects of the painters of this
period are scenes from private life, melancholy, sentimental, and
humorous, or poetical themes readily intelligible to the middle
classes of society, and their style is generally pleasing. Some of
the masters of this school, and particularly C. F. Lessing, have also
chosen themes of the deepest national interest. Sixty years have
elapsed since the Diisseldorf School first attained celebrity, and the
publie taste has undergone material changes since that period, but
the industrious colony of painters on the banks of the Diissel still
deservedly enjoys a high reputation. Lastly we may mention the
school of art connected with the Stidel Gallery at FRANKFORT, the
academy of CARLSRUHB, forming a kind of offshoot of the Diissel-
dorf School, and (quite recently) DARMSTADT, at all of which modern

German painting is taught and practised with considerable success.




1. From®Brussels to Cologne.

141 M. By Exrress in 5-81/; hrs, (fares 26 fr. 25, 19 fr. 25 ¢.). Small
articles of luggage are examined at Herbesthal, registered luggage on ar-
rival at Cologne. Finest views between Louvain and Liége to the rigat.
District between Lidge and Aix-la-Chapelle replete with interest.

The DGsseLDORF RAILWAY diverges from the line described below at
Verviers (p. 8), and runs vid Bleyberg (custom-house) and Aiz-la-Chapelle
(Templerbend Station). From Aix-la-Chapelle to Diisseldorf, see R. b.
Through-carriages at Brussels for Diisseldorf (Berlin, Hamburg, etc.).

Brussels . — Hotels, in the upper part of the town: BELLEVUE, D&
FraNDRE, DE L'EUROPE, R. at these from 41/; or 5, D. 5-6, pens. 131/3-15 fr. ;
MeNGELLE, Rue Royale 103, R. from 4, D. 5 fr.; De Fraxck, Montagne du
Parc 6, R. from b, D. 5, pens. 11-14 fr. In the lower part of the town:
MgTROPOLE, Place de Brouckére, GrRaND-HOTEL, Boulevard Anspach, HOoTEL
pe L'UNIVERS kT DE SURDE, Rue Neuve 48 and Boul. du Nord T, at
these three, R. from 4, D. 5, pens. from 12/ fr. ; D S8axg, Dk L’EMPEREUR,
Rue Neuve (111 & 93); CeNTraL, Place de l1a Bourse, pens. 10 fr.; De
LA Posti, Rue Fossé-aux-Loups, D, 4 fr.; Dk VIENNE, Rue de la Fourche,
less pretending.

nglish Church Berviee at the CAurch of the Resurrection, in the Rue
Stassart, and at Christchurch, Rue Crespel, Avenue de la Toison d'Or. —
Scottish Presbyterian Church, Rue Bodenbroeck 8.

Bruassels, the capital of Belgium and residence of the king, con-
tains, including the suburbs, about 570,000 inhab., of whom about
2000 are British. Like Paris it possesses its parks, boulevards, cafés
chantants, and other attractions; but this Paris in miniature should
be seen before the great French metropolis by those who would avoid
disappointment.

The passing visitor is recommended to take the following walk,
which will occupy balf-a-day. Adjacent to the Rue Neuve, which
leads from the station into the city, rises the Martyrs’ Monument,
designed by Geefs, and erected in 1838 to the memory of those who
fell in the war with Holland in 1830.

Then past the Thédtre Royal and the Bourse to the *Hbtel we
Ville. The E. half of the magnificent fagade of the latter was begun
in 1401, the W. in 1443; statues of Dukes of Brabant, erected in
1853, replace those mutilated by the sansculottes in 1792. On the
W. side of the Place de I'Hétel de Ville are various *Guild Houses,
erected at the beginning of the 18th century. At the back of the
Hoétel de Ville, at the corner of the Rue du Chéne and the Rue de
I'Etuve, is the curious Mannikin fountain. The Galerie St. Hubert, an
arcade near the Hétel de Ville, is a handsome structure, 702 ft. long,
containing some of the most tempting shops in the city. The Place
Royale is adorned with the equestrian *Statue of Godfrey de Bouillon,

+ For a fuller description of Belgian towns, see.Boedeker's Belgium
and Holland.
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in bronze exeoutp& by Sfmonis in 1848. The adjoining *Park is the
favourite Rromenade of the citizens. On the S, side rises the Royal
Palace, oft the:N.' 9ide’ the Palais dé la Nation.

- Aclfttle u)-tl!.e W ol the fériher sre the *Royal Museums, with
their fine collections of ‘anclent and modern paintings and modern
sculpture. — Not far from the Palais de la Nation, beyond the Rue
Royale, is the *Cathedral (Ste. Gudule et St. Michcl), the finest church
in Brussels, with two truncated Gothic towers. It was erected in the
13-14th cent., but the choir and the unfinished W. towers are of
the 15th, the large chapel of the Sacrament of the 16th cent., and
the whole was restored in 1848-56. — The *Palais de Justice, in
the Place Polaert, erected in 1866-83 after plans by Polaert, at an
expense of 2,000,000l., is one of the most imposing buildings of
modern times. — The Musée Wiertz, with most of the works of
that talented but eccentric painter, lies about 3/; M. to the S.E. of
the Park.

At (2 M.) Schaerbeek, the first railway-station, the Malines line
diverges to the left. Then several small stations.

18 M. Louvain, Flem. Leuven or Loven (Hobtels de Sudde, de la
Cour de Mons); pop. 42,000. The traveller who stops here should
not fail to visit the **Hbtel de V;lle, a magnificent edifice in the
later Gothic style, erected in 1447-63, and the Gothic *Chureh of St.
Peter, dating from the 15th century. The choir-stalls (16th cent.)
in the Church of 8t. Gertrude also merit inspection.

291/s M. Tirlemont, or Thienen (Nouveau Monde; Hotel Pon-
saerts), occupies an extensive area, nearly 6 M. in circumference,
but is thinly peopled (17,800 inhab.). The Church of St. Germain
probably dates from the 12th century.

The train next traverses a lofty embankment, affording an ex-
tensive view. In clear weather the Lion and the Prussian monu-
ment at Waterloo may be distinguished in the distance to the right.

Between (38 M.) Esemacl and Landen the line intersects the plain
of Neerwinden, the scene of two great battles. In the first the Allies
under William III. of England were defeated in the Spanish War
of Succession by the French under Marshal Luxembourg, 29th July,
1693; in the second the French under Dumouriez were defeated by
the Austrians under the Duke of Coburg, 18th March, 1793. — 38 M.
Landen (Hotel de la Hesbaye) was the birthplace of Pepin of Landen,
ancestor of Pepin the Little and Charlemagne, and ‘major-domo’ of
Clothaire II. He died here in 640, and was interred on the hill
which bears his name.

47 M. Waremme. The undulating, agricultural district of Bra-
bant, with its phlegmatic Germanic inhabitants, is quitted near
(58 M. ) Ans (490 ft. higher than Lidge) for a mining tract with a
Walloon population, remarkable for their activity and vivacity.

As the train descends the rapid (1 : 30) incline to)Lidge, a fine
view of the city and the valley of the Meuse is obtained.
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62 M. Liége, Flem. Luik, Ger. Luttich (Hbtel de Sudde; Hbtel
& Angleterre; Hited de UEwrope, ete.), is an important industrial
town with 169,000 inhabitants. A short stay here should be devoted
to the Palais de Justice, the Church of St. Jacques, the Cathedral
(8t. Paul), and, for the sake of the view, the Citadel.

Beyond Litge the Meuse is crossed by the handsome Pont du
Val Bénoit. Numerous lofty chimneys afford indication of the pros-
perity of the district. The extensive zino-foundry of the Vieille-

Montagne company is next passed, and the Ourthe crossed. 64 M.
Ch2née, the first station beyond Lidge, is another manufacturing town.

66 M. Chaudfontaine (‘Gﬂmd—Hﬁtd des Bains; *Hot. d’ Angle-
terre) is a small, but picturesquely-situated watenng—phce, with a
thermal spring (104° Fahr.), rising on an island in the Vesdre.

Beyond the next tunnel, the picturesque castle of La Rochette
is seen on an eminence to the left. Near Le Troos the ancient castle
of that name, now a manufactory of gun-barrels, is perched on the
rocks to the right. Farther on, to the right, is the castle of Fraipont.

Between (711/ M.) Nessonvaux and (741/; M.) Pepinster, to the
right, stands the Chdteau des Masures (masure = ruined house),
said to occupy the site of a hunting-seat of King Pepin. At Pep-
inster (‘Pepin’s terre’) a branch-line diverges to Spa, the well
known watering-place, 71/p M. distant. — 751/2 M. Ensival.

T71/a M. Verviers (Hotel de Londres, in the town; Hobtels du
Chemin de Fer and d'Allemagne, both at the station), with 62,500
inhab., the junction for Bleyberg (see p. 1), is a busy commercial
town. Here and in the environs upwards of 400,000 pieces of cloth
are manufactured annually.

On an eminence near (821/ M.) Dolhain, a modern town, pictur-
esquely situated in the valley of the Vesdre, stands the ancient for-
tress of Limburg, almost the sole remnant of the capital of the duchy
of that name, destroyed by Louis XIV. in 1675. Pedestrians will
be regaid by a walk (about 25 M.) from Dolhain vis Verviers to Lidge.

861/; M. Herbesthal (*Rail. Restaurant; Bellevue), the first Prus-
sian village, is the frontier-station (branch-hne to Eupen, p. 13).
The custom-house formalities cause a detention of about 1/3 hr.
here. Beyond (891/ M.) Astenet, Lontzen and the castle of Welken-
hausen lie to the left. The train crosses the valley of the G6hl by
a handsome viaduct, 125 ft. in height. To the left lie (91 M.)
Hergenrath, and, in the distance beyond, the Emmaburg, situated
on the slope of wooded hills (p- 13).

The train next passes through two tunnels (191 yds. and 833 yds.
respectively), and finally descends to the Rhenish Station at —

97 M. Aix-1a-Chapelle, — Railway Stations. 1. Rhenish Station (m.
D, b), for Cologne, Verviers, and Liége. — 2. Marschier-Thor Station (P1. C
b, 6), for Gladbnch Diisseldorf, Maastricht, and Antwerp. — 3. Tempurbmd
Slamm (Pl. A, 2), for the same lines as No. 2 and also for Welkenraedt,

Verviers, and Liége — 4. Cdin-Thor or Jalich Station of the Aix-la-Chapelle
and Jilich railway (Pl F, 1).

Vg
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Hotels. All the first-class hotels and the better second-class hotels have
lifts, electric light, hot-air heating, etc. — In the Middle of the Town : *GRAND
MoxagrQue (Pl a; C, 3), Biichel 61, B. 2//s-10, B, 11/, D. (7 p.m.) 4, pens.
from 6 4; *HOTEL NozLLExs (Pl ‘); C, 3,4), Friedrich-Wilhelm-Platz 6,
opposite the Elisenbrunnen, with garden and the dépendances Kaiserbad,
Neubad, and Quirinusbad (see below), B. from 3, B. 11/4, D. at .80 p.m. &,
at 7 p.m, 4!/s, pens. from 8 4; *HENRION'S GRaND-HOTEL, Comphausbad-
Str, 16-20, adjoining the Cormeliusbad (see below), R. 3-8, B. /s, D. at
1.30 p.m. k‘/:, at 7p.m. 4, pens. 8-12 .4 ; *HOTEL DE L’EMPEREUR (Pl. 4§ C, 3),
Edel-Str. 6, R. from 81/s, B. 11/s, D. 3, pens. from 7 .; *IupERIAL CROWN
(Pl f; D, 2), Alexander-Str. 86, with garden, R. from 3, B. 1, D. 3, pens.
from 6 .4; *MoxoroL (formerly Bellevue; Pl. ¢, C 8), Holzgraben 11, newly
furnished, R. 2-3Y/s, B. 3/s, D. 2, pens. from 6!/3 #; Dracox p’Or (Pl. g3
C, D, 3), Comphausbad-8tr. 9; ELEpEANT (Pl h; C, 8), Ursuliner-8tr. 1%,
opposite the Elisen-Garten ; KON1a vON SPANIEN (Pl i ; C, 4), Kleinmarschier-
Str. 52, commercial, R. & B. 2 4 80-3 4 50 pf., D. incl. wine 2!/, pens. 6 .4,
well spoken of; CarLsHAUS (Pl k; C,4), see p. 6; WiLHELMSHOF, Friedrich-
‘Wilhelm-Platz 3, R. from 2, B. i, D. 11/2-8, pens. from 5 .4 ; SCEERUFEN,
near the Elisenbrunnen, these three all hotels-restaurants, — Near the
Rhenish Station: *Untox HoTeL (Pl. 1; D, ), Bahnhof-Platz 1, R. from 21/z,
B.1, D.3 .#; °HoteL pU NorD, Romer-Stir. 8, R. 2-4, B.1, D. 21/, pens. 6-8.4;
HOTEL- RESTAURANT Kazseraor, Hoch-8tr. 2 and Wall-8tr. 65 (P1. D, 4),
commercial , B. 2/s-5, B. 1, D. 3, pens. 6 .#. Plainer: HoTEL DUREN,
Bahnhof-Platz 4, R. 11/2-2!/3, B. 3/4, D. from 1Y/4, pens. from 4 .4 ; DEGENS,
Wall-Str. 1. — Near the Templerbend Station: KLouBerT, Templergraben
64-66, with restaurant.

Bath Establishments (also hotels, and open throughout the whole
year; no table d’hite). In connection with the ‘Upper Springs’' (p. 10):
Kaiserbad (Pl. 38; C, 3), Biichel 26-30, well fitted up, Neubad (Pl. 38; C, 3),
Biichel 34, Quirinusbad (Pl. 89; C, 3), Hof 7, cheaper; these three beloug
to the Hot. Nuellens (see above). Kéonigin von Ungarn (Pl. 87; C, 8), Edel-
Str. 1, belonging to the Hét. de I'Empereur, pens. from 7 .4. The following
are supplied by the ‘Lower Springs’': Rosendad (Pl. 40; C, 8), Corneliusbad
(Pl 85; C, 8), these two connected with Henrion’s Grand-Hétel (see above);
Comphau:bad (PL. 84; C,3), all three near the Curhaus. Bath-houses at
Burtscheid, see p. 12. — Cold and Warm Baths at the Swimming Baths,
Adalbert-8teinweg 10, with restaurant.

Restaurants. WINE. *Curhaus (p. 10), D. 21/z 4#; *Kippers, Elisen-
brunnen (p. 10); Monopol, see above; Scheufen, Theater-Platz b3 kam'g von
Spanien, see above; Carishaus, see abovey Ptitz, Edel-Str. 12; Rethel-Stube,
Rethel-8tr. 4; Erholung, Friedrich-Wilhelm-Platz 7, with richly-decorated
rooms. — OYSTERS. Lenneriz, Klostergasse 15 (P). B,3). — BEER. All-Bayern,
Wirichsbongard-Str. 43 (P1. D, 4), D. 1-11/; & ; Kuppers, Carishaus, see above ;
Zum Augustiner, Friedrich-Wilhelm-Platz 8, with large garden (concerts);
Ahn , Theater-Platz 4; Aufomat, Capuzinergraben 10; Germania, Friedrich-
Wilhelm-Platz 83 Rathskelier, Grosskoln-Str. 1, with music; Pier Jahres-
zeiten (also hotel), Capuzinergraben 16, opposite the theatre; Fickartz,
at the Kaiserhof Hotel (see above), with a handsome concert-room.

Oafés. At the Curhaus (see p. 10); at the Elisenbrunnen (p.10); Mono-
pol, Wilhelmshof, see above; Kaiser-Café, on the groundfloor of the Hdtel
Nuellens; at the Lousberg (see p. 12). — CONFECTIONERS. Wahi, Theater-
Platz 7; Geulen, Hoch-Str. 9; Oellers, Dahmengraben 7.

Oabs. From 7 a.m. to 10 p.m. (at night double fares): —

(1) Per drive: Within Aix-la-Chapelle and Burtscheid, 1 pers. 60, each
additional pers. 20 pf.; luggage under 251bs. free, trank L) pf. — To the
Belvedere Inn on the Lousberg, 1-2 pers. 1 .4 60 pf., 3-4 pers. 2 4.

() By time: Each /s hr. 1-2 pers. 1 4 30 pf., 3-4 pers. 1 4 50 pf.; each
additional 1/4 hr. 85 or 75 pf.

Electric Tramways traverse Aix-la-Chapelle and Burtscheid in various
directions (10-20 ¢.); comp. the Plan. Outside the town: to the Stadi-
Wald (Ronheide, Carlshéhe), Lincenshduschen, and Forsthaus Siegel (these
three lines run to the Aachener Wald or Burtscheider Wald); to Haaren
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Bartenberg (Wilhelmstein), Vaels (three favourite resorts), to Herzogenrath,
Stolberg, Eschweiler, Vichi, etc.

Post and Telegraph O}ﬂoe, Capuzinergraben 17 and Theater-Platz 10-12
(P1. C,4; p. 6). For branch-offices, see the Plan.

Theatres. Stadt-Theater (Pl. C, 4; p. 6), performances in winter only 5
Bernarts' Saison-Theater (Pl. C, D. 3), Adalbert-Str. 20-24, with concert-
room, garden, and restaurant; Eden-Theater (P], C,4), Franz-8tr. 45, varieties.

Visitors’ Tax. For a year, 1 pers. 15, each additional pers 10 4; for
two months in summer, 12, 2 pers. 20, eac additirnal person b # (in
winter 60 per cent less).

United States Oonsul, Frank M. Brundage, Esq., 44 Heinrichs-Allée.

English Church (8¢. Alban’s), Convent-8tr. ; services on Sun. at 8 a.m.,
11 a.m., and 4 p.m. Resident Chaplain, Rev. C. F. Jones, B. A.

Aiz-la-Chapelle (615 ft.), German Aachen, a very ancient town
with 135,235 inhab. (including Burtscheid, p. 12; incorporated in
1897), the Aquac Grani of the Romans, lies in a fertile basin sur-
rounded by gently sloping, wooded hills. Itis a manufacturing town
of some importance, with upwards of 100 cloth-factories, 45 iron-
foundries and machine-shops, etc. Aachen was frequently the
residence of the Frankish kings, and it was a favourite abode of
Charlemagne, who made it the capital of his dominions to the N. of
the Alps, and died here in 814. From his death down to the ac-
cession of Ferdinand I. (1531) Aix witnessed the coronation of all
the German emperors (30), and was called par excellence the free
city of the Holy Roman Empire and seat of royalty (‘urbs Aquenasis,
urbs regalis, regni sedes principalis, prima regum curia’). In the
middle ages Aix-la-Chapelle was the scene of many imperial diets
and ecclesiastical convocations, and in and after the 17th cent.
several congresses met here. In 1668 the peace between Louis XIV.
and Spain was concluded here, by which the French king abandoned
his pretensions to the Netherlands; the second Peace of Aix-la-
Chapelle, of 1748, terminated the Austrian War of Succession; and
by the treaty of 1818 the German armies were recalled from France.
In 1793 the town was occupied by the French; in 1801 it became
capital of the Department of the Roer; and in 1815 it passed to
Prussia.

Externally this venerable imperial city has retained few relics
of her ancient history, and is now practically a modern town. The
cathedral, the Rathhaus, a few relics of the medi®val fortifications,
now converted into promenades, such as the restored Marschier-Thor
(PL C, 5), the Lange Thurm (P1. A, 3; fine view from the top, adm.
20 pf.), and the recently restored Pont-Thor (P1. B, 2), dating from
the 14th cent., and the Marienburg (P1. B, 1), of the 16th cent., are
the only remains of the old town.

The open space in front of the Rhenish Station (P1. D, 5; p. 3)
is embellished with the *Warriors’ Monument (P1. 22), designed by
Drake and erected in 41872 in memory of the wars of 1866 and
1870-71. — Passing the handsome modern Gothic Marien- Kirche
(P1. 11; D, 4, 5), in brick, erected by Stats, we reach the broad
THBATRR-STRASEB, and follow it, to the left, to the THEATER-PLATZ
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gPl. C, 4), in the' centre of which stands the Theatre, erected in
822-25 and enlarged in 1901. Opposite (S.W.) are the Government
Buildings (P1. 20). Adjacent are a Telegraph Tower and the entrance
to the handsome Post Office (P1. 28; C, 4), in the Capuzinergraben.
The Gothic Carlshaus (Pl. k; C, 4), at the corner of the Theater-
Platz and the Capuzinergraben, serves as the meeting-place for
various Roman Catholic societies. In front of the theatre, on the W.,
is an equestrian statue of Emperor William I., by F. Schaper (1901),
with allegorical reliefs on the pedestal. — Friedrich-Wilhelm-Platz
and Elisenbrunnen, see p. 10. Passing the latter on the left, we
proceed through the Ursuliner-Str. to the cathedral, which rises
nearly in the centre of the town.

The *Cathedral, or Minster (PL C, 3), consists of two distinct
parts in different styles of architecture. The portion erected by
Charlemagne in 796-804 as the court and national church of the
Carlovingian kingdom, and consecrated by Leo III., a noble example
of the Byzantine style, is an octagon copied from San Vitale at Ra-
venna, and built by Master Odo, 48 ft. in diameter, surrounded by
a sixteen-sided ambulatory, and terminating in a cupola, 104 ft.
high. The eight gables of the central structure are of the beginning
of the 13th cent., the fantastic roof is of the 17th. The octagon is
surrounded by several Chapels, built in the 14th and 15th cent., and
afterwards partly altered. On the W. side are the principal entrance
and vestibule, surmounted by a modern Gothic bell-tower, with a
pointed and slated roof. Adjoining the octagon on the E. is the lofty
and elegant Gothic Choir, begun in 1353, and completed in 1413.

Through the W. portal, the Bronse Doors of which were cast
about 804, or the adjacent side-door, we enter the VESTIBULE, where,
on modern pillars, stand a brazen Wolf (or She-Bear), a Roman work
of the 3rd or 4th cent., and a Pine Cone, dating from the 10th cent.,
both having doubtless once belonged to fountains. According to a
medi®val legend, the devil helped in the construction of the church
on condition that the first living being that entered the building
should be sacrificed to him. The magistrates entered into the com-
pact, but outwitted the devil by admitting a wolf into the sacred
edifice on its completion.

The INTERIOR OF THB OCTAGON is borne by eight massive pillars,
which separate the central space from the surrounding two-storied
ambulatory. The lofty, round-arched openings of the upper story, or
‘Hochmiinster’ (p. 7), are enlivened with a double row of columns, of
unequal length, some of them in marble, others in granite, brought
from Rome, Tréves, and Ravenna. Some of them were replaced by
new ones in 1845, and the capitals are all new. The large Mosaic
in the dome, on a gold ground, representing Christ surrounded by
the 24 Klders of the Apocalypse, was exeouted at Venice in 1882
by Salviati, from a 17th cent. copy of an ‘old mosaic ‘with which
the dome was originally adorned. The rest of the central church
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has been adorned since 1902 with mosaics and marble, from the
designs of H. Schaper. Above are the twelve Apostles, two arch-
angels, Mary and John the Baptist, with Charlemagne as founder
and Pope Leo III. as consecrator of the church. In the frieze below
the original inscription of eight verses has been reproduced; and
the columns are once more, as formerly, encased in cipollino. The
gilded Candelabrum, upwards of 13 ft. in diameter, was presented
by Frederick Barbarossa in 14165. The insoription ‘Carolo Magno’ on
the pavement beneath it is modern. The tomb of the great emperor
was probably in a chapel adjoining the church. — The so-called
Ungarische Capelle, adjoining the octagon on the S. (to the right of
the W. entrance), recently restored in the baroque style, contains
the treasury (p. 8). — The oblong Kreus- Capelle, or Chapel of 8t. Ni-
cholas, on the N.W. side, retains its Gothic architecture of the
second half of the 15th century.

The egress leads to the late-Gothic CrorsTers, which were restored
in 1894; to the right is the late-Romanesque Purgatory Chapel, erected by
Philip of Bwabia after 1200, with a rich facade; the ‘Quadrum’ (court) con-
tains a modern fountain by Prof. Frentzen and some old remains.

The Crorr is remarkable for its light and elegant proportions.
The thirteen windows (83 ft. high, 6-16 ft. wide) are filled with
modern *Stained Glass, representing scenes from the life of the
Virgin (Assumption and Coronation designed by Cornelius), execut-
ed partly at Berlin, and partly at Cologne and Aix. On the pillars
between the windows are statues of Charlemagne, the Virgin Mary,
and the Twelve Apostles, of 1430, recently coloured. In the centre
hangs a piece of wood -carving (1564) above the empty Tomb of
Otho I11. (4.1002). In front of the tomb is a Reading Desk, consist-
ing of an eagle on a rich stand of open-work, cast in copper in
the 15th century. To the right and left are Winged Altars, with
paintings of the Cologne School (15th cent.). The Pulpit, adorned
with copper-gilt plaques with embossed designs, precious stones,
and carved ivory (bth and 8th cent.), was a gift of Henry II. (d. 1024),
but restored in the 417th cent.; it is protected by a wooden cover.
The High Altar is a modern work from Schneider’s designs (1876),
in which several old columns have been incorporated. The Episcopal
Throne and other modern church furniture also deserve notice. The
sacristan shows the pulpit, the imperial throne, and the sarcophagus
(Vo1 ).

The HocEMUNSTER, or gallery of the octagon, contains the lately
restored Throne of Charlemagne, composed of marble slabs, which
was used during divine service by Charlemagne and his successors,
and afterwards at the imperial coronations. An ancient sarcophagus,
in Parian marble, with the Rape of Proserpine in relief, preserved
in the gallery of the Kreuz-Capelle (see above), passes for the coffin
of Charlemagne (see above). The Balustrade between the columns
was cast about the year 804, and like the bronze doors’(p. 6) is of
Carlovingian workmanship. — The Carls- Capelle, which adjoins the
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Hochmilnster on the N., dates from the second half of the 15th cent. ;
the *Anna-Capelle, on the S., was consecrated in 1449. The Matthias
Capelle, also on the 8., built in the latter half of the 14th cent., is
used as a sacristy.

The rich *Oathedral Treasury (shown daily, except Sundays and festi-
vals, from 10 to 6 o’clock; ticket for 1-3 persons 3 .llt for each additional
person 1 ; apply to the Sacristan, Domhof 2; a single traveller will
frequently find o;;rortunities of joining a party) is contained in the above-
mentioned Ungarische Capelle. The chief objects of interest are the
following: 24. Golden Antspendéium resembling the Pala d'Oro in St. Mark’s
at Venice, with sixteen rep é reliefs, rep ting from the
Passion, etc., a gift of Emp. Otho III. and restored by Emp. William I.
in 1872; 16. Sumptuous late-Romanesque silver Shrine of the Four Great
Relics, executed in 1220-36 (containing the ‘robe of the Virgin, the
swaddling-clothes of the infant Christ, the bloody cloth in which the body
of John the Baptist was wrapped, and the linen cloth with which the
8aviour was girded on the Cross’, which are shown to the public
gratis only once every seven years; last occasion in 1902); 47. Silver
Reliquary of Charlemagne, likewise a magnificent late-Romanesque work,
containing the relics of the great emperor, who was canonized in 116563
18. Bust of Charlemagne, in gold and enamel, 1ith cent.; 1. Cross of
Lothaire III., pr ted by that peror (d. 1187); 49. German Royal
Crown, 14th cent.; 21. Hunting Horn of Charlemagne, of Oriental ivor
work; numerous medisval vessels, in gold and silver, candelabra, an
other curiosities. These objects are preserved in large glass cabinets,
closed by winged doors, on the insides of which are paintings of the
early-Flemish and early-Cologne schools.

To the W. of the cathedral, in the Fischmarkt, is the building
for the Archives (Pl. 21; B, C, 3), handsomely fitted up in the
interior, erected in 1886~89 on the site of the earliest town-hall of
Aix (of 1267; subsequently called the ‘Grag’), of which the fagade
has been retained; the statues of the seven electors are modern.
A permanent Selection of Documents is shown on week-days, 12-1,
free. A common staircase connects the Archives with the new Library
(90,000 vols.), opened in 1897.

To the E., behind the choir of the cathedral, is the Church of
8t. Foillan (P1. 9; C, 3), the oldest parish-church in the town. The
present building, dating from the late-Gothic period, was rebuilt
in the 17th cent. and restored in 1883-88. — The Church of
8t. Michael, or Jesuits’ Church (Pl. 12; B, C, 4), built in 1618-28,
containg a Déscent from the Cross by Honthorst (1632). Nearly
opposite is the Real-Gymnasium (P1. 25; B, C, 4), opened in 1891.
— The Church of 8t. Paul (Pl. 13; B, 3) contains the remains of
frescoes of the 15th cent. and modern stained-glass windows.

To the N. of the cathedral is the Markr-PrATZ (PL. C, 8), With
a Fountain and a poor statue of Charlemagne erected in 1620. Here
is situated the *Rathhaus, or Town Hall (Pl. C, 3), a handsome
Gothic edifice, begun about 1333 on the site, and partly with the
fragments of the ancient Carlovingian palace, and completed, with
the exception of the ornamentation, about 1360. After a partial
restoration, the building was injured by a fire in-41883; by which the
two towers, the Markt-Thurm to the W. and the Granus-Thurm to
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the E., were almost entirely burned down. Both belonged in large
part to the ancient palace, and the latter served as storehounse for
the imperial archives and treasures. The subsequent complete re-
storation, by G. Frentzen, was completed in 1902. On the fagade
are D4 statues of German emperors, and over the windows of the
first floor is a frieze with 28 reliefs representing sciences, arts,
trades, and manufactures. Below are coats-of-arms. The rear-
fagade is embellished with statues of Alcuin, Eginhard, Benedict of
Aniane, Wibald of Stavelot, and the burgomasters Gerhard Chorus

and Johann von Punt, besides various coats-of-arms.

A flight of steps, erected in 1878, leads from the market-place to the
Vestibule on the first floor, which is decorated with mottoes and the
armorial bearings of the guilds (ring for the custodian; adm. 50 })f.). The
reliefs on the Portal represent the coronation banquet of Rudolf I. and the
burghers of Aix-la-Chapelle taking the oath of allegiance after the revolt
of 1428; above is the Majestas Domini, with Charlemagne and Leo III. —
The ou’!rcue, added in 1848, is adorned with mural paintings of scenes
from local history, by Prof. A. Bawr. The windows show the arms of
various local families who have held munici; office.

The Kaisersaal, a hall 55 yds. long and 20 yds. wide, with vaulting
borne gy four massive piers, occupies the whole length of the upper
floor. The walls are decorated with eight *Frrscogs, which rank among
the finest modern examples of historical painting; the first four are by
Alfred Rethel (born at Aix 1816, d. 1859); the others, designed by him, were
executed by Kehren: —

1. The Emp. Otho III. opening the burial-vault of Charlemagne;
2. Overthrow of the ‘Irmensiule’; 3. Battle with the Saracens at Cordova;
4. Conquest of Pavia in 774 (these by Rethel); 5. Baptism of Wittekind and
Alboin ; 6. Coronation of Charlemagne in 8t. Peter's at Rome; 7. Building
of the Cathedral of Aix-la-Chapelle; 8. Abdication of Charlemagne and
Coronation of his son Louis the Pious. The piers and vaulting bear
polychrome ornamentation. The windows contain armorial bearings of
the emperors; in the oriel (the old chapel) are small stained-glass paint-

with scenes from the life of the Virgin and the apostles Philip and
James the Elder, by Osterrath. Fine echo.

The Couxcir. HarL and the BorcomasTER'S RooM confain portraits
of Frederick William III. (1817), Frederick William 1V. (both by Hense?),
the emperors Leopold I., Charles VI., Charles VII. (by J. vam Kessel, 1742),
Francis ., William I. (4. von Werner, 1890), and Frederick I11. (H. von Angeli,
1889), the Empress Maria Theresa, Chnlemagne (by an unknown master
of the 16th cent.), Pope Clement IX., and others.

The Gothic addition with the massive square tower on the W.
side of the Rathhaus, between the Chorus-Platz and the Kloster-
gasse, 18 the Municipal Administrative Offices.

In the Grosskdln-Strasse, which leads from the market to the
N.W., is the 8t. Nicolaus-Kirche (P1. O, 3), containing an altar-piece
by Diepenbeeck, a pupil of Rubens. — In the Templergraben, near
the Templerbend Station, is situated the Rhenish - Westphalian
Polytechnic School (Pl. B, 2, 3), built by Cremer in 1865-70, and
now attended by 700 students. The handsome staircase and hall
should be inspected. Adjacent is the Chemical Laboratory, a fine
Renaissance edifice built in 1879, with accommodation for 120
students; and in the Malteser-Strasse is the Mining and Electric
8chool, completed in 1897. — The Church of 8t. James (Pl 10;

A, 4), a Romanesque edifice with a handsome tower, built by Wiet-
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hase in 1877-82, is situated in the S.W. corner of the town. Near
it is the Zoological Garden, laid out in 1886, a favourite resort
(*Restaurant, concerts; adm. 60 pf.).

The celebrated warm SuLpEUR SPrINGS of Aix, which were
known to the Romans, rise from the limestone-rock, and there are
also several chalybeate springs which have their source in the clay-
slate. Of the former the chief is the Kaiserquelle (131° Fahr.), which
rises on the ‘Biichel’ or slope of the market-hill (Pl C, 3), and
supplies the Kaiserbad, Neubad, ‘Queen of Hungary’, and Elisen-
brunnen. The Quirinusquelle (125°) rises in the bath-house of that
name in the neighbouring ‘Am Hof’. These two springs are called
the ‘Obere Quellen’. The ‘Untere Quellen’, as the Rosenquelle
(116°) and Corneliusquelle (113°) are called, rise in the Comp-
hausbad-Strasse, a little to the N.E. of the others. The baths of
Aix-la-Chapelle are annually visited by about 4000 patients.

The Elisenbrunnen (P1.C, 3,4), as the drinking spring is named
after the consort of Fred. William IV., is in the Friedrich - Wilhelm-
Plats. The Doric colonnade connected with it, 90 yds. long, was -
designed by Schinkel and erected in 1822-24. Two flights of steps
descend to the ‘Trinkhalle’ (Café-Restaurant in the pavilions and
colonnade). — At the back of the colonnade is the Elisen-Garten,
where another Trinkhalle was erected in 1873, and where a band
plays from 7.30 to 8.30 a.m. and 12 to 1 p.m. during the season
(p.4).— The garden opens on the other side on the Ursuliner-Strasse,
which is continued to the N. by the EnEL-STrASSE and the BUcHEL,
with several of the bath-houses mentioned on p. 4. The cellar of the
Kinigin von Ungarn (P1. 837; C, 8) contains remains of an ancient
Roman bath, which extended as far as the neighbouring streets, and
was connected with an aqueduct coming from Burtscheid (p. 12).
The discovery of stamps of the 6th legion (‘Vietrix’) refers the
building to between 70 and 120 A.D., when that legion was
stationed on the Lower Rhine.

From the Friedrich-Wilhelm-Platz several streets, flanked with
handsome shops, lead to the N.E. to the CoMPHAUSBAD-STRASSE,
in which, opposite the bath-houses, stands the Curhaus (P1. D, 8),
built in 1782 but extensively altered and enlarged since. It con-
tains a large ball and concert room, a restaurant, and a reading-
room (open till 10 p.m.; adm. 50 pf., to concerts and festivals
1 #). At the back of the Curhaus, and facing the Cur-Garten, is
the Cursaal, in the Moorish style, built by Wickop in 1863-64.
Symphony-concerts take place here weekly.

Near the Curhaus are the Church of 8t. Peter (PL. D, 2), built in
1714, and the Synagogue (Pl 32; D, 8), in the Moorish style,
designed by Wickop. Farther to the S., in the Adalbert-Strasse,
which begins at the Friedrich-Wilhelm-Platz (see above), rises the
Church of St. Adalbert (P1. E, ), founded by Emp. HenryIl. in 10056
in honour of St. Adalbert, who was martyred in Prussia. This build-
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ing has been much altered at various dates, and was almost entirely
rebuilt by Wiethase in 1873-76. — In the Kaiser-Platz, near the
chaurch, rises the Kaiserbrunnen, a tasteful fountain erected in 1879,
— A little to the 8., in the Richard-Strasse, is the Protestant Christus-
Kirche (P1.D, E, 4), by G. Frentzen. Adjacent, Wilhelm-Str. No. 18,
is the former Palais Cassalette, built by E. Linse in 1866, now
containing the —

*Suermondt Museum (P1. 30; E, 4). The chief attraction of this
museum is a collection of 183 valuable paintings of the early-
German, Flemish, and Spanish schools, presented in 1882 to his
native town by Herr Bartholomew Suermondt (d. 1887), a well-
known connoisseur and patron of art. Various local antiquities and
objects of industrial art have been added to these. Open free on
Sun. & Wed. 10-1 (in summer also 3-5); other days adm. 50 pf.;
closed on Mon., except to strangers, who pay 1 .4. Director, Dr. Kisa.

GrOUND FLoOR. In a room to the right of the vestibule is the Collection
of Engravings, beyond which is the former banqueting-room with the Ceramic
Collection (stoneware from Raeren, p. 13, etc.). Ethnographical Section. —
A corridor containg prehisioric, Roman, and Frankish discoveries and
architectural fragments. — Four small rooms on this floor contain paintings
of the Netherland sh schools: No. 9. Herri de Bles, Flight into Egypt; 1%.
P. de Bloot, Dutch cottage; 16. Bray, In praise of the herring; Brekelenkam,
16. Fishwife, 17. The proposal; 25. Camphuysen, Calves: 29. P. Claasz,
8till-life; 32. A. Cuyp, Interior of a churchy 41. Qov. Flinck, Portrait of a
young lady; 42. Hieron. Franck, Ball at Venice; 52. Heda, Luncheon; 54.
C. de Heem, Fruit; Hondecoeter, 64. Fieldfares, 65. Hawking gear; 6. .
van der Horst, Jephtha's sacrifice; 80. De Keyser, Lady; 83. Van der Laen,
Duteh cottages; 87. J. van der Meer van Haarlem, Dutch village; 94. Sir
A. More, Margret Halsebers 95. Moreelse, Portrait; 124. C. Saftleven, Landscape
with cattle; 184. D. Teniers the Younger, Hilly landscape; 158. Gerbr. vam
den Eeckhout, Rabbi; 161. Aertsen, Market; A. Brouwer, 16, Surgeon,
169. Peasants’ brawl; 4. Cuyp, 1T7. 8till-life, 178. Brooding hen.

First FLoor. One room here is devoted to the Textile Collection, another
to the Works in Metal, amongst which the cutlery is especially noteworthy.
— In a third room are %aintingu of the Flemish and Spanish school:
Rubens, 115. Studies for the ‘Fall of the Damned’ at Munich, varying
considerably from the completed work; 118. The cock and the jewel.

45. C. de Vos, Portrait; T18. Jordaens, Satyr and boy; 129. F. Snyders,
Hawking with the owly 801. Zurbdaran, St. Francis. — Modern paintings
occupy two rooms: 324. Lenbach, Prince Bismarck (1894); 81. Constadle, After
the storm ; 128. Schadow, Asaumrtion of the Virgin; A. Calame, Coast-scene.
Here also is a permanent exhibition of modern paintings, changed from
time to time. — On the staircase: 13. F. Bol, Cornelius d
family; 148. Paul de Vos, Boar-bunt.

8ecoND FLOOR. *Studies and paintings by A. Rethel. Coins of Aix-la-
Chapelle. — Antique works of art; works in the Romanesque, Gothic, and
Renaf styles. P t's room from the N. Eifel. — Room of the
18th cent., taining the *Episcopal Throne of Bishop Berdolet. — Two
rooms in the modern style.

To the E., in the Adalberts-Steinweg, to the right, is a kind of
marble temple, erected in 1844 to commemorate the Congress of Aix
in 1818 (Pl. F, 3, 4). Adjoining it is the turreted Gothic Prison

PL F, 4), by Cremer. — Opposite lies the Roman Catholic Cemetery
P1. F, @, 3), containing a monument to the memory ‘of the French
and German soldiers who died at Aix-la-Chapelle in 1870-71. —

e Witt and his
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Adjoining the prison, in the Congress-Strasse, are the Law Courts,
completed in 1888.

Ornamental gardens extend from the Kaiser-Platz to the Pont-
Thor. In the Hansemann-Platz (Pl D, E, 2) is a monument to -
David Hansemann (1790-1864), the Prussian minister (1848), who
established the Aix-la-Chapelle Fire Insurance Co. — Near it, in
the Monheims-Allée, is the Mariahilf Hospital (Pl. D, 1, 2), with
the pleasant grounds of the Stadt-Garten (closed 12-3), in which is
a new Meteorological Observatory. — On the Salvatorberg (Pl. C, 1),
to the N.W., is a pilgrimage-church.

The Lousberg (860 ft.), a wooded eminence to the N. of the
town (Pl. B, 1; cab, see p.4), and rising 250 ft. above it, ascend-
ed in 40 min. from the Marschier-Thor, or in /¢ hr. from the Pont

- Thor, is laid out in grounds and shady walks. The summit, on
which rises a pyramid (near it the Belvedere, with restaurant), com-
mands a fine survey of the busy town and the wooded, undulating
environs, as far as the outliers of the Eifel Mts. ; to the E. lies the
pretty Soersthal, with its numerous country-residences.

Contiguous to Aix on the S.E. side, but for the most part
beyond the Rhenish Railway and its viaduct (see p. 14), lies —-

Burtscheid. — Baths (comp. Pl, p. 4): *Carlsdad, B. 24, D. 23,

ens. 6-8 4 ; *Rosendad, pens. 8 #; Louisendbad, R. 2-4, B. 1, D. 2l/s, pens.
-10 4 (8. extra); Michaelsbad, pens. 6 M; Prinzenbad; Schwertbad. —
Visitors® tax at the first four 21/ ., at the others 11/ 4 per week..

Burtscheid or Borceite, now incorporated with Aix-la-Chapelle
(comp. p. 5), has considerable manufactures of cloth and needles,
and also contains important baths. The principal springs are the
Victoriabrunnen (Pl. E, 6; 140° Fahr.), where a band plays every
morning from 7 to 8 and also in the afternoon or evening, the Koch-
brunnen (PL. D, 6; 158°), and a third hot spring (162°), which to-
gether yield such abundance of hot water as to form a Warm Brook,
adjoining which and separated from it by a footpath is the Cold
Brook. The handsome Curhaus was built in 1887-89 (good restau-
rant; concerts). On an eminence in the centre of the town rises
the church of St. Jokn the Baptist (P1. D, E, 6), which formerly
belonged to a Benedictine abbey founded by Emp. Otho III.
(4.4002), but was rebuilt in 1730. The Church of St. Michael, with
a lofty tower, also on the hill, was completed in 1751. The District
Offices, in the Zollern-Str., contain wall-frescoes by Kampf (open
on Wed. & Sat. 3-6, adm. 650 pf.).

The Frankenberg (Pl. F, ), past which an electric iramway runs, was
once a hunting-seat of Charlemagne, and is now in the centre of a new
quarter of the town. The present bnflding, lately restored, dates from 1642,

About 3/4 M. farther in the same direction, beyond the railway, is the
Trimborner Wildchen (Restaurant), a grove where a Roman legion-stone
from the Brohlthal and a Roman sarcophagus from Weisweiler may be
seen. The artificial ruin at the entrance is constructed of the fragments
of an ancient chapel. Carriage 2!/z-3 4. About }/z M. farther on is Schon-
thal, with its pretty grounds (no adm.), near which is a garden‘restaurant.

A favourite walk is to the Paulinenwdldchen, a grove taking its name
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from Napoleon's sister, 1 hr., by the Sandkaul-Str., the Crefelder-Str., and
then to the left through the Soers Valley (restaurant).

A pleasant excursion of about 21/ hrs. may be arranged as follows.
By the electric tramway (p. 4) to the ‘Waldschenke' station in the Stadi-
Wald, or by the Verviers and Litge railway to Ronheide, and then walk

' (13 M. and 1 M. respectively) to the Carlshéhe (°Restaurant) and on vid

the Kronprinzen-Rast to (3 M.) the view-tower (restaurant) and to the (2 M.)
forester's house of Lin hduschen (r t). Thence we proceed through
the Burtscheid woods to the forester's house of Séegel (restaurant), whence
we take the electric tramway back to Aix. — Another pleasant walk (1 hr.)
leads from the Waldschenke or the Carlshohe vid Heldruh and the Vier-
ldnder-Stein (at the junction of Prussia, N. Moresnet, Belgium, and Holland)
to Vaels (electric tramway, see p. 5).

About 6 M. to the 8.W. of Aix-la-Chapelle, on the hillside, stands the
Emmaburg (restaurant), the ancient but lately restored castle from which
Eginhard, the private secretary of Charlemagne, is said to have abducted
the princess Emma. It may be reached either from Hergenrath, the second
railway-station towards Liege (p. 3), near the great Geul Viaduct, or from
Montzen- Moresnet, the second station on the Welkenraedt line. The neigh- -
bouring cadmi mines and zinc-foundries of the Vieille Montagne Company
are in the parish of Moresnet, which from 1815 to 1889 belonged to Prussia
and Belgium in common. .

FRroM AIX-LA-CHAPELLE TO MALMEDY, 51 M., in 31/ hrs. — 11/4 M. Rothe
Erde, see p. 14, Near (b M.) Brand, with a new church, are the water-
works of Aix, erected in 1871-80, with a main reservoir capable of con-
taining 1,160,000 gallons of water. — T1/3 M. Corneliméinster (853 ft.; 1400 in-
hab.), with the handsome late-Gothic uildings of a suppressed Aabey (now
a Roman Catholic seminary), in the picturesque valley of the Minsterbach,
is a favourite point for excursions. The interesting abbey-church possesses
one of the grave-cloths of Christ and other relics, said to have been pre-
sented by Louis the Debonair. — 10 M. Walkeim (920 ft.). — From (13 M.)
Raeren (1190 ft.), famous for its stoneware in the 16th and 17th cent., a
branch-line runs to (b M.) Eupen (*Reinartz; Koch), a busy and pictur-
esquely situated little town (14,300 inhab.), also connected with Herbes-
thal (p. 3). Raeren and the next atations, (181/z M.) Roetgen (1345 f.) and
[v)) ll.fl.ammradorf (1740 ft.), carry on an active trade in timber. — 271/s M.
Conzen (1805 fv.).

80 M. Montjoie (1860 ft.; *Hotel de la Tour; Vecqueray; Weishaup?), a
manufactaring town with 2011 inhab., lies about 11/ M. from the station,
in & magnificent situation on both sides of the Roer, with a ruined castle
and the remains’ of an old watch-tower. The fortress, founded here by
Charlemagne on the ruins of a Roman stronghold (*Mons Jovis'), afterwards
passed to the duchy of Jiilich. In 1815 it was added to Prussia along with
the whole district as far as Malmedy, the inhabitants of which still speak
the Walloon dialect. — Beyond Montjoie the railway commands a pic-
turesque view of the town and the deep valley of the Roer, and then of
the suppressed convent of Reichensiein. — From (34 M.) Kalterherberg
(1788 ft. ; Post) a road leads through the pretty valley of the Perlbach to
(3'{: M.) Montjoie. — 881/2 M. Sourdrodt, on a barren moor, is the highest
point of] the line (1840 ft.). — 43 M. Biatgenbach (Railway Hotel), near
which, at Elsenborn, is a large military manceuvre ground. At (46 M)
Weismnes (1585 ft.) the line forks, the left branch leading to (10'/s M.
B8t. Vith (and Gerolstein, g 206), the right to —

51 M. Malmedy (1080 ft. ; Cheval Blanc, very fair, pens. 4-B 4 ; Grand Cerf;
Jated), & town with 4700 inhab., in a picturuque valley, watered by the
Warche. Malmedy is the chief town in that part of the territory of the
‘immediate’ Benedictine abbey of Stavelot-Malmedy (founded in 651) which
fell to Prussia in 18156. The W. half of the territory belongs to Belgium.
Near the town are three chalybeate springs, the water of which is exported
in large quantities.

RaiLway To CorLoeNE (44 M., in 11/¢-2 'hrs.; farés 5 .4 60,
4 420, 2 480 pf.; express, 6 4 30, 4 4 70 pf.). Few lines
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exhibit such varied forms of railway engineering as that between
the Belgian frontier and Cologne. On leaving the station of Aix-la-
Chapelle the train crosses a Viaduct 308 yds. in length, and passes
the castle of Frankenberg (to the left; see p. 12). At (1’{4 M.) .
Rothe Erde the Malmedy line diverges to the S. (see p. 13). 100M
Eilendorf. The train then passes through the Nirmer Tunnel(1/o M.),
traverses the Reichsbusch wood, and stops at (103 M.) Stolberg Junc-
tion, near which are the remains of a Roman villa, excavated in
1880 (key kept at the station refreshment-rooms). A short branch-
railway and an electric tramway run hence to 8tolberg ( Berliner Hof';
Milde), a prosperous town with 14,300 inhabitants. Stolberg is the
centre of one of the most important manufacturing districts in
Germany, the numerous products of which are sent to every part of
the world. For the foundation of its prosperity it was indebted to
French Protestant refugees, who established brass-foundries here
in the 17th century. The old chateau, traditionally said to have
once been a hunting-seat of Charlemagne, has been rebuilt,

The principal products of the district are zinc, lead, and silver; there
are also manufactories of pins, needles, mirrors, glass, chemicals, etc.,
the fuel consumed by which ls yielded in abundance i)y the coal-mines
of the Eschweiler Pumpe (near the railway) and others in the neighbour-
hood. There is probably no other locality in Germany where 80 many

branches of industry are fally pr ted within so small a space.
Branch-railways run from Stolberg to several busy little towns.

The train now traverses a picturesque district, with numerous
coal-mines and foundries. Near Eschweiler it crosses the Inde,
and passes through a tunnel.

105 M. Eschweiler ( Kaiserhof; Schiitzenhalle), a busy and rapidly
growing town of 22,000 inhab., picturesquely situated in a valley,
with a castellated hospital. The forges, foundries, puddling-works,
and factories in the immediate neighbourhood employ 3000 workmen.
The coal-mines in this district are sometimes 1300 ft. deep and
produce excellent coal. )

Farther on, to the left, near Nothberg, rises a ruined castle with
four towers, and still farther on, also to the left, is the Rithger Burg.
Among the hills to the right are several villages, including Werth,
the supposed birthplace of Johann von Werth (d. 1651; p. 47),
and Gressenich, the ancient royal residence of Crasciniacum, near
which are extensive mines of cadmium, iron, and lead-ore, once
worked by the Romans, as proved by Roman coins found in them.

110 M. Langerwehe (Schiitzenhof), a village with 1700 inhab.,
near which are several large needle-manufactories.

The spurs of the Eifel are seen on the right. At the base of
the wooded heights of the Hochwald on the right lies the village of
Merode, 11/3 M. from Langerwehe and 3 M. from Diiren, with an
old turreted chateaun, dating from the 13th cent., formerly the seat
of a wealthy family of Belgian counts. The train crosses the Roer.

116 M. Diiren. — Hotels. *Mouuer, Eisenbatn-Str. 24, B: & B, from
2z, D. 11/4-2, pens. b 4; ScHILLER (Rheinischer Hof), Zehnthof-Str. 7
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R. 2215, B.1, D. 2, pens. 6 .4; KoLNer Hor, Kiln-Str. 21 ; Drer Kaisgg,
Kaiser-Flatz 17, R. 11/2-21fz, B. 3/s 4.

Diiren, a busy town of 27,100 inhab., with manufactories of
cloth, paper, iron, etc., is situated on the Roer or Rur (pron. Roor)
in a fertile plain. The most conspicuous objeot in the town is the
lofty tower of the church of 8t. Anna. To the right of the station
are the buildings of the provincial Lunatic and Blind Asylums.
Adjacent is the new 8t. Joachims-Kirche. The Rathhaus contains a
collection of antiquities. The town contains Monuments to Emp.
William 1., Bismarck, and Moltke, all by J. Uphues, and a War
Monument by Prof. Frentzen. In the Roer Promenade is a bronze
bust of Emp. William II., by Begas (1897).

The Valley of the Roer presents some very picturesque points above
Kreuzau (Kniprath's Inn), a village & M. to the 8. of Diiren (narrow-gauge
line in 19 min.). An omnibus plies hence twice daily over the hills to
Nideggen, but pedestrians diverge here to the right and ascend the valley,
which gradually contracts and is bounded by lofty sandstone rocks, to
(Y4 hr.) Winden, (V2 hr.) Unter-Maubach (Strepp, pens. 3-4 .4), and (Y/4 hr.)
Ober-Maubach. We then turn to the left by the chapel, pass the first side-
valley, and ascend, opposite the Mausaul rocks, to the village of Bergstein,
which has long been visible. Before reaching the wooded summit of the
Burgberg (view-tower) we have a fine survey of the Roer valley, and from
the top we obtain a superb view of the ruins of Nideggen. We then descend
into the valley to Zerkall, and again ascend to (11/, hr.) Nideggen (*Hesliger,
R. 11/2-8, D. from 11/, pens. 4 .4; Heergarten; Heinen, unpretending), with
well-preserved town-walls, situated on a rock rising precipitously from the
Roer, and crowned with the congpicuous ruins of a castle dating from 1180,
which was once a favourite residence of the Counts and Dukes of Jiilich.
The keep, with its Romanesque chapel, i8 the largest of its kind in Ger-
many ; while the ‘Palas’ (14th cent.) is the largest hall of its period in W.
Germany, next to the Rathhaus Hall in Aix-la-Chapelle. — Following
the valley beyond Nideggen, the traveller next reaches (!/z hr.) Abenden,
(20 min.) Biens, and (20 min.) Hausen; or we may cross the river at Blens
and proceed on the left bank vid Habersaul to the picturesque village
of Heimbach (Post; Scheid), with the small ruin of Hengebach. The
church contains a carved altar of the 16th century. From Heimbach,
Ziilpich (p. 203) may be reached by diligence in 8 hrs. A picturesque walk,
chiefly through wood, leads from Heimbach past the former Trappiat con-
vent of Maria-Wald and via Wolfgarten to (2V/z hrs.) Gemiind (p. 203); and
another (guide needful to the forester’s house of Paulshof) to Ruhrberg and
the fine view-point Am Kreuz, near Einrubr (81/z hrs.; inn). The road from
Gemiind to (17Y/2 M.) Montjoie (p. 18) leads vid Einruhr and Simmerath.

Froum DOREN TO NEUSs, 30'/z M., railway in 11/, hr.; stations Elsdorf,
Bedburg, Harfl, Grevendbroich, Capellen- Wevelinghoven. Neuss, see p. 56.

Frox DGREX TO JiLICH, 91/ M., in 40 minutes. — Jiilich or Juliers (Diss-
mann; Quack), with 5400 inhab., the capital of the ancient duchy of that
name, has belonged to Prussia since 1814. The fortifications were dis-
mantled in 1860. Jiilich is now also connected with Aix-la-Chapelle (171/2 M. 3
1Y/4 hr.) by a direct line vid Aldenhoven, Mariagrube, Wiirselen, and Kaisersruh.

From Diiren to Euskirchen and Tyréves, see p. 203.

124!/a M. Buir. — 129 M. Horrem lies in the luxuriant vale of
the Erft, which abounds with seats of the Rhenish noblesse. To the
right are the chiteaux of Frens and Hemmersbach or Horremer Burg.

From Horrem a pleasant excursion may be made to (2!/z M.) Ichen-
dorf (good inn), and thence either via the old convent of Kdnigsdor/ (now
a farm) to the station of Gross-Konigedorf (p. 16); or vid Baron von
Oppenheim’s chiteau of Schlenderhahn to (1'/2 M.) Quadrath and on past
(12 M.) Bergheim (Hotel Weidenbach), a pretty little town on the Erft.
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Na, -ga ilways run from Horrem to (8! M.) Litdar (p.
and viﬁ:dgu‘;ge(p{‘lil& 10 (7 M) dmein, o @k X - 202,

The Erfithal is quitted by the Konigsdorf tunnel, 1 M. long.
To the left, beyond (432 M.) Gross-Konigsdorf, in the distance,
is the village of Brauweiler, with an ancient Benedictine Abbey,
now a reformatory. The Abbey Church, an imposing late-Roman-
esque edifice with three towers, rebuilt in the 13th cent., contains
a crypt of the 11th cent. and some interesting Romanesque soulp-
tures. The frescoes on the vaulting of the chapter-house (scenes
from the Epistle to the Hebrews) date from the 12th century.

As Cologne is approached the line traverses a fertile plain,
studded with detached houses and factories. The hills to the right
are spurs of the Vorgebirge, a low range which begins on the left
bank of the Rhine between Cologne and Bonn.

135 M. Livenich. — 139 M. Ehrenfeld, a large and busy manu-
facturing suburb of Cologne.

141 M. Cologne, see R. 3.

2. From Rotterdam to Cologne.
Comp. Map, p. 54.

RaILwAY (1) by Utrecht, Zevenaar, Emmerich, Oberhausen, and
Diisseldorf; (2) by Utrecht, Zevenaar, Cleve, and Crefeld. Exprress by
both lines in 6-61/; hrs. (fares 12 florins 70 cents, 10 fl., 6 fl. 40 c.). Examin-
ation of luggage at the Prussian custom-house at Elten. (The Dutch florin,
or guilder, worth 1s. 8d., is divided intp 100 cents.)

The through-trains from Hoek van Holland (p. xv), in connection with
the Harwich steamers, run to Cologne in 6/; hrs., vid Rotterdam, Dordrecht,
Nymwegen, Venlo, Kaldenkirchen (Prussian custom-house revision), Crefeld
(p. 58), and Neuss (p. 56).

Rotterdamt. — Hotels. *Maas HotEL, near the steamboat-piers, R.
from 21/2, D. /2 fl.; VicToR1A, Willemsplein; *WxiMaR, Spaansche Kade
°LEYGRAAF, Westplein; HOTeL DE FraNncE, Hoogstraat; 8t. Luoas, Hoog-
straat; Coomans, Hoofdsteg 12, B. & B. from 13/s, D. 1-U/s 1.

Oab per drive without luggage, 1-2 pers. 60 c., 8-4 pers. 70 ¢.; per
hr. 1 fl. 26 c.; to or from any of the railway-stations, with luggage, 1 fl.
— The Rhenish Rail. Station is not far from the London steamboat-piers.
Omu. to or from the hotels 25 ¢.

Rotterdam , with 820,000 inhab., the second commercial town
in Holland, is situated on the right bank of the Maas, about 16 M.
from the German Ocean. It is intersected by numerous canals
(grachten, or havens), which give the town a very picturesque ap-
pearance ; and numerous drawbridges (ophaalbruggen) afford com-
munication between the various quarters of the town.

A huge dyke or embankment runs through the centre of the
town, protecting the lower quarters (Binnenstad) from inundation
during high tide. The Hoogstraat, or high street, is built on this
dyke; and the finest part of the town, the Buitenstad, is situated
between this street and the Maas.

+ For a fuller description of Dutch towns, see Baedeker’s Belgium and
Holland.
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About 5000 sea-going vessels annually enter and quit the port,
and the traffic with the Upper Rhine by means of barges, towed by
powerful tug-steamers, is very considerable. Rotterdam also contains
a number of manufactories and distilleries.

The traveller’s leisure had better be devoted to a walk on the
busy quay (Boompjes); to the Gothic Church of St. Lawrence
( Groote Kerk) , a brick building dating from 1477, and containing
the monuments of Admiral de Witt and other celebrated Dutchmen ;
and to Boymans' Museum, a very fair colleotion of pictures, open
daily (except Mon.) 10-5 (in winter 10-8). Those who have a day at
their disposal are recommended to spend it at The Hague (by railway
in 8/ hr.; see Baedeker's Belgium and Holland).

The distriot traversed by the railway is perfeotly flat, lying con-
siderably below the level of the sea, which is excluded by means of
carefully-constructed dykes and embankments. Canals, pasture-land,
and oocasional windmills are the principal features of the scenery.
The first station of importance is —

121/3 M. Gouda, or Ter Gouw (*De Zalm, in the market-place),
on the Yssel, with 22,000 inhab., the staple commodities of which
are bricks, clay-pipes, and an inferior kind of cheese. The principal
church (Groote or Jans Kerk) contains some fine old stained glass.

38 M. Utrecht (*Pays Bas; *Kastee! van Antwerpen; Hot. de
UEurope; Bellevue; Hbt. de la Station, at the station), the ‘Oude
Trecht' or old ford, the T'rajectum ad Rhenum of the Romans,
is one of the most ancient towns in Holland (pop. 100,000). It
belonged at one time to Lorraine, then to the German Empire,
and was frequently the residence of the emperors. Here in 1579
the union of the seven provinces Holland, Zeeland, Utrecht,
Guelders,, Over-Yssel , Friesland, and Groningen was effected, and
William 1. of Orange was created stadtholder. In 1672 Louis X1V,
took possession of the town and levied an enormous contribution.
The well-known Peace of Utrecht, which ended the Spanish War of
Succession, was concluded here in 1743. — The Rhine divides here
into two arms: the Old Rhine, falling into the German Ocean near
Katwyk, and the Vecht, falling into the Zuider Zee.

Utrecht was ocelebrated at a very early period for its fine
churches, the most interesting of which is the *Cathedral, founded
in 720, and dating in its present form from 1254-67. The Uni-
versity, founded in 1636, is attended by about 700 students.

Beyond Utrecht the line crosses the canal ( Vaartsche Rhyn) which
unites the town with the Lek. Pleasant retrospect of Utrecht. To
the right and left are four intrenchments (lunettes), now disused.
At (45 M.) Zeist (near which is Driebergen) there is a Moravian
colony; then stations Maarsbergen, and Veenendaal, with numerous
aplaries. The line intersects the extensive moor of(the Veluwe,
which extends as far as the Zuider Zee. 691/g M. Wolfhesen.

Bampexzi's Rhine, 16th Edit. 2
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73 M. Arnhem (*Zon, on the N.W. side of the town, nearest
the rail. stat. ; *Bellevue, 1/4 M. beyond the Zon, prettily situated ;
*Pays-Bas, in the Groote Markt; Zwynshoofd, very fair; De Pauw,
near the station, second-class), with 57,250 inhab., long the seat of
the Dukes of Guelders, is still the ocapital of that province. Al-
though a good specimen of a clean Dutch town, it offers little to detain
the traveller. The Groote Kerk contains monuments of the Dukes
of Guelders. The Town Hall derives its local appellation of Dui-
velshuis (‘devil’s house’) from the grotesque figures which adorn it.
The environs of Arnheim far surpass those of any other Dutch town
in attraction. Railway to Zutphen and Salzbergen, see Baedeker's
Northern Germany.

82 M. Zevenaar is the Dutch, 87 M. Elien the Prussian frontier
station. Hence, crossing the Rhine, to Cleve and Cologne, see R. 4.
The line by Diisseldorf to Cologne remains on the right bank.

93 M. Emmerich (Hétel Royal, R. 2-3, B. 3/, D. 2l/; 4 ; Hof
von Holland, R. from 2, D. 2 #; Hbtel Bahnhof; Rheinhof, R.
2-3 &) is a clean Dutch-looking town with 10,600 inhabitants.
At the upper end rises the Gothic spire of the Aldegundis- Kirche, at
the lower is the Miinster- Kirche, in the Romanesque style of the 11th
and 12th centuries. The tower of the latter is of the 15th cent.,
while below the choir is a crypt of the 11th century. The carved
choir-stalls date from 1486. Among the treasures of the sacristy is
the ‘Willibrordi Arche’, a golden casket of the 8th century.

97 M. Praest.” From (100 M.) Empel a narrow-gauge railway
runs to (8 M.) Rees, a small town on the Rhine. 103 M. Haldern;
106 M. Mehrhoog.

118 M. Wesel (Dombusch, R. 2-3, B. 3/4, D. 2 4, very fair;
Escherhaus, with a frequented garden ; Germania; Kaiserhof, all near
the station; Giesen), a town with 22,500 inhab., situated at the con-
fluence of the Rhine and Lippe and formerly strongly fortified. The
Berliner Thor, a relic of the fortifications, erected in 1718-22 and
restored in 1892, 1s adorned with sculptures and inscriptions. The
handsome Rathhaus, lately restored, and embellished with seven
modern statues on the fagade, dates from 1396. Opposite stands a
war-monument for 1870-71. *8t. Willibrord’s Church, in the market-
place, is the finest Gothic edifice on the Lower Rhine afterthe cath-
edral at Xanten (p. 58). 1t was begun in 1424 and completed as far as
the choir goes in 1526. In 1882-96 the nave was added and the whole
restored. The ornamentation of the gables deserves attention. The
slender iron flidche is new. The interesting interior (sacristan, Grosse
Markt144) is adorned with partly modern and partly ancient ceiling-
paintings, while the vaulting of the choir is a miracle of the stone-
mason’s art. A marble tablet records that Peregrine Bertie, Lord
‘Willoughby d’Eresby, son of Richard Bertie and Catherine, Duchess
of Suffolk, was born here in 1555, The exiles were Protestants, who






Digitized by GOOS[Q



ue Oberhausen, Essen

RUHRORT unp DUISBURG

. 1:36.000
A o Q95 1 2 Ki! 1
‘ / Ruhrort : Duisburg:
1 Amitsgericil 10 Bz lats
2 Rvangelische Kirche 11 6 rebdivude
3 Katholische ” 12 Ar erknal.
& Hricgerdenkmal 13 Post-w.Telegraphenamt
8 Foora Teiny 18 Fetchstand:
t-u. Tel amd 1 Y
agrephen 16 Salvatorkirche
8 Ibuxe Saulp 11 Stidtische Tonkudle

9 WUR.I- 1. Bismarck-Denkmal \ \8 Wilkelm I-Derdmal



* ogzeary GOOGle



to Cologne. DUISBURG. 2. Route. 19

had fled from the persecutions of Queen Mary, and were permitted
by the magistrates of Wesel to take up their quarters in the church,
then unoccupied. — The Lower Rhenish Museum, in the Gold-Str.,
contains antiquities, weapons, and domestic utensils (adm. 50 ¢.).
The Mathena-Kirche, begun in 1429, has an iron tower added in 1882.
— In the Exercier-Plats, 1/ M. from the station, is a Monument on
the spot where 11 Prussian officers of Von Schill’s Corps, captured
by the French in Stralsund, were shot in 1809.

The town is joined by a bridge-of-boats with the island of Baderich
and the left bank of the Rhine. The river is also spanned here by the
large railway-bridge of the Qeldern-Venlo and Goch-Boxiel lines (see Bae-
deker’s Belgium and Holland). — A local steamer plies four times daily in
summer from Wesel to Xanéen (p. 58) in /3 br. (return-fare 1 .#). — Rail-
way to Haltern, see Baedeker's Northern Germany; to Winterswyk via Bochoit,
see Baedeker's Belgium and Holland.

The train crosses the Lippe and traverses a flat and bleak district.
121 M. Dinslaken lies 11/ M. from the Rhine, on which, 3 M.
higher up, is the old town of Orsoy, formerly fortified. The Roman
Catholic church of Orsoy contains an important early-Flemish carved
altar, with painted wings (ca. 1480-90). — Beyond (128 M.) Sterk-
rade, with an extensive foundry, we cross the Emscher.

181 M. Oberhausen (*Rail. Restaurant; *Hof von Holland,
R. from 2, B. 1, D. 2 #; Central Hotel; Reichskrone), a town of
recent origin, with 42,200 inhab., is the junction of the Cologne-
Minden, Miilheim-Essen, Ruhrort, and Altenessen-Dortmund lines.

Frox OBERHAUSEN To RUmRORT (5'/2 M.), branch-line vid Meiderich, with
importantliron-works, in /4 hr, (70, 85, 35 f.}. — Ruhrort ( Cleve Hotel, very
faits Proussischer Hof; Rheinischer Hof), with 12,000 inbab., lies on the Rhine
at the influx of the Ruhr, and is mainly engaged in the exportation of coal
and importation of ore for the Rhenish-Westphalian iron-industry. Its
harbour and docks, covering 400 acres (125 acres water-surface) and about
to be extended, form one of the largest river-ports in Europe and are sur-
rounded with coal-magazines, connected by graneh-linea with the main
railways. The ship-building yards of Ruhrort are of considerable extent.
At the harbour are monuments to the Emp, William I. (Pl.9) and to Zudwig
von Vincke (d. 1844), the president of the province of Westphalia, who materi-
ally improved the navigation of the Ruhr. Opposite the railway-station
are the blast and puddling furnaces of the Phoeniz Co. — Branch-lines to
(7 M.) Sterbrade (see above) and (7T M.) Malheim (p. 62). — Steamboat to
Homberg, and railw y thence to Uerdingen and Crefeld, see p. 62.

The train now crosses the Ruhr.

136 M. Duisburg. — Hotels, *Eurorirscaer Hor, Burg-Platz 3,
with wine-room; *BerriNge Hor, R. 3-5, B. 1, D. 11/>-3 .#; ScHAPER, these
two close to the rail. station; KAISERHOF, K@nig—Str.; PriNz ReGENT, Uni-
versitits-Str. 1, very fair, R. 5-&, B. 1, D. 11/,-21/s 4.

Cab to the town 3/4-1 4. — Tramway to Ruhrort every 1/, hr. — Steam
Tramways to the foot of the Kaiserberg (p. 20), to Kaiserswerth (p. 25), and
to Diisseldorf (p, 20).

Duisburg, a very ancient town, situated near the Rhine and the
Rubr, is connected with both rivers by means of a canal. It is now
an important manufacturing town, with 92,700 inhab., and one of the
chief depéts of the Ruhr coal traffic. The Salvator-Kirche (P1.16),0f
the 15th cent., restored in 1850, contains an epitaph to the memory

2‘
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of the geographer Gerhard Mercator (d. 1694), to whom a monument
was erected in 4878 in the neighbouring Burg-Platz. Fine view from
the Kaiserberg (Monning's Inn), on the way to Miilheim, 11/ M. from
the station, with a monument to Emp. William I. (PL 18). — Rail-
way to Crefeld and Essen, see p. 62.

Near (440 M.) Grossenbaum is the chiteau of Heltorf, the property
of Count Spee, adorned with frescoes by masters of the Diisseldorf
school. — From (144 M.) Caleum a diligence runs 4 times daily to
(21/3 M.) Kaiserswerth (p. 25).

150 M. Disseldorf. — Railway Btations. Central Station (Haupi-
bahnhof, Pl. E, 6; °Restaurant, D. 2-21/z #), for all trains of the Right-
Rhenish lines and for those of the left bank rumning vid Neuss. e
Derendory Station (Pl. E, 2, 8), to the N., and the Biik Station (Pl. B, 8), to
the 8., are stopped at by the ordinary trains only. — There is also a
station at Obercassel, on the left bank of the Rhine (Pl. A, 4; p. 56).

Hotels. *BreipENBACHER Hor (Pl a; C, 5), Allée-Str. 84a, with lift and
restaurant, R. 31/3-8, B. 11/4, D. 2!/>-81/;, omn. 3/4 4 ; *PaRK HorEL (P, 0; C, 4),
prettily situated in the Cornelius-Platz, with lift, B. from 4, B. 11/s, déj. 3,
D. 5, omn. 1 .4; *HiéteL Rovar (Pl f; D, 8), Bismarck-Str. 102, near the
Central Railway Station, with wine-restaurant and lift, R. 2!/3-6, B. 1,
D. 2-3 4; °*HiteL Heck (Pl e; C, 5), Blumen-8tr. 18, with a garden and
glazed veranda, R. 21/2-5, B. 1, D. 3, pens. from 7 4#; *ROMISCHER KAISER
(Pl. ¢; B,B), B ther-8tr. 8, cial, R. 21/z, B. 3/, D. 2!/2, pens. 5-6 4;
EuroPEAN HoTEL (Pl. b; B,6), Friedrich-Str. 1, with restaurant, well spoken
of, R. 2123, B. 1, D. 21/; #. — Haxsa HoteL (Pl. m; D, 6), Wilhelms-
Platz 18, near the Central Station, R. 21/z-5, B. 1, D. 2/;-81/; &, new;
MonoroL (Pl. h; D, 5), Kaiser-Wilhelm-Str. 2, with lift and restaurant,
R. 21/-8, B. 1, D. 11/;-8, pens. from 6 .#; MERKUR, Schadow-Str. 40; ArTUS-
HOF (Pl.vs; C, 6), Aders-Str., R. 3-4, D. from 1/; .#; DisseLpORFER HoF,
Kaiser -Wilhelm-Str. 2; Ka1sErHOF, Kaiser-Wilhelm-Str, ; PRINZ ALEXANDER,
Alexaunder- Platz, R. 2-3, B. 3/, D. 1!/2-2 4. — The following have beer-
restaurants: *HOreL BristoL (Pl. g; D, 6), Wilhelms-Platz 12 with lift, R.
2/2-41/;, B. 1, D. from 1]1{3 M ; GERMANIA (Pl n; D, 6), Bismarck-Str. 101,
by the Central Station (Pl. E, 6), R. 21/;-T1/, B. 11/4, D. (in the restaurant) 2-3 .4 ;
Barnsor-Hdter (PL 13 D, [ , opposite the Railway Station, R. 2!/,-5, B. 1,
D. 11/2-3 4. — CaristLicuEs Hospiz, Graf-Adolf-Str. 59 fPl. C, D, 6). —
Pensions : Greeven, Schumann-Str. 2, pens. 4-10 .4; Schuss, Stein-Str. 85,
Krasemann, Feld-8tr. 22; A. Mdiler, Victoria-8tr. 34 (4-7 .‘):, Birkenfeld,
Grafenberger Chaussée 87 (4-6 M); Elbers-Gildemayer, Hohenzollern-Str. 23.
— Augusta-Haus (for ladies), Stefanien-Str. 14.

Restaurants. WINE. At the above-named Hotels; *Thdrnagel, Elber-
felder-Str. 11 (Pl. C, 4, 5), D. from 3 .4 ; * Walther, Allée-Str. 24, D. 2-8 4 ;
*Rebstock, Griin-8tr. 4, D.2Y/2 & ; Bach, Harold-Str.17; Seulen, Berger-Str. 35;
*Zum Alten Zoil, Andreas-8tr. 2; Dilssel-Schldsschen (p. 22), Schlossufer 1. —
Beer. At the above-named Hotels; Tonhalle Restaurant, Schadow-Str.; Lowe,
Schadow-Platz 81, D. 11/-18/; & ; Hansa Resigur., at the hotel of that name
(see above); Rothes Haus, Josephinen-Str, 3, with garden. — Wine Rooms,
Faccenda, kﬁnigs-Allée ’}, Stadt Venedig, Graf Adolf-Str. 41 (Italian wines
at these); Continental Bodega, Kinigs-Allée 26.

Cafés. *Cornelius Café, Konigs-Allée 0 ; *Bierhoff, Breite-Str. 4 (largely
frequented by ladies); Branscheidt, Eck-Str.1; Arab Café, Graf-Adolf-Str. 44 ;
Ananasberg, Eiskellerberg, both in the Hof-Garten (p.24); Caklé Alter Bahnhof,
Graf-Adolf-Platz. — Confectioner. *Weitz, Konigs-Allde 39.

Places of Amusement. *Tonhalle (Pl. D, 4), with a garden and concert-
rooms (music several times a week, 60 pf.; symphony-concert on Thurs.
& Sat.); Zoological Garden (Pl. F, 1, 2), see p. 95 *Flora Garden (Pl. B, 8;
p- 24), with palm-house (concert twice weekly ;50 pf.); Volks- Garten (Pl. E, 8).

Theatres. Stadt-Theater (Pl. C, 4; p. 28), Allée-Str.; performances be-
tween Sept. 16th and April 16th. — Apollo Theaire (P1. 2; C, 6), Konigs-
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Allée, variety performances and operettas; Reichshallen, Hohe-Str. 83, variety
performances.
Baths. Town Baths (swimming, Turkish, etc.), entered either from the
Griin-Str. or the Bahn-8tr. (P1. C, 1). — River Baths, see P1. B, 8 and A, 8.
Oabs. Per drive of 2 kil. (1!/4 M.), 1-2 persons 60, 8-4 pers. 80 pf.; each
kil. additional 30 or 40 pf. extra. By time: /3 hr., 1-2 pers. 11/2, 8-4 pers.
2 .4;1br, 2/i0r8 #;1Y2hr. 8.4,3.490pf.;2rs., 3.4, 4 .4 80pf. —
There are also Tarameter Cabs and Taxameter Motor Cabs, with a special tariff.
Electric Tramways ply to tne Rhine Bridge (p. 23 , the Flora (p. 20),
the Cemetery, the Zoological Garden (p. 25), Grafenberg (p. 25), etc.; comp.
the Plan. — Blectric Railways run to Vohwinkel (p.63), vid Benrath (p. 2g)
and Hilden; to (14 M.; every 1/z hr.) Crefeld (p. b6), vid Obercassel (p. 56),
Heerdt (p. 58), Bétderich (p. 58), and Osterath (p. 56); to Neuss (p. b6), vid
Obercassel and Heerdt; and to Duisburg (p. 19), vid Kaiserswerth (p. 26).
Local Steamers ply 8-4 times daily to Kaiserswerth (p. 26) and Uerdingen

. 62).
@ Post Office (P1. B, 6), at the corner of the Casernen-Str. and Harold-Str.
Telegraph Office (Pl. C, 5), Konigs-Allée 29.
Picture Gallery, Schuite’s, Allée-Str. 42 (adm. 50 pf.).
British Oonsul for Westphalia and the Rhenish Provinces: Thos. R.
Mulvaney, Esq., Derendorfer-Str. 1. — American Consul : Peter Liecber, Esq.

English Church Service at 8 and 11.45 a.m., in the smaller Protestant
Church, Berger-Strasse. Chaplain, Rev. W. F. Connor, Brehm-Str. 8.

Diisseldorf (88 £t.), the capital of the district of that name, with
243,000 inhab., lies on the right bank of the Rhine at the influx of
the Diisselbach. With the exception of some of the oldest streets, it
is a pleasant and well-built town. First mentioned in a document
of 1159, it was chosen at the beginning of the 16th cent. as a resi-
dence by the Dukes of Berg, and on their becoming extinct in 1609
it continued to be the residence of the Princes Palatine. It reached
the acme of its prosperity under the splendour-loving Elector John
William (1690-1716), who invited numerous artists to his court and
established the picture-gallery. On his death the Princes Palatine
transferred their seat to Mannheim. In 1767 Elector Charles Theodore
founded the Diisseldorf Academy of Art, which was reorganised in
1819 and became one of the chief centres of German art (comp. p. 22).
Recently Diisseldorf has become an important industrial and com-
mercial town, with an extensive new harbour (to the S.W. of
PL A, 6, 7).

In the heart of the older part of the town, with its narrow and
irregular streets, once stood the old Electoral Palace, which was
burned down in 1872 and afterwards removed except the restored
tower. Inthe Burg-Platz (Pl. B, 4) standsthe Provincial Library, and
behind this is the Art-Industrial School, an edifice in the French
Renaissance style, built by Westhofen in 1882.

A little to the 8. is the MaRkBT PracE (Pl. B, §), with the
Rathhaus, or Town Hall, built by Heinrich Tissmann in 1570-73
(the W. wing in the French Renaissance style added in 1885). The
council-room (adm. Sun. & Wed., 11-12.30) is embellished |with
modern historical frescoes. In front of the Rathhaus rises an
equestrian Statue of Elector John William, in bronze, over lifesize,
by Grupello (1741), erected according to the inscription by the
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citizens, but in reality by the elector himself. — In the neigh-
bouring Bolker-Strasse (No. 63) Heinrich Heine, the poet, was born
in 1799 (d. 1856). — Beside the Mazimilians-Pfarrkirche (P1. B, 5)
rises a Column of 8t. Mary, by J. Reiss.

The Church of 8t. Lambert (Pl. B, 4), a Gothic edifice of the
end of the 14th cent., with a tower partly Romanesque, contains at
the back of the high-altar the Monument in marble of William V.
(d. 1592) and John William III. (d. 1609), the last two dukes of
Cleve and Berg, and of othermembers of their family, erected in 1629.
There are also a late-Gothic Tabernacle and an ‘Antependium’, on
a gold ground, representing the patrons of the church, painted
and presented by A. Achenbach. — An inscription in the Ratinger-
Strasse glzo. 45) indicates the house in which Carl Immermann
(1796-1840), the author, died.

The Church of 8t. Andrew (Pl. 3; B, 4), formerly the church
of the Court and of the Jesuits, completed in 1629 by Deodat del
Monte, a pupil of Rubens, and connected with the old Jesuit Col-
lege which is now occupied by the government-offices, contains the
tombs of Count Palatine Wolfgang William (d. 1653) and Elector
John William (see p. 21), in the choir. Altar-pieces by Deger,
Hiibner, and W. Schadow.

On the W. side of the old town, between the harbour (p. 21)
and the Rhine Bridge, extends the Rhine Promenade, completed
in 1902, and bearing different names in its different sections
(Berger-Ufer, Rathhaus-Ufer, Schloss-Ufer). The Diissel-Schidsschen
(p. 20) and other buildings are situated here.

The Rhine Bridge (Pl. A, B, 4; toll 6pf.), built from the
designs of Prof. Krohn in 1896-98, spans the stream in two arches,
197 yds. in width and 75 ft. above the water-level. The gateways
at each end were designed by Prof. Schill; the central pier bears a
gigantic lion, the cognizance of Diisseldorf.

On the N. side of the old town rises the Academy of Art
(Pl. B, 4), an imposing Renaissance edifice by Riffart, com-
pleted in 1881 (comp. p. 21). The principal fagade, 520 ft. long,
is turned towards the Hof-Garten. It contains several studios and
class-rooms, a collection of plaster-casts, etc. On the groundflour
are the remains of the once famous GALLERY oF OLD MASTERS, the
greater part of which was removed to Munich in 1805 (open free on
Sun., 12-1, and Wed., 11-1; at other times 50 pf., more than 1 pers.
25 pf. each). The most valuable paintings are an Assumption by
Rubens (ca. 1620) and Madonnas by Cima da Conegliano and Giov.
Bellini. It also contains a large collection of drawings of every school
(14,000 in number) and engravings, and the Ramboux collection of
water-colours. The Auwra, on the second floor, is adorned with good
frescoes (the Course of Human Life) by Peter Janssen (b.1844),
Director of the Academy since 1895.
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Adjacent, Reuter-Caserne 1a, is the HrsTor1caL Museum (P1.B,4),
a collection of Roman and Frankish antiquities, coins, portraits, and
views and plans of Diisseldorf (open free, Sun. & Wed. 11-1 ; list of
the pictures 30 pf-).

The old town is separated from the MoDERN QUARTERS on the
E. side by the broad Allée-Strasse (Pl. B, C, 4, 5), in which rise
bronze statues of Emp. William I., Bismarck, and Moltke. — On the
right is the —

Kunsthalle (Pl. 4; B, 4), erected in 1881 in the French Renais~
sance style by Giese and enlarged in 1902, with a large mosaic on the
fagade (Truth as the foundation of Art, after Fr. Reeber, by Salviati).
It contains an Exhibition of Modern Paintings (on sale) as well as the
*Municipal Gallery of modern Diisseldorf masters. On the staircase-
walls are frescoes by C. Gehrts, representing the History of Art. Adm.
dmly 9—6 50 pf (free on Wed. after 1 p. m.); catalogue 30 pf.

dch bach, Funeral at Palestrina and
three Italian lnndunpes, 0 Bcaa:, Exposure "of Moses; [Ed. Bendemann,
W. Camphausen, the painter; Bewer. Beheading of Jobn the Bapt.ist,
L. Bokeimann, Funeral in N. Fneulmd P, Britt, Condemned; W. Camp-
hausen , Frederick the Great; Om-nelm.t, The Wise and Foolish Virgins,
one of the earliest works, and one of the few oil-paintings executed by
this master, begun in 1813 formerly in the possession of Thorvaldsen;
Deiker, Savage dogs; E. Dachr, Coast-scene; F. J. Fagerlin, The rejected
suitor (a Dutch interior); E. von Gebhardt, The young man of great posses-
siona; J. P. Hasenclever, Wine-tasting, the master's last picture; Th. Hilde-
bmndl. Wnppers, the Antwerp painter; J. Hubner, Portrait of Prof. Keller;
Episode at the Battle of Gravelotte; P. Janssen, The monk
Wnlther Dod e and the Tgleuam.s of Berg before {gfining in the battle of
Worringen ; R. Jordan, e first child; A. Kampf, Frederick the Great and
his generals; L. Knaus, Card-players ;nd a genre-piece; F. von Lenbach,
Prince Biemarck; C. F. Lessing, Landscape with military scene; Ki. Meyer,
lerry mumelano, C. l{aucr, Annuncianon L. Munthe, Two winter-aeenes,
F, 7 Portrmt of Schirmer; 4. Normane,
Norweglm (iord, Th. Rochon, Bt'ngglera; J. Réting, Portraits of W, Schadow
and C. F. Lessing; J. W. Schirmer, Italian landscape, Dutch landscape,
Twenty-six Biblical scenes; A. Schr ddter , Don Quixote ‘before Dulcinea of
Toboso A BSeel, Church of St. Mark, Venice; C. Sohn, Tasso and the two
3 A. Tia d, Service of the Hangmner in Norway; B. Vautier,

‘Lm.le Obatmate’

The Museum of Art & Industry (Pl. B, 4), a building in the
Dutch Renaissance style by C. Hecker, on the N. side of the
Friedrichs-Platz, was completed in 1896. It is open daily, except
Mon., 10-4, on Sun. & holidays 10-1 (adm. 50 pf.).

The collections include textile fabrics, lace, embroidery, bindings,
pottery, porcelain, works in iron, and wood-carvings. It also contains a
good Japanese ami Indian eollection (2nd floor). The series of rooms fitted
up in the old-German, Flemish, Oriental, and other styles is interesting.

On the E. side of the Allée-Strasse is the handsome Theatre
(8tadt-Theater; Pl. C, 4), built in 187D by Giese, with statnes of
Mendelssohn and Immermann (by Ol. Buscher; 1901) on the fagade. —
Behind the theatre is the War Memorial, designed by Prof. Hilgers
and erected in 1892 in memory of the campaigns of(1864,,1866,
and 1870-74. The inscription is by H. Sudermann, the dramatist.
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To the S. of this point, in the Cornelius-Platz, rises the bronze
Statue of Cornelius (P1. C, 4), the eminent painter (b. at Diissel-
dorf in 1783, d. 1867), by Donndorf, erected in 1879. At the sides
of the handsome pedestal are allegorical figures of Poetry and Reli-
gion. — The house in which Cornelius was born, Kurze-Strasse 15,
is marked by a memorial slab.

Farther on is the ScEADOW-PLaTz (Pl. C, 4, 5), which is em
bellished with a colossal Bust of W. Schadow (b. 1789, d. 1862), in
bronze, designed by Wittig. — Mendelssohn lived at No. 30,
Schadow-Str., in 1833-35, while he was municipal director of music
at Diisseldorf. — The hall of the Real-Gymnasium, or Technical
School (P1. G, D, b), Kloster-Str. 7, is adorned with an allegorical
frieze by Ed. Bendemann, representing Art, Science, Commerce, and
Industry (admission 50 pf.). — The Church of the Immaculate Con-
ception (P1. D, §), in the Ost-Str., a Gothic building by Becker, was
erected in 1896.

In the Kén1es-Pratz (Pl C, D) is the Protestant Church of
8t. John, in the Romanesque style, erected in 1875-81 from plans
by Kyllmann and Heyden. On the S.W. side of the Platz is the
Justiz-Gebdude, or court-house, the assize-room in which contains
Schadow'’s last great oil-painting (Paradise, Hell, and Purgatory).

From the Cornelius-Platz the Kéntas-ArrLEe (PL. C, b, 6), embel--
lished with a group of Tritons by Fr. Courbillier (1902), leads to
the park-grounds at the Schwanenspiegel and Kaiserteich. Here stands
the Provinzial-Stindehaus, or House of the Rhenish Estates (P1. B,
6, 7), built in 1879 in the Italian style by Raschdorff, The bronze
group in front of it, by Tiishaus and Janssen (1897), represents the
Rhine and its Tributaries. — The new late-Gothic Church of St. Peter
(P1. B, 7) is by Pickel. — 1n the Flora-Strasse, which leads to the
Flora Garden (p.20), is the Friedens- Kirehe, which contains frescoes
by Ed. von Gebhardt. — In the former village of Bilk, to the W.,
now a part of Diisseldorf, are the Observatory and the Romanesque
church of St. Martin (P1. A, 7, 8), the oldest part of which dates
from the 41th century.

Adjoining the Allée-Str. (p. 22) and the Cornelius-Platz is the
Hof-Garten (Pl. B-D, 3, 4; café-restaurant, p. 20), which was laid
out in 1769, but was extended and altered with artistic taste after
the levelling of the fortifications in 1804-13. The well-kept grounds
extend down to the Rhine on the W., and on the E. to the Jdgerhof

* (PLD,4), once a hunting-lodge of Elector Charles Theodore (1760).
The stables in the Pempelforter-Str. are tastefully adorned with
carved wood-work.

The former Pempelfort Garden (P1. D, 4), once the residence of
the philosopher Friedrich Heinrich Jacobi (d. 1819), and visited by
Goethe, Herder, Wieland, and other celebrities of that period, now
belongs to the Malkasten club of artists (founded in 1848 ; intro-
duction necessary). — The new Church of St. Rochus (P1.'D, 3) is
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a Romanesque structure by Kleesattel. — In the Prinz-Georg-
Strasse is the new building of the Government Archives (Pl. D, 2).

The island of Golzheim, to the N.W. of the Hof-Garten, was in
1902 the site of an Industrial Exhibition for the Rhine and West-
phalia, with which a National Ezhibition was combined. The
Palace of Art (Pl. B, 3), built for the latter in the S. German
baroque style, with a handsome fagade 14D yds. in length and a
lofty dome, will be henceforth used for the Diisseldorf Art Exhibi-
tion, held annually.

To the N.E. of the town, about 1l/; M. from the Cornelius-Platz, and
reached by tramway, lies the Zoological Garden (Pl. F,1, 2; adm 56pt‘.;
band on Wed. and Sat. afternoons), tastefully laid out. — Adjoining the
Zoological Garden on the E. is the Diisselthal Asylum for homeless
children, formerly a Trappist monastery, presented by the government to
Count von der Recke in 1819, and fitted up by him for its present purpose.

The t town of Kai th (Rheinischer Hof), with 2600 inhab.,
on the right bank of the Rhine, 8 M. from Diisseldorf and 21/z M. from Cai-
cum (p. 20), is the seat of a training school for Protestant Sisters of Charity,
an extensive institution, with branches in many different parts of Germany,
founded by the benevolent pastor Fiiedner (d. 1864) in 18&. The old early-
Romanesque Church of Kaiserswerth, a huge columnar basilica with tran-
septs and four towers, dates from the middle of the 44ith century. The
choir is an elegant transition addition of about 1250, while the W. towers
were rebuilt in 1874. The church contains an admirably executed *Reliquary
(1284), in which the bones of S8t. Sustbertus, a native of Ireland who first
preached the Gospel here in 710, are preserved. From the Kénigspfalz, or
Palace, of Kaiserswerth, the young Emp. Henry IV. was carried oft in 1062
in a vessel belonging to his austere guardian Archbishop Anno. The Emp.
Frederick L rebuilt the castle in 1174-84, and the present extensive re-
mains, which were fully exposed by excavations in &99—1901, belong ex-
clusively to that period.

The Grafenberger Chaussee (Pl. F, 8, 4; tramway from the Central
Station) leads to the E. from Diisseldorf to (31/2 M.) Grafenberg (Restauranis
Jagerhaus, Haardt, and Hirschberg), with the reservoir of the water-works
and the provincial Lunatic Asylam. — To the N. is the much frequented
S8tadt-Wald, on the W. verge of which is the vegetarian health establish-
ment of Waldesheim (pens. 5-9 ).

RaiLway 10 CorogNE. To the left rises Schloss Eller. Beyond
(156 M.) Benrath (Hesse), among the trees to the right, stands a
handsome royal chiteau erected in 1756-60 by Elector Palatine
Charles Theodore. Beyond (164 M.) Langenfeld the train erosses the
Wupper, passes the chateau of Reuschenberg (left), and at (1651/;M.)
Kiippersteg crosses the Dhiin. The Rhine is approached near Schloss
Stammbeim, a chiteau of Count Fiirstenberg.

172 M. Milheim am Rhein (Hotel Magdeburg; Briisseler Hof),
a thriving manufacturing town with 45,000 inhab., which owes its
prosperity to the hundreds of Protestants who migrated hither from
Cologne in the early years of the 17th century. Handsome modern
Gothic church near the station, by Zwirner. The equestrian statue
of Emp. William I., by Buscher, was unveiled in 1898,

FroM MGLHEIM TO IMMEREPPEL, 181/3 M., railway in 1}/s-41/shr. == 21/z M.
Dellbrick. — 51/2 M. Bergisch-Gladbach (Bergischer Hof), a straggling town
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with 11,400 inhabitants. In the vicinity is the Stunderthalshohe, a popular
resort. The Cistercian abbey of Altenberg (p. 62) lies 6 M. to the N. of
Gladbach (carriage there and back 8-9 .4#), and 2 M. to the S. of Burscheid
(p. 62). — 11 M. Bensberg (Schine Aussichi; Rheinischer Hof), a place of
10,400 inhab., possesses a chiteau built by Elector Palatine John William
in 1705, now a military school. In the woods, about 4 M. to the 8., is the
Hbtel- Pension Bokenburyg (pens. 4-6 #). — The remaining stations are:Fors-
bach, Rysrath, Hoffnungsthal, Untereschbach, and Immekeppel.
From Miilheim to Elberfeld and Barmen, see R. 7.

Below Miilheim the train intersects the fortifications of Deuts
(p. 55) and crosses the railway-bridge to (175 M.) Cologne.

STEAMBOA?T from Diisseldorf to Cologne (b hrs., in the reverse direction
21/2 hrs.) tedious, although several places of historical interest are passed.

3. Cologne.

Railway Stations. 1. CENTRAL StarioN (Pl F, 4; *Restaurant, D. from
2 M), in the Trankgasse, opposite the cathedral (see p. 38), for all the
trains on the left bank of the Rhine and for most of the trains on the
right bank. — 2. S8ouTH 8taTION (Pl. C, 23 p. 81), for slow trains and a few
express trains, — 8, West Starion (P1. F, 13 8 él), for slow trains only. —
4. RicAET RHENISH StaTION at Deutz (Pl. E, 6), for a few of the ordinary
traing. — Porter into the town: for packages not exceeding 111bs., 30 pf.
not exceeding 551bs., 50 pf.; not exceeding 1001bs., 75 pf. Cabs, see p. 28.

Steamboat Quays. The fast steamers of the Cologne & DilsseldorS
Steamship Co. (p. xvi) start from the Trankgassen-Werft (Pl. F, 8), the
other steamers from the Leystapel (Pl. D, b), respectively 2-3 min. and
10-12 min. from the cathedral and the central station. The quay of the
Dutch steamers (p. xvi) is at the Frankenwerft (Pl. E, 5), 4 min. from the
central station. — Porfer into the town or to the railway-station: for
hand-bag 10 pf., for trunk up to 551bs. 50 pf., up to 4101bs. 80 pf., up to
651bs. 1 4 20 pf.

Hotels. “HOteEL DU NorD (Pl. a; E, 5), Franken-Platz 4-6, near the irou
bridge, with railway-ticket, post, and telegraph office, R. 8-7, B. 115
D. 4, omn. 3/y #; *HoTEL MoNOPOLE (Pl. m; E, 4), Wallrafs-Platz 5, with
café and restaurant, R. 3-5, B. 11/,, D. 4 .#; *HotsL Disca (Pl b; E, 4),
Briicken-8tr. 19, R. from 3 4#; *HOtEL pu Dome (Pl i; E, 4), near the
cathedral, R. 3-8, B. 1l/s, D. 3!/2, omn. !/ 4#; *KOLNER Hor (HO!. de
Cologne; Pl. k, F 4), Bahnhof-Str. 5, opposite the tral station, with
terrace, R. 21/;-6, B. 1!5, D. (in restaurant) 3, pens. from 8 4#; *HétEL
Ernst (Pl. e; F, 4), Trankgasse 3, near the cathedral. All these are of
the first class, with lift, baths, electric light, and hot-air heating. — The
following are also first-class, but less pretentious: *GrosseR KURFimsT
(Pl. 03 E, 4). Domkloster 2, R. 3-5, B. 11/4, D. from 3/, pens. 9, omn. /2 4#;
*EwiGk Laupe (Pl. g; F, 4), Komddien-Str. 2-8, with café and restaurant;
Vicroria (Pl. 43 D, E, 5), Heumarkt 46-50, R. 5—4, B. 1, D. 3, pens. 7-10 &,
omn. 60 pf., good cuisine; *CoNTINENTAL (Pl f; E, 4), Domhof 18, R. /s-5,
B. 1-11/4; D. 3, pens. from 7z 4.

The following are still less pretentious: *St. PauL (Pl s; F, 4), at
the corner of the Burgmauer and Unter Fettenhennen, with good view of
the cathedral, R. 2-31/2, B. 1, D. 2!/2, pens. 528 .4; *H4tEL MITTEL-
niusgr (Pl 1: F, 4), Marzellen-Str. 5, with Jift, electric light, and hot-air
heating, R. 2l/>4, B. 4, D, 21/ & ; PaLasT-HOTEL (P p; E, 4), Am Hof 24,
with lift, electric light, and hot-air heating, R. from $ 4; Manzzr Hor
(Pl. ¢; E, 8), Glockengasse 14-20, R. 2-3, B. 1, D. 21/2, pens. from 7’{: -,
commercial; Reicasgor, Am Hof 18 (Pl. E, 4), with lift, electric light,
hot-air heating, and beer-restaurant, R. 21/s-21f2, B. 8/s, D. 11/e:2/z M
*BrLG1sCHER Hor (Pl. y; F, 4), Komodien-Str. 9, with' lift,) (eléctric light,
hot-air heating, and restaurant, R. 23, B. 1 .4; BERLINER Hor, Marzellen-
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Str. 19 (P1. F, 4), with lift, electric light, hot-air heating, and restaurant,
R. 2-3, B. 1, D. 11/:313 A , well spoken of; Karser kFrieprice (Pl h;
G, 2), balier-B.ing , with lift, electric light, hot-air heating, and restaurant,
frequented by officers, R. 5.5, B. 1, D. 11,22 H; Eaiser WiLngLM
®PL w; G, 2), Kaiaer-Wilhelm-iiing 43, well sitnated, with electric light
and beer-restaurant, R. 21/2-6, B. 3/s-1, D. 11/3-3 #; MiNerva (Pl v; F, b;,
Johannis-Str. 24, with beer-restaurant; Union, Dominikaner 2 (Pl. F, 4),
R. 23, B. 1, D. il/g M ; HOTEL TILS, Andreu—Kioster (PL. F, 3), with electric
light, R. 2-&%, B. 1, D. 21/3 .#; Hor vox HoLLAND, Hofergasse 11, to the 8.
0‘5 the central railway station, R. 2-31/z, B. 1 .#. — RHEIN-HTEL, Leystapel
(Pl. D, 5), R. 11/2-4, B. 1, D. from 11/s #; BaYriscHER HoFr, next to the
Museum (Pl. E, 4); Frinkisouer Hor, Komddien-8tr. 82 (Pi. F, 4), with
restaurant, R. & B. from 2, D. from 1l/; 4, well spoken of; HOTEL
MgrroroLE, Am Hof 48, with wine-room; HOTEL LaNDsBERG (Pl n; F, 4),
Marzellen-Str. 1; HOTEL STRUNG, Johannis-Str. 16 (P1. F, 5), near the railway;
HOTEL VANDERSTEIN-BELLEN, Heumarkt 20 (Pl. D, E, B), with wine-room
R. 24, B. Y2, D. 13/, 4, well spoken of; HOTEL HGFER, Drususgasse 11
(Pl. E, 4), with electric light and hot-air heating, R. 11/2-8, D. 11/, ¥;
HoreL LANGEN, S8alomonsgasse 18 (P1. E, 4), with win taurant, cial ;
KaiseruOFP (Pl. u; E, 4), Salomonsgasse 11, with hot-air heating, and beer-
restaurant, R. 29 2, B. 1, D. from 11/4 4 ; MeTzER HOF, S8alomonsgasse 183
Deutscaes Haus, Laurenz-Platz (Pl. E, 4); Ho1EL LoweNsriu, Hoch-Str. 20
with beer-restaurant, R. and B. from i'/z M ; HOTEL OBLADEN, 8t. Agatha st
(Pl. D, 4), with electric light, R. 11/2-2, B. 3/, D. 2 4. -— CHRISTLICHES
Hosriz (Pl. q; G, 5), Johannis-Str. 77, R. 1} 2-3'/2 A, B. 60 pf., D, 1-41/3,
Lens. 8-b #. — Pensions: M#ller’s Familien- Pension, Albertus-Str. 37; Bauer,
ichard Wagner-Str. 35; Helbach, Roon-Str. 40.

Restaurants. *@. Betlger & Co., Kleine Budengasse 8 and 10 (P E, 4),
with oyster-saloon; °Neues Staditheater-Restaurant, D. from 2 4; *Monopols
*Hotel du Déme, *Koiner Hof. *Grosser Kurfilrst, see p. 28; Gdrzenich (p. 44),
D. from 1Yz #; °F. Raue, Hohenzollern-Ring 44. "These all of the firat
class and visited by Jadies. — Wine. Peters, 8everin-Str. 187 (PL. B, C, 4),
good Rhine wine ; Ewige Lampe, see p. 26 ; *Beckmann, Am Hof 33 (P. E, 4),
D. from 1 .4 20 pf.; Altdeutsche Weinkneipe, Am Hof 14; Langen, see above ;
J. J. Schoss, Am Hof; Hole} Vanderstesn-Bellen (see above), Moselle wine;
Nakatenus, Ludwig-8tr. 5-T; @itfels, Hohenstaufen-Ring 21 ; Wirtz, Limburger-
8tr. (Pl. E, 2); Bodega, Hohe-Str. 127 (Spanish wines). — Beer. *Fischer,
in the arcade off the Hohe-Str. (Pl. E, 4); ®Bierstall, at the Belgischer Hof
(see above), D. 13/4-13/s M; *Café Borussia, see below; Stapelhaus (P1. E, 5;
p. A7), at the Frankenwerft, with garden-terrace (military band); Kaiserhof,
see Ai;ove; Pschorrbrdu. Burghéfchen and Hof-8Str. 38; Lowenbrdu, Hohe-
Str. 90, D. 1-1/3 #; *Krdnkel, Martin-Str. 24 (Pilsen beer); HO:. Kaiser
Wilhelm, see above. — CoLOoGNE BEER: Pdfgen, Friesen-Str.; Zum Bart,
Auf dem Brand; Schreckensk , Johaunis-Str.; Zur Zweipann, Breite
Strasse.

OCafés. ° i, see p. 28; *Bauer, Hoch-Str. 69, corner of the Perlen-
pfahl; *Café de I’ Europe, at the Hotel Ewige Lampe, see p. 26; Wiener Café,
Briicken-8tr. 1 (Pl. E, 4); Fischer, in the Passage, next the Hohe-Str.
(see above) ; *Café Borussia, Hohenzollern-Ring 66 (P1. E, 2). — Confectioners.
*Reichard, Hoch-Str. 164 5 *Kaiser, Breite-Str. 43; *Eigel, Schildergasse 36
(PL. E, 4, 8); *Esser , Hoch-Str. 53.

Places of Recreation. Zoological Garden, with frequented *Restaurant,
see p. Bl. Adm. 1 .4, on Sundays 50 pf.: concerts in summer on Tues. &
Frid. in the evening, on other days in the afternoon (in winter on Sun.,
Wed., and Sat. afternoons only). Steamers, see p. 20. — Flora Garden,
see p. 86. Admission 50 pf. Aquarium 25 pf. Restaurant; concerts on Sun.
and Wed., and oftener in summer; lawn tennis courts. Steamers, see p. 2.
— Kurfirsten-Garten, near the Zoological Garden, on the BRhine, at the
corner of the Frohngasse, beside the quay of the Milheim steamers (p. 28)3
band in the afternoon. — Stadt-Garten (Pl. F, 1; p. 58), with good re-
staurant. — Volks-Garten (Pl. A, 3, 4; p. 58), near the Salier-Ring, with
pretty grounds, concerts in summer, and a restaurant, — Marienbury, re-
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staurant with pretty grounds (p. 68); adjacent on the Rhine, the Aiteburger
Milhle, commanding a fine view. — Stadiwald, in Lindenthal, see p. 66. —
Racecourse, see p. b3 (meetings in April, May, Sept., and Oct.).

Theatres. Neues Stadt-Theater (P1. D, 2; p. 53), Habsburger Ring, for
operas, dramas, and ballets (Sept. 1st-May 81st); Altes Stadt- Theater (P1. E, 8;
p. 48), Glockengasse, for comedies and operettas (S8ept. {st- April 30th); Re-
sidenz-Theater (Pl. F, 2; p. 53), Bismarck-Str., modern dramas, farces, and
operettas; Summer Theatre in the Flora (see p. 27); Reichshallen - Theater
(Pl. E, 8), Gertruden-8tr. 10, variety performances in winter, operettas and
‘Kolner Hinneschen® in summer; Scala Theatre, Herzog-Str. 9; Apollo
Theatre, Schildergasse, these two variety theatres.

Music. The Girzenich Concerts (p. 44; seats in the body of the hall
6 M, in the gallery 3 .4), twelve in number, which take place annually
in winter, have attained a European celebrity. — Two institutions which
have earned a high reputation are the Conservatorium of Music (Pl. E, 8),
gVoll-Sh-. 3,4§ounded in 1851, and the Manner-Gesangverein, or Men’s Vocal

ociety (p. 48).

Festivals. *Casrnéval. On Nov. 11th and weekly after Jan. 4st the three
chief carnival-societies hold burlesque meetings. A *Procession takes place
on the Mon. before Shrove Tues.; and on Shrove Tues. there is a masked
ball in the Giirzenich Hall (p. 45; early application for tickets necessary).

Oab Tariff.
A. Per Drive. Pergons: j} 1 | 2 | 8 | 4
Drive within Cologne and Deutz, as far as the || & pf.|.# pf. |# pf. | & pf.
new ramparts (bridge-toll 36, return 44 pf.,

extra). . . .. . e e e e e e e e o|l- |1 - |1.25|4. 560
Zoological and Flora Gardens and Racecourse {{1. 25 | 1. 25 {1. 756 |1. 76
B. By Time.
Forlzhr. . . .. ... ... .. e oot - 11 - 11,501, 50
Each additional !4 hr. . . . . . . ... . ||-50}-50]|-TB|-T
For a trunk or heavy package 25 pf.; small articles free. — Double
fares from 11 p.m. to 7 a.m. (in summer 6 a.m.). — For drives to the

suburbs 50 c. additional is paid if the cab be not used in returning.

Taxameter Oabs (some of them motor-cabs). Drive of 800 métres (ca.
1/2 M.), 1-2 pers. 50 pf., each 400 m. extra 10 pf. ; drive of 600 m. for 3-4 gers.
(1-4 pers. outside the municipal district) 50 pf., each 300 m, extra 10 c.;
at night 400 m. for 1-4 pers. gO ¢., each 200 m. more 10 pf. — Waiting,
10 pf. every 4 minutes. — Luggage under 22Ibs. free; 22-551bs. 25 pf.;
each addit. 561bs. or fraction f.

Electric Tramways (fare 10-15 pf.). The following are the chief lines
for tourists: 1. (Ufer-Bahn). From the Zoological Garden (p. B54), vid the
Kaiger-Friedrich-Ufer (P1. H, F, 5, 8), Leystapel (Pl. D, §), and Agriggin&-ﬂfer
(Pl. A, 6), to Mariendburg (p. 68). — 2. (Rund-Bahn). From the ankgasse
(P1. F, 5; near the cathedral and central station) vid Heumarkt (Pl. E, D, b),
Barbarossa-Platz (P1. C, 2), Rudolfs-Platz (Pl. E, 2) Kaiser—Wilhelm-ﬁing
(Pl. F, 2), and Gereonsdriesch (P1. F, 8) back to the I’rankaauc. — 8. (Innen-
Bahn). From the Ubier-Ring (Pl. A, b), vid Bayen-Strasse (Pl. B, C, b),
Joseph-Strasse, Im Martinsfeld (Pl. C, 3), Neumarkt (Pl. D, E, 8), Auf dem
Berlich (Pl. E, 3), Klingelpiitz (Pl. F, G, 3), and Hansa-Ring to the Deutscher
Ring (Pl. G, H, 5). —4. (Quer-Bahn). From the Volks-Garien (Pl. A, 3) via the
Salier-Ring, Weidenbach (Pl. C, 8), Aposteln-Kloster (P1. D, E, 2), Breite-Str.,
the Museum (Pl. E, 4), Unterfettenhennen (Pl. F, 4), Eigeistein-'l‘hor
(Pl G, 4), and Neusser-8tr. (Pl. H, 4), to the Racecourse (p. 55), returning
by the same route with a slight deviation in the middle of it. — 5. (Ring-
Bahn). From the Ubier-Ring (P1. A, B), vid Rudolfs-Platz (Pl. E, 2), Hansa-Ring
(Pl. G, H, 8, 4), and Riehler-Strasse (Pl. H, ), to the Zoological Garden
(p. 54). — 6. From Marienburg (p. 68) via Chlodwigs-Platz (Pl. A, 4), Severin-
Strasse (PL B, C, 4), Heumarkt (Pl. D, E, 5), Trankgasse (clthearal station),
Komgodien - Strasse (P1. F, 4), and Friesen-Platz (Pl. F, 2), to Ehrenfeld
(p. 16). — 7. From the A}mmaru (Pl. D, E, 8) vida Rudolfs-Platz (Pl E, 2)
to Lindenthal (Stadtwald, p. 55). — 8. From the Neumarkt via Rudolfs-
™latz and Melaten (Cemetery, p. 55) to Mimgersdor/.
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Steam Tramways. 1. From the Schaafen-8tr. (Pl. D, 2), via Lindenthal
and Frechen, to Benzelrath and Blatzheim. — 2. From the Barbarossa-Platz
(Pl. C, 2) vid Brahi (p. 80), to Bonn (‘Vorgebirgsbahn’; comp. p. 80).

Looal Steamers ply frequently between Cologne and Miulheim (p. 25
40 and 5 pf.), starting from the bridge-of-boats (Pl. D, E, 5), and touching
at the Trankgasse Wharf (Pl. F, 5), and near the Zoological and Flora
gardens (pp. b4, 65; 16 pf.); also on summer-afternoons from the Holzwerft
(PL. D, B) to Marienburg (p.86; 20 pf., there and back 35 pf.). — Ferry to
Deutz (Pl. D, 5, 6), b pf. and 3 pf.

Baths. Thé Hohenstaufen-Bad, in the Hohenstaufen-Ring (P1. D, 2), is
excellently fitted up; large swimming-baths for ladies and gentlemen.
Siegen, Schildergasse 72 (also Russian baths, etc.). — Baths in the Rhine,
by the bridge-of-boats (also warm baths); Schiefer, in Deutz, near the
bridge - of-boats, with swimming-baths and accommodation i‘or ladies 3
Militdr-Schwimmanstait, in Deutz, between the two Rhine bridges.

Post and Telegraph Office (Haupt- Postamt; Pl. F, 4; p.52), in the
Dominikaner-Str. Numerous branch-offices.

Eau de Cologne. This celebrated perfame is said to have been in-
vented bi J. M, Farina of Domodossola in 1709, while another tradition
asserts that it was first brought to Germany in 1690 by Paul de Feminis.
The claim of the firms manufacturing it to the name of Farina is some-
times very indirect. The oldest firm is Johann Maria Farina, opposite
the Jiilichs-Platz (Obenmarspforten 23). Case containing six bottles of the
ordinary medium size, 7}, 1}.

Exhibition of Paintings of the Kunst-Verein, at the Konigin Augusta
Halle (p. 42), and at Ed. Schulte’s, Richartz-Str. 16 (Pl. E, 4; adm. 50 pf.), —
Among the numerous Private Oollecti may be tioned those of Baron
Albert von Oppenhiem, Hery Schntitgen, and Herr C. A. Niessen (Roman anti-
quities), which are generally shown to lovers of art on previous application.

United States Consul: My. Chas. E. Barnes, Hohenzollern-Ring 12, —
British Oonsul: Herr C. A. Niessen, Domhof 6 (also foreign banker).

English Church 8ervice in the Chapel in the Hotel du Nord Grounds,
Bischofsgarten-Str. 3. Hours of Service, varying according to notice, at 8.30,
14, and 6, in winter and summer. Chaplain, Rev. Eldred Morgan, Domkloster 1.

English Physicians: Dr. Hall, Rohrergasse 32; Dr. Prior, Kaiser-
Wilhelm-Ring 18. — American Dentists: H. C. Merrill & John W. Gale,
Hohenzollern-Ring T9; Dr. Wm. Patton, Gereon-Str. 34; Dr. Jos. Merckens,
Hohenzollern-Ring 2. — Chemists: 0. Contzen (Dom-Apotheke); Coméddien-
8tr. 1; H. Wrede, Wallrafs-Platz 1 (both speak English).

Tourist Agents: Thomas Cook & Son, Hot. du Ddme (p. 26) ; Gaze & Sons,
Domkloster 1 (both also foreign bankers); C. A. ‘Niessen (see above ; General-
Agent of the 8,E. & Chatham Railway).

Collections and objects of Interest.

*Cathedral, see p. 32.

City Archives (p. 51), Mon.-Frid. 10-1 and 5-7, Sun. 10-1; gratis.

City Library (p. 51), Mon -Frid. 10-1 and 4-8, Sat. 10-1.

Ethmographical Collection, Joest's (p. 52), daily 96, adm. B0 pf., Sun. free.
Flora, see p. 21.

Giirzenich (p. 42), open all day; 1-2 pers. 50 pf. each, a party 40 pf. each.
Industrial Art Library (p. 54), week-days 10-12 and 7-10; free.

Museum, Archiepiscopal (p. 39), week-days 9-8 (winter 10-4), adm. 50 pf.,

Sun. & holidays 10-2, adm 30 pf.

Museum, Historical (p. b3), daily 9-b (Oct.-March 40-4), adm. free on Sun.
‘Wed., other days 50 pf.; closed on Sun. 1-2.30 p.m., on Mon. before
noon, and on Jan. ist, ‘Carnival Monday’ (p. 28), Good Friday, Easter

S8unday, Whitsunday, and Christmas Day.

*Museum of Industrial Art (p. 51), open as the Historical Museum; gratis.
Museum of Natural History (p. A7), open as the Historical Museum.
*Museum Wallraf-Richartz (p. 39), open as Nat. Hist. Museum.

Rathhaus (p. 48), open on same terms as the Giirzenich,

Romergang (p. 43), daily until 10 p.m. by eleetric light; adm. 50 pf.
Zoological Garden, see p. 27.
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Principal Attractions: Cathedral, interior, and walk round the external
choir-gallery (p. 32); Museum (p. 89); Hohe Strasse (p. 42); Rathhaus (p. 48);
Moltke Monument (p. 43); GQirzenich (p. 44); St. Maria sm Capitol (p. 45);
thence proceed to the Neumarkt and past the Church of the Agmdla (p. 88)
to 8t. Gereon (p. 49); walk or drive in the new Ring-Strasse (p. 52) and across
one of the Rhine Bridges; Flora or Zoological Garden (pp. 55, b3). A visit to the
chief sights of Cologne occupies two days, and is conveniently accomplished
in the order followed below. The best time for the churches is the morn-
ing after 10 o’clock. The services of valets-de-place are quite superfluous.
Aﬂ:r;'oon excursions may be made to Altenberg (p. 62), Schioss Brihi (p. 80),
and Weiden.

Cologne (120 ft. above the sea-level), the largest town in the
Rhenish Province of Prussia, the residence of an archbishop, and
one of the most important commercial places in Germany, is a fort-
ress of the first class, with 388,000 inhabitants (five-sixths of whom
are Roman Catholics), including a garrison of 8000 men and the
suburbs. It lies on the left bank of the Rhine, across which a bridge-
of-boats and an iron bridge lead to Deutz (p. 55). From a distance,
and especially when approached by steamboat, the town with its
numerous towers presents a very imposing appearance, but most of
the old streets are narrow and gloomy. Many of them, however,
contain interesting specimens of domestic architecture, dating
from the 16th, 15th, and even the 13th century. The development
of the town received a great impetus in 1881, when the adoption of
a farther advanced line of fortifications literally doubled the area
of the town-domain, and also in 1888 by the incorporation of the
suburbs of Bayenthal, Ehrenfeld, Nippes, and Deuts. Large harbour-
works and wharves were constructed on the river-side of the town
in 1892-98.

History. Cologne was founded by the Ubii, at the time when they
were compelled by Agrippa to migrate from the right to the left bank of
the Rhine (B. C. Bg) In A. D. 51 Agrippina, daughter of Germanicus and
mother of Nero, founded here a colony of Roman veterans, which at first
was called Colonia Agrippinensis, and afterwards Colonia Claudia Agrippina.
It was the seat of the Legate of Germania Inferior. The Roman city-
walls, constructed in the time of Claudius, enclosed the rectangle between
8t. Maria in Capitol (Pl. D, 4), the Cathedral (Pl. F, 4), the Romerthurm
(PL.F, 8; p.50), and the 8. end of the Kleine Griechenwarkt (P1. C,8). The
naval camp, recently discovered, lay at Alteburg (p. 28), to the 8. of Cologne.
In 308 Constantine the Great began a stone bridge over the Rhine, which
connected Marspforten with what was then the island of St. Martin, and
thence crossed to Castra Divitensia (Deutz). This bridge was afterwards
destroyed by the Normans, and finally removed by Archbishop Bruno
(see p. 49). From the end of the fifth tury Col belonged to the
kingdom of the Franks, and it was long occupied by the Ripuarian kings.
Charlemagne raised the bishopric, which had been founded here in the
fourth century, to an archbishopric, the first archbishop being the imperial
chaplain Hildebold, who built the oldest cathedral church, and presented
to it a valuable library, which still exists (p. 38).

The archbishops soon began to lay claim to political as well as
ecclesiastical power, and endeavoured to construe the privileges granted
to them by the Emperor into unlimited jurisdiction over the city. In
conseciuence of these pretensions they were continually at variance with
the citizens, and their quarrels usually assumed the form.of sanguinary
feuds, particularly under Anno I1. (1056-75), Philipp von Heinsberg (1167-91),
Conrad von Hochstaden (1238-61), Engelbert von Falkenburg (1261-74), an
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Biegfried von Westerburg (1275-97). The long contest was decided in favour
of municipal independence by the battle of Worringen (1288; see p. 55),
and the archbishops were compelled to transfer their residence to Briihl
(p. 80), and afterwards to Bonn. They retained, however, the highest
jurisdiction and other rights, and the citizens continued to take the oath of
allegiance, ‘so long as they should be maintained in the rights and privilegee
handed down to them by their forefathers’. The conflicts carried on in
the town itself, between different noble families or between the nobles
and the guilds, were still more violent. It was not till 1396, when the
guilds gained a decisive advantage, that there was a cessation of hostilities
(comp. p. 48). 1In 1482, 15618, and on other occasions, the city was again the
scene of revolutionary struggles. Its vigorous fund of vitality is shown by
the fact that, in spite of all these troubles, Cologne was nnquestionably one
of the wealthiest and most prosperous cities in Germany at the end of
the 15th tury. Its ce, especially its trade with London, where
it possessed warehouses at the Guildhall, was of the greatest importance.
At an early date Colosne became incorporated with the Hanseatic League,
in which it contested the supremacy with Liibeck. The weights and
measures of Cologne were in use in almost every Rhenish, Westphalian,
and Dutch town. A fair held at Cologne at Easter attracted visitors from
all parts of Europe, and even from beyond the sea.

In the course of its mediseval history Cologne may boast of having
twice been a cradle of German Ar¢. The first occasion was about the
middle of the 12th century, when the ecclesiastical enthusiasm shown by
the acquisition of the relics of the Magi,and also the civic love of splendour
found expression in a highly-developed style of ARCEITECTURE,calculated for
picturesque effect (comp. p. xxvili). One after another the larger churches
were remodelled, special attention being devoted to the choir. The best spe-
cimen of this period of architecture is gresented by the Apostel-Kirche, as
seen from the Neumarkt. During the 13th cent. the taste for building con-
tinued and led to a restoration of the Cathedral, in which, however, the
traditional R qQ hitect: was abandoned for the new Gothic
style, emanating from France and then spreading rapidly throughout Europe.
From the close of the 14th cent. onwards, Cologne enjoyed a second golden
era of art, chiefly confined to the province of PAINTING (comp. p. xxxi).
The municipal archives preserve the names of a great number of painters,
but only in a very few instances can any of these be definitely attached
to existing pictures. Among the best known are Meister Wilhelm (d. about
1880), Stephan Lochner (d. 1451: comp. p. 87), and the Master of the Life of
the Virgin (flourished ca. 1400—903. The most famous pictures of this school
in Cologne are the Dombild (p. 87), the Madonna of the Priests’ Seminary
(p. 89), and the Madonna in an arbour of roses (p. 41). — The taste for
architecture was not extinct even at a later period. The porch of the
Rathhaus, for example, i3 an interesting specimen of the German Renais-
sance. Not only were old churches renovated, but occasionally new ones
were built. Prior to 1801, when many of them were secularised, Cologne
possessed more than 100 churches, which, of course, could only be kept
in repair by constant care and attention. — In the province of SCIENCE,
Cologne held by no means so high a place as in that of art. The univer-
sity, founded in 1888, acquired, as the chief seat of the opposition
to Humanism in the contest of Reuchlin with the Obscurantists, a wide
but far from enviable reputation. It was suppressed at the close of
last centnr{.

After the 16th century Cologne declined, at first gradually, and after-
wards rapidly. In common with the rest of the Hanseatic towns its
commerce lost its former importance. Continual internal discords, leading
to the banishment in 1608 of the ‘Protestants, who settled at Crefeld,
Elberfeld, Diisseldorf, and Miilheim, proved very prejudicial to the
interests of the ocity. It retained, however, its privileges as a free
imperial city until its occupation by the French (6th Oct., %794). By the
peace of Campo Formio (17th Oct., 1797) it was incorporated with France.
— It was not till after 1815, under Prussian rule, that Cologne began to
revive. The rapid progress of its steamboatfand railway systems, and
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the enterprise of the citizens, many of whom possess great wealth, have
combined to make Cologne the centre of the Rhenish trade and one of
the most considerable commercial cities in Germany.

a. Oathedral and Museum.

The **Cathedral t, or Dom (Pl. E, F, 4), which justly excites
the admiration of every beholder, and is probably the most magni-
ficent Gothic edifice in the world, stands on a slight eminence about
60 ft. above the Rhine, partly composed of Roman and Frankish
remains, near the Central Station. It is dedicated to St. Peter. As
early as the Oth century an episcopal church (see p. 30) occupied
this site, but in course of time the inhabitants regarded it as
unworthy of the rapidly increasing size and prosperity of their city.
The Archbishop St. Engelbert first entertained the project of erecting
a new church here, but in consequence of his untimely death in
1225 (see p. 36) it was never executed. His second successor Conrad
of Hochstaden (see p. 36), after the old church had been severely
injured by a conflagration, at length laid the foundation-stone of
the present structure with great solemnity on 14th Aug., 1248. The
designer of this noble work is believed to have been Meister Gerard, to
whom the Chapter made a grant in 1257 in recognition of his services.

The choir was the first part of the building proceeded with.
The work progressed slowly, Gerard's successors, Meister Arnold and
his son Meister Johann, being seriously hampered by the struggles be-
tween the archbishops and the citizens (see p.30). The stone used
in the building was quarried in the Drachenfels (see p. 93). On
27th Sept., 1322, the choir, which had been temporarily terminated
by a lofty wall towards the west, was solemnly consecrated by
Avrchbishop Heinrich, Count of Virneburg. The bduilder soon
proceeded to lay the foundations of the N. and (in 1325) 8.
transepts, while at the same time the old church, which was still
used for divine service, was gradually removed. In 1388 the nave
was sufficiently advanced to be temporarily fitted up for service,
and in 1447 the bells were placed in the S. tower. Subsequently
the enthusiasm subsided, and by the end of the 15th century all
hope of seeing the church completed was abandoned. The unfinished

4+ Travellers are recommended not to engage any of the numerous
valets-de-place who hover about, in and near the cathedral, as their serv-
ices are unnecessary. The nave and transept (with the stained-glass
windows) are open the whole day, but walking about is forbidden during
divine service, the hours of which vary (but regularly on week-days 9-10a.m.
and 3-3.30 p.m.). Tickets to visit the choir (best light in the morning) and
treasury (1!/z 4 each person) are sold by the ‘Domschweizer’, or attendants
stationed in the cathedral. Hours of admission: from 1st May to 30th Sept.
on Mon.-Frid. 10-11 a.m., 12.80-3, 8.80-7 p.m. ; 8at. 10-14 a.m., 12.80-2.30 p.m. 3
Sun. 12-1.30, 6-7 p.m.; from 1st Oct. to 30th April Mon.-Frid. 10-14, 11.30-1,
8.30-5; 8at. 10-14, 14.30-1; Sun. 124 p.m. From 8 to 8 45 a.m. the choir is
open throughout the year, but walking about is seldom allowed, as divine
service is then usually going on. Ascent to the upper gallery, thétowers, etc.,
1ee p. 88. — No fees need be given.
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building was provided with a temporary roof about 1508, and in the
17th and 18th cent. the interior was decorated in the degraded style
of the perlod. The uncompleted structure became more and more

1. Engelbert Chapel. 2. Maternus Ch. 3. Ch. of 8t. John. 4. Ch. of the

Three Kings. 5. Ch. of 8t. Agnes. 6. Ch. of 8t. Michael. 7. Ch, of 8t.

Stephen. 8. Ch. of the Virgin. 9. Treasury. 10. Sacristy. 11. Chapter
House. 12. Library.

dilapidated. In 1796 the building was converted by the French into
a hay-magazine, its ruin being rendered more complete by the
abstraction of the lead from the roof.
Frederick William III. and IV., Kings of Prussia, at length
rescued the desecrated edifice from total destruction. . The former,
Bakpeker's Rhine. 1bth Edit. 3
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at the suggestion of Sulpice Boisserée, caused it to be examined by
the eminent architect Schinkel in 1816, and gave orders to preserve
the building as it then was. The work of restoration was not began
till 1823. It was at first carried on under the superintendence of
Ahlert (d. 1833), and afterwards under that of the talented Zwirner,
a thorough master of the Gothic style (d. 1861). On Zwirner's death
R. Voigtel (1829-1902) succeeded to his office, and carried the work
to an end. Zwirner was the first to form the project of complet-
ing the cathedral, an idea hailed with general enthusiasm. The
foundation-stone of the new part of the building was laid on 4th
Sept., 1842, and more than 15,0001, were afterwards spent yearly on
the undertaking, the greater part of this amount being defrayed by
government, the remainder by private subscriptions, societies, and
the proceeds of a lottery. The entire sum expended between 1842
and 1880 amounted to upwards of 900,000.. The last stone of the
huge 8. tower was placed in position in August, 1880, and on the
15th Oct. of the same year the completion of the cathedral was cel-
ebrated in the presence of the Emperor William I. and almost all
the sovereign princes of the German Empire.

The cathedral is a cruciform structure (see Plan, p. 33), the
nave being flanked with double, and the transept with single aisles.
Total length 1567 yds., breadth 67 yds., length of transepts 94 yds.,
height of the walls 150 ft., height of the roof 201 ft., height of the
central tower rising over the crossing 357 ft. The W. towers are
51D ft. in height (comp. p. 38). This enormous mass of masonry
is enlivened by a profusion of flying buttresses, turrets, gargoyles,
galleries, cornices, foliage, etec.

The * W. Fagade, which has been completed entirely in accord-
ance with the still extant original designs of the 14th cent., with its
two huge towers, is a superb example of strictly consistent Gothic
workmanship. The towers consist of four stories, of which the three
lower are square in form, while the fourth is octagonal, crowned

with elegant open spires.

The largest of the Bells in the S. tower is the Kaiser-Glocke, which
was cast in 1874 with the metal of French guns, and weighs pid tons ;
24 ringers are required to set it in motion. The mext two in point of
size, cast in 1447 and 1448, weigh 11 and 6 tons.

The Principal Portal is 93 ft. in height and 31 ft. in width;
the side-portals 38 ft. high and 18 ft. wide; the central window 48
ft. high and 20 ft. wide. The portal of the 8. tower was decorated
in the beginning of the 15th cent. with excellent sculptures, prob-
ably by Meister Conrad Kuyn. The bronze doors were modelled by
Schneider of Cassel, and cast at Iserlohn in 1891-92, — The arms of
the transept are terminated by the N. and S. portals, which were
completed in 1859, having been built entirely from Zwirner's
designs, as the original plans were no longer extant. The N. Portal
is executed in a simple style; the besutiful bronze *Doors; from
the designs of Mengelberg of Utrecht, were cast at Stuttgart (1891).
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The *8. Portal, with bronze doors after Schneider’s designs (p. 34),
is elaborately decorated, and embellished with statues designed by
Schwanthaler.

The *Choir, completed in 1322, and flanked with seven chapels,
is substantially a repetition of that of the cathedral of Amiens, but
some of its details are even more perfect in form. In its lower parts
it exhibits the simple and dignified forms of the early Gothic style,
while in the upper parts the full magnificence of the consummated
art is displayed.

The **INTERIOR, which is borne by 56 pillars, is 130 yds. in
length. The nave is 16 yds. wide from the centre of one pillar to
that of the one opposite, and 145 ft. in height; each of the inner
aisles is 71/ yds., each of the outer 9 yds. wide; each of the four
aisles is 60 feet high. The area of the interior is 7400 sq. yds.
In 1863 the partition which for centuries had separated the nave
from the choir (see p. 34) was removed, and in 1890-98 the mosaic
pavement was restored from designs by Essenwein and Geiger. The
effect produced by the ensemble is now singularly impressive.

Nave and Transger. The large stained-glass window above the
W. portal, executed by Milde of Liibeck, was presented in 1878
by Emp. Frederick 11I., when Crown Prince. The five stained-glass
*Windows in the N. (left) aisle, executed in 1508 and 1509, and
presented by Archbishop Philipp von Daun-Oberstein, the town of
Cologne, Archbishop Hermann von Hessen, and Count Philipp von
Virneburg, are among the finest examples of the kind now extant.
The subjects are: 1. Passion and Resurrection of Christ; below,
St. Lawrence, Madonna and Child, and the donors. 2. Life of St.
Peter, and Tree of Jesse; below, St. Sebastian and an archbishop.
3. Adoration of the Shepherds; below, S8S. George, Reinold, Gereon,
and Maurice, with Agrippa and Marsilius, the traditionary founders
of Cologne. 4. Visit of the Queen of Sheba to Solomon, the Three
Magi ; below, St. Peter in the papal chair, the Archbishop of Cologne,
the Madonna, and SS. Elizabeth and Christopher, patron saints of
Hesse. D. Coronation of the Virgin, St. John the Evangelist, St.
Peter in the papal chair, SS. Mary Magdalen and George,, and the
donor with his two wives. — The five beautiful modern windows of
the 8. aisle. with representations from New Testament history,
by Joseph Fischer and Hellweger, were presented in 1848 by King
Lewis 1. of Bavaria. — The first window on the W. side of the
8. Transept was in 1856 filled with stained glass, executed like the
preceding in Munich, to the memory of Joseph von Gorres (1776-
1848), ‘catholice veritatis defensori generoso’. The second window,
and the one opposite it, representing respectively scenes from the
lives of St. Peter and St. Paul, were erected by the directors of the
two leading railway-companies at Cologne. To the left of the latter
is a window with 88. Sixtus and Hilarius. ‘The modern) stained-
glass windows above the S. Portal, presented by the Emp. William 1.,

3



36  Route 3. COLOGNE. a. Cathedral.

were executed in Berlin; those of the N. portal, commemorating
the elevation of Archbishop von Geissel of Cologne to the rank of
cardinal, are of Cologne workmanship. — 'The old stained glass on
the W. side of the N. Transept is from several ancient churches of
Cologne, now demolished.

The statues on the pillars of the vestibule, the nave, and the
transept represent prophets, apostles, and saints. — By a pillar of
the S. transept stands a Statue of St. Christopher, about 40 ft. high,
dating from the beginning of the 16th century. The first carved
altar (1520) by the E. wall of this transept, in the late-Gothic style,
is from the church of St. Maria ad Gradus (pulled down in 1817);
the second altar is of Westphalian origin (156th cent.).

The CHoIB is separated from the nave by an iron railing. We
enter by the N. (left) door. Consoles projecting from the 14 pillars
of the central part, or High Choir proper, bear Statues of Christ,
Mary, and the Apostles, dating from thel4th cent. and repainted
in 1840 The nine frescoes in the spandrels executed by Steinle
in 1843, represent Angel Choirs in the ecclesiastical symbolic style;
they are best seen from the gallery of the choir (p. 38). The walls
behind the carved-wood Choir Stalls (14th cent.) are covered with
interesting mural paintings of the same period, unfortunately
concealed by silken tapestry worked by ladies of Cologne after
Ramboux’ designs. Under brasses, with engraved full-length figures,
repose Archbishop von Spiegel (d. 1835) and Cardinal von Geissel
(d. 1864). The High Altar, restored in the original style in 1899,
is surmounted by the old ‘Altar of St, Clara’, with a fine wood-
carving of the Passion; the wings are adorned with paintings of the
school of Meister Wilhelm. Above the triforium of the choir is a
series of admirable old Stained Glass Windows, representing the
kings of Judah, etc. (ca. 1300).

Cuore CHAPELS. In front of the sacristy is the sarcophagus of
Archbishop Engelbert von der Mark (1364-68), with a fine figure in
sandstone.

1. The Chapel of 8t. Engelbert (first to the left, N. side), con-
tained down to 1633 the remains of Archbishop Engelbert von Berg,
who was assassinated by Friedrich von Isenburg on the Gevelsberg
near Schwelm in 1225, but they are now preserved in a magnificent
silver reliquary in the treasury. The tomb of Archbishop Anton von
Schauenburg (4. 1561) is worthy of notice.

2. Chapel of St. Maternus. Tomb of Archbishop Philip von Heins-
berg (4. 1191), with a?good statue of the 14th century. The form
of this monument refers to the fact that the city-walls were begun
u1n5d4¢ér)this archbishop. The altar-piece.is by Barthol. de Bruyn
¢ 3. Chapel’of St. John. *Tomb of Archbishop Conrad von Hoch-
staden (d. 1261), founder of the cathedral, with the figure of the
deceased in bronze (restored in 1847), from the first half of the
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15th century. Above the altar are mural paintings of the 44th cent-
ury. Under glass in a massive oaken frame is here preserved the
original sketch on parchment of the W. fagade of the cathedral with
the two towers in their completed form. Part of this interesting
design was found at Darmstadt in 1844, the rest at Paris in 1816.

4. Chapel of the Magi. Here were formerly preserved the
‘Bones of the Magi’ or ‘T'hree Kings’, which were brought by the
Empress Helena to Constantinople. They were afterwards taken
to Milan, and in 1164 presented by Frederick Barbarossa to Arch-
bishop Reinald von Dassel, by whom they were removed to Cologne.
This is the origin of the three crowns in the city’s arms. The re-
liquary in which they are preserved is now in the treasury (p. 38).
The chapel contains a modern Gothic altar, embellished with carv-
ings (the Magi, etc.) of the 14th century. On_the S. side is the
tomb of Archbishop Ernest of Bavaria (d. 1612). The other electors
of the House of Bavaria repose outside this chapel. The heart of
Marie de Médicis (p. 48) is also buried under a stone without in-
scription in front of the chapel. — Opposite, at the back of the
high-altar, is the tomb of Archbishop Dietrich von Mors (d. 1463).

5. Chapel of St. Agnes, with old stained-glass windows, much
restored in parts, and noteworthy mural paintings of the 14th cent.,
restored by Kleinertz. 1In the middle of the chapel is the Gothic
Sarcophagus of St. Irmgardis (11th cent.).

6. Chapel of 8t. Michael. Marble tombstone of Archbishop Wal-
ram of Jilich (4. 1349). Marble statue of the imperial general Von
Hochkirchen (who fell at Landau in 1703), by the Florentine For-
tinf. — This chapel contains the celebrated * Dombild, a large winged
picture, painted by Stephan Lochner before 1460, representing the
Adoration of the Magi in the centre, St. Gereon and St. Ursula on
the wings, and the Annunciation on the outside.

This is doubtless the picture alluded to in Diirer's diary of his tra-
vels in the Low Countries, in which he mentions his paying two ‘weiss-
pfennige’ to see the picture which ‘Meister Steffen’ had tpa.inf.ed at Co-
Jopne. Meister 8tephan or Stephan Lochner was a native of Meersburg on
the Lake of Constance, who seems to have settled at Cologne about 1442.
In 1448 he was elected a municipal senator by his guild, and he died
before the end of 1461. The pictare, which i8 of imposing dimensions,
occu}:iea an intermediate posftion between the ideal conceptions of
medieval times, and the modern realism introduced by the Dutch school.
As the finest work of the Early German School, it has received great
attention from conuoisseurs, and justly occupies an important place in the
history of art. It was in the Rathhaus Chapel (p. 44) until the period of
the French Revolution.

7. Chapel of St. Stephen. Stone sarcophagus of Archbishop Gero
(d. 976), with a mosaic of the 10th cent., a relic of the old cathedral.
Mural tomb of Archbishop Adolf von Schauenburg (4. 1556).

8. Chapel of the Virgin or Small Choir of Our Lady (properly
speaking the last bay of the outer S. aisle). The altar, which was
designed by Zwirner in 1856, is adorned with Overbeck's Assump-
tion, purchased in 1855 for 900. On the next pilaster is‘the so-



38 Route 3. COLOGNE. a. Cathedral,

called Madonna of Milan, a German work of the 14th century. —
Near the altar is the monument of Archbishop Frederick of Saarwerden
(d. 1414), consisting of a figure of the archbishop in bronze on a
sarcophagus admirably decorated with figures of saints, the whole
restored in 1847. — Tombstone of Archbishop Reinald von Dassel
(d. 1167; see p. 87), upon which the marble statue of Archbishop
Wilhelm von Gennep (d. 1362) wase placed in 1842. Opposite is the
sarcophague of Count Gotifried von Arnsberg (4. 1368). — The
Stained Glass of this chapel, executed at Cologne in 1857, represents
scenes from the life of the Virgin, copied from the ancient mural
paintings in the choir (p. 36).

The Sacristy, entered from the N. ambulatory, contains a fine ciborium
and ancient stained glass from old churches of Cologne.

The Treasury (adjoinig the sacristy on the left; adm., see p. 32)
contains the golden *Reliquary of the Magi, a costly specimen of Roman-
esque workmanship in the form of a basilica, probably executed in the

ears 1100-1200. It was seriously injured in 1794, when carried away
or concealment from the French, and was unskilfully restored in 1807.
The silver Shrine of St. Engelbert, in the style of the Rensissance, dates
from 1633. — On the end-wall, to the left, are several ecclesiastical banners
(banner of the Magi, 1897) and the so-called war-banner of Byssus, an
embroidery ascribed to the 10th cent.; the Adoration of the Magi, a bronze
relief of 1516. — On the entrance-wall, in the cabinet to the right: Sword
of Justice (15th cent.), borne by the Electors of Cologne at imperial corona-
tions in Frankfort: processional cross (12-14th cent.); bishops® staves (8th,
14th, and 17th cent.) ; Gothic mrnstrance (14th cent.) ; Renaissance monstrance
presented by Pius IX. in 1848; elaborate altar-cross (17th cent.); and
vestments. In the cabinet to the left: Ten admirably-carved ivory tablets
by Melchior Paulus (1703-83), with scenes from the Passion; reliquary ot
the 15-17th cent.; *Osculum Pacis in the Renaissance style, decorated with
enamels, pearls, and preci t 5 tri of the 17th cent., 191/g1ba.
in weigi:t, thickly set with precious stones; mitres. — The desk-case con-
tains ancient printed works and MS8S.. including a MS. of th: Gospels
(14th cent.) and a Frankish breviary (12th cent.).

The Paramenten-Saal, to the right of the sacristy, tains a valuabl
collection of ecclesiastical or: ts and farniture.

In the Cathedral Library are the Hildebold Codices, returned from
Darmstadt in 1868 (comp. p. 80).

The visitor should not omit to walk round the *Inner Gallery of ihe
Chosr and those on the Ezterior of the Choir, or to ascend the Central or one
of the W. Towers (ascent from the outside, on the E. side of the 8. transept ;
cards of admission 1 .#; on Sun. open from 9 or 10 to 2 only), as a better
idea may thus be formed of the grandeur of the structure. The external
gallery, or better still the open gallery of the central tower, commands
an extensive *ViEw over the sea of houses, the plain intersected by the
Rhine, and the Seven Mts. in the distance.

In the garden on the terrace behind the choir are some architectural
fragments, discarded in the process of restoration, which will serve to
convey some idea of the colossal proportions of the edifice.

To the N. of the cathedral is the Haupt-Bahnhof (Pl F, 4), or
main railway - station, built by G. Frentzen in 1889-94 and con-
sisting of an iron pavilion, 275 yds. long, 100 yds. wide, and 80 ft.
high, with a clock-tower 132 ft. in height. — To the 8. of the cath-
edral is the Hbtel du Dome (p.26). The Heinselmdnnchen Fountain,
by E. and H. Renard (1900), in the adjoining street known as Am
Hof, illustrates a local fairy tale, well versified-by Kopiseh.




a. Museum. COLOGNE. 3. Route. 39

The Archiepiscopal Museum (Pl. E, 4; adm., see p. 29), op-
opposite the 8. gate of the cathedral, is established in a chapel,
formerly belonging to the Archiepiscopal Palace and re-erected in
1665. It contains a collection of ecclesiastical and other objects of
medizval art, sculptures, M8S., and paintings, of which the most
valuable is the *Virgin with the violet, belonging to the Priests’
Seminary, probably by Stephan Lockner (p. 37). On the first floor
is an exhibition of church vestments.

From the Dom-Kloster, the space in front of the W. facade
of the cathedral, we cross the Wallrafs-Platz to the S.W., and
reach the —

*Wallraf - Richartz Inumg 1. E, 4), built in the English
Gothic style by Felten in 1855-61, and adorned with statues of
eminent natives of Cologne by Bldser, Fuchs, Mohr, and Werres.
The central building faces the N., while at the back are two wings,
including the handsome late-Gothic cloisters of the Church of the
Minorites (p. 42). In the garden in front of the museum is the E.
side-portal of the Pfaffenthor (p. 45), and near it are bronze statues
(by W. Albermann; 1900) of Herr Richarts (d. 1861), a wealthy
merchant who provided the funds for the museum-building, and
Canon F. Wallraf (4. 1823), who bequeathed his collection of art
to the town. — Adm., see p. 29. Guide to the Roman Antiquities
(1902), 20 pf.; to the paintings (1902), 50 pf. — Director, Prof.
K. Aldenhoven.

Ground Floor and Oloisters: Collection of Antigquities. From the entrance-
ball, in which, on the right and left of the staircase, are marble busts of
Wallraf and Richartz, by Bliser, we descend to the —

Lower Crormsters. The N. (ﬁ'ont) wing contains Roman antiquities
discovered at Cologne (1st-Ath cent. A.D.). In the central cases are cbjects
fonnd in closed graves; between these, a buijlt-up tomb from the street
of tombs at Aix-la-Chapelle. In Anteroom V, are mosaic pavements, in-
cluding the ‘Mosaic of the Sages’, showing bust-portraits of seven Greek

hilosophers and poets (with the names Diogenes, Socrates, Aristotle

hilon, Plato, Cleobulos, and Sophocles), found near St. Cecilia in 1814
(probably of the 4th cent.; some of the cubes are of glass). — In the W.
wing (on the right) are Roman tombstones, including several with re-
presentations of the funeral feast (Nos. 86, ﬁd, 25, 459), and the relief of
a horseman (No. 98). — The E. and 8. wings are occupied by fragments
of buildings and sculptures from mediseval and Renaissance churches and
other buildings in Cologne, now pulled down. — We return to the enirance-
hall and enter the — .

Urper CrLoisTers. Corner Room, to the right: 12. Colossal marble
mask of Medusa, found in Italy. — To the left, in the N. Wing: Roman
antiquities found at Cologne: *Glass with rich or tation ; terracotta
statuettes, lamps, and vases; pottery. Sculptures: 11. Colossal mask of a
river-god; busts; 8. Zneas, Anchises, and Ascanius, a group in limestone
head of Athena Parthenos, after Phidiu. — E. Wing. Roman goblets;
bronzes (statuette of a god); carvings in bone, jet, and amber; ornaments;
writing implements in bronze; weapouns; coins; prehistoric and Frankish
antiquities; stones with Roman and early-Christian inscriptions. Sculptures:
18. Head of Venus ; 22, Herma of Bacchus; 27. Female head (so-called Niobe).
— 8. Wing. Dutch and other paintings bequeathed by Fuchs,. the sculptor
(temporarily exbibited here): T27. R. van Vries, T12..J. van Ruysdael) Land-
scapes; 086, Dirck vun Delen , Prodigal Son; 6d3. J. . Molenaer , Peasant
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interior; 6108. Heda, Still-life (1652); 67%. Dirck Hals, Genre-scene (1629);
626a. D. Teniers the Younger (?), T tion of Anthony; 741. 8. van
Ruysdael, Tavern b{ & river. Here also are water-colours, etc. — W. Wing.
Medizeval and Renaissance sculptures in wood and stone: large carved-oak
*Altar (c. 1620), with scenes from the Passion (school of Calcar, p. 59);
Virgin and Child, French work of 1800; marble figures from the old high-
altar of the cathedral (1350); painted angels of the Cologne school (ca. 1530) ;
single figures from altars of the Rhenish and Antwerp schools. — Between
the windows: Water-colour copies of the frescoes in the chapter-room at
Brauweiler (p. 16). :

To the right on the groundfloor are five rooms with plaster-casts;
1o the left are & room containing the model of the monument of Frederick
William III. (p. 46) and another containing old mural paintings (story of the
Undutiful 8on), from the Glesch House in the Hoch-Strasse.

The Staircase is ad d with *F; by Steinte (1860-61), illustra-
tive of the history of art and civilisation at Cologne. The scenes begin
with the picture to the left as we look back from the topmost landing of
the stair. 1. Roman and Romanesque Period: Constantine the Great (3‘24—537)
on his throne, surrounded by warriors, artists, and others; on the other
side, Charlemagne (716-814), also enthroned, with his retinue, including
Eginhard, Alcuin, and Paunlus Diaconus. Between the two emperors is
St. Helena with her attendants. In the corner adjoining Charlemagne are
the most famous archbishops of Cologbe: 8t. Hildebold (p. 80) with the
plan of the o0ld cathedral, 8t. Bruno (d. 985) with the church of St. Pantaleon,
Heribert (d. 1021) with the church of the Apostles, and Anno (d. 1076)
with the church of St. Gereon. Next to these is the Frankish queen
Plectrudis (8th cent.) with the plan of 8t. Maria im Capitol. Below, in
the adjoining scemes, is the legend of Cologne: St. Maternus, the first
bishop, baptising converts in the Rhine, 8t. Gereon with his companions,
St. Ursula and her virgin followers, and St. Hermann Joseph in 8t. Maria
im Capitol. — Opposite, on the wall to the right, is — 2. The Mediaeval
Period: in the centre Albertus Magnus, the learned theologian of Cologne,
with his %uplla, including Thomas Aquinas and Duns Scotus. To the
right of Albertus is Conrad of Hochstaden (p. 81); farther on are painters
of Cologne ; then the two burgomasters welcoming a vessel of the Hanseatic
League. In the subordinate acenes, the popular Festival of 8t. John (p. 45).
the arrival of the relics of the Magi, etc. — On the central wall, to the left
of the door: 8. Renaissance and Modern Period : to the left, Rubens receiving
the order for the altar-piece of St. Peter's church (p. 48); Winckelmann
studying the Laocoon; in the centre the brothers Boisserée (p. 41) and
Friedrich von Schlegel; to the right, Wallraf and Richartz, the founders of
the museum. Below, the Carnival of Cologne. — To the right of the door:
4. Continuation of the Cathedral: completion of the S. portal in presence of
Frederick William IV., the architect Zwirner, and the archbishop Jo-
hannes von Geissel. — Above the central entrance-door, in the upper part
of the staircase, are the armorial bearings of Cologne, with Margilius,
the hero of Cologne (p. 43), and Agrippina, the Roman empress (p. 80). —
From the highest landing we enter the rooms of the —

Upper Floor, containing the * Picture Gallery. Its most important section
from a technical point of view is that containing the works of the EarLy
CoLOGNE 80HOOL; but some excellent Datch works of the 17th cent., two
important canvases by Rubens, and the large Murillo acquired in 1898 will
interest even the unprofessional visitor. The works of the Italian schools
and the modern paintings are of less importance.

From the Starrcase (I) we enter the rooms to the right, containing

- the earlier paintings, and traverse them to the other end.

Roox II. Early Cologae 8chool (c. 1850-1450). To the right: Unknown
Masters, 1. Triptych, Crucifixion (about 1350), 2, 8. 88. John and Paul
(about 1360), 4, b. Annunciation and Presentation in the Temple (about
1370). — Meister Wilhelm (about 1880), 8. Crucifixiony 9. Eight saints; 13.
Triptych, the Virgin with a bean-blossom in her hand and the Infant
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Christ on her right arm; on the left 8t. Catharine, on the right St. Barbara.
86, 87. Master of the Small Passion, Annunciation (ca. 1400); Meister Stephan
Lochner (d. 1450), *°64. Madonna in an arbour of roses, 6. 8S. Mark, Barbara,
and Luke, 66. S8. Ambrosius, Cecilia, and Augustine, 63. Last Judgment.
857. Westpnalian Master (about 1420), druciﬂxi»n, with numerous figures.

Roox III. Cologne Masters (ca. 145U-1510). On the entrance-wall and

side-walls, Master of the Life of Mury (ca. 1460-90; so called from a series
of pictures at Munich), *184. Crucitixion, with the Virgin, 8t. John, and
Mary Magdalen, “134. Madonna and St. Bernard, 187. The éaviour, 183, st.
ZZgidius, 18y, 140. Annunciation, *141. Deacent from the Cross, dated 1480
(the wings, 88. Andrew and Th , are school-pi ). Farther on (to
the right and left), Master of the Glorification of Mary, 123. Glorification
of the Virgin, a crowded picture, 12Y. St. Anna with the Madonna and
saints (view of Coulogne from the harbour), 130. Four saints (view of
Colugne from the land side); *147-154. Master of the Lyversberg Passion, The
Lyversberg Passion, a series of 8 pictures on a gold ground (about 15003
formerly belonging td the Lyversberg family). — Master of St. Severin
(ca. 160U; comp. p. 48), 18Y. Adoration of the Magi, 185, Last Judgment;
*169. Master of the Holy Kinship, The Kindred of the Madonna, on the
wings 88. Rochus and Nicasius (right) and 83. Gudula and Elizabeth (left;
after 15.0). Farther on, on the left side-wall and the exit-wall: Master
of the Aliar of Si. Bartholomew (ca. 1500), *184. ‘Altar of St. Thomas’, a
triptych: in the centre Christ appearing to the doubting Thomas; in-
side the wings, the Madonna with St. John, and St. Hippolytus with 8t.
Afra; 188. Virgin and Child; 185. Altar of the Holy Cross, a triptych, in
the centre Christ on the Cross, on the wings John the Baptist and 88.
Cecilia, Alexius, and Agnes.
- Roou 1V. Cologne and Early Netherlandish Schools (ca 1615-50). 265.
Barth. de Bruyn the Elder, Portrait; °Ad2. Master of the Death of Mary,
Death ot Mary, a triptych, with saints and donors on the wings (16156?). —
Roox V., 835-339. Remains of the mural painiings from the Hansa-8aal in
the Rathhans (187U). — Roox VI. (straight on) contains less important
.works by B. de Bruyn and other Cologne painters and some Netherlandish
works. — RBoox V1I. Upper German School (16th cent.): 833. (M. Grane-
wald, St. Anthony; 385. A. Darer (:), Fifer and drummer (belonging to
the ‘Job’ painting, mentioned on p. 23&). — We return to R. V, and thence
enter (to the rignt) —

RooxM VIII. Italian Schools. On the entrance-wall are paintings of
the early-Sienese achool: 516. Ners di Bicci, 522. B. Meinardi, Mudonna and
saints. — Opposite: 635, Style of Boccaccio Boccaccino, Portrait; *062. Fran-
cesco Francia, Madonna; 533. Raphael, Madonna of Loretto, a copy of a
vanished original of the master’s Roman period. — 531. Seb. del Piombo,
Holy Family (original in Naples); b .2. Tintoretto, Portrait ; 543. Parss Bordone,
Bathsheba; 8718. Mattia Preti, Judith. — Also: 579. Claude Lorrain, Land-
scape with Cupid and Psyche (damaged). °677. Murillo, Pardon of 8t. Francis
of Assisi; the Saviour and the Virgin appear to the saint in the chapel of
the Portiuncula, while angels strew roses on the altar in token that his
prayer has been heard (painted after 1670 for the Capuchins of Seville). —
We cross the hall to —

Roox X. Flemish School (16-17th cent.), etc. To the right, 680.
@G. van Honthorat, Adoration of the Shepherds; 6L7. Corn. de Vos, Family
portraits. — 615, Snyders, Btill-life; °608. Rubens, St. Francis of Assisi
receiving the stigmata (painted ca. 1647 for the high-altar of the old
Capuchin church at Cologne); 632. D. Ryckaert, Cobbler, — **804. Rubens,
Juno and Argus, originally in the Palazzo Durazzo at Genoa (1611); 622,
623. A. van Dyck, Portraits of Jabach (p. 48), school - pieces; no number,
D. Teniers the Younger, Temptation of St. Anthony. — Jordaens, 614. Pro-
metheus, 612, 618. Portraits; 6ub. Rubens, Holy Family (probably by
gupul; ca. iﬂéﬂ); 607. A. van Dyck (here ascribed to Rubens), Four negroes’

eads (original in Brussels). — To the right is —

Roox XI. Dutch Schools (16-17th cent.). To the right, 661. Benj.
Gerritss Cuyp, Camp-scene; 689, M. J. van Micrevelt, Portrait (1633); 673,
Jan van Goyen, Landscape; Jac. Gerritsz Cuyp, 662. Children with a sheep,
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663. Portrait (1643). — *716. Jan Steen, Capture of Samson; 724. Pieter
Verelst, 01d woman; *847. A. van Beyeren, Breakfast; 649. Terburg, Portrait;
638. J. van der Meer(?), Duteh wharf; 663. Van de C %‘2, River-piece. —
670. @. van den Eeckhout(?), Esther and .-Haman; s . Corn. Janssens,
Portraits (1851); 668. K. du Jardin, Italian landscape, with accessories.

‘We now reach the Oollection of Modern Paintings, most of which are
of the Diisseldorf and Munich schools. — Roox IX (Kaiser-Saal; to the
right of R. XI, opposite the staircase): T84. 8. Meister, Frederick Wiliiam Iv.
as Crown Prince (1834); 823. W. Camphausen, King William saluted by his
troops after the battle of Sedan, with Bismarck, Moltke, and Roon among
his retinue (1872); 898. Lenbach, Bismarck (1858 3 929. F. von Kaulbach,
Emp. William JI.

Roox XII. To the right: *322. W. Leibl, Study of a head ; 971. Munkacsy,
0ld woman; 972. L. Jimenez, Guard-room; 983. V. Lagye, The librarian
(1870) ; 1889. Fr. Defregger, Tyrolese girl (1813). — Roox XIII. To the
right: 984. E. Slingeneier, Sinking of ‘Le Vengeur', a French man-of-war
(1842); TNA. K. Begas, Parents of the painter ‘g 5 768. Fr. Overbeck,
Patrons of art (cartoon designed by Cornelius); T45. Jok. Kupetzky (d. 1740),
Portrait of himgelf (?) ; no number, A. Graf (d. 1818), Portrait. — Roou XV,
980. A. Normann, Norwegian fjord. .

Roox XVI. To the right, 888. Defregger, Wrestlers (1870); 902. Liesen-
Mayer, Queen Elizabeth signing the death-warrant of Queen Mary Stuart;
828. A. Achenbach, Departure of a steamer: *859. @. Richter, Queen Louise
(1879); 836. B. V¢ , Funeral-feast; 88). GQude, Calm; 793. Lessing,
Monastery-court in winter; T77. Rottmann, Cefalu (Sicily); 788, B.C. Koekkosk,
8062. Ed. Hildebrandt, T9A. Lessing, Landscapes; 189. Ed. Bendemann, Mourn-
ing Jews in exile (1832); 795. J. W. Schirmer, Italian landscape.

Roox XVII. 973. F. Pradilla, 8panish scholar; 935. W. Firle, ‘Forgive
us_our trespasses’; 925, 924. J. Sperl, Landscapes (figures by W. Leidl);
93, W. Leibi, Portrait of Pallenberg; 930. G. Schanleber, Dutch coast; 918,
J. Wenglein, On the Isar; 818, L. Knaus, The empty dishy 956. Troyon,
Landscape; *921. W. Leébl, Father of the painter; 970. Munkacsy, Village-
hero; 835. Lenbach, Leo XIII.

Adjoining the 8. side of the Museum is the Church of the
Minorites (Pl. E, 4), an early-Gothic building of simple but hand-
some proportions, probably commenced in 1220, but not completed
till forty years later, and restored in 1860. The large window above
the portal in the principal fagade and the elegant spire (of last
century), restored in the style of the original, are specially strik-
ing. The fine sacristy has a round pillar in the centre. The church
contains the (modern) tombstone of the celebrated theological dis-
putant Duns Scotus (d. 1309), in the ambulatory at the back of the
high-altar, with the inscription: Scotia me genuit, Anglia me sus-
cepit, Gallia me docuit, Colonia me tenet.

Between the Cathedral and the Museum, at the small Wallrafs-
Platz(p. 39), begins the narrow Houe StrASSE, or HocH-STRASSE(PL E,
D, 4), the busiest street in Cologne, which with its prolongations
(Marzellen-Str. and Eigelstein to the N., Hochpforte and Severin-Str.
to the 8.) intersects the whole city from N. to 8. To the right, near
the centre of the street, is the Konigin-Augusta-Halle, or Passage
(café, p. 27), an arcade with shops. Farther on, to the left, in the
ﬁusgz\;)s)tiner-Platz, is a bronze Statue of Bismarck, by F. Schaper

In the Waidmarkt (Pl. C, D, 4), at the end of 'the Hochpforte,
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is the Hermann Joseph Foumtain, by W. Albermann (1894). —
Close by is the old church of —

8t. George, consecrated in 1067, originally a plain Romanesque
columnar basilica, with a crypt of the same character (now restored).
The porch dates from 1536.

At the end of the Severin-Strasse (tramway No. 6, p. 28), to the
left, is St. Beverin (P1. B, 4), which stands upon the site of a
Christian church buflt as early as the 4th century, and has been
often destroyed. The present church was consecrated in 1237 and
was thoroughly restored in 1880. The effective quadrangular tower
was erected in 1393-1411; the nave was furnished with new vault-
ing in 1479; the baptismal chapel, adorned with stained glass,

dates from 1505.

The sarcophagus of St. 8everin with a roof-shaped lid, the excellent
mountings of a door of the 12th century. a copper-gilt reading-desk in
the form of an eagle. and the Gothic choir-stalls will repay inspection.
The Moster of 8¢. Severin (p. 41) takes his appellation from two early-Cologne
pictures in the sacristy. .

For the Severins-Thor Thd the Ring-8trasse, see p. H3.

b. The 0ld Town to the E. of the Hoch-Strasse.

Between the Hoch-Strasse and the Rhine are situated several
important buildings, not far from each other. Another relic of the
Roman fortifications is also preserved here in the shape of the
Romergang, s subterranean passage constructed of massive blocks
of tufa (adm., see p. 29). It is reached by a winding staircase in
the restaurant ‘Im Rémer’ (Unter Goldschmied 48; Pl. E, 4). The
passage is about 7 ft. high and 4 ft. wide and has been explored for
120 yds. By the entrance are a few Roman remains.

A bronze Statue of Field Marshal Moltke, by Schaper, was erected
in 1881 in the Laurenz-Platz (Pl. E, 4), a little to the 8. — The
Portalsgasse leads immediately to the left to the Rathhaus-Platz.

The *Rathhaus (Pl. E, 4, 5) stands on the substructions of a
Roman stronghold (probably the Praetorium), of the arches of which
some remains are still visible in the cellar. The oldest part of the
present building (14th cent.) is the central portion (with the Hansa-
Saal), looking towards the Rathhaus-Platz. In 1569-71 an elegant
*Portico in the Renaissance style was built in front of this, from
the plans of Wilhelm Vernickel, bearing long Latin inscriptions and
reliefs alluding to the tradition of Burgomaster Gryn's fight with
the lion (see p. 44). The handsome, five-storied Tower was built
in 1407-14, from the proceeds of the fines imposed upon noble
families in 1396. Most of the statuettes with which it was adorned
have been replaced by modern substitutes. — The E. portions
of the structure. facing the Altenmarkt, were erected in 1549-50;
the facade, richly ornamented with reliefs and statues, was altered
in 1591, but restored by Raschdorff in the original style in 1870. —
Admission, see p. 29.
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The L3wenhof, built by Lorenz in 1540 in the Renaissance style, then
newly introduced into Germany, is 80 named in reference to the tradition
(above alluded to) that Archbishop Engelbert sought the life of Burgomaster
Gryn (1264), and threw the obnoxious citizen into a Jion's den in his palace,
from which, however, his intended victim contrived to escape unhurt.

The *Hansa-8aal, or Hanseatic Hall (30 yds. long, 8 yds. wide, 82 ft.
high), on the first floor of the Rathhaus, now used for meetings of the
municipal council, is said to be that in which the first general meeting
of the League took place on 19th Nov., 1367. The 8. wall is entirely
occupied by nine rich canopies, with large fi vigorously executed in
stone, representing heathen, Jewish, and Christian heroes (Hector, Alexander
the dreat, Ceesar; Joshua, David, Judas Maccabeeus; Charlemagne, King
Arthur, Godfrey de Bouillon); above these, but smaller, Charles IV., who
fortified the town and presented it with the privileges of a market, as the
figures on the right and left indicate. In the windows are the armorial
bearings of the different imperial families of Germany, on the long wall
those of forty-five patrician families of Cologne, on the ceiling those of
the burgomasters of Cologne, from 1346to the downfall of the independence
of the city. The two upper series are the arms of the twenty-two guilds.
— The principal apartment of the portion of the Rathhaus which was
erected in 1600 (towards the Altenmarkt) is the ‘Muschel-Saal’ (shell-
room), richly decorated in the rococo style in 1761. The Tapestry, with
which it is adorned, was executed by Vos fom drawings by Wouverman,
and was purchased by the Town Council from the heirs of Elector Clement
Augustus. — The former Raths-Saal is in the tower. The fine door, adorned
with intarsia, was executed by Melchior Reidt in 1603 ; to the same period
belong the stucco ceiling, ornamented with medallions of the emperors,
and the door of the ittee-room, t ferred hither from the Ardenal.
— Thu)m of the building between the Hansa-Saal and the Raths-Saal has
been adorned with modern carved panelling and mural paintings in the
Gothic style.

In the RATEHAUS-PLATZ, to the left, is the late-Gothie Chapel of
the Rathhaus,” which formerly contained the Dombild (p. 37), and
was consecrated in 1426. The spire is of graceful proportions; the
sacristy dates from 1474. To the right is an edifice known as the
Spanish Building, erected in 1611-17 after Flemish models, and
restored in 1886.

On the right side of the Martin-Str., alittle to the 8. of the Rath-
haus, is the *Giirsenich (Pl. E, 4), with its pinnacles and turrets,
built in 1441-52 at a cost of 80,000 florins, to serve as a ‘Herren
Tanzhaus’ and banquet-saloon on occasions when the Town Council
desired to entertain distinguished guests with a magnificence worthy
of the city. Besides the ‘Giirzenich’ property the Council purchased
several other pieces of ground to form a site for this imposing build-
ing. The architect was Johann von Biiren. The first grand festival
was held here in 1475 in honour of Emperor Frederick III. Other
festivals took place in 1477, 1486, 1505, and 1521. In the 17th
and 18th centuries the large saloon fell into decay, and was used as
a magazine till 1857, when, after undergoing a thorough renovation
at the hands of Jul. Raschdorff, it was restored to its original uses.

This is the finest of the ancient secular edifices of Cologne.

Above the E. gateways are statues of Agrippa and Marsilius, the
founder and the defender of Cologne in the Roman period, executed by ‘lohr
painted by Kleinertz in the ancient style, and erected in 1859 in place of
the old ones, which had become injured by exposure to(the weather.

Interior (adm., see p. 23). On the groundfloor is the former magazine,
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converted by Herr Weyer in 1870 into a fine ExcHANGE HALL (no adm.
in the morning). The handsome StaIrcasg was added in 1891-92. — On
the first floor is the spacious *Fest-SaaL (58 yds. long, 24 broad), borne
by twenty-two richly carved wooden columns, with a gallery. The modern
stained-glass windows rep the rial beari of Jiilich, Cleve,
Berg, and Mark, the medisval allies of Cologne, with 8t. Peter as the
patron-saint of the city, two Imperial eagles, the arms of Cologne itself,
those of six burgomasters of the period when the building was first erected,
and those of the twenty-two guilds. The two large Chimney Pieces of the
16th century, richly carved with scenes from the history of the town,
are worthy of inspection. The walls are adorned with a fine representa-
tion of the Pr jon on the pletion of the cathedral in 1880, by
Camphausen, the two Roebers, Beckmann, and Baur. — The ANTECHAMBER
(‘Kleine Giirzenich® or ‘lnbeilen-SaaI‘) is adorned with mural paintings
by Schmitz, representing the entry of the Empress Isabella, the legend of
the Cologne wood-cutting expedition (viz. that Marsilius saved the town
from a beleaguering enemy by sending out armed women against them on
the pretext of felling wood), and the Festival of S8t. John (a symbolical
washing away of the evil of the year in the Rhine, mentioned by Petrarch,
who visited Cologne in 1338). — Concerts and ball, see p. 28.

The Martin-Str. ends at the Lichhof(P1. D, 4), beside the church of
St. Maria im Capitol. Immured in the N, side of the Platz is the main
archway of the Pfaffenthor (Porta Paphia; Pl. P£.), brought to light
in 1893 opposite the W. end of the cathedral. It bears the inscription
C.C.A. A, (i.e. Colonia Claudia Augusta Agrippinensis), below which
the name of Gallienus appears as that of the builder (259-268).

The church of *8t. Maria im Capitol (Zint Mdrjen inlocal speech ;
PL. D, 4), consecrated in 1049 by Pope Leo IX., a cruciform edifice

Q
51

in the Romanesque style, constructed on an,imposing(and somewhat
peculiar plan. The choir and transept terminate in semicircular
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apses with an ambulatory round each, and impart to the E. end of
the building the trefoil shape, of which this is the earliest example
at Cologne. The vaulting of the aisles dates from the 11ith cent.,
the upper portion of the choir from the 12th, and the remaining
vaulting probably frum the 13th century. The church owesits name
to the ancient tradition that this site was once occupied by the
Roman Capitol, which was succeeded by the palace of the Frankish
kings. The original edifice was erected at least as early as 696 and
is said to have been built by Plectrudis, wife of Pepin of Héristal
and step-mother of Charles Martel.

The church, which has other entrances in the Marien-Platz and in the
Casino->tr. (No. 6), is not open for inspection until 12 noon. Best light
about midday.

The *INTERIOR wWas decorated in 1870 with frescoes, begun by Steinle
(paintings in the apse), and completed by Goebbels from tue designs of
KLssenwesn of Nuremberg and Klein of Vienna. — In the W. vestibule are
some tombstones belonging to the Romanesque period. The richly sculptared
organ-loft (originally the rood-screen), which conceals the W, gallery,
was brought from Malines (1624). — At the beginning of the N. aisle is a
painting by Hans Baldung Grien (Death ot the Virgin; 1621). — The modern
uvigh-altar was designed by Essenwein. — The oaken door which leads into
the apse of the N. cransept, decorated with very prominent reliefs, dates
from the foundation of the church. The 8. (HHardenrath's) chapel (of 1466)
contains fine stained glass. In the Archive Room is a late-Romanesque
portable altar. — The tine CRIPT, with its nave and aisles, its quadran-
gular chapels, and its side-chambers, corresponds with the form of the
choir. It contains the tomb of Plectrudis (12th cent.), and some ancient
mural paintings. — The Romanesque CLO18TERS, beside the entrance in
the Casino-Strasse, are quite built up.

‘We quit the Lichhof by the Gothic Dreikinigen-Thirchen on the
S. side. In the direction of the Rhine, Rheingasse No. 8, is the
Templars’ Lodge (P1. D, D), a handsome Romanesque edifice, with
round-arched windows, niches, and corbie-stepped gables, dating
from the 12th or the beginning of the 13th century. It was the
family residence of the ‘Overstolzen’, a powerful family of medieval
Cologne, and was bought by the town in 1836 and judiciously restored.
1t is now used by the Chamber of Commerce. — A little to the S.,
in the Filzengasse, is the Protestant Z'rinity Church (P1. D, 4, 5),
in the early-Uhristian basilica style, designed by Stiiler (1860). —
For the church of 8t. Maria in Lyskirchen and the Harbour, see p.47.

The short street known as ‘Am Malzbiichel’ leads to the N.E. from
the upper end of the Rheingasse to the Heumarkr (PL D, E, 6),
one of the largest squares in the town. Here rises the Monument
of Frederick William III., erected in 1878 by the inhabitants of
the Rhenish provinces.

The colossal equestrian statue of the king on a lofty pedestal is surrounded
by statues of the principal stat and warriors who codperated with
him in raising Prussia to the rank of a first-class power and in freeing the
Rhenish provinces from Frencu domination (Blucher, Stein, Arndt, Hum-
buldt, etc.). The reliefs on the sides indicate the progress of the Rhenish
provinces in science, art, commerce, and manufactures. The chief figare
and the statues on one side are by Bidser of Cologne (1813-74), those at

the front and back by Drake, the rest by Schweinite, Tondeur, and ‘Bilchting,
The reliefs are by Calandrells,
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Inthe adjacent ALTENMARKT(PL E, §) is a monumental Fountain,
in the German Renaissance style, after a design by Albermann (1885).
The chief figure is a statue of Johann von Werth (d. 1651; p. 14),
a famous cavalry general in the Thirty Years’ War; the figures of
a peasant and maiden at the sides refer to the tradition that he
became a soldier on account of a love-disappointment,

The Zoll-Strasse leads from the Altenmarkt to the Rhine. In
this street is the old Irish Church (‘Schotten-Kirche’) of *@ross
8t. Martin (P1. E, 5), formerly on an island in the Rhine, dating
originally from the Merovingian period. The existing church, built
by Abbot Adelhard, after the repeated destruction of previous
edifices, was consecrated by Abp. Philip in 1172. The massive E.
portion, with its imposing tower (270 ft. high) surrounded by four
corner-turrets, seems to have been constructed in the 13th cent.,
and was restored in 1437 and 1454-99. (The 8.W. corner-turret fell
in 1526, and was not restored till 1870.) Before the pointed W.
portal is a porch covered with groined vaulting, probably dating
from the 14th century. The whole building has been restored by
Nagelschmidt.

The INTERIOR (visitors ring at the screen; fee 5O pf. each; sacristan,
Zoll-8tr. Ta) has been decorated from the designs of Essenwein. In the
corner to the left of the entrance is a marble font, adorned with lions’
heads and foliage, said to have been presented by Pope Leo IIL in 803. On
the upper side-altars are six modern statues of Saints, by Hof'masn of
Rome. The N. aisle contains a fine Descent from the Cross, by Du Bofs,
and Christ before Annas, by Honthorst. Fine modern tiled pavement, made
at Mettlach.

The Zoll-Strasse ends at the Stapelhaus (Pl E, B), built in
1558-69 and restored in the original style in 1900-1. Besides a
restaurant (p. 27) this edifice accommodates the municipal Museum
of Natural History (adm., see p. 29), the entrance to which {s is
the Mauthgasse.

On the First Floor are the Vertebrata, including a large collection of
native birds. There is also a lecture-room (adm. free). — On the Second
Floor are the less developed animals and the m nerals and fossils.

A large new Central Market (PL. D, 5) was begun in 1902 amid
the quaint old lanes between the Heumarkt and the Rhine. —
Farther up the river, in the street ‘An Lyskirchen’, is the ancient
church of 8t. Maria in Lyskirchen (Pl. D, §), rebuilt in the transi-
tion style at the beginning of the 13th cent. and embellished with
ceiling-paintings and recently restored throughout (sacristan, An
Lyski;({:)hen 10). Here begin the new Harbour Works mentioned
at p. 30. )

Near this point are the only two bridges across the Rhine at
Cologne, viz. the older Bridge-of-Boats (PL. D, E, 6) and, near the
new gardens on the Frankenwerft, the Iron Bridge (Pl E, F, D).
The latter (completed in 1859) is broad enough for a double line
of rails and a separate roadway for ordinary traffic (toll 3 pf.). It
is 453 yds. long, and 47 ft. above the average level of the water.
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Over the entrance on the left (Cologne) bank is an Equestrian Statue
of Frederick William 1V., in bronze, by Bldser, on the right bank
an Equestrian Statue of William I. by Drake, both erected in 1867.
The approach to the bridge on the left bank affords a good survey
of the choir of the cathedral. — Deuts, on the right bank, see p. 5.

c. The 01d Town to the W. of the Hoch-Strasse.

In the Briickengasse (on the right) is the late-Gothie church of
8t. Columba (Pl E, 4), the kernel of which is a Romanesque
columnar basilica. The church-treasury is rich. — The Synagogue
(PL.E, 4), in the Glockengasse, was built in 1859-64 in the Moorish
style, from designs by Zwirner. Farther to the W., in the same
street, is the Alte Stadt-Theater (Pl. E, 3), by Raschdorff (1872).

The Kreuzgasse and Antonsgasse lead hence to the S, to the
convent and church of 8t. Cecilia (P1. D, 3, 4), the latter a very
ancient building, rebuilt as early as 930-41, and again in the 12th
century, on which occasion parts of the edifice of the 10th century
appear to have been retained. It contains a curious crypt, which
is wrongly described as a remnant of the oldest episcopal church
built by St. Maternus. Good relief above the arch of the N. door.
The interior has lately been restored; the painting of the choir
dates from about 1300, but the pictures in the apse and nave are
modern. — Adjacent is the church of 8t. Peter (P1. D, 3), begun
in 1524 and successfully restored in 1890-92.

The INTERIOR has been redecorated, with the aid of the old painting.
— The choir contains a late-Gothic carved altar with good pictures on the
wings (fee 75 pf.), and beautiful strined-glass *Windows of 1528 and 1530
(Bearing of the Crose, Crucifixion, Descent from the Cross). In the chapel
to the right of the choir (but concealed by a medincre altar-piece) is the
*Crucifixion of St. Peter, by Rubens, recovered from Paris in 1814. This
fine picture, one of the most vigorous works of the master, but repellent
owing to its startling fidelity to nature, was painted by order of the
Jabach family in 1638-40 in memory of Herr Eberhard Jabach, the well-
known patron of art (d. 1636). It is shown by the sexton for the some-
what exorbitant fee of 11/3 4. Behind the altar reposes Jan Rubens
(d. 1587), the father of the painter.

Opposite is the Wolkenburg, resembling the Giirzenich, the
meeting-place of the Mdnner-Gesangverein (p. 28).

At the back of the two churches last described is situated the
spacious Hospital (Pl. D, 3), erected in 1846. It may be inspected
in the afternoon (small fee to the attendant). — To the N.W. are
the Neumarkt and the Apostles’ Church (p. 49). )

At the E. end of the Sternengasse (No. 10. left side), near the Hoch-
Strasse, i1s a handsome house in which Rubens is erroneously said to have
been born. The house bears an inscription and a relief above the door
in memory of the illustrious master; and on the opposite side is an in-
scn’l?ﬁon recording (correctly) that Marie de Médicis, widow of Henri IV.
of France, died here in exile in 1642.

The church of 8t. Pantaleon (Pl. C, 3; now a military church,
and also used by the Old Catholics) was constructed (om the site of
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an older building in 964-80. The materials for this purpose are said
to have been taken by Archbishop Bruno (d. 965), brother of Emperor
Otho the Great, from the remains of Constantine’s bridge (p. 30).
The choirand the vaulting date from the beginning of the 13th cent. ;
but the substructure of the towers, with its two-storied additions,
seems to belong entirely to the 10th century. The towers were rebuilt
in 1891. Archbishop Bruno and the Empress Theophano (d. 999) are
buried in the church. There are some remains of Romanesque mural
paintings in the E. transept and the side-chapels.

The Mauritius-Steinweg (tramway No. 4, p. 28) leads hence to
the N.W. to the Mauritius-Kirche (P1. D, 2, 3), built by Vincenz
Statz in the Gothic style in 1861-65.

In the N.W. angle of the Neumarkr (Pl D, E, 3), a square planted
with trees (military parade at noon), the largest in the old town,
rises the *Apostles’ Church (Pl. E, 2, 3), a remarkably handsome
basilica with aisles and double transept. Over the E. crossing rises a
dome flanked with two slender corner-towers, and over the W. crossing
a square tower. The picturesque choir and the arms of the E. transept
end in very spacious rounded apses, adorned with two series of niches
and a miniature gallery above them. The oldest parts, including the
W. tower, date from the first half of the 11th cent; at the end of
the 12th cent. the edifice was vaulted, the pilasters in front of the
pillars introduced, and the choir enlarged; and the church was
finally completed about 1220. In 1895-1901 the choir and transepts

were adorned with mosaics from designs by Kleinertz and Stummel.

‘When the plague raged at Cologne in 1357, Richmeodis von Lyskir-
chen, wife of the knight Mengis von Aducht, was attacked by the malady,
and having fallen into a deathlike swoon, was interred in the Apostles’
Church. Being awakened from her trance by a thievish grave-digger in
his attempts to abstract her ring, she returned to the house of
her husband, who, imagining he beheld an apparition, declared he would
sooner believe that his horses could ascend to the loft of his house than
that his departed spouse should return in proprid persond. Scarcely had
the words escaped his lips, says the legend, than horses® hoofs were heard
mounting the stairs, and their heads were speedily seen looking out of a
window in the upper story of the house. The lady recovered, and lived
for many years afterwards. Two horses’ heads, affixed to the upper story
of the house with the tower on the N. side of the Neumarkt (No. 10), are
said to have been placed there in commemoration of the miraculous
event, but they more probably formed part of the armorial bearings of
Nicasius von Haquenay, who built the house.

The Richmod-Strasse (tramway No. 3, p. 28) and its continua-
tions lead hence direct to the church of St. Gereon (p. 50). —
From the end of the Richmod-Str. the busy Brerre-Strasse (PL E,
3. 4; tramway No. 4) leads to the E. back to the Wallraf-Richartz
Museum (p. 39) and the cathedral.

d. The N. Quarters of the 0ld Town.

The Burgmauer, beginning at the Dom-Kloster (p. 39), and the
busy Kouopren-Strasse (P F, 4, 3) lead to the W.(tothe Hand-
some Law Courts, completed in 1893.

Bagprxer's Rhine. 15th Edit. 4
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In the Zeughaus-Str., the continuation of the Komddien-Str.,
are the Arsenal (1601), with the guard-house, and the Government
Building (1830). — Farther on to the left, at the corner of the
Apern-Str. (which leads to the Apostles’ Church, p. 49), rises the
so-called Romerthurm (PL. F, 8), or Clarenthurm, an ancient round
tower inlaid with stones of diffetnt colours. It formed the N.W.
angle of the ancient Roman town (comp. p. 30). The upper part,
with battlements, is modern. — The Steinfeldergasse leads hence to
the GerronsprIEscH (PL. F, 3), which is planted with trees.

The church of *8t. Gereon (Pl. F, 3), dedicated to the 318
martyrs of the Theban legion, with their captain Gereon, who, ac-
cording to the legend, perished here in 286 during the persecution

Q.30 49 80 " so__i00 Feet

of the Christians under Diocletian, is an edifice of very peculiar
style (recently thoroughly restored). The long Romanesque choir is
adjoined by a decagonal nave in the Gothic style, with a quadran-
gular vestibule. The original structure, circular in form, with ten
niches resembling those of the Nympheum of the ‘Minerva Medica’
at Rome, is said to have been erected by the Empress Helena, mother
of Constantine the Great. Archbishop Anno (d. 1075) added the
choir and the spacious crypt, and Archbishop Arnold II. built the E.
apse and the two square towers about 1160. In 1219-27 the round
part of the church, having become dilapidated, was converted into
the present decagonal nave, 153 ft. in height, 20 yds. in length,
and 18 in breadth, covered with groined vaulting, the eight shorter
sides retaining the original niches. Other alterations took place in
the 14th and 15th cent., to which period belongs the vaulting of
the choir and of the vestibule. The sacristan, who is generally to
be found in the church in the morning (visitors knock), lives at
Gereons-Kloster No. 4 (1-2 pers. 1 4 ; for more, 50 pf. each).

The VESTIBULE contains a few ancient tombstones. To the right is
a small chapel added in 1897, with a Pieta by J. Reiss.

The * INTERIOR, recently embellished with paintings by Gobbels after
Essenwein’s designs, presents an imposing appearance. In small chapels in

the recesses of the nave, above which runs a gallery borme by short
columns, are seen the stone sarcophagi of the martyrs, half built into the
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walls. Their skulls are arranged under gilded arabesques along the sides
of the Choir, to which fifteen steps ascend. The carved choir-stalls date
from the beginning of the 14th century. Above is some tapesiry of the
18th cent., with scenes from the story of Joseph. The E. end of the choir
is reached by seven steps more. — The Bacrm{, in the purest Gothic
style, dating from 1316, containing fine Gothic stained glass, and the octa-
gonal Baptistery (adjoining the nave), with much defaced mural paintings
of the first half of the 18th cent., are also worthy of notice.

The CrYPT below the choir, with its three aisles borne by sixteen
columns, dating (with the exception of the 12th cent. E. end) from the
11th cent., contains an interesting specimen of the art of that period:
vis. & Mosaic Pavement, the sections of which represent scenes from the
lives of David and Samson, and the signs of the Zodiac. It was, perhaps,
executed by Italian workmen, as similar scenes are very common in
Italian churches. The fragments, which had got into disorder, were suc-
cessfully restored and supplemented by the painter Avenarius in 1869-T1.

Adjacent is the City Library (P1. F, 3), with the Archives, built
in the Gothic style in 1894-97 (adm., see p. 29). The former con-
tains about 150,000 vols., including a noted collection of editions
of the ‘Imitation of Christ’.

The shortest route from the Gereonsdriesch (tramway No. 2,
p- 28) to the Hansa-Platz and the Museum of Industrial Art (p. 54)
is via the Klingel-Piitz and the Gereonsmiihlengasse (P1. F, G, 3). —
On the left side of the Gereons-Strasse, which leads back to the
cathedral, is situated the Archiepiscopal Palace (P1. F, 3), whence
the Hunnenriicken leads to the Ursura-Prarz (PL F, G, 4).

8t. Ursula (Pl. G, 4) ocoupies the site of a church of the 4th
century. In the 11th cent. it existed as a flat-roofed basilica with
galleries, but in the 13th cent. it received a vaulted roof and the
early-Gothic choir was added (1287). The S. aisle, of the same
period, was re-vaulted in the 156th century. The entire edifice was
restored in the original style in 1890-91.

The church is closed except during service, which ends about 10 a.m.
(sacristan, Ursulagarten-Str. 1). — The N. aisle, near the choir, contains
& monument, by Johann Lenz, erected in 1658 to 8t. Ursula, an English
princess, who, according to the legend, when on her return from a B})l(;
grimage to Rome, was barbarously murdered at Cologne with her 11|
virgin attendants. The figure is in alabaster, with a dove at the feet.
The bones of these virgin martyrs are preserved in cases, placed round
the church. The legend is also illustrated by a series of old paintings, *
frequently retouched, on the side-wall on the left. Ten old pictures of
the Agoadea, to the left of the S. entrance, are painted on slabs of slate,
one of them bearing the date 1224. Under the organ, by the pillar to
the left, is a late-Gothic relief in stone, representing the Bearing of the
Cross. Below is the sarcophagus of a child belonging to the family of the
Frankish major-domo. The choir was redecorated by J. Osten in 1897. —
The GoLDENE KAMMER, or treasury (admission 1 .#), contains the fine late-
Romanesque Reliquary of 8t. Ursula, several other reliquaries of the Gothic
veriod, a carved rock-crystal chessman of the Carlovingian period, and
Persian and late-Roman textiles.

The Marzellen-Str. leads hence to the cathedral (p.32), passing
the Jesuits' Church(PL. F, 4), or Church of the Assumption, originally
a Gothic church without transepts, but rebuilt in..1618-29in"the
late - Renaissance style peculiar to this order. The pulpit and

i
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high-altar are overladen with decoration; the communicants’ bench
is a masterpiece of workmanship in marble. The bells were cast
with the metal of cannons taken by Tilly at Magdeburg, and pre-
sented by him to the church.

A few paces to the S.W. is the church of 8t. Andreas (PL F, 4),
with Romanesque nave of 1220 and a raised Gothic choir of 1414.
It contains a fine brass-gilt late-Gothic reliquary (the ‘Reliquary
of the Maccabees”), with reliefs, in which the remains of Albertus
Magnus (d. 1280; see p. 40) have reposed since 1859.

To the W. of the Jesuits’ Church, in the street named ‘An den
Dominikanern’, is the imposing Post Office (Pl. F,4), completed in
1893, an early-Gothic building with turrets at the corners. It is
adorned with numerous statues. Inside are busts of Post-Master-
General Stephan and Baron von Thurn-und-Taxis, the founder of
the modern postal system (16th cent.). — Nearly opposite is the
Reichsbank, or Imperial Bank, an early-Gothic structure in red
sandstone (1897). — On the Rhine (Kaiser- Friedrich-Ufer ; tramway
No. 1, p. 28), near the N. end of the old town, is the church ot
8t. Cunibert (Pl. &, 5), an excellent example of the transition style,
consecrated by Archbp. Conrad in 1248 and restored in 1869-74. 1t
is a vaulted basilica with two transepts and three towers.

The INTERIOR contains (in the choir and transepts) remains of good
Romanesque mural paintings (restored by Gobdels), a picture of the school
of Meister Wilhelm. and sculptures of the 14th and 16th centuries (relief
of the Crucifixion). At the entrance to the choir is a fine colossal group
of the Annunciation (late-Gothic). The choir has fine stained glass of the

13th cent., and is decorated with encaustic mural paintings by Weiter (1860).
Fine modern organ.

e. The Ring-Strasse and the New Quarters of the City.

Tramways (Nos. b, 2, and 3), see p. 28.

The most striking feature in the new town is the wide and
handsome *Ring-Strasse, or series of boulevards laid out since 1881,
31/3 M. long, which completely encircles the old town, and occupies
the site of the old fortifications, purchased by the corporation for
590,000¢. Many of the streets have been widened and laid out with
flower-beds and trees, fragments of the old city-wall and three of
the medi®val gates are still extant, while the modern buildings are
in many cases ambitious and striking edifices.

Near the Ubier-Ring, the still unfinished S. end of the Ring-
Strasse, on the new quay on the Rhine, stands the Bayenthurm
(PL B, 5), a square pinnacled tower of the 13-14th cent., which has
been restored along with an adjoining piece of the city-wall, and
nowitemporarily accommodates Prof. Joest's Ethnographical Collection
(adm., see p. 59). To the S. are the Harbour Station and the Rimer
Park (P1. A, 5). — Passing the picturesque Bottmiikle (Pl. B, 5),
a jtower surrounded by pleasure-grounds, we reach the handsome
Severins-Thor (P1. A. 4). a relic of the medimval fortifications. —
Adjacent is the church of St. Severin (p. 43).
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From the Chlodwigs-Platz (P1. A, 4) we follow the Carolinger-
Ring to the *Sachsen-Ring (PL. B, 4, 3), both sides of which are oc-
cupied by private villas. In th middle, to the right, is the Ulre-
pforte, a medizval town-gate, now connected with a café-restaurant.
Farther on, on the outside of a fragment of the old city-wall still ex-
tant, is the Ulre Monument, with an allegorical relief of the 14th cent.
(restored in 188(1) in memory of the victory of the citizens under the
Overstolzen (p. é) over B00 soldiers of Archbishop Engelbert, who
had stolen into the town, on 15th Oct., 1267. Several streets lead from
the Sachsen-Ring to the S.W. to the Volks-Garten (Pl. A, 2, 3; p. 27),
with pleasure-grounds, a ake, and fountains.

The Salier-Ring (PL. B, C,?2), with the Technical College (No.32),
leads to the Barbarossa-Platz (Pl C, 2), a square adorned with
gardens and a fountain. In the Hohenstaufen-Ring (P1. D, C,?2) are
the handsome Hohenstaufen Baths (p.29). In the Ziilpicher-Platz,
to the left, is the Roman Catholic Hers-Jesu-Kirche, by Schmidt of
Vienna (tower still to build). To the N.W. is the Konigs-Platz,
with a Synagogue (Pl. D, 1), erected in the Romanesque style in
1896-99. — In the short Habsburger-Ring rises the Neue Stadt-
Theater (PL. D, 2; p. 28), erected in the baroque style by K. Moritz
in 1900-1902, — Nearly opposite, in the Rudolphs-Plats, an import-
ant tramway-centre, is the —

Hahnenthor (PL E,2), a massive town-gate of the early 13th
cent., with two towers, which has been restored and fitted up as a
Historical Museum of the City of Cologne (adm., see p. 29; visitors
ring). Its contents include weapons and armour, models of old
buildings of Cologne, town~plans of various periods, portraits, ban-
ners (14-19th cent.), arms, Cologne stamps, dies, and coins, and
weights and measures.

From the Hohensollern-Ring (PL E, F, 2) and the Kaiser-Wii-
helm-Ring (PL F, 2) streets lead to the left to the well-kept Stadi-
Garten (p. 27). In the square in front of it is the new Protestant
Christus-Kirche (P1. F, 2), by Wiethase, the interior of which also
deserves attention. In the Bismarck-Strasse is the Residens-Theater
(PL F,2; p. 28), opened in 1902. At the N. end of the gardens
in the Kaiser- Wilhelm-Ring, on a rocky base, stands the Emp.
William I. Memorial (P1. F, G, 2), a monumental fountain, 35 ft.
high, by R. Anders (1897). Below the equestrian statue of the
emperor are seated figures of Father Rhine and Colonia. — A little
to the S.E. is the church of St. Gereon (p. 50). — In the Hansa-
Plats, in the middle of the Hansa-Ring (Pl. G, 3,4), a large fragment
of the old town-walls, known as the Gereonsmiihle, has been preserved.

Adjacent stands the *Museum of Industrial Art (Pl. G, 3),
erected in 1897-1900 from plans by Brantzky. Admission, see
P. 29; good catalogue (1902), 50 pf. Director, Dr. Otto von Falke.

Ground Floor. The glass-covered court is used for temporary exhibi-
tions. From the vestibule we ascend the staircase on the right. — Room I.
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Medigeval ecclesiastical furnit and ts. In Case 1 are *Ivory
Carvings, including the consecration-comb of St. Heribert (999-1021), Arch-
bishop of Cologne, and an oriental ivory casket (13th cent.). The other
cases contain carved caskets, enamels, embroideries, and metal-work.
Wall 7, *Antependium from the church 'of St. Ursula d2th cent.; figures
of saints of the 14th cent.). Gothic stained-glass windows (14-15th cent.), —
Roox II. Domestic furniture of the Gothic period ({6th cent.). Also,
tigures of Justice (ca. 1510) and paintings on glass (Adoration of the Magi;
1474) from the Rathhaus. — Ruox III. Early-Renaissance furniture, etc.,
from the Lower Rhine. — Roou IV. Late-Renaissance room (Cologne); the
wall-panelling and floor from the Spavish House (p. 4). — Roox V.
Stoneware, tiles, and building-materials from the Lower Rhine. Stained
glass of 1538 (Cologne). — Room VI. Cottage furniture. — RooM VII. In-
dustrial art of the Renaissance, in Italy, France, and Spain. Wall 89.
“Bronze Door-knocker, by Giovanni da Bofopna. Case 45. *Palissy Ware.
Also, paintings on glass from Switzerland and Cologne (to the left, St. Catha-
rine, by 4. Woensam). — Roox VIII. German furniture, metal-work, and
ornaments of the High Renaissance period. *Stained Glass from Bile, in
the style of Hans Holbein the Younger (formerly at St. Blasien; 16%). —
Rooux IX. Baroque farniture from Cologne, and blown-glass. Case 63.
*Glass from Venice and Cologne. — GarrLemies X-XII. Iron work from
the late-Gothic period to the 18th century. In Gallery XI1I we may note the
balcony-railing from Aix-la-Chapelle (1737).

First Floor. Room XIII (to the right). Dutch and Low German fur-
niture (17th cent.). Dutch, German, French, Italian, and Swedish fayence
(17-18th cent.). — Room XIV. German and French furniture of the 18th
century. — Roox XV. European porcelain of the 1¢th and 19th cent., the
German potteries being especially well represented (*Cases 100 and 101,
Héchst and Frankenthal porcelain). Wall 108. Sévres porcelain. Case 91.
Wedgwood and other English porcelain (18th cent.). — GaLLery XXI.
Cabinets 125-130. Book-bindings (14-18th cent.). Cabinets 131, 132. Cutlery
and tools — RooM XVI, Textile fabrics. — Roox XVII. Orieutal industrial
art, including Chinese and Japanese porcelain and Indian metal-work, etc.
— Roou XVIII is used for temporary exhibitions. — Room XIX represents
a Swiss room of the late-Renaissance period (17th cent.). — GaLLERY XX,
Lace; furniture-ornaments in the Empire style (ca. 1800). — Gallery XXI
is adjoined by the large PALLENBERG SALOON, handsomely fitted up from
M. Lechter's designs at the expense of Herr Pallenberg (d. 1900), and con-
taining a portion of the municipal silver-plate. — GaLLERY XXII. Embroi-
deries; modern medals and plaquettes,

The first floor also accommodates the valuable Library of Industrial Art,
founded in 1889, including a collection of patterns (two catalogues, 25 pf.
each). Adm., see p.29.

Farther on, on the right, is the Commercial High School, built in
1900, beyond which the Hansa-Ring is crossed by the iron arches
of the railway.

The Eigelstein-Thor (Pl. G, 4), the N. fortified tower of the
medizval entrenchments, was restored in 1891. — The Ring-Strasse
is terminated by the Deutsche Ring (P1. H, 5), which is embellished
with flower-beds, ponds, and fountains. A monument to Emp.
Frederick III. is to be erected at its E. end.

The *Zoological Garden (admission, see p. 27), which lies to
the N. of the town, about 11/¢ M. from the Central Station, may be
reached by tramway (No. 1, p. 28) or by steamboat (p. 29). From
the Deutsche Ring it is approached via the Riehler-Strasse (P1. H, 5;
tramway No. 5). Grounds well laid out; fine collection of animals, —
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Adjacent is the Botanical Garden of the ‘Flora Co.’ (adm., see
p- 27), with a handsome winter-garden, a concert-room, a Victoria
Regia house, and an Aquarium. On the S. side of the garden is the
Summer Theatre (p. 28). — Beyond the Zoological Garden is the
Sport-Platy, with cycling track, tennis courts, shooting ranges, and
restaurant. — About 8/; M. farther on is a bridge-of-boats leading
to Miilheim (p. 25).— Near the end of Tramway No. 4 (p. 28), in the
Neusser-Str.,some way from town, is the new Racecourse (comp. p.28).

To the S.W. of the town, near the terminus of the Lindenthal
tramway (No. 7, p. 28), is the Stadtwald (Town Wood), a newly
planted district 480 acres in extent. It is adjoined by the older
park of the Kitchsburg (restaurant). The small restaurant (‘Stadt-

waldschenke’) commands a good view of Cologne.

The extensive Gemetery, on the road to Aix-la-Chapelle, }/2 M. from the
Hahnen-Thor (Pl. E, 2; tramway No. 8, see p. 28), contains several fine
monuments, including those of grof. Waliraf and Herr Richartz (p. 39),
memorial monuments of the wars of 1866 and 1870-71, and a monument
to the memory of French prisoners who died here.

On the right bank of the Rhine, opposite Cologne, lies Deutz
(railway-station, see pp. 26, 62, 65), the téte-de-pont of Cologne, and
the Roman Castra Divitensia. It existed as a fortress down to 1114,
after which it was repeatedly destroyed, as a settlement here would
have been inconsistent with the privileges of Cologne. Since 1816
Deutz has been fortified by the Prussians in connection with Co-
logne. The imposing Roman Catholic Church (P1. D, 6), by Pickel,
is in the Romanesque style and was finished in 1896. The treasury
contains the sumptuous shrine of St. Heribert, of the year 1147,
The Protestant Johannis-Kirche (P1. E, 6) was consecrated in 1861.

4. From Cologne to Neuss (Disseldorf), Crefeld,
and Cleve.

TAl/z M. RAILWAY to Cleve in 21/-31/, hrs. (fares 9 M4 60, 7 # 20,
A4 & 80 pf.); to Disseldorsf in 1-1/2 hr. (fares 3 .4 20, 2 4 40, 1 ¥ 60 pf.).

Cologne, see R. 3. — 11/4 M. Nippes; 5 M. Longerich. — 9 M.
Worringen, perhaps the Buruncum of the Romans.

In a battle fought here in 1288 between the citizens of Cologne and the
Brabanters under the Duke of Berg on one side, and the Archbishop of
Guelders on the other, the struggle between the burghers and their arch-
bishop was decided in favour of the former (comp. p. 31).

13 M. Dormagen, the Roman Durnomagus. .

About 2!/> M. to the E., on the Rhine, lies Zons (Bender's Inn), the
Roman Sontium, a small town with numerous towers, which once belonged
to Cologne. It is one of the best Rhenish examples of a mediseval fortified
town. The Premonstratensian abbey of Knechtsteden, with a beautiful
Romanesque church (@ilbacher Dom) begun in 1138 and restored after the
fire of 1807, is situated 3 M. to the W.

181/ M. Norf. To the right, farther on, the railway bridge of
the Neuss and Diisseldorf line is seen in the distance (p. 61).

N
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221/, M. Neuss (Rheinischer Hof ; Brors; Langenbeckmann), men-
tioned as a Roman fortress in the annals of the Batavian war, under
the name Novesium, is one of the oldest towns in Germany. Pop.
28,0600. In 1474 it was in vain besieged by Charles the Bold of
Burgundy for forty-eight weeks, and in 1586 it was conquered and
treated with great severity by Alexander Farnese. The *Quirinus-
Kirche, an interesting building in the transition-style, begun in
1209 by the master Wolbero, is a basilica with nave and aisles, and
with towers over the crossing and over the W. end, which externally
forms a second transept. Above the aisles run galleries, and some of
the windows are peculiarly shaped. The rich ornamentation of the
‘W, part of the building demands attention. The extensive crypt
dates from the 11th century. The E. tower, which was re-erected
after its destruction by fire in 1741, is crowned with a Statue of
8t. Quirinus, the patron-saint of the town, who was probably a
Roman soldier. — The late-Gothic Rathhaus (1634-38), remodelled
in the ‘Empire’ style at the close of the 18th cent., contains a large
hall adorned with a series of historical paintings by Janssen. In the
Oberthor, a large gate-house of the 14th cent. at the S. end of the
town, with two towers, is a small collection of Roman antiquities. —
Neuss formerly lay close to the Rhine, with which it is now con-
nected by a short canal, ending in a busy harbour.

From Neuss to Aiz-la-Chapelle and Disseldorf, see R. b; to Neersen-
Neuwerk and Rheydt- Viersen, see p. 61; to Diiren, see p. 15.

A branch-line leads from Neuss vid Heerdt to Obercassel, on the
Rhine, opposite Diisseldorf, and ted with it by electric tramway.
Diisseldorf, see p. 20.

28 M. Osterath. — 321/ M. Oppum, the junction for the line
to Uerdingen (Ruhrort, Duisburg; p. 62).

34 M. Crefeld. — Hotels. *CrerrrLper HoF (Pl b; B, 4), Hoch-Str. 60,
R. from 2t/4, B.1, D. 8 #; *BELTZ (Pl.a}; B, 8), at the corner of Rhein-8tr.
and Friedrich-8tr., R. 2V/s, B. 1, D. 2V/; #; *Herrs (Pl. c; C, 3), Ost-Wall;
GRUNER WaLD (Pl. d; C,4), Hoch-Str. 8; StapT MONCREN, Hoch-Str. 43;
RoMiscHER Ka1skRr, Neusser-8Str., R. & B. b‘/z M ; GERMANIA, at the station,
— Restaurants. Enzler, Konigs-8tr. 20, D. from 1'/; #; Wallenburg, with
garden, }/3 M. from the town ; Stadt Miinchen, Romischer Kaiser, see above. —
WINE at *Eracker’s and at the Bodega, Ostwall 64 and 178. — Baths at the
*Stadtbad, Neusser-8tr. 58. — Electric Tramways through the chief streets.
— Bteam Tramways to DilsseldorsS (p. ), Uerdingen (p. 62), Hls, and
Fischein. — U. 8, Oonsul, T. R. Wallace, Esq.

Crefeld, with 107,000 inhab. (13,000 in 1830; 1/, Protestant),
an important railway-centre and the seat of the chief silk and velvet
manufactories in Germany, is first mentioned by name in a docu-
ment of 1166 and obtained municipal privileges in 1373. On the
extinction of the Counts of Moers in 1600 it came into the hands
of the Princes of Nassau and Orange, and in 1702 it fell by inherit-
ance to the crown of Prussia. The manufactories of Crefeld and its
environs at presentemploy about 20,000 power and other looms and
produce fabrics of an annual value of about 4,000,000L., vying with
those of Lyons, and largely exported to England and America.
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In the West-Wall is the Rathhaus (Pl. B, 3), with good frescoes
(Battle of Arminius) by P. Janssen. — In the same street, farther
to the 8., is the EMPrROR WrrLIAM MusruM (Pl. B, 4), completed
in 1897 (open daily, except Mon., 10 to 4 and 2 to 4 or §; adm. 50pf., -
free on Sun. and Wed. afternoons). :

On the staircase i3 a statue of Emp. William 1., ty Eberjein. — GROUND
FLoOR (r.). Rhenish wood-carvings, especially statuettes of the Virgin and
saints by Calcar masters ; pottery, furniture, weapons. glass, and china of
the Lower Rhine (1¢th cent.); modern fayence and furniture; objects from
E. Asia. — FirsT FLOOR. At the head of the staircase, The Blacksmith, a
figure by Const. Meunier (1%.6). Sculptures of the Italian Renaissance
(Luca della Robbia; Donatello); paintings (portraits of Emp. William I.,
Leo XIII., and Bismarck, by Lenbach; Moon-rise, by Gilsoul); plaster casts.

The Textile Academy (P1. A, §) contains an interesting Textile
Museum, and the rooms are decorated with frescoes by A. Baur,
referring to the silk-industry.

In the Ost-Wall are monuments in honour of Cornelius de Greif
(PL. §: O, 2), the philanthropist, Karl Wilhelm (P1. 7; C, 3), com-
poser of the ‘Wacht am Rhein’ (4864), and Moltke (P1. 9; C, 4).
To the N.E., in the Bismarck-Platz, rises a bronze statue of Bis-
marck (P1. 4; D, 1), by Eberlein.

On the Gladbach road, 8 M. to the 8. of Crefeld, is a memorial of
the battle of Crefeld, in which Ferdinand of Brunswick, one of Frederick
the Great's generals, defeated the French on June 23rd, 1768. — The Hiil-
ser Berg, 4 M. to the N. of Crefeld, is often visited thence either by
railway or on foot.

411/, M. Kempen (Herriger; Euler; Keuter, with old wall-paint-
ings), an ancient town with 5700 inhabitants. The Stifts-Kirche, a
Gothic edifice with a Romanesque tower, contains some fine sedilia
(carved by Joh. Gruter in 1486) and choir-stalls (4493). The Castle,
with its three towers, which now contains the gymnasium, was
built in 1380-84 by Friedrich III. of Saarwerden, Archbishop of
Cologne. The Kuhthor, a brick building of the 14th cent., recently
restored, contains the Municipal Collection of Antiquities (key at
the Rathhaus), including cabinets, wood-carvings of the 15-17th
cent., portraits, weapons, and Roman and Frankish antiquities.
Thomas & Kempis (1380-1471), supposed author of the ‘Imitatio
Christi’, is commemorated by a bronze statue (by Piedbeeuf; 1891)
in the Kirch-Platz. Branch-lines to Venlo (p. 61) and Viersen (p. 61).

The fertile district now assumes a Dutch character. 46 M. Alde-
kerk; 481/y M. Nieukerk.

53 M. @eldern (Hotel Dahlhausen, very fair), with 6400 inhab.,
once the capital of the Duchy of Guelders, has belonged to Prussia
since 1713. Our line here intersects the railway from Holland ( Venlo,
Straelen) to Bremen and Hamburg.

The train crosses the Niers. 58!/, M. Kevelaer (frequented by
pilgrims). To the right lies Wissen, with the handsome restored
chiteau of Baron von Lod. — 62 M. Weeze.

661/; M. Goch (Hdt. Gisberts, very fair), with 9100 inhab., an
important place in the middle ages, also a station on the line from



B8 Route 4. XANTEN. From Cologne

Boxtel to Wesel, traversed by the express trains from Berlin to
Flushing (Berlin to London in 21 hrs.). Pop. 8000.

FroM GOCH TO WESEL, 241/2 M., railway in 3/,-11/; hr. (fares 3 4 20,
‘2 M40, 1. .460pf). — 3 M. Preussisch-Uedem,

121/; M. Xanten (Hovelmann, pens. b JM&; Niederrheinischer Gasthof), a
town of great antiquity, with 3700 inhab., is mentioned in the ‘Nibelungen-
lied’, as the birthplace of Siegfried the Ain.gon-slayer (p. 94). The Castra
Vetera of the Romans, founded by Augustus between B.C. 16 and 13 as
winter-quarters for two legions, and the headquarters of Roman operations
on the Lower Rhine until its destruction by the Batavians in 71 A.D., lay on
the Fiirstenberg (see below). The °Collegiute Church of St. Victor, erected
in 1213-1512, is a gem of Gothic architecture, illustrating the entire devel-
opment of the style. The two Romanesque towers (215 ft. high) belonged
to an earlier structure. The interior is adorned with paintings by Bart.
de Bruyn (1534) and other artists, and contains fine wood-carvings, tapestry,
and stained glass (14-17th cent.). By the piers are lifesize statues of the
14-16th centuries. The wood-screen is of stone, and the entire choir is
enclosed by an early-Gothic panelled screen, covered by old tapestry.
Between the choir and the sanctuary is a light brass screen, with three
arches. In front of the high-altar is a fine bronze candelabrum from
Maastricht, in the form of anfarch (1501). The sacristy contains some valuable
ecclesiastical vestments, including those of St. Bernhard (11th cent.), while
there are some fine reliquaries and ivory carvings of the 5-15th cent.in
"the treasury. — In front of the 3. portal are large Stations of the Cross,
dating from 1525-36. The Chapel of St. Michael (16th cent.) and the Clever-
Thor (1393) are also interesting buildings. The Rathhaus contains a good
collection of Roman antiquities (adm. 50 pf.). — Fine view from Schloss
Fﬁmtenbcrls g, 1 M. to the S.E., on the hill of that name. — Steamer to Wesel,
see p. 19.

To the N. of (16 M.) Birten is a Roman amphitheatre, 820 ft. in dia-
meter. — Beyond (1812 M.) Biiderich, also a station on the Wesel and Venlo
line (p. 19), the train crosses the Rhine, and reaches (24!f; M.) Wesel (p. 18).

69 M. Pfaizdorf, a large village near the Reichswald (p. 59), with
2600inhab.,founded by emigrants from thePalatinate( Pfalz) in1741.

7413 M. Cleve. — Hotels (all with gardens). Bap-HSTeL & HoTEL
StyroM, to the W. of the town, in the Thiergarten, R. 3-4, pens. 5-8 .4,
connected with the Friedrich- Wilhelmsbad, a hydropathic; PRINZENHOP
(p. 59), on an eminence to the 8.E. of the town, with a large park; HOTEL
RoeBERs, in the Thiergarten, R. 8, B. 1, D. 8, pens. 7 #; MAYWALD, on
the hill to the S. of the town, R. 3, B.1, D. 8, pens. 7 4; Hiter Looox,
opposite the post-office ; HOTEL HoLTZEM, near the palace ; RERINIsCHER HoF,
at the station. — Beer: Lampe; Deutscher Kaiser; Grosser Kurfirst (stucco
ceiling of 1677). — Café- Restaurant Kaiser Friedrich, Haagsche-Str.

Visitors’ Tax, for a stay of more than a week, 5 M#. — Kneipp Insti-
tute (Dr. Bergmann), to the 8.W. of the town.

Post Office, Haagsche-Strasse.

Cleve, Dutch Kleef (pop. 15,000), once the capital of the duchy of
that name, is beautifully situated on the slope of a wooded hill,
which at an early period formed the bank of the Rhine, and is
much frequented by Dutch families in summer. The chalybeate
spring is an additional attraction.

On a picturesque eminence in the town rises the Palace of the
former dukes, generally called the Schwanenburg (now a law-court
and prison), with the lofty *Schwanenthurm (fine view), erected by
Adolph I. in 1439, on the site of a Roman tower. (In the courtyard
are Romanesque portals (now built up) and a Roman altar'found in
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the vicinity. The legend of the ‘Knight of the Swan’, so widely
known from Wagner's opera of ‘Lohengrin’, is localised at Cleve,
where an appropriate monument has been erected in the Kleine
Markt. A Statue of the Elector John Sigismund (d.1619) by Bayerle,
erected near the palace in 1859, is a memorial of the annexation
of the district to the Electorate of Brandenburg in 1609. — The
Rathhaus contains a few antiquities (including some good Roman
bronzes) and some pictures.

The Gothic Stifts-Kirche, an imposing brick edifice, erected in
1341-56, contains monuments of Counts and Dukes of Cleve, the
finest those of Adolph VI. (d. 1394) and Margaretha von Berg
(d. 1425).

To the S.E. of the town lies the Prinsenhof, erected in 1664 by
Prince Maurice of Orange (d. 1679), Governor of Cleve (appointed
by the Elector of Brandenburg), and now a hotel and pension. The
Nassau Allée, with its old lime-trees, extends along the hill-slope
to the Sternbusch, whence a,road leads to the left to the Hdtel-
Pension Haus Freudenberg (pens. 5 &), formerly a hunting-lodge
of Prince Maurice, 11/ M. from Cleve, and thence to ‘Berg und
Thal’ (H6t.-Pens. Sonderkamp), another summer-resort. — Towards
the W. lie the hills known as the Thiergarten, laid out with pleasant
park-like grounds (1634), which adjoin the road and railway to
Nymwegen. — The Clever Berg (335 ft.), to the S. of the Thier-
garten, commands one of the most beautiful views on the Lower
Rhine. In the foreground lies Cleve, and farther off the villages
of Qualburg and Bedburg, Chateau Moyland, and the towns of Calcar,
Xanten, Wesel, Rees, Emmerich, etc.

At the village of Brienen, 2!/ M. to the N. of Cleve, is a monument
erected in 1811 to Johanna Sebus, whom Goethe celebrated for her heroism
during an inundation of the Rhine. — The Reichswald, 11!2 M. to the S.W.
of Cleve, is the largest forest in the Rhenish province (17,000 acres).

Beyond Cleve the Rhenish Railway pursues its N. direction, crosses
the Rhine by means of a steam-ferry near stat. Eiten, and at stat.
Zevenaar unites with the Dutch line to Amsterdam and Rotterdam (R. 2);
see also Baedeker's Belgium and Holland.

To Nymwegen by railway vid Groesbeck and Cranenburg in A0 min.;
comp. Baedeker's Belgium and Holland.

m Cleve diligence once daily in 11/4 hr. to (8 M.) Calcar (see below).
On the way it passes (5 M.) Ohateau Moyland, an imposing brick building
of the 156th cent., restored by Zwirner (1854 et seq.). Its owner, Baron
von Stcengracht, possesses the finest private picture-gallery on the Lower
Rhine, comprising good examples of Frans Hals, Van Dyck, Van der Helst,
)loreeiae, onthorst, Jan Steen, Pal des, Brueghel, Hobbema, and Wy-
nants (adm. on application in the court).

Oalear (Kuypers), a small town with 2000 inhab., was in 1490-1540 the
seat of a school of wood-carving, which derived its inspiration from Hol-
land. It was also the birthplace of the celebrated Prussian General Seyd-
litz (d. 1778), the conqueror at Rossbach, a handsome monument of whom,
by Bayerle, adorns the market-place. The Church of St. Nicholas, a Gothic
structure of the 156th cent., is a veritable museum of wood-carving, with
its altars, choir-stalls, and candelabra. Its chief glory is the high-altar
(“%-1506), with wings painted by Jan Joest of Haarlem, who worked at
Calcar in 1506-8. By St. George’s altar is a predella, with seven saints by
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Heimvich Dinwegge, and over St. Anne’s altar 13 a Death of the Virgin by
a Westphalian master of about 1460. The Rathhaus (1436-Ab) and several
brick houses with gables also deserve notice. — Calcar is also connected
by diligence with Goch (71/z M.) and Xanten (912 M.).

5. From Aix-la-Chapelle to Disseldorf vid Gladbach.
Comp. Map, p. 54.

B4 M. Ra1LwAY in 13/4-3 hrs. (fares 7 .4, 5 .4 80, 3 & B0 pf.; express
8 M 80, 6 4 50, A & 6V pf.).

This railway has two stations at Aix-la-Chapelle, one at the Mar-
schier-Thor, the other at the Templerbend (comp. p. 3). At (31/3M.)
Richterich the Maastricht Line diverges to the left. The tall chim-
neys near (51/a M.) Kohlscheidt belong to coal - mines (branch-line
to Wiirselen, p. 15). About 11/ M. from Kohlscheidt rises the
picturesque ruin of Wilhelmstein (restaurant). The train now de-
scends into the pleasing and partly wooded valley of the Wurm,

At(8M.)Herzogenrath ( Ritserfeld ; Prins 2u Schaumburg-Lippe),
French Roldue, a small town with an old castle. The suppressed
Abbey of Klosterrath (now a school) crowns a height on the left.
The church, lately decorated by M. Gébbels, dates from 1209, and
its crypt from 1108. Branch-lines to Stolberg (p. 14) and to Sittard.

On the left, near (121/o M.) Palenberg, rise the chateaux of Rim-
burg and Zweibriiggen, and at (151/ M.) Geilenkirchen (Harst) that of
Trips. The train then traverses the undulating Duchy of Jiilich or
Juliers, and between (20 M.) Lindern and (24!/; M.) .Baal crosses
the valley of the Roer Ep. 15). — 271/3 M. Erkelenz (Adler), an old
town with 4600 inhab., the picturesque ruins of a castle destroyed in
1674, and a late-Gothic Rathhaus. The church of the 14th cent.
has a new iron spire 270 ft. high. Bronze statue of Emp. William I.,
by Kiinne (1898). — 33 M. Wickrath, with a government stud.

351/, M. Rheydt (Jobges, R. & B. from 3, D. 2 #; Schmidt;
tramway to Gladbach and Odenkirchen), with 34,000 inhab., is
the junction of the Gladbach-Roermond-Antwerp line (see p. 61)
and of the Left-Rhenish line to Gladbach, Neersen-Neuwerk, and
Neuss (p. 56; 17 M., in 1 hr.).

About 8 M. to the E. of Rheydt is situated Schloss Dyck, the chateau
of Prince Salm-Reifferacheid-Dyck (lately restored), with beautiful grounds,
and a garden which boasts of the most complete collection of cacti in
Europe. (Good inn, opposite the gate of the chateau.) — Schloss Liedberg,
3 M. to the N. of Dyck, commands an extensive prospect.

38M. Gladbach (*Herfs, R.2-4, B. 1, D. with wine 3, S. 21/, 4#;
Kothen; Deutsches Haus, Europdischer Hof, Rheinischer Hof, these
three nearer the station; tramway from the station to Rheydt)
is an important manufacturing town of 59,000 inhab., and one of
.the centres of the Rhenish cotton, woollen, iron, and engine-making
industries. To distinguish it from another place of the same name
(p. 20) it is termed Miinchen- Gladbach, the epithet Miinchen (i.e.
‘Mdnchen’ or monks) being derived from a Benedictine abbey,
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founded in 972 and suppressed in 1802, to which the town owes
its origin. Admission to any of the numerous factories or dye-works
is usually granted by the owner on application. The imposing brick
edifice to the right of the Bergisch-Mirkisch station is a spinning
and weaving factory. Several important insurance societies have
their headquarters here. The early-Gothic choir of the Miinster-
Kirche, consecrated in 41275, is supposed to have been built by Meis-
ter Gerard (p. 32); the Romanesque crypt and the basément of
the tower are of the 11th cent., the nave of the beginning of the
13th century. The treasury contains a fine late-Gothic portable
altar and other interesting objects. In the Kaiser-Platz is a statue
of Emp, William I. by Eberlein, and in front of the station is one
of Bismarck by Schaper. — The terrace of the Erholung Club (intro-
duction necessary), situated in a shady park, and the old Abbey
afford good views of the Gladbach manufacturing district, which in-
cludes the towns of Gladbach, Rheydt, Viersen, Odenkirchen, Diil-
ken, and Siichteln. The continuation of the Bahnhof-Strasse leads
to the Kaiser- Park, in which is the Kaiser-Friedrich-Halle, for
concerts and theatrical entertainments.

Gladbach is the junction of the Crefeld and Hochfeld-Duisburg line
(see R. 6). Gladbach is also on the Rheydt & Neuss Railway (Left Rhenish
Line; see p. 60), with two stations, GQladbach-Bokel and Gladbach-Speik.

Frox sunncn TO ANTWERP, 9 M., railway in 4 hrs., see Baedeker’s
Belgium and Holland.

From Gladbach to Juliers (Jilich), Eschweiler, and Stolberg, see p. 15.

The line now turns towards the E., traverses a flat, arable, and
partly wooded tract, and leads to (41 M.) Corschenbroich, (43 M.)
Kleinenbroich, and (481/p M.) Neuss (p. 56), the junction of the
Aix-la-Chapelle - Diisseldorf, Cologne- Crefeld, and Diiren-Neuss
lines. . The train crosses the Rhine by an iron bridge of four arches,
beyond which, to the left, opens a fine view of Diisseldorf. — 521/p M,
Diisseldorf-Bilk; 54 M. Disseldorf, Central Station (p. 20).

6. From Gladbach to Crefeld, Duisburg, and Essen.
Comp. Map, p. 52.

39 M. BAILwaY in 1}/:-2 hrs. (fares 5 .4, 3 4 80, 2 4 50 pf.).

Miinchen-Gladbach, see above. — 3 M. Helenabrunn. — D1/, M.
Viersen (Gansen; Dahlhausen, both very fair), a town with 24,800
inhab. and extensive manufactories of silks, plush, and velvet
ribbons, The late-Gothic parish-church dates from the 13th century.
The Hohenbusch, with a park, commands an extensive view.

A line diverges hence to Venlo, the junction of the Dutch railways to
Flushing and Rotterdam, to the W., and to the 8. to Maastricht. See
Baedeker's Belgium and Holland.

FroM VIERSEN TO Mokrs viA CREFELD, 20 M., railway with numerous
ramifications. At (4%/4 M.) Sichtein the line forka. one branch running vii
Oedt, Eempen (p.57), and Hils (p. 57) to (16 M.) Crefeld (N. Station), while
the main line proceeds vid Vorst to (13 M.) Crefeld. — 25 M, Moers ( Deutsches
Haus. B. & B. /3 M; Koniglicher Hof), an old town with 6200 inhab.; is the
Jjunction for Homberg and for the new line from Rheinhausen to Cleve (p. 58).
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On the latter, 71/z M. to the N. of Moers, is Rheinberg (Bienen, R. & B. 21/; .4#),
an ancient place with 2500 inhab., well-known for its ‘boonekamp’ bitters.
The Orefeld line next crosses the Nord-Canal, begun by Na-
poleon, but never completed, and the river Niers, and then traverses
some drained marshland. 9 M. Anrath; 14 M. Crefeld (p. 56).

16%/2 M. Oppum, the junction for Neuss and Diisseldorf (p. 56).

181/5'M. Uerdingen ( Keliner, fair), a commercial town on the Rhine
(6600inhab.), with extensive ligueur and sugar manufactories, is the
Jjunction of the line to Homberg and Ruhrort. — 23 M. Rheinhausen,
with a harbour and iron-works, is the junction for the new railway
via Trompet, Moers, Rheinberg, Calcar, etc., to Cleve (p. 58).

The railway crosses the Rhine by a bridge 1040 yds. long. —
25 M. Hochfeld. — 27i/3 M. Duisburg (p. 19). — 31 M. Styrum,
the d',unic%on for (2 M.) Oberhausen (p. 19) and ¢56t/y M.) Ruhr-
ort (p. .

321/, M. Miilheim an der Ruhr (Hétel Im Zulast, Retse, R. 2!/4-
3.4), a prettily situated town with 38,300 inhab., surrounded with
coal-pits and iron-works. — 38 M. Altendorf. As Essen is approach-
cd we gain a view to the left of Krupp's Cast Steel Works, with their
huge chimneys, a vast establishment of world-wide celebrity (about
26,000 workmen).

39 M. Essen (Essener Hof, Rheinischer Hof, Berliner Hof, etc.),
see Baedeker's Northern Germany.

7. From Cologne to Elberfeld and Hagen.
Comp. Map, p. 54.

431/ M. RaILwaY, express in {1/s, ordinary trains in 21/4 hrs.; fares
D #, 3 460, or 4 4 50, 8.430,2.420 pf.

Cologne, see p. 26. The quick trains start from the central
station; slow trains also from the Right-Rhenish station at Kalk-
Deuts, on the right bank of the Rhine (see p. 26).

8 M. Miilheim am Rhein, see p. 20; 8 M. Schiebusch. — 101/; M.
Opladen (Jansen; Tillmanns), a town of 4200 inhab., on the Wupper.

FroM OPLADEN To LENNEP, 171/z M., railway in 11/z hr. (fares 2 .4 30,
1 M# 70, 1 .# 20 pf.). — 6 M. Burscheid (Post) is about 2 M. from Altenberg
(Keller), a small town charmingly situated in the finest part of the wooded
and romantic valley of the Dhiin. [To reach it we take the first turn to the
left on leaving the station, cross the road, pass down a lane leading past
the E. end of a church to another road, follow this road to the left till we
reach the highroad, follow this to the right to a point about 100 yds. beyond
the Engelrath Inn, and then keep to the left down the valley till the
church comes into sight.] The “Abbey Church of Altenberg, known as the
Bergischer Dom, was built in 1255-79 for a Cistercian abbey founded by the
brothers Adolf and Eberhard, Counts of Berg, in 1133. It is a large cruci-
form edifice, resembling Cologne Cathedral. without towers, with a double-
aisled choir, and a chevet of pentagonal chapels. The choir and nave con-
tain a series of fine stained-glass windows (Pﬁri!aille) of the 13-14t*. cent.;
the large W. window shows saints under golden canopies (ca. 1880-83). In
the choir are the tombs of the Counts of Berg, the finest being those of
Gerhard 1. (d. 1360) and Adolf VI. (d. 1348). In the N. transept is the
fine brass of Count Eberhard (d. 1465). The buttresses above the ve-
aisles are of a peculiar shape and are not pierced, though serving the
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purpose of flying buttresses. — To the W. is the *Chapcl of St. Mark, a
gem of the transition style (1225), with paintings of the 13th century. —
From Altenberg to Bergisch-Qladbach, see p. 25.

121/2 M. Wermeiskirchen (Bergischer Hof) is the junction of a branch-
line to Burg (Paffrath, in Unterburg), prettily situated in the valley of
the Wupper and commanded by the *Schloss Burg (adm. 20 pf.; Schloss
Restaurant), long the seat of the Counts of Berg. This interesting building,
founded about 1140 and enlarged in the 15-16th cent., was carefully rebuilt
on the old lines in 1889-94. The two-storied ‘Palas’ dates from 1220 (restored).
The ‘Ritter-Saal’, in the upper story, has been adorned with frescoes of
scenes from local history. The adjoining structure, with the chapel, was
rebuilt in 4892. The fortifications and towers are well preserved. The
keep, destroyed about 1648, has been also rebuilt. In the 8. wing is the Local
M including portraits, views, antiquities, and sculptures. Fine view
from the ‘Ritter-Saal’ and the N. terrace. From Burg to the Emp. William
Bridge, see below. — 171/2 M. Lénnep (Berliner Hof), a cloth-making town of

00 inhab., is connected by b h-lines with B ,» Remascheid, etc.

13 M. Leichlingen. — 161/, M. Ohligs, the junction of the line
from Diisseldorf to Solingen, Remscheid, and Vohwinkel.

Bolingen (Eggers; Deuisches Haus; U. 8. Consul, J. J. Langer), with
45,000 inhab., is one of the most important seats of the manufacture of
cutlery in the world. Solingen blades were famous in the middle ages.

Beyond Schaderg, the next station, the train crosses the valley of the
Wupper by the imposing *Kaiser Wilhelm Briicke ( Emp. William Viaduct),
the central arch of which is 560 ft. in span and 350 ft. above the river.
Its total length is 1657 ft. The best view of it is obtained from the path
descending into the valley from Schaberg station. Below is a café-restaurant,
and on the heights of the opposite bank is the Schloss Kiippelstein Re-
staurant. About 1 M. downstream is Miingsten, while a pleasant forest-path
ascends to (1 hr.) Burg (see above; ferry 1 M. before reaching Burg).

181/g M. Haan. — 21 M. Gruiten, the junction of the Diissel-
dorf-Elberfeld line (p. 66) ; 231/ M. Vohwinkel, the junction of the
line to (20 M.) Steele, an important coal-railway. Beyond (261/e M.)
Sonnborn the train crosses the Wupper, and calls at Zoologischer
Garten and Steinbeck, two suburban stations of Elberfeld.

28 M. Elberfeld- Dippersberg, the chief station for Elberfeld ;
283/4 M. Unter- Barmen ; 30 M. Barmen ; 34 M. Barmen- Rittershausen.

Hotels in Elberfeld (restaurants at most). *WEIDENHOF (Pl a; F, 1),
with lift, R. from 3, B. 1. D 3 .#; Post, R. & B. from 2!/3, D. incl. wine
3 .4; Mavzer Hor, R. & B. 2'/2, D. 2'/2 .#; EKa1seruor, R. & B. from 23/,
D. 2 #; KorsacH; EvrorirscHER Hor; UNION; MoxoroL (Pl c; C, )H
KvrEIN (PL. b; F, 4), Kirch-Str. — Hotels in Barmen. *VoGELER (Pl.a; E, 4),
R. 2Y/2-4,B.1, D. ﬁl/g, pens. 7-8 4 ; ScHOTZENHAUS (Pl. b; E, 4); DEUTSCHES
Havus (PL. d; E, 4); EVANGELISCHES VEREINSHAUS (Pl 27; E,l , near the
station, R. 1-2 .#; RurINiscHER Hor, in the town.

Restaurants at Elberfeld: At the hotels; also, Rathskeller; Willemsen,
Konigs-8tr., with a garden; Hofbrdu; Altdeutsche Bierhalle; Himmelmann,
Schwanen-Str. 26 (wine). — At Barmen: Theafre Restaurant, next door to
the Hdtel Vogeler; Rheinischer Hof; Zur Gentlgsamkeit; Stadthaile; Luft-
curhaus (p. 64).

Osabs. For -2 pers. 50 pf. per drive; }zhr. 1, 1 hr. 11/, each addit.
s hr. 34 M#; luggage 25-00 pf.; double fares at night and for first-class
cabs. — Electric ays, see Plan. An Ejevated Tramway (electric) be-
tween Elberfeld, Barmen, and (4}/2 M.) Vohwinkel.

Consul of the United States, at Barmen, Herr Maz Bouchsein; Vice:
Consul, Herr J. A. Rittershaus.

English Church Service in the Lutheran Church.
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The sister-towns of Elberfeld and Barmen, together with the
just-mentioned and other suburban villages, now together form a
single large manufacturing town, which fills the bottom and extends
up the sides of the valley, and is intersected by the railway, the
highroad with a tramway-line, and the Wupper. They have risen
to great importance since the middle of last century, now contain
299,000 inhab. (Elberfeld, 157,000; Barmen, 142,000), and rank
among the richest industrial towns on the continent. The chief
products of their very numerous and extensive factories are cotton,
calico, silk, ribbons, Turkey-red dyed goods, soap, candles, and
chemicals. Since the introduction of power-looms the value of the
cotton and silk manufactures has risen to upwards of 7!/g million -
pounds annually. The old parts of the towns are irregular and con-
fined, but the modern portions contain many fine private buildings.
Elberfold contains many benevolent institutions, and is famous for
its admirable system of poor-relief.

The finest part of Elberfeld is the quarter to the S. W., round
the Konigs-Str. (P1. A-F, 3, 4), the Briller-Str. (P1. E, 3, 2), and
the Sadowa-Str. (Pl. D, 3). The principal public edifices are the
new Rathhaus, in the Neumarkt (P1. F, 3); the Reformierte Kirche
(PL. 7; E, 3), designed by Zwirner; and the Landgerichts-GQebiude
(P1. 17; H, 4), or courts of law, with a picture of the Last Judg-
ment by Baur in the principal hall. The old Rathhaus (Pl. 18;
F, 3, 4) countains the interesting Municipal Museum. In the Konigs-
Platz (P1. F, 3) is a War Monument (P1. 4) by Albermann. In the
Brausenwerther-Platz, the Neumarkt, and the Schlossbleiche are
statues of Emp. William I. (PL. 3; F, 4), Emp. Frederick (Pl. 2,
F 3; both by Eberlein), and Bismarck (Pl. 1, F 4; by Brunow).

The Hardt (Pl. of Barmen, A, B, 8, 4), to the E., where there are a
monument to St. Suitbertus and another war-monument, commands a
pleasing view. A finer view is obtained from the Konfgshohe on the Kies-
berg, 2 M. to the S.W. of the town (restaurant and view-tower ; Pl. B, C, 6).
On the slope of the Kiesberg lies the Zoological Garden (Pl. A, 4, 53
railway-station, sce p. 63). — To the W. are the promenades of the Kaiser-
hohe on the Nutzenberg (PL C, D, 3; restaurant), with the reservoir of the
town water-works.

In Barmen the chief buildings are the Protestant Church (P1. 16;
C, 4), designed by Hiibsch; the Missionshaus (P1. C, 3), containing
an interesting collection of curiosities from foreign countries (adm.
50 pf.); and the Ruhmeshalle (P1. 20 ; F, 4), or Hall of Fame, which
contains statues of Emp. William I.,, Emp. Frederick, and Emp.
William II., as well as various collections. In front of the old Rath-
haus is a bronze Statue of Bismarck. The Civic Museum (Pl. 19;
E,4) contains a collection of natural history.

On the S. side are the new Town Hall (PL. E, §), the War Mcn-
ument (P1. 4), and a bronze Statue of E. Rittershaus, the poet (d. 1897),
surrounded by pleasant grounds. Farther to the S. is the Barmer
Wald, with the Tolle Thurm (P1. D, 6), a belvedere (electric tram-
way in /4 br., 20 pf.). Adjacent is the Luftcurhaus, a health-resort
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(pens. with room 41/,-6 .#). We may return to the E. through the
shady Murmelbach-Thal (4 hr.), orproceed to the W., over the Kaiser
Friedrich Hohe (P. A, 6) to (1 hr.) Elberfeld.

FroM ELBERFELD TO DUssELDORF, 17 M., in 1 hr. Stations: Vohwinkel,

(p. 63), Haan, Hochdahl, Erkrath, Gerresheim, Disseldorf (p. 20).

Branch-lines also run from Elberfeld and Barmen to Cromenberg, Rons-
dorf, Lennep (p. 63), Remscheid, and many other manufacturing places of
more or less importance.

The line skirts the E. side of the valley of the Wupper. It then
crosses the Wupper, quits the Duchy of Berg, and enters the County
of Mark. The river anciently formed the boundary between the
Franks and Saxons, and now separates the Rhineland from West-
phalia. — 34 M. S8chwelm (Prins von Preussen), a town with 16,890
inhabitants. Farther on, the train p the Schwelmer Br , 8
chalybeate spring, and through several cuttings. — 37 M. Milspe.
Pleasing view up the valley of the Ennepe, which the train crosses
by embankments and a viaduet, 100 ft. high. — 381/o M. Gevels-
berg, a town censisting of a long row of detached houses. The stream
turns the machinery of numerous small iron-works, where scythes,
sickles, and shovels are manufactured. At (411/y M.) Haspe are
extensive puddling-works and rolling-mills.

431/, M. Hagen (Hbtel Linenschloss, at the station; Rimer;
Glits), a manufacturing town with 50,600 inhab., is the junction
for Bochum, Dortmund, Cassel, and Siegen ; see Baedeker’'s Northern
Germany.

8. From Cologne to Frankfort vid Giessen.
Comp. Map, p. 6¢.

143 M. RaiLway from Cologne to Giessen, 1081/ M., in 4-5 hrs. (fares
13 .4 40, 10 4 10, 6 4 70 pf.); from Giessen to Frankfort, 89l/z M., in
1V/-8 hrs. (fares & .4 10, 3 .4 30, 3 A 20 pf.; expross, b 4, 3 4 60 pL.).

The train starts at Cologne, passes through Deuts (p. 55)
without stopping, and traverses a flat country at some distance from
the Rhine. 2 M. Kalk (20,500 inhab.), a thriving industrial suburb
of Cologne and Deutz, is the junction for Deuts (slow trains only,
in 8 min.). 7 M. Urbach. To the E. of (8!/3M.) Wakn is the
Wahner Heide, with an artillery-range. Beyond (13 M.) Troisdorf,
where the Right-Rhenish line diverges (p. 81), the line crosses the
Agger, on the bank of which, to the right, is the Friedrich- Wilhelms-
Hitte, a large iron-foundry.

151/3 M. Siegburg (Felder, opposite the station; Stern, fair), an
industrial town with 14,200 inhab., lies pleasantly on the slope of
a hill at the confluence of the Agger and the Sieg. Above it, on the
Michaelsberg, rise the buildings of an old Benedictine Abbey,
founded by Abp. Anne in 1066 and now a reformatory. Of the
abbey-church the orypt alone remains. The Parish Church, dating
from the second half of the 13th cent., contains seven richly adorned
reliquaries of the 12-15th cent., including that of'St. Anno (d.4075),

Baepeker's Rhine. 15th Edit. hE




66 Route 8. DILLENBURG. From Cologne

Archbishop of Cologne, the stern guardian of Emp. Henry IV, —
Branch-Hne to (241/; M.) Dieringhausen and (66 M.) Hagen (p. 65).
Beyond Siegburg (view of the Seven Mountains to the right},
the train crosses the Sieg, and ascends the valley of the river, over
38 bridges and through 13 tunnels, to Betzdorf and Siegen. — 20 M.
Hennef (Walterscheid) is the junction of the Broelthal Railway from
Beuel (p. 90) to Waldbroel and to Buchhols. The castle of Aliner,
adjoining the wood to the left, stands at the confluence of the Broel
and the Sieg. Farther on, to the left, are the monastery of Bidingen,
surrounded by vineyards, and the chiteaun of Attenbach.

221/g M. Blankenberg (Honrath, with a terrace commanding a
beautiful view), formerly an important fortified town, with a con-
spicuous ruined castle, is a popular summer-resort. Tunnel.

Beyond (271/p M.) Eitorf (Prins Carl, fair)a retrospect is obtained
of the monastery of Merten on the hill to the right. The wooded
hills enclosing the valley now increase in height. Two tunnels
are passed through. Near Windeck, with the castle of that name on
the hill to the left, the railway and highroad pass through a deep
cutting. — 31 M. Herchen (Glasmacher). — 361/3 M. Schiadern
(Klever, R. & B. 21/g 4 ; diligence twice daily to Waldbril). A new
channel has here been constructed for the Sieg, while the old one
has been left dry for a distance of 2 M. — Tunnel.

* 41 M. Au, the junction for Limburg (p. 219); 441/s M. Wissen,
junction for Morsbach. A little farther on, on the opposite bank
of the Sieg, rises the old chateau of Schonstein, the property of
Prince Hatzfeld. — 47 M. Niederhivels. — 52 M. Betzdorf (Breiden-
bacher Hof ; Gabrecht) is the junction for Siegen and Hagen (see p. 65,
and Baedeker’s Northern Germany).

The line to Giessen ascends the valley of the Heller to (57 M.)
Herdorf, (59 M.) Neunkirchen, and (63 M.) Burbach, crosses the
watershed between the Heller and the Dill near Wiirgersdorf, and
threads its way through the Hickengrund. 691/o M. Nieder-Dresseln-
dorf; T4 M. Haiger. The line next enters the Dillthal,

77M. Dillenburg (765 ft. ; Hirsch; Schwan; Curhaus, R.11/5-2
D. 13/, pens.41/s- 58/4 M), a picturesque town of 4600 inhab., with
iron mines, a mining school, and a statue of Bismarck (1898). The
Wilhelms-1hurm, 130 ft. high, was erected in 1872-75 on the site of
the ruined castle of Dillenburg, in which William of Orange, the
liberator of the Netherlands, was born in 1533 (adm.30pf.). Ad-
jacent is the Wilhelms-Linde, a lime-tree under which William
received the Netherlandish ambassadors in 1568.

A BRANCE RAILWAY ascends the Dietzhdis-Thal to (10M.) Strass- Ebersbach,
whence the Wilhelms-Warte on the Sasenberg (}/z M.) may be visited.

811/y M. Herborn (670 ft.; Ritter), an industrial place with
3500 inhab., on the Dill. The old castle is now a seminary. Branch~
line to Hartenrod and Nieder- Walgern.— 806 M. Sinn. On a hill to
the right is the ruin of Greifenstein. Beyond-(89t/3 M)) Ehrings-
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hausen the line enters the valley of the Lakn, and unites with the
Nassovian Railway (from Lahnstein to Wetzlar; R. 27).

951/o M. Wetzlar, see p. 220. — The line now ascends the
smiling valley of the Lahn. Beyond (4100 M.) Dutenhofen the ruins
of Gleiberg and Vetsberg are seen on the left.

1031/o M. Giessen (*Grossherzog von Hessen, *Kuhne, Victoria,
Schiits, near the station; FEinhorn; Rappe; Prins Carl; Rail.
Restaurant), situated on the Lahn, is mainly of modern origin, and
contains 26,000 inhabitants. Itis the seat of a university, founded
in 1607, which is attended by about 750 students.

1081/s M. Langgins. About 3 M. to the left of (114 M.) Buts-
bach rise the considerable ruins of the castle of Miingzenberg, de-
stroyed in the Thirty Years’ War. The higher (154 ft.) of its two
towers commands an extensive view.

120 M. Nauheim. — Hotels. *KasErHOF, R. from 4, B, 13/, D. 31/2.4;
*BRISTOL; *AUGUSTA VIOTORIA, R. 21/2-0, B. 4, pens. 8-14 .#; Gr. HoTEL
IMPRRIAL, pens, from 71/; ; *PaRrk HOTEL; CURSAAL, pens. 6'/2-156 #;
BELLEVOE; HOTEL DE L’EUROPE, pens. 8-14 4; Hdr. pu Norp, pens.
9-10 #; HOT. pE LONDRES, pens. from 7 ; REICHSHOF, pens. 5-9 4. —
PENsIONS: Splendid (3-12 ), Langsdorf, Victoria, etc. — It is advisable
not to arrive late in the evening, as the hotels are often full during
the season.

Restaurants. At the hotels; Gamdrinus; Burk; Germania.

Visitors’ Tax for a stay of more than b days, 1 pers. 12 .4, 2 pers.
18 .#, each additional member of a family 3 ..

Oabs. Per drive, one-horse, 1-2 pers. 60 pf., 3-4 pers. 80 pf.; two-horse
80 pf. or 1.4, Por hour: 2.8 60, S & 40, 3 4 20 pf., or 5.

Nauheim (460 ft.), a small town of 4700 inhab., pleasantly
situated on the N.E. slope of the Taunus Mts. (p. 240), with regular
streets, shady avenues, and pleasure-grounds, is a favourite water-
ing-place, visited by 22,000 guests annually, The warm saline
springs, which are strongly impregnated with carbonic acid gas,
have been known for centuries, but did not begin to attract visitors
until about 1840. They are particularly efficacious against heart-
disease and rfieumatism. Extensive evaporating-houses and salt-
pans. The waters of the Friedrich - Wilhelms - Sprudel (95° Fahr.),
the Grosse Sprudel (90°), and the Kleine Sprudel (84°) are used
for the baths, which are admirably fitted up. The Curbrunnen,
Carlsquelle (somewhat resembling the Rakoczy of Kissingen), and
Ludwigsquelle (alkaline) are drinking-springs. Adjoining the
Trinkhalle, at the E. end of the town, are several greenhouses. At
the foot of the Johannisberg, about 1/o M. from the station, is the
handsome Ourhaus, with elegant rooms and a fine terrace over-
looking the extensive grounds.

The train skirts the Gradirhiuser (‘evaporating-houses’), crosses
a lofty viadact, and reaches —

122 M. Friedberg (Hobtel Trapp; Restaurant Felsenkeller, with
view), with 6900 inhab., once a free imperial town. The Pro-
testant Liebfrauen-Kirche is an interesting Gothic structare, built

5 -
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in 1290-1350, with towers dating from the 15th century. See
Baedeker’s Northern Germany.

125 M. Buchenbriicken ; 127 M. Nieder- Wollstadt. To the right
rise the Taunus Mts. 130 M. Gross-Karben; 132 M. Dortelweil ;
1341/ M. Vildel, near which the Nidda is crossed ; 137 M. Bonames,
station forHomburg (p. 241); 141 M. Bockenheim, with a handsome
church, large barracks, and an ancient watch-tower.

143 M.%Frankfort, see p. 221.

9. The Rhine from Cologne to Coblenz.

STEAMBOAT (80 M.) in 7-8 hrs. (down 41/3-5 hrs.) ; fares 4 4 70, 2 .4 80 pf.
Piers at Marienburg, Wesseling, Bonn, Godesb rg, Konigswinter, Rolands-
eck, Remagen, Linz, Andernach, and Neuwied; Small Boat Stations at Ober-
cassel, Unkel, Nieder-Breisig, Brohl, etc. — Cabs, etc., at Cologne, see

. 28. — RarLway (B7 M.), see R. 10.

In the following routes s. and I. indicate the position of towns, and
other objects, with regard to the traveller ascending the river. The Left
Rhenish and Right Rhenish railways, however, are named after the left
(W.) and right (E.) banks respectively with regard to the traveller de-
scending the river.

Soon after the steamer has quitted the majestic city of Cologne,
with its cathedral, numerous towers, and lofty bridge, the chiteau
of Bensberg (p. 26), on an eminence 9 M. to the N.E., comes in
sight. To the right is Marienburg-Bayenthal (pier; Hbtel-Restaurant
Marienburg, with extensive grounds), a residential suburb of Co-
logne (p. 28). Several small-boat stations now follow: L Pors;
1. Siirth; r. Wesseling, with a pier, the station for Briihl (p. 80); 1.
Liilsdorf; r. Widdig; 1. Mondorf. The express steamers pass all
these without stopping. Opposite the island of Graupenwerth, at
the mouth of the Steg, on the left, lies Grau-Rheindorf. On the
hillside, farther inland, rises the suppressed Benedictine abbey of
Siegburg (p. 65).

On the left we soon perceive the church of Schwars-Rheindorf,
a curious structure, consisting of two stories, conseerated in 1151
by Archbishop Arnold of Wied, who is buried here (d. 1156). It is
about 11/ M. to the N. of Beuel (p. 90).

The church was erected in the form of a Greek cross, with a dome
over the crossing and a semicircular E. apse, but a long nave was very
soon added on the W. Beneath the dome is an octagonal aperture between
the stories, 10 ft. in diameter, 8o that the inmates of a nunnery, with which
the church was in immediate connection, could in the upper story hear
the gervice without being visible to the congregation in the lower story.
Interesting mural paintings of the 12th cent. were discovered in the lower
chureh during a restoration (comp. p. xx1x). The exterior is also worthy
of inspection, especially the remarkably elegant miniature gallery which
runs round the upper part of the church on the E. side. Among other
peculiarities, it shows traces of Lombard influence. It has been frequently
imitated in Rhenish churches. The church is being restored.

To the right we next observe the Jesuitenhof, and then the
Wichelshof (p. 85). Before calling at Bonn, the steamboat passes
under the handsome new Rhine bridge.
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70 Route 9. ROLANDSECK. From Cologne

Boat to Nonnenwerth and back 11/3 #; Rhondorf 2, there and back
4 4; Konigswinter 2!/s & 51/ . Ferry to Honnef 5 pf.

Rolandseck (xail. stat., see p. 79), which lies at the foot of the
first considerable heights on the W. bank of the Rhine, is one of the
most beautiful and frequented spots on the river, and is surrounded
with numerous villas, chiefly belonging to wealthy merchants from
the Lower Rhine, and extending along the wooded slopes at the back
of the village. Leaving the station by the public grounds, we follow
the road along the river as far as the Hétel Roland and then as-
cend the narrow path, leaving the hotel to the left, cross the rail-
way, and, passing a shell-grotto (‘Rolandsborn’) and following
the shadeless bridle - path past a pavilion on the hill, arrive in
16-20 min. at the Rolandsbogen, or *Roland Arch (500 ft. above
the sea; rfmts.), the last relic of the Castle of Rolandseck, perched
on a basaltic rock, 344 ft. above the Rhine. The *View hence, which
is best by evening-light, is less extensive than that from the
Drachenfels, but more picturesque, as it embraces the Seven Mts.

The castle is said to have been built by the knight Roland, the paladin
of Charlemagne, who fell at the battle of Roncesvalles. The earliest histori-
cal mention of it is in a document of 1040 or 1045, where it is called
Rulcheseck; the convent on the island was named Rulcheswerth. In 1120
Archbishop Frederick partly restored the ruin for the purpose of defend-
ing his dominions against Henry IV. The fortress stood till the close of
the 15th cent., when it fell entirely to decay. The romantic legend con-
nected with the castle and convent may be thus briefly told: —

The brave knight Roland, scouring the Rhine in search of adventure,
found himself the guest of Count Heribert, lord of the S8even Mountains,
at his castle of Drachenburg. According to custom the daughter of the
host, the peerless Hildegunde, welcomed him with the offering of bread,
wine, and fish. Her beauty riveted the gaze of the young knight, and
Hildegunde and Roland were soon affianced lovers. But their happiness
was brief: Roland was summoned by Charlemagne to the crusade. Time
sped on, and anxiously did Hildegunde await his return. But sad rumours
came. The brave Roland was said to have fallen by the hands of the In-
fidels, and the inconsolable Hildegunde took refuge in the ‘Kloster' in the
adjacent island of Nonnenwerth. The rumours, however, of the death of
her betrothed were unfounded. Although desperately wounded, he recov-
ered, and hastened to the halls of Drachenburg to claim his bride; but
instead of being welcomed back by her fondly-remembered smile, he found
that she was for ever lost to him. In despair he built the castle, of which
one crumbling arch alone remains, and there lived in solitude, catching
an occasional glimpse of a fair form passing to and fro to her devotions
in the little chapel of the Kloster. At length he missed her, and soon
the tolling of the bell and a mournful procession conveyed to him the
heart-rending intelligence that his beloved Hildegunde was no more. From
that moment Roland never spoke again; for a short time he dragged on
his wretched existence, but his heart was broken, and one morning he was

ﬁ;lundlrigid and lifeless, his glassy eye still turned towards the convent
chapel.

The modern Tower on the top of the hill, 1/, M. to the W. of the
ruin, affords a wider prospect (on Sun. the custodian is generally at
the tower; 25-50 pf.). — About { min. farther on, on the summit
of the Roderberg, is the Restaurant Alter Vulcan, affording a fine
view of the Seven Mts. The Roderberg is an extinot volcano, the.
margin of which may still be descried. In the hollow, to the W. of
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to Coblens. _ REMAGEN. 9. Route. (1

the restaurant, lies the Bruchhof (hence to the Mehlem railway-
station, p. 79, 40 min.).

r. Oberwinter (Rhein-Hobtel; Post; Loosen). The retrospect
hence is one of the finest on the Rhine. Rolandseck, and the Drachen-
fels with its castle, the ¢liffs of the Wolkenburg, and the whole of
the peaks of the Seven Mts., upwards of thirty in number, form a
picture of incomparable beauty, while the lovely island of Nonnen-
werth and the grand river itself constitute the foreground. On the
right bank is the flattened summit of the Lowenburg, with its ruin.
The isolated cone to the extreme right is the Hemmerich.

1. Rheinbreitbach (*Clouth, with garden ; Rheinbreitbacher Hof
pens. 31/>-4 ), a favourite summer-resort, lies at the entrance to
a wide valley, which extends from the Rhine to the Seven Mountains
(comp. pp. 82, 83). Fine view from the (3/, M.) Heilig, a hill sur-
mounted with a cross. The ancient copper and lead mines on the
Virneberg are no longer worked. A cable line, nearly 4 M. in length,
connects the basalt quarries on the Asberg with the Rhine.

1. Unkel (*Schuls, R. 2-21/5, B. 1, D. from 11/5, pens. 31/o-5 4,
good wine, with garden and view-terrace) is a prosperous village, a
favourite resort in summer and autumn (rail. stat., see p. 83). On
the hill is a pavilion, affording a beautiful view.

Between Unkel and Remagen the Rhine describes a wide curve.
Of the numerous country-houses situated on both banks of the river,
the most conspicuous is the chateau of Marienfels, 1/o M. below the
Apollinaris-Kirche.

r. Remagen. — Hotels. °*HoreL FORSTENBERG, on the Rhine, with
gardens, first-class, closed in winter, R. 21/3-6, B, 11/s, D. 81/z, pens. 8-12 4.
— RHEEIN-HOTEL, on the Rhine, next door to the Fiirstenberg Hotel, R.
2-4, B. 1, D, 2\/a, pens. 5.8 #; ANKER, also on the Rhine, E. & B, 3/,
pens. b .44 ; HoErseN, at the upper end of the town, R. & B. bl/z-a, D. from
11/2, pens. 5-6 .4, well spoken of; HoF voN HoLLAND, also in the principal
street, R. 2-2/2, B. 8/, D. from 1}/z, pens. 41/z #; DEvTsCHER KAISER,
B. & B. 21/¢-3 4, WesTriLiscEER HOF, at the railway-station. — HOTEL
VICTORIABERG (R. & B. 2-4, pens. 4-51/3 ) and HOTEL APOLLINARISBERG
(R. & B. 2-2,, pens. 4 ), both at the lower end of the town. well spoken
of. — HOTEL WaALDBURG, on the Victoria-Berg (see p. 72), R. & B. 2-21/s,
pens. 4l/s 4.

Carriages. To the Apollinaris-Kirche, one-horse 1 4 256, two-horse
1 & 50 pf. ; to Rolandseck 4 or 6 .#, there and back 7 .4 or 10 4 50pf.; tc
Aitenahr 10 & or 13 4 50 pf.. there and back 12 or 18 .#; Laacher See
and back 14 .# 50 pf. or 18 4, vid Andernach 18 or 22 4.

Remagen (rail. stat., p. 79), a small town with 3500 inhab.,
situated 13 M. above Bonn and 24 M. below Coblenz, is an ex-
cellent starting-point for excursions. It is mentioned as Rigomagus
in the Peutinger map of Roman roads (p. xxiv). Remagen was a
place of some importance in the middle ages, but declined after the
Thirty Years’ War. It once belonged, like Sinzig, to the duchy of
Jilich ; in 1624 it came into the possession of Pfalz-Neuburg.

At the lower end of the town is the Roman Catholic Church,
with a Romanesque nave and a Gothic choir, consecrated in“1246.



72 Route 9. REMAGEN. From Cologne

In the interior are a handsome Gothic tabernacle and several sculp-
tures of the 15th century. The Romanesque Portal adjoining the
Roman Catholic parsonage, adorned with grotesque sculptures of the
12th cent., is worthy of inspection. Whether it originally belonged
to a palace or a church is unknown. — At the upper end of the town
is a new Protestant Church, in the Gothic style. — The head-office
of the Apollinaris Company Limited (p. 98) is situated on the bank
of the Rhine.

A road to the right near the Protestant church crosses the rail-
way and the highroad and ascends through a hollow bordered by
shady footpaths to the (20 min.) top of the Victoria-Berg, with
pleasant promenades, benches, and several points of view (Hotels
Restaurants Waldburg, Eremitage, Hofreiden, Ahrplatte), command-
ing a charming and varied prospect, best by evening-light. In the
foreground is the Apollinaris-Kirche, by which we may retaurn to
the town. :

Immediately below Remagen a road, diverging to the left from
the highroad, ascends the steep clay-slate hill to the elegant Gothic
four-towered *Apollinaris-Kirche, erected in 1839 by Zwirner, the
late eminent architect of Cologne Cathedral (p. 34), at the expense
of Count Fiirstenberg- Stammheim (d. 1859). This little church
occupies the site of an ancient and much-frequented pilgrimage-
shrine. In 1164 Frederick Barbarossa is said to have presented
the head of the highly-revered St. Apollinaris, Bishop of Ravenna,
to Archbishop Reinald von Dassel of Cologne, who was in the act
of conveying it to Cologne, together with the relics of the Magi
(p- 37), when by some miraculous agency the vessel stopped in the
middle of the river here, and refused to proceed until the head of
the holy man had been safely deposited in a chapel on the Apolli-
narisberg.

The church is open daily from 7 a.m. to 8 p.m., on Sun. and holidays
after 10 a.m. (admission, 30 pf.). The interior was adorned in 1843-61 by
the Diisseldorf artists Ernst Deger (d. 1886), Karl Miller (4. 1896), Andreas
Miller (d. 1890), and Fr. Iitenbach (d. 1819) with ten large *Frescoes of
scenes from the lives of the Saviour, the Virgin, and 8t. Apollinaris
(transept). — The CrYpT contains the holy head, in a sarcophagus of the
14th cent. ; the recumbent figure of the saint is modern. In the adjoining
chapel is a painted crucifix carved in the 16th cent. (expression of face
differs with the position of the spectator).

Above the church is a Statue of St. Francis, erected by the Fran-
ciscans residing near the church (wide view). — Just before turning
to the right to reach the church we pass a finger-post indicating the
way to the top of the Victoria-Berg (see above ; after O min, ascend
to the right), which is reached hence in 20-25 minutes. [From the
Victoria-Berg we may go on by the Landskron (p. 97) to Neuenahr
(p- 98), a walk of 21/, hrs.]

Raslway from Remagen to Adenau, see p. 97.

Opposite Remagen, near Erpel (rail. stat.; Weinberg, with ve-
randa, R. & B. 2, D. 11/,-11/, 4), rises the Erpeler Lei (666 ft.
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above the sea, 502 ft. above the Rhine), a basaltio cliff, the columns
of which are thicker than those of the Minderberg and Dattenberg
see below); fine view from the top (ascent from the W. side, in
5 min.). Above Erpel are (1) Kasbach, at the mouth of the brook
of that name, and Linshausen (Hotel Weinstock), the latter com-
manded by the ivy-clad ruins of Ockenfels.

1. Lins (rail. stat.; ®Weinstock, R. & B. from 21/5, D. 2, pens.
from 41/, #; *Europdischer Hof, similar charges, these two with’
gardens on the Rhine; Nassauer Hof, R. 11/5-2 4, D. 1 4 70 pf.;
Deutscher Kaiser; Goldene Traube Restaurant), an ancient town with
3500 inhab. , is still partly surrounded by walls and towers. The
Romanesque Church of St. Martin, dating from the early part of the
13th cent., with a Gothic spire and other Gothic additions of the
16th cent., contains a little fine stained glass and a winged picture
of the old Cologne school (1463). This picture and the old frescoes
were restored in 1850. The exterior has been disfigured by a coating
of red. — Fine view from the Donatusberg, or Kaiserberg, which is
crowned with a chapel and Stations of the Cross. The environs of
Linz yield good red wine.

The extensive Basalt Quarries of Daitenberg and the Minderberg near
Linz deserve inspection, especially the latter. The road to the MINDER-
BERG (about 11/3hr.) ascends the valley to the E., i)ut the Sternerhiltte,
then to the left, where the quarry soon comes into view. It is a spacious
hall of beautiful black prismatic columns of basalt, square or hexagonal
in form, some of them upright, others heaped together in confused masses,
each 8-10 in. in diameter, and sometimes 20 ft. in length. When struck
they produce a clear metallic ring. The *View from the height above
this quarry (1420 ft. above the sea, 1258 ft. above the Rhine) is very fine.
The traveller should return vid Ohlenderg and Kasbach to Erpel (11/4-11/z hr.);
at the mouth of the Kasbach valley there is a tramway ?())r the transport
of the stone from the hill down to the Rhine.

The columns in the quarry of DATTENBERG, situated in a side-valley
about 1)/ M. above Linz, are as high as those of the Minderberg, but
much thicker. These basalts are chiefly exported to the Lower Rhine
and Holland, where they are used in the construction of dykes.

r. Kripp, 8 small village on the Rhine, connected with Linz by
a floating bridge.

Between Remagen and Nieder- Breisig the Rhine describes a
curve which the railway and road cut off. The beautiful church of
(r.) Sinsig (p. 79, on the railway, 11/, M. from the river) is visible
from the steamboat. Behind rises the Landskron gap .

‘We now pass (r.) the mouth of the Ahr (p. 97). The church
tower of Dattenberg (see above) is next seen peeping from a ravine
on the left. On the same bank lie Leubsdorf with the Saalhof,
a small building with four turrets, anciently a royal chiteau, and
Ariendorf.

On the left we next observe the chiteau of Arenfels, erected by
Henry of Isenburg, and named by him after his wife, a Countess
of Are. It is now the property of Count Westerholt, by whom it was
handsomely restored under the directions of Zwirner((p. 723 copen
to visitors on Wed.). — The Malbergskopf (1290 ft.; 11/ hr. from
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Honningen) is crowned with a oross commemorating the war of
1870-71, and commands an extensive prospect.

1. Honningen (rail. stat.; H6t. Schloss Arenfels, R. 2, pens. 4 4),
at the foot of the Arenfels, a village with 2800 inhabitants. In the
vieinity a strong mineral spring (the St. Hubertus-Sprudel) was
tapped in 1894.

r. Nieder-Breisig (Bender ; Weisses Ross), with 1900 inhab. and
many pleasant villas. Near the S. end of the village stands part of
the Tempelhof, an old Templars’ Lodge. About 13/¢ M. higher up,
a path ascends the wooded hill to the —

r. ChAteau of Rheineck, erected in 1832 by Herr von Beth-
mann-Hollweg (d. 4877) from the plans of Lasaulx and decorated
with works of art (frescoes by Steinle, etc.). The square tower,
65 ft. in height, on the S. side, is the only relic of the old castle,
erected in the 12th cent., which was destroyed by the French in
1689, and by the troops of the Electorate of Cologne in 1692, and
finally burned in 1785. The knights of the castle became extinoct
in 1548. Fine view from the garden.

The Vinztbach, at the foot of the hill, was the ancient Abrinca and
formed the boundary between the provinces of Upper and Lower Germania,
as it still does between the Middle and Lower Rhenish dialects. On its
8. bank lies the hamlet of Thai-Rheineck.

The hills on the left bank recede from the river. In the fertile
plain at their foot lies Rheinbrohl (rail. stat.), a village with 1900 in-
hab. and two modern churches. — About 1 M. to the N.E. is Arien-
heller (Curhaus Jigerhaus, R. & B. 21/, pens. from D ), with a
mineral spring discovered in 1897.

On the right, the Brohlbach falls into the Rhine at Brohl (Mittler,
R. 11/4,-13/4, B. 8/, D. 11/5, pens. 41/, 4 ; also railway-station), a
village with a new Gothic church, which lies on the hill-slope and
in the valley, and is the chief depdt for the tuffstone quarried in the
Brohlthal. — Excursion through the Brohlthal to Laach, see p. 103.

1. Nieder-Hammerstein (Zwick, well spoken of), yielding good
wine ; then Ober-Hammerstein, above which rises a massive rock of
grauwacke, crowned with the ruin of Hammerstein. Emp. Henry IV.
resided in this castle for some time in 1405 when persecuted by his
son Henry V., and here he kept the imperial insignia till their re-
moval by his usurping successor. During the Thirty Years' War the
castle was successively occupied by Swedes, Spaniards, troops of
Cologne, and soldiers of Lorraine, and it was at length destroyed in
1660 on the instigation of the Archbishop of Cologne.

On the heights, 4 M. to the E. of the Rhine, the course of the Pfahl-
graben, a Roman intrenchment constructed as a protection against the
attacks of the @Germanic tribes, is distinctly traceable, and may be followed
from Monrepos (p. 77) as far as the Seven Mts. (comp. p. 244).

Above (r.) Fornich rises the Fornicher Kopf (1040 ft.), an extinct
volcano commanding a wide prospect (ascent from Brohl in 4 hr.).

r. Namedy, at some distance from the river, possesses a small
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Gothic abbey-church of the 14th cent., bisected by a row of slender
columns, and an old mansion of the knights of Namedy, now trans-
formed into a chiteau. On the left lies the large village (4500 in-
hab.) of Leutésdorf (Liwenburg, R. 2-3, pens. from 5 4, very fair;
also rail. stat.), behind which are vineyards planted among the rocks,
Below is an old Gothic church,

On the right rises the wooded Krahnenberg (p. 76), beyond
which the mountains confining the river recede. )

r. Andernach. — Hotels. HAcCKENBRUCH, on the Rhine, with view,
R. 1/>-2/2, B. 1, D. 8, pens. 5-6 #; *REziviscuEr Hor, R.221/;, B.3/,,
D. 1V/s, pens. b JM&; *S8cEAFER, on the Schinzchen, near the Rhine, at
the lower end of the town, R. 2-2!/s, B. 3/4, D. 221/, pens. 5-6 .#; "AnNger,
opposite the Bier, R. 2-21/3, B. 3y, D. 1}/2-2 .M. — HOTEL DABNEN, GLOCKE,
R. 1122 4, B. 80 pf., D. 11/;, pens. from 41/ &, both in the Markt. —
Thelen’s Beer House, in the Markt. — Omnidus from the steamer to the
Krahnenberg railway 10 pf.

Andernach, a small and ancient town with 7900 inhab., with
narrow streets, and still to a great extent surrounded by its old walls,
extends picturesquely along the bank of the river, above which rise
conspicuously the old bastion, the Rheinthor, and the lofty tower
at the lower end of the village, while the handsome parish-church
with its four towers is visible in the background. Andernach was
the Roman Ant: , Or Ant ), one of the fifty forts of Dru-
sus. Subsequently to the 6th cent. it is frequently mentioned as a
royal Frankish residence. In the middle ages it was an Imperial
town, but was taken by the Electorate of Cologne in 1496; in 1688
it was burned by the French.

At the upper end of the town, near the Coblenzer Thor, from a
deep fosse, rise the ruins of the once fortified Castle of the Electors
of Cologne, with its massive towers, erected in the 15th cent., and
destroyed by the French in 1688. — The Rathhaus, a late-Gothic
building of 1564, contains a few Roman and Frankish antiquities,
including the so-called ‘Jews’ Bath’, a cistern 42 ft. deep, 16 ft.
long, and 13 ft. broad.

The lofty round Watch Tower on the Rhine, with an octagonal
story above, adorned with a frieze of pointed arches, was erected in
1451-68 and restored in 1880. The wide breach on the W. side was
made by the Fiench cannonade in 1688. A little farther on is the
spot where the lava millstones, tufa, trass, and other volcanic pro-
ducts of the neighbourhood are shipped.

The Parish Church, dedicated to St. Genovefa, with its four
towers and richly-decorated portals, is a fine late-Romanesque edifice
(1206), without a transept. The still earlier choir, around which
runs a gallery of small columns, dates from 1120.

Over the aisles are galleries, reached by steps cut in the thickness
of the wall, with elegant arcades in front. On the vaulting of the nave
are the imperial arms, with those of the town and of Hermann IV., Arch-

bishop of Cologne (d. {NB). Choir decorated in 1856.0 Carved wooden pulpit
brought in 1807 from the Abbey of Laach (p. 103). Late-Romanesque font.
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The foot of the Krahnenberg may be reached in about 10 min.
either from the station (turn to the left after passing under the
railway, then to the left again), or from the Rhine (vid the Kirch-
Strasse at the lower end of the town and past the choir of the
parish church). The ascent (1/4 hr.) is somewhat steep (cable rail-
way, return-fare 50 pf.). At the top are the restaurants Krahnen-
burg and Kaiserburg, which command beautiful views (best in the
afternoon).

Railway from Andernach to Niedermendig and Mayen, see p. 102.

Near the village of Irlich, on the E. bank, the Wiedbach falls
into the Rhine. The hill rising on the W. bank, a little inland, is
the Plaidter Hummerich (695 ft.).

1. Neuwied (rail. stat.). — Hotels. *WiLbEr Manx, R. 2, B. 1, D, 2V/s,
S. 11/2 #; ANEER, both on the Rhine; *Moravias HoreL, frequented by
English travellers, with restaurant, R. 13/4-2!/; 4, B. 80 pf., D. 2l/s, pens.
41/2-bY/z M ; BTELTING, these two in the town; BAENHOFS-HOTEL, very fair;
MADER, at the station of the right bank, R. & B. 2-21/; .&.

Byidge (3 pf.) and a Steam Ferry (b pf.) maintain communi-
cation between the two banks.

Neuwied, a pleasant and thriving town, with broad, well-built
streets, was founded in 1653, on the site of the village of Langen-
dorf, which had been destroyed in the Thirty Years’ War, by Count
Frederick of Wied, who invited numerous settlers, without distine-
tion of religion or payment of money. Under his auspices the town
rapidly increased. The population (11,000) consists of Protestants,
Roman Catholics (3800), Moravian Brothers, Baptists, and Jews,
who have lived together here in great harmony since that period.
Starch, chicory, tobacco, and cigars are the principal products. The
schools of Neuwied enjoy a high reputation, and are attended by
pupils from England as well as from all parts of Germany.

At the lower end of the town rises the spacious Palace of the
Prince of Wied, with its fine Park. A building near the palace
gate, adjoining the street, contains a small Collection of Roman
Antiquities, from Niederbiber (see below).

The Moravian Brothers, also called Herrnhuter from Herrnhut in
Saxony, where they had established themselves after their expulsion
from Moravia during the Thirty Years’ War, occupy a separate part of
the town. They were originally followers of John Huss, and their number
increased enormously after his death. They now form a kind of religious
republic, having their own laws both for public and private life, which
are administered by their elders. The gravity and austerity of their manners
and habits has gained for them the appellation of the Quakers of Germany.
The unmarried brethren live in a separate building, and car? on different
trades, the profits of which are devoted to the community. Fayence stoves
and deerskin gloves are their best manufactures. At stated seasons ‘love
feasts’ are celebrated in the church, panied by singing, prayers, a
sermon, and tea-drinking. Their schools are well attended and in high
repute (visitors admitted).

From Neuwied a Steam TRAMWAY ascends the valley of the Wied, vid
Heddersdorf and the Rasselstein Foundry, to (21/z M.) Niederbiber, the church
of which contains the tomb of Archbishop Count Hermann yvon Wied
(p. 80). Near Niederbiber were found extensive remains of a)Roman castle,
‘ne of the largest on the Rhine, which, however, is not méntioned by
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any Roman author; the excavations have again been covered in (comp.
p. 16). Thence the tramway ascends the valle{ of the Aubach to (412 M.)
Oberbdiver (Wiedischer Hot), at the mouth of the Wellbach. In the valley
of the Aubach, 2/ M. from Oberhjber, is the Braunsberger Hof, with a
frequented garden-restaurant and a picturesque ruined castle. — From
Oberbiber the road groceeda to (21/2 M.) the high-lying village of RengsdorS
(980 ft.; Anhiiuser; Post), visited as a summer-resort.

EXCURSION FROM NEUWIED To MONREPOS AND ALTWIED. At the Rassel-
stein Foundry (p. 76) walkers cross the stream, beyond which they
traverse the pleasant park of Nothhausen (restaurant) to (2 M.) SegendorS
(Wolff). From Begendorf a road ascends in windings; but these the
gedeotrlan may avoid by taking the footpath to the left above Segendorf,

y which Monrepos is reached in 3/, hr. — Monrepos (1045 ft. ; 870 ft. above
the Rhine), a chiteau of the Prince of Wied, stands in a beautiful park
and commands an extensive prospect (refreshments at the Hahnhof, to the
W. of the chiteau). Good points of view in the vicinity are the (10 min.)
Holsstoss and the *Altwieder Aussicht. Footpaths d d from the latter
in 20 min. to Altwied (Herdst's Inn, where the key of the castle is kept),
commanded by the extensive ivy-clad ruins of the ancestral castle of the
ancient Counts of Wied.

Immediately above Neuwied, on the left, are the Hermanns-
hiitte, the property of the Krupp Co. of Essen (p. 62), and the
Germania foundry. On the opposite bank are the railway-station of
Neuwied- Weissenthurm (p. 78) and the village of —

r. Weissenthurm, at the N. end of which rises a lofty square
watch-tower (4370), the extreme point of the dominions of the
Electors of Trdves, which here adjoined those of Cologne. Above
the village stands an obelisk erected by the ‘Sambre and Meuse
army’ to the French general Hoche, who died at Wetzlar in 1797.

1. Urmits, 3/4 M. from the railway-station of that name.

On both banks of the river here is dug up a peculiar kind of pumice
stone conglomerate (p. 108). It is cut into squares, mixed with mortar,
and dried, and is much valued as a building material for inside walls, —
The quarrying operations led in 1898 to the discovery of two Roman camps
on the left bank of the Rhine, between Weissenthurm and Urmitz. The
one nearer the river, upwards of 400 yds. in circumference, was probably
designed to protect the bridge constructed here by Julius Cmsar. Bridge-
piles were also found in dredging the river.

1. Engers (Zur Riomerbriicke; Restaurant Schunkert, on the
Rhine; Hotel-Restaurant Fiegel, at the railway-station), formerly
Kunostein-Engers, the ancient capital of the Engersgau. The chateau,
now a military school, was erected in 1758 by Elector Johann
Philipp von Walderdorf. — Then, on the opposite bank, Kalten-
Engers and 8t. Sebastian Engers.

Near (1.) Miihlhofen, where the Saynbach falls into the Rhine,
are several foundries. On the river is the hydropathic of Rheinau
(R. from 2, pens. b .#). On a bill in the background of the valley
rises the ruined castle of Sayn (p. 83).

1. Bendorf (rail, stat., p. 84), at some distance from the river;
farther up (r.), the village of Kesselheim, opposite the Niederwerth,
which conceals the town of (1.) Vallendar (p. 84) and the village of
Mallendar with the chiteau of Besselich (formerly belonging to the
Knights Templar, now private property).
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On the long island of (1.) Niederwerth is a village,' with a convent
church built in 1500, containing a carved altar and fragments of
good stained glass. Edward III. of England resided here for a short
time in 1337, and had several interviews with the Emp. Lewis and
other princes.

1. Orbar (p. 112), high up on the hillside, surrounded with
fruit-trees.

r. Wallersheim, above it Neuendorf, chiefly inhabited by raftsmen.

The steamboat now passes the base of Ehrenbreitstein, opposite
the influx of the Moselle, commanding an excellent view of the
imposing Emp. William Monument, and stops at Coblens (p. 105).

10. From Coblenz to Cologne.
Railway on the Left Bank.
Comp. Maps, pp. 70, 68.

57 M. RAILWAY in 11/28 hrs. (fares 8 .20, 6 .4 10, 4 .4 80, or 7 & 30,
5.4 50, 3 4 70 pf.). View of the Rhine on the right. — Railway on the
Right Bank, see R. 11. — 8teamboat, see R. 9.

Travellers, whether holding single or return-tickets, are entitled to
break their journey once, and may afterwards proceed by the railway on
either bank at their choice. Coblens and Ehrenbreitstein (crossing the railway-
bridge 50, 30, 20 pf. additional), Neuwied on the le¢ft (Weissenthurm) and
Neuwied on the right bank, Andernach and Leutesdorf, Brohl and Rhein-
brohl, Nieder-Breisig and H’&m&inym, Singig and Line, Remagen and Erpel,
Rolandseck and Honnef, Mehlem and Konigswinier, Godesberg and Ober-
cassel, Bonn and Beuel, Cologne and Deuts.

Coblenz, see p. 105. As the train crosses the Moselle a view of
the old Moselle Bridge, with the Emp. William Monument and the
fortress of Ehrenbreitstein beyond it, is obtained to the right. At
the foot of the fortified Petersberg (1) is a pyramidal monument in
honour of the French general Marceau (d. 1796; comp. p. 108).
The train now traverses an extensive and fertile plain. At (5;/2 M)
Urmits are large stores of the Engers stone mentioned at p. 77.

8 M. Weissenthurm-Neuwied (steamb. stat., see p. 77). The
station is 1/3 M. from the Rhine, across which communication is
maintained by a steamer and a flying bridge with the town on the
opposite bank (p. 76). The train crosses the Nette, passes the lunatic
asylum of 8t. Thomas (1), a modern Gothic building with a Ro-
manesque chapel (12th cent.), and reaches —

10!/ M. Andernach (steamb. stat.), see p. 76. The station is
1/¢M. to the S.E. of the town. (Branch-line to Mayen, see p. 102.)
Beyond Andernach the train skirts the Rhine and commands a fine
view in both directions (comp. p. 70).

Opposite (15 M.) Brohl (Brohlthal, ete., see R. 15) is the church
of Rheinbrohl. The train passes the foot of Schloss Rheineck and
(15%/3 M.) Nieder-Breisig (p. T4), opposite (r.) the chiteaun of Aren-
fels, and then cuts off the wide curve which the Rhine describes
between Nieder-Breisig and Remagen.
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201/2 M. 8inxig (Deutsches Haus; Rheinischer Hof), probably the
Roman Sentiacum, a very ancient town with 3000 inhab., still partly
surrounded by walls, lies at the entrance to the Ahr Valley (R. 14),
11/; M. from the Rhine. It was once the site of a Frankish palace,
afterwards an imperial residence, which latterly belonged to the
Dukes of Jiilich. Picturesquely situated on a slight eminence rises
the handsome Parish Church, which was consecrated in 1220, a fine
example of the late-Romanesque style, the round arch predominat-
ing, with very slightly projecting transepts, square turrets at the
sides of the choir, three apses, and an octagonal tower rising over
the centre. The interior has recently been restored and decorated.
The details of the capitals and string-courses repay examination.
The N. transept contains a good winged picture on a gold ground,
representing the Crucifixion and Ascension, and the Death of Mary,
by an early Cologne master, restored in 1855. At the foot of this
eminence is a tasteful little Gothic Chdteau, built in 1858 by
Statz of Cologne, the property of Mr. Bunge of Antwerp. On the
Helenenberg, to the S. of the town, rises another pleasant country-
house.

The train now crosses the insignificant Ahr, from the valley af
which rises the blunted cone of the Landskron (p. 97). This
district is extremely fertile, and is called the ‘Goldene Meil'.

23 M. Remagen (steamb. stat.) and the Apollinaris-Kirche, see
pp. 74, 72. This is the station for the Ahr Valiley railway (R. 14).
The train returns to the river here; fine retrospect, and farther on
beautiful view of the opposite bank and the Seven Mountains
(comp. p. 70). — 261/y M. Oberwinter (p. 71).

27t/3 M. Relandseck (steamb. stat.; Rail. Restaurant, with
verandah and magnificent *View, see p. 70). In the river lies the
island of Nonnenwerth, a little below which rise the picturesque
Drachenfels and the Seven Mts., on the opposite bank.

The train now quits the river. 30t/; M. Mehlem, the station
for Kinigswinter on the right bank (p. 91). — On the Draischberg,
to the left, is the new Chdteau von der Heydt. Beyond it is the
park of Elisenruhe.

32 M. Godesberg. — Hotels. *BLinzLik, Kurfursten-Str., a large
establishment, with garden, R. from 3, B. 1, D. 8, pens. 9-12 .#; ADLER,
Haupt-8tr., B. 8-6, B. 1, D. from 2, pens. from 6 #; HOTTENRAUCH, at the
railway-station, well spoken of, R. {1/z-5, B. 1, D. 2, pens. 6 .#. — Pensions.
Rosenburg (from 6 .4 per day), Wilheima (6-9 M), Ginther (5-8 4), Haus
Lichienstein (3'41-6 M), Familien-Heim, in the Rhein-Allée. — Hotels at
(‘2 M.) Riingsdorf and at Plittersdorf, see p. 69.

Tramway to Bonn and to Mehlem, see p. 86. — Steamboat Btation
@/s M. to the E.), see p. 69.
® eg;lglllh Ohurch Bervice in the English Chapel in the Rhein-Allée
Godesberg, a town with 8900 inhab., situated at the point where
the valley of the Rhine begins to expand, is a favourite summer-
resort, where wealthy merchants of Cologne, Elberfeld, and Cre-
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feld have erected a number of handsome villas, surrounded by
pleasant gardens. The Hydropathic Establishment, adjoining Blinzler's
Hotel, is much frequented (8-14 .4 per day). The Draisch or Draitsch,
an alkaline chalybeate spring, sunk afresh in 1864, at the entrance
to the small Gudenauer-Thal, at the foot of the Draischberg (p. 79),
was known to the Romans. A well-appointed mineral water bath
was opened in 1902. — A pleasant walk nds the Gudenau
valley to the farm of Marienforst, whence paths traverse the woods
to Kottenforst. To the N. of the mineral spring is a hill with a large
Protestant Orphanage. Adjacent is the * Wendelstadt- Hohe, an ad-
mirable point of view. — The favourite promenade is the Rhein-
Allée, near the station, with the English Chapel.

On a basaltic eminence (245 ft.; 400 ft. above the sea), /o M.
to the N. of the station, stands the ruined Castle of Godesberg,
which was built by the Archbishops of Cologne in the 13-14th cent.
and is said to occupy the site of a Roman fort. It was destroyed by
the Bavarians in 1583. The partly restored ‘palas’ contains a good
restaurant. Fine view from the platform of the tower (98 ft. high).
The Cemetery of the village lies within the precincts of the castle.

* On the right, as Bonn is approached, immediately after the
train has crossed the Bonn and Coblenz road, is seen the Hoch-
kreus, a Gothic column 30 ft. high, erected in1332-49 to a knight,
who is said to have fallen in a duel at this spot, and restored in
1854. On the hill to the left is the Rosenburg (p. 90), and farther
off the Kreuzberg (p. 89). To the right appears Bonn with its con-
spicuous new Protestant church and its lofty minster-tower.

36 M. Bonn (steamb. stat.), see p. 84; steam-ferry to Ober-
cassel, see p. 81; railway to Euskirchen, see p. 202.

To the W., at a little distance from the line, is a chain of low
and partly-wooded hills called the Vorgebirge or Ville, on which
numerous villages with orchards and country-houses are situated.
The last vineyards in the land of the grape are now passed. Near
(40 M.) Roisdorf rises a mineral spring resembling that of Selters.
— 44 M. Sechtem. Before reaching —

471/, M. Brithl (Pavillon ; Belvedere; Deutscher Kaiser, opposite
the park-gates), a town with 6400 inhab., the train intersects the
park of Briih], passing the chiteau of Falkenlust on the right, which
was once a hunting-lodge of the electors, butis now private property,
and stops opposite the royal *Schloss Brithl. This handsome build-
ing, erected by Elector Clement Augustus in 1725-28 from the plans
of J. C. Schlaun, and altered and elaborated in subsequent decades,
was restored in 1842 and 1876-77. It offers classical examples of
the French and German rococo style in all stages of its development.
Admission from 10 (Sun. 11) to 6 (in winter 4), 25 pf. The garden

and park are always open to the public.
The Staircase, the handsomest 18th cent. structure of the kind in
W. Germany, with stucco sculptures and paintings by Stiber, was com-
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pleted in 1748. The SaLLE DEs GarDEs and the DiNiNe HarL are adorned
in the late-rococo style by Roth. The N. Wina exhibits the elegant taste
of the early French rococo period, as interpreted gg Leveiller (1728-32).
The GaArRDEN WING illustrates German rococo (ca. 1750). The palace con-
tains a rich collection of portraits, carved furniture, and fine porcelain stoves.

501/o M. Kalscheuren, junction for the Eifel Railway (p. 202). The
crowded houses of Cologne soon come in sight. The train describes a
curve round part of the town, above whose ramparts tower theimpos-
ing cathedral and other churches, passes the Cologne South Station
and West Station (p. 26), and enters the central station at —

57 M. Cologne, see R. 3.

11, From Cologne (Deutz) to Ehrenbreitstein (Coblenz).
Railway on the Right Bank.
Comp. Maps, pp. 68, 70.

56 M. RarLway in 13/4-3 hrs. (fares 7 .4 30, 5 .4 50, 3 .4 70 pf., express
8 .4 20, 6 .4 10, 4 .4 30 pf.). — Views to the right. — For return-tickets
and break of journey, comp. p. 8.

From Cologne to (13 M.) Troisdorf, see p. 65. — 14 M.
Friedrich- Wilhelms-Hiitte, an extensive foundry. The train crosses
the Sieg, and returns to the Rhine at 518 M.) Beuel, connected
with Bonn by the new Rhine bridge (p. 90).

201/; M. Obercassel ( Wolfsburg, with veranda and garden, very
fair), a thriving little town with an old church-tower and a large
cement-factory, lies on the Rhine amidst fruit-trees, and affords
pleasant summer-quarters. Well-constructed walks lead to the
Steinerne Hiuschen (3/4 M. from the station ; fine view), the quarries
of the Rabenlei, Heisterbach (p. 95; 2 M.), and other picturesque
points in the neighbourhood. Near the village of Kitdinghofen, 2 M.
from the station, rises the Ennert (518 ft.). Adjacent are extensive
basalt quarries. — Obercassel is connected with the Left Rhenish
Railway at Bonn by a steam-ferry (p. 84).

221/ M. Dollendorf is a good starting-point for excursions among
the Seven Mts. The station (Restaurant zur Weintraube) is at Nieder-
Dollendorf (Krone, pens. 4 .4), on the Rhine, at the mouth of the
Heisterbach Valley, which is ascended by a steam-tramway, passing
(11/4M.) Ober-Dollendorf (Frembgen’s Restaurant); 21/, M. Heister-
bach (p. 95); Waldstation, at the divergence of the route to the
Margarethenhof (Oelberg, Liwenburg; comp. p. 94); 31/, M. Heister-
bacherrott; and (4 M.) Grengelsbitze.

231/, M. Kénigswinter (steamb. stat.; p. 91) is the favourite
starting-point for exploring the Seven Mts. (R. 13). The station
lies at the lower end of the town.

The valley of the Rhine now contracts. The train skirts the base
of the Drachenfels and runs close to the river.

Bakpeksr’s Rhine, 1bth Edit. 6-
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26 M. Rhondorf. — Hotels. DracHENFELS, BELLEVUE, both on the
Rhine ; WOLKENBURG, R. 11/2 4, B. 60 pf., D. 11/2, pens. 4 .#. — PENsION
KcEIN, R. 21/2-3, D. b-ﬂ‘/z, pens. 41/2-5 4. — MARIENBAD HYDROPATHIC, On
the Kneipp system. — OmNiBUs to Konigswinter and Honnef, see below.

Rhondorf is a pleasant summer-resort. In the little church is a
well-preserved tombstone, in trachyte from the Drachenfels, of the
last knight of Drachenfels, with armorial bearings and date 1530,
brought here from the abbey of Heisterbach. — From Rhondorf to
the Lowenburg, 41/4 hr., see p. 96; to the Drachenfels 40 min.,
by a bridle-path vié the Kanszel and the Siegfriedsklippen, indicated
by a finger-post on the Lowenburg road, mentioned at p. 96; to
Konigswinter 11/, M.

27 M. Honnef. — Hotels. *Horer KLeiN, with garden and view,
RB. 21-3, B. 1, D. 2!/, pens. 5-8 .#; WEINSTOOK; ZUM SIEBENGEBIRGE,
unpretending, with restaurant, R. 11/2-2, B. 8/s, D. from wz, pens. from
4/; M; WeseL, R. from 3, B. 1, D. 2/, pens. from 6 ., well spoken
of: RODEsHEIM, R. 11/2-2, B. 1, D. 11/2, pens. 4 #. — Pensions (all good):
Schotten (5-6 M per day), Kercher (from b ), Bischofshof (5-6 M), Erholung
(Krdmer; 5-6 #), all these with large gardens; @. Stang (4'/2-6 ). — The
Hohen-Hongef Sanatorium (115 ft.), well situated on the Fuchshardt (carr.
from the station in 26 min., 4-6 .#), is an admirably equipped establish-
ment for sufferers from weak lungs (R. from 2, board 7-8 ). — Rhein-
gold Restaurant, on the slope of the Reichenberg, with view; Dahihausen,
café and confectioner, Haupt-Str. 68.

Omnibus to Rhindors (see above; 20 pf.) and to Konigswinter (p. 91,
80 pf.), 15-18 times daily.

Carriages. From the station to Honnef, for 1-4 pers., one-horse 80 pf.,
two-horse 1 M ; to Rhonsdors or Rolandseck Ferry, one-horse 1, two-horse
11/2 M; to Konigswinter 2 or 21/z M, there and back 23/, or 3z M#; to
the Masrgarethenhof or the Loéwenburger Hof T or 9 M4, there and back
9 or 12 #; for half-a-day 9 or 12, whole day 15 or 20 4.

Boat to Rolandseck or to Konigswinter 2 .

River Baths near the railway-station.

Honnef, a scattered village with 5500 inhab., lies 3/; M. to the
left of the railway, and comprizes a number of pleasant villas, some
of which are let to visitors. The church is handsome. Honnef is
one of the pleasantest and sunniest spots on the Rhine, being
sheltered from the N. and E. winds by the Seven Mts., and sur-
rounded by vineyards and orchards. Qwing to its genial climate and
pretty scenery it has become a favourite resort from early spring to
late autumn. The Drachenquelle, a mineral spring, is used for
drinking and bathing.

ENvViRONS. Beautiful walks, furnished with guide-posts, lead vid Bon-
dorf, passing the Heckenfels on the left, to the Annathal; along the Rhine to
Konigswinter and the island of Grafenwerth; to Hohen-Honnef (see above) and
then by a path diverging from the road to the left to the Rkeingold (see above),
Mooshiitte, Augusthihe, Capelle, and the Lowenburg (p. 96; in all 11/ hr.);
to the poplars above Rommersdorf (p. 97); vid Sellhof to Menzenberg (restau-
rant; on the slope of the hill is grown the best red wine of the district),
past the large Hager-Hof, by a footpath to Rheinbreitbach (p. 71), and
back by the road to Honnef (comp. the Map, p. 92); by Menzenberg to
the Hager Kdppelchen (}/2 hr.; fine view); over the Heidenkamm to the Haa-
nenburg (34 hr.); vid Sellhof to the (1 hr.) Lesberg (1140 ft.), a basaltic hill
commanding a beautiful view.
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In the Rhine, to the right, lie the islands of Nonnenwerth and
Grafenwerth; on the opposite bank are the picturesque arched ruin
of Rolandseck and the village of that name. The village of Rhein-
breitbach (p. 71) is next passed, opposite which is Oberwinter. At
(24 M.) Unkel (p. 71) the train quits the fertile plain which lies at
the foot of the Seven Mts., and passes Erpel, opposite to which lies
Remagen with the elegant Apollinaris-Kirche (pp. 71, 72).

34 M. Lins (steamb. stat.; p. 73) lies opposite the mouth of the
Ahr, above which, alittleinland, rises the handsome church of Sinsig.
The train next passes Leubsdorf, Schloss Arenfels, and Ariendorf.
Opposite (38 M.) Honningen (p. 74) is Nieder-Breisig, a little above
which rises Schloss Rheineck. The train passes (40 M.) Rheinbrohl, with
its Gothic church (opposite the Brohl Valley, p. 103), and Nieder- and
Ober-Hammerstein, at the base of the Hammerstein. On the opposite
bank, a little above (431/3 M.) Leutesdorf (p. 76), the picturesque
and ancient town of Andernach (p. 75), with its round tower and
handsome church in the background, comes into sight. The valley
of the Rhine expands; the train crosses the Wied, skirts the park
of the Prince of Wied, and stops at —

47 M. Neuwied (steamb. stat.; p. 76). The station is 1/5 M. to
the E. of the town. The train now runs inland and traverses an
extensive plain, but returns to the river at the next station.

491/; M. Engers (p. 77), the junction for the line to Alten-
kirchen and Limburg.

FroM ENGERS TO SIERSHAEN, 13 M., railway in 3/4 hr. (1 .4 80, 90,
45 pf.). — The line crosses the ’Snynbtch, and ascends the left bank of
the stream.

13/4 M. S8ayn (Hotel Friedrichsderg, R.11/>-2 M, very fair; Krupp, pens.
from 4 #; Hotsl Holler), with extensive iron-works belonging to the
Krupp Co. of Essen, and a chdteau and park of Prince Sayn-Wittgenstein-
8ayn. commanded by the ruined castle of Sayn, has a population of 1500.
— Bchloss Bayn gulm. 50 pf.) is handsomely fitted up and contains a good
collection of modern pictures and sculptures, and a colossal wooden figure
of Henry IIL. of Sayn (d. 1246), originally belonging to his sarcophagus in
the abbey of 8ayn, of which he was the founder. The pretty Park lies
on the slope of the hill, on which are situated the extensive ruins of
the old Castle erected in the 10th cent. and destroyed by the French in the
Thirty Years’ War, the ancestral seat of the once powerful Counts of Sayn.
On the slope of the hill are the ruined castles of Stein and Reifendberg. —
About 2 M. to the N.W. of Sayn, beyond the united villages of Heimbach and
Weiss, are the ruins of the ancient abbey of Rommersdor/, with fine cloisters
and chapter-house, erected about 1200, now the property of the Duke of
Aremberg, and used as farm-buildings.

Beyond a tunnel we have a fine view of Sayn, with its chiateau and
ruined castle to the left. The train now ascends the picturesque Brez-
bach-Thal, over numerous viaducts and through several tunnels. On a hill
to the left, 11/ hr. from S8ayn, is the ruined castle of Isenburg, the ancient
seat of a still existing fumily. A little higher up is a res'aurant (view).

From (T1!/2 M.) Grenzau a branch-line runs in 40 min. to (13/4 M.) Hbhr-
Grenzhausen. The station lies on the boundary between the two villages,
in which earthenware, both useful and ornamental, has been manufactured
for centuries. The Vienna Exhibition of 1873 brought the ware of this
district into modern notice. There are several large factories near the
station. The Ceramic School, with an interesting exhibition; ‘and *Mallen-

6‘
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back’s Inn are both in Hohr. — We may return to the Rbine on foot;
to Vallendar (see below), 11/s hr.

10/ M. Ransbach, a village carrying on the manufacture of whet-
stones. — A steep incline leads hence to (13Y/z M.) Siershakn, the junction
of the Limburg and Altenkirchen line (p. 219).

501/, M. Bendorf( Rheinischer Hof, R. & B.21/s M ; Nassauer Hof),
a small town with 5600 inhab., situated amidst orchards 3/4 M. to
the E. of the line, with an interesting Romanesque church and
several lunatic asylums.

531/, M. Vallendar (Hétel Anker, R. & B. from 21/, D. 2,
pens. from 4 ), a busy little town with 4000 inhab. who carry
on a brisk river-traffic, lies on an arm of the Rhine opposite the
island of Niederwerth (p. T7). On a height above the town stands
the handsome Chureh, built in 1839 on the site of an older church
said to have been founded in 836, with a tower of the 15th cent. ;
it contains some late-Gothic church-plate. — Weitersburg, on the
hill /3 M. to the N. of Vallendar, commands a beautiful view of the
Rhine with its islands and its banks from Andernach to Coblenz.
About halfway up the hill is a summer-house of the Vallendar
Casino, to which visitors are admitted. :

A little farther on, a beautiful view is obtained of Coblenz,
the mouth of the Moselle, and the Emp. William Monument. The
station at (56 M.) Ehrenbreitstein (p. 106) lies at the foot of the
precipitous rock on which the fortress is situated.

12. Bonn.

Hotels. On the Rhine: *RovaL HoreL (Pl. b; C, 8), Coblenser-Str. 11,
first-class, with lift and garden, R. from 21/s, D. 312, pens. from 7 4. —
HoéreL KLY (Pl c; C, 3), Coblenzer-Str, 1, near the Alte Zoll, R. 21/z-4,
B.1, D. 21/2-3 #, with garden-restaurant ; RARINECK (Pl. e; C, 2), at the pier,
second-class, with terrace, R. 2!/z-4, B. 1, D. 21/z .#; D1ssMANN, by the new
bridge, R. 2-3 4, well spoken of. — In the Town: "GOLDNER STERN (Pl a;
C, 2), in the market-place, with ball-rooms and restaurant, first-class, R. 2-8,
B. 11/y, D. 2/, 3peus. from 7 4; Scawax (Pl. g; B, 2), Stern-Str. b4, well
spoken of, R.2-8, B.3/s, D. 11/5-21/2, pens. 5-8 .4; RugINiscEER Hor (P1.f; B, 2),
Stern-Str 573 CENTRAL, Wilhelm-Str. 1 (Pl. B, 2); TRAUBE, Meckenheimer-
Str. 18 (PL A, 2, 8); Boree KaNNE, in the market-place, plain but ve:
fair. — At the Railway Station: HOTEL-RESTAURANT CONTINENTAL, Bahnhof-
Str. 16a, R. & B. 21/5-8Y/2, pens. BY/2-71/; A ; KroNPrINZ; HaMBURGER HOF,
R. & B. 2‘{1—3‘/1 M. — In the Poppelsdorfer Allée: HoT. DU NorD, Quantius-
Str.1, R.11/2-8, B. 1, D. from 11/, pens. from 41/ 4 ; EvANGELISCHES HosP12.

ensions. Mrs. , Goeben - Str. 16; Harling, Hofgarten-Str. 4
(-8 H); Maller, Colmant-Str. 14 (-6 ); Beenken, Marien-Str. 1 (5-7 #);
Schugt, Fihrgasse 3 (-7 #); Jansenius, Herwarth-Str. 12 (4-6 #) ; Neuerburg,
Leuné-Str. 8 (4-6 .#) ; Schniewind- Hesse, Hohenzollern-Str. 30 (5-7 #); Weitler,
Coblenzer-8tr. 25 Strassberger, Dechen-Str. 1 (4-61/2 4).

Restaurants. *Perrin, Wenzelgasse 503 *Schann, Post-8tr. 113 Schwarz,
Kaiser-Str, ; Badenheuer, Miinster-Plate ; Viehhdfer, Lang, Baumschuler Allée;
Goldener Stern, Hot. Kiey, see above. — Oafés. Tewele, at the station ; Kaiser-
Café, Kaiser-Platz. — Beer. Kaiserhalle, Martin-Str.; Im Krug tum Grénen
Kranze, Coblenzer-Str. 27; Zum Héahnchen, Dreieck 3 (P1, B, 2); Rheingold,
Markt ﬁ&; Hot. Continental, Hamburger Hof, Kronprins, see above, all near
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the station; Adforsf, Minster-Plats; Sch her, Markt 12. — Stadthalle
(open-air restaurant), see p. 89.

Bathing Establishments on the Rhine, above the town, with swim-
ming (40 pf.) and warm baths. There are also warm baths at the Bonner
Badeanstalt, at the entrance of the Baumschuler Allée.

Electrie Tramways. From the rail. station vid Post-8tr., Miinster-Platz,
Friedrich-8tr., and Briicken-8tr. to Beuel (p. 90); from the Markt, past the
station, to Poppelsdors (p. 89); to the Coln-Thor; by the Coblenzer-8tr. to
Kessenich (p. 90). — Steam ']frunwly from the Kaiser-8tr. (cor. of the
Konigs-Str.; Pl. C, 1), passing the terminus of the electric cars in the
Coblenzer-Str., to éodaberp( . 19) and Mehlem (p. 69), every /3 hr. on week-
days and every /s hr. on Sunday. — Another steam-tramway ( Vorgebirgsbahn)
runs to (22 13 Cologne in 21/; hrs., starting at the Viehmarkt (Pl. B, 2).

Oabs. Per drive in the town, 1-2 pers. 70 pf., each additional pers.
25 pf., box 10 pf.; per /s hr. 11/ M. To Poppelsdorf 15 pf., with two
horses 1 .#, each &()ers. beyond two, 25 pf. more; to Godesberg 8 or 4 M,
to Casselsrube (p. 90) 3Y/s or Alfz M, each pers. more than two, 50 pf.

Post Office (Pl. B, 3), Miinster-Blatz. — Telegraph Office, Miulheimer-
8tr. (PL. B, 2).

English Church 8ervice in the University Chapel (p. 87) at 11 a.m, and
(in summer) 7 p.m.

Chief Attractions. Miinster (p. 86); House of Beethoven (p. 86); Pro-
vincial Museum (p. 88); view from the Alte Zoll (p. 87); walk along the
Rhine and across the new bridge (p. 90); Poppelsdorfer Allée (p. 89).

Bonn(154 ft.), a town with 50,700 inhab., the seat of a university
founded in 1818 and attended by about 2000 students, is pleasantly
situated on the W. bank of the Rhine, near the N. entrance to the
narrower and more picturesque part of the valley of the river. It
has recently become a very prosperous place, and a favourite resi-
dence of English and other visitors. The pleasant villas with their
gardens on the Rhine, situated on the Coblenzer-Strasse above the
town, the shady promenades of the Hof-Garten, the Poppelsdorfer
Allée, and the imposing new bridge, all contribute to render the
town very attractive, while the fine towers of the Miinster and the

Protestant church also enhance the general effect.

Bonn, the Bonna or Castra Bonnensia of the Romans, frequently
mentioned by Tacitus, and probably founded by Drusus, was one of the first
Roman fortresses on the Rhine, and the headquarters of several legions.
The Roman Castrum, which was very extensive, stood near the end of the
modern Steinweg or Heerweg, at the Wichelshof, to the N. of the town, as
is proved by excavations made in 1848 and by recent investigations. In
the middle ages Bonn was a place of little importance until 1267, when
the Archbishop of Cologne transferred his residence and seat of govern-
ment hither (comp.lvp. 81). The German kings, Frederick of Austria
(13148 and Charles (1846), were crowned in the Miinster.

he Protestant tendencies of H of Wied and Gebhard of
Waldburg, Archbishops of Cologne in the 16th cent., principally mani-
fested by the latter in his marriage with the nun Agnes of Mansfeld, for
which he was declared an apostate and banished from his Electorate, brought
Bonn into great trouble. In the Dutch War of Independence, in the
Thirty Years’ War, and especially in the Spanish War of Succession, Bonn
suffered repeatedly from sieges. That of 1689 was conducted by Elector
Frederick III. of Brandenburg (King Frederick I.) at the head of the imper-
ial and allied troops. Marlborough and other celebrated generals took
part about the same time in the operations against the town. The walls
were levelled in 1717, in accordance with the Peace of Rastatt. — Under
the Electors of the 18th cent. Bonn was very prosperous, and one of
them in 1777 founded an Academy, elevated to a Universily seven years
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later by Emperor Joseph II. On 7th Oct., 1794, the French marched into
the town, and in 1797 the university was closed.

Under the French Bonn suffered much, and its population decreased
from 9500 to 7500, but since its recovery by the Prussians in 1814 and the
foundation of the Frederick William University it has gradually revived.
Among the celebrities of the latter are B. G. Niebuhr, E. M. AmdtLA. Ww.
von Schlegel, Argelander, Welcker, Ritschl, Diegz, Simrock, Lassen,
and Dahlmann.

The Railway Station (Pl. B, 3) was built in 1883-80 after plans
by Viereck and Unger. .

The Post-Strasse leads direct from the station to the MONsTER-
Prarz (Pl. B, 3), which is embellished with a bronze Statue of
Beethoven, executed by Hinel of Dresden and inaugurated in pre-
sence of Queen Victoria in 1845.

The *Miinster (PL B, 3), a cruciform church with two choirs,
four small towers, and a lofty octagonal principal tower over the cross-
ing, is an imposing and picturesque example of the late-Roman-
esque style. It was formerly an archdeanery of St. Cassius and St.
Florentius, and, like many Rhenish churches, traces its foundation
to Constantine. The W. part of the crypt and the part of the
church above it date from the 11th, the choir from the middle of
the 12th, and the nave, transept, and chief tower from the 13th
century. The building has recently been carefully restored.

The INTERIOR, which was adorned with paintings by Martin in 1890-94,
is remarkable for its handsome proportions. It contains a bronze statue
of St. Helena, the mother of Constantine, in a mannered style, cast at
Rome in 17565 two Bas-Reléefs, representing the Nativity and Baptism of
LYheis$ over the altars in the nave and transept to the right, well-executed
Itali» . ~orks. Near the chief portal is the Sarcophagus of Archbishop
Engeiber 1vyn Falkenburg (d. 1274). The old Crypt and the remains of
mediseval paintings (restored; also in the chapter hall) are intereﬂing.
The E. chofr contains a gicture in mosaic from Geiges® designs; the stained-
glass windows are by Linnemann and Geiges.

The ancient Chapter House adjoining the church is now the par-
sonage. The *Cloisters, with pillars possessing beautiful capitals,
date from the 12th cent. (entr. from the church or on the E. side,
adjoining the choir). — The Miinster-Schule, built in the Romanesque
style in 188H-86, was designed by Lemcke.

The busiest point of the town is the triangular Market Place
(P1. B, O, 2, 3), on which the principal streets of the old town con-
verge. In the centre of it rises a Fountain Column, erected by the
citizens in 1777 in honour of Maximilian Frederick, Elector of
Cologne. The Rathhaus, with its lofty flight of steps, was completed
in 1782. — The late-Gothic Church of St. Remigius (45th cent.),
formerly the Minoriten-Kirche(PL C, 2), has cloisters of the beginning
of the 14th century and modern paintings by Carl Miiller (St. Anna
and the Virgin, St. Joseph and the Holy Child) and other Diissel-
dorf artists, — The Jesuit Church (PL. C, 2), in the Bonngasse, is
now used by the Old Catholics.

At No. 20 Bonugasse is the Beethoven House (Pl B; 2), in
which Ludwig van Beethoven (1770-1827) was born.  The house is
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now fitted up as a Beethoven Museum (adm. 1 .#, on Wed. & Sun.
50 pf.). Beethoven’s father was a tenor-singer, and his grandfather
(a native of Antwerp) band-master to the Elector.

The contents of the museum include numerous portraits of Beethoven,
his family, and his contemporaries; his piano, quartette instruments, ear
trampet, scores, letters, etc. The garret in which he was born is in the
back-building and has been preserved unaltered.

The University Buildings (P1. B, C, 3), 640 yds. in length and
originally the Electoral Palace, occupy the S. side of the old town.
The central portion, with its four towers, was begun by Enrico Zuccali
in 1697-1703 and completed by Robert de Cotte in 1715-23. The
two principal towers were rebuilt in the original style in 1895. The
‘best view of the buildings is obtained from the Hof-Garten. They are
well fitted up and contain most of the Lecture Rooms, the Library
(250,000 vols., 1350 MSS.), adorned with busts of Niebuhr, Schlegel,
Arndt, ete., the Physical, Ophthalmic, and Aural Institutes, and the
rich Palaeontological Museum, particularly interesting with regard
to the Rhineland. The Aula or hall (keys kept by the head-porter,
under the arcades to the left; 50 pf.) is adorned with frescoes em-
blematical of the four faculties, executed by Cornelius’s pupils,
Forster, Gotzenberger and Hermann (1824). The old chapel of the
Electoral Palace is now a Protestant place of worship (Church of
England service, see p.80).

Passing through the Coblenzer-Thor, which intersects the E. wing
of the university, and has its facade adorned externally with a figure
of the Archangel Michael, we reach the Coblenzer-Strasse (p. 88).
— Immediately to the left is the entrance to the Alte Zoll (Pl. C,
D, 3), an old bastion on the bank of the Rhine, commanding a
fine *View of the river and its opposite bank, including Beuel,
Bensberg, Siegburg, and the Seven Mts. In the centre is a Mon-
ument to the poet Ernst Morits Arndt (1769-1860), in bronze. The
figure leans with the left hand on a trunk of oak, whilst the right
points towards the Rhine. The two French guns here were captured
in the war of 1870. An inclined plane descends from the Alte Zoll
to the Rhine, which is skirted by a pleasant promenade (p. 89).

Next to the Royal Hotel, No. 9 Coblenzer-Str., is the Civie
Museum, in the former Villa Obernier (Pl. D, 3; adm. Sun. & Wed.,
11-1, free; at other times 50 pf.), containing a collection of modern
pictures and a few sculptures, bequeathed to the town by Prof.
Obernier (d. 1882). Fine view of the Rhine and Seven Mts.

On the W. side of the Coblenzer- Strasse lies the Hof-Garten
(Pl C, 8), with its avenues of fine old trees. On the W. side of the
garden rises the Protestant Church (Pl C, 3), a Gothic edifice of
brick, erected by Dieckhoff in 1866-71, with a lofty tower. —
The modern Gothic Hers-Jesu - Kirche (Pl. O, 4), adjoining the
8.W. corner of the garden, contains good stained glass, designed by
Steinle.
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In the S.E. corner of the Hof-Garten rises the Academic Museum
of Art (Pl. C, 8), open free on Mon., Wed., and Frid., 3-5, from
October to April 2-4; at other times, fee (custodian in the central
block, next the Coblenzer-Str.). The museum, founded in 1825 by
F. G. Welcker (d. 1868), the eminent antiquarian, contains one of
the oldest and finest collections of casts in Germany and a few
original antiquities.

Among the original Greek works are the celebrated marble *Hermae
with heads of Sophocles, Euripides, Aristoph , and M der. There are
also terracotta figurines from Asia Minor, Greece (Tanagra). 8icily, and Italy;
and over 200 Greek vases. — The Casts are arranged 80 as to illustrate the
development of ancient sculpture: Egyptian, Assyrian, Greek, and Roman.

In the Coblenzer-Strasse, to the left, is the Collegium Albertinum
(Ersbischifliche Convict; Pl. C, D, 3), a large Gothic building,
erected in 1892 for the accommodation of Roman Catholic students
at the University. No. 30 is a club-house by Kayser & Von Gross-
heim, and a little farther on is the Royal Gymnasium, a Renais-
sance structure by Reinike. — No. 75 Zweite Fihrgasse (Pl. D, 4),
the second cross-street to the left (as we go to the 8.), was the resi-
dence of the’ poet Arndt, who died here in 1860 (p. 87). — The
Coblenzer-Strasse is flanked with villas and gardens for about 4 M.
beyond the Coblenz Gate (steam-tramway to Godesberg, see p. 85).
Among them is the Royal Villa, for royal princes studying in Bonn.

In the N. part of the town, near the Wilhelms-Platz, are the
Stifts-Kirche (P1. B, 2), the large Hospital of St. John (P1. B, 1), and
the new University Clinical Institutes (Pl. B, C, 1), with the Patho-
logical Institute, on an elevated site extending to the bank of the
Rhine. — Outside the Coln-Thor are the Provincial Lunatic Asylum,
the Hussar Barracks, and (11/; M.) the New Cemetery.

The *Provincial Museum (Pl. A, 3), No. 16, Colmant-Str., near
the railway-station, is a handsome building of red sandstone in the
Italian Renaissance style, erected in 1889-93. It contains an extensive
collection of Roman and medizval stone monuments, prehistoric,
Roman, and Frankish antiquities, a small picture-gallery, and a
few medi®val works of art (director, Dy. Lehner). The museum is
open 11-1, free on Sun. and Thurs., on other days 50 pf.; at other
times 75 pf. Visitors ring. Guide 40 pf.

Ground Floor. Votive monuments. By the door to the left, altars of
Jupiter, Hercules, and the Deee Matres. U82. *Monument of the centurion
M, Caelius, who fell in the ‘Bellum Varianum', the only stone monument
extant relating to the battle in the Teutoburgian Forest; the breast of
the centurion is adorned with his military orders and distinctions; at the
side are his freed men. Other interesting sepulchral monuments (Nos. 8124,
3082, etc.). Stones with Christian inscriptions. — BaseMENT. Relics of the
Moselle bridge at Coblenz, Roman capitals, sarcophagi. Monuments with
representations of deities. U T7. Large votive altar of the Dea Victoria,
with symbols of fishing and cattle-rearing. In the middle, large Mosaic
Pavement from Weingarten. Sculptures (8731. Zneas and Anchires; Lion
and Jboar). — In the VesriBULe and adjoining room are Romanesque,
Gothic, and Renaissance sculptures from the Middle and Lower-Rhine. —

del R

On the 8ramcase to the first fioor, of weap
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Upper Floor. I. PrEBIsTORIC RooM (in the middle). The central glass
case contains the famous Neanderthal S8kull, which has been (literally) such
a bone of contention among savants. Objects of the Flint Period, found
in the Rhenish provinces. Bronse hatchets, knives, ogeu-heads; bronze
vessels; armlets and collars of gold (ca. 4th cent. B.C.). — II. Roox or
THE RoMAN BRoNZES. To the left of the entrance: silver-gilt dishes; sieves,
goblets, kettles, bronze lamps; the wig and thunderbolt of a colossal bronse
statue of Jupiter. At the end of the room, to the right: Bronze head of the
Emp. Gordian I1I. (d. 244); harness, shield-bosses, mountings of furniture
and vessels. By the side-wall: chains, spoons, knives, keys, locks, handles,
amulets, buckles (including a large military buckle inscribed ‘numerum
omnium’). Five cases in the middle contain bronze figures. — III. RoMaN
TerBACOTTA RoOM. On the entrance- wall, frescoes from Bonn and
Pompeii. — The CORRIDOR contains Roman earthenware of a late period
(4th cent. A.D.). — IV. GrLass Roox (at the back of the building).
Figures in terracotta, masks, ivory carvings, silver and gold ornaments.
— The V. RooM contains objects found in Roman tombs, In the wall-
cases are early-Roman cremation-tombs, arranged chronologically. Late
Roman tombs with skeletons. In the last floor-case are four fine bronze
cauldrons. — VI. Roox (Frankish Tombs). Fine weap and t
— VII. PrcTuRE GALLERY, with some good Rhenish and Netherlandish
works, — VIII. MepixvaL Room. Sculptures of the 12-13th cent.; Renafs-
sance Tombstone of 1571, from Alken. Old Rhenish pottery, real and
fmitation. Works in ivory and enamel.

On the Ground Floor, to the right of the entrance, is the extensive
Library of the Rhenish Bociety of Antiquaries; to the left are a Collection
of Skulls and a Cabinet of Coins.

The Poppelsdorfer Allée (PL. B, A, 4,5), the principal promenade
of the town, a quadruple avenue of beautiful horse-chestnuts, 1/ M.
long, and flanked with handsome villas and gardens, leads from
the Kaiser-Platz, adjoining the Hof-Garten and the University,
towards the W. to the Poppelsdorfer Schloss. At the end next the
town it is crossed by the railway. Farther on, to the left, a little
back from the avenue, is the handsome Observatory (Pl. B, 4),
erected in 1839-46 under the superintendence of Prof. Argelander
(d. 1875).

The Poppelsdorfer 8chloss (Pl A, §), formerly a residence of
the Electors, erected in 1745-18 from the plans of Robert de Cotte,
with an interesting central court in a circular form, contains the
Natural History Collections of the University (open 9 or 10 to 4,
80 pf. ; free on Sun., 411-1, and Wed., 2-4). The Botanical Garden
adjoining the palace is open on Mon., Wed., & Frid. from 2 p.m.;
the hot-houses on Wed. only.

Opposite the Poppelsdorfer Schloss rises the Chemical Laboratory
(PL A, B), in front of which is a statue of J. A. Kekulé (b. 1829),
the chemist. Behind it are the Anatomy Building, the Physiological
Institute, and the extensive buildings of the Agricultural Academy
(360-400 students).

Above Poppelsdorf, 3/4 M. from the Schloss, rises the Kreuzberg (400ft.),
a ‘Mt. Calvary’ crowned with a conspicuous white church. It originally
belonged to a tery erected by Elector Ferdinand of Bavaria in 1627,
and contains the ‘Holy Etcga‘ of Italian marble (in the chapel behind the
altar), constructed about 1750. These steps, 28 in number, are, an imitation

of the Scala Santa at the Lateran, and must be ascended only ‘on the
knees. Beautiful view from the tower.
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The promenade mentioned at p. 87 leads to a ferry (p. 81), near which
are the new Stadt-Park, and the Stadthalle, a large baroque pavilion, with
an open-air restaurant (p. 85).

essenich, a large village with pl t country-h , about 11/g M.
from Bonn, is reached by & road diverging from the middle of the Poppels-
dorf Avenue to the left (P1. B, C, 4, B, 6) and leading past the Frederick
William Hospital and the grounds of the Bonn Sporting Club (adm. free ; open-
air restaurant). On the slope of the Vorgedirge (p. 80), immediately above
it, rises the Rosendurg, a small chitean with pretty grounds. — The Vemes-
berg, now renamed the Kaiser-Wilhelm-Park, with a Monument to Emp. Wil-
lam I. (1897), is traversed by a number of pleasant walks; the *Casselsruhe

restaurant; cabs, see p. 85) commands a charming *View of Godesberg, the

even Mts., etc. The paths extend in the one direction, passing the Bis-
marck Tower (10 min. from the Casselsruhe), to Godesberg (p.79), and in the
other through woods and the pretty Meldthal (upper part also called Engel-
Thal; rustic inn) to Poppelsdorf.

The 0ld Cemetery (Pl. A, 2), 1/, M. from the Sternthor, is the
resting~place of many eminent men, chiefly professors at the uni-
versity, and is also worthy of a visit on account of its handsome
monuments, including a bronze memorial of the war of 1870-71.

By the wall on the right, Monument of Niebuhr (d. 1831), erected by
Fred. William IV. to his ‘teacher and friend'; in front a relief in marble
by Rauch, representing Niebuhr and his wife, being a copy of an ancient
Roman tomb-relief preserved in the hall of the busts at the Vatican. Farther
along the same walk, on the right, the monuments of Ernst von Schiller
(d. 1841), the second son, and Charlotte von Lengefeld (d. 1826), widow of
the poet. Near the circular space is the monument of the brothers Bois-
serée, the famous connoisseurs of art (Melchior d. 1861, Sulpice d. 1854),
a relief in marble with a head of Christ. by Rauch. The little Chapel in the
middle of the cemetery, a graceful late-Romanesque structure, built at Ra-
mersdorf (g. 69) about the year 1200, was transferred thence to its present
site in 1847. 1t contains stained glass presented by the Boisserées. Near
the chapel are the graves of Schumann (d. 1856), the composer (with a
*“Monument by Donndorf, erected in 1880), of Argelander (d. 1875), the astro-
nomer, Dahimann (d. 1860), the historian, Welcker (d. 1888), the archeeo-
logist, and Karl Simrock (d. 1876), the poet. The monument of the poet
Arndt (d. 1860) is close to the N. wall of the cemetery. By the 8. wall is
that of Baron Bunsen (d. 1860) and his wife. The Warriors' Monument
for 1870-71 was designed by Kiippers.

The graceful *Rhine Bridge (PL D, 2), built in 1896-98 from
the designs of Bruno Mihring and Prof. Krohn, is, perhaps, the most
beautiful in the Rhenish provinces. It bestrides the river in three
arches, the central of which has a span of 645 ft. (Niagara Bridge
840 ft.), while the total length is 1445 ft. The rich plastic decora-
tion is often of a humorous character (e.g. the so-called ‘Briicken-
miénnchen’). Over the flight of steps ascending to the bridge from
the Rhine wharf is a seated figure of Julius Omsar, though this was
probably not the spot where he crossed the Rhine (p. 77). The
bridge affords a fine view of Bonn and the Seven Mts. (toll 6 pf.).

At the end of the bridge, on the right bank of the Rhine, lies
Beuel (Schippers, with large veranda, near the bridge), a station of
the rallway on the right bank from Cologne to Ehrenbreitstein
(p- 81). The station of the Broel Valley Railway (p. 66) lies below
the bridge.

From Beuel to the church of Sch Rheindorf, see p. 68.
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18. The Seven Mountains (Sicbengebdirge).

One day suffices to explore the most interesting points in this district,
unless the visit be for geological purposes. Kénigswinter (a station on the
Right Rhenish railway, and connected through Mehlem, on the opposite
bank, with the Left Rhenish Railway; also a steamboat-station and a
station on the Zahnradbahn to the top of the Drachenfels and the Peters-
berq) is the usual starting- point, but RAdéndorf, Honnef, or Dollendorf,
stations on the Right Rhenish line, may in some cases be more convenient.
The Verschonerungsverein fir das Siebengebirge, a society founded in 1873,
with its headquarters at Bonn, has done much towards facilitating access to
the fine scenery of this district by the construction of paths and the erection
of finger-posts and benches.

alkers from Konigswinter to the Drachenfels take 3/; hr.; thence to
the Great Oelberg 13/4 hr., and to Hessterbach 11/, hr. more; back to Konigs-
winter in 8/, hr., or to Nieder-Dollendorf in 12 hr. — From Honnef to
the Ldwendurg 11/¢ hr.; thence to the Great Oelberg 11/ hr., and vid Heister-
bach to Konigswinter as above. In this case the Drachenfels is ascended
last, from Konigswinter. — From Nieder-Dollendors the excursion is the
same as the first-mentioned, but in the reverse direction.

Oarriages, Horses, and Donkeys at Konigswinter, see p. 92; at Honnef,
see p. 82. The whole tour from Konigswinter to Heisterbach and the Mar-
garethenhof (hence on foot to the Oelberg, 1/z hr.), and thence either
to the Dyachenfels or by the Liwenburger Hof to Honnef may now be ac-
comg‘llahed by carriage.

he heights given in the following description are calculated from the
level of the sea; the approximate height above the Rhine is obtained by
subtracting 160 ft. Geologists who understand German should purchase
Dr. von Dechen’s ‘Geognostischer Fiihrer in das Siebengebirge’ (7 .#), or
es’ *Siebengebirge am Rhein® (1901 ; 9 .4), both with maps. published

by Cohen at Bonn.

The *S8even Mountains, which form the N.W. termination of the
‘Westerwald district, extend 3 M. inland from the Rhine, and from
N. to S. about 9 M., Konigswinter being the central point on the W.
They consist of a group of peaks, cones, and long, rounded ridges,
some of which are covered with forest and luxuriant herbage. They are
all of volcanic character and consist partly of trachyte (Drachenfels,
Wolkenburg, Lohrberg), and partly of basalt, a more recent forma-
tion (Oelberg, Nonnenstromberg, Petersberg), while the Lowenburg
is of dolerite. These seven peaks, from which the mountains derive
their name, are seen simultaneously only in the neighbourhood
of Cologne; as Bonn is approached, the Lowenburg is hidden by
the Nonnenstromberg. Besides these summits there are many
others, such as the conical Hemmerich, of trachyte, which overtops
the lower mountains of the 8. side, and the Rosenau and Stenszel-
berg, which adjoin the Nonnenstromberg on the E. and N.E.

Konigswinter. — Hotels. On the Rhine: *BerLiNER Hor, B. 3-5, B. 1,
D. 8, pens. from 7 .4, *Eusoritscaer Hor, R. from 2'/2, D. 3, pens. 6-7 .4,
both opposite the pier, with garden-terraces; *MoNoPOL-METROPOLE, a little
farther down. with lift, R. 2-10, B. 1, D. 3, pens. from 6 4 ; *DOsSELDORFER
Hor, still lower down, R.24, B.1, D. 8, pens. 6-8 #; *“HOTEL MATTERN-
NATIONAL, at the upge.r end of the town 14 M. from the pier, with garden-
terrace, R.2Ys-7, B.11/s, D. 8-, pens. 7- 13 .4 ; RuginiscHER Hor,R. & B.2 .4,
GERMANIA, both at the upper end of the town, well gpoken of. — In
the Main BStrest: HOr. RIEFFEL; HoLLiNDIsCEER HoF, by, the church,
B. & B.2-3 #; TrauBg; BoCKHALLE ; WESTFALISCHER HoFj; LOMMERZHEIM,
R. & B. 2-2lf3, pens. 4 #. — Near the Station: CENTRAL, unpretending; Vic-



92 Route 13. KONIGSWINTER. The Seven

TORIA. — For a stay of some time: HOTEL MAGDALENENHOF, upstream, to
the left of the highroad, with terrace and grove, pens. from 41/2 #. —
Pensions: Villa Bohnen. next door to the Diisseldorfer Hof, very fair (4-6 .4);
Rheineck; Kirch (R. & B. only).

‘Wine. °Bellinghausen, on the Rhine, with a large garden-hall, D. (12-8
p.m.) from 11/ M ; Winzer-Verein or Vintagers' Society (p. 98), in the Kirch-
8tr., near the Drachenfels railway; Casino, Rhein-Allée 10, with garden
on the Rhine. — Beer at the Europdische Hof, the Momopol, the Dusseil-
dorfer Hof, and at most of the smaller hotels (see above). — Café and Con-
fectioner: Mestens, in the main street, below the Roman Catbolic church.

Zahnradbahnen, or Rack and Pinion Rasilways, to the top of the Dyachen-
JSels (p. 93) and of the Petersberg (p. 96). In summer there are 18 trains
daily, with accommodation for 50-100 passengers ; fare to the top 1 4, down
50 pf. The ascent takes 10-12 minutes. The starting-point of the Drachen-
fels line is at the foot of the hill, a little more than 1/; M. from the station
of the Rhenish railway or the steamboat-quay; the starting-point of the
Plftersberg line is !/2 M. from the railway-station, and nearly 1 M. from
the pier.

arriages. From the station to the town or to the Petersberg Station,
for 1-2 pers., one-horse 60, two-horse 70 pf.; from the town to the Peters-
berg Station, 80 pf., 1 #; each pers. additional 20 pf., hand-bag 10 pf.,
trunk 20 pf. — Drives in the environs, fares for 1-4 pers. (10 per cent extra
for each pers. additional): to the Drachenfels 4 or D!/ A, there and back
within 3 hrs., 512 or T2 M ; Margarethenhof 41/z or 8 M; Heisterbach 8}/3 or
b M, there and back 5 or 7l/z #; Lowenburg vid Margarethenhof 6 or
T2 M, there and back (within 4 hrs. '7“/: or 10 4, vida Heisterbach Tz
or 10, there and back (5!/z hrs.) 8 or ; Petersberg vii Heisterbach 6 or
8 M, the oam:i retarning vid Margarethenhof (6'/3 hrs.), 9 or 12 #; Honnef
2 or 2l/2 M; drive through the Seven Mts. vid Heisterbach, Petersberg,
M rethenhof, Lowenburg, and Honnef (8 hrs.). with two horses, 16 .#.

otor Launch to Rhondorf, 1-4 pers. 2143 M jeach extra pers. 20 &:f.)
to Rolandseck 4 .4 (30 pf.), to Godesberg 21z .4 (20 pf.), to Bonn A
(80 pf.); per hour A ¥, each 1/; hr. more 1 4.

Omnibus (starting at the rail. stat. and the Rhine) 15-18 times daily
to Rhondors (p. 82; 20 pf.) and Honnes (p. 83; 30 pf.).

Konigswinter (165 ft.), a thriving little modern town with 3800
inhab., is the best starting-point for a visit to the Seven Moun-
tains, at the foot of which it lies, and is consequently thronged by
tourists in summer. It possesses extensive stone-cutting yards, which
prepared much of the stone used in building Cologne Cathedral.
The railway-station lies at the lower end of the town, and beyond
its precincts. A pleasant walk extends along the bank of the Rhine.
At the upper end of the town are a War Monument and a monument
to Wolfgang Miiller of Konigswinter (1816-73), the Rhenish poet,
by Lessing.

AsCENT oF THE DRACHRNFELS (carriages in waiting at the sta-
tion). The road crosses the railway and coincides for some dis-
tance with that to the Oelberg (p. 95); it then turns to the right,
past several handsome villas, and skirts the Hirschberg (p. 94) to
the saddle between it and the Wolkenburg, where the road to the
Oelberg (p. 95) diverges to the left. It then passes a monument
erected in 1892 to H. von Dechen (d. 1889), the eminent geologist and
explorer of the Seven Mts. (p. 91), and ascends in a curve to the
terrace. — Walkers turn to the left on leaving the railway-station
(finger-post), follow the direction of the railway, and cross the road ;
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after O min. the path joins that from the Rhine and reaches the
station of the mountain-railway (see below). — Other pleasant paths
ascend by the Saurenberg or through the pretty Nachtigallen-Thal,
quitting the Drachenfels road where it turns to the left, 200 paces
beyond the railway. The way through the Nachtigallen-Thal is that
to the left; after D min. it crosses a bridge to the right. At the
Kuckstein (see below), both unite with the bridle-path.

The traveller arriving by Steamboat passes between the two
chief hotels and to the left of the Church and District Court, crosses
the railway, and soon reaches the station of the Zahnradbahn, or
rack-and-pinion railway. Walkers follow the bridle-path on the side
of the rock next to the Rhine, leading in 3/¢ hr., partly through
wood, to the terrace near the top. Several cabarets by the wayside:
(10 min.) Zur Schinen Aussicht, on the right, and Zur Drachen-
burg, on the left; farther on Zum Kuckstein (620 ft.), a little below
which our path is joined by that over the Saurenberg, and a little
above by that through the Nachtigallen-Thal (see above; recom-
mended to those returning to the railway-station). The path then
skirts the rack-and-pinion railway, passes the handsome Gothic
chateau of *Drachenburg, the property of Herr Bittinger, built in
1883 by Tiishaus and Abbema, and elaborately decorated within
with paintings and other works of art, and ascends the wooded W.
slope of the hill to the terrace (3/4 hr. from Kénigswinter).

The easiest mode of ascending the Drachenfels, however, is now
afforded by the RACK AND PINTON RATLWAY (fares, see p. 92), which
ascends the hill in an almost straight line and approaches the top,
like the road, on the side farthest from the Rhine. Its length is
1662 yds. and its rise 740 ft.; the steepest gradient is 1:5. The
viaduct halfway up affords a good view of the Drachenburg.

The Terrace (970 ft.; *Hotel, R. from 3, B.1, D. 3 .4; post and
telegraph office ; concert on Wed. afternoon), a levelled rocky pla-
teau about 100 ft. below the summit, s embellished with a Gothic
Obelisk commemorating the patriotic spirit of the Rhinelanders. in
the years 1813-15, designed by Zwirner and erected in 1807.
From the veranda of the inn a series of steps descends to the bridle-
path to Rhéndorf (p. 82).

The castle of Drachenfels (1065 ft.), or ‘dragon’s roek’, 4-5 min.
above the terrace, was erected by Arnold, Archbishop of Cologne, at
the beginning of the 12th cent., bestowed by him on the Cassius
Monastery at Bonn in 1149, and held as a flef from the latter by the
counts of the castle. Henry, Count of Drachenfels (d. 1348), fur-
nished the chapter of the cathedral of Cologne with the stone for its
construction from a quarry which still bears the name of Dombruch,
or cathedral quarry. In the Thirty Years’ War the half-ruined castle
was occupied by the Swedes, but was besieged and taken from
them by Duke Ferdinand of Bavaria, Elector of Cologne,| who
completed its destruction. — A Cavern among the vineyards; about
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halfway up the hill, is said once to have housed the dragon, slain
by Siegfried, the hero from the Low Countries, who, having bathed
himself in its blood, became invulnerable (the wine grown here is
known as ‘Drachenblut’, or dragon’s blood).

*View. The summit commands one of the noblest prospects on the
Rhine; to the E. are seen several of the seven peaks, S8.E. the basaltic
heights behind Honnef, among them the Minderberg (p. 73), and the Hem-
merich (p. 91), sloping down to the Rhine. Imm tely below lie Rhon-
dorf, Honnef, Rheinbreitbach, Unkel, and Erpel; on the left bank Remagen
and the Gothic church on the Apollinarisberg, in the background the heights
of the Eifel with the ruin of Olbriick (p. 104), in the vicinity Oberwinter,
the islands of Grafenwerth and Nonnenwerth, and the arched ruin of Ro-
landseck. Farther to the right the Kreusberg, Bonn, and even Cologne

are visible. “The castled crag of Drachenfels

Frowns o'er the wide and winding Rhine,

‘Whose breast of waters broadly swells

Between the banks which bear the vine;

And hills all rich with blossom'd trees,

And fields which promise corn and wine

And scatter'd cities crowning these,

Whose far white walls along them shine,

Have strew’d a scene which I should see

With double joy wert thou with me.’

Byron (‘Childe Harold").
The trachyte hill of the Wolkenburg (1085 ft.), to the E. of

the Drachenfels, was also once crowned by a stronghold, which has
long since been demolished to make way for the extensive quarries

which have been worked here for centuries.

The Hirschberg (835 ft.), crowned with a belvedere, commands
a beautiful view of the Rhine and the valley enclosed by the Seven
Mts. The footpath diverges from the road in the saddle between
the Hirschberg and the Wolkenburg, about 200 paces before the
point where the Drachenfels and (Elberg roads separate, and reaches
the summit in 1/ hour.

FroM THE DRACHBNFELS TO THE GrEAT (ELBBRG (13/(hr.). The
carriage-road, which affords a series of charming views, diverges
from the Drachenfels road in the saddle between the Wolken-
burg and the Hirschberg (595 ft.; see p. 92), about 1 M. from the
Drachenfels, and then leads in windings along the Schallerberg,
Geisberg, and Lohrberg to the saddle (1095 ft.) between the last
hill and the top of the (Elberg, where it is joined by the roads
from Konigswinter (11/3 br., ascent 2 hrs.), from Heisterbach (p. 95),
and from the Lowenburg (p. 96). On the saddle are two good inns,
the Margarethenhof and the *Hotel- Restaurant Sophienhof (D. 2,
pens. 4-b1/; 4). If both are crowded, the traveller may follow the
road to the E. to (1 M.) Ittenbach, where accommodation may be
found at the clean little inn of Blesgen, adjoining the church.

At the cross-roads at the Margarethenhof are a cross with a re-
lief of St. Margaretha and the dragon (1641) and a finger-post show-
ing the roads to the (Elberg, Petersberg, and Heisterbach. About
100 paces farther on is another guide-post, indicating’a’footpath to
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the top of the (Elberg. This path follows the road, which leads to
the basalt quarries (see below), for some distance, and then diverges
again to the left. The top of the (Elberg is reached in 1/ hr.

The *Great Elberg (1520 ft.; Restaurant, plain) is a basaltic
cone which has been upheaved through the trachyte. The prospect
from the summit is the most extensive on the lower Rhine ; the pic-
turesque foreground differs in many respects from that seen from the
Drachenfels. The whole wooded tract of the Seven Mts. lies like a
map before the spectator; the Rhine glitters between the valleys
which intersect its banks, and its course may be traced as far as
Cologne; in the distance to the S. the Taunus, and N.E. the
heights near Diisseldorf. The basalt quarries on the E. side of the
Oelberg are now the most important in the Seven Mountains, and
are interesting for the curious displacement of the basaltic columns,
which are visible to a height of 100 ft.

FroM THE GREAT (ELBRRG T0o HEISTERBACH (1 hr.). In descend-
ing, a few minutes’ walk from the top, we reach a finger-post on tho
path by which we ascended, indicating the way to Konigswinter
and Heisterbach. After 10 min. this path joins the road from the
Margarethenhof to Heisterbach (near the kilométre-stone 2.7). From
this road diverge, farther on, a footpath to Kénigswinter, a road

below kilométre-stone 1.8) to the new hotel on the Rosenau

1080 1t.), and a road (above kilométre-stone 1) to the Nonnenstrom-
berg (1105 ft.) and the (1 M.) Petersberg (p. 96). To the right is
the Stenvelberg (94D ft.), with extensive trachyte quarries, The
trains of the Heisterbach Valley Steam Tramway (p. 81) stop when
required at the point where the road (short-cut for walkers) reaches
the Heisterbach Valley.

The venerable Cistercian Abbey of Heisterbach (475 ft.) is one
of the most frequently visited points in the Seven Mountains,
The gate still bears the arms of the abbey, a Heister (young beech)
and a Bach (brook); at the side stand St. Benedict and St. Bernard
as guardians. Of the magnificent abbey-church, erected in the tran-
sition-style in 1202-37, the end of the choir, with its slender ba-
saltic columns, is alone extant, forming a singularly picturesque ruin.
The abbey itself was sold and almost entirely removed in the year
1809. Some of the finest old German pictures in the Pinakothek at
Munich were brought from Heisterbach. In 1897 a memorial was
erected to the monkish author, Ceesarius von Heisterbach (ca. 1470-
1240). The abbey-lands now belong to Count zur Lippe-Biesterfeld,
Regent of Lippe-Detmold (Hotel-Restaurant, very fair). — The
road passing Heisterbach terminates at (11/;M.) Dollendorf (railway
station, p. 81).

Frou HEISTERBACH TO THE PETERSBERG (Y/s hr.). Outside the gate we
follow the road ascending to the right till beyond the kilométre-stone 3,3,

where the tramway crosses the road, and then ascend the footpath to the
right (several finger-posts).

FroM HEIsTERBACH TO KONI6SWINTER. A well-trodden; |path
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leads from the gate of the abbey to the left, and then along the slope
of the Petersberg, passing below the wire-rope railway which connects
the basalt quarries on the Petersberg with the road near Dollendorf,
through wood and finally vineyards, and reaches Konigswinter in
8/ hr. [In the reverse direction, we follow the Drachenfels road
to a point 40 paces beyond the railway-crossing, where a finger-post
on the left indicates the way to Heisterbach.]

From KO6N16SWINTER TO THE PrTERSBERG. The starting-point
of the Zahnradbahn (rack-and-pinion railway, p. 92) is at the foot
of the hill, about 1/, M. from the Right Rhenish rail. station (follow
the railway to the left, cross it to the left by a broad road, farther
on to the left again; comp. the Map). The line is 1330 yds. in
length and the average gradientis 4 : 5 (maximum 1':4). It ascends
at first through vineyards, and farther up is driven through the rocks.

The top of the *Petersberg (1095 ft.), on which there are a
Chapel and a Hotel § Restaurant (R. 21/-6, B. 11/, D. 3, pens.
7-12 M), affords, from the different points which may be reached
by a path skirting the margin of the extensive plateau, various
splendid views of the Rhine, the valley surrounded by the Drachen-
fels, Wolkenburg, Lohrberg, and Oelberg, and to the N. of the Lower
Rhenish plain with Cologne Cathedral and of the Bergisch hills,

On the way to Ober-Dollendorf, near the upper end of the Zahnrad-
bahn, and at various other points, are remains of an early-German stone-
wall that surrounded the summit of the Petersberg.

From the playground to the S.E. of the restaurant a finger-post shows
the way to Heisterbach, Lowenburg, Konigswinter, and Drachenfels. The
pa.tl:s)cronen the railway and then divides into several branches (finger-
posts).

The LOWBNBURG is usually ascended from Honnef or Rhondorf,
From Honnef there are two roads: 1. the new road vid Hohen- Honnef
(p. 82), skirting the Fuchshardt and reaching the summit from the
W.; 2. the older, and much longer, road through the wooded Schmel-
ger-Thal or Asbacher-Thal, then to the left through the Einsiedler-
Thal to the Lowenburger Hof in 2 hrs. — Walkers (11/; hr.) may
follow the footpath on the N.W. slope of the Fuchshardt (see above),
finally passing near the Augusthéhe, or they may ascend from Rom-
mersdorf, along the brook. At the second bench on the latter route
the shorter way leads to the right; that to the left skirts the Brei-
berg (p. 97; finger-posts). )

From REONDORF (p. 82; cross the bridge to the right of the rail-
way-station, then turn to the left through the village) a broad
bridle-path ascends through the narrow valley flanked on the N. by
the heights of the Wolkenburg, the Schallerberg (1005 ft.), and
Geisberg (1080 f£t.), and on the S. by the broad Breiberg (p. 97),
to the (1 154 hr.) Lowenburger Hof (11801t.), a forester’s house with
a restaurant (D. 2 ; also pension), whence the top is attained after
a somewhat steep ascent of 15-20 minutes.

The Lowenburg (1505 ft.), a wooded peak of dolerite; [is crown-
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ed with a view-tower, marking the site of an ancient castle, the
outer walls of which are still extant.

For the descent the beautiful shady path may be recommended,
which leads from the Lowenburger Hof to the (/5 hr.) Grosse Brei-
berg (1040 ft.; *View). Thence in 1/; hr. to the left to Honnef, to
the right to Rhindorf. i

FroM THE LOWENBURG To THE GREAT (ELBEBRG. From the
Lowenburger Hof a road, forming the continuation of the road from
Honnef, leads towards the N. along the E. slope of the Lohrberg
(14401t.). After 10 min. a finger-post on the left indicates the path
to the summit of the Lohrberg, which may be reached in 10 min.
(tower with view). The road reaches the Margarethenhof (comp.
p- 94) in 25 min. more.

14, Valley of the Ahr,
Comp. Maps, pp. 70, 97.

The Ahr rises at Blankenheim (p. 203) in the Eifel, traverses a wind-
ing, picturesque, and generally narrow valley, 54 M. long, and falls into
the Rhine below Sinzig. The river is always rapid and often overflows
its banks in rainy weather. — The full-flavoured, dark-red wines pro-
duced by the vineyards of the Ahr (the best are those of Walporeheim, Ahr-
weiler, and Bodendorf), are still termed ‘dnrrbleichert’, although the name
signifies ‘pale red wine of the Ahr’. It was formerly customary, after
pressing the grapes, to draw off the juice immediately, before fermentation
set in, The wine thus prepared was of a pink colour. The French plan of
allowing fermentation to begin before the separation of the juice from the
skins has however long been in vogue, and the dark-red colour is the result.

FroM REMAGEN T0 ADENAU, 26 M., railway in about 2!/¢ hrs.
(fares 3 .4 40, 2 4 60, 1.4 T0pt.).

Remagen, see p. 74, — The train describes a circuit round the
Victoria-Berg and enters the fruitful district at the mouth of the Ahr,
known as the ‘Goldene Meil’. — 3 M. Bodendorf (Hbtel-Restaurant
Cholin), a village about 11/y M. from Sinzig (p. 79), the church of
which is descried to the left. Farther on we obtain a view to the
left of the wooded hills on the right bank of the Ahr.

The train now skirts the Landskron (910 ft.), a lofty basaltic
hill, which may be ascended in /3 hr. either from Lohrsdorf (at its
S.E. base, 11/; M. from Bodendorf) or from Heppingen (to the W.,
11/3 M. from Neuenahr). Extensive view.

The castle on the summit is said to have been founded in 1206 by
Emp. Philip of Hohenstaufen, when on his way to be crowned at Aix-la-
Chapelle, for the purpose of keeping in check the hostile Archbishop
Bruno of Cologne. It was destroyed by the French in 1677 and again in
1682 by Elector William of Cologne. The Chapel (closed) on the 8.W. side
of the summit has been spared; a basaltic grotto serves as a sacriaty.
Near it is a quantity of massive basalt, overlying columnar basalt.

At the W. base of the Landskron are the Heppinger- and the
Landskroner-Mineralgquelle, two refreshing springs, impregnated
with carbonic acid gas. The Apollinarisbrunnen, a similar spring,
situated a little farther up the valley, was discovered in 1854, and

Baepexees Rhine. 16th Edit. ' 7
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is exploited by the English Apoilinaris Company Limited, which has
made Apollinaris Water familiar throughout the world.

5 M. Heimersheim (Mohren, at the station), with a small, but
handsome church which, with its octagonal tower over the centre of
the transept, closely resembles that of Sinzig. Choir richly adorned.
Stained glass of the early-Gothic period. — The bare patches in the
vineyards attest the ravages of the phylloxera, which here made its
first appearance in the Rhenish wine distriet.

61/, M. Neuenahr. — Hotels (all well spoken of). On the right
bank of the Ahr: *Cur-HOTEL, in immediate connection with the Bath
Establishment (see below), B. 8-41/3, B. 11/, D. 8, board 6}/, #; *Gr. HoT.
FLORA, R. 21/2-31/s, B. 1, D. 81/3, pens. T-10 #; VicToRIA; CONCORDIA,
R. 2‘/,-07 B. 1, D. 22, pens. 5!/2-8 4; HEIMES, R. 21/-6, B. 1, D. 21/;. pens.
from 51/ #; KalserHOF, R. 2-8, B. 1, D. 21/2, pens. 51/z-8 4 ; MARIARILF,
for Roman Catholics, pens. 3-6 .&; WALBURGISSTIFT, for Protestants, pens.

M. — On the left bank of the Ahr, near the station: *RHEEINISCHER
Hor, R.2!/2-5, B. 1, D. 8, pens. 7-9 #; *ParLasr-HérEL, R. 810, B. 1, D. 3,
pens. 6-12 4, with garden and restaurant (see below); *KaRL SCHRODER,
R. 2-5, B. 1, D. 8, pens. 6-10 4 ; Hor voN HoLLanp, B. & B. 3134, D. 3,
pens. 8'/2-8 M4 ; KroNe, R. 2-5, B. 1, D. 2l/g, pens. 6-10 #; TRAUBE,
R. 2-3Ys, B.1, D. 8, pens. 6‘428 M ; Ka1seR WILHELM, with lift, R. from 2,
pens. 6-25 #; GERMANIA, R. 24, B. 1, D. 3, pens 6-8 4 ; MARGARETE BONN
KEssLER ; STERN, R. & B. 21/3, pens. 5 #; GOLDENER ANKER; REICHSADLER}
GoLpENER PFLUG. — Private apartments may also be procured.

Cafés. Bellevue, Johannisberg, both with gardens and view. — Restau-
rant. Palast-Hotel (see above), D. 2 4 ; Sterm, D. 11/3 M#}; and others. —
‘Wine Room of the Winzer-Verein, near the station.

Oarriages. From the station to the village, 1 pers. 60, each additional
pers. 80 pf. — For longer drives the charges are usually the same as from
Ahrweiler.

Post & Telegraph Office, near the Cur-Hdtel.

Physician, Dr. K. Grube (speaks English).

Neuenahr, a flourishing modern watering-place, containing 2850
inhab. and visited by 11,600 patients yearly, consists of three formerly
separate villages: Hemmessen and Wadenheim, on the left bank of
the Ahr, with the railway-station, the post-office, the Protestant,
and a new Catholic church, and Beul, on the right bank, with the
old Roman Catholic church and the large and comfortable Bath
Establishment, rebuilt in 1899. The water of the five copious thermal
springs (86-104° Fahr.), which were discovered in 4864, is alkaline
and chiefly contains bicarbonate of soda, with an insignificant ad-
mixture of carbonate of magnesia and carbonate of lime; it is
strongly impregnated with carbonioc acid. The most important of
all is the Grrosse Sprudel, discovered in 1861. It occasionally rises in
athick jet, 8-10 ft. in height. The springs are beneficial in cases of
chronic catarrh, derangement of the pulmonary and digestive organs,
enlargement of the liver, diabetes, and uric acid diathesis. The
climate of Neuenahr is admirably suited for lung-diseases of a non-
irritable nature.

A road near the Victoria Hotel and a footpath at the old Roman
Cuatholic church ascend to the top of the wooded basaltic hill which is
crowned with the scanty ruins of the Caatle of Neuenahr, built by Otto
von Are about 1226. The Are family became extinct in 1858, and'the castle
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then came into the hands of the Knights of Rodesberg, who afterwards
assumed the title Count of Neuen-Are, It was destroyetf in 1871 by Arch-
bishop Biegfried of Cologne with the help of the inhabitants of Ahrweiler.
The small tower at the top commands a fine view, — Other walks may
be taken to Hemmessen and back, /2 hr.; to the Johannisberg (open-air
restaurant) and back, 3/4 hr.; to the Hutetilli (Victoria-Hohe) and back,
3/y hr.; to the top of the Landskron and back, 2 hrs.; to Ahrweiler, and to
the Calvarienberg (see below), and back, 11/2-2 hrs.

8 M. Ahrweiler. — Hotels. SteRN, R.411/3-21/z, D. 2/s, pens. 5-6 4;
Drer KRoONEN, R. 11/2-8, D. 2-2)/s, ‘x'ens. 41/2-0 M, with garden; DxuTsoHER
Hor. — Winzer-Verein, near the Walporzheimer Thor.

Oarriage Tariff. ¥rom the station to the town, 1 pers. 60, each ad-
ditional pers, 30 pf.; to the Calvarienberg 1 4, each addit. pers. 40 pf.;
to Walporzheim, Marienthal, or Neuenahr, one-horse (for 1-3 pers.) B/’,
two-horse (4-5 pers.) 21/z M; to Altenahs 5 or 7 M, there and back spend-
ing the whole day 10 or 13, passing the night 14 or 18 .#; to the Laacher
See 13 or 16 4, there and back 17 or 22 4.

Ahrweiler (340 ft.) is a thriving little town with 5100 inhab.,
surrounded by old walls with well-preserved gates, and carrying on
an active trade in wine. In the middle ages it belonged to the
Electorate of Cologne, and was repeatedly besieged during the feud
between the chapter of the cathedral, to which it adhered, and
the deposed archbishops. In 1646 and 1680 the town was besieged
by the French, by whom in 1689 it was entirely burned with the
exception of ten houses. The Gothic Church of St. Lawrence, found-
ed in 1245, dates partly from the 14th and the end of the 15th
century. — Pleasant walk from the station to Lantershofen. Fine
view from the Calvarienberg (see above), a rocky height 1/, M. to the
8., on the right bank of the Ahr, crowned with a Franciscan monastery,
dating from 1678, but occupied since 1838 by a girls’ school managed.
by Ursuline nuns. Another walk may be taken from the Calvarien-
berg vié the Steinthalskopf (good views) and through the Geisbach-
Thal and Heckenbach-Thal to (13/4 hr.) Walporzheim.

The railway skirts the old walls of Ahrweiler on the S. :

91/3 M. Walporzheim (St. Peter, with garden ; Deutscher Kaiser,
at the station ; St. Joseph or Winser- Verein, good wine at all), a place’
(880 inhab.) mentioned under the name of Walpredeshoven in a docu-
ment of 893, and long celebrated for its wine. This village lies at
the beginning of the narrower part of the Ahr Valley, which is-
well-suited for walkers as far as (2-21/; hrs.) Altenahr.

The railway and road now enter a rocky ravine, flanked by jagged
and riven cliffs of slate; on the left rushes the Ahr, on the right
rises an almost perpendicular black wall of slate-rock, from which a
single ridge called the ‘Bunte Kuh' projects. At the top is a small
inn, which commands an admirable view, especially by evening
light, and may be reached in 1/; hr. either from Ahrweiler or Wal-
porzheim. The railway crosses and recrosses the stream. On the
left bank, adjoining the road, are the ivy-clad ruins of the nun-
nery of Marienthal, near the hamlet of that name.

111/, M. Dernau (Brenig, Kélner Hof, both unpretending), below

T
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the railway-station. The valley again contracts, and the Ahr winds
through a wild, rocky district. The road follows the left bank of the
stream, passing opposite the precipitous cliff on the top of which
stand the fragments of the Saffenburg (845 ft.), captured by the
French in 1702 and destroyed by the imperial troops in 1704. The
railway passes through a tunnel beneath the Saffenburg, crosses
the river, and reaches —

131/g M. Mayschoss (Inn of the Winzer-Verein, at the station). A
bridge leads to the village, which lies on the left bank. A path, com-
manding beautiful views, ascends hence to the top of the Horn (p. 101).

The railway once more crosses the Ahr. At the Lochmiihle
. Sl—/g M. from Mayschoss; Inn, very fair, R. & B. 2-3, D. 2-21/,, pens.

5 .#) both the road and the railway enter a deep cutting through
the projecting grauwacke cliffs of the Guckley, which may be ascended
by steps from this point. — We next pass the hamlets of Laach and
Reimershofen, at the latter of which, 4 M. from the Lochmiihle,
pedestrians should ascend a path through the vineyards to the right
to (1/4 hr.) the Weisse Kreuz (p. 101 ; paths through the vineyards
are closed from the end of August till the middle of October). The
railway crosses the river beyond Laach, but, after ascending a steep
gradient, returns to the left bank by means of a bridge, 275 ft. long
and 56 ft. high, and side by side with the road enters a short tunnel,
by which the circuit of 41/3 M. described by the valley is out off.
The river is again crossed before Altenahr is reached.

15 M. Altenahr. — Hotels. *Caspari, R. & B. 21/2-8/3, D. 8, pens.
41/,-7 M ; *ReeNiscuEr Hor, with garden on the Ahr, R. & A. 11/2-21/,,
B. 3/y, D. from 11/3, pens. from 5 ., both about 4 min. from the station;
*PosT, at the station, with small garden and view, B. & B. 21/, pens. 6 .4 ;
Weisses Keevz, R. 11/3-21/y, B. 34, D. 11/2-21/s, gens. 4-51/, M ; HOTEL PaNSION
ENGELSLEY, at the foot of the Engelsiey (p. 101). — Restaurant of the Winzer-

Verein, at the rail. station. — Permissions for trout-fishing in the Abr are
issued by the Burgomaster.

Altenahr (345 ft.), with 630 inhab., situated amidst very pic-
turesque scenery, is the final goal of most visitors to the Ahr Valley,
and in summer, especially on Sundays, it is often unpleasantly
crowded. The bridge, on the road from the station to the village,
commands alovely prospect, both upstream and downstream ; another
good point of view is the Henlei, above the station. The prettily-
situated Romanesque church has a Gothic choir.

A broad path, beginning opposite the Hotel Caspari, ascends
to (8-10 min.) the *Castle of Altenahr (950 ft. ; adm. 50 pf.), the
ruins of which are perched on a bold, jagged cliff, rising im-
mediately above the village. This was once the seat of the power-
ful Counts of Are and afterwards of the Counts of Hochstaden, of
whose elder branch Conrad, Archbishop of Cologne, the founder of
the cathedral of Cologne in 1248, was the last scion. The castle,
which is said to have existed as early as the 10th cent., was con-
siderably strengthened by the Electors of Cologne’ in ‘the 14th and
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15th; it fell into the hands of the French 1a 167 and again-in’ 1690,
and was finally destroyed in consequence- of: the Peate o} Utrecht
(1714). — The view from the Weisse Kreus, on a rocky ridge to
the N. of the castle, on the footpath hetweeii RéNeé2zhbfes.(p..100)
and Altenahr, surpasses that from the'castle; af the lattér ifself Yormd
the foreground of the landscape. The ascent to the Wefsse Kreuz
from Altenahr also begins with the broad path mentioned above.
8till finer is the view from the *Schwarse Kreus, on the height on
the right bank of the Ahr, opposite the castle on the 8. (reached
from the rail. station through the vineyards in 1/ hr.). About
10 min. farther on is the Teufelsloch, a gap in the rocks, affording
a view of the Ahr deep below.

Another fine point of view is the *Horn (1320 ft.). We follow the road
to (3/4a M.) Altenburg, then turn to the left, and, after 100 paces, take the
footpath to the right and ascend to (3/4 hr.) the pavilion on the top. We
may return either to the E. vid Laach (p. 105; B/s hr.), or to the 8. vid
Denn and Brick (see below).

Other points of view are the Engelsley, to the 8. of the castle (ascent
from the lower end of the tunnel through which the highrdad passes, 1/4 hr. ;
inn; adm. 25 pf.); the Kalembormer Hihe (inn), 3 M. from Alten on
the road to Meckenheim (p. 203); and the Hasenberg (1690 ft.), near Ober-
Krdhlingen, 41/z M. to the N.W. of Altenburg. Near the latter, at Vell
are the hill of Hochthiirmen (1495 ft.) and the Heidengarien, both surrounde
with basaltic blocks.

The railway continues to ascend the Ahr Valley, crossing and
recrossing the river at the cliffs below the Teufelsloch (to the right)
and the hamlet of Altenburg (to the left; see above). On a bold emi-
nence to the right, between the valleys of the Vischeler Bach and
Sarbach, rises the chateau of Herr von Boselager, opposite which lies
the village of Kreusberg (Wirz's Inn). Once more returning to the
right bank, the train passes the village of Piitsfeld, and reaches —

47 M. Briick (Linden, poor), at the mouth of the Kesselinger- Thal.

In the Kesselinger-Thal, with fine rocky y, & road ds to
(%/s M.) Denn, where the path from the Horn descends (see above), and the

th to the Hohe Acht mentioned below diverges to the 8., and (2 M.)
esseling. Here the road forks: to the right to Weidenbach, Herschbach, and
(6'/s M.; about 3 hrs’. walk from Briick) Kaltenborn (Langenfeld's Inm);
.thence to the Hoke Acht (see below), 3/s-1 hr. — The footpath leading to
the 8. from Denn, and ascending the Dennthal, another valley with pic-
turesque rocky scenery, is preferable. Farther on, it leads through mea-
dows and fine woods to the Hohe Warth (2050 ft.; on the right) and past
the forester's house of Hohe Acht (rfmts.) to the top of the HoAe Acht
(p. 1025 about 81/s hra.).
The river is crossed and recrossed. — 191/, M. Hinningen (Surges,
.poor). Beyond Liers (3 M. up the Lierser-Thal rises the picturesque
ruin of Wensberg) we reach —

22 M. Diimpelfeld, where the highroad forks, the W. branch
ascending the Ahr Valley, the S. branch that of Adenau.

The road that continues hence through the Ahr Valley leads by Insel,
the picturesquely-asituated (2 M.) Schuld, the (2 M.) Laufenbacher Hof
(inn), and Fuchshofen to the (/> M.) Washolder Hof and (3/s M.) Antweiler
(Brenig), & hamlet lying 3/4 M. to the N. of Milsch, on the road from Adenau
to Blankenheim. — From the last two we may ascend in 11/4(hr. to the
top of the Aremberg, a basaltic cone crowned with the ruins of the an-
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cestral castle of the Dakes of Aremberg and a view-tower, 50 ft. high
(key kept by the buzgomhster atAntweller).

The rallway and ‘highroad now quit the Ahr Valley, and ascend
that, of the.Adenawer Bach, vi§ Nizder-Adenau and Leimbach.

;.. 6., Aenan (990 ft.; Eifeler Hof, R. & B. 2-21/5, D. 2, pens,
4-6.#; Holber Mond, R. 1 . 60,°B. 80 pf., D. 11/5-2, pens. 4 .4;
Krone; Wildes Schwein), a district-town with 1700 inhab., on both
banks of the stream. The parish-church, dating from the 11th cent.,
but subsequently completely altered, has a rectangular choir and a
late-Gothic carved high-altar.

Near the village rise the two highest peaks of the Eifel. About 4}/s M.
to the E., and reached by the new road up the Ezback-Thal, is the *Hohe
Acht (2495 ft.), which commands an extensive view over the Eifel as far
as the mountains of the Rhine, and on the N. even to the cathedral of
Cologne. At the top is & small refuge-hut, the key of which is kept at the
forester’s (see p. 101), to the left, before reaching the top. — About 41/, M,
to the 8. of Adenau rises the steep Niirburg (2180 ft.), surmounted by a
ruined castle mentioned as early as 943, with a lofty tower (key at the
inn) commanding a fine panorama (ascent from Quiddelbach, on the Kelberg
road, 3 M. from Adenau, turning to the left beyond the village, 25 min.;
or from Breidscheid by a direct footpath in 11/¢ hr.; comp. the Map, p. 202).

Dirigence from Adenau once daily to (10 M.) Kelerg (Pauli, fair) and
thence to Ulmen (p. 208) and (20 M., in 5 hrs.) Cochem (p. 193).

15. From Andernach and from Brohl to the
Laacher See.

BaiLway to Kyuft or Niedermendig; thence on foot to the Abbey of
Laach (from Kruft, vid the Krufter Ofen, in 21/4 hrs., from Niedermendig
in 1 hr.); then vid Wassenach, in 13/s hr., to Bad Tdnnisstein, a station on
the Brohl Valley Railway (p. 103).

FroM ANDERRNACH To NIeDERMENDIG (Mayen, Daun, Gerolstein,
see p. 207), 91/, M. ; branch-railway in 1/g hr. (fares 1 4 20, 90 pf.).

Andernach, see p. 75.— 4 M. Plaidt; the village (360 ft.; Zillien)
has a handsome church. From the station we reach in 1/, hr. the
Rauscher-Miihle (Inn, pens. 31/3-4 ), surrounded by splendid trees,
where the Nette is precipitated over blocks of lava, forming a series
of small cascades, In the vicinity are extensive tufa-quarries (comp.
p- 103). On a rock rising abruptly from the Nette, 3/4hr. to the left,
stands the ruin of Wernerseck (060 ft.), with a well-preserved tower.
— The hills which are now visible on both sides of the line are all
extinct volcanoes : to the right are the Nickenicher Weinberg (735 ft.)
and the Krufter Ofen(15381t.); to the left, the Plaidter Hummerich
(968 ft.), with its saddle-like summit, and the Korretsberg (984 ft.).

6 M. Kruft (Auer), a village with 1600 inhabitants. A pleasant
road, soon contracting to a footpath, leads from the station to
(11/4 hr.) the Krufter Ofen (see above), which commands a good view
of the Laacher See and the Seven Mts. (descent to Laach, 1 hr.).

Farther on, to the left, in the plain, is the Frauen-Kirche, or
church of St. Genovefa, where according to the legend the saint was

~nd by her husbhand Siegfried, Count Palatine of Hohensimmern
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d. 764). The church contains monuments of a married couple
%14& cent.), said to represent them. Numerous mineral springs
bubble up on the roadside, near the brook which crosses the road,
the water of which is now bottled and exported.

91/s M. Niedermendig (Gute Quelle, Post, R. & B. 2-21/,,
D. 1-2 4, both very fair; Erholung, R. & B. 2-21/5, D. 11/, pens.
41/, 4 ; Schiitsenhof, R. 11/0-2, B. 1/o-3/4 4, pens. 3-b &), a village
with 3200 inhab. and an old church recently enlarged, containing
mural paintings of the 12th cent., stands upon a stream of basaltic lava
(probably ejected by the Hoohstein), which yields admirable material
for millstones, paving-stones, etc. The quarries, which are more than
60 ft. under ground, and were probably once worked by the Romans,
are almost all conneocted. The roof is supported by massive pillars
left for the purpose. A guide (1 .#) precedes visitors with a torch;
the inspection occupies an hour (overcoat desirable). The deserted
galleries are used as beer-cellars on account of their low temperature,
to which the beer of Niedermendig chiefly owes its reputation. —
Continuation of the railway to Mayen and Gerolstein, see p. 207.

FroM NiRpRRMENDIG TO LaacE (p. 104), 3!/5 M.; by a dusty
road. Carriages meet the trains (4 .4, with two horses 6 .4). The
second half of the route, after the intervening hills have been crossed,
affords a charming view of the lake and the fine abbey-church.

Frou Brouw (p. 74) To KempexnicH, 15 M., narrow-gauge rail-
way in 18/¢ hr. — The line ascends the Brohlthal, a deep winding
valley, enclosed by wooded mountains. On both sides are numerous
tufa-quarries, some of which are open, while others are driven like
mining-shafts into the hill. The extensive stratum of Tufa, 50-
100 ft. in thickness, which covers the floor of the valley and the
lower slopes of the hills, is, like the conglomerate stone mentioned
at p. 77, the result of showers of volcanic matter. When pounded
(‘trass”) and mixed with lime this tufa possesses the invaluable
property of hardening under water, and it is largely exported to
Holland for the construction of dykes. — To the right, after 2 M.,
in the middle of the valley, rises the small castle of Schweppenburg
(310 tt% probably erected in the 16th century.

The HRILBRUNNER-THAL, which diverges here to the 8., contains the
Heildbrunnen (385 ft.), & mineral spring similar to the Kreuzbrunnen of
Marienbad. — The Brohl Valley generally, as well as the vicinity of the
‘Laacher See, abounds in mi 1 springs, impregnated with the carbonic
acid gas that issues from the fissures of the slate-rock.

21/o M. Bad Tonnisstein (410 ft.; Curhaus, very fair, R. from 3,
B. 3/y, pens. 5-61/y ), the water of which, resembling that of
Selters, was collected in a tank as early as 1700.

The line now crosses the Brohlbach and, traversing a tunnel,
enters the broader part of the Brohl Valley. — 31/, M. Burgbrohl
(480 ft.; Traube, unpretending but good; Krone), picturesquely
situated, with an old castle, restored in the 18th century.
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Beyond (41/; M.) Weiler, the well-formed ancient crater of the
Bausenberg (1150 ft.) rises on the right. — 6 M. Nieder-Zissen
(Fuhrmann).

From Nieder-Zissen a road leads 2gut‘, the volcanic peak (3/4 hr.) of
Eerchenbarﬂ)(loﬁo ft.), Ober-Liitzingen (20 min.), and (25 min.) Niedey- Liit-
gingen to (40 min.) the castle of Rheineck (p. T4), where we reach the Rhine,
a walk of about /s hrs. in all. — From Nieder-Zissen to Neusnahs (p. 98),
about 12 M.

The next station is (71/g M.) Ober-Zissen (750 ft), at the con-
fluence of several brooks forming the Brohlbach. On a lofty phono-
lithio cone on the right, 21/4 M. from Ober-Zissen, appears the castle
of Olbriick (1550 ft.), one of the highest points in this district, with
an extensive view. The castle was destroyed by the French in 1689.
The key of the ruin is kept at Rademacher’s Inn in Hain, the village
below the castle (1 M.). — The railway now ascends more rapidly,
with the Hannebacher Lei and the Perlkopf (1930 ft.) on the right.
10 M. Brenk. To the right rises the Schellkopf (1670 ft.). — 11 M.
Engeln, at the highest point of the line (1640 ft.), commands an
extensive view. — At (12 M.) Weibern (1330 ft.) are quarries of
hard grey tufa. — 15 M. Kempenich.

Visitors to the Laacher See quit the narrow-gauge line at Bad
Tonnisstein (p. 103). The road thence (13/4-2hrs.) passes (1/3M.)
the ruins of the (1.) Carmelite nunnery of Antoniusstein (hence the
corruption ‘Tdnnisstein’), and ascends to the right to (13/, M.)
Wassenach (915 ft.; Porsch). About 3/g M. above Wassenach we
reach the wood (4450 ft.), where the road begins to descend towards
the Laacher See. On the right rises the wooded Veitskopf (1380 ft.),
a volcanic peak with a double crater opening on the W., and a
broad, abruptly-inclined lava-stream. A path (guide-post) leads to
the left to the Lydia-Thurm, commanding a wide prospect. The road
to Laach skirts the lake and in 1/, hr. reaches the comfortable
Hitel Maria Laach (R. 2-3, D. 8 4).

The *Laacher 8ee (900 ft.) occupies a nearly circular basin,
12/3 M. in diameter and D M. in circumference, and is about 175 ft.
deep in the middle. It is the largest of the crater-like tarns of the
Eifel (p. 202), and, though not itself a crater, has doubtless been
formed by volcanic action.

The volcanic formations for which the Vorder-Eifel is remarkable
occur here in very great variety, and the lake itself has obviously been
the central point of the volcanic activity of this neighbourhood. It is sur-
rounded by five craters: the Veitskops (see above), the Laacherkopf (1508 ft.),
the Laacher Rothenberg (1670 ft.), the Thelenberg (1328 ft.), and the Kruftes
Ofen (p. 102). Upwards of forty different streams of lava have been counted
in the environs of the lake. — The lake has no natural outlet, but in the
12-13th cent. an artificial shaft was formed, by which the superfluous water
was conducted to the Nette. This was re-opened and improved in 1842-A8,

On the S.W. bank rises the Benedictine Abbey of *Laach,
founded in 1093 by Count Palatine Henry (4. 1095), once one of the
wealthiest and most celebrated in Germany. The abbey was sup-
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pressed by the French in 1802, and from 1863 to 1878 it was in
the hands of the Jesuits, who established a school here for pupils of
the order. In 1893 it was restored to the Benedictines. The *Church,
completed in 1106, with dome, transepts, two choirs, five towers,
and crypt, is a noble example of the Romanesque style, being
most impressive externally (p. xxviil). The upper parts of the
towers and the beautiful Porch in front of the W. fagade (in form
of a cloister), restored in 1859, belong to the close of the 12th
century. The ornamental details are executed with wonderful deli-
cacy. The vaulting in the interior deviates from the usual style in
having its longitudinal sections in the nave no broader than those
in the aisles. In the W. choir is the monument of the founder,
a sarcophagus with a recumbent figure, beneath a hexagonal canopy
supported by columns, dating from the end of the 13th century.
The two front columns are monoliths of variegated calc-sinter, found
in the Roman aqueduct through the Eifel Mts.

On the E. side of the lake, nearly opposite the abbey, is a building
of two stories, erected by the Jesuits. )fen it, about 20 ft. above the
water, i8 a ‘mofette’, a hollow 7 ft. in width, and 3-4 ft. in depth, whence
a stream of carbonic acid gas (most perceptible in wet weather) constantly
issues. The suffocating nature of the lower strata of the air in this hol-
low may be tested by stooping down and attempting to breathe it.

A cart-road ascends from Laach vid Bell (Oligschliger's Inn, with key
of the tower) to the (1!/4 hr.) view-tower on the G4nsehals (1873 ft.), com-
manding an extensive prospect of the Laacher See, the Pellenz, the moun-
tains on the Rhine and the Moselle, and of Olbriick and the Seven Mts. to
the N. (in elear weather, the cathedral of Cologne is visible). From Bell
vid Obermendig (Spitzlay, plain), with the Elisabethbrunnen, to Nieder-
mendig (p. 103) 1 hr. Interesting view to the right of the Ettringer Bellen-
berg (p. <07), the upper part of which r bles the section of a vol

16. Coblenz and its Environs.

The piers of the large STRAMBOATS are below the bridge-of-boats, —
The CENTRAL RAILWAY STATION, opened in 1902, for all lines, is on the
'W. side of the town, at the foot of the Karthause, about 11/s M. from the
piers, and Yz M. from the Rhine Promenade. There is another station at
Ehrenbreftstein (p. 111) for the trains of the Railway of the Right Bank. —
Hotel-omnibuses meet the trains at the central station, and also some of
the steamers, but not the trains at Ehrenbreitstein.

Hotels. On the Rhine: *G1ANT (Riese; Pl. a), BELLEVUE (Pl. b), two large
houses of the first class; *Anxer (Pl. c), R. 2, B. 11/, D. 8, pens. 7-9 .4;
TraUBE, Rhein-Strasse, very fair, R. 2-4, B. 1, D. %z, ens. from 6 4;
VICTORIA, opposite the bridge-of-boats, plain, k. 11/, . — In the Town:
*MoxoroL (Pl. f), at the corner of the Schloss-8tr. and the Lihr-Rondell,
with eleetric light and lift, R. 21/3-6, B. 1, D. 3; WiLDEs SCHEWEIN (Pl. e),
in the Plan, commercial, R. 11/4-31/3, B. 1. D. 2/s #; HOTEL DE TREVES,
in the Clemens-Platz, next the theatre (Pl. 26); HOTeL Dk COLOGNE, by
the Moselle bridge, R. 11/2-2/3, B. 1, D. 2!/s 4, well spoken of; ENGELS,
Schloss-3tr. 84, R. & B. 11/3-21/3 #; SPRINGER, Lohr-S8tr. 66. — Pensions.
English Lodge (Villa Germania), Mainzer-Str. 98, pens. 41/2-6 .#; Hotel Rhein-
hof, ;:l zfafer{dorf, see p. 112.

pol, at the Giant Hotel, with a fine view of
Ehrenbreitstein; °Stddtische Festhalle (p. 109; wine & beer restaurant); at
the Hotel de Treves, see above, very fair; refreshments in the'* Zrinkhalie, on
the Rhine Promenade, military music in summer on Thurs. afternoons. —
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Wine. *Tillmann, near the Kaufhaus (p. 108), with a view of the Moselles
Schetd, Fruchtmarkt. — Civil-Casino (Bl. 2), good wine; introduction by
a member necessary. — Beer. Fransiskaner Leistdbrdu, Franziskaner, both
in the Geben-Platz; Minchner Kindl, Schloss-8tr. 34.

Baths. Warm, Russian, Tu kish, and other baths in the new Residens-
bad, Castorpfaffen-Str, 8. — River-baths in the Rhine, attached to the
bridge-of-boats (bath 50 pf.) and at the new swimming-baths (also for ladies;
warm baths) in the Rhine Promenade.

Post and Telegraph Office (Pl. 22), at the corner of the Clemens-Platz.

Oarri Within the town-limits (including Ehrenbreitstein and all
the railway-stations): per !/4 hr., 1-2 pers. 70 pf., 3-4 pers. 1 #; with two
horses 1 .I, 1 .4 30 pf.; each /4 hr. additional, 80 pf., with two horses
60 pf. Double fare at night (11 -6 in summer, 10-7 in winter). ZLuggage
from 33 to 55 1bs. 25 pf., up to 110 1bs. 50 pf. Bridge Toll (22-29 pf.) extra on
crossing the river. — Drive to the Riltersturs (p. 110) vid the Laubach
Alfy or 6, there and back with 2 hrs’. stay 6 or 8 A; vid the Kart-
hause, 7 & 10, or 10 & 14 .#; fort of Ehrenbreitstein (p. 111), or to the
top of the Asterstein, 4 or 5, and back with 2 hrs’. stay, b or 7.4
(bridge-toll extra).

Local Steamers to Ehrendrefistein (5 pf.), starting opposite the end of
the Rhein-Str. (convenient for passengers by the Railway of the Right
Bank); to Vallendar (p. 84; 20 pf.), from the piers of the large steamers
twelve times daily; to the Rhine Promenade (g. 109; 15 or 10 pf.), Pfaffen-
dors (p.112; 15 or 10 pf.), Horchheim (p. 118; 25 or 15 pf.), Capelien (p. 118 ;
85 or 2 pf.), Oberlahnstein (p.114; 35 or 26 ‘Kf.)z Rhens (p. 1153 66 or 40 pf.),
and Braubach (p. 115; 60 or 45 pf.), from the ‘Hafen-Commissariat’, above
the bridge-of-boats, 6-12 times daily. — Moselle Steamers, see p. 190.

ectric Tramways. From the Bridge-of-Bouts to the Central Railway
Station and the Schiltzenhof (at the junction of the streets issuing from
the Mainzer Thor and the L6hr-Thor). — From the Goeben-Platr vid the
Mainzer Ch ée to the Sch haus (14 hr. 15 pf.) and thence in summer
to Capellen (p. 118; 25 min. ; 35 pf.). — From the Plan to Litsel-Coblens and
Neuendorf. — From the former Lihr-Thor to Ehrenbreitstein vid the Kaiser
Wilhelm Ring (p. 109), and the Pfaffendorf Bridge (p. 109), 15 pf. — For
electric tramways in Ef:renbreitaﬁein, see p. 111,

English Church Service at 8 and 11 a.m. and 6 (in winter §) p.m. in
the English Chapel, Gorgen-Str., N. end of Victoria-Str.

Principal Attractions (8-4 hrs.). Walk along the Rhine to the Emperor
William Monument and th'n past the Church of St. Castor to the Goeben-
Platz; thence through the tree-shaded squares of the ‘nmew town®, passing
the Royal Palace, and along the Mainzer-~tr. to the Pappel-Rondell (p. 110);
here turn to the left, proceed to the Empress Augusta Monument, and re-
turn to the town by the Rhine Promenade. Ascend the Ehrenbreitstein.

Coblenx (200 ft.), at the confluence of the Moselle and Rhine, is the
capital of the Rhenish Province of Prussia and the seat of the civil
and military authorities. Pop. 45,000; garrison 5000, Ehrenbreit-
stein not included (see p. 141). Coblenz carries on an important
wine-trade and manufactures large quantities of sparkling wine,
most of which is exported to England and the British Colonies.
Few towns on the Rhine can vie with Coblenz in beauty of situation,
standing as it does at the junction of two of the most picturesque
rivers in Europe, and commanding charming views in every direc-
tion. Coblenz contains excellent schools, some of which are fre-
quented by English girls. There is also a Conservatorium of Music.

As the pure Latin form of its name (Confluentes) indicates, the town
was founded by the Romans. The original castellum was situated on the
height now included in the o0ld town, to the S.E. of the Moselle bridge, but
the passage over the Moselle, which it was built to-protect, seems to have
been usually made in the neighbourhood of the Deutsche Eck (p. 107)
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until the middle of the 3rd cent. of our era. The great military road then
reconstructed by Aurelian (270-275), which ran in the line now joining the Mo-
sel-Bahnhof and the Lohr-8tr., intersected the town and crossed the Moselle
immediately below the present bridge, where numerous remains of a Ro-
man bridge-of-piles were discovered in 1864. The numerous Roman tomb-
stones that have been found on the highroad indicate that the population
was more civil than military. Although a Frankish palatium was erected
on the ruins of the Roman town as early as the 6th cent., Coblenz remained
a place of little importance down to the establishment of the Rhenish
Towns' Confederation (p. 156). In the Thirty Years’ War it was alternately
besieged and garrisoned by Swedish, French, and Imperial troops. In 1688,
although the town was nearly destroyed by the French cannonade, Mar-
shal Boufflers was compelled to retreat without effecting an entry. On
the completion of the palace in 1786 Coblens became the residence of
the Elector of Tréves, but a few years later (1794) it was taken by the
French, who in 1798 made it the capital of the Department of the Rhine
and Moselle. In 1815 it became Prussian. It was subsequently converted
into one of the strongest fortresses on the Rhine, but since the peace of
Frankfort it has occupied a secondary rank as compared with Mayence,
Cologne, Strassburg, and Mets. Since 1890, when the demolition of the
town-walls was begun, a new town as large as the old has sprung up
outside the old gates.

A broad quay, affording a fine view of the busy stream, Ehren-
breitstein, and the Asterstein, runs along the side of the town next
the Rhine to the ‘Deutsche Eck’, the point of land between the
Rhine and the Moselle, so called from a former Teutonic Lodge
(Deutschordenshaus; P1. 4), now occupied by the provinecial archives.
Upon this point, which is now about 42 ft. above the normal water-
level, rises the imposing **Monument of Emp. William I., erected
by the Province of the Rhine and designed by Bruno Schmits. The
copper equestrian figure of the emperor, 45 ft. in height, accom-
panied by a Genius (30 ft. high) bearing the laurel-wreathed im-
perial crown, is by Emil Hundrieser. The whole is supported by an

.architectural basis of great merit. This is one of the most impressive
purely personal monuments in the world, and dominates the land-
scape in all directions. A specially fine view of it is obtained from

“the steamers ascending the river.

The Church of 8t. Castor, founded in 836, dates in its present
form chiefly from the end of the 12th cent., and was consecrated in
1208. It is a Romanesque basilica with four towers, terminating in
a semicircular apse adorned with a gallery of small columns, and
presents a picturesque appearance from the quay. It has recently
been well restored. The nave is roofed with rich Gothio groined
vaulting, which was sabstituted in 1498 for the originally flat ceil-
ing. To the right, in the choir, is the Gothic Monument of Arch-
bishop Kuno von Falkenstein (d. 1388 ; see p. 119).

To the W. of the church stands the CasTor-BRUNNEN (Br. on
Plan), erected in 4842 by the last French prefeot in commemor-
ation of the French ocampaign against Russia. The Russian general
St. Priest with exquisite irony added the words: ‘Vu et approuvé
par nous Commandant Russe de la ville de Coblence. Le 1.jan. 1814".
~— The Qastorpfaffen-Str. leads hence to the S. to the Rhein-Str,
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(see below), whence it is continued by the Carmeliter-Str. to the
Clemens-Platz (p. 109).

In the middle ages and until the 18th cent., the greater part of
the town lay on the Moselle; but the narrow, crooked streets of
that period which are still extant present few features of interest.
The Florins-Kirche (PL 14), of the 12th cent., with Gothic choir, has
been used as a Protestant church since 1818. Adjacent are the so-
called Kaufhaus (Pl. 12), built in 1479 as a town-hall and now a
school, and the Schiffenhaus, built in 1530 and fitted up in 1891 as
a museum, containing chiefly Roman and Frankish antiquities (open
free on Sun., 11.80-1; at other times on application to the custodian
of the school). A flight of steps leads to the Moselle Quay, afford-
ing a good view of the pretty oriel window of the Schiffenhaus. —
The Church of Our Lady, or Oberpfarr-Kirche (P1. 17), finished in
1431, with Romanesque nave and Gothic choir, marks the highest
point of the Roman castrum.

The Moselle Bridge, which leads to Liitzel-Coblenz, was erected
by Elector Baldwin about 1344, restored in 1440, and widened in
1884. It commands a fine view of Emp. William’s Monument and
of Ehrenbreitstein. — The lofty turreted building adjoining the
bridge on the S.E. is the ancient Burg (Pl. 1), or Electoral Palace,
built in 1276, and recently acquired by the town for administrative
offices. The entrance is in the Burg-Strdsse, on the S. side.

A stone spiral staircase, dating from 1557, ascends to the first floor,
on which is the Municipal Pcture Gallery (chielly Dutch masters of inferior
importance ; open free on Sun. 11-1, at other times 25 pf.).

-On the left bank of the Moselle here are the houses of Lifzel-Coblens
and the Petersberg, an eminence crowned by Fort Franz. At the E. base
of the fort, 4 M. from the Moselle bridge, but somewhat difficult to find
on account of the construction of a large goonds-station, rises a blunted
pyramid of lava to the memory of General Marceau, who fell at Alten-
kirchen in 1796, with a long French inscription (‘soldat & 16 ans, géneral
& 22 ons’). His monument and remains were originally on the hill, but
on the constraction of the fortifications by Fred. William III. were re-
moved to their present site. Byron's lines —

¢By Coblenz on a gentle rise of ground,

There is a small and simple pyramid,

Crowning the summit of the verdant mound;

Beneath its base are hero’s ashes hid

Our enemy, — but let not that forbid

Honour to Marceau!’ &c.
refer to the monument in its original position. In 1889 the remains of
the valiant general were exhumed and transferred to the Pantheon at Paris.

The busy RERIN-STRASSE leads from the river to the GorBrN-
Prarz, in which rises a Statue of General von Goeben (1816-80),
a distinguished commander in the wars of 1864, 1866, and 1871.
The sculptor was Fr. Schaper. — The W. continuation of the Rhein-
Str. leads to the small Jesuiten-Platz, with the Stadthaus, formerly
a Jesuit College, on the 8. side. A bronze statue in this square, by
Uphues, commemorates Johannes Miiller (1801-58), the physiologist.

The Post-Strasse leads from the Goeben-Platz past the Post
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Office (P1. 22) to the CLEMBNs-PLATz, which is embellished with
an Obelisk, commemorating the construction in 1791 (by the Elector
Olemens Wenceslaus) of the first aqueduct supplying the town with
water. — The road to the E. leads to the Rhine Promenade (p. 109).

Between the Clemens-Platz and the site of the former Mainzer
Thor, to the 8., extends an open space, known as the ‘Parade-
Platz’, planted with trees and flanked on the E. side by the former
electoral stables (now artillery-barracks) and the palace.

The Palace, a large building with a lofty Ionic portico, was
erected in 1778-86, from the designs of the French architects
Iznard and Peyre, for Clemens Wenceslaus (p. 183), last Elector
of Trdves, and occupied by him till 1794.

After the French occupation it was devoted to military purposes. Fred-
erick Willian IV. of Prussia restored it in 1842-45. The groundfloor of
the 8. wing was assigned 2s the official residence of the civil governor of
the Rhine province. In 1850-58 it was occupied by the Prince of Prussia
(afterwards Emp. William I.) when military governor of the Rhine province
and Westphalia. The Empress Augusta annually spent a part of spring and
autumn here until her death in 1890.

The RovarL APARTMENTS are on the first floor (visitors ring for the
castellan in the lower corridor of the N. wing); open on week-days 10-6 &
Sun. 11-6 (in winter till 4), adm. 25 pf., free on Sun. and Wed. before 1 p.m.
The ceiling: painting (Night and Morning) in the Receptéion Room is one of the
chief works of Januarius Zick (1733-9.5, court-painter to the Elector of
Tréves. The Gobeline Room contains tapestry sald to have been presented
by Louis XVI. to Frederick the Great. In the Electors’ Room are portraits
of Electors of Tréves, from Richard von Greiffenklau (15611-81) to Clemens
Wenceslaus (1768-1802); also memorials of various kinds from the period of
the electors and later.

Near the site of the old Mainzer Thor, on the left side of the
street, rises the Stddtische Festhalle (1901), with an elegant café-
restaurant on the groundfloor, a concert-hall, and extensive wine-
cellars. To the right begins the broad new Kaiser-Wilhelm-Ring,
which ends at the old Lohr-Thor, beside the new Hers-Jesu-Kirche.
~— To the left is the approach to the Pfaffendorf Bridge over the
Rhine, built in 1862-64, an elegant structure of three iron arches,
each with a span of 106 yds., commanding a beautiful view (toll
2 pf.). Originally a railway-bridge, the structure is now used only
for ordinary foot and carriage traffic and for the electric tramway
(p. 106). A flight of steps descends to the Rhine Promenade.

The new quarters of the town begin beyond the Festhalle. The
MaInzER-STRASSE (electric tramway), the main artery of traffic, is
flanked with tasteful villas and other houses and passes the Roman
Catholie church of St. Joseph, built in 1896-98. The side-streets
on the left lead to the Rhine Promenade.

The beautiful * Rhine Promenade (Rhein-Anlagen), extending
along the river, to the S. of the Rhine quay (p.407), for about 11/ M.,
and passing behind the palace, was tastefully laid out under the
auspices of the Empress Augusta (d. 1890). Immediately above the
passage under the Pfaffendorf Bridge (accessible hence by a lofty
{ron staircase, see above) s a bust of the poet Max von Schenkendor/
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(b. 1783), who died at Coblenz in 1817. Farther to the S. is the
Tvinkhalle (p. 106), which contains a few memorials of the Empress
Augusta. A route leads hence direct to the Central Railway Station.
An inscription records the enthusiastic reception which the King
and Queen of Prussia received here in July, 1870, after the events
at Ems which led to the outbreak of war with France. A little
farther on is the tasteful *Monument to the Empress Augusta, with
a statue by K. F, Moest. Behind is a station (Pappelrondell) of the
electric tramway (p. 106).

The grounds end opposite the island of Oberwerth (p. 112), at the
point where the Berlin and Metz railway crosses the arm of the river
between the island and the mainland by an embankment. The
Horchheim Railway Bridge, which spans the wider arm of the
river, between Oberwerth and the E. bank, was constructed by
Altenloh in 1877-79, and is 1300 ft. long. It consists of three wide
briok arches, and of two light and elegant iron arches, each with a
span of 350 ft. Except at night and in dense fog, it is open to
pedestrians, who enjoy from it an admirable *View in all directions.

The bridge reaches the E. bank i1/ M. above the bridge-of-boats at
Coblenz. — The railway-station of Horchhesm (p. 1418) is situated at the
upper end of the village, /s M. from the bridge.

Beyond the embankment, about 13/4 M. from the former Mainzer
Thor (p. 109) by the Mainzer-Str., is the mouth of the small valley
of the Laubbach (comp. the Maps, pp. 105, 112), in which is a health-
resort. A road, ascending to the left at the entrance to the valley by
the Geisenkopfchen, leads in 25 min. to the Rittersturz, which may
also be reached in 1/g hr. by a shorter footpath diverging to the left.
The *Rittersturz, a hill laid out with promenades (restaurant and
tower), commands a beautiful view of Coblenz and Ehrenbreitstein,
Lahneck, Marksburg, and Stolzenfels.

The walk may be Jrolonged to the 8., either to the right to the top
of the Kithkopf (see below), or to the left along the slope to the (20 min.)
*Dommelberg, with a platform commanding a finer view than that from
the Rittersturz. Three prehistoric stone circles on the slope ot the Dommel-
berg and other discoveries point to the existence in this neighbourhood of
a considerable Celtic settlement, which remained until the Roman period.

The summit of the Kihkopf (1280 ft.) is reached from the Rittersturz
in 3/4 hr. by following the above- tioned path through wood, finally
crossing the Hunsriick road (43/¢ hr. from Cobfanz). It commands a beaan-
tiful and extensive view of the Rhine and the Moselle, with the volcanic
summits of the Eifel (left), and the mountains enclosing the valley of the
Rhine. — From the Kiihkopf we reach Capellen (p. 112) in 1 hr. by re-
turning to the Hunsriick road, following it to the right for a short distance,
and then divergi;g to the left by the road (guide-post) passing Schioss
Stolzenfels dSP 118). A surprising number of Celtic and Roman remains
have been discovered on the ‘Pastors-Pfad’ (path from Capellen to Waldesch)
which crosses the last-mentioned road. Among these are distinct traces o
a temple of Mercury; the hand of the colossal statue, with tortoise and
serpent, is preserved in S8chloss Stolzenfels, — Winningen (p. 191) is reached
from the Kuhkopf vid Remstecken and the Conder-Thal in flln hr.

The Karthause (so named from an ancient Carthusian monastery),
a hill rising to the W. of the Central Station, is crowned' by forti-
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fications. On its N. slope is the picturesque Cemetery, where repose
the remains of Max von Schenkendorf (p.109), Karl Baedeker (1801-
59; on the slope above the chapel), and Gen. von Goeben (p. 108).

Ehrenbreitstein and Asterstein.

Visitors, foreign officers excepted, are admitted to the fortress of
Ehrenbreitstein between April 1st and Nov. 16th. The walk from Coblenz to
the summit and back takes 2 hrs.; carriages can ascend to the top (p. 106).

The excursion to the Nellenkopf (p. 112) requires about 2!/z-3 hrs. (there
and back), the visit to the Asterstein (p. 112) 11/4 hr. No permission ne-
cessary for either, '

Ehrenbreitstein is a station of the Railway of the Right Bank (p. 94).
— Electric Tramways (main station near the railway-station and the pier
of the Coblenz steamboats, p. 106) run to Vallendar (p. 94), Niederlahn-
stein (p. 108), Arenburg (p. 112), and also vid the Pfaffendorf Bridge to
Coblenz (p. 106).

A Bridge-of-Boats (toll 2 pf., one-horse carr. 22, two-horse
29 pf.), about 400 yds. in length, connects Coblenz with Thal-Ehren-
breitstein, on the right bank of the Rhine. As the bridge is often
opened to allow vessels to pass, passengers in a hurry to reach the
station of the Right Rhenish Railway will generally do better to take
the steam-ferry (p. 106). The bridge affords a charming promenade /
in the morning and evening. '

Thal-Ehrenbreitstein ( H6t. sum Kurflirsten, with restaurant, very
fair, R. 2-3 .4, B. 75 pf.) is a small town with 5300 inhab., prettily
situated in a valley between the Ehrenbreitstein and Asterstein.
The Kirch-Strasse, beginning at the bridge, ascends to the Schiitsen-
burg, a castellated modern villa. — In the Hof-Strasse, to the left,

is the Kurfiirsten Hotel, once occupied by M. de La Roche, chancellor -

of the electorate of Trdves, to whom Goethe paid a visit in 1774.
The tramway-station is close by. Farther on are the Railway Station
(left) and the large court of justice and residence (right), erected
by the Electors in 1747, now in parta Provision Magasine (Pl. 27).

About 200 yds. beyond the railway-station we diverge to the
right from the road descending the Rhine and ascend the hill (1/4 ht.g,
where, at the last gateway, the cards of admission are issued (50 pf.).
Visitors are conducted to the point of view by a sergeant.

The *Fortress of Ehrenbreitstein rises opposite the influx of the
Moselle, 385 ft. above the Rhine, on a precipitous rock, which is
connected with the neighbouring heights on the N. side only. The
view embraces the fertile valley of the Rhine from Stolzenfels to
Andernach, and the volcanic peaks of the Maifeld and the Eifel
(p. 102). Far below are the Rhine and Moselle, and between them
the Emp. William Monument and the triangular town of Coblenz, —
The present fortress, builtin 1816-26 by General von Aster, succeeds
a very ancient stronghold of the Electors of Trdves, which was fre-
quently enlarged in the course of centuries. It played an important
part in the Thirty Years’ War, and in 1799 it was taken by, the
French after a gallant resistance.



112 Route 16. ASTERSTEIN.

A more imposing (though not so easily accessible) view is com-
manded by the Nellenkopf, the N. spur of the Ehrenbreitstein plateau,
which may be reached by following the Charlotten-Strasse and ascending
the valley to the back of Ehrenbreitstein, farther on (at the kilométre-
stone No. 1) to the left, past Neudors; at the top. we cross the drill-
ground to the open space in front of the fort (about 8/¢ hr. from the
bridge-of-boats). — For the return, we may choose the pleasant walk via
(20 min.) Urbar (Moskopp's Inn, with view of the Rhine valley and the
Eifel hills)a whence we descend to the road skirting the Rhine (to Ehren-
breitstein, /2 hr.).

Fort Asterstein, situated on the hill to the S. of Ehrenbreitstein,
also commands a fine view. A projecting terrace towards the Rhine
bears an Obelisk in memory of the soldiers of the 8th army-corps
who fell in the campaign of 1866.

The hill on which the obelisk stands may be reached in 20 min. from the
bridge-of-boats. After crossing the latter we proceed in a strajght direction
to the end of the Kirch-8trasse (p. 111) and follow the road to the right
below the Schiitzenburg (p. 111). Where the road turns to the left, a
shorter route ascends by the steps to the right, crosses the road which
leads up from the ‘Promenade’, and again ascends by steps. Halfway up,
the Café Rheinlust, and beyomi it the Zuisenthurm are p d. We then
follow the road to the summit. — A road descends to the left to Pfaffen-
dorf, intersecting the fortification on the GQlockenderg. We may follow the
footpath diverging from it on the right, beyond the Victoria-GQarien (garden-
restaurant), and then descend the steps.

The road which ascends the valley at the back of the fortress of
Ehrenbreitstein leads by Niederberg to (2!/z M.) Arenberg (Rother Hahn,
with belvedere; Schone Aussicht), a village with a large new pilgrimage-
church, a ‘Herz-Jesu® chapel, a ‘Mount of Olives’, etc., reached by electric
tramway (p. 141) in 20 minutes. — At Neuhdusel, 3 M. farther on, by the
Montabaur road, a prehistoric settlement was unearthed in 1899-1901. —
The road diverging to the right beyond Arenberg passes a forester’s house
(rfmts.) and leads to (41/z M.) Ems (p. 212).

17. The Rhine from Coblenz to Mayence.

STEAMBOAT in T}/z (down in 48/;) hrs. ; piers at Oberlahnstein, Boppard,
St. Goar, Bingen. Riidesheim, Eltville, and Biebrich; smaill-boat stations
Capellen, Braubach, Camp, Hirzenach, Oberwesel, Caub, Bacharach, Lorch,
Geisenheim, Oestrich, and Walluf. — h‘rom Coblenz to Bingen botl’.\ banks
are Prussian.

DisTaNces: Coblenz to Capellen 4, Rhens 2, Niederspai (opposite
Braubach) 11/z, Boppard 41/, Salzig 8, Hirzenach 21/, St. Goar 3%/,, Ober-
wesel 51z, Caub 3, Bacharach 11/z, Rheindiebach 11/z, Lorch (Niederheim-
bach) 3/4, Rheinstein 33%/,, Bingen 3, Geisenheim 3, QOestrich 3, Eltville 4,
Walluf 3, Biebrich 2, Mayence 4, total distance 59 M. — RAILWAY on
the Left Bank, see R. 19; on the Right Bank by Oberlahnstein and Riidesheim
to Wiesbaden in 23/4-3'/s hrs., see R. 20. — Comp. p. 68.

Beyond the bridge-of-boats the steamer passes the palace on the
right, and then steers under the old Bridge (p. 109). On the right
extend the beautiful promenades of the W. bank, opposite which is
the picturesque village of Pfaffendorf ( Rheinhof, with garden, R.2-3,
pens. 41/0-6 4), 3/4 M. from the station of Ehrenbreitstein (local
steamer to Coblenz, see p. 106).

On the right, a little farther on, lies the island of Oberwerth,
which is connected with the W. bank by an embankment and with
the E. by the Horchheim Railway Bridge (p.110), below which the
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STOLZENFELS. 17. Route. 113

steamer passes. Beautiful retrospect as the vessel passes the upper

end of the island. To the right are the tower on the Rittersturs

(p. 110) and the view-platform on the Dommelberg, behind which
rises the wooded Kiihkopf (p. 110).

The vineyards of (1.) Horchheim (Holler's Garden Restaurant)
produce good red wine ; the plain between this village and the mouth
of the Lahn is remarkably fertile. — (1.) Niederlahnstein (Douqué,
on the Lahn, with garden, R. & B. 2-21/y, pens. 4-41/; 4, good
cuisine ; Sartori, also on the Lahn; Strassburger, at the station),
on the right bank of the Lahn (4200 inhab.), is the junction of the
Railway of the Right Bank, the line to Coblenz, and the Lahn railway
(RR. 20, 27), but is not touched at by the steamer. From the road
ascending the Lahnthal a path diverges to the left, passing several
shrines, to (!/; hr.) the memorial church on the top of the Aller-
heiligen-Berg, which commands fine views of the valleys of the Lahn
and the Rhine. Below Niederlahnstein, at the mouth of the Lahn,
stands the solitary late- Romanesque Church of St. John, partly
destroyed during the Thirty Years’ War. The Lahn is crossed near
its mouth by an unsightly railway-bridge, and by another for the
traffic of the road (toll 2 pf.).

r. Capellen. — Hotels. *BELLEVUE, with garden, R. 2/s-4, B. 1, D, 8,
pens. 8-83 #; *STOLZENFELS, similar charges; LAHNECK, R. from 11/2, pens.
from 41/z .#, well spoken of.

Donkey to the Castle of Stolzenfels 80 pf.; there and back 1 .4 20 pf.

Looal Steamboat to Oberlahnstein (28, 10 pf.), starting above the
station; to Coblens, see p. 106.

Electric Tramway to Coblenz, see p. 106.

Capellen, a village consisting of a single row of houses facing
the railway-embankment and the river, lies at the foot of the wood-
ed hill which bears the royal chitean of Stolzenfels. The chiteau
is approached by a winding road of easy ascent (1/¢ hr.), crossing a
viaduct. Beyond the Klause (stables), a drawbridge is crossed and
the castle entered.

The *Castle of Btolsenfels (310 ft. above the Rhine), with a
pentagonal tower 110 ft. high, was built on the site of an older for-
tress by Arnold von Isenburg, Archbishop of Traves, in 1242-59,
and was frequently a residence of the archbishops. In 1689 it was
destroyed by the French. Frederick WilliamIV., when crown-prince,
caused it to be rebuilt in 4836-42 from the designs of Schinkel,
Stuler, and Persius, and embellished in the romantic taste of the
period. It now belongs to Emp. William II., and is open to visitors

from 410 to 412 and from 2 to 7 (adm. 25 pf.).

On entering the court, we turn to the right to the tower at the 8. angle,
While waiting for a party to assemble we enjoy a magnificent “View,
extending from the Marksburg to beyond Coblenz; in front are the two
Lahnsteins and the Castle of Lahneck. — Among the frescoes in the interior
me.k be mentioned those in the CmarkL (Biblical scenes) by E. Deger
fl -57; p. 72), and those in the KLRINE RITTERSAAL, by Stilke (1842-46),
llustrative of the principal attributes of chivalry. There are also numerous
other ancient and modern works of art.

BaxpExer's Rhine. 16th Edit. 8-



114 Route 17. OBERLAHNSTEIN. From Coblens

About 2 M. above Stolzenfels a path diverges to the right from the
Schlossweg, leading to the Augusia-Hshe and (12 M. farther) the top of the
Hasenberg , two points (refuge-huts) commanding a fine view of Stolsen-

‘- fels and the valley of the Rhine (there and back 13/¢-2 hrs.). From the
Hasenberg we may proceed through the Siechenhaus-Thal to the highroad
on the Rhine or go on to the Dommelberg and Rittersturz (p. 110).

1. Oberlahnstein (205 ft.; “Hotel-Pension Weller, with garden
and view, R. 2-3, B. 1, D. 2-21/,, pens. 5-6 .4; Hot. Breitenbach,
well spoken of; Einhorn, at the station, plain; steamboat14-20 times
daily to Capellen, 20 or 10 pf.; steamer to Coblenz, see p. 106), a
thriving town with 7900 inhab., formerly belonging to the Electors
of Mayence, is mentioned in a charter as early as 890, Several
towers recall the former fortifications. Schloss Martinsburg at the
upper end of the town, containing an interesting court, once a
residence of the Electors of Mayence, dates from 1394; the new
part was built in 1712. The old Rathhaus is a noteworthy late-
Gothic half-timbered edifice. The Protestant Church, at the lower
erdd of the town, was built by Zais in 1872-75. Oberlahnstein is a
busy depbt of the iron-ores yielded by the mines on the Lahn (comp.
P. 212), and possesses a large harbour. It is the steamboat-station
for Ems (p. 212), which may be reached hence either by the main
line vid Niederlahnstein (p. 113), or by the older line (slow trains
only) on the left bank of the Lahn. The station is close to the quay.

On a rooky eminence behind Oberlahnstein rises the picturesque
castle of Lahneck, mentioned for the first time in 1224, destroyed
by the French in 1689, and restored since 4860 (visitors admitted
in the owner's absence). The pentagonal pinnacled tower commands
a charming view, for which the morning light is most favourable,
On seeing the ruin in 1774 Goethe composed his exquisite ‘Geistes-
Gruss’. A road and two footpaths ascend to the castle; one of the
paths, destitute of shade, mounts direct from Oberlahnstein, the
other from the side next the Lahn, beginning opposite the upper,
end of Niederlahnstein (p. 113).

About 11/4 M. above Capellen, between the highroad and the
Rhine, is the Konigsstuhl (‘king’s seat’), erected in 1376 by the
Emp. Charles IV. on the site of an ancient meeting-place of the
Electors. At the end of the 48th cent. it had fallen to decay, but in
1843 it was rebuilt, partly out of the old materials. The structure
is octagonal in shape, somewhat resembling a pulpit, 22 ft. in
diameter, and 18 ft. in height. The Electors held their meetings
on the stone seat on the top. The situation was chosen from its
proximity to the dominions of the three ecclesiastical Rhenish Elec-
tors, Rhens belonging to Cologne, Capellen to Tradves, and Lahnstein
to Mayence, while the territories of the Electors Palatine began at
Caub (p. 123). Here many emperors were elected, decrees issued,
and treaties concluded. Near the Konigsstuhl is the Rhenser Mineral-
quelle, a mineral spring rising in the bed of the Rhine, which was
known in the 18th cent. and re-discovered 'in-4857;  the’water re~
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sembles that of Selters and is used as a table beverage as well as
medicinally. The new quay has been pushed out into the river as
far as the spring.

On the fertile bank of the Rhine opposite the Konigsstuhl, a small
white chapel, near the 8. qlte of Oberlahnstein, is visible among the
trees, where, on 20th Aug., 1400, the Rhenish Electors deprived the Bohe-
mian king Wensel of the imperial crown. On the following day they
crossed to the Konigsstuhl, and elected Count Palatine Rupert III. emperor
in his stead. Adjacent are two mineral springs.

Above the Konigsstuhl (3/4 M.) lies the small town of (r.) Rhens
(Konigsstuhl, with garden, on the river), still surrounded by the walls
and fosses construsted in 1370 by Archbishop Frederick III. of Co-
logne. On the highroad, near the S. gate, are several old half-
timbered houses, almost in their original condition. Outside this
gate lies the prettily situated church. A footpath to (11/¢ hr.) Bop-
pard ascends hence to the right at the way-post, outside the S. gate
(comp. p. 147). — Beyond a cotton-factory with a tall chimney, we
next pass the small village of (r.) Brey, surrounded by fruit-trees.

1. Braubach (Kaiserhof, with veranda and view, on the Rhine,
R. 2-4, B. 8/, pens. 4-D 4, new, very fair; Deutsches Haus, with
beer-garden, near the station; Rheinischer Hof, with garden and
view of the Rhine, pens. from 31/s 4; Nassauer Hof, R. 411/5-2 4 ;
local steamboat to Oberlahnstein, Capellen, and Coblenz, see p. 106),
an ancient town with 2200 inhab., the once picturesque appearance
of which has been marred by the railway. It is commanded by the
imposing castle of *Marksburg, 485 ft. above the river, the only
old fortress on the Rhine which has escaped destruction.

In 1487 Count Philip of Kat: Inbogen founded a chapel in the castle
and dedicated it to St. Mark, after whom the castle has since been named.
It belonged to Hesse-Darmstadt from 1651 to 1803, and was then used
by the government of Nassau as a state-prison down to 1866. It is now
the property of the Society for the Preservation of German Castles, by
whom it is being restored (tickets of admission, 25 pf., at the restaurant
at the entrance). The tower aftords a pleasing survey of the grassy dales
at the back, and of a portion of the Rhine.

Two routes ascend to the fortress: to the N. a footpath, shorter
but steeper than the other, beginning at the upper end of the town,
beyond the old church (25 min.); to the 8. the road, leading at first
to the left through the town in the direction of Nastitten, then tv
the right past the ancient Chapel of St. Martin, and lastly round the
E. side of the hill (85 min.).

FroM BRAUBACE T0 NasTATTeN, 171/ M., narrow-gauge railway in
13/4 hr. The line (opened in 1902), beginning at the silver foundries with
the condpicuous chimneys, ascends the right bank of the Zollbach to Hoy-
Zoligrund (p. 216) and beyond a bold viaduct mounts in wide curves (views
to the right) vid Becheln and Hinterwald to Dachsenhausen (1250 ft.), pic-
turesquely sitnated near the DacAskops (1500 ft.). Fine survey from the
latter and also from the Heisebdumchen (1315 ft.), 1z M. to the 8. of the
station. — Thence the railway descends through the Bachheimer Grund, vii
Winterwerd, Gemmerich, and Ehr, to Marienfels (706 ft.; with a mineral
spring), in the fertile MaAlbach-Thal (p. 121). We then ascend the last-
named valley to the 8.W., vid Miechien (725 ft.). — Nastdtten, and thence to
8t. Goarshausen or Zollhaus, see p. 121.

8'
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Above Braubach are the (r.) villages of Niederspay and Oberspay
(Rindsfiisser), connected by an avenue of walnut-trees. On the
promontory to the right stands a half-ruined chapel, the only relic
of the village of Peterspay. — On the left, /g hr. above Braubach,
opens the Dinkholder-Thal, with several mills and a chalybeate
spring (Dinkholder Brunnen) resembling those of Schwalbach.

On the wooded height above (1.) Osterspay (Miiller; Anker) stands
the chateaun of Liebeneck, belonging to the Baroness von Preuschen,
one of the prettiest spots on the Rhine. — On the hill to the right,
a little above Osterspay, stands the Jacobsberger Hof, a farmhouse
520 ft. above the Rhine, whence a cart-road leads to Rhens (p.115),
3 M. distant, cutting off the circuit of 6 M. formed by the river. The
vineyards on the slopes of the left bank, known as the Bopparder
Hamm, produce excellent wine. Then, on the left, the Filser Ley,
with a view-temple, and the village of Filsen.

r. Boppard. — Hotels. On the Rhine: *SPiEceL, R.2-31/s, D. 21/2-3,

ens. 58 4 ; *BELLEVUE & RHEIN-HOTEL, with garden, R. 2V/z-3Ys, B. 1,
%_ 93, pens. 5-7 #; Hiesow, R. 2-3, B. 1, D. 2/s, pens. 5'74; ACKERMANN,
plain but good ; SaLm, at the lower end of the town, pens. 4-0 .#, plain. —
In the town: *CLOSMANN, an old-established and unpretending house, with
garden; LANGE, opposite the post-office; Nassauver Hor, commercial. —
M&rLBAD, at the lower end of the town, a family hotel, R. 21/s-31/3, B. 8/,
D. 2, pens, 5-8 # (closed in winter). — Henzler's Pension, in the Miihl-
thal, 28 & per week. — Marienberg Hydropathic Establishment (p. 117),
pens. 61/>-13 4 per day. — Wine at the Winzer: Verein, Christgasse.

Local 8teamer to Camp (p. 118), in connection with all trains on the
railway of the right bank.

English Church Service in summer at the Rhein-Hétel.

Boppard (210 ft.), the ancient Bodobriga, founded by the Celts
was afterwards fortified by the Romans and used as a dep6t for thei,
‘glingers’ (‘Balistarii Bodobricz’). In the 12th cent. Boppard was
a free imperial town, but in 1312 Emp. Henry VII. ceded it, along
with Oberwesel, to his brother Elector Baldwin of Traves. The
latter, who could not make himself master of the town till 1318,
built the castle, which is still preserved (p. 117). All efforts of
the inhabitants to regain their independence proved henceforth
unavailing. Numerous villas have sprung up in the environs, and
the town is much frequented by summer-vigitors. The old town is
still partly surrounded by the medizval fortifications. Pop. 5800.

The handsome Pfarrkirche, in the late-Romanesque style, found-
ed early in the 12th cent., and rebuilt about 1200, with its two
square towers adjacent to the choir, is remarkable for the peculiar
‘Norman’ vaulting of the nave. The contemporary painted decora-
tion of the interior (on the N. side, the legend of St. Severus) was
carefully restored in 1894-95; the decoration of the choir is modern.
— The Carmeliter-Kirche (1318), in the pointed style, contains the
marble monument of a Countess von Eltz (d. 1509), carved stalls of
the 15th cent., and old mural paintings; beside the 3rd pillar is a
Christian tombstone of the 7th century.
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In an open space on the Rhine, to the E. of the church and near
the ferry, rises the old Castle of the Archbishops of Trdves, with a
tower, now occupied by law-courts. Beside the moat, behind the
castle, are considerable remains of a WaX constructed of Roman
concrete (‘opus spicatum’), and probably dating from the reign of
Valentinian I. (A.D. 364-75). When complete it was 10 ft. thick
and 26 ft. high, and was strengthened with towers at the angles
and 24 semicircular towers along its sides, and enclosed the interior
of the town, in the form of a rectangle 1000 ft. long by 500 ft. wide
The original positions of the four gates, each exactly in the centre
of one of the sides, are indicated by tablets on the houses No. 78
Ober-Strasse (W.), 47 Ober-Str. (E.), 12 Kronengasse (W.), and 7
Kirchgasse (8.).

The suppressed Franciscan Monastery with its church, at the up-
per end of the town, has been converted into a seminary for Roman
Catholic teachers. — Knights Templar of Boppard are mentioned
among the crusaders at the siege of Ptolemais (1191), and fragments
of their Lodge, with round-arched windows, lie in a neighbouring
side-street. — The old monastery of 8t. Martin, a little farther up
the river, is now a reformatory for Protestant children. — The Prot-
estant Church, built in 1851 on lines suggested by Frederick
William IV., was enlarged in 1887 and provided with a tower.

The Marienberg, a large building which rises at the back of the
town, 100 ft. above the Rhine, formerly a Benedictine nunnery, is
now a hydropathic establishment (p. 446). The water is supplied by
the Orgelborn, a spring renowned for centuries for its purity and un-
varying temperature. The fine old park is open to the public.

The numerous attractive walks in the ENVIRONS OF BoPPaRD are in-
dicated by guide-posts and coloured marks. — The Kreuzberg (765 ft.; re-
staurant) may be ascended in 3/4 hr. by footpaths through the Josephinen-
Thal or the Fraubach-Thal, or by the more picturesque route through the
Michels-Thal and Josephinen-Thal.

Below Boppard, near the Miihlbad (p. 116), opens the MiAlthal, a
valley enclosed by wooded hills and affording a number of picturesque
walks (Pension Hemzler, see p. 116). One of the finest points is the Alte
Burg (815 ft.), a hill n‘ the mouth of the valley (reached by ascending to
the right), which commands a beautiful view. Other points of view are the
Qedionseck and the Vierseen-Platz, or ‘place of the four lakes® (995 ft.; re-
staurant), whence four apparently unconnected parts of the Rhine are vis-
ible. From the Vierseen-Platz a path descends past the Jacobsberger Hof

. 116) to (1%/4 hr.) Rhens (p. 115). — On the other side of the valley the

ronprinzen-Weg leads from the Pens, Henzler to Boppard vid the Eifenlei.
— From the pension we may ascend the valley, passing a Fish Breeding
Establishment and traversing fine woods of oaks and beeches, to (2!/z hrs.)
Winningen (p. 191).

The Fleckertshdhe (1740 ft.) is ascended in 2 hrs. from Boppard, either
by following the road to the Hunsriicken as far as the kilométre-stone
marked ‘7.4’ and then diverging to the left by a l})ath (blue marks) leading
through pine-woods; or by crossing the park of Marienberg to the church-
yard and then taking the path to the right through the wood (indicated by
blue arrows). On the top is the Restaurant sur Scho: Aussicht (also pension),
The very extensive view comprises the S8even Mts., Eifel, Hochwald, |Idar,
and Taunus. The path descending to (1 hr.) Salzig (p. 118) through meadows
and woods cannot xi)e missed.




118 Route 17. BORNHOFEN. From Coblens

Frox BorPPARD T0 BRODENBACH, 10 M., carr. in 21/ hrs. (20 .4). The
road ascends the Fraubach- Thal (short-cut for walkers), crosses the Sabels-
berg, and ascends the Burbach-Thal to the (413 M.) Hunsrtick road, which
we follow to the right. 1 M. Buchhols (Welter Inn); 1Yy M. Windhausen
(to the left of the road); }Yfs M. Herschwiesan; 1!/4 M. Path ascending to the
left to the Ehrenburg. Fine views. 11/ M. Brodendach (p. 192).

. lAh diligence runs twice daily from Boppard to (iTl/z M.) Castellaun
rs.

Above Boppard, on the left, lies Camp (Kauth, above the village,
pens. 31/5-4 4 ; Anker, on the Rhine), a village with 1500 inhab.,
frequented as a summer-residence. To Braubach over the hills, see
p- 116. — A road shaded with walnut-trees leads along the bank
from Camp to the (3/4 M.) convent of —

1. Bornhofen (*Hobtel Marienberg, R. 11/o-2, pens. from 41/, 4 ;
Zum Licbenstein, R. from 4, pens. from 31/ &), with a Gothic
church erected in 1435, a great resort of pilgrims. On a bold rocky
eminence above the convent stand the twin castles of —

Sterrenberg and Liebenstein, better known as The Brothers, con-
nected by a sharp chine of rock. The legend of these castles may
thus be briefly told : —

Conrad and Heinrich, sons of the knight Bayer von Boppard, the lord
of Lisbenstein, were d of their foster-sister, the beautifal Hilde-
garde. Heinrich with rare generosity tore himself IWB’; and joined the
crusades, leaving his brother Conrad to win the prize. hat his son and
the fair bride might still be near him, the old knight built the castle of
Sterrenberg for their reception, but, *his death occurring before its com-
pletion, the nuptials were postponed. Meanwhile Conrad’s heart grew cold
towards Hildegarde. Hearing of the valiant deeds of his absent brother,
his soul burned to share his honours, and, wearied of an inactive life, he
joined the crusades. Hildegarde now passed her days in the lonely castle
of Liebenstein, brooding over her sad lot, not doubting the affection of
Conrad, but weeping over the uncertainty of his return. Suddenly Conrad
returned to Sterrenberg with a lovely Grecian bride, and the outraged Hilde-
garde, stunned by the blow, shut herself up in the loneliest chamber of
her dreary abode, and refused to see any one but her atfendant, Late
one evening a stranger knight demanded the hospitality of the castle. He
proved to be the chivalrous Heinrich, who, hearing of his brother's per-
fidy, resolved to avenge his foster-sister's wrongs. He accordingly chal-
lenged Conrad to single combat, but before the brothers’ swords h
ed, Hildegarde interposed between them and insisted on a r y
to which they reluctantly ted. Hildegarde then retired to the con-
vent of Bornhofen, at the base of the rock on which the castles stand. Con-
rad's Grecian bride soon proved faithless, and he, overcome with shame
and remorse, threw himself on his generous brother’s breast, exclaiming that
no consolation was now left him but his friendship. Thus their estrange-
ment ended, and the brothers thenceforth lived together in harmony. and
retirement at Liebenstein, while Sterrenberg was for ever. deserted.

These castles were held as early as the 12th cent. as a fief of the
empire by the knights of Boland, and in 1317 came into the pos-
session of the Electors of Tréves. Sterrenberg, the higher rujn, is
separated from Liebenstein by a moat and a massive wall, known
as the ‘Streit-Mauer’ (wall of combat) in reference to the hostile
meeting of the brothers. The ruins (restaurants) are interesting and
command a fine view of the rocky ravines beneath.

r. 8alzsig (Stumm, well spoken of). so called from its weak saline
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spring, lies in the midst of a vast orchard, whence ship-loads of
cherries are annually exported to the Lower Rhine, Holland, and
England. Farther up (1.) lies the village of Nieder-Kestert (Stern).

r. Hirsenach. A handsome building, once a deanery, and the
chureh, built about 1170, belonged to the Abbey of Siegburg.

To the right are the extensive buildings of the Werlau Mines.

1. Ehrenthal is a small village inhabited by miners who work
the lead-mines in the vicinity.

1. Wellmich (Adler), a picturesquely situated village, with a
small Gothic church, is commanded by the ruins of the Thurn-
berg, or Deurenburg. This stronghold, begun by Archbishop Boe-
mund II. of Traves, and completed in 1363 by his successor Kuno
von Falkenstein, was derisively called the Mouse (Maus) by the
Counts of Katzenelnbogen, in contradistinction to their ‘Cat’ (p. 120).
Ascent fatiguing, but there is a fine view from the summit.
The interior contains a few points of architectural interest.

r. 8t. Goar. — Hotels. °LiLis, with baths, R. 11/3-3, B. 11/, D. 8,
pens. 5-7 4 ; *S8CENEIDER, at the lower end of the town, D. 2!/2-3 .#. — At
the steamboat-pier: REEINFELS, R. 1Y/2-4, B. 1, D. 2V, pens. 5-7 4; HOTEL
JuNe, R. from 1l/3, B. 3/s, pens. from 41z #; TrauBE, R. 1!/2-2, B. 3/,
D. 1V/s, pens. 4 4, unpretending; HoTEL-RESTAURANT FISCHER, with view,
well spoken of; LoReLEY, these two on the road to Oberwesel. — Rhein-
lust, a garden-restaurant on the hillside above the town; Voik, on the
Rhine, beer.

S8team-ferry to St. Goarshausen, 10 pf.

English Ohurch 8ervice in July and August.

8t. Goar, a town with 1600 inhab., the handsomest of all the
smaller Rhenish towns, and deriving a look of additional importance
from the extensive ruins of Rheinfels, owes its name and origin
to a chapel founded in the time of Siegbert, King of Austrasia (570),
by St. Goar, who preached the gospel here. Down to 1794 it was the
capital of the lower county of Katzenelnbogen (comp. p. 121), and
since 1845 it has been Prussian. — Below the town is a large harbour.

The Protestant Church, built about 1469, with Romanesque choir
and crypt, contains an excellent late-Gothic pulpit in stone and
the Renaissance monuments of the Landgrave Philip (d. 1583) and
his countess (in a private chapel). — The Roman Catholic Church,
at the lower end of the town, is adorned with an old stone effigy of
the saint with dn inscription.

A curious old custom, the ‘Hdnseln’, or Initiation, which prevailed
here till the beginning of the steamboattraffic in 1 , is sald to have
dated from the time of Charlemagne. Every traveller who visited the
town for the first time was attached to  ring in the wall of the Custom-
house, and obliged to submit to the water or the wine ordeal. If the
former was selected, a good ducking was the result; the pleasanter alter-
native comsisted in drinking a goblet of wine to the memory of Charle-
magne, the Queen of England, the reigning prince, and the members of
the society which enforced obedience to the custom. The traveller was
then invested with the rights of a member of the society, and finally had
to present a donation to the poor and enter his name in the ‘Hinselbuch’.

Thé castle of Rheinfels, rising at the back-of -the town, 375 ft.
above the Rhine (1/4 hr. from the pier), is the most imposing ruin
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on the river. Tt was founded by Count Diether III. of Katzeneln-
bogen (d. 1276), a friend of the Emp. Frederick 1I., and a new
Rhine-toll was established here. In 1692 it was bravely and success-
fully defended by the Hessian General von Gorz against the French
General Count Tallard with an army of 24,000 men. In 1768 the
castle was surprised and taken by the French, who kept a garrison
in it till 1763. Thirty years later it was basely deser:ed by the Hes-
sian commandant, and fell, with its valuable stores, into the hands
of the French revolutionary army (2nd Nov., 1794). Three years
afterwards it was blown up. The interior contains little worthy of
note ; view limited. The custodian is generally at or near the castle
(fee 25-50 pf., more for a party). Refreshments may also be
obtained. — The path to the castle passes the churchyard-wall, on
which is the ‘Flammensdule’, a rough sandstone obelisk, supposed
to be of pre~Roman origin.

The Bpitzenstein (1315 ft.), reached from Rheinfels vii Bicbernheim
in 11/¢ hr., commands a splendid view, extending from Caub to Oberwesel (re-
fuge-hut by the rocks on the summit). Descent vid Niederburg to (1 hr.)
Oberwesel (p. 122), or vid Urbar to the Rhine opposite the Lurlei and so
back to St. Goar.

1. St. Goarshausen. — Hotels. *ADLEER, on the Rhine, with garden,
R. 1l{2-21/g, B. 1, D. 21/, pens. 5-8 4. — Nassaver Hor, R. 11/2-2 4, B. 70 pf.
D. 1{2, pens. 4-5 .#, well spoken of; KRoNE ; HORENZOLLER, R. & B. 2 .i
20 pf., well spoken of; RueiNiscEER HoF, good wine.

S8team-ferry to St. Goar, 10 pf.

English Church 8ervice in July and August.

8t. Goarshausen (715 ft.) is a small town with 1600 inhab., the
upper part of which is so confined between the river and the hill
that a bulwark ofmasonry, on which two watch-towers are situated,
had to be abuilt at an early period to protect the town against
inundations. The Protestant church was finished in 1863.

Above St. Goarshausen, about halfway up the hill, on the road to
the Hiihnerberg (p. 121), rises the ocastle of Neu-Katsenelnbogen,
commonly called the Cat (Kats), erected in 1393 by Count Johann
of Katzenelnbogen, whose family became extinct in 1479. It then
belonged to the Hessian princes, and was destroyed by the French
in 1806. The present owner has built himself a house in a har-
monious style on the old foundations (no admission). The road to
the Cat diverges to the right from that through the Sehweizer-Thal
(see below), beyond the second mill.

The LurLEl (see p. 121) is most conveniently visited from the upper
end of St. Goarshausen via the Schweizer-Thal, or Swiss Valley, a pretty
rocky gorge about 2 M. long. Passing under the railway, we follow the
cart-road in the valley for about 1 M. to the Zliners-Mihle, where a finger-
post to the right indicates the ascent to the ‘Mdnnchen’. Beyond the
Minnchen we continue to follow the main track, and at the top of the hill
tarn to the right by a field-path (guide-post). The summit of the Lurlei
(rfmts. in summer) commands an admirable view of the deep Rhine valley.
For the d t we may ch either the steep path with steps reaching
the road at the (V4 hr.) tunnel, or the easier path (l/zlsl(B through the
vineyards, which reaches the St. Goarshausen road about yds. farther
down. The whole excursion occupies about 2 hrs..
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A footpath leads from the Lurlei to the (1/; hr.) pavilion on the
Hihnerberg, commanding a view of the basin of St. Goar (another path
also from the just-mentioned guide-post).

EXCURSION T0 REICHENBERG, 8!/ M. We either take the narrow-gauge
line mentioned below, or follow the path leading through the Hasenbach-
Thal, a valley which opens a little below St. Goarshaunsen. The footpath,
provided with numerous benches, diverges to the right from the road
through the valley, and rejoins it near Reichenberg. A pl t way back
is vid the village of Patersberg (1125 ft.), on the brink of the vine-clad
slopes above the Swiss Valley, or past the Offenthaler Hof, to the 8., and
then through the upper part of the 8wiss Valley to the Lurlei.

The castle of *Reichenberg. erected in 1284 by Count Wilhelm I. of
Katsenelnbogen, rebuilt in 13819, and during the Hessian supremacy the
residence of the governor of the lower county, was at length sold in 1818
for the sake of the building materials. Fortunately, however, it escaped
demolition, and is still a grand and picturesque edifice with a lofty tower.
The approach to the CouRT (see also p. xxxi) is striking. Here on the
left we observe the chief entrance to the castle, flanked with two columns
of granite. The INTERIOR of the castle has Deen restored, and is now
decorated with old weapons, armour, d tic utensils, etc. (fee). The
original dwelling-house consisted of three stories, but the dividing beams
have been broken away; the Romanesque columns, however, placed one
above the other, which bear the lofty pointed vaulting, are still preserved.
The Towsr, which is ascended by wooden steps, commands a view of
the neighbourhood. A second tower to the E., connected with the other by
a lofty curtain-wall, is half destroyed.

FroM ST. GOARSHAUSEN TO ZOLLHEAUS, VIA NASTATTEN, ng., narrow-

gauge railway in about 8 hrs. (two through-trains dail The line
sscends the Hasenbach-Thal (see above) to (3 M.) Reichenberg (100 ft.), whence
there is a fine view of the castle (/2 M.), — At (6 M.) Bogel (1180 fi.) we
reach the edge of the plateau between the Rhine and the Lahn. — The
line then descends into the Mihibach-TAad (p. 115).

10 M. Nastdtten (820 ft.; Guntrun; Recken) is the junction of the line
to Braubach (p. 118). — 14 M. Holzhausen ausf der Heide (1270 ft.; Post) is
situated on the Wiesbaden road, whence a footpath, diverging to the left
about 1 M, to the 8.W. of the station, leads through wood to the (1 M.)
Alledurg, a Roman entrenched camp (partly restored).

21 M. Katzenelnbogen (915 ft.; Hot. Bremser, very fair), on the Dorsdbach,
lies at the base of a porphyry cliff crowned by the ancestral castle of the
Counts of Katzenelnbogen, who since the 1ith cent. extended their sway
over the district between the Rhine and the Lahn (the ‘lower county®)
and over the now Hessian province of Starkenburg (the ‘upper county’).
On the death of Philip, the last count, in 1479, h s possessions passed to
the Landgrave of Upper Hesse. In 1815 all the lower county on the right
bank of the Rhine became Prussian.

25 M. Hohlenfels is dominated by the ruins of the castle of that name
(340 ft.), beside which is a more recent castle, now used an an *Inn (pens.
8Ys M). — 203 M. Zolihaus, see p. 144.

On the left rise the imposing rocks of the *Lurlei, or Lorelei,
430 fc. above the Rhine. The well-known legend of the fairy who
had her dwelling on the rock, and, like the sirens of old, enticed
sailors and fishermen to their destruction in the rapids at the foot
of the precipice, has long been a favourite theme with the poet and
the painter. Heine’s beautiful ballad (1823) is still deservedly
popular. According to Marner, a poet of the 13th cent., the Nibe-
lungen treasure lies hidden beneath the ‘Lurlenberg’. — At the
foot of the Lurlei is a large harbour.

This is the narrowest (about 220 yds.) and deepest (78 ft.) part
of the river. The famous echo returned by the lofty cliffs on both
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sidesis not audible from the steamer, but may be successfully wakened
from a small boat in the quiet of early morning or late evening.

Opposite the Rossstein, a rocky point to the left, which the rail-
way penetrates by a tunnel, a ridge of rocks, known as the ‘Seven
Virging', is visible when theriverislow. Itis said that these rugged
masses were once seven fair maidens of the Schonburg, who were con-
demned by the river-god for their prudery to this metamorphosis.

r. Oberwesel. — Hotels. Raxixiscuxr HoF, near the pier and not far
from the station, R. & B. 2t/,, D. 11/s, pens. 4 #; *GOLDENER PFROPFEN-
ZIEHER, at the lower end of the village, in a retired situation, R. 2.
D. 11/s-8, pens. 4-6 #; DeurscEEs Havus, R. & B. 21/,-2l/p, D. 11/;, pens.
4-b 4 ; Zum HonsROCKEN, good wine. — Fachinger's Restaurant, with garden,
at the foot of the Schonburg, to the N. of the Frauen-Kirche.

Oberwesel,an old town with 2600 inhab., named Vosavia in Peut-
inger’s map of Roman roads (p. xxiv), and once a free town of the
empire, was afterwards ceded by Henry VII. (1308-14) to his brother
Archbishop Baldwin of Traves. Its churches, walls, and pinnacled
towers (14th cent.), over which frown the ruins of the Schonburg,
render Oberwesel one of the most picturesque spots on the Rhine.

At the S. end of the town rises the conspicuous Frauen-Kirche,
or Church of Our Lady, a fine Gothic edifice in red sandstone,
erected in 1307-31. The narrow and lofty choir and nave rise high
above the aisles.

Interior (entrance on the N. side). The Screen between the choir and
nave dates from the 1ith century. The High Altar, of 1331, is adorned
within by delicate wood-carving and outside by painted figures of saints.
By the side-altars and in the aisles are several Paintings of the Lower
Rhenish School; that at the N. side-altar has a representation of the nave
of the church. On the piers are interesting Mural Paintings of the
15-16th centuries. In the N. chapel and in the nave are several Tombs of
the Knights and Counts of Schonberg (16-1Tth cent.; see below). By the W.
wall is the late-Gothic monument of Canon Lutern (d. 1505).

The Gothic Church of 8t. Wemer, partly resting on the town-
wall, on the side next the Rhine, was‘(like the church of the same
name at Bacharach, p. 124) built about 1301 ; fine choir-windows.
At the lower end of the town is the handsome round Ochsenthurm,
with its lofty pinnacles.

Upon -the hill lies the late-Gothic St. Martins-Kirche, with its
castle-like tower with turrets at the corners. The 8. aisle con-
taing, under a modern canopy, a coloured and gilt group of St.
Anna and the Virgin, of Gothic workmanship. This church also
contains some curious relic-cases and other objects of interest (the
sacristan lives at No. 223, near the choir).

The route to the Spitzensteén (11/2 hr.) vid Niederburg (comp. p. 120)
ascends to the left near the Ochsenthurm, just outside the town-wall. —
A pleasant walk may be taken along the Rhine to St. Goar (p. 118). —
Diligence to Simmern (p. 165), daily.

Above Oberwesel rise the modern chiteau and the picturesque
old ruin of (r.) 8chdnburg, the latter,with its four huge towers, erected
about the 12th cent., the cradle of a once mighty race which-became
extinet in 1743, In 1645 it was the birthplace of Count Frederick
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Hermann of Schonburg, better known as Marshal Schomberg, who
fought under the Prince of Orange, and in 1668, when in the French
service, compelled the Spaniards to acknowledge the House of Bra-
ganza. On the revocation of the Edict of Nantes, he was obliged
to quit the French service, and under the Elector of Brandenburg
became minister of: state, and governor of Prussia; he finally passed
over to England with the Prince of Orange, and fell at the memor-
able battle of the Boyne in 1690. In the Thirty Years’ War the
castle foll into the hands of the Swedes, and in 1689 it was sacked
by the French. The castle now belongs to Messrs. P. and T. J. O.
Rhinelander of New York. About 1/; M. from the station, on the
road ascending from the Frauen-Kirche, a footpath diverges to the
right (10 min.). We ring at the entrance to the castle (fee). — On
the W. side, a pleasant path descends into the rocky Enghill valley,
which yields an excellent wine. From the village of Engehtll (wine
at Schneider's) to Oberwesel, 21/, M.

1. Caub (705 ft.; Zum Griinen Wald; Adler, R. 11/5-2 4 ; Zur
Pfals, at the station, well spoken of; wine at the Thurm and Stadt
Mannheim), an ancient town with 2200 inhab., still partly sur-
rounded with medi®val fortifications, is important on account of its
productive subterranean slate-quarries and as a wine-growing centre.
The Church, dating from the 12th cent. and partly modernized in
1770, has, with the exception of the choir, been used by the Pro-
testants ever since the Reformation. The Nothweg, an attractive
promenade along the town-walls, is reached from beside the square
tower. A large Statue of Bliicher, by Schaper, erected in 1894,
shows the fleld-marshal pointing out to his soldiers the way over
the Rhine. A tablet on the ‘Stadt Mannheim’ marks his headquarters
from Dec. 31st, 1813, to Jan. 2nd, 1814,

At the back of the town rises the picturesque castle of Gutenfels,
with. its lofty square pinnacled tower, named Cube in the middle
ages, whieh was sold together with the little town of Caub by the
knights of Falkenstein to the Palatinate in 1277. The building has
recently been restored. The Earl of Cornwall, who was elected
King of Germany in 1257, is said to have become enamoured here
of the beautiful Countess Beatrix of Falkenstein, whom he married
on the death of his first wife in 1269,

Above Caub, on a ledge of rock in the middle of the Rhine,
rises the *Pfalx, or Pfalzgrafenstein, a hexagonal building, founded
by Emp. Louis the Bavarian (1344-47) and well preserved exter-
nally and internally. It has a pentagonal tower covered with an
unsightly roof, numerous turrets and jutting corners, loopholes in
every direction, and one entrance only, situated about 6 ft. above
the rock, and reached by means of a ladder. On the S. side is seen
the lion of the Palatinate as bearer of the escutcheon of the ancient
loxds of the castle. The interior (keys kept by a boatman at Caub,
who ferries visitors to the building; fee 70 pf.) is uninteresting.
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At this point, early on New Year’s Day, 1814, a Prussian corps
under York, and a division of Russian troops under Langeron,
effected the passage of the Rhine under the direction of Blicher.

r. Bacharach. — Hotels. *Hirer Hererecar (late Wasum), at the
station, with a garden, R. 13/s-3, B. 1, D. 2!/2-8, pens. 4/;-6 .4 ; BLOCHER-
THAL, in the town; WEBER (see below), these two unpretending. — Wine
at Bastian's and at Jeiter & Miller's (view).

Bacharach, an ancient town with 1900 inhab., lies picturesquely
at the entrance. to the narrow Steeger-Thal, and is commanded by
the castle of Stahleck, at the foot of which stands the beautiful
ruin of St. Werner's church. The old town-walls, a great part of
which is still well-preserved, descending from the castle and
enclosing the town, with three-sided towers at intervals of 100-
150 paces, afford a good example of medizval fortifications.

Bacharach, mentioned as Bachercho in 1019 and as Bagaracha

in 1140, was noted for its wine at an early period, and down to
the 16th cent. was one of the greatest wine-marts on the river. Pope
Pius II. (Eneas Sylvius) caused a cask of ‘Bacharach wine’ to be
brought to Rome annually, and the town of Nuremberg obtained its
freedom in return for a yearly tribute to the Emperor Wenzel of four
tuns of the same wine.
" In the Markt-Platz, where the road through the Steeger-Thal
diverges from the main street of the town, rises the Protestant
Church of St. Peter, or Templars’ Church, a highly interesting late-
Romanesque edifice of elegant proportions, dating from the begin-
ning of the 13th cent. and recently restored. It inpludes a round
choir originally decorated in polychrome, two round E. towers, and
a square W. tower. Under this last is a fine early-Gothic porch,
and on the N. side there is a rich portal. The old building with a
tower, now the Parsonage, was formerly a Capuchin monastery.
Opposite the church is the Weber Inn, a tasteful example of half-
timbered architecture, dating from 1568 and restored in 1897.

On a slight eminence (ascent on the S. side of the church of St.
Peter) stands the graceful *Church of St. Werner, erected in 1293
in the Gothic style in the form of a trefoil, partly restored in the
15th cent., but now a ruin, one-third of the original building
having been destroyed. The delicate tracery of the windows should
be noticed. It was erected to commemorate the canonisation of St.
Werner, a boy who, according to tradition, was murdered by Jews in
1286, and whose body was landed here after having miraculously
floated up the stream from Oberwesel. Above the church (10 min.

walk) rises the castle of Stahleck (p. 126).

The 8teeger-Thal, at the back of the town, affords a pleasant walk ;
it is sometimes called the Bliicher-Thal from the fact that Bliicher after
his passage of the Rhine on st Jan., 1814, pursued a body of French troops
through this valley towards the Hunsriick. After about 1 M. we reach
Steeg (Hiitwohl), which yields an excellent white and red wine. Above
the village (40 min. from Bacharach) rises the ruined castle (of Stahlderg,
vhich like those of Stahleck and Fiirstenberg (p. 125) once belonged
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to the Counts Palatine. A picturesque panorama may be enjoyed from
the ‘Schdnblick’, il/s M. from the village.

Above Bacharach rises the once strongly - fortified castle of
Stahleck, the extensive ruins of which extend down to the valley,
the principal residence of the Counts Palatine from 1142 to 1253.
The French besieged and took the castle and town eight times in
1620-40, and finally destroyed the former in 1689. The ruins are
surrounded with pleasure-grounds.

Nearly opposite the castle (1.), at the mouth of the Retsbach, lies
the village of Lorchhausen, with a modern Gothic church.

On a rocky eminence on the right, above the village of Rhein~
diebach, rise the ruins of Fiirstenberg, made over to the Palatinate
in 1243 as a fief of Cologne. In 1292, when Adolph of Nassau was
on his way to be crowned at Aix-la-Chapelle, the garrison of the
castle had the audacity forcibly to detain the vessel of the king for
the purpose of levying toll. In 1321 the castle was taken by the Em-
peror Lewis the Bavarian from his opponent Frederick the Fair, and
presented to his consort Margaret of Holland. In 1632 it fell into the
hands of the Swedes, and in 1689 it was destroyed by the French.

Opposite the Fiirstenberg, on the right bank of the Wisper,
which falls into the Rhine here, stands the ruined castle of Nollich
(580 ft. above the Rhine), mentioned in 1110. The rugged cliff on
its W. slope is called the ‘Devil’s Ladder’, of which a legend re-
cords that a knight of Lorch with the assistance of mountain-sprites
once 8caled it on horseback, and thus gained the hand of his lady-
love. The Wisper-Thal is unenviably known for the keen ‘Wisper
Wind', which blows through it towards the Rhine.

1. Lorch (*Krone, with garden, D. 11/, #, good wine; Schmidt,
very fair; Railway Hotel), a small town with 2700 inhab., forming
a long street on the bank of the river, mentioned in a charter as early
as 832, was in the middle ages a favourite residence of noble families.
In the church-yard is a *Crucifix dated 1491. The lofty Gothic Church
of .8t. Martin, of the 13-15th cent., which possesses the finest bells
in the Rheingau, was entirely restored in 1871-74. The high-altar
with rich late-Gothic carving of 1483, a fine late-Gothic font of 1464,
and the monument of the knight Joh. Hilchen von Loreh (d. 1548)
merit inspeetion. The inscription on the last records that Hilchen
distinguished himself against the Turks, and as fleld-marshal in
1543-44 against the French. His house, a handsome Renaissance
building of 1546-48, adorned with sculpturing, is situated on the
Rhine about the middle of the village.

The road through the *Wisper- Thal to Schwalbach (20!/z M. ; carriage
with one horse 20, with two horses 30 .#; there and back 25 or 35 .4#)
leads by (8 M.) the Kammerberger Miihie (inn) and the (21/s M.) Lauken-
MtiRle (inn) to (214 M.) the ruin of Gerolstein, the finest point in the valley.
About 1l/s M. farther on, beyond the Greulings-Miihie, the road quits the
Wisper-Thal and enters the Fischbach-Thal. After passing the (/z M.)
Riesen-Mhle it reaches the long valley of the Dorpbach, which it follows
to a point beyond (3 M.) Ramschied. Near Ramschied a saline spring is
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passed on the left, We now ascend in windings, cross the old Rhein-
gau road (‘Hohe Strasse’; 1685 ft.), and descend to (A2 M.) Bchwaldbach

- In )ihe valley of the Sauer, which unites with the Wisper 3/, M. above
Lorch, is the Sauerburg, 4/, M. from Lorch or Caub, onoce in the pos-
session of the Sickingen family, and destroyed by the French in 1689.

The E. bank of the river from Loreh to Assmannshausen is un-
interesting. The hills rise abruptly from the water, their lower
slopes being covered with vineyards and their summits with wood.

r. Niederheimbach (rail. stat. ; Pfilzer Hof; Rheinischer Hof),
a long village, commanded by the massive tower of Hoheneck, or
Heimburg, a castle of the 13th and 14th cent., recently restored,
next comes in view. Extensive retrospect as far as Bacharach.

The valley of the Rhine now slightly contracts. On the right
rises the slender tower of 8ooneck, commanding the entrance to a
ravine. The castle, which was erected by Archbishop Willigis of
Mayence about 1015, was destroyed by Emp. Rudolph of Hapsburg
as a robbers’ stronghold, but rebuilt in the 14th century. The ruin
was restored in 1834 by the Emperor William I.

On the right bank opens the Boden-Thal, at the mouth of which
are the vineyards that yield the Bodenthaler wine, mentioned as
early as 1107. A zigzag path ascends hence through wood to the
top of the Teufelskidrich (1360 ft.).

r. Trechtingshausen or Trechtlingshausen (rail. stat.; Weisses
Ross, R. & B. 2 .#). On an eminence beyond the village rises the
Reichenstein, or Falkenburg, destroyed by the French in 1689. In
1252 this marauders’ castle was destroyed by the confederation of
Rhenish towns, but restored in 1261 by its owner, Philip von
Hohenfels, who resumed his lawless calling. Rudolph of Hapsburg
afterwards besieged and dismantled it, and relentlessly consigned
to the gallows the robbers whom he found in possession. The castle
(restored) is now private property.

At the foot of the hill is the ent to the Morgenbach-Thal, which
to a distance of about 1 M. is one of the most romantic lateral valleys of
the Rhine. Just above the mill, where the most picturesque view is enjoyed,
a path to the left ascends in 3/, hr. to the S8chweiserhaus (p. 127).

On the right we next observe the venerable Clemens-Capelle,
a small late-Romanesque edifice, with late-Gothic choir-stalls. It
is supposed to have been built by the knights of Waldeck to ensure
the souls’ peace of the robber-knights slain or hanged by Rudolph
of Hapsburg. There is an interesting arrangement for shedding the
light of a lamp up the river, and a similar one is to be seen at
Niederheimbach (see above).

A little above the church, on the same bank, rises the pietur-
esque castle of *Rheinstein, 260 ft. above the Rhine. It was
formerly ealled the Faitsberg, Vautsberg, or Voigtsberg. Its origin is
unknown, but it is mentioned as early as 1279, and after 1 was
a residence of Kuno von Falkenstein, Archbishop of Trdves, since
whose time it has frequently appeared in history.-In 1825-29 Prince
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Frederick of Prussia caused the oastle to be restored in the medizval
style; it now belongs to Prince Henry of Prusaia. Rheinstein is a
very interesting example of a medi®val castle, of whioh the massive
battlemented towers called the ‘Bergfriede’, the ‘Herrenhaus’, or
‘Palag’, and the substantial ‘Schildmauer’ on the side exposed to attack
are well represented. A good collection of armour and antignities is
shown in the interior (adm. 1 .4, two or more pers. 50 pf. each).
Shady promenades lead hence to (1-11/ hr.) Bingerbriick (p. 180).
The view from the castle as well as from the Schweiserhaus (good
inn) on the height towards the S. is limited.

1. Assmannshausen. — Hotels. *KroxE, R. 21/,-3, B. 3/;, D. /s,
pens. 5/s-6 #; *Axxex, R. 22'/s, B. 1, D 2/;, pens. 5-5¢/z .4; *REEIN-
HotEL, at the lower end of the village, opposite the pier, R. 11/2-2,
B. 4, D. 11/2-8, pens. 41/2-56 .#; EULBERG, near the railway-atation,
B. 115-2, B.' 1, D.'11/28, pens. 5-6 &, all these on the Rhine, with fine
views. — REUTERSHAN, R. 115-2V/s, B. 3/s, D. 11/3-2lfs #; GERMANIA, plain,
also on the Rhine; HOr. ZAHNRADBAHN, near the mountain-railway,
without view.

Zahnradbahn, or Rack-and-Pinion Railway, to the top of the Nieder-
wald; the station is at the E. end of the village, near the church (p. 187).

8teamer to Ridesheim and Bingen, see p. 130. — Motor Launch to
Rheinstein 80, there and back 50 pf. — Small Boat to Lorch, 1-6 pers. 41/2 4.

Assmannshausen (2601t ; railway-station, see p. 141), a village
with 1000 inhab., is celebrated for its full-bodied and high-flavoured
red wine, the better vintages of which are preferred by some con-
noisseurs to Burgundy, and realise high prices. A warm alkaline
spring (90°) here, containing lithia, was known as far back as the
Roman period. The Curhaus was built in 1864.

Beyond Assmannshausen the steamboat reaches the Binger Loch,
a rapid caused by the narrowness of the rocky channel, the widen-
ing of which has been the work of ages, from the Roman period
down to the most recent times. The passage is now free from danger,
but only the Dutch steamers (p. xvi) and the local boate call here,
The stream is too rapid to permit a pier to be erected at Assmanns-
hausen.

Above the rapids rises the tower of (1.) Ehrenfels, erected about
1210 by Philipp von Bolanden, Governor of the Rheingau, the fre-
quent residence of the Archbishops of Mayence in the 15th cent.,
muck damaged by the Swedes in 1635, and finally destroyed by
the French in 1689. The two towers are connected by a lofty wall
on the side exposed to attack, facing the hill.

The steep slopes of the Riidesheimer Berg yield the exeellent
wine of that name, and terrace rises above terrace to secure the
soil from falling. The hill is completely covered with walls and
arches, the careful preservation of which conveys an idea of the
value of the vines. According to tradition, Charlemagne observed
from his palace at Ingelheim that the snow always melted first on
the Rildesheimer Berg, and therefore caused vines to be brought
from Tramin (near Botzon) and planted there.
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Opposite the castle, on a quartz-rock in the middle of the Rhine,
is situated the Mouse Tower, which is popularly said to derive its
name from the well-known legend of the cruel Archbishop Hatto of
Mayence (914). Having caused a number of poor people, whom he
compared to mice bent on devouring the corn, to be burned in a
barn during a famine, he was attacked by mice, which tormented
him day and night. He sought refuge on this island, but was
followed by his persecutors, and devoured alive. The tower, how-
ever, was in reality erected in the beginning of the 13th cent. as
a watch-tower, and the name is derived from the old German
Mdsthurm (arsenal). In 1856 the ruins were again converted into
a kind of watch-tower, for making signals to steamers, which in
descending the river are required to slacken speed here when other
vessels are coming up the stream.

The valley of the Rhine now suddenly expands, and the district
of the Rheingau, which was once in all probability a lake, is entered.
Below (r.) Bingen the Nahe unites with the Rhine. Bridges over the
Nahe, and stations of the Rhenish and Rhine-Nahe lines at Binger-
briick, see p. 130. The steamers do not touch at Bingerbriick. Above
Bingerbriick is the pavilion on the Elisenhghe (p. 130). Over Bingen
rise the Klopp and the Rochusberg, with its view-tower (p. 129).

1. Bingen. — Hotels. On the Rhine Quay: HOTEL VICTORIA, near the
station, R. 21/3-4'/2, B. 11/,, D. 8, pens. 5-9 .#, good wine of its own growing;
STarkENBURGER Hor, R. 23, B. 1, D. 8, pens. 51/2-8 #; DisteL, R. 13/,-
21z, B. 3y, D. 2, pens. 5-6/2 .#; Drurscaes Haus, R. 11/»-3, B. 8/,
D. 1/23, pens. from b A, very fair; GOBEL, R. 13/,-21/s, B. 3/;, D. 11/s-
21z M, also very fair; KARPFEN, R, 1‘/,-2 M, B. 60 pf.; ADLER ; GERMANIA.
— In the Town: GoLDNER PrLuG, Kapuziner-Str. 12, near the market-place,
R. & B. 13/4-2, B. 3/4, D. 1Y/3-21/s 4 ; HOTEL D'ANGLETERRE, Maingzer-Str. 9,
very fair; *HILSDORF, in the Speise-Markt, R. & B. 2-21/3, D, from 11/, 4,
plain. — *HoTEL RoCHUSBERG (p. 129), R. 11/3-21/3, B. 1, D. 21/, pens. 5-6 .4,
omnibus from the station B0 pf. — At Bingerdriick: MOHRMANN, R.11/2-2/,
B. 3/, D. 1)/s-8 4, above the station. — Restaurants. Café-Restaurant
Rheingold, on the Rhine Quay; Café Sohery, at the Hot. Hilsdorf (see above) ;
Rochusberger Bierhalle, behind the Hot. Pochusberg (see above); Railway
Restaurant, with veranda and view. — Beer at the Hot. d’ Angleterye, Deutsches
Haus, Germania (see above). — Oonfecti Heil , Ricker, both on
the Rhine Quay.

Electric Tramways: 1. From Bingen Raslway Station, past the Ferry
Station, to Bingerbriick. — 2. From Bingen Railway Station to Biidesheim,

Steam Ferry Boat (‘Traject’) to Riideshesm (p. 130), about 28 times daily
from Bingen and about 15 times daily from Bingerdrick vii Biufen
(fares 20, 10 pf.). — 8t to 4 h and Radesheim, see p. 180,

Boats. To the Mouse Tower, 1-2 pers. 1}/2 .#, each additional pers.
25 pf.; to Assmannshausen, 1-6 pers. 3 #; to Rheinstein and Assmanns-
hausen, with 2 hre'. stay at the former, 5 .#. — Baths in the Rhine.

Oarriages. To the Rochus-Capelle and back, one-horse, 1-2 pers. 4'/2,
8-4 pers. 5 M; two-horse 1-2 pers. 5, 3-4 pers. 6 #; to the Scharlachkopf
and back, one-horse 5 or 6 .4, two-horse 6 or 7 .4#; to Rheinstein and
back, 6, 7, & 8 M.

Railway to Mayence and Coblenz, see R. 19; to Ereusmach and Saar-
bréa:lklm,‘:ee R. 28. — The Raslway Statiou at Bingen ig near the upper end
of the town.
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Bingen (250 ft.), a Hessian district-town with 9670 inhab.,
situated at the confluence of the Nahe and Rhine, was known to the
Romans, who erected a castle here, at the point whence their military
roads to Cologne and Traves diverged. In 70 A.D. a battle was fought
at Bingium between the Romans and the Gauls. In the middle agea
it was a free town of the empire and one of the earliest members of
the confederation of Rhenish towns (p. 166). During the Thirty
Years’ War it was repeatedly captured, and in 1689 it was almost
totally destroyed by the French. Bingen carries on a large trade in
wine, and its recent prosperity is testified by its new winter-
harbour, quays, and embankments. It is the seat of the Rhenish
Technical College (900 students) and of an Industrial School. The
late-Gothic Pfarrkirche, of the 15th cent., with a Romanesque crypt
of the 11th, has been modernised. The Gothic font dates from the
15th century.

Above the town, on the site of the ancient Roman fortress, rises
the castle of Klopp, which was destroyed by the French in 1689,
but has been tastefully restored and extended since 1864. It now
accommodates the municipal offices. The tower and terrace afford
a beautiful view. The tower contains a collection of antiquities
(adm. 20 pf.). The moat is now laid out as a garden. The Goeben-
Strasse, the Schloss-Strasse, and the Rochus-Strasse (beyond the
Hoétel d’Angleterre) ascend to it from the Rhine. Emp. Henry 1V,
was seized here at Christmas, 1105, by his treacherous son
(afterwards Henry V.), who carried him captive to the castle of
Bockelheim (p. 170).

The finest point in the neighbourhood of Bingen is the *Rochus-
berg, with the Rochus - Capelle and the Scharlachkopf, each about
1/5-8/4 hr. from the town. The routes thither are all provided with
guide-posts. From the castle of Klopp we may proceed direct via
the Mariahilf-Strasse and the Rupertus-Strasse. At the top we
reach the Hotel Rochusberg (p. 128), with a veranda, commanding
a fine view, and thence we follow the road on the margin of wood
(or through the woods, below, passing a round dove-cot), which
leads to the chapel in 8 min. more.

The Rochus-Capelle, a chapel on the E. brow of the Rochusberg,
was built in 1677 in memory of the plague of 1666, struck by
lightning and burnt to the ground in 1889, and handsomely rebuilt
in 1889-94 in a late-Gothic style from plans by Meckel. At the
festival of St. Roch (first Sunday after 16th Aug.), charmingly de-
scribed by Goethe, thousands of persons congregate here and celebrate
certain solemnities, to which open-air dances, music, and feasting
form a lively sequel. — The Kempter Eck, 4 min. to the N.E. of the
chapel, commands a fine view over the whole of the Rheingau

. 131).
@ Fron)l the Hotel Rochusberg a shady path leads in.20-min; to the
Bcharlachkopf (810 ft.), the highest point of the Rochusberg, the
BakpxxkR's Rhine. 15th Edit, 9
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S. slopes of which, situated in the district of Biidesheim, yield the
flery Scharlachberger wine. A fine view of the Nahe Valley, the
Taunus, and the Rheingau is obtained from the Kaiser Friedrich
Thurm on the top, 69 ft. high.
¢ Near its mouth the Nahe is crossed by a Railway Bridge, which
is also open to carriages and foot-passengers. The old Bridge, with
its seven arches, about 1/o M. farther up, is built on the foundations
of an old Roman bridge, and has been repeatedly restored. Below
the bridge is an underground Romanesque chapel. — Above the old
bridge the Hunsriick road ascends to the Rondell, a fine point of view.
On the left or Prussian bank of the Nahe, on the Ruppertsberg,
lies Bingerbriick (hotels, see p. 128), a village with 1500 inhab.,
and the station of the Rhine and Nahe Railway (p. 165). A Bene-
dictine nunnery, formerly situated on the Ruppertsberg, was de-

stroyed by the Swedes in 1632.

The Elisenhdhe (830 ft.; pavilion), reached from Bingerbriick station
in /s hr., commands a fine view of the Rheingau and the Niederwald. —
Other good points of view are the Prinzenkops and’ farther on, the Damians-
kopf, between Bingerbriick and Rheinstein. — From the Damianskopf a
path leads to the Schweizerhaus (Vaitsberger Hof, Burg Rheinstein, see
p- 1270) in 8/, br.

On the E. bank, nearly opposite Bingen, lies Riidesheim, of
wine-growing celebrity.

1. Riidesheim. — Hotels, all in the Rhein-Str. (some closed in winter).
*DarMsTADTER Hor, R. 2-4, B. 1, D. 3, pens. from 6 .4#; JoNG, at the
station, R. 21/2-4, B. 1, D. 21/, pens. from 6'/z #; *FaRuaRD, R. 2-3, B. 1,
D. 2t/ M. — *WEgIL, with frequented restaurant, D. 11/2-2'.4; *RaEIN-
STEIN, R.2-4, B. 4, D. 21/2-4, pens. from 61/; 4; *HOTEL Krass, R. 2-3,
B. 1, D. from 3 .#; Doruérer, R. 2-6, B. 1, D. 28, pens. 5-6 4, well
spoken of; BELLEVUE, R. 1/2-2, B. 1, D. from 1Yz, pens. from 5 .#;
TrAUBE, R. & B. 2!/2, D. 1'/2-3 4. well spoken of; FAULEABER, plain.
Several of the hotels have good wine of their own growing.

Restaurants and Wine Rooms at the Hotels and at the Rhenish Station;
Rheinhalle, opposite, on the Rhine (closed in winter); Metternicher Hof
(wine of the Winzer-Verein), behind the Hot. Jung; *J. F. Moos, on the
Rhine, D. (12-4 p.m.) 2-23/ M ; Joh. Miilier, Drosselgasse 5: Ehrhard’s Old
German Wine Room, at the station of the Zahnradbahn, D. (12-2) from 2 4.
— Beer: Weil (see above); Krone, Rbein-Str.; Zengler, on the Rhine;
Schellhaas; Hillskstter, these three near the Zahnradbahn.

Baths. Two establishments on the Rhine.

Carriages to the Niederwald, see p. 136; carr. with two horses to
Schloss Johannisberg for 1-2 pers. 5, 3-4 pers. 6. there and back 7 and § 4.

Zahnradbahn to the Niederwald, see p. 186. The station is at the
upper end of the town, 1z M. from the Rhenish railway-station and
from the pier of the Dutch steamers, and /¢ M. from the pier of the
Cologne and Diisseldorf boats. Omnibus between the stations, 10 pf,

8team Ferry Boat to Bingen and Bingerbrilck, starting from the lower
end of the town, near the station (passage under the railway), see p. 128, —
8t to Bingen and A h sec . 128,

Boats from Riidesheim to Bingen, 1-10 persons 1 .4; Bingerbriick,
1-5 persons 2 ¥, for each additional pers. 10 pf., trunk 10 pf. ; to Assmanns-
hausen 1.6 pers. 3 .4, each additional pers. 10 pf.; to Rheinstein and Ass-
mannshausen 5 4. .

Riidesheim (255 ft.), a district-town with 4800 inhab:)most of
whom live by the culture of the vine, lies in a sunny situation at




to Mayence. RUDESHEIM. 17. Route. 131

the S. base of the Niederwald (p. 136), at the point where the
valley of the Rhine expands into the broad basin of the Rheingau.
The celebrated wine of the place can boast the longest pedigree on
the Rhine, though some of its brethren of the Rheingau are now
considered superior. The best sorts are yielded by the vineyards
behind the town, called the Hinterhaus, the Rottland, close to the
station, and those of the Berg (p. 127) extending below the town
to Ehrenfels.

At the upper end of the town are the Protestant Church, built in
1855, and the late-Gothic Adlerthurm, a relic of the old fortifica-
tions. Adjacent is the station of the Niederwald railway (p. 137). —
The Gothic Church of St. James (Rom. Cath.), in the market-place,
built about 1390-1400, has interesting paintings from the Passion
on the vaulting (ca. 1400), and contains an elaborate late-Renais-
sance altar (ca. 1690) and two fine Renaiasance monuments of the
Bromsers of Riidesheim (1543 and 1567), one of the most distin-
guished knightly families on the Rhine, which became extinet in 1678.

The Vorderburg, a fragment of a square tower near the market-
place, 33 ft. in height, is a relic of one of the three castles of Riides-
heim. At the lower end of the town, near the Rhenish station, rises
the Bromserburg, or properly the Niederburg, the property of Count
Ingelheim, a massive rectangular structure. In the 10-12th cent. it
belonged to the Archbishops of Mayence and it afterwards became
the seat of the Knights of Riidesheim, who became extinct in 1548.
The Oberburg, or Boosenburg, behind the Bromserburg, was entirely
rebuilt in 1868, with the exception of the keep.

The Bromserhof, a mansion of the 15-17th cent. (now a char-
itable institution), in the Obergasse, has a pointed tower covered
with slates and contains ancient frescoes (1563;i

From Riidesheim to the ruin of Ehrenfels (p. , /g hr.

A pleasant walk may be taken to the N.W. to (11/z hr.) the forester's
house of Kammerforst (1520 ft.; restaurant with rooms, pens. 4 .#), near the

Teufelskddrich (p. 128). From Kammerforst a broad path leads through
the wood to Lorch. Comp. Map, p. 128,

At Riidesheim begins the *RHRINGAU, a rich and beautiful
district, whioh produces some of the most famous and costly wines
in the world. The name is now applied to the tract on the E. (here
N.) bank of the Rhine between Riidesheim and Niederwalluf, about
12 M. in length and 5 M. in breadth. It formerly belonged to the
Archbishopric of Mayence and extended down the river as far as
Lorch. It was once completely enclosed by the ‘Gebiick’, a densely
interwoven and impenetrable belt of trees about 50 paces in width.

A *WaLk through the Rheingau may be taken as follows. From
Eltville to (21/4 M.) Kiedrich (p.185), and then past the lunatic asylum
of Eichberg to (3 M.) Eberbach: thence over the Bos and past the Steinberg
to (Y4 M.) Hallgarten, and vid- Schloss Volirads to (3 M.) Johannisberg;
then back to the Rhine at (11/2 M.) Geisenheim. An excursion should also
be made from Eltville to the Bubenhduser Hohe and Rauenthal (see p.142).

9.
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On the summit of the Niederwald, to the left, rises the National
Monument (p. 137). — After passing Kempten and (rail. stat.)
Gaulsheim, we reach —

1. Geisenheim (*Frankfurter Hof, R.1'/p-21/5, B.3/,-1, D. 1-8,
pens. 4-61/5 4 ; Deutsches Haus , pens. 4 4 ; Germania, un-
pretending), a pleasant little town with 3800 inhab., mentioned
in histoly as early as the 8th century, and now boasting of a number
of country-houses. The late-Gothic Church, completed in 1518, has
a conspicuous portal, and open towers of red sandstone added by
Hoffmann in 1838; the interior was modernised in 1745-62. The
adjoining tower (100 ft. high) belongs to a factory of sparkling wine.
The Rathhaus was erected in 1856. At the upper end of the town
are a new Romanesque church and the mansions of Counts Ingelheim
and Schoenborn. At the W., or lower, entrance to the town is the
villa Monrepos of Herr von Lade, with an interesting garden and
orchards. Near the station is the Enological and Pomological Aca-
demy, a government-institution for the scientific instruction of
wine and fruit growers. Behind rises the red Rotheberg, the slopes
of which produce the best Geisenheim wine.

On the hill behind Geisenheim, near Eibingen (446 fX. ; Schdfer's Tavern),
riges the old nunnery of that name, founded in 1148 and secularised in 1802
a little to the N. is the new nunnery of St. Hildegard (1901). Farther to
the N.E., on the hillside, are the remains of the Capuchin convent of Noth-
gottes (Agonia Domini), founded in 1624, now a farm. About 3/¢ M. to the
N. (2/s M. from Riidesheim) is the former tery of Maréenthal

L. Schloss Johannisherg, a conspicuous point in the landscape,
picturesquely situated on a vine- clad eminence, 340 ft. above the
Rhine, may be reached in 3/¢ hr. by good roads either from Geisen-
heim or from Winkel (p. 133). The extensive chiteau was erected
in 1757-59 by the Prince-Abbot of Fulda, on the site of an old
Benedictine monastery founded by Archbishop Ruthard in 1090. In
1802, on the suppression of the Abbey of Fulda (which purchased
the Johannisberg from Mayence in 1716), the castle became the
property of the Prince of Orange, in 1807 it was presented by Na-
poleon to Marshal Kellermann, and in 1816 it was conferred by the
Emp. of Austria as an imperial flef on Prince Clemens of Metter-
nich, who did not fully recognise the sovereignty of the Duke of
Nassau till 1851. The far-famed vineyards (comp. p. xxii), in area
about 55 acres, yielding, in good years, an income of 7000L., are
most carefully cultivated, and take the lead among the vineyards of
the Rhine, although of late years there has been a great rivalry be-
tween the wines of Johannisberg and Steinberg (p. 134). Visitors
are not admitted to the interior of the chateau, though, when the
family is absent, they may enjoy the striking view from the terrace
in front. (Good Johannisberger may be procured from the steward at
4!/, 4 and upwards per bottle.) The Chapel of the chiteau, con-
secrated in 1130, rebuilt in 1717-30, and modernised cin the
19th century, contains the tomb of the Rhenish historian Nicholas
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Vogt (d. 1836), the tutor of Prince Metternich. — To the E. of
the chiteau, on the road to Winkel, is the villa of Herr von Mumm
of Frankfort. — On the Hanselberg, a hill lower down the Rhine,
a little below Johannisberg, is the Villa Bauer.

A few minutes’ walk from the Schloss we reach Dorf Johannis-
berg (*Zum Schloss Johannisberg). To the S.W. is Johannisberg im
Grund (Kauter's Tavern), a village with a large manufactory of
printing-presses. Near it, at the foot of the Schloss, lies the ‘Klause’,
the remains of a nunnery founded about 1450, and suppressed in
1452. Fine view of Ingelheim (p. 140) to the left.

1. Winkel (Rheingauer Hof, with garden; Diring) and Mittel-
heim together form one long street, so long that Goethe has described
it as very trying to the patience. Near the Rhine is the Graue Haus,
in the Romanesque style (11th. cent.?). At the W.extremity is
situated the country-house of Herr Brentano, mentioned along with
Goethe in Bettina von Arnim’s ‘Correspondence of a Child’, where
memorials of the poet are still preserved. '

At (1.) Oestrich (Steinheimer, Schwan, both on the Rhine; beer
at Winkel's) the inhabitants of the Rheingau formerly swore fealty
to each newly-elected Archbishop of Mayence, who was obliged first
to confirm the privileges of the people. The village (2000 inhab.)
with its projecting crane, and the Johannisberg in the background,
affords a pleasant picture.

On the slope behind Oestrich lies Hallgarten (666 ft.; Kremer, plain),
in the midst of vineyards; near it is the well-preserved chateau of Voli-
rads, probably erected in 1362 by a member of the Greiffenkiau family, in
whose possession it atill is. Above Hallgarten (4 hr.) rises the Haligarier
Zange (1900 ft. ; inn), with a view-tower.

Before reaching (1.) Hattenheim (*Ress, on the Rhine, R. from
11/5, D. from 11/3 .4; beer at Noil’s), a village of 1300 inhab., with
extensive cellars for the storage of wine, the road passes Schloss
Reichartshausen, in a small park, 1 M. from Oestrich.

A road leads inland from Hattenheim to the (2)/4 M.) once celebrated
and richly-endowed Cistercian Abbey of Eberbach (restaurant at the entrance),
founded in 1116, erected into an abbey by St. Bernard of Clairvaux in 1131,
and situated in one of those sequestered valleys which this order always

lected for their teri ‘B dus valles, tes Benedictus amabat,
oppida Franciscus, celebres Ignatius urbes.”)

The Abbey (adm. 1-3 pers. 50 pf., more 1 .4; the door-keeper and the
cellerman who acts as guide also expect a fee), secularised in 1803, and now
used as a prison, was built at various periods from the 12th to the
16th century. The extremeilsg plain architecture of the Romanesque Abbey
Church, consecrated in 1186 and recently restored, is characteristic of
the earliest days of the Cistercian Order; it contains a number of *Mon-
uments, most of them of abbots of the 12-18th centuries. The Gothic
monument which encloses the tombs of Gerlach, Archbishop of Mayence
(d. 1871), and Adolph II. of Nassau (d. 1474), particularly deserves in-
spection. The so-called Refectory of the 18th cent. (more probably the Jn-
Jirmary), now occupied by wine-presses, the Gothic Chapler House of the
close of the 1ith cent. (restored), the large Dormitory (partly altered), and
a part of the cloisters which is still preserved are all deserving of notice.
The vaunlts below these buildings are used as wine-cellars. The im-
portant wine-auctions which take place here every spring are attended by
all the most noted Rhenish wine-merchants.




136 Route 1s. NIEDERWALD.

is the former Palace of the Dukes of Nassau, now in the possession
of the Grand-Duke of Luxembourg, completed in 1706 in the Re-
naissance style. The extensive ®*Park contains a splendid chestnut
avenue and other fine trees. The Moosburg, a miniature castle in
the park, built in 1806 in the medimval style, occupies the site
of the imperial palace of Biburk, where Louis the German resided
in 874 (no admission). — From Biebrich to Wiesbaden, vii the
Biebrich Water Tower (fine view), see p. 153.

Opposite Biebrich lies the Rettbergs-Au and on the left bank,
lower down, is Amdneberg, the first Hessian village, with cement
and chemical works. The steamboat next passes between two is—
lands, the Ingelheimer Au (restaurant in the hunting-lodge), now
connected with the mainland to form the new winter-harbour of
Mayence (p. 159), on the right, and on the left the Peters-Au, over
which passes the new railway-bridge (930 yds. long; built in
1901-3) of the Mayence and Wiesbaden line. On the Peters Au,
at his summer-residence, the Emp. Louis the Pious, son and
successor of Charlemagne, expired in 840. His body was conveyed
to Metz and interred there. On the Ingelheimer Aue are the new
electric works of Mayence.

The steamboat-pier at Mayence is above the imposing new bridge,
through the central arch of which the steamer passes.

Mayence, see R. 22.

18. The Niederwald.

See also Map, p. 128.

Zahnradbahnen (Rack-and-Pinion Railways). From Riidesheim to the
Monument on the Niederwald, and from Assmannshausen to the Jagdschloss
in 10-14 min. (fares, ascent 1 .4, descent50 pf.). The former line is usually
open from April 10 the end of Oct., the latter from the middle of April to
the end of Sept. only.

Carriage-and-Pair from Riidesheim to the Niederwald Monument and
Jagdschloss in 2 hrs., 1-2 pers. 6, 3-4 pers. T .4, descending to Assmanns-
hausen, 9 or 10 #; the same, returning along the Rhine, 10 or 11 4; from
A h to the Niederwald 5 .#; by the Niederwald and Johannis-
berg to Riidesheim 17 4.

Steamer six times daily in summer between Assmannshausen, Bingen,
and Riidesheim; fares 50, gb pf.

With the assistance of the mountain-railway, 11/2-2 hrs. are suffi-
cient for a visit to the Niederwald (Riidesheim,the monument, the Rossel,
the Jagdschloss, and Assmannshausen, or in the reverse order). Walkers
also require little more than 2 hrs., although in both cases more time
may be profitably devoted to the excursion.

The *Niederwald (1080 ft.), a wooded hill, clothed with
vineyards on its 8. slopes, which are known as the ‘Ridesheimer
Berg’ (p. 127), rises from the Rhine at the point where the river quits
the Rheingau and suddenly turns towards the N. It lfes at the upper
end of the narrow part of the river, which begins at the Seven Mts.,
and vies with the latter as a point of attraction”to excursionists.
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Frox RopmsmEmM (p. 130) To THE NIEDERWALD MONUMENT.
Most travellers now use the Rack-and-Pinion Railway (see p. 136;
station, p. 130), which ascends gently through vineyards, to the
terminus (Jung's Restaurant), about 3 min. from the monument and
near an old view-temple. The gradient is at first 1 : 12; at the top,
before the wood is entered, 1 :5.

Walkers reach the monument in 3/, hr. either by a sunny path
through the vineyards to the N. of the railway-station (closed when
the grapes are ripe), or by the ‘Kiihweg’, passing the Roman Catholic
church. The first path ends about 200 yds. to the W. of the mon~
ument, the other leads to the temple.

The *National Monument on the Niederwald, erected in com-
memoration of the unanimous rising of the German people and the
foundation of the new German empire in 1870-74, stands upon a
projecting spur of the hill (980 ft. above the sea-level; 740 ft.
above the Rhine), opposite Bingen, and is conspicuous far and
wide. It was begun in 1877 from the designs of Johannes Schilling
of Dresden and was inangurated with great ceremony in 1883. The
huge basis is 78 ft. high, while the noble figure of Germania, with
the imperial orown and the laurel-wreathed sword, an emblem of
the unity and strength of the empire, is 33 ft. in height. The prin-
cipal relief, on the side of the pedestal facing the river, symbolises
the ‘Wacht am Rhein’. It contains portraits of King William of
Prussia and other German princes and generals, together with re-
presentatives of the troops from the different parts of Germany,
with the text of the famous song below; to the right and left are
allegorical figures of Peace and *War, while below are Rhenus and
Mosella, the latter as the future guardian of the W. frontier of the
empire. The fine reliefs on the sides of the pedestal represent the
departure and the return of the troops. The total cost of this
magnificent monument amounted to 1,100,000 .4 (55,0002.). An
excellent model of it is shewn in the custodian’s house behind
the monument. — The terrace in front commands an admirable
*Survey of the entire Rheingau, bounded on the S.E. by the Taunus
Mts., on the S. by the Melibocus, and on the W. by the distant
Donnersberg.

A finger-post immediately behind the custodian’s house indicates
the path, marked on the Map, to (25 min.) the ‘Rossel’ (p. 138).
— The ‘Tempelweg’, beginning at the railway-station, leads past
the back of the monument to (1 M.) the Jagdschloss.

Those who ascend from AssMANNSHAUSEN (p. 127) enjoy a
more striking development of the views. The station of the Rail-
way of the Right Bank lies 1/; M. above the village. From the
Rhine we follow the main street leading through a gateway above
the Anker Hotel. From the steamboat-pier (p. 127) we may also
proceed in a straight direction through the garden of the Rhein-
Hétel and passunder the railway. About 50 paces beyond the church,



138 Route 18. NIEDERWALD. Jagdschloss.

to the right, at the end of the village, is the station of the ZAENRAD-
BAHN (comp. p. 136). The line ascends the S. side of the valley, the
opposite slopes of which, exposed to the influence of the morning sun,
yield the esteemed red wine known as Assmannshauser (p. 127). At
Aulhausen, about halfway up, the railway turns due S. towards the
Jagdschloss, 100 paces short of which it ends. — Walkers diverge to
the right from the cart-road (which remains in the valley) at a small
shrine (guide-post) about i/s M. from the church, cross the Zahn-
radbahn, and ascend the winding path through wood to (3/4 hr.)
the plateau.'

The Jagdschloss (1085 ft.), an old shooting-lodge, belongs to
government, but has been rented to a hotel-keeper of Assmanns-
hausen (R.2-3, B.4, D. 3, pens. in the ‘Logirhaus’ opposite from
51/, #). Picturesque silvan walks in the neighbourhood.

From the Jagdschloss the ‘Tempelweg’ leads direct to the Monu-
ment in 20 minates. Walkers should select the path leading by the
Rossel. Passing the ‘Logirhaus’ on the left, they reach in 10 min.
the Zauberhihle or ‘magic cave’, a small hut with three apertures
commanding views, through clearings in the wood, of the Clemens-
Capelle, the Falkenburg, and Rheinstein.

About 5 min. walk farther on is the *Rossel (1125 ft. above the
sea, 880 ft. above the river), an artificial ruin on the highest point of
the Niederwald, commanding a beautiful prospect: to the left, Bin-
gen, Hesse, and the valley of the Nahe, with the Donnersberg in the
background (to the left); to the right the wooded heights of the
Hunsriick (Soonwald). Far below, the Rhine rushes through the
Bingerloch, past the ruin of Ehrenfels and the Mouse Tower. On
the opposite bank lies Bingen with the castle of Klopp, sheltered
by the Rochusberg. On the right, in the immediate vicinity, rises
Rheinstein, with the Schweizerhaus; farther down stands the
Clemens-Capelle, beyond it the Falkenburg. — The Klippe, a point
of view to the W. of and below the Rossel, commands a pictur-
esquely framed view of the Rheinstein, Clemens-Capelle, Burg Fal-
kenstein, and Trechtingshausen, and is most conveniently visited
from the Zauberhdhle before ascending to the Rossel.

A finger-post at the foot of the Rossel indicates the forest-path,
marked on the Map, to (20 min.) the National Monument. Half-
way is the Eremitage, an open blockhouse with a picturesque view
of Bingen and the Nahe. At the stone-bench, b min. farther on,
we keep to the right. — The National Monument, see p. 137. —
To the Rhine at Riidesheim walkers require about 1/, hr.
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19. From Coblenz to Mayence.

Railway on the Left Bank.
Comp. Maps, pp. 112, 128.

RaiLway to Bingerbrick, 38 M., in 1-13/; hr. (fares b . 50, 4 .4 10,
2 4 90 pf.). — From Bingerbriick to Mayence, 19 M., in 1/3-1 hr. (fares
24 70, 1 4 90, 1 4 2 pf.). Views to the left.

Railway on the Right Bank, see R.20. Return-tickets, available for three
days and allowing the journey to be broken once in each direction, may"
be used on either bank as far as Bingerbriick and Riidesheim (see p. 18).
— Steamboat, see R. 17.

Coblens, see R. 16. As far as Bingen the line generally runs
close to the river, and passes the places more minutely described
in R. 17. Many of the beauties of the scenery are of course lost to
the railway-traveller.

Beyond Coblenz the line skirts the Karthause (r.), at a little
distance from the river. A view of the island of Oberwerth and the
fortress of Ehrenbreitstein is obtained to the left. 3 M. Capellen
(steamb. stat.) lies at the foot of the castle of Stolzenfels (p. 113).
Opposite are Oberlahnstein and the castle of Lahneck. After pass-
ing the Kdnigsstuhl, which rises to the left, the line intersects the
old village of (51/; M.) Rhens (p. 115). Farther up, on the opposite
bank, is Braubach with the Marksburg, and beyond it the chiteau
of Liebeneck.

121/, M. Boppard (steamb. stat.; p. 116); 151/ M. Salsig (p.
118). A little farther on are the castles of Sterrenberg and Lie-
benstein and the convent of Bornhofen ; still farther up are Well-
mich and the Mouse.

24 M. 8t. Goar (steamb. stat.; p. 119). The station lies on a
height at the back of the town. On the opposite bank is St. Goars-
hausen with the Cat. To the left, farther on, we obtain a view of
the Lurlei. Three tunnels, beyond which is (261/; M.) Oberwesel
(steamb. stat.; p. 122). We next have a view on the left of Caub,
the Pfalz, and the ruin of Gutenfels (p. 123).

30 M. Bacharach (steamb. stat.; p. 124); 32 M. Niederheim-
bach (steamb. stat.; p. 126); 35 M. Trechtingshausen (p. 126). On
the opposite bank, Assmannshausen and Lorch successively come
in sight. At Bingerbriick the wider part of the valley is entered.

38 M. Bingerbriick (see p. 130) lies on the left (Prussian) bank
of the Nahe, about 3/4 M. from Bingen, and nearly opposite the
Mouse Tower (p. 128). Travellers bound for Kreuznach (p. 165),
Saarbriicken, Trdves, Metz, etc., change carriages here. — Steam-
boat to Riidesheim (p. 130). Comp. Map, p. 136.

The train now crosses the Nahe. To the left a view of the
Niederwald and the ruined castle of Ehrenfels (p. 127).

381/, M. Bingen (steamb. stat.), see p. 128. The line now skirts
the base of the Rochusberg (several villas to the right), unites with
the line from Alzey (R. 3D), and begins to diverge from the Rhine.
41 M. Gaulsheim. — 44 M. Gau-Algesheim is the junection for-the
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new strategic railway to Kr h and Miinster am Stein (15 M. ;
see p. 168), which is to be continued towards the Glanthal. —
A view of the Johannisberg to the left is sometimes obtained, but
the country generally is flat and uninteresting.

46 M. Ingelheim, station for the two villages of Nieder-Ingelheim
(Goldner Hirsch) and Ober-Ingetheim (395 ft.; Lamm), each 2/3 M.
.distant. Nieder-Ingelheim was once the site of a celebrated palace
of Charlemagne, described by ancient writers as an edifice of
great magnificence (‘domus alta centum perfixa columnis’), to
adorn which mosaics, sculptures, and other works of art were
sent from Ravenna by Pope Hadrian I. between 768 and 784. It
was burned down in 1270, but was restored by Charles IV. in 1354.
Few relics of the building are now extant. The Protestant St.
Remigius- Kirche was once the chapel of the palace, but as it has
been repeatedly restored nothing of the original is now left except
some parts of the N. transept. The handsome Protestant Church
of Ober-Ingelheim, recently restored, dates from the 13th century.
1t was at Ingelheim, on 31st Dec., 1405, that the convocation of
the bishops of Mayence, Cologne, and Worms dethroned Emp.
Henry IV. The red wine of Ingelheim is much esteemed. — The
Waldeck (760 ft.), 1/ hr. above Ober-Ingelheim, commands one of
the finest views of the Rheingau ; a Bismarck Tower was erected on
the summit in 1903.

49 M. Heidesheim. From (521/3 M.) Budenheim the Leniaberg
(p. 165) may be ascended in 1/p hr. — 55 M. Mombach.

57 M. Mayenoce, see R. 22.

20. From Coblenz to Wiesbaden. Schlangenbad and
Schwalbach.

Railway on the Right Bank.
Comp. Maps, pp. 112, 128.
581/ M. RAILWAY in 2-8 hras. (fares 7 4 40, 5 4 60, 3 & 70 pf.; express
T4 90, b .4 90 pf.). Return-tickets, eee p. T8. — Views to the right.
Travellers bound for Castel or Frankfort (R. 20a) need not go vid
Wiesbaden, as a direct line to these towns diverges between Biedrich-
Mosbach and Curve (see p. 142; Map, p. 128).

Coblens and Ehrenbreitstein, see R. 16. — The station for the
Railway on the Right Bank is at Ehrenbreitstein (p. 141). Passengers
who start from Coblenz (Central Station, p. 105) cross the handsome
railway-bridge (p. 110) at the island of Oberwerth |and join the
railway described below at Niederlahnstein.

The line from Ehrenbreitstein passes to the left of the old
railway-bridge and runs at the back of Pfaffendorf (p. 112), com-
manding a fine view the whole way. — 21/o M. Horchheim (p. 113).

4 M. Niederlahnstein (p. 113), the junction of the Lahn rail-
way (R.27). In the opposite direction, passengers bound for Coblenz
change carriages here.
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The line crosses the Lahn. View of Capellen and Stolzenfels
to the right, and of Lahneck to the left.

41/; M. Oberlahnstein (steamb. stat., p. 114). Opposite lies the
village of Rhens, with the Konigsstuhl (p. 145). )

7 M. Braubach, with the Marksburg (p. 145). Narrow - gauge
line hence to Nastdtten (Zollhaus), see p. 116. To the right Nie-
derspay, and farther on on the same bank, below the Marksburg,
Oberspay. — 10 M. Osterspay (p. 116). Passing the small village of
Filsen, we now obtain a view of Boppard, beautifully situated on the
opposite bank. 131/p M. Camp (steamb. stat., p.118), a little above
which are the pilgrimage-church and convent of Bornhofen, at the
footof the ruined castles of Sterrenberg and Liebenstein (the ‘Brothers’,
p. 118). 1713 M. Kestert (p. 118), beyond which the train passes
the village of Wellmich, with the ‘Mouse’ castle rising above it.
Farther on are the extensive ruins of Rheinfels on the opposite bank.

21 M. 8t. Goarshausen (steamb. stat.), with the ruined castle of
the ‘Cat’ (p. 120). Narrow-gauge line hence to Nustdtien (Zollhaus),
see p. 121. Opposite lies the picturesque little town of St. Goar.
The train now passes through a tunnel under the Lurlei (p. 121),
and through another under the Rossstein. On the opposite bank lies
Oberwesel, a picturesque little town, commanded by the Schonburg.

7 28 M. Caub (steamb. stat., p. 123), above which rises the ruin
of Gutenfels. In the middle of the Rhine is the curious old chéiteau
of the Pfals. Higher up the river, on the opposite bank, lies the
venerable town of Bacharach, overshadowed by the ruin of Stahleck;
then the ruin of Fiirstenberg and the village of Rheindiebach. The
train intersects the village of Lorchhausen.

311/, M. Lorch (steamb. stat., p. 125). On the opposite bank,
farther up, is Niederheimbach, commanded by the round tower of
the Heimburg; then the slender tower of the Sooneck, the ruin of
Falkenburg, the Clemens-Capelle, and the picturesque, modernised
oastle of Rheinstein.

361/; M. Assmannshausen (see p.127) is the starting-point of a
rack- and -pinion railway to the Niederwald (p. 136). Opposite, a
little higher up, is the mouth of the Nahe, immediately above which
lies Bingen. The train passes below the ruin of Ehrenfels, opposite
which lies the island with the Mouse Tower, where the stream is
very rapid.

39 M. Ridesheim (steamb. stat., p. 130). On the left rises the
Bromserburg. Ferry to Bingerbriick (junction for Kreuznach), situat-
ed immediately below Bingen on the opposite bank, 20 or 10 pf. —
Opposite rises the Rochusberg, with its chapel (p. 129).

411/, M. Geisenheim (steamb. stat., p. 132). On the hill to the
left are the village and monastery of Eibingen. — 44 M. Qestrich-
Winkel (steamb. stat., p.133); the station is at Mittelheim, between
these two places. To the left is Schloss Vollrads. - FromWinkel to
Johannisberg an easy ascent of 3/4 hr.
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461/, M. Hattenheim (p. 133). On the hill to the left is Hall-
garten, a famous wine-producing place; to the N.E., on the slope
of the Bos, is the still more famous Steinberg, and in the valley
behind is the Abbey of Eberbach, to the right of which lies the
Eichberg Lunatic Asylum. To the right are Schloss Reichartshausen,
and the green islands in the Rhine. — 49 M. Erbach (p. 134).

50 M. Eltville (steamb. stat., p. 134); route to Schlangenbad
and Schwalbach, see below. In the background rises the tower of
Scharfenstein (p. 435). The train traverses vineyards and passes a
number of country-houses. From the hill to the left peeps the
church-tower of Rauenthal (see below). 52 M. Niederwalluf (steamb.
stat., p. 135); 541/ M. Schierstein (p. 135), where the train begins
to quit the river.

56 M. Biebrich-Mosbach (steamb. stat., p. 185). The N. en-
trance to the park is near the railway-station and the steam-tramway.
On the opposite bank rise the towers of Mayence. Beyond Curve
(p- 241) the train turns inland to the left, running parallel for some
distance with the Taunus line, and soon reaches —

581/, M. Wiesbaden (see p. 145).

SCHLANGENBAD and SCHWALBACH are most conveniently visited
from Eltville or Wiesbaden. '

FroM ELTVILLE TO SCHLANGENBAD, 5 M., steam-tramway daily in 35 min-
utes. — Eltrille, see p.134 and above. The intermediate stations are (2 M.)
Neudorf (495 ft.; Krone), in the valley of the Waldaffa; Rauenthal (Hotel
Diana, very fair), for the (3/¢ M.) village of that name (see below); and
Tiefenthal (hotel). an ancient convent, suppressed in 1803.

Pedestrians should select the somewhat longer route by Rauenthal
(2 hrs.). The highroad is quitted 1 M. from Eltville, and the vineyards as-
cended by a footpath to the left (partly closed during the vintage); on
reaching the summit of the plateau, we turn again slightly to the left;
(26 min.) the Bubenh&user Hbhe (880 ft.), commanding a magnificent view
of the entire Rheingau with the town of Eltville in the foreground. About
3/y M. farthe® to the N., on the summit of the hill, is situated Rauenthal
(856 ft.; Nassauer Hof; Rheingauer Hof, both with gardens), a village with
an ancient church (186th cent.), and celebrated for its wine. On the slope
of the hill on the N. side of Rauenthal a shady promenade leads to
Schlangenbad in 8/4 hr. ,

Schlangenbad. — Hotels, some with gardens and most of them closed
in winter. °RovaL Bare Houses (Konigiiche Curhduser): Nassauer Hof,
with veranda and restaurant, Berliner Hof, Schweszerhaus, Oberes, Mittleres,
& Unteres Curhaus, and Geselischafishaus, R. at these from ‘}, B. 11, D. 8 4,
pens. in May and June only. — “HOTEL VICTORIA, with restaurant, R. 2-15,
B. 1Y4, D. 3, pens. from T.4;: RussiscHER Kaser, R. from 1Yz, B. 11/,
D. 2/, M, these two in the Rheingauer-Str., near the Bath Houses. — Less
pretending: WALDFRIEDEN, on the Wiesbaden road, a little distant from
the Bath Houses, R. 2-5, pens. 58 4#; WERNER, RHEINLAND, R. from 11/s,
D. 2-2/z, pens. 41/2-5 .4, both in the Rheinguuer-Strasse. — There are also
numerous lodging-houses and apartments to let.

Rest: Bremser, Rheis Hof, Miih]-Strasse, with bedrooms to let.

Baths at the upper bath-house 1!/ 4, at the middle bath-house 1 .4
80 pf., at the lower bath-house 2 4. — Visitors’ Tax (after ten days’
residence), one pers. 15 .4, each addit. pers. 10 4. — Band 3-4 times
daily. — Summer Theatre, twice weekly in July and August.




SCHWALBACH. 20. Route. 143

Carriages, two-horse 5 .4, one-horse 3!/2 4 per hour; to Schwal-
bach 9 or 8, to Wiesbaden 12 or 9 .. — Donkey, per hour, 1 4 50 pf.

English Church Service in summer. .

Schlangenbad (985 ft.), charmingly situated in a richly-wooded
valley, is annually visited by about 2000 patients, the great majority
of whom are women. The water (10 springs; 80-86° Fahr.), which
belongs to the earthy-alkaline group of mineral waters, and is clear
and free from odour, is most efficacious in skin complaints, nervous
affections, and the maladies of women. The Upper Bath House oc-
cupies the site of one erected in 1694 by the Landgrave Carl of
Hesse-Cassel, then lord of the soil; the Central Bath dates from the
18th cent.; the well-equipped Lower Bath House was completed in
1868. The Schlangen-Quelle and Marien-Quelleare used for drinking.
The environs afford a great variety of shady walks (e.g. the Wilhelms-
felsen, the Graue Stein, the Hohe Wurszel, and the Wilde Frau).

FroM SCHLANGENBAD TO WIESBADEN, Tl2 M. The road by (11z M.)
Georgenborn (1185 ft.; Hotel-Restaurant Hohenwald, D. 11/2, pens. A1/-5 4.
a little before the village is reached) is the best route for pedestrians and
cyclists. On the way is a belvedere, erected in 1886 in honour of the Em-
press Augusta. Other points of view above the village. Descent to the
Chausseehaus (see below), 21/4 M.

The road from Schl bad vid Wambach to Schwalbach rises con-
siderably for 21/ M., and then descends to (21/4 M.) Schwalbach. Pedestrians
may descend by a shady footpath (sign-posts).

FroMm WIBSBADEN To SCHWALBACH AND LimMBure, 34 M., local
railway in 2!/o hrs. (fares 4, 3, 2 .#; to Schwalbach in 1 hr., fares
1 .4 80, 1.#430, 9 pf.). — The railway (p. 14D) crosses the
Biebrich and Schierstein road. To the left we have a view of
Mayence and the plain of the Rhine. To the right are the Neroberg
and the Platte. — 21/5 M. Dotsheim (630 ft.; hence to the Spitze-
Stein, p. 135, 3/4 br.). The line now leads through wood. H M.
Chausseehaus (900 ft.; Hoétel Taunusblick), named after a (b min.)
forester's house on the old Ems road (p. 153), whence (finger-posts)
the Schliferskopf (1483 ft.) may be ascended in 1/ hr., and the Hohe
Wursel (025 ft.), one of the highest summits of the W. Taunus, in
1 hr. (view-towers on both). — 71/3 M. Eiserne Hand (1380 ft.),
whence we may reach the view-tower on the Altenstein (1643 ft.) in
25 min. and the Platte (p. 163) in 50 min. more. The line descends
into the valley of the Aar and follows it to (9 M.) Hahn-Wehen
(1144 ft.), Bleidenstadt (10 M.), and —

13 M. Schwalbach. — The Raiuway StaTion (940 ft.) is about
1 M. from the Cursaal, on the road descending the Aar valley. Omni-
buses (3‘% trunk 25 pf.) and carriages await the trains (electric tramway

rojected). -
P )Jnoteln (most of them closed in winter). *ALLEESAAL, Neue-Str. 1, with
dépendance Villa Grebert, first-class, R. from 4, B. 11/2, D. 4, pens from
10 #; “Herzoe voN Nassau, Neue-Str. 6, R. from 3 4, B. 1 .44 40 pf.,
D. 33, pens. from 8 .4; *HOTEL METROPOLE, Reit-Allée 2, with dépendances,
R. 2/2-10, B. 1}/2, D. 3Y2, pens. 8-15 .#; °*QuELLENHO¥ & Posr-HOTEL,
Brunnen-Str. 53, with garden, R. 29, B. 1-11/,, D. 81/z, pens. from“7l/z &,
*VicToRria, Neue-Str. 2, with café and confectioner’s, R. &12, B. 1 4 40 pf.,
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D. 2Y/2-3, pens. 6-15 4 ; CoNTINENTAL, Bad-Weg 8; Taunus, Brunnen-Str, 45,
R. from 2, B. 1Y/s, D. 8, pens. from 7! .#; RussiscHEr Hor, Adolf-
Str. 36 (open in winter); BERLINER Hor, Brunnen- Str. 33. — Some of the
Lodging Houses (‘Kurhauser’) are very comfortably fitted up. In July and
August it is advisable to secure rooms in advance.

Restaurants. *Cursaal, D. 21/5-81/2 M ; *Dille, at the Berliner Hof; *Bibo
(Ldwenburg), with a few bedrooms, Brunnen-Str. 4, D. 2 #; Gartenlaude;
* Weidenhof, Kirch-8tr. 2, D. 11/ .4# ; Maleparius, Brunnen-Str. 43, also rooms.

Post and Telegraph Office, Rhein-Str. 1.

Baths in the Konigliches Badhaus, Brunnen-Str. 20 (6 a.m. till 1.30 p.m.,
baths from 1 & 20 pf. to 3 M). At the Stadt Coblenz, Linde, Zum Linden-
brunnen, etc., 1 .4 20 to 2 4 50 pf. per bath.— Visitors' Taz : 1-2 persons 13 4
each, every additional member of a party 8 4 ; ‘Brusnenkarte’ for drinking
the waters 231/2 #; Daily Tickets for admission to the Curhaus !fz 4. —
Music in the morning and afternoon, at the Stahlbrunnen, the Wein-
brunnen, and the Trinkhalle alternately. Reunfons (dancing, etc.) Wed.
and Sat. evenings in the Curhaus.

Carriages. One-horse 21/, two-horse 4 4 per hour, afternoon 3 and
6 #; to Eltville /3 and 15 M. — Donkeys 2 4 per hour,

English Church (Ch»ist Church), Frankfurter-Str.

Schwalbach, officially styled Langen-Schwalbach (950 ft.), with
2700inhab. , is situated in a beautiful greenvalley. QXgM .to theN. of
Eltville (p. 142). It has been known for at least B0 years, and was
a fashionable watering-place in the 17th and 18th centuries, but is
now regarded more as a health-resort and medioinal spa. The water,
strongly impregnated with iron and carbonic acid, is adapted for
internal and external use, and is especially efficacious in nervous and
female complaints. The annual number of visitors is about 5000.

The two principal springs, the Stahlbrunnen in one of the
valleys, and the Weinbrunnen in the other, are connested by prom-
enades. The other springs are used only for bathing. A handsome
Cursaal , with a restaurant, a reading-room, etc., was opened in
1879. Farther up, beyond the pond near the Weinbrunnen, there
are extensive lawn-tennis courts.

‘WaLES in the pleasure-grounds and adjacent woods. Also to the
(%4 br.; donkey 50 pf.) Paulinenberg; the Platte (1330 ft.), the summit
of which, with a fine view, may be reached in 15-20 min. more; and the
Brdunchesberg, with a pavilion commanding a good view of the town and
the valley of the Aar. A road, known as the ‘Bader-Strasse’ and recom-
mended to cyclists, leads vid Kemel (1663 ft.), Holzhausen auf der Heide
(p. 121), Singhofen, and Nassau (p. 216) to (24 M.) Ems (p. 212). A good
road (also a favourite of cyclists) leads from Schwalbach down the
picturesque valley of the Wisper to Gerolstein and (20 M.) Lorch (p. 125).

The railway continues to follow the pretty valley of the Aar. —
141/y M. Adolphseck (Kling), with a picturesque ruined castle; 171/oM.
Hohenstein (780 ft.; Burg Hohenstein, very fair, pens. 4-41/s & ;
Villa Alpin, pens. 31/4-4 .#), with the picturesque ruins of a strong-
hold destroyed in 46567. Several small stations. — 251/3 M. Zollhaus
(Railway Hotel), junction for the narrow-gauge line to Nastitten
(8t. Goarshausen, Braubach, p. 121), has a large cement-factory
and the Johannisbrunnen, a spring exploited by the Apollinaris Co.
(p. 98). Burg-Schwalbach, with a ruined castle (restaurant, pens,
81/5-41/5 M), 3/4 M. to the S.E., and the romantic ruin of Hohlenfels
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(p. 121) may also be visited from Zollhaus (1 hr.). — 27 M. Hahn-
stitten (465 ft.; Nassauer Hof, unpretending), with iron-ore deposits
(siderites). — 28 M. Oberneisen; 30 M. Flacht. To the right is the
ruin of Ardeck. — 321/ M. Dietz, see p. 218. — 84 M. Limburyg,
see p. 219.

21. Wiesbaden.

Railway Stations. 1. Taunus Station (P1 E, 6; restaurant), Rhein-Str.,
for the Taunus Railway to Castel (Mayence) and Frankfort (R. 29a). —
2. Rhine Station (P, E, 8; restaurant), Rheinbahn-str., for the Railway of the
Right Bank (R. 20) and the Schwalbach Railway (p. 143). — 8. Ludwig Station
(Pl. E, 6), Rhein-8tr., for the line to Niederhausen (Frankfort-Limburg;
R. 29e). — The hotels do not send omnibuses to meet the trains. Cabs, see
p. 147). — Tourist Agency: Schotienfels, Theatre Colonnade. — Steamboats
stop at Biebrich (p. 136; electric tramway, see p. 147).

Hotels (most of the first-class houses provided with elevators, hot-air
heating, electric light, and thermal baths). *Nassavkr Hor (Pl. a; E, 4),
Kaiser- Friedrich-Platz 3, with dépendance *Hgtel Orunmien (Pl f, E b;
Bierstidter-8tr. 2a), R. 310, B. 11z, D. ({ pm.) 4, pens. from 9 .4;
*Ka1seruoF (Pl t; F, 6), Frankfurter-Str. 17. with a large garden, connected
by a covered passage with the well-equipped Augusta Victoria Bad (p. 152),
R. 3-10, B. 1!/, D. (1 p.m.) 4, 8. 8, pens. 10'/2-16 #; *MgTROPOLE (Pl. u;
E, 6), Wilhelm-Str. 8, with restau'ant (p. 146) and dépendance A6tel Monopole
(Pl.n; E 6), R. 8-10, B. 11/,, D. at 1 p.m., 8V, pens. from 9 #; *HéT. DU
Parc kT BristoL (Pl. v; E. §), Wilhelm-Str. 30, with garden. frequented
by royalty, R. from 4, B. 11/2) D. ({ p.m.) 4, pens. from 11 4; *Hdr. QuIst-
sANA, Park-Str. 3 (pens. 8-14 #); °*RosE (Pl. ¢ & 1; E, 1), Kranz-Platz 7-9,
R. 8-10, B. 1!/3, D. at 1 p.m. 4, pens. from 10 .#; *HS1. BLock (Pl. g; E, &),
Wilhelm-Str. g&, R. 21/2-8, B. 11/;, D. 81/2, board from 6!/z #; *VIER JAHRES-
ZeITEN (Pl. b; E, 4), Kaiser-Friedrich-Platz 4 ; HoTEL WiLBELMA (Pl. v; E, 4),
Sonnenberger-8tr. 1, family hotel, R. from 8'/2, B.11/2, D. (1-3 p.m.) 4, pens.
from 10 .4 ; *HoaenzoLLErN (Pl. w; E, 5), Paulinen-Str. 10, in a pleasant
and quiet part of the town.

The following are somewhat less expensive: *HOTEL D'ANGLETERRE
(Pl. d; D, 4), Kranz-Platz 11, R. 8-6, B. 11/,, D. 8, pens. T'/;-123 #;
*VicToria (Pl. x; E, 6), corner of the Rhein-B8tr. and Wilhelm-8tr.,
RB. 88, B. 11/, D. 3-31/3, pens. from 8 .#; *HdteL BELLEvVUE (Pl. y; E, ),
‘Wilhelm-8tr. ;28, R. 342, B. 1Y, D. 4, pens. from 8 #; *HiTeL AEGIR
(Pl. z; E, b), Thelemann-Str. 5; *ProMeNaDE HoterL (Pl. p; E, ), Wilhelm-
8tr. with wine room, R. é B. 1, D. 2, pens. from b #; *MINERVA
(Pl.m; B, 6), Rhein-Str. D, R. 2! 25, B.4, D.2l/;, pens. from 6 .4; *HOTEL
87. PETERSBURG (Pl. h ; E,5), Museum-Str. 3, frequented by Russians, R. 2/2-6,
B. 1/4, D.8, pens. 7-10 #; *REEIN-HOTEL (P1. r; E, 6), Rhein-Str. 16,

Second Class: *DaurEei (Pl. d; D, 3), Taunus-Str. 16, with restau-
rant, R. & B. 8-3!/3. D. 2, pens. 5-7 #; *NatioNaL, Taunus-8tr. 24, R. 2-41/,
B. 11/5, D. 2, pens. 58 .#, with restaurant; ALLEESAAL (Pl. a; E, 4), Taunus-
8tr. 3, opposite the Kochbrunnen, R.2!/2-10, B. 1, D. 2'/2, pens. T-15 #;
HamBURGER Hor (hdtel garni; Pl A, E, 8,4), Taunus-Str. 11; Fuur (Pl
E, 38), Geisberg-Str. 3, with restaurant, D. 1!/s-2 #; Savoy (l"l. s; D, 4),
Baren-8tr. 8, with thermal baths; WesTPALIscEER HOF, Schitzenhof-Str. 8,
R. & B. 8-4, D. 2'/3, pens. 61/2 10 .#; ScriTzenmor (Pl. s; D, B), Schiitzen-
bof-8tr. 4, with thermal baths, R. & B. 8 81/5. D. 3, pens. 51/2-T J#; BENDER,
Hifnerpasse 10, with thermal baths; Hamwn, Spiegelgasse 15, R. 2-8, B. 1,
gens. from B .#; BrauBach, Saalgasse 81, with restaurant, R. & B., from 21/2,

. from 11/s .#; KRrONPRINZ, Tannug-Str. 46, Hebrew. — Also several Private
Hotels: *RiTTER, Taunus-Str. 45, pens. 58 4 ; ScaMir, Wilhelm-8tr. 22,
and others.

The following hotels are mainly frequented by passing ‘travellers:
*Tauxtvs Hotes (Pl.i; E, 6), Rhein-Str. 19, first-class, R. from 2, B.1,D. 3.4#;

BAEDERER'S Rhine. 15th Edit. 10-
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*GRUNER WaLD (P1. k; D, 5), Markt-8tr. 10; HéTerL WEINs, Bahnhof-Str. 7
(Pl. D, 6), with garden, R. from 1'/2, B. 1, D. 2, pens. from 5 .#; HoTeL
TANNHAUSER, Bahnhof-Str. 8; HOTEL VoGEL, Rhein-Str. 27, opposite the
Taunus Station ; NONNENHOF (Pl. 0; D, B), Kirchgasse 89-41, R. 2-4{};, B.3/1

ens. from 6 4 ; EryaorN, Markt-Str. 32, R. 2-21/; 4 ; MEHLER, Miihlgasse 3

Pl. D, 4, 5); UnioN, Neugasse 7 (Pl. D, 5), with wine-room ; ScEw N
Rheinbahn-Str. b, Reicasrost, Nikolaus-Str. 16, both near the Rhine Station
CuristuicHEs Hospiz, Rosen-Str. 4 (Pl. F, b), and Oranien-Str. 53 (P1. D. 7;
less pretending), R. 2-7, board 8/z .#.

Outside the town (adapted for summer-quarters), all with open-air
restaurants: NEroBerG (803 ft.; PL B, C,1; n.152), R. 3-12, board b #;
Banxgorz (865 fi.; to the N. of PL. E, 15 p. f53), R. 11/2-8, board 8 .4 80 pf. 3
WaLpeck (N.W. of Pl. A.2, 8), Aar-8tr,, in the Adams-Thal (p. 158); WiL-
HELMSHOHE, on the Bingert (p. 154), 10 min. above Sounenberg. — Hotel
Restaurant Taunusblick, cee p. 148,

Bath Houses (also hotels and })ensions). *ScawarzEr Bock, Kranz-
Platz 12 (P1. D, 4), R. 3-7, pens. from 8 .#; Kamsersap (Pl k; E, 4, 5),
Wilhelm-Str. 42, R. 21/2-15, pens. from T/ & ; *RoMERBAD (P]l. m; D, 4),
Kochbrunnen-Platz 3; GoLpENE Krone (Pl. p; D, 4), Langgasse 86 ; PArIsEr
Hof, Spiegelgasge; *KOLNISCHER Hor, Kleine Burg-Str. 6, R. 3-6, board
4.5 M; WEisses Ross, Kochbrunnen-Platz 2, R. 21/2-6 4.

Pensions., Pension Internationale (Mrs. Somerville and Miss Grat:ix),
Mainzer Str. 8 (5-8 A); Rheinstein, Taunus Str. 43 ; Hotel Villa Royale, Sonnen-
berger-Str. 28 (T-16 .#); Hotel-Pension Biemer, Sonnenberger-Str. 11 (61/2-
12 #); Kordin1, Sonnenberger-Str. 10 (6-5.4); Villa Pr Lusse, 8
berger-Str. 15; Winfer, Sonnenberger-8tr. 14 (5-10 #); Germania, Sonnen-
berger-Str. 25 (6-9 #); Villa Borussia, Sonnenberger-Str. 20 (from 9 4);
Kaiser Wilhelm, Paulinen-8tr. 7; Villa Roma. Garten-Str. 1; Windsor, Leber-
berg 4 (5-12 j); Villa Roos-Rupprecht; Villa Olanda, Griinweg 1; Columbia
Garten-Str. 14; Primavera, Park-Str. 16; Margaretha, Thelemann-Str. §
(6-10 .4) ; Monbijou, Erath-$tr. 14; Credé, Leberberg 1 (5-9 .4)y Villa Mon-
repos, Frankfurter-Str. 6; Villa Grandpasr, Emser-Str. 13, and many others.
At Wiesbaden an arrangement ghould always be made as to the length
of notice required from visitors leaving a pension.

Restaurants. At the *Curhaus (see p. 149), D. (18 P.m.) A M; °Café-
Restaurant Métropole, Wilhelm-Str. 8 (p. 145), D. (12-2.3) p.m.) 2‘(2-3‘/: My
°Rathsksller, in the Rathbaus (p. 150; entr. from the Markt-8tr.), D. 11/g,
2, & 8 A (badly ventilated); Griner Wald (see p. 145), Markt-Str. 10 *Multer-
Engel, Langgasse 46, D. 13/,-21/2 M ; Cafés Orient and Beausite (see below);
Nonnenhof, see above,D. 1 M 30 & 1 M4 80 pf.; Deutscher Keiler, at the Rhein-
Hotel (p. hb), D. from 11/ #; Buchmann, Spiegelgasse b; Rothes Haus,
Kirchgasse 60, D. 1-11/2 #; Krokod:l (with bedrooms to let), Luisen-8tr. 37,
D. 1Y/s M; Poths, Lunggasse 115 Schiltzenhof (p. 143), with garden, moderate;
Schiitzenhaus (John), Unter den Eichen, with garden, D. from 11/4, 8. from
1 M; Friedrichshof, Friedrich-8tr. 85; Tivoli, Luisen-8tr. 2, D. 1-11/> 4;
Vogel, see above. — Wine, *Rathskeller, see above ; Malepartus, .anggassed3;
Rhenish Wine Room, 8piegelgasse 4, D. from 1}/, #, often crowded at midday
in summer; Mefer, Luisen-Str. 12, D. 1Y/4 .4 ; *Pokil, Michelsberg 10; Rhein-
gauer Winzerstube (depdt of the Winzer-Verein), Bahnhof-8tr. 5. — LONCREON
Rooms: *Grether. Neugasie 24. — *Continental Bodega, Wilhelm-Str. 18;
Central Bodega, Untere Webergasse 23.

Cafés. *Café Hohenzollern, Wilhelm-Str. 8; *Blum, Wilhelm -Str. 40};
Kaiserbad, Wilhelm-8tr. 42; several cafés in the. Cur-Garten, see p. 149,
®Ogient (Pl. A, 1: p. 1568), Unter den Eichen, in the Moorish style; Beausite
(Bl B,2; p. 169 , both with gurdens, much frequented on summer-afternoons
~— Confectioners. Café Bium and Café Kaiserbad (see above); °Lehmann
Grosse Burg-Str. 14; Kunder, Museum-Str. 3. — Milk Rooms, at the Bad
Nerothal (see p. 147).

Visitors’ Tax. The following tariff is paid for admission to the Curhaus:
(a) For a year: 1 person 30 M, for families, each additional(pers: 10 4. —
(b) For six weeks: 1 person 10 J#, for tamilies, each pers. additional b . —
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(c) For a day, 1 .#. Extra-tickets required for large garden- fétes, special

concerts, etc. The following charges are made for the use of the Koch-

brunnen: daily tickets 10 pf., quarterly 8, yearly 5 4. — The Ourverein

%oft}ce in the Cursaal) will supply visitors with any information they may
esire.

Sanatoria. ZLindenhof (Dr. van Meenen), Walkmiihl-Str. 45 (Pl. A, 8);
Dietenmithle (P). G, 8), Park-Str. 44 (Dr. Wiatzoldt); Dr. Gierlich’s Curhaus,
Schéme Aussicht 30 (Pl. F, 8, 4); Nerothal, at the entrance to the Nerothal
(Pl. C, 25 Dr. Schubert; pens. 6-12 .#); in these baths of all kinds, treat-
ment by massage, electrotherapy, etc. — Besides the above-mentioned,
there are several other establishments for nervous complaints, maladies
of the eyes, etc.

Theatres. *Royal Theatre (P1. E,4; see p. 148), for opera, drama, and
ballet; special performances at raised prices in May (but not every year);
closed from the middle of July to the end of August. — Restdens-Theater

1. D, 5), Bahnhof-Str. 20, for modern plays and farces, reserved seat

M ; Walhalla (P1. D, 5), Mauritius-8tr. 1a; Reichshallen, Stift-Str. 16, these
two theatres of varieties.

Concerts in the Cur-Garten or Cursaal daily, 4-5.30 and 8-9.30 p.m. ; also
in summer at the Kochbrunnen, 6.80-8 a.m. (0 pf.; free to subscribers to
the Curhaus).” — Orchestral Concerts in winter in the Curhaus (ev. Frid.
from Nov. to Feb.; b, 4, 2 .#) and at the Royal Theatre (six symphony
concerts). The Verein der Kansiler und Kunsifreunde gives concerts of chamber
music in the Victoria Hotel.

Festivals. Masked balls, etc., in the Curhaus. — Battle of Flowers in
the Cursaal-Platz, during the special May performances in the theatre (but
not every year). — Andreas-Markt, in the Luxemburg-Platz (P1. C, 7), on
the first Thurs. & Frid. in December, followed at night by confetti-throwing,
etc., in the Restaurant Métropole, Rathskeller, Hot. Griiner Wald, etc.

Poermanent Exhibition.. R. Banger's Kunst-Salon, Taunus-Str. 6, adm.
1 M ; Nassauischer Kunstverein, in the Museum (p. 160), adm. free.

Cycling Tracks. H. Grtin, Mainzer-8tr. ; Stoil, Adolfshohe (p. 153). —
Lawn Tennis Courts. Blumenwiese (Pl. G, 4), in the Cur-Garten; Beausite
(p. 1562); Sport-Plate des Eiskiubs, in the Wolkenbruch (Pl. A, 1).

Cab Tariff (double’fares from 11 p. m. to 6 or 7 a. m.). | One-A. |Two-h.

Drive in the town or to any of the villas as far as | «# pf.| &4 pf.

the Dietenmiihle

1-2PErsoms. . . + . v v . .t e e e ]—60]—90
84 persoms. . .. ..... e e e e e =80 110
By time: per hour®within the town, -4 pers. . . . .] 2 —| 8 —
- - - - beyomnd - (i heasethehiver 280 | 4 —
neach case thehirer
g?l::i’:t: Chapel may keep the cab for % o % ‘_‘_)
Neroberg, Bierstidter,Warte, or lt/;“‘:' ““gl]‘? e:h::; 240 | 3 —
Bil:l:sri.:l:ne fares ; each additional 28| 38

1/, hr. 80-50 pf.)

To the Russian Chapel, Neroberg, Platte, and back,

with stay of 432hr. . .. ... ... ... .... ... 94012 —

To Sehl bad, vi§ Biebrich & Rauenthal (1/z day) .| 18.80 | 16 30

To Schwalbach and back (whole day). . ........| 16 — | 18 60

To Schwalbach, and back by Schlangenbad . ... ..] 16 — | 20 —

To Eppstein and Konigstein, and back (1 day).....1 25 — | 82 —

Trunk 20 pf, smaller articles free. — To or from the railway-stations
20 pf. extra.

The Taxameter Oabs, recognized by their red wheels, have a special
tariff (by time).

Electric Tramways (with transfer-tickets). 1. (with red board): From
Biebrich (p. 138) via Adolfshéhe (p. 163), Rondel (Pl. D, 8), Adolfs-Allee
(P1. D, 7. 6; returning by the Moritz-Str 5, the Railway Stations (Pl. E, 6),
Wilbelm-$tr., and Kochbrunnen to Beausite (P1. B,1,2); 2'min, from the

10*
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terminus of the Neroberg railway (p. 152). Last car at 11.80 (back 12 mid-
night); fare 80 pf.; from the Railway Stations 45, from the Curhaus 10 pf.
— 2. (yellow board): From the Langenbeck-Platz (Pl. F,7) vid the Railway
Stations. Kirchgasse (Pl. D, 6, 5), Langgasse, Kochbrunnen, and Sonnen-
berger-Str. (P1. E-G, 4, 8) to Sonnenderg (p. 138); fare 30 pf., from the
Rossler-8tr. 10 pf. — 8. (blue board): From the Railway Siations (Pl. E, 6),
vid Markt-Str. (Pl. D, b), Emger-Str., Walkmiihl- Str. (Lindenhof), an
Schiitzen-Str. to Unier den Eichen (Pl. A, 1 p. 153); fare 20 pf., from the
Schloss-Platz 15 pf. — 4. (green board): From the Railway Stations vid the
Ringkirche (Pl. B, C. 6), and Sedan-Platz (Pl. B, C, 5) to the Emser-Sirasse

1 B, C, 4; fare 10 pf.), going on in summer between 4 and 7 p.m. to
Unter der Eichen (20 gf.)‘ — The cars start every 7!/2 min., or on certain
sections every 1/4 hr. in the forenoon (eomﬂ: the pocket timetable, 10 pf.).
The principal terminus is in front of the Taunus Station.

Post and Telegraph Office (Pl. E, 6), Rhein-Str. 25; branch-offices at
Taunus-8tr. 1 (PL E, 4), etc.

English Church (8t. Augustine’s) in the Wilhelm-Strasse; services at
8.30 and 11 a.m. and b p.m. (summer 6 p.m.). Chaplain, Rev. E. J. Treble,
Kaiser-Friedrich-Ring 86.

Wiesbaden (385 ft. above the sea-level, 90 ft. above the Rhine),
with 86,000 inhab., formerly the capital of the Duchy of Nassau,
lies on the S.W. spurs of the Taunus Mts., in a basin surrounded
by orchards and vineyards. The pleasant town, with its attractive
public grounds and beautiful environs, is annually visited by up-
wards of 130,000 patients and travellers. The excellence of its
sanatory establishments, coupled with the mildness of the climate
(mean annual temperature 51° Fahr.), renders it a favourite resort
of strangers, even in winter, when living is moreover less expen-
sive than in summer.

Wiesbaden, the Roman Aquae Mattiacorum, was one of the Roman forts
to defend the frontier of the Main and may have existed as such from the
time of Drusus. Discoveries made in the Mauritius-Str. (1895-97) show that
it was already a considerable settlement in the middle of the first century
of our era (canabee, see % 1566). This was probably destroyed by the

- Mattiaci in 69-70 A.D., but had again attained prosperity at the end of the
century as the chief place of the Civitas Mattiacorum. In the reign of Do-
mitian the Wiesbaden castle (p. 150) was still one of the advanced defences
of Mayence, but Hadrian removed the garrison (Cohors II. Ratorum) to
the Saalburg (p. 244). Pliny (Hist. Nat. xxi. 2) refers to the warm springs
in the following words: ‘Sunt Mattiaci in Germania fontes calidi trans Rhe-
num, quorum haustus triduo fervet. — In the Frankish period and later
‘Wisibada® appears as the capital of a district called ‘Konigssundra-Gau’.
It was the capital of the Counts of N Idstein and Na Usi
from 1855 onwards, and of the duchy of Nassau from 1816 to 1866.

From the RarLwaY Statrons (Pl E, 6) the traveller crosses the
Rhein-Str. (p. 161) and enters the Wilhelm-Strasse (P1. E, 6, b, 4),
the Corso of Wiesbaden, planted with trees and flanked with hotels,
attractive shops, and the Museum (p. 160). To the right it is ad-
joined by the Wilhelms-Platz (Pl E, 5, 6), with a bronze Statue of
Bismarck, by Herter (1898), and by the Anlagen, or public pleasure-
grounds, of the Warme Damm (Pl. E, 5), in which rises Schilling’s
*Monument to Emp. William I. (1894), — Farther on is the back
of the Royal Theatre (Pl. E, 4), built in 1892-94 by Feliner and
Hellmer (handsome baroque interior; new foyer by Gensmer, 1902).

At the end of the avenue, to the left, lies the KA1sgR-FRIEDRICH~
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Pratz (PLE, 4), adorned with a bronze Statue of Emp. Frederick I11.
by Uphues (1897). — On the right is the CursaaL-PraTz, em-
bellished with flower-beds and two fountains, and flanked by
spacious Doric Colonnades (P1. E, 4), which serve as a bazaar. In
the new colonnade is the entrance to the Royal Theatre (p. 148).
Above the old colonnade is a bronze bust of the poet Bodenstedt,
who died at Wiesbaden in 1892.

The Curhaus (Pl. E, 4; adm., see p. 147), built in 1809-10
from designs by Zais, and dedicated ‘Fontibus Mattiacis’, is about
to be rebuilt. The fagade consists of an Ionic portico, while at the
sides are long colonnades supported by Doric columns. The principal
hall is 121 ft. long, 49 ft. wide, and 33 ft. high. The orchestra
galleries are supported by 28 Corinthian columns and 4 half-columns
of red and grey marble. On the N. side is the restaurant, on the S.
side the concert and ball rooms and the reading-rooms,

The *Cur-Park, at the back of the Curhaus, with which it com-
municates by an iron arcade, is the favourite afternoon and evening
lounge of visitors to the baths, as well as of excursionists from
Mayence and the neighbourhood, who, especially on Sundays, flock
to these shady grounds to sip their coffee and enjoy the music. A
fountain with a jet 100 ft. in height plays in the great pond every
afternoon. — To the 8. of the Cur-Park lies the handsomest residen-
tial quarter of the town, with numerous attractive villas and gardens, °
especially in the Park-Strasse, Rosen-Strasse, and Blumen-Strasse.

To the N. of the Cursaal-Platz, on the hill above the Sonnen-
berger-Str. (p. 1563), is the Paulinen-Schitsschen (P1. E, 4), which
will serve as a temporary Curhaus during the rebuilding of the
present structure.

From the N. end of the Wilhelm-Str. the TAuNUSs-STRASSE
(PL. D, E, 3, 4) runs to the N. towards the Nerothal (comp. p. 1562).
To the left stands the Trinkhalle (Pl. D, 4), built by Bogler in
1888-90 and consisting of a central pavilion and three colonnades
enclosing a garden. Visitors drink the waters here from 6 or 7
to 8 a.m. and at intervals throughout the day (concerts, see p. 147).

Below the central pavilion is the Kochbrunnen (Pl. D, 4), the combined
onfipom- of 16 hot springs, which rise within an area of a few square yards
and yield about 5000 gallons per hour. The water has a natural temperature
of 156° Fahr. and contains 8.76 per cent of solid matter, chiefly chioride of
sodium. The external use of the waters is beneficial in cases of rheu-
matism, gout, neuralgia, and other nervous diseases, their action resem-
bling that of the Wildbad springs, like which they contain very little salt.
Internally they are prescribed for chronic dyspepsia, excessive obesity, etc.
In addition to the Kochbrunnen, which, however, is almost entirely used
for drinking, there are no fewer than 23 bathing-springs, the chief of which
are the Schiitzenhof-Quelle and the Adler-Quelle.

The marble Hygieia Group in the Kranz-Prarz (Pl. D, 4) is by
Hoffmann of Wiesbaden. The Langgasse (P1. D, 4, §), which issues
from the Kranz-Platz, and the firat cross-street-to the (left;  the
Untere Webergasse, are the main streets of the old part of the town.
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From about the middle of the Langgasse the Kirchhofgasse leads to
the right to the old Cemetery, now turned into a promenade (good view)
and partly destroyed by the formation of a nmew street througn it (1902).
On its N.E. side stretches the Heid ‘heathens wall'; Pl. D, 4), a
line of Roman masonry, 66 . long, 15 ft. high, and 9 ft. thick. It was
probably part of the defences erecteé under Diocletian soon after 300 A.D.

On the top of the Michelsberg (Pl. D, 5) stands the SYNAGOGUE, a Moorish
structure with five cupolas, built by Hoffmann in 1863-89.

At the end of the Langgasse we turn to the left, along the Markt-
Str., cross the ScuLoss-PrLaTz and the MarkT-PraTz (P1. D, E, §),
and regain the Wilhelm-Str. (p. 148).

The royal (formerly ducal) Palace (Pl. D, 5), on the W. side
of the Schloss-Platz, was built by Goers in 1837-40, and renovated in
1883. Visitors are admitted daily from 10 to 4, 5, or 6 (adm. 25 pf. ;
entrance through the ‘Cavalierhaus’). The staircase is adorned with
eight sandstone statues by Schwanthaler, and in the dining-room
are two Spanish dancers, over lifesize, by the same sculptor. The
reception and ball rooms are embellished with frescoes by Pose, and
some of the other rooms contain good pictures by modern masters.
— Adjoining it is the ‘ Wilhelms-Heilanstalt’, or military hospital,
built by Hoffmann (1871).

The Rathhaus (PL. D, 5) is a handsome building in the German
Renaissance style, erected in 1884-87 from Hauberrisser's designs.
On the balcony above the flight of steps are statues of four civie
° virtues by Schies. The great hall is still unfinished. — The Raths-
keller (p. 146) is decorated with frescoes by Kdgler, Schlitt, and
Weimar.

The Gothic Markt-Kirche (Pl. E, 5; Prot.), built by Boos of
polished bricks in 1853-62, has five towers (the principal nearly
300 ft. high). The choir is adorned with colossal marble statues of
Christ and the four Evangelists, by E. Hopfgarten. Bell for the
sacristan on the right of the main entrance (1/;-1 .#). — The ad-
Joining High School for Girls, a handsome Gothic edifice in sandstone,
was built by Genzmer (1901).

In the centre of the market-place rises a new Fountain (Markt-
Brunnen; 1902).

The Museum (Pl E, 5), Wilhelm-Str. 20, occupying a building
erected by Zais in 1813-17 as a palace for the crown-prince, con-
tains the municipal picture-gallery, collections of antiquities and
natural history specimens, and a library.

The Picture Gallery, on the groundfloor to the right, is open daily,
except 8at., 11-1 and 8- (in winter, 8-4); on Sun., 10-1; catalogue (1901)
40 pf. It contains a collection of modern pictures and some early German
and Netherlandi:h works, etc. (many concealed by pictures exhibited by
the Nassau Art Union). — Roonx L., chiefly early works. On the entrance-
wall: 189. Jan Fyt(?), Head of a sporting dog; 164. Imitator of Rembrands
(1Sth cent.), Faust and Mephistopheles; 28U, E. de Witte, Synagogue at
Amsterdam; 221, Hans Schiufelin, Portrait. Opposite: 228, Joos van Craes-
beeck, Officer; 158. Angelica Kaufmann, Portra't; 285, Antwerp School
(18th cent.), Pietd (copy of Quinten Matsys?); no number, Lenbach, Portrait
(1885). — Room 1L, chiefly early- German works: 17. School of Cramach,
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Mary Magdalen; 9. B. Bruyn the Elder, Visitation (early work); 204. Jan van
Ravesteyn (?), Portraity 220. L. Cranach, Adam and Eve; 18. Master of the Holy
Kinship St. hemnd, with holy women. To the left: Girol. Mazzola (Parmese
School), Betrothal of 8t. Catharine. — Roox IIL, chiefly Netherlandish
works. 1st Section: W. v. Kobell, A3. Rest, 45. Steep hill (L7¢0); 55. P. de Ring,
Still-life; 80. P. Wouverman, Horses; 64. F. Snyders. Still-life. — 2nd Section:
2. Rubens, Battle of Amazons (-riginal in Munich); 227. J. Wynants, Land-
scape (signature forged); 229. Corn. Huysmans, Arcadian landscape. Wall:
to the left, 281, *76. W. van de Velde, Sea-pieces. — Room IV. Modern
German works: 175. F. Piloty, Sir Thomas More in prison; 262. Trubner,
Convent-court at Amorbach (18é9) : L. Enaus, 244. Spring-idyll, *184. Tavern-
scene; 218. H. Bassch, Spring-morning; 237. Weishaupt, Sheep in early spring;
261. Voicker, Landscape; no number, Hans Thoma, Children in the poultray
yard. — Roox V. Modern German works: 165. Lessing, Forest-scene; 243,
E. Lugo, Grove; 195. 0. Achenbach, Coast near Naples; 196. H. Thoma,
Landscape. By the window, modern French and German plaquettes and
medals, — Roou VI. 202. Lindenschmitt, Luther before Cardinal Cajetan
at Augsburg in 1518, By the window, plaquettes and medals. '

The Collection of Antiquities, on the groundfloor, to the left, is open
in summer on Mon., Tues.. Wed., Thurs., & Frid. 11-1 & 8-5, on Sun. 10-
(in winter on Wed. & Sat. 11-1 only); at other times on application to the
keeper, Friedrich-Str. 1, fee 50 pf.; good catalogue (1898) 1 4. AxTE-Room.
Roman i iptions, milest , tombst , bridge-piles. — Room I. Ohjec's
of the stone, bronze, and iron ages. — RooxM 1I. Roman antiquities; bronze
door from Mayence; in the cases bronze statuettes and reliefs and other
small articles In the middle, Roman and Frankish ornaments. — Roox III.
Greek and Italic pottery; *Jupiter Column from Schierstein, erected by a
legionary in 224 A.D.: model of the Roman fortress on the Heidenberg
(p. 152); Mithras stone from Heddernheim. — Room IV. Remains of heating-
apparatus; female figure (Muse?); figure of Jupiter. — Room V. Roman
coina, glass, and shoes; “Inscription in bronze-gilt letters, in honour of
Caracalla (213 A.D.), from fortress on the Pfahlgraben at Holzhausen. —
Roox VI. Objects found in Alemannian and Frankish tombs (ca.

A.D.). — Roox VII. Medieval and modern objects. In the middle, Roman
and Nasgovian coins. — Roox VIIL. Instruments of torture, ecclesiastical
sculptures; local costumes of Nassau; stained glass. In the middle, tomb-
stones of Diether IIL. (p. 120) and Diether IV. (d. 13156), Counts of Katzen-
elnbogen. — The Demmin Bequest, including a rich collection of pottery,
is exhibited in the municipal excise-office, Neugasse 6 (Pl. D, 5).

*  The first floor contains a well-arranged NATURAL HisTORY COLLECTION
(adm. in summer, Mon., Tues., Thurs., & Frid. 3-5. Sun. 11-1).

The Liseary (daily, except Sun., 10-1 & 3-8), in the upper story, con-
tains 120,000 printed volumes and many valuable old MSS. Among its
treasures are the Vision of St. Hildegard (MS. of the 12-18th cent.); Portion
of an astromomicsl calendar of 1447, beinf the earliest printed work by
Gutenberg to which a date can be assigned (discovered in 1901); and the
Mayence Catholicon of 1460 (comp. p. 163).

The Roman Catholic Church of 8t. Bonifacius (P1. D, 5, 6), in
the Luisen-Platz (P1. D, 6), on the N. side of the RHEIN-STRASSE
(PL. , D, E, 6), was built by Hoffmann in 1844-49, and is a hand-
some structure in the Romanesque style, with Gothic details and
groined vaulting. Altar-piece on the right, Madonna and Child, by
Steinle; left, St. Boniface, by Rethel. — In front of the church is a
sandstone Obelisk, erected in 1865 to the memory of the Nassovian
soldiers who fell at Waterloo. — To the W. the Rhein-Str. ends at
the Protestant Ringkirche (Pl B, C, 6), a noteworthy edifice by Otsen,
in the late-Romanesque style, consecrated in 1894 (sacristan, An
der Ringkirche 3 ; fee 50 pf.).
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The Frankfurter-Strasse (Pl. E, F, b, 6), diverging from the
Wilhelm-Str. opposite the Museum (p. 1603, forms the chief ap-
proach to the RESIDENTIAL QUARTER on the S.E. side of the town.
Immediately to the right is the English Church (P1.E, §). Farther
on, in the Victoria-Str., is the *Augusta Victoria Bad (P1. F, 6), a
handsome Renaissance building, ereoted in 1890-94, Its interior
arrangements are very complete and interesting (adm. 1 4).

In the high-lying humbler quarter to the W. of the Taunus-Str.
stands the Protestant Bergkirche (Pl. D, 4), a good example of Hano-
verian Gothic, by Otzen (1877-79). The interior is adorned with
frescoes by Schmidt. — At the corner of the Keller-Str. and
Platter-Str. lies the Roman Catholic Mariahilf-Kirche (Pl. C, 3, 4),
built by Meckel in the Rhenish Transitional style (1893-95).

‘" The n.di'gcent Castell-Strasse (Pl C, 4) recalls by its name the Roman
Castle (p. 148), of which remains were found in 1883 on the top of the
Heidenberg here.

Near the Mariahilf Church is the 0ld Cemetery (Pl. C, 8), with a mau-
soleum of the Duchess Pauline (d. 1856) and other handsome monuments.

— The New Oemetery (Pl. A, 1), at the terminns of tramway No. 3 (p. 148),
contains the tombs of Franz Abt (d. 1885) and F. Bodenstedt (p. 14Y).

ENVIRONS OF WIESBADEN.

The most popular open-air resort near Wiesbaden, frequented
alike by walker, driver, and cyclist, is the charming *Nerothal,
at the entrance to which (Pl. G, D, 2) is a War Monument (1872).
Two roads, the new Echo-Strasse (left) and the old road (tramway
No. 1), affording pleasant views of the vine-clad Neroberg and the
Greek Chapel, lead along the valley to (3/4 M.) the Café-Restaurant
Beausite and the station of the Neroberg Cable Tramway (train ev.
1/4-¥2 hr. in summer; fare 25, down 15, up and down 30 pf.).

he road ascends to the Platter-Sirasse (p. 152), passing a monument
to the geologist Koch (d.1882), a quartzite quarry, and the insignificant
Leichtweiss Cavern, where the pretty road to the Rabengrund diverges to
the right (see p. 169).

The wooded *Neroberg (800 ft.; P1. B, C, 1), to the N.E. of,
and 1/, hr. above Beausite, is ascended by the cable-tramway, by a
steep zigzag path, and by the pleasant ‘Philosophenweg’. Atthetop is
a frequented Hotel-Restaurant (p. 146). The tower (10 pf.) affords
a fine view of the Taunus, with the Rhine valley and the Odenwald
to the S.E., the towers of Mayence to the S. (beyond the Biebrich
water-tower), and the distant Donnersberg (p. 286) to the W.

To the S.E., a few minutes below the summit (most easily
reached from the Neroberg-Str. station of the tramway; pleasantest
route through the Dambach-Thal, Pl. D, 2), is situated the *Greek
Chapel (P1. C, 1; 538 ft.), erected in 1848-55 from the designs of
Hoffmann as a mausoleum for the Duchess Elizabeth Michailowna,
a Russian princess (d. 1845).

The richly-decorated chapel, 90 ft. in height, in the form of a Greek

cross, is covered by a large nn& four smaller domes, all gilded and sur-
mounted by Russian double crosses. The highest cross is-180'ft. from the
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ground. The interior is entirely of marble. A rich altar-screen (lkonosias),
with numerous figures of saints on a golden ground, painted in Russia,
separates the body of the chapel from the choir, to which the priests and
their attendants alone have access. The altar, above which is & window
with a stained-glass figure of the Saviour, is visible only during divine
gervice. A pentagonal recess on the N. side contains the beautiful Mon-
ument of the Duchess, by Emil Hopfgarten. The angels, prophets, and
evangelists in the dome and spandrels are by the painter Aug. Hopfgarten.
Except during the Sun. service (11-1; in summer only), the chapel is
shown by the sacristan, who lives near the Russian cemetery (1 .4, several
persons 50 pf. each).

Pleasant walks intersect the wood (fine old oaks) in every di-
rection and extend past the Reservoir and the (35 min.) Trauerbuche
(finger-post) to the (11/4 hr.) Platte (see below). Other paths, also
indicated by finger-posts, lead to the Speierskopf (1/4 hr.), the
Felsengruppe (20 min. ), the Leichtweisshohle (25 min. ; p.1562), and
past the Melibocus Oak to the Hitel-Restaurant Baknholz (p. 146).

The Platte (1640 ft.), a hill about 41/3 M. to the N. of Wies-
baden (comp. the Map, p. 130), with a shooting-lodge of the Grand-
Duke of Luxembourg, built in 1824, is frequently visited for the
extensive view (finest by evening-light). The two fine stags at the
entrance were modelled by Rauch ; in the interior is a fine codlection
of antlers and furniture made from antlers (adm. 1 .#, for a party
60 pf. each). Inn adjacent. Besides the above-mentioned footpath
and the Nerothal road, the Platte is reached by the PLATTER-STRASSE,
which leads past the cemeteries (cab, see p. 147).

Near the New Cemetery (p. 1562) and the Schéitzenhallen is the popular
resort known as ‘Unter den Eichen’ (terminus of the electric tramway
No. 3, p. 148), with various unpretending garden-restaurants. Forest-paths
lead hence to the charm ngly situated Adugusta Victoria Temple (2 min. to
the N. of the last bend of the tramway) and to the N.W. through the
Adams-Thal to the (/2 hr.) Waldhduschen (garden-restaurant) and the (10 min.)
Piscicultural Establishment, to which visitors are admitted by the keeper
(restaurant). We may return by the Platter-Str. (comp. Map, p. 180), or,
crossing this road, by a footpath through the pine-woods and the Raben-
grund (p. 152).

About 2 M. to the W. of Wiesbaden, to the right of the old Schwal-
bach (Ems) road, lies the nunnery of Clarenthal (rfmts.), founded in 1296
by King Adolph of Nassau and his consort Imagina of Limburg, and
dissolved in 15569. A little farther up is a building formerly used as a
Pheasantry (Fasanerie), with an old &m-k. A shady footpath leads hence to
the (/2 hr.) Chausseehaus mentioned at p. 143.

Wiesbaden is connected with Mosbach-Biebrich (p. 136; 3 M.
to the 8.) by the Adolfs-Allée (P1. D, 7), the Biebricher Strasse
(Pl. D, 8), and the Wiesbadener Allée, each with a double avenue
of horse-chestnuts. Halfway to the village, beyond the Adolfshihe,
are the Neue Adolfshihe and Rheinhihe, two cafés-restaurants, Farther
on is the Biebrich Water Tower, built in 1897 (view extending to
the Niederwald). Those who use the electric tramway (No. 1, p. 147)
should alight in Mosbach at the ‘Schloss-Park’ station and walk
through the park to the Rhine (/4 hr.).

By following either the villa-lined SONNENBERGER-STRASSE (Pl
E, F, 4; electric tramway No. 2, p.148) or the'promenades, skirting
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the Rambach, we reach (1/; hr.) Sonnenberg (Nassauer Hof), alarge
village with a new Roman Catholic church and a castle, which once
belonged to the Counts of Nassau and was destroyed by the French
in 1689 (tavern at the top). The tower (116 steps) commands a
pretty view. From the ruins a road leads to the N.E. to the (/g hr.)
Bingert (945 ft.; view), which is marked by three trees. Higher
up the valley is the Stickel-Miihle, a favourite garden-restaurant, a
little beyond which is the charmingly situated village of Rambach

(770 £.).

From Rambach we may ascend (1 hr.) the *Kedlerskopys (1558 ft.; rfmts. 3
view-tower, 10 pf.), which rises to the N. The descent may be made to
(/s br.) Niedernhausen (p. 249).

22. Mayence.

Railway Stations. The CENTRAL Ramway 8tatron (Pl. E, F, 1,
*Restaurant) for the trains to Bingen, Worms, Mannheim, Frankfort (by
the left bank of the Main), and Darmstadt. Hotel-omnibuses meet the
trains. — The 8. part of the town is served by the NeUTHOR STATION
(Pl. A, 8), which is connected with the Central Station by a tunnel under
the citadel, 1300 yds. long. — Passengers and luggage are conveyed by
omnibxu from the Central Station to the station at Castel (p. 241), for the
trains to Frankfort, Wiesbaden, Riidesheim, Lahnstein, etc. The omnibus-
fare (40 pf.) is included in the price of through-tickets. There is also a
tramway between the stations pf.). Cabs, see p. 155.

Hotels. Near the Rhine: *HOteL pk HoLLaNDE (Pl. ¢; D, 5), Rhein-
Str. 74, with hot-air heating, R. from 3, B. 1“4—1'/:, D. 8Yz, omn. ¥/, M#;
HOTeL pv REIN (P a; D, 5), Rhein-Str. 63, R. trom 2/, B. 1/;, D. 8,
omn. 3/, #; HATEL D'ANGLETERRE (Pl b; D, 5), Rhein-Str. §9, R. from 2z,
B. 11;, D. 3 4 ; these three are of the first class, with lifts. — *STaDT
CoBLENZ (Pl. h; C, 4), Rhein-8tr. 49, with good wine-restaurant, D. 21/z .4 ;
GerMaNIA (P1. g; C, 4), Rhein-Str. 43, R. 11/; .4, B. 80 pf., D. from 1l/2 .
— In the Town (commercial): KaArPPEN (Pl. k; C, 4). Am Brand ; LANDSBERG
(PL 1; D, 4), Lohr-Str, 20, with wine-restaurant, R. 11/2-21/z .4, B. 80 pf.,
D. 112 #; Hérer zur Post (Pl m; C, 4), Brandgasse 14, R. 11/2-8,
B. 8/y M. — Near the Central Station: CenTAL HoreL (Pl. d; F, 92),
Bahnhofs-Platz 8, with restaurant, R, 2-4, B. 1, D. 21/s #; BauNnoP-HOTEL
(Pl. e; F, 2), Bahnhofs-Platz 6, R. 2-3‘/:, B. 1 .#; HorN's PriLzEr Hor
(Pl. n; K, 2), Miinster-Platz 5, with restaurant; CoNTINENTAL (PL f; E, 2),
Bahnhof-8tr. 18; Mainzer Hor (Pl o; E, 2), corner of Bahnhof-Str. and
Parcus-8tr.; Taunvs Horen (Pl i; E, 5, Bahnhof-8tr 17, with good
restaurant, R. 2-3, B. 1, D. 11/3-2Y/2 .#. — Hessiscakr Hor (Pl. 8; E, F, 2),
Bahnhof-8tr. 125 PreiL (Pl. r; F, 2), Bahnhof-Str. 14; WEei1s (P1. %; E, 2),
Bahnhof-8tr. 3; Bivasr Hor (Pl. p; F, 2), Kaiser-Wilhelm-Ring 2; these
four unpretending.

Restaurants. WINE. *Casino zum Gulenberg, Grosse Bleiche 29; *Concert-
haus, Grosse Bleiche 66 (p. 157); Stadthalle (p. 169), Rhine Promenade,
with view-terrace, much frequented in summer; *Rathskeller, Alte Uni-
vergitiats-Str. 11, bebind the theatre, good M. gelle; Rheingauer Weinsiube,
Dominikaner-Str. 8; Alte Rheingauer Weinstube, Scharhag, both in the
Triton-Platz (P). D, 8). — BEER. *Café de Paris, see below; Wocker, see
below ; Stad/halle, see above; * Rathskeller, see above; *Heilige Geist (p. 160),
Mailandsgasse, near the Rhein-Str.; Schéfferhof, Schustergasse 20 plain.
Beer-rooms of the Rheinische Braueres and the Actien-Brauerei near the
Central Station.

Cafés - Restaurants, Café de Paris, Wocker, Kaiserhof all three in the
Gutenberg-Platz; Bassenheimer-Hof (p. 164) Scbiller-Platz; Stadthalle, see
above; café in the Neue Anlage. see p. 160; Deutscher Kaiser, Kaiser-Str.
— Oonfectioner. Mailer, Gutenberg-Platz 11,



Digitized by GOOS[Q



Digitized by GOOS[Q



Digitized by GOOS[Q






Notes. MAYENOE. 922. Route. 155

Baths. Apollo-Bad, Bilhildis-Str. 5; several River Baths in the Rhine
(comp. Plan).
Oabs (double fare from 10p.m. to 6a.m., in winter from 9p.m. to 6a.m.).

One-horse cab Two-horse cab

1-2 pers. | 8-4 pers. || 1-2 pers. | 8-4 pers.

Per drive within the gates . . — B0 — 70 — 70 —
- - without - - . —8 |1 48— |1 44— | 1422
Perhour............. 28— | 2480 || 2.440 | 2.89
PerYghr. . ........... 14— |1.480|1.43 ]| 1460
Each Y4hr. more . . . ..... — 40 — 50 — 60 — 70
To Zahlbach ....... o1 4— |1 420|142 |1.448
To the Neue Anlage . . .. .. 18— | 1430|1430 |1.460
To Castel (pontage extra) . . . | 1 .4 — | 4 # — |[1 450 | 1 .450
To Leniaberg . . . . .+ .. .. 4 — | 4400 (|2 450 |5 M4—

Each box 20 pf.; travelling bag 10 pf; smaller articles free.

Tramways. 4. From the Bahnhofs-Platz (Pl. F, 1, 2) by the Schiller-
Plats (PL. C, 4; Hofchen) and Rhein-8tr to Castel (p. 341}; 2. From the Bahn-
hofs-Piatz by the Kaiser-Str , Flachs-Markt (Pl. D, E, 4), Héfchen, Neuthor
(Pl. A, 4). and Neue Anlage (p. 163) to Wefsenau; 8. From the Bahnhofs-
Platz vid the Kaiser-Str. and Rhein-Allee (P1. @, 4, B) to Zolthafen (Kaiser-
Karl-Ring). — 8team Tramways to Zahlbach-Hechtsheim and Finthen.

Steamboats. 1. Steam-ferries to the station at Castel (p. 241) from the
Eiserne Thor (Pl. C, b) and trom the Kaiser-Thor (Pl. G, b), every 71/ min.
(Sun. every b min.); fares 10 or 6 pf. — 2. To Biebyich (p. 136) hourly in
summer, starting near the Stadt-Garten (Pl. D, 5) and calling at the Kasser-
Thor; fare 40 pf., return BV pf. — 3. To Kostheim.

Post and Telegraph Office, in the Brand (Pl. D, 4).

Theatre (Pl. D, 8), in winter daily. — Music (in summer), on Sun.,
Wed., Frid., and 8at. afternoons in the Neue Anlage (p. 165); on Sun.,
Tues., and Thurs evenings in the 8tadthalle (p. 1569); daily in the Schiller-
Platz (p. 164), 12-1. — Orchestral concerts in the concert-room of the
‘Liedertafel’ (Pl. E, 4).

The Oarnival at Mayence is little inferior to the famous carnival at
Cologne, which it resembles in its general features (humorous plays,
public masked balls, pr ions, confetti battles, etc.).

U. 8. Oonsul, Walter Schumann, Esq.

Ohief Attractions (one da)). Cathedral (p. 160); the Rhine Promenade,
with view from the Rhine Bridge (p. 169); Collection of Roman Antiquities
in the Palace (p. 167); the Gutenberg Monument (p. 163). Afternoon: Neue
Anlage and Railway Bridge (p. 165); Harbour.

. Mayence, German Mains (270 ft.), the seat of a bishop, and a
strongly fortified town with 84,500 inhab. (28,000 Prot., 4000 Jews),
including a garrison of 7600 soldiers, is pleasantly situated on the
left bank of the Rhine, opposite and below the influx of the Main,
and is connected with the small town of CAsTRL on the opposite
bank by a bridge (p. 169). The old streets of the town are for the
most part narrow and orooked, but ample space for a ‘Neustadt', to
the N., has been afforded by the recent widening of the line of
circumvallation. Large new harbours were built in 1880-87. Mayence
is one of the headquarters of the trade in Rhine wine and manu-
factures large quantities of sparkling wine; it is also well known
for its leather goods and artistic furniture. Market-gardening is
extensively carried on in the environs.

Mayence is historically one of the most interesting of the Rhenish
towns. Its important strategic situation has in all ages attracted attention.
The town and its most ancient name (Mogontiacum) are of Celtic origin.

Between B. C. 12 and 9 Drusus, the son-in-law of Augustus, established a
camp here, on the tableland outside the Gauthor (p. 165), and this speedily
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attracted a colony of native residents, Roman traders, and veterans (canabae).
Mayence became the seat of the legate, or governor, of Germania Superior,
and thenceforward served as the base for the Roman campaigns in Central
G y. Domiti who extended the Roman supremacy on the right
bank of the Main as far as the Taunus and the Wetterau (83-89 A.D.). pro-
bably built the bridge across the Rhine and constructed the Castelium
Mattiacorum (the present Castel) to defend it.

Authentic accounts prove that Christianity flourished at Mayence in
the fourth century (about 368), and the town afterwards became a bishop-
ric. Under 8t. Boniface (or Winfried, d. 755), the apostle of Central Ger-
many, the see was raised to an archbishopric and made the seat of the
primate of Germany. This prelate, the son of an English wheelwright,
was so little ashamed of his parentage that he assumed a pair of
wheels as his armorial bearings, which are retained to this day in
the arms of the city. In Arnold Walpod (d. 1268), a citizen of
Mayence and the chief of the patrician family of the ‘Léowenhiupter’,
founded the League of the Rhenish Towns. Mayence became the centre
and leader of this powerful association, which ere long was strengthened
by upwards of a hundred other towns, from Béle on the 8. to Bremen
and Miinster on the N. Such was the commercial prosperity of the town
at that period that it was called the ‘Goldene Maing'. 'wo centuries
later, however, it lost most of its extensive privileges in consequence
of a violent attack made upon it by Archbishop Adolph of Nassau in
1462, on which occasion 50O citizens were killed, and the most influential
banished h forth the once independent city was ruled by the arch-
bishops. Its university, founded in 1477, boasted of such distinguished men
as Nicholas Vogt, John von Miiller, Bodmann, and George Forster among
its members, but it was suppressed by the French.

In 15562 Margrave Albert Alcibiades of Brandenburg ravaged the town.
In the Thirty Years' War it was cngturod by the Swedes (1631), the Im-

)

perialists (1635), and the French (1644) The strong fortress fell once more
into the hands of the French in 1688, but was recaptured in 1689. On 213t Oct.,
1792, the French republicans under Custine entered the town almost without
a blow, but it was retaken the following year by the Prussians. In 1797
it was ceded to France by the Peace of Campo Formio, and became the
capital of the Department of Mont Tonnerre. In 4803 the archbishopric
was secularised. In 1816 Mayence was assigned to the Grand Duchy of
Hesse and in the following year it was made a bishopric. The Fortress
of Mayence belonged to the German Confederation down to 1866, Austria
and Prussia having the joint right of providing the garrison. The demoli-
tion of the inner fortifications was decided on in 1902.

The CeNTRAL RatLway StaTrON (PL E, F, 1) was built in 1884
by Berdellé and ornamented by Scholl and Barth. — The Karser-
STrAsSR, the main street of the new town, a handsome avenue about
1000 yds. long and over 60 yds. wide, embellished with trees and
flower-beds, and flanked by handsome houses, extends from the
station to the Rhine. Among its buildings are the Offices of the
Hessian Railway (P1. F, 2), the Oster- Gymnasium (PL @, 4), the
Imperial Bank, and the Christus-Kirche(PL. F, G, 4), built in 1897-
1902 by Kreyssig, with its conspicnous dome.

The Bahnhof-Str. (P1. E, 2), to the right of the Kaiser-Strasse,
leads to the small MUNsTER-PLATZ (Pl. E, 2), which occupies the
site of the Miinster-Thor. The Schiller-Str., in which is the Erthaler
Hof (1735), now the Government Buildings, leads hence to the right
(8.E.) to the Schiller-Platz (p. 164), while the Grosse Bleiche runs
to the N.E. towards the Rhine, in a direction almost. parallel with
the Kaiser-Strasse.



Palace. MAYENCE. 22, Route. 157

The Grosse Breicek (Pl. E, 2, 3, 4) is the principal old street
in the N. part of the town. On the N. side of it (No. 15) is the for-
mer Stadion’sche Hof (1728-33). In a small square to the left is
the Neue Brunnen, an obelisk with river-gods and lions below.

On the right, at the E. end of the street, where it enters the
Schloss-Platz, is the *Church of St. Peter (P1. E, 4), erected in 1756,
with bold vaulting and frescoes by Appiani. — The barracks,
formerly on the N. side of the large Schloss-Plats (P1. F, 4), have
been pulled down, and the district is now being remodelled.

On the E. side of the square rises the former Electoral Palace
(P1. F, 4, B), a large red sandstone edifice, begun in 1627 and
hastily finished in 1678 on a much less grand scale than that orig-
inally contemplated. The wing facing the Schloss-Platz was com-
pleted in 1754; the main fagade fronts the Rhine. TWe palace is
now occupied as a museum; but during the next few years, owing
to the restoration of the building, only a portion of the collections
will be accessible. The most important section of the museum is
that of the Roman and Germanio antiquities, on the groundfioor.
On the first floor are the picture-gallery, the municipal library, and
part of the Gutenberg Museum; on the second floor, the remainder
of the Gutenberg Museum and the natural history collections. —
The Library is open on Mon, Tues., Thurs., & Frid., 9-1, on Wed.
& Sat. 9-4 (the reading-room from 2 to § or 6 also). The Guten-
berg Museum (adm. fre%) is open on Sun., 10-1, Wed. 2-4, and on
other days, 10-4 or 10-6, on application in the library. The other
collections are open free on Sun. & Wed., 10-1 and 2-5, and Mon.,
Thurs., and Frid., 2-5 (in winter Sun. 10-1, Wed. 2-4); at other
times (10 to 4 or §) cards of admission (50 pf.) must be obtained.
Entrance, Schloss- Platz 15.

The *Roman and Qermanic Antiquities chiefly consist of objects
found in or near Mayence, and the collection is one of the richest
in Germany.

The VEsTIBULE contains the original models of Thorvaldsen’s statue of
Gutenberg (p. 183) and Scholl’s statue of Schiller (p. 164). In the AnTE-RooM
is a model of the pile-work of the Roman bridge (see below). — To the
right are TEREE Rooms, with prehistoric antiquities and smaller Roman
and Germanic antiquities.

‘We first enter the PaviLioN in the court-yard, containing the Roman
Frankish, and Mediaeval Inscriptions and the larger Sculptures (catalogue o
the Roman and mediseval inscriptions, 1875, 2 #; appendix, 1800, 8 .#).
The Roman sculptures include reliefs, capitals, sarcophagi, altars, and
tombstones (one of a Roman soldier of the legions that garrisoned Mayence).
The cases in the window-recesses contain Roman vases and stamped bricks.
— Among the medieval sculptures are reliefs and architectural fragments.
— In the court, outside the pavilion, the wooden pile-work of a Roman
Bridge, removed from the Rhine in 1881, has been re-erected. The bridge
was probably built in the first century of the present era, but at‘terwargs
repeatedly restored.

‘We now return to the ante-room and, passing the staircase to the first
floor, enter —

Roou I, containing mediseval and later objects (earthenware, wax seals,
weapons, glass, etc.). — Roox II, straight on, is the chief room. To the
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loft of the entrance are Roman, to the right, Alemannian and Frankish
antiquities, We first inspect the R Secti By the first window :
Objects from the Roman civil cemetery at Mayence (3rd cent. A. D.); in
the window-niche, skeleton of a woman with a wig, in the original leaden
coffin; towards the middle of the room, *Goblet in perforated work (‘vas
diatretum®) and bottle with chased Bacchic scenes. In the first large case
by the second window are the contents of a Roman shoemaker's workshop,
with sandals, leather, and tools, found in 1857 in the Schiller-Platz. In
the window-niche, two bronze water-spouts in the shape of lions® heads;
writing materials; stamps; military diplomas, etc. In the second and
third cases are or ts, rings, b hold utensils, surgical instruments,
weapons, etc. By the window, rings, hair-pins, n& mirrors. The fourth
cage contains terracottas, lamps, etc. In the last window-niche are fibulee,
etc. In the middle of the room, under glass: funereal urns of legionaries.
Farther on, to ‘the right, Bronze female head (Diana?); small votive
chariot with charioteer, in bronze-gilt. In the long central case, tools and
weapons, keys, locks, trumpets. Between the pillaras on the left are bronze
statuettes, bronse vessels, and portions of armour. — The Fraskish an-
tiquities oc8upy the right side of the room. The cabinets contain an
extensive collection of weapons, ornaments, utensils, and glass. By the
second window, under glass: gold rings of the bronze period; Roman
hand-mirror; mediseval ivory carvings and ornaments, including a gold
enamelled ‘Fibula’, of the 1ith century. — Roox III. contains the
remainder of the Frankish and Alemannian antiquities. At the entrance
is the tomb of a Frankish woman (from Oberolm); in the first central case,
a glass drinking-horn; by the first window, belt-buckles and ornaments;
by the second window, Carlovingian swortia and lance-heads.

The *Roman-Germanic Central Museum, which we next enter,
consists of four rooms containing reproductions of the most interest-
ing pre-Christian antiquities of Germany and the Netherlands, and
affords a unique survey of the extant monuments of this kind. The
collection fills five rooms.

We now ascend the staircase (with Veit's cartoons for the cath-
edral paintings, p. 161) to the Picture Gallery. This is a collection
of the second class only, but contains a few good Dutch and Flemish
works which will repay a short visit. Catalogue 20 pf. (41900).

Roou I. Modern Works. 1st Section: 11. Schonieber, Dort Canal.
2nd Sec.: 19. A. Burger, Tavern-scene: 18. Ad. Schreyer, Arab horsemen ;
14a. B. Vautier, Woman of the Black Forest; 2. Filiggen, Gambler; 27.
F. von Heuss, 'I'horvnldseq. — Roox II. Netherlandish Works. 1st Sec.:
48. Lairesse, Baptism of St. Augustine; 58. Valkenborgh, Tower of Babel.
2nd Bec.: 66. ﬂlmaer, Boors; 88. Francken the Elder, Triumph of David;
8. De Vos, Lady in a poultry-yard. — Roox 1II. Netherlandish Works.
15t Sec.: 89. A. van de Venne, Judith; 94. Jan Steen, Dancing lesson;
95. Sal. van Ruysdael, Landscape. 2nd 8ec.: 102, 108. C. Bega, Boors; 100.
Jan Livens, Old man; 107 Th. Wyck, Italian seaport. — Roox IV. Nether-
landish Works. 1st Sec.: *487. 8. van Ruysdael, River-scene ; 138. Molenaer,
Tavern-scene; 145. J. vam Goyen, River-sceme. 2nd Sec.: 174, Teniers the
Younger, Tavern-scene; 180. C. Berchem, Animals; 187. C. Decker, Laudscape ;
188, Neeffs the Elder, Church-interior 168. Dirk Hals, Lady tearing a letter. —
RooM V. Italian and Spanish Masters. 1ist Sec.: 206. Guercino, St. Francis
of Assisi; 212 Guido Reni, Rape of Europa; *217-219. Eusebio Ferrari (school
of Vercellf), Winged altar-piece (St. Jerome in a lzndau&e Adoration of the
Infant, The young Tobias; three admirable pictures); 0. Lor. di Credi ),
Madonna. 2nd Sec.: 225. Murillo (?), Stealing ducks; 226. T¥epolo, Camp.
— Roou V1 (Mayence Room). Views of the city; portraits of governors
of Mayence. Elaborately ornamented ceiling (charming view from the oriel
window). — Roox VII. German Masters of the 17th and 18th centuries. 348,
Seckatz, Joseph’s temptation ; 387, 339. Schiits, Landscapes; 868. J. H. Roos,
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Animals (1678); 879. Morgenstern, Church-interior; 386. R. Mengs, 8t. Ca-
tharine. By the window, 8685a. J. C. Schneider, View of the Taunus (1789).
— Roou VIII. Flemish Masters. *389. Jac. Jordaens, Christ among the
doctors (1668); 396. Ph. de Champaigne, Foundation of the Chartreuse, with
figures by Le Sueur(?). — RooM IX. Old German School. A14. H. Baldung
@rien, Adoration of the Magi; 429-487. Master of the ‘Hausbuch’(?). Life of
Mary; 488. Early Copy of Diirer, Adam and Eve (original at Madrid). By
the window, 445. Schdufelin, Stoning of St. Stephen (Annunciation on the
back); 441. Master of the St. Bartholomew Altar (p. 41),' 8S. Andrew and
Ursula. — Roox X. Modern Works. AB2. Lindenschmit the Younger, Abp.
‘Willigis challenges the S8choovls. — Roou XI. Modern Works. Ph. Veit, Iﬂg
Portrait of himself, 4568. 467. Studies of heads, 456. Himself (as an old man);
454, Baisch, Landscape with cattle; 483a. 4. Achenbach, Bea-piece. This
room also contains an astronomical clock of the end of the 18th century. —
Room XII. French Masters. 512, 511. Mignard, Poetry, History, Painting,
and the God of Time ; 509. Nattier, Princess Talmont; 498. Rigaud, Cavalier;
A95. Pesne, Portrait of himself. — Lastly come two rooms containing casts.
The first has a fine rococo ceiling. The other is the Akademie-Saal, built
by the last Elector Friedrich Karl von Erthal in 1775, with ceiling-painting
by Januarius Zick and portraits of the builder and (opposite) of Grand-Duke
Lewis II, of Hesse (d. 1892), the latter by E. von Heuss.

On the second floor is the Natural History Museum, with the
collections of the Rhenish Natural History Society. The ornitho-
logical section is extensive.

The Municipal Library, the Gutenberg Museum, and the Collection
of Coins occupy the first and second floors of the W. wing.

The Library consists of about 200,000 vols., including 4500 incunabula,
and 1200 MS8. from the 8th cent. onwards. The reading-room contains por-
traits of nineteen electors.

The Guienberg Museum, founded in 1901, is connected with the library.
The anteroom contains documents relatiog to Gutenberg, writings referring
to the invention of printing, and memorials of the Gutenberg festivals of

, 1840, and 1900. — On the staircase are Sutter’s designs for the pro-
cession of 1900; also a model of ancient Mayence, by N. Gsbel. — Two
rooms on the second floor contain an exhibition illustrating the history
and development of printing, book-illustration, etc. In the cases by the
windows are specimens of early printing by Gutenberg, Fust, and Schoiffer,
and a selection of the most important works to the present day.

The Coins (12,000 specimens) include a full set of those of Mayence,
from the time of Charlemagne down to the overthrow of the electoral sway.

Opposite the Electoral Palace, to the S., is the Palace of the
Grand-Duke (P1. E, 5), formerly a Lodge of the Teutonic Order, built
in 1731-39 in the baroque style; and connected with it is the Ar-
senal, which was erected by Elector Philip Charles in 1738-40.

A handsome *Esplanade (Pl. A-G, b), 21/3 M. long, 100 yds.
broad, and planted with trees, has been constructed along the Rhine,
beginning on the S. at the railway-bridge mentioned at p. 165; it
extends on the N. past the extensive new harbour to the Ingelheimer
Au (p. 136). — Opposite the arsenal, at the spot where the old
Roman bridge once stood (p. 156), the Rhine is spanned by an iron
*Bridge (Pl. E, 5; toll 4 pf.), erected in 1881-85 from designs by
Thiersch. Of the five arches the central one has a clear span of
334 ft., and the others of 321 ft. and 282 ft. The bridge commands
a fine panorama. Castel, see p. 241.

The Stadthalle (P1. D, 5) is a modern building in the Renaissance
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style, with a large hall, used for balls, concerts, and public meet-
ings. Café-Restaurant, see p. 154; view of the Rhine from the
terrace. Near it, Rhein-Strasse 59, is the so-called Iron Tower
(‘Eiserne Thurm’), and farther up the river is the so-called Wooden
Tower (‘Holzthurm’; P1. B, 4), two fragments of the old fortifications,
dating respectively from the 13th and the 15th century. — In the
Mailandsgasse, ‘near the Iron Tower, is the old Chureh of the Holy
Ghost (13th cent.), now a restaurant (p. 164).

The centre of the old town of Mayence is occupied by the
market-place, in which are a fountain erected in 1526 by Elector
Albert of Brandenburg (restored), and the imposing —

*Cathedral (PL. C, 4; St. Martin’s). A cathedral is mentioned as
baving existed at Mayence as early as 406, and a new building,
with a baptistery, was erected by Bishop Sidonius in the 6th century.
A Romanesque church was built under Archbishop Willigis (975-
1011), but it was burned down on the very eve of its consecration
in 1009, It was restored by Abp. Bardo in 1036, but was again de-
stroyed by fire in 1081. On its re-erection the building received a
vaulted roof (see p. xxviii). In 1159 the church served as a fortress
during the struggle between Abp. Arnold and the citizens. The
upper part was yet again destroyed by fire in 1191. Between that
date and 1243 were erected the W. transept, the main choir, the
octagonal dome, the Memorie or chapter-house (p. 162), and the
oloisters. Gothic side-chapels were added after the close of the
13th cent., and the cloisters were wholly remodelled in 1397-1405.
The wooden spire of the main W. tower was burned in 1767, and
was replaced in 1774 by a stone steeple in the Gothic style, by
J. F. Neumann the Younger of Wiirzburg (p. 296). In the French
period the church was used as a magazine and barracks, but in

- 1814 it was repaired and restored to its sacred uses. A thorough
restoration of the E. part of the building was carried out in 1868-79,
under the superintendence of Laske, Wessiken, and Cuypers. The
middle tower was rebuilt in the Romanesque style in 1875, while
the crypt under the E. choir and the two side-towers were renewed
in harmony with the extant remains.

In consequence of all these vicissitudes the church possesses
great value in the history of architecture. In its present form it
consists of nave and aisles with chapels, an E. and a W. choir, and
a W. transept. The groups of towers at the E. and W., especially the
picturesque W. tower (270 ft.) above the cross, present an imposing
appearance, somewhat injured, however, by the numerous addi-
tions. The lower portions of the E. round towers probably belong
to the building of Willigis or Bardo. The transept, with its three
huge windows, the W. choir (above which is an equestrian statue
of St. Martin), and the three W. apses with their rich decoration
of round-arched frieze and dwarf-galleries, show(the flamboyant
forms of the Transition period. All the additions, exceptthe Mem-
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orie, are Gothic in style. The decoration of the interior shows
the mark of each century in turn. — Comp. the ground-plan, p. 156.

The MAIN ENTBANCE, which is reached between some of the
houses in the market-place, is in the N. aisle. The two brazen doors
were executed by order of Archbp. Willigis in 988, as the Latin
inscription on the border of the wings records, and are the oldest
in Germany after those of Aix-la-Chapelle. On the upper panels
are inscriptions, engraved in 1135, enumerating the privileges
granted to the town by Archbishop Adalbert I., out of gratitude for
his liberation from the hands of Henry V. in 1453. — There are
other entrances in the E. fagade in the Liebfrauen-Platz, with
interesting capitals at the S. portal, and in the S. transept, opening
from the Leich-Hof. The cathedral is open daily, 8-9 and 9.30-
12 a.m., and 2-6 p.m. The verger, who lives in the Leich-Hof,
shows the Memorie, cloisters, crypt, and St. Gothard’s Chapel, at
other times also on application (fee 1/o-1 ).

The *INTBRIOR, the vaulting of which is borne by 56 pillars, is
122 yds. long, 50 yds. broad, and 89 ft. high in the nave. The
slender pillars are separated by very narrow openings, and each
alternate one is provided with a ressaut from which the vaulting
springs. The W. choir, nave, and aisles have been painted dark
blue and richly decorated, the dome of the W. choir and the nave
being adorned with paintings. The subjects of the latter are (in the
dome) scenes from Old Testament history referring to the sacrifice
of Christ, and (in the nave) scenes from the life of Christ, Design-
ed by Ph. Veit, they have been executed by Herrmnann, Lasinsky,
and Settegast. The E. choir retains the red coating applied to it in the
18th century. In other parts the red sandstone and the grey lime-
stone have been restored to light by the removal of the whitewash,

The most interesting feature of the interior consists in the
numerous *ToMBSTONES it contains, ranging from the 13th to the
19th cent. (comp. p. xxxi). We begin to the right of the principal

entrance.

N. Transepr. Monuments of the Von Gablentz family (1593) and of
Dean von Breidenbach (d. 1497). The font dates from 1328, the altar from
1601. The handsome Portal of the 8t. Gothard Chapel (p. 183), in the
transition-style, formerly belonged to the Holy Ghost Church (p. 160).

N. Arsre. By the 1st pillar, *Renaissance Momument of Albert of
Brandenburg, Elector of Mayence and Archbishop of Magdeburg (the statue,
of Kelheim stone, admirably executed), 1B46; adjacent is his tombstone,
by the same pillar. By the gecond pillar, *Monument of Elector Sebastian
von Heusensiamm (d. 16565). Opposite the 5th pillar, in the chapel of the
Virgin, which was restored in the Gothic style and embellished with
painting and stained glass in honour of Bishop Ketteler's episcopal jubilee
in 1875, is the monument of that prelate (d. 1877). — In the adjoining
St. Magnus Chapel are an Entombment in stone and numerous reliefs in
marble. The Raising of Lazarus, by the pillar, is a masterpiece of late
medieval wood-carving (i6th cent.). By the 8th pillar on the E. is a
monument erected by Bishop Gerlach to St. Boniface in 1367, on the site
of one still older; till 1829 it was in the church of 8t. John (colouring
renewed). By the 9th pillar, *Monument of Elector Conrad III. of Daun
(d. 1482), Gothic. — e Chapel of St. Barbara contains an early-Goth i
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winge(il eilzhr-piece-, the Chapel of 8t. Victor has a baroque altar, dating
from .

A fiight of 19 steps ascends hence to the PPARRCHOR, or E. CHOIR, the
floor of which has been raised about 8 ft. by the restoration of the crypt.
It contains a canopy and altar in memory of Bishop Ketteler (see p. 161).
To the right in the —

Navg, by the 10th pillar, Elector Peter von Aspelt, or Aichspait (d. 1320),
leaning with his right hand on Henry VII. and with his left on Lewis
the Bavarian, the two emperors crowned by him; adjoining him, King
John of Bohemia, also crowned by him (Gothic ; colouring restored in 1884).
Several other monuments of archbishops and electors. By the 6th pillar
on the N. side, *Elector Diether von Isenburg, 1482. Opposite is the Puipit,
executed in stone at the end of the 1Bth cent., with a modern covering
in wood. By the 4th gillar on the N. side, *Albert of Sazony, administrator
of the archbishopric, 1484, with a simple and noble figure of the youthful
prince. Opposite (8. side), *Elector Berthold von Henneberg, 1504, probably
by Tilman Riemenschneider, one of the finest late-Gothic monuments in
the cathedral. By the 2nd pillar on the 8., *Elector Jacob von Liebenstein,
1508, late-Gothic.

8. AssLe. The Chapel of All 8aints (1317) contains an altar in the
Renaissance style, presented in 1604 by Phil. Cratz von Scharfenstein, after-
wards Bishop of Worms. In the Chapel of 8t. John are a Renaissance
altar presented by Canon Fried. von Fiirstenberg (d. 1607), and a winged
altar-piece in carved work on a gold ground representing the Twelve
Apostles and the Coronation of the Virgin, 1617. The adjoining Chapel
of St. Lawrence and St. Michael's Chapel have some fine stained glass
(modern), and an altar of 1662 in the Renaissance style. — To the left of
the hand t portal (14th cent.) to the ‘Memorie’ and cloisters
(see below) is a Slab (16th cent.; built into the wall) bearing an inscription
to the memory of Fastrada (or Flaatradana), the third wife of Charlemagne ;
she died at Frankfort in 794, and was buried there in the church of
St. Alban, destroyed in 1562.

The S. TeRANSEPT contains several monuments to prelates of the 18th
century. A fine head of Saturn on the monument of Canon von Breidenbach-
Biirresheém (1748), and the noble Gothic monument of Archdp. Conrad I1.
von Weinsberg, 1398, adjoining the W. choir, are noteworthy. Over the
door opening on the Leich-Hof (8 161) is a Romanesque relief.

The BiscHOFsCHOR, or W. CHOIR, separated from the transepts by
galleries of 1682, contains rococo *Choir Stalls, erected in 1767. In the
dome are the paintings already mentioned (p. 161).

From the 8. aisle the portal above noticed (to the right, the old
Romanesque portal) leads into the Memorie, erected in 1243, and roofed
with wide groined vaulting. This was the old chnpter-houaeil and owes
ita name to the memorial services held in it annually. By the W. wall
(r.) is the gsasc%)&)l throne in stone. Adjacent are several monuments of
the years 1538, , and 1568. — The Gothic Chapel of St. Nicholas, to the
8. of the Memorie, dates from the 1Ath century.

The Oloisters also contain several monwuments. On the 8. wall is
Sch thaler's Mo t to Frauenlod, a female figure decorating a coffin
with a wreath, erected by the ladies of Mayence in 1842 to Count Heinrich
von Meissen (d. 1318), surnamed Frauenlob (women's praise), ‘the pious
minstrel of the Holy Virgin, and of female virtue'. Beyond it, on the E.
wall, is a Gothic relief, with groups of saved and lost souls. Near it is
an older tombstone of Frauenlob, erected in 1783, a copy of the original
of 1818. By the buttresses on the garden-side are seated figures of the
Apostles (late-Romanesque). The cloisters, which afford a good view of
the church-towers, also contain sculptured fragments from other churches
of Mayence, some of great beauty and interest.

A gloomy chamber to the 8. of the cloist tains fine Renail
*Choir 8talls and tapestry of the 14-17th centuries.

Between the N. transept of the cathedral and the Markt, . partly
concealed from view by surrounding buildings, is the Chapel of
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8t. Gothard, a double church with aisles, a characteristic Roman-
esque building, erected in 1435-8. It originally formed the chapel
of the archiepiscopal palace (entrance from the N. transept, p. 161).
The dwarf-gallery on the exterior (comp. p. 68) and the pillars
and columns within deserve notice.

A little to the W. of the Leich-Hof (p. 161) is the Prot. Church
of 8t. John (Pl. C, 3), which occupies the site of the old baptistery.
— Hard by, in the Augustiner-Str., is the Liebfrauen- Kirche (P1. B,
C, 4), of 1768-76, with rococo decoration and ceiling-paintings by
Januarius Zick.

Near the cathedral is the GurenBere-Prarz (Pl. C, D, 3),
which is embellished with a *Statue of Gutenberg, the inventor of
printing, designed by Thorvaldsen, executed at Paris, and erected
in 1837. At the sides of the pedestal are two reliefs. The inscrip-
tion at the back by Ottfried Miiller runs thus: —

Artem quae Graecos latuit, latuitque Latlinos,
Germans sollers extudst ingensum.

Nunc, quidquid veteres sapiunt sapiuntque recentes,
Non sibs, sed populis omnibus id sapiunt.

Owing to the obscurity which envelopes the inventor of printing, and
to the fact that he had several contemporaries of the same name as himself,
there is some difficulty in identifying him. Native and foreign writers,
however, of the 15th cent. agree in naming as the inventor JOEANN GANS-
FLEISCH, surnamed GUTENBERG from his mother’s name, who was born in
Mayence about the end of the 14th cent., at the Hof Guienberg, Christoph-
Strasse 2 (P1. D, 4), and not, in spite of the tablet, at the Hof zum Giinsfleiach,
Emmeran-Strasse 28 (Pl. D, 8). After a stay in Strassburg, Gutenberg
seems to have established himsgelf in his native city in 1444. The earliest
book printed by him from moveable types to which a certain date can be
asgigned belongs to the year 1447 (p. 151), though the 27-line fragment of
Donatus, now in the Bibliothéque Nationale at Paris, is doubtless earlier.
His first work of importance was the famous 42-line Bible (1450-14557).
Johann Fust, who had assisted Gutenberg in this work. afterwards separated
from him, and established a new printing-office in partnership with Peter
Schiffer. Gutenberg's subsequent career; his connection with the 86-line
Bible, the types of which were in the hands of Albrecht Pfister of Bam-
berg from 1461 onwards; and the question whether Gutenberg printed the
Mayence Catholicon (1460), the earliest long work in Italic characters,
are all points still veiled in obscurity. After a residence in Eltville (p. 134),
the date and duration of which are uncertain, Gutenberg died in Mayence
in 1467 or 1468, and was buried in the Franciscan church, which was
pulled down in 1742. — Gutenberg‘u alleged first printing-office, at the Hof
sum Jungen, F isk: g , and those of Johann Fust and Peter
Schoffer at the Hof zum Humbrecht, Schuster-Strasse 20, and the Schiffer-
Hof, Korbgasse 3, are all indicated by memorial tablets.

Opposite the monument is the Theatre, erected in 1833. — In the
Schuster-Strasse, one of the chief business-streets, which runs off
the old market-place, is the Gothic Church of 8t. Quentin (P1.D, 4;
1Bth cent.), and near it the Church of St. Christopher, in the early-
Gothic style. Between them is the large Pensioners’ Hospital and
opposite is the Knebel'sche Hof (No. 2), with a rich oriel in the
Renaissance style. — From the Schuster-Str. the Stadionerhof-Str.
leads to tha W, to the Dalberger Hof (1715-18), now occupied by law-
courts (Pl. D, E, 3, 4), and to the Church of 8t. Emmeran'(P1. D, 3),

11%




164 Route 22. MAYENCE. Citadel.

a tasteful late-Gothic building, erected in 1450 and restored in 1881
(old ceiling-paintings).

Following the broad Ludwigs-Strasse from the theatre towards
the W., we reach the SomrLrLee-Pratz (Pl. D, 2, 3; music, see
p. 166), which is planted with chestnut-trees and embellished with
a bronze Statue of Schiller, by Scholl (1862). The place is bounded
on the S. by the Osteiner Hof (1747), now the residence of the
Military Governor and of the Commandant, and on the W. by the
Bassenheimer Hof (1766), the Barracks, and the Military Casino or
Schonborner Hof.

The broad Emmerich-Joseph-Strasse leads hence to the W. to a
flight of 76 steps ascending to the Mathilden-Terrasse (P1. D, 2),
which affords an extensive view of the town and environs. Below the
terrace is the wine-magaine of Kupferberg & Co., with a house in-
dicated by a tablet as that occupied by Bismarck from Aug. 2nd
to Aug. Tth, 1870, at the outbreak of the Franco-Prussian war.
On the Kdstrich (Castrum) anew and well-built quarter of the town has
sprung up since the explosion of a powder-magazine here in 1857.

On an eminence in the neighbourhood rises the handsome early-
Gothic *Chureh of St. Stephen (P1. C, 2), erected in 1257-1328 on
the highest site in the town (98 ft. above the level of the Rhine),
and tastefully restored after 1857. It consists of nave and aisles
of equal height, with a choir at each end, a peculiarity rarely seen
in Rhenish churches. The octagonal Tower, 170 ft. high, com-
mands a beautiful view (220 steps; visitors ring near the flying
buttress to the right of the N. door of the tower).

The INTERIOR contains altar-pieces by Veit over the side-altars to the
right and left of the W. choir; behind the high-altar are a late-Gothic taber-
nacle of 1500 and four exquisite brass altar-columns of 1509. — The treasury
contains several interesting Oriental and early-Romanesque objects, the
dalmatic of St. Willigis, etc. — The late-Gothic Cloisters, dating from 1499
entered from the right aisle, are remarkable for their tasteful vaulting am‘f
windows ; by the E. wall is the tombstone of Dean Wignandus (d. 1048).

The Stephan-Str. leads from the church to the S.E. to the
‘Eisgrubweg’, where the Windmiiklenberg (Pl. B, 3), an eminence
planted with lime-trees, commands one of the finest views of the
cathedral, between the houses. — Beyond the Alarm-Bastion is the
entrance to the citadel.

The Citadel (P1. A, 3; adm. by cards, obtainable at the office
of the Commandant, see above ; 50 pf.), which occupies the site of
the Roman castrum, dates from the 17th century. In its S.W. cor-
ner rises the Drusus-Thurm or Eigelstein, a dark-grey, circular mass
of concrete, 40 ft. in height, said by tradition to have been erected in
the year B.C. 9 by the 2nd and 14th Legions in honour of Drusus
(p. 165), who was killed by a fall from his horse. The monument was
once much higher than at present, but there is no evidence that it
ever had an outer casing of masonry. In 1698 it was furnished with
a gpiral staircase in the interior.
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The *Neue Anlage (restaurant; music, p. 1564), or public prom-
enade, on a slight eminence outside the Neuthor (Pl. A, 4; tram-
way), on the S. side of the town, ocoupies the site of the electoral
chiteau of Favorite (removed in 1793). — The Railway Bridge,
built in 1862, which here crosses the Rhine near its junction with
the Main, consists of four arches, each about 137 yds. in span. It
commands an admirable view up and down stream.

The Wall-8trasse (P1. E, F, G, 1) begins behind the Central
Station, beyond the viaduct which carries the Binger- Str. over
the railway, and ascends past the Gonsenheimer-Thor, a military
stores factory, and the Cavalry Barracks (distinguished by a gilded
horse from the former electoral stables) to the Mombacher - Thor;
it commands a striking view of Wiesbaden, the Taunus, and the
Rheingau. The Gonsenheimer-Thor is about i/ M. from the Cen-
tral Station, vii the ‘Gonsenheimer Hohle'.

By proceeding to the W. from the Binger-Thor (Bl. E, 1), alongside
the Hechtsheim railway (p. 1565), we soon reach the Oemetery, which was
once the burial-ground of the Roman legions and of the earliest Christian
church (St. Aureus). It deserves a visit for the sake of its situation and
its beautiful roses. — About !/z M. farther on, on a hill to the right of the
village of Zahbach, are the remains of another interesting Roman structure,
an *Aqueduct, of which 60 concrete pillars, some of them 23 ft. high, are
still standing. By this channel a supply of water for the use of the Roman
castle was conducted from the Konigsborn (see below), a distance of about
6 M. We may return to Mayence in 20 min. vid the Gau-Thor (Pl. C, 2).

The steam-tramway to Finthen (p. 1565) diverges to the right from the
Zahlbach road near the cemetery, traverses the market-gardens of Gonsen:
heim (p. 280), passes the villa-colony of Lemiaberg, and then ascends to
Finthen (Fontanae), on the road to Bingen, b M. from Mayence. — From
Finthen we proceed to the N. vid (}/4 M.) Kdnigsborn (inn), with the spring
that furnished the main supply of the Roman aqueduct (see above), to the
(11/2 M.) Forsthaus Ludwigshdhe (rest t & pension) on the Leniaberg, with
view-tower, and to (3 M.) Budenheim (p. 140). “A pleasanter route is offered by
the direct wood-path from station Leniaberg to (20 min.) the Ludwigshéhe.

23. From Bingerbriick to Kreuznach, Saarbriicken,
and Metz.
Comp. Maps, pp. 128, 168, and 176.

137 M. RAILWAY to (9'/z M.) Kreuznach in 1/4-1/2 hr. (fares 1 .4 20, 90,
60 pf.); to (88 M.) Saarbriicken in 8-bY/2 hrs. (fares 11 4 40, 8 .4 60, 5 4
70 pf.); to Metz in 41/2-6 hrs. (fares 18 4 90, 12 .4 90, 8 .4 60 pf.).

The line begins at Bingerbriick (pp.130, 139), on the left bank of
the Nahe, skirts the S.slopes of the Hunsriick, and traverses the pretty
valley of the Nahe, with its vineyards and cornfields, vid Miinster,
Sarmsheim, and (31/; M.) Laubenheim. — From (5 M.) Langen-
lonsheim (Berliner Hof) a branch-line runs to Kirchberg (36 M., in
21/3 hrs.; fares 3 .4 40, 2 # 30, 1 4 20 pf.) vid Stromberg (Post;
Weinzheimer), Rheinbollen (Hochwald Hotel), and Simmern (Voll-
rath; Lamm ; Post). — 7 M. Bretsenheim.

91/, M. Kreuznach. — There are two stations: 1. Stadt Kreuznach,
/2 M. from the town, and 1!/, M. from the Curhaus; 2. Bad Kreuzndch, on

the E. side of the island on which the baths are situated. Hotel-omni-
buses and cabs (p. 166) await the arrival of the trains.
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Hotels. In the town, on the left bank of the Nahe: Apiz®, Hoch-Str.,
with garden, R.2lfs, B. 1, D, 2!/2, pens. 6 .#; *PriLzEr Hor, next the post-
office; Tause, with a popular wine-room , DeoTscEES HAUs, in the Holz-
markt, both unpretending but well spoken of. — On the right bank of the
Nahe: BagNgor-HOTeL, in Bad Kreuznach (p. 167), very fair. R. 1}/4-21/,
pens.[6 .4, with garden-restaurant; BERLINER HoF, Bismarck-Platz; Horr's
GoLDENER HirscH, at the corner of the Mannheimer-Str. and Salinen-Str.,
these three d-class. — Bath-h and hotels in and near the Bade-Insel,
for patients, some of them closed in winter: *ExcLIsCHER HOF AND HOTEL
Rovaw, with lift, R. 2-15, B. llé, D, 81/s, pens. from 8 .#; *ORANIENHOF, With
lift, private spring, and park, R. 21/2-10, B.11/s, D. 8, pens. from 6 .4 ; KauzEN-
BERG; DHEIL-ScHMIDT; EurorilscERER Hor, R. 3?4, B. 11/;, D. 8, pens.
T/ .&,- GrAND-HOTEL DU NomD, opposite the Elisabeth-Quelle; DR. HER-
MANN'S PRIVATE BaTHS, R. 1-B, board 4}/s .#. — Numerous lodging-houses
and pensions, nearly all with baths; highest charges from 15th June to
15th August.

Restaurants. At the hotels; Heilguelle, near the small Bade-Briicke ;
Park Restaurant, Bellevue, near the Curhaus bridge; Kaiserau, above the
island, at the foot of the Kauzenberg (p. 167), with garden.

Oabs. Drive in the town, 1-2 %ers., with one horse 80 pf., with 2
horses 1 4 ; 3-4 pera. 1 .4 20 and 1 .4 B0 pf.; per hour, in the town 2 or 8 4,
outside the town 2!/s or 8!/ #; to the Theodorshalle 11/; and 2, or 2 and
21/3 M. Carriages to the following places and back, with 2 hrs. stay: —

1-horse | 2-horse 1-horse | 2-horse
M pt. | M pf. M pf. | A pf.

Rheingrafen- Miinster. . . . 4 — 6 —
stein. . . . . 7.50 9 — Miinster (with-

Rheingrafen- out returning) PN 3 —
stein vid Miin- Ebernburg,
ster . . . .. 9 — 12 — | Altenbaumburg,

Rheingrafen- or Eremitage 6 — 9 —
stein,Miinster, Rothenfels 9 — 12 —
and the Ebern- Disibodenberg 10 — 15 —
burg. . ... 10 — 13.50 Sponheim . . . 7.50 10.50

Omnibus to Miinster am Stein every !/2 hr., 30 pf.
Steam Tramways (starting from the Holzmarkt) to Wallhausen and
Winterburg, see p. 169.
. Visitors’ Tax, for one pers. 15 .#, for each addit. member of a family
b5 M; single ticket admitting to the grounds of the Curhaus 50 pf.
Post and Telegraph Office (Pl. 3), in the Neustadt, on the left bank
of the Nahe.

English Church Service during the season at 11 a.m. and 5 p.m.
Kreusnach (340 ft.), which from the 13th to the 15th cent. was
the capital of the County of Sponheim, then belonged to the Pala~
tinate, and since 1814 has been Prussian, lies on the Nahe, about
10 M. from the Rhine. Pop. 21,000, of whom two-fifths are Roman
Catholics. The river separates the Altstadt and the ‘Badeviertel’, on
the right bank, from the Neustadt, on the left, and above the town
forms the Bade-Insel, or Bath Island (p. 167). In the Altstadt are
the churches of 8t. William (Prot.; Pl. 6), 8t. Wolfgang (R. C.),
and the Holy Cross (R. C.); in the Neustadt is that of 8t. Nicholas
(R.C.; PL.7). Several bridges unite the different parts of the town.
The old stone bridge, which crosses the lower part of the island, and
on the buttresses of which several houses are built, affords a pictur-
esque view. The Protestant Church of St. Paul &Pl. 5)yon the
3land, replaces an earlier edifice, destroyed in 1689. The ruins of
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the Gothio choir of the latter, dating from 1330, were fitted up as
an English Chapel in 1857-63 (P1. 8). Adjoining the church is the
marble statue, by E. Cauer, of Dr. Prieger (d. 1863); in the Bis-
marck-Platz is a Statue of Bismarck, by C. Cauer (1897); and in the
Eiermarkt is a monument to Michel Mort (p. 168), by R. Cauer
(1902). The Public School, in the Kreuz-Strasse (Altstadt), contains
the municipal collection of Roman and medizval antiquities (apply
to the janitor). — To the N. of the Altstadt, beside the glass-
works, is the Heidenmauer (‘Heathens’ Wall’) the remains of a
Roman fortification. A Frankish palace afterwards stood in this
neighbourhood. — A fine *Roman Mosaic Pavement, 32 ft. long and
241/ ft. wide, was discovered in 1893, in a very fair state of pre-
servation, on the Hiiffelsheim road, on the left bank of the Nahe,
3/4 M. from the old bridge (p. 166). It represents combats of wild
beasts and gladiators (entr. by No. 26; adm. 50 pf.).

Kreuznach is a watering-place of considerable repute, and is
visited by 6-7000 patients annually. The Salt Baths, which are
particularly beneficial in cases of scrofula and cutaneous diseases,
are situated on and near the Bade-Insel, or Badewirth. The
principal street, flanked with hotels and lodging-houses, leads
from the church in a straight direction to the Curhaus, with the
adjacent Badehaus or Bath House and the large Inhalatorium (a,
double ‘Gradir-Haus’, with a central passage). In the morning
and evening this is the rendezvous of the visitors, many of whom
drink the waters of the Elisabeth-Quelle, a spring containing bro-
mine and iodine, and rising from the porphyry rock at the S. end
of the island. In bad weather the promenaders take shelter in a
covered walk, 130 yds. long. Concerts are given here thrice daily
in the season. Agate wares of Idar (p. 172) are offered for sale.
Below the chief bridge, on the Marien- Wirth, is an hospital managed
by Franciscan monks,

Opposite the Curhaus an iron bridge crosses the narrower arm
of the Nahe and connects the island with the pleasant ‘Badeviertel’,
consisting of baths and lodging-houses, on the right bank. The
street in a straight direction leads to the Bad Kreuznach Station
(pp. 165, 170), 1/ M. from the Curhaus. Near this station are a large
Deaconesses’ Institute and the studio (P1. 2) of the brothers Cauer,
well known for their skilful treatment of subjects from the domains
of fairy-tale (‘Sleeping Beauty’, ‘Cinderella’, etc.). — The Cemetery,
on the road to Hackenheim, contains a Germania, in memory of the °
war of 1870-71, and other specimens of their work.

On the N.W. side of the town, on the left bank of the Nahe
(ascent from the old bridge, or from the Bade-Insel, crossing the
iron suspension-bridge near the Kaiserau; toll 3 pf.), rises the
Schlossberg or Kauzenberg (490 ft.), with the ruins of a castle of
the Counts of Sponheim, destroyed by the French in 1689. The hill
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is laid out as private pleasure -grounds, only the principal avenue
of which is open to the public. The vineyards on its S. slopes
yield an excellent wine, called ‘Kauzenberger’. The summit com-
mands a fine view of the valley. A lion hewn in stone, brought here
from Dhaun (p. 171), commemorates Michel Mort, a butcher of
Kreuznach, who sacrificed his life in the battle of Sprendlingen
(1279) to save his prince, Johann von Sponheim. Paths, with pictur-
esque views, lead hence by the wooded Haardt to the Rothenfels

(p. 169).

On the right bank of the Nahe, the Salinen-Strasse leads past the
Ho6t. Oranienhof (near which, to the right, is the suspension bridge)
and the Vietoriastift, a charity hospital for children, to (41 M.) the
salt- works and ‘Gradirhiuser’ (evaporating sheds) of Carlshalle
and Theodorshalle (Hbtel Tullius, Hotel Scheiber, both very fair,
R.10-15 4 per week ; lodging-houses; restaurant and pens. in the
*Curhaus Theodorshalle, with garden extending to the wood ; plain
rfmts. in the Forsthaus). These baths, the property of the town of
Kreuznach , may also be reached by a shady path along the Nahe.
About 11/, M. farther on lies —

Miinster am Stein. — Hotels (all with baths). °Curmaus HoTEL, by
the Cur-Park, with dépendance, R. 21/e-81/3, B. 11/s, D. 8, board 5'/s .#;
*HoreL Low, B. 2-8, B. 1, D. 2V, board 4-6 .4, closed in winter; HOTRL

" BaUM, BuBar, similar charges; HOTEL-PENSION ilrr, at the station; ENG-
LiscHER Hor, R. 3-8, B. /4, D.?2}/,, pens. from 5 . ; STOLZENFELS, SCHWAN,
similar charges; PARISER Hor. Numerous private hotels.

Restaurants. Cur-Garten and Cursaal; Rabel’s Central-Café, on the right
bank of the Nahe; in the Hutten-Thal (see below); Rail. Restaurant.

Visitors’ Tax for 1 pers. 12, 2 pers. 17, 3 pers. 20, 4 pers. 23, b pers.
26 4. Adm. to the Cur-Garten 25 pf.

Miinster am Stein (370 ft.; rail. stat., see p. 170), a village
pleasantly situated at the foot of the Rheingrafenstein and the Gans,
also possesses salt-springs, and has of late years acquired import-
ance as a watering-place (4000 patients annually). The waters of
the principal salt-spring (87°) are conducted directly to the baths,
which are well fitted up. The well-shaded Cur-Garten is connected
with the springs by a covered way. Miinster am Stein is on the
whole less expensive than Kreuznach.

The *Rheingrafenstein (770 ft.), a picturesque cliff of por-
phyry, here rises 425 ft. almost perpendicularly from the Nahe.
‘We cross the river by the ferry near the saline springs, and ascend
the Hutten-Thal by a good path which leads to the ruin in /g hr.
(the highest point is reached by a flight of stone steps ascending
through the rocks). The boldly situated ruined castle, built in the
11th cent., once the residence of the ‘Rheingrafen’ (Rhenish counts),

was blown up by the French in 1689.

FroM KREUZNACH TO THE GANS, RHEINGRAFENSTEIN, AND MONSTER AN
STEIN, a beautiful walk of 21/,-2V/3 hrs. ; route hardly to be mistaken. About
100 paces beyond the small temple on the Kubderg (1}/s M. to the 8. of
the Bad Kreuznach Station; comp. Map) a path diverges to the right from
the road, leading through vineyards and wood, and joining the road again
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beyond the (Y2 hr.) Rheingrafensteiner Hof (restaurant). About 5 min,
farther on, near the Rheingrqfensteiner Schidsschen, a path ascends in /s hr.
to the top of the *Gans (1080 f.), an indented ridge of porphyry, com-
manding an extensive view, embracing the Nahe-Thal as far as Bingen and
part of the Rheingau. — From the Gans a fleld-road (direction-post) runs
towards the S. through the wood to the (26 min.) Rheingrafenstein. Descent
to the Nabe through the Hutten-Thal (p. 168; 1‘4 hr.). — By passing to
the left of the Rheingrafensteiner Hof we reach (30 min.) the Schdfer-
placken, where the boundaries of Prussia, Bavaria, and Hesse meet. Thence
to the right to the Altenbaumburg (see below), /3 hr.

Opposite the Rheingrafenstein, to the W., about /3 hr. from
the Miinster am Stein station (carr. 21/ 4, there and back 4 ),
rises the *Ebernburg, once the stronghold of Franz von Sickingen
(1481-1523), and at that time often an asylum for outlaws and
fugitives, foremost among whom ranks Ulrich von Hutten, the
reformer, who resided here in 1520-22. We cross the bridge (toll
3 pf.) and ascend to the right, passing several inns (near the station
of Ebernburg, p. 4170). The castle was fortified by the French in
1689, but was again dismantled at the Peace of Ryswyck (1698).
Out of the ruins rises a quaint, pinnacled building, fitted up as
an Inn. Below the castle is a Monument to Sickingen and Hutten, by
C. Cauer, erected in 1889. Fine prospect of the grand environs.

The view from the Rothenfels (970 ft.), a barren red porphyry
cliff 3 M. from Kreuznach, and 41/ M. from Miinster am Stein,
surpasses that from the Gans, as it extends farther up the valley of the

Nahe and embraces the Alsenz-Thal as far as the ruin of Landsberg.

A charming excursion from Miinster am Stein may be made either
vid the Rheingrafensteiner Hof and the Schiferplacken (see above), or
through the Hutten-Thal, a valley on the opposite bank of the Nahe (ferry,
already mentioned), and finally through beautiful woods, to the (1!/; hr.)
Altenbaumburg (Restaurant), an extensive ruined castle destroyed by the
French in 1689, the ancestral seat of the ancient ‘Raugrafen’, and formerly
called the Boymeneburg, or Croneburg. Another route is by rallway to Aiten-
bamberg (p. 170) and then on foot to (20 min.) the Altenbaumburg
(comp. the Map, p. 168). — The ruins of the chiteau of Monifort (destroyed
in the 1b6th cent.) may be reached from Miinster, by the villages of Ebern-
burg and Bingert, in 2 hrs. (refreshments at the Montforter Hof). — The
*Lemberg (1312 ft.), which rises precipitously from the Nahe, near Bingert
(13/4 br. from Miinster), commands an extensive panorama. Restaurant at
the top, open in summer three days weekly. The descent may be made
by the (20 min.) bridge of Oberhausen to (!/z hr.) stat. Waldbdckelheim
(p. 170). — The Lemberg may also be ascended from stat. Niederhausen
(p. 170), with a guide, in 11/; hr.

From KREUZNACE TO WALLHAUSEN, 5!/2 M., steam-tramway in 1/ hr.
— About 11/3 M. beyond Wallhausen is Dalberg, with the ruins of the
ancestral seat of the family of that name. Farther on are (3 M.) Weissenfels
(view) and Argenschwang, with a ruined castle.

Frox KRrRUZNACH TO WINTERBURG, 11 M., steam-tramway in 1-11/s hr. —
6 M. Burg-8ponheim, with the ruined castle of the Sponheim family. About
1 M. off is the village of Sponheim, with the fine Romanesque church (1123)
of the former Benedictine Abbey, of which the learned Johannes Trithe-
mius (p. 201) was abbot in 1484-1506. It occupies the site of an older
structure and has been restored. — 141 M. Winterburg.

RATLWAY TO SAARBRUCKEN aND Mmrz. The district, between
Kreuznach and-Waldbockelheim (p. 170) and the neighbourhood
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of Oberstein are the most picturesque portions of the line. Leaving
the principal station at Kreuznach, the train crosses the Nahe, stops
at the Bad-Kreuznach station (p. 160), and skirts the base of the
Gans (p. 169). To the left, where the train next crosses the Nahe,
rise the two curious pinnacles of the Rheingrafenstein (p. 168).

121/, M. Miinster am Stein (370 ft.; Rail. Restaurant, very
fair), see p. 168. .

FroM MONSTER AM STEIN To KAISERSLAUTERN, 37!/2 M., railway in
ca. 2 hrs. (fares 4 .4 80, 3 .4 20, 2 # 10pf.). — The line crosses the Nake,
which here forms the boundary between Prussia and Bavaria, and beyond
(Y2 M.) Eberndurg (p. 169), ascends the valley of the Alsens. — 21/z M.
Altenbamberg lies at the foot of the Altenbaumburg (p. 169). — 312 M.
Hochstdtten.

7T M. Alsenz ( Post), a village with sandstone quarries. From Alsenz to
(4Y2 M.) Gaugrehweiler, diligence thrice a day; then on foot through the
valley of the Appel to Iben and vid Wonshesm to Flonheim (eom}). P ).
— On the hill to the right of (91/3 M.) Mannweiler is the ruin of Randeck.
10 M. Bayerfeld-Colin, M. Dielkirchen.

14 M. Rockenh (Deutsches Haus), a considerable village, the best
starting-point for the ascent of the Donnersberg (see p. 286). — 161z M.
Imsweiler.

20 M. Winnweiler (Zum Donnersberyg), an industrious village, with
iron-works and a copper-foundry, near the picturesque Falkensteiner-Thal,
with the ruin of Falkenstein. — 22 M. Langmeil-Munchweiler, junction for
the line from Alzey (see p. 286). — 241/3 M. Neuhemsbach-Sembach. From
(271 M.) Enkenbach the direct line to (33'/2 M.) Kaisersiautern (p. 286)
diverges to the right via (311/z M.) Eselsfilrth. — The main line continues
to (31 M.) Hochspeyer, where it joins the ‘Pfilzische Ludwigsbahn® (p. 293).
— 3112 M. Kaiserslautern, see p. 293.

Beyond a cutting the Ebernburg (p. 169) appears on the left.
The train next runs between the Nahe and the base of the preci-
pitous Rothenfels (p. 169), and passes through two tunnels. From

16 M(:)) Niederhausen the Lemberg may be ascended in 41/ hr.
p. 169). On the right rises an abrupt rock, crowned with the ruins
of Bickelheim, destroyed by the French in 1688, in which the Emp.
Henry IV. was kept prisoner by his son Henry V.in 1105.— 191/, M.
Wald-Bickelheim lies in a side-valley, 2 M. to the N. of the station
(diligence thrice daily). The above-mentioned ruins are 1 M. from
the station, and Burg-Sponheim (p. 169) is about 11/ M. from the
village.

Emerging from the next tunnel, we observe on the left, beyond
the Nahe (20 min. to the E. of Staudernheim), the ruins of Disi-
bodenberg, a Benedictine (subsequently Cistercian) abbey named
after the Irish bishop Disibodus (d. about 700), the first propagator
of Christianity in this district, which was annexed during the Re-
formation by the Dukes of Zweibriicken and is now private property.
Little is left of the buildings beyond the foundations. The abbey-
church, consecrated in 1143, was an imposing edifice with pillars;
the vaulting of the choir, which was composed of nave and aisles,
was borne by imbedded columns. The secular portions of the
monastery are in the Gothic style of the 13th century,, Adjoin-
ing the church were the cloisters, and to the right of them the
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chapter-house. Farther to the W. was the residence of the abbot,
with a view over the valley of the Nahe, and to the E. was the re-
fectory, of which the gable-walls are still standing. The custodian
shows a number of Gothic fragments (chiefly keystones) from the
old building, which are collected in a vault. The pleasure-grounds
around the ruins afford a good survey of the valleys of the Nahe
and its affluent the Glan (rfmts. on Sun.).

221/, M. Staudernheim (460 ft.; Salmen, good and moderate)
lies to the left, on the right bank of the Nahe, connected with the
station by the five-arched ‘Landgrafen-Briicke’.

FRroM STAUDERNHEIM TO MEISENHEIM, T M., railway in 20 min. (fares
€0, 40 pf.). The line ascends the ple sant valley of the Glan. — Meisen-
holm (;/dtur Hof; En&el ), & Prussian district-town (4800 inhab.), prettily
situated on the Glan. The old *Schlosskirche, a gem of late-Gothic architec-
ture, was built in 1479 and restored in 1875-80. The tower dates from
1877-4404. The vaulted burial-chapel (restored in 1896) tains the in-
teresting tombs of Duke Charles 1.  of Zweibriicken (d. 1600), the ancestor
of the ‘preaent royal house of Bavaria, and of Duke Wolfgang (d. 1569) and
his wife and daughter. — From Meisenheim to Kaiserslautern, see p. 204.

24 M. Sobernheim (500 ft.; Post; Adler) is a small town of
some antiquity, partly enclosed by a wall. Pop. 3300. It possesses
a late-Gothic church, an old Maltese Chapel adjoined by a former
lodge of the order (now a school), and several picturesque old houses.

27 M. Monsingen (Dick’s Hotel, fair) lies to the right, on the
vine-clad slopes.

From Monzingen a road leads through the Hozthal to the pleasant
health-resort of Waldfriede (1320 ft.; pens. 4-b .#), whence various excur-
sions may be made.

291/3 M. Martinstein (Seipel), curiously built on a rock, with
its church on an eminence surrounded by a fine group of trees.
The station is 1/oM. from the village. Beyond it, in a valley opening
on the right, are situated the ruins of Schloss Dhaun. The Keller-
bach traverses an imposing rocky gorge.

*Schloss Dhaun, the seat of a branch of the Rheingrafen which be-
came extinct in 1750, was erected in the 12th cent., and greatly extend-
ed in 1729. This strikingly-picturesque castle is situated 6 M. from
Monzingen, 2/, M. from Martinstein, and 8!/; M. from Kirn (see below;
carriage 7l’/3 A). A relief over one of the doors, representing an ape
giving an apple to a child, tes the incident that a child of
one of the Counts was carried off by an ape, but fortunately recovered.
Magnificent view of the valley of the Nahe as far as the Lemberg, of the
Simmer-Thal, and of the dark ravines of the Soonwald. Admission, including
fee to attendant, 30 pf. Near the entrance is an inn (pens. 4-6 .4).

On an eminence to the right stands the church of Johannisberg,
which contains ancient tombstones of the Rheingrafen. The train
next passes through a tunnel and reaches —

33 M. Kirn (595 ft. ; Stroh, at the station, very fair, R. & B. 2-3 .#),
a thriving little town (6100inhab.), with manufactures of cloth and
leather. In the 18th century it was the residence of the Princes of
Salm-Kyrburg, the last of whom was guillotined at Paris in 1794.
The old Romanesque church, lately restored, with a Gothic choir of
the 15th cent., contains a fine tabernacle and several tombs of the




172 Route 23. BIRKENFELD. From Bingerbriick ‘

Rheingrafen. Above the town, 1 M. from the station, is the ruin
of Kyrburg (restaurant), surrounded with vineyards.

The valley now expands, but the line again enters a mountain-
ous district at (35 M.) Kirn-Sulzbach, where the cliffs become more
abrupt. The most interesting part of the line in point of construc-
tion is between Kirn and Birkenfeld, where there are no fewer than
twenty bridges over the Nahe and ten tunnels, while the whole of
the remaining part of the line has five bridges and five tunnels
only. Near (38 M.) Fischbach (Post) the train crosses to the right
bank. — 39 M. Nahbollenbach. Then follow two bridges, with a
tunnel between them. To the right a *View of the ‘Fallen Rock’
is obtained, and then of Oberstein, situated most picturesquely on
both banks of the Nahe.

421/, M. Oberstein (870 ft.; *Restaurant at the station, with pa-
vilion and view; Post, 8tark, in the town, near the new bridge, both
very fair, R. 11/5-2, B.3/4, D. 13/4 #; agates sold at many shops), a
town with 8300 inhab., is one of the finest points on the Nahe. The
precipitous cliffs, 400 ft. in height, which confine the town within
narrow limits, are crowned with two ruined castles of the Barons of
Oberstein, who became extinct in 1670. The best way to the castles
(there and back 11/5 hr.) is the ‘Burgweg’, ascending to the right
beyond the ‘Post’. By this route we first reach the Neue Schloss
(restaurant; Hotel Bach, higher up), which has only of late
fallen to decay, and then, beyond a hollow containing a War Monu-
ment (1870-71), the *Alte Burg, situated almost perpendicularly
above the town. About 5 min. higher is a pavilion commanding a
very extensive *View. We may now return by the Protestant
Church, curiously built into the face of the rock about halfway down
(200 ft. above the Nahe), and said to have been erected in the 12th
cent. by a member of the Oberstein family with his own hands, as
an atonement for fratricide; it was restored in 1482. The sexton
lives close by. The Gothic Roman Catholic Church, built of grey
‘melaphyre’, lies on the right bank of the Nahe.

From Oberstein an electric tramway runs in 1/; hr. to Idar (Hétel
Schiltzenhof, very fair, D. 11/; #), a place with 4700 inhab., most of whom
are occupied in cutting and polishing agates, an industry that dates back to
the 16th century. Agates were formerly found here in abundance, but their
place is now taken mainly by stones of similar character from Brazil and
the East Indies. A process has been discovered by which colourless agates
are converted into onyxes, sardonyxes, etc., by the addition of colouring

tter. Idar p a Gewerbehalle, or industrial hall, in which these
wares are sold at officially-regulated prices.

431/5 M. Ensweiler; 46 M. Sonnenberg; 47 M. Kronweiler;
481/; M. Nohen ; 501/y M. Heimbach; 52 M. Hoppstitten. — From
(631/3 M.) Birkenfeld~Neubriicke a branch-line diverges to (3 M.)
Birkenfeld (1315 ft., Emmerich sur Post; Warth, R. & B. from 21/4.4),
the capital (2200inhab.) of the principality of Birkenfeld, now belong-
ing to the Duchy of Oldenburg, with a ruined castle (44th;¢ent.) of
the Counts of Sponheim. — On the road to Berncastel, beyond
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(81/2 M.) the small Hambach Sauerbrunnen (baths), lies (7 M.)
Hiuttsgewasen (2300 ft. ; Gethmann, R. & B. 2, D. 11/, pens. 4 ),
the highest inhabited spot in the province of the Rhine, surrounded
with wood, and visited as a summer-resort,

56 M. Nohfelden, with an o0ld keep. — 571/p M. Tiirkismiihle, the
junction of a branch-line to (14 M.) Hermeskeil (p. 202), via (7 M.)
Otzenhausen and (9 M.) Nonnweiler (to Neunkirchen, see below).

The H ing, near Ofzenh , with a circumference of nearly
4 M., is the largest and best-preserved of the prehistoric fortifications in
the Rhineland. It consists of 1oose blocks of sandstone, and is highest
(60 ft.) on the N. side.

The line now attains the culminating point (1270 ft.) between the
Nahe and Blies at (59 M.) Wallhausen, and then descends rapidly
vid Namborn and Hofeld to —

66 M. 8t. Wendel (970 ft.; Knoll), a district-town of 5500
inhab., with a fine old Gothic church and pulpit of 1462,

About 71/, M. to the W. (diligence daily in 11/3 hr.) is the small town
of Tholey, formerly the seat of a Benedictine abbey, the early-Gothic
church of which still exists, at the foot of the Schaumbderg (1885 ft.), a vol-
canie hill commanding & fine view. Numerous Roman antiquities have
been found in the environs.

69 M. Niederlinzweiler; 71 M. Ottweiler (860 ft.; Hotel Haass),
with 64100 inhabitants. The train now passes through the Wiebels-
kirchen Tunnel, 400 yds. in length, and reaches the important coal-
mining district of the Saar. About 14,000,000 tons of coal are
annually produced in this region, five-sixths of which are raised
from mines belonging to the Prussian government.

751/a M. Neunkirchen (845 ft.; Au, near the bridge; Post, near
the station), a town with 28,000 inhab., is the junction of the
Mannheim line (R. 37). Large iron-works (6000 workmen), in
front of which rises a statue of the late proprietor Freiherrvon Stumm
(d. 1901), by Schaper (1902).

Neunkirchen is also connected with Saarbriicken by another line (16 M.),
passing Schiffwedler, Quirscheid, Camphausen, and Schle{fmthle.

Beyond (771/ M.) Reden (925 ft.) is the Bildstock Tunnel (517
yds.). — From (81 M.) Friedrichsthal (970 ft.) an electric tramway
runs to Saarbriicken. — 83 M. Sulsbach; 851/, M. Dudweiler (760 ft.).

88 M. 8t. Johann-Saarbriicken. — Hotels (lifts, electric light, and
hot-air heating in the larger houses). *REgINiscHEr Hor, Bahnhof-Str., /3 M.
from the station, R. 8 #; MessMER, Victoria-Platz, near the station, R.
from 21/s, B. 1, D. 8 .#; TERMINUS, opposite the station, R.2-31/z, B. 3/; A,
with restaurant; Korw, very fair, R. from 1 .4 80 pf., B. 80 pf., D. 2 4#;
Scuwax, Kaiser-Str., near the station, well spoken of. — In Saarbricken, HOT.
BRisTOL, With restaurant and garden. — River Baths above the old bﬁ%e.

Electric Tramways from 8t. Johann to Burbach and Louisenthal (p. 180);
to Brebach (p. 315); to Friedrichathal (see above); and over the new Kaiser-
Wilhelm-Briicke to S8aarbriicken and St. Arnual (p. 174).

8t. Johann (21,000 inhab.) and Saarbriicken (24,000 inhab.) are
two sister-towns on the right and left bank of the Saar; united with
each other by three bridges.
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St. Johann, with the railway-station, is entirely modern, dating
its importance from the construction of the railway, which does not
touch Saarbriicken. From the station the Reichs-Str. and Victoria-
Str. lead to the Neue Briicke (new bridge), below which is the in-
teresting coal-harbour (comp. p. 178).

Down to 1793 Saarbriicken was the residence of the Princes of
Nassau-Saarbriicken, whose Schloss, burned down by the French
revolutionary army in that year, is now private property. The
Schlosskirche contains monuments of the princes. In the Schloss-
Platz is a Statue of Bismarck, by Donndorf, unveiled in 1899, The
hall of the Rathhaus at Saarbriicken is decorated with frescoes by
‘Werner, commemorating the events of 19th July to 9th Aug., 1870
(see below). — A narrow road leads from the Schloss-Platz to the
Triller, an eminence with gardens, commanding a fine view. — The
Ludwigs- Kirche dates from 1762-75.

Railway to Traves, see R. 24; to Saargemiind, Hagenau, and
Strassburg, see R. 41 ; to St. Ingbert and Zweibriicken, see p. 300.

On the heights of Spicheren, about 8 M. to the 8. of Saarbriicken, on
6th Aug., 1870, a sharp engagement took place between the Prussians and
French, in which the latter, although numerically superior, were obliged
to retreat. A visit to the battlefield occupies 3-4 hrs. (carr. ca. 12 .4, at the
station, etc.). The Metz road is followed, passing the (11/2 M.) Ehrenthal, the
burial-place of the German soldiers who fell at Spicheren, and the (1M.) toll
house and ‘Goldene Bremm’ inn, near which is the Spicherer Berg Holel, with
a collection of relics of the battle. On the left rises the Spicherer Berg
(875 ft.), with its steep and scantily-wooded slopes, a strong position
in which the French had intrenched themselves. The G began
the attack from the right and left side of the road, and from the Winter-
berg, a hill about 1 M. to the 8.E. of Saarbriicken. A tower erected here to
commemorate the victory commands a good survey of the battlefield.

At St. Arnual, 11/; M. to the S.E. of Saarbriicken, on the E. side of
the Winterberg, is a *Church (1270-1315) in the best Gothic style, with re-
markably fine font and pulpit, and interesting monuments of the Princes
of Nassau-Saarbriicken. Opposite is the Halberg, with the modern chiteau
of Frejherr von Stumm (p. 173).

The RAILWAY To MBTZ crosses the Saar, traverses the battlefield
of 6th Aug., 1870, and passes (5 M.) Stieringen and the little town of
(6 M.) Forbach (Karsch, R. & B. 21/3, D. incl. wine 21/ ), with
7000 inhabitants. To the left, in the distance, rises the hill or
Spicheren.(see above). The country beyond Forbach is undulating.
9 M. Kochern. At (111/4 M.) Beningen diverge branch-lines to Saar-
gemind (p. 315) and to Teterchen (see below) and Diedenhofen
(p. 190). Next (133/g M.) Oberhomburg on the Rossel, (18 M.)
St. Avold, (23 M.) Tetingen, (25 M.) Falkenberg, (28 M.) Mai-
weiler, (311/ M.) Herlingen, (351/, M.) Remilly, and (411/3 M.) Cour-
celles, all frequently mentioned in the annals of the Franco-Prussian
war. (Branch-line from Courcelles to Teterchen and Bous, 32 M.,
see p. 190.) 45 M. Peltre. On the right, before the station of Metz
is entered, rises Fort Goeben (formerly Fort Queulen).

49 M. Metz. — Hotels. *GraNp-HOTEL (formerly H6t. de ¥ Europe;

Pl. a, C 4), Priester-Str. 4, R. 21/2-5, déj. /2, D. 3 .4;  *GRAND-HOTEL DE
Merz (Pl. b; C, 4), opposite, R. 244, déj. 2, D. 3, 8. 2 4. — HireL p’ANGLE-
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TeRRE (Pl. d3 C, 4), Korn-S8tr. 4, near the cathedral, commercial; HSTEL
pE Paris (Pl. ¢; C, 3), Kammer—Piatz; HOr. pE LUXEMBOURG, Romer-8tr. 553
Hodr. pu Norp, Steinweg 4, with restaurant and summer-theatre; HOTEL
zUR Post, Priester-8tr. 38, R. from 1!/2 4, B. 80 pf., D. 2 #; RHEINISCHER
Hor, Esplanaden-Str., with restaurant.

Restaurants. Moitrier, Kapellen-8tr. 4, adjoining the Rémer-Str., first-
class; Kaiser-Pavillon, see below. — WINE. Kiljen, Tuch-Str.; Rheinische
Weinstube , Goldkopf-Strasse. — BEER. Germania, Romer-Allee (Pl. B, b);
Birgerbrdu, Kaiser-Wilhelm-Platz, with garden; Lowenbrdu, Steinweg
(Pl. B, d); Hofbriu, Bank-Str. (Pl. B, 4); Franziskaner, Kammer-Platz.

Oafés. Kaiser-Pavillon, on the Esplanade (Pl. B, b), with *View of the
the valley of Moselle, the heights of Gravelotte, and Fort Friedrich Karl;
Café Turc, Esplanaden-Str.; Café Ceniral, Parade-Plats.

Electric 'lgmwayl from the Cathedral to Montigny; to Longeville and
Moulins; to Devant-les-Ponts; and to other points.

Oabs. Tarameter Cabs. For 1-2 bseu. per 1000 métres 50 pf., each addit.
500 meétres 10 pf.; 84 pers. per 760 meétres 50 pf., each addit. 376 meétres
10 pf; at night, 1-4 pers. per métres 50 pf., each addit. 250 métres 10 pf.
Each box ﬁ) pf. — Ordinary Cabs. Per drive within the town, 1-3 pers.
60 pf., to or from the rail. stations 1 ¥, each pers. additional 20 pf.; per
e he'for 1-2 pers. 1.4, ¥, br. 1 4 40, 1hr, 1.4 60, each pers. addit. 20,
30, 40 pf. — Oarriages to the battlefields, 12, 18, 20, or 2f M, with fee,
according to the extent of the drive. Carriages should be hired at the
hotels, especially if the tourist intends to cross the French fromtier.

Post Office, Post-8tr. 23. — Telegraph Office, Esplanaden-St:

Mars and DEscCRIPTIONS of the battlefields are sold at the bookshops:
Deutsche Buchhandiung, Palast-Strasse ; G. Scriba, Kammer-Platz 20; G. Milller,
Romer-8tr. 9. German scholars will find Liebach’s ‘Taktische Wanderung
iiber die 8chlachtfelder* (1 .4 60 pf.) of interest.

Mets, the fortified capital of German Lorraine and the head-
quarters of the 16th army-corps, with 58,500 inhab., more than a
half of whom are Germans, and a garrison of 23,000 men, lies in a
wide basin on the Moselle, which, at the lower end of the town,
is joined by the Seille on the right. It was the Divodurum of the
Romans, the chief town of the Gallic tribe of the Mediomatrici. It
was the seat of a bishop in the 4th cent.; became afterwards the
capital of the kingdom of Austrasia; and in 870 passed into the
possession of Germany. Subsequently Metz was a free city of the
German Empire, until it was taken by the French in 1552, and
suocessfully maintained by them against Charles V. By the Peace
of 1556 it was ceded to the French, together with Toul and Verdun,
and in 1871 it was again incorporated with the Empire of Germany.

The *EsrraNapE (Pl. B, ), which extends towards the S.W.
of the town, is laid out in pleasant walks. On the S.E. side
stands a Statue of Marshal Ney (1769-1845), by Pétre (1855). In
the middle of the Esplanade is an Equestrian Statue of Emp. William I.,
by Ferd. von Miller. Farther on, to the right, is a fountain with a
fignre modelled by Pétre, and a bronze steed and other animals by
Fratin. The W. part of the Esplanade affords a fine view of the
valley and the heights of St. Quentin. — The Boufflers Garden,
to the N., belonged to the residence of the French governor (1668),
now the Palace of Justice (PL. B, 4). In it rises a Statue of Prince
Frederick Charles, who took Metz in 1870, by Ferd.  von Miller
(1898). — 1In the Old Citadel (P1. B, 3) a church of the Templars
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(12th cent. ?) has recently been laid bare, to the W. of the arsenal.
In the same neighbourhood stands the ancient and now disused
Church of St. Peter.

The Priester-Strasse and Romer-Strasse, running to the N. from
the Esplanade and the Karssr-WiLaELM-PraTz (PL B, 5), are the
chief seats of business. The Fabert-Strasse, continuing the Priester-
Strasse, ends at the PARADE-PraTZ (P1. 0, 4), between the cathedral
and the Stadthaus (4771). The square is adorned with a Statue of
Marshal Fabert (1659-1662), a native of Metz, who distinguished
himself in the campaigns of Louis XIV.

The *CatuepraL (Pl. G, 4), the finest edifice in the town, is
a magnificent Gothic structure, begun under the influence of the
Rheims school of architecture in the second half of the 13th century.
The lofty nave was completed before 1392, the choir dates from the
15th and 16th cent. and was consecrated in 1546. A thoroughgoing
restoration, under the superintendence of Tornow, has been in
hand since 1875, and both the main portal and the Porte de
Notre Dame (Parade-Platz) have been rebuilt. The fine stained-
glass windows in the S. aisle date from the 13th cent.; those in
the nave are of the 14th and 15th cent.; those in the transept and
the choir are of the 15th and early 16th cent.; and several others
are modern. In the S. aisle is an old Roman bath used as a font.
The tower is 387 ft. high (110 steps to the first gallery, 105 more
to the huge bell called the Mutte, and 78 thence to the highest
gallery).

On the Moselle island to the N.'W. of the cathedral are the Pro-
vineial Offices (Pl. C, 3), formerly the French prefecture (19th cent.),
and the Theatre (18th cent.). Fine view of the cathedral. A Protestant
church has been built at the S. extremity of the island. — On the
opposite bank of the river rise the Church of 8t. Vincent (PL. B, C, 3),
a fine Gothic structure begun in the 13th cent., with traces of the
Romanesque style, but disfigured externally with an unsuitable
modern fagade, and the Prot. Military Church (Pl. B, 3), in the
Gothic style, with a tower 348 ft. in height.

The Library (Pl. C, 2), in the Bibliothek - Strasse, contains
many valuable works on the history of Lorraine and the town itself.
The Museum, in the same building, is open on Sun. 10-4 and on
Wed. 1-4, gratis; on other days 10-4, fee. It contains Roman mon-
uments and other antiquities found near Metz, a few medi®val
objects, a collection of coins, and an unimportant picture-gallery.

In the Geisberg-Strasse, adjoining the Library, is the Austrasian
Palace, erected on the site and partly with the materials of a Roman
palace in 1599. It has recently been rebuilt and now serves as a
commissariat-store. — The early-German Church of St. Segolene
(P1. D, 3) has also been recently rebuilt.

The bridge between the Goldschmied-Strasse and the Deutsche-
Strasse (Pl O, D, 4) affords a view of the lofty tanneries character-
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istic of Metz. — The Church of 8t. Eucharius (Pl. D, 4), with a plain
interior, near the Deutsche Thor (1448; restored in 1892), dates from
the 12th century.

To the N. of the town is the Chambiére Cemetery (adjoining PL. D, 2),
with a lofty Memorial to the French soldiers who died at Metz in 1870.

Metz is the junction of the Saarbriicken Railway with the lines to
Pagny and Nancy (p. 179), to Diedenhofen (p. 190) and Luzembourg
(p. 189), and to Amanweiler and Verdun. [To Amanweiler, 91/ M.,
in 3/4-1 hr., passing Moulins (electric tramway, see p. 175), situated
at the entrance of the valley of Monvaux, which the train ascends,
and Chdtel-8t-Germain; the station of Amanweiler (restaurant) is
11/, M. from St. Privat.]

The Battle Fields of 16th and 18th August, 1870, lie to the W. of
Metz, on the road to Verdun. A visit to them occupies a whole day,
even by carriage (see p. 175). It is advisable to send on the carriage in
advance and to join it at Novéant (p. 179) by an early train, and to return
by a late train from Amanweiler (see above). From Novéant we proceed
to (212 M.) Gorze; Vionville 3%/s M.; Rezonville 2 M.; Gravelotte 2 M.; to
8t. Hubert and back (on foot) 3 M.; from Gravelotte to Veraédville 3 M.;
BSte. Marie-aux-Chénes 8 M.; 8t. Privat 2 M.; Amanweiler 11/ M. Cyclists
may adopt the following route: from Metz to Longeville, 8 M. ; Les Moulins,
11/s M.; Maison Neuve, 1 M.; Chatel St. Germain and Amanweiler, 6 M.;
St. Privat, 11/4 M. ; then by the Roncourt road to the (}/z M.) Saxon Monument
and past the Monument of the 1st Guards Regiment to Ste. Marie-auz-Chénes
(1 M.); Vernéville, 81/2 M. ; Gravelotte, 3 M. Then to Rezonville (2!/z M.), Vion-
vitle (2'/2 M.), and Aars-la-Tour (3 M.), and back to Gravelotte; visit the
ravine of 8t. Hubert (1!/4 M.) and return vid (51/2 M.) Les Moulins to Metz,
41/ M. — Information on all points connected with the battles is given
by the keepers of the monuments and burial-grounds. — A commemorative
ceremony is held yearly on Aug. 15th in the ravine at Gravelotte, and the
graves are decked with flowers.

Those who desire to visit the Battle Field of the 78tk August only should
proceed by railway to Ars (p. 179); walk thence to (1!/z hr.) Gravelotte ;
visit the ravine of St. Hubert (4 hr. there and back); go on to (1 hr.) Verné-

. ville and vid Habonville and 8t. 4il to (1Y/4 hr.) Ste. Marie-aux-Chénes, follow the
route of the advancing guards to (%4 hr.) St. Privat and thence to (Y2 br.)
Amanweiler (00 min. direct from Vernéville), whence the return to Metz is
made by railway.

Gravelotte (Cheval d Or, Post, both very fair), formed the centre cf the
right wing of the German position, consisting of the 7th and 8th Prussian
Corps (commanded by Zastrow and Geeben under Steinmetz), which towards
evening were supported by the 2nd Corps (under Fransecky). At the E.
end of the village is a large soldiers’ cemetery, to which most of the graves
scattered over the plain have been removed.

The road descends into the wooded ravine of Graveloite, through
which the 8th Prussian corps had to defile. Numerous regimental mon-
uments bear witness to the terrible losses of the attacking party. The inn
of 8t. Hubert was captured by the Germans in the course of the afternoon.
The height of Point du Jour, now crowned by a fort and inaccessible, was
the chief ‘point d’appui’ of the left wing of the French army (composed
of the 2nd Corps under Frossard and the 8rd Corps under Lebceuf), the
lines of which extended to Rozerieulles. The French mainlained their
position until nightfall, but retreated on the morning of the 19th.

In the middle of the village, the road divides, both branches leading
to Verdun. On that to the right (N.) lies the farm of Mogador, near which
is a rock with an {nscription, marking the spot whence Emp. William
witnessed the battle; it affords a good survey of the farms of Posnt-du-Jour,
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Moscou, Leipsig, Montigny-la-Grange, etc., on the opposite heights, then
occupied by the French. Malmaison, the next farm on this road, was oc-
cupied by the 9th Prussian Corps d'Armée (under Manstein), the lines of
which extended along the road diverging to the right as far as (11/; M.)

Vernéville. To the W. of the village (reached by the road diverging to
the left) is a handsome Monument to some of the fallen Germans. We
now cross the field to the right and reach the road to Amanweiler. The
villages of Habonwille and S¢. Ail, from which the right wing of the guards
i\mder Prince Augustus of Wurtemberg)and behind it the reserve of the
Oth Corps (under Voigts-Rhets) advanced, are on French territory; Ste.
Marie-auz-Chénes, 3/, M. farther on, the centre of the left wing of the
guards, now belongs to thnmy. Here there is a French monument.
Farther N. are Montoi Mo and Mal t, where the left wing
of the German line of battle was terminated by the Saxon corps (under
the Crown Prince of 8axony). The right wing of the French opposite
(consisting of the 4th Corps under Ladmirault, and the 6th Corps under
Canrobert) was posted by the villages of Roscourt and St-Privat-la-Montagne
(new inn), on the road, opposite Ste. Marie, both of which were taken in
the evening by an attack of the guards and the Saxons, whereupon the
right French wing retreated towards Mets in great confusion. Several
Monumenis have been erected to the Germans on the road from Ste. Marie
to 8t. Privat. — The eight German Corps d’Armée e gged in this battle
numbered about 230,000 men, o ed to whom were 180,000 French. The
Germans lost 899 officers and 19,260 men; the French 609 officers and
11,705 men.

The Battle Field of the 76tk August adjoins that above described, and may
be conveniently visited by taking the train to Novéamt (p. 179) and the
hotel-omnibus or motor-omnibus thence to (21/z M.) Gorze (Lion d’Or, very
fair; open carr. to visit the battlefield 4-5 #). Walkers proceed from Gorze
vii Flavigny to (13 hr.) Vionville and thence to (3/s hr.) Resonville and
back to (11/g br.) Gorze. — Mars-la-Tour is best visited from Pagny (p. 179).

The object of the German attack was to prevent the French retreating
towards the W. — The position of the French was principally supported on
the left by the village of Rexzonville, situated on the left (S.) branch of the
road from Gravelotte, and 11/; M. duhnt from it; King William spent the
night of 18-19th Ang in the last house to the W. (tablet). (A little to the S.
of the nllage, at the end of the ravine ascending from Goue, mentioned
above, is a t to the der of the T2nd ent, who fell
at this spot; good view hence.) About 2 M. farther on lies Vion: , which
was occupied soon after the beginning of the battle by deuchmenu of |
the 3rd Corps d’Armée (Brandenburgers). Farther advance was, however,
impossible in the face of the great numerical superiority of l‘le French
troops. To prevent the progress of the French, a deapente auuk was
made on their artillery and mfantry by the G
who, however, had e ly to retire bef the overwhelmmg masses
of the French cavalry. A mon' ment to the N. of Rezonville marks the
scene of this gallant episode. After 5 .m. repeated attacks were made
from the S. by the 8th Army Corp. the Hesse-Darmstadt Division, but
the withering fire on both mdea prevented any definite result. In the
meantime a not less bloody act of the terrible drama was ta.kmi place to
the W. of Vionville, near Tronville and Mars-1la-Tour, where the OthAmy
Corps, with part of the 9th, managed to hold the numerically superior
enemy. About 6.45 p.m. took place the finest cavalry engagement in the
whole war, when six regiments of French horse were routed by 21 squad-
rons of Prussian cavalry (Rheinbaben Division) Numerous monuments
dot the battlefield, many of them on the French side of the frontier. Beyond
Mars-1a-Tour, near the rail. station, is the chief French monument. by
Bogino. — The battle of 16th Aug. was one of the bloodiest fought during
the whole war. In the course of the day no fewer than 138,000 French
troops and 476 guns were engaged at intervals. while the German forces
amounted to 67.000 men with 222 guns. The French loss was estimated
at 879 officers and 16,128 men, and the German loss at.7i1)officers and
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15,079 rank and file. The advantage lay, on the whole, with the Germans,
who prevented their opponents from re-opening the road to Verdun.

0 the E. of Metz lie the BATTLE FIELDS of 714¢th Aug. and of 31st Aug.
and st Sept., 1870. We take the diligence (thrice daily) to (in 11/4 br.)
Noisseville and walk via Servigny and Colombdey to (4-D hrs.) Peltre, where we
reach the railway. — The former battle began between three and four
o’clock in the afternoon, and ended at Y p.m. by the French being driven
back under the guns of Metz. The Germans have named it the battle of
Colombey- Nouilly, as the ground between these villages was the principal
object of attack (see Map). The result of the battle was to cause a fatal
de a% in the intended march of the French to Verdun.

he battle of 31st Aug. and 1st Sept. was fought on the occasion
of the first and most determined attempt of Marshal Bazaine to break
through the German army which had surrounded Metz since 19th August.
The chief object of dispute was the small village of Noisseville (see above),
5 M. from Metz, on the road to Saarlouis. The 4th and 6th Corps and
the guards of the French took the place about 6 p.m., soon after the
beginning of the battle; they lost it about 9 p.m. and re-captured it at
10 g) m. On the following day the Germans took the village three times
and lost it as often, but at length about noon they succeeded in gaining
final possession of it. The principal German monuments rise to the S.
of the village, and there are several others near Servigny to the N. of it,

, and near Colombey to the 8. The German loss amounted to 128 officers
and 2850 men, and the French loss to 141 officers and 2664 men.

To the N. of Metz, not far from the road to Diedenhofen, lies Woippy,
where Bazaine’s last sortie, on Tth Oct., terminated in the retreat of the
French after a battle of nine hours® duration. — At the chiteau of Fres-
cati (now a barrack, see below), 28/4 M. to the 8. of Metz, on 2Tth Oct.,
was signed the capitulation of Metz, whereby the fortress with 3 marshals,
50 generals, 6000 other officers, 178,000 men (including 20,000 sick and
wounded), b3 eagles, 66 mitrailleuses, 541 field-pieces, and 800 fortress-guns,
together with a vast quantity of other munitions of war, was surrendered
to the Germans.

Frou ME1z To PAGNY, 12t/3 M., railway in 1/o-1 hr. (fares
1 4 70,1 .4 20, 80pf.). — The line ascends the picturesque and
well-peopled valley of the Moselle, which flows between hills of mod-
erate height. Soon after leaving Metz, at the point where the line
to Diedenhofen branches off to the right, we pass on the left Fort
8t. Privat, now Prins August von Wiirttemberg, and then the chiteau
of Frescati (see above), embosomed in trees. A little farther on, the
train crosses the river and reaches (5 M.) Ars-sur-Moselle, with
several manufactories of sparkling wine. On the hill is the Kron-
prins Fort. In the Moselle valley, between Ars and Jouy-aux-Arches
(Hotel de ’Aqueduc Romain, at the N. end of the village) on the
right bank, about 6 M. from Metz, are situated extensive remains of
a Roman Aqueduct erected by Drusus, which was once about 60 ft.
in height and 3/; M. in length, and conducted water from the hills
on the left bank to Metz. At Ars there are seven, and at Jouy
eleven arches still standing. On the hill of St. Blaise (1195 ft.) above
Jouy is the Graf Haeseler Fort. — 7M. Ancy, on the Moselle. — From
(8t/2 M.) Novéant an omnibus plies thrice daily (onece on Sun.) to
Gorze (p. 178). — 121/3 M. Pagny is the French frontier-station.
Thence to Nancy and Paris, see Baedeker's Northern France.

From Metz to Tréves and Luzembourg, see pp. 190-188;

12+
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24. From Saarbriicken to Tréves, and thence to
Luxembourg and Metz.

Comp. Map, p. 172. -
RAILWAY to Tréves (65 M.) in 2-21/2 hrs. (fares 7.4 20, 5.4 40, 3 .4 60 pf.);
from Tréves to Luzembourg (82 M.) in 11/,-2 hrs. (fares 4 4 80, 3 .4, 1 .,j
90 pf.); from Tréves to Metz vid Diedenhofen (66 M.) in 2!/4-3 hrs. (fares
8 430, 5.4 90, 3.4 90 pf.; express 9 4 50, 6 4 90, 4 4 90 pf.; return-
tickets avajlable vid Luxembourg are issued). — On the journey from
Luxembourg to Tréves a brief halt is made for a custom-house examina-
tion at Karthaus (p. 189).

Saarbriicken, see p. 173. The line follows the course of the Saar.
Numerous coal-mines and manufactories are passed. 2 M. Burbach,
with a large foundry. 4 M. Louisenthal, also connected with Saar-
brilcken by tramway. From (6 M.) Vilklingen (Kaiserhof; Miiller-
Etscheid), with a large foundry, a branch-line runs to Wadgassen,
joining the line from Bous to Teterchen (p. 174). — 10 M. Bous,
the junction of the line to Teterchen and Courcelles (p. 174);
121/g M. Ensdorf, connected with Wallerfangen and Saarlouis by
tramway.

141/, M. Saarlouis (Rheinischer Hof ; Zwei Hasen), 1 M. from
the rail. station, with 7900 inhab., formerly a fortress, constructed
in 1680-85 by Vauban for Louis XIV., is now used as a military
depdt only. The town lies on the left bank of the Saar. About 2 M.
to the N. (tramway, see above) is Wallerfangen (Vaudrefange),
once a fortified place, with the fayence manufactory of Messrs. Vil-
leroy & Boch (see below) and a park.

17M. Dillingen, the junction for the Niedthal line to Busendorf
on the Diedenhofen (Thionville) and Teterchen railway (121/; M.;
see p. 190). — 20 M. Beckingen ; 221/o M. Fremmersdorf. — 241/o M.
Merzig (Hotel Hoffmann, Trierscher Hof, both very fair; Bellevue;
Post), an industrial town with 6500 inhab., on the wooded right bank
of the Saar, is of ancient origin (Marciacum). The Roman Catholic
Church, a late-Romanesque (transitional) basilica of the end of the
12th cent., with a lofty dome over the crossing, round-arched windows,
and pointed arcades, was restored in 1887-88 and provided with a
mosaic flooring. The Gothic Protestant Church was built in 1865.
The Rathhaus dates from 1625. About 1 M. lower is a large Lunatic
Asylum, behind which rises the Galgenberg (view).

® A light railway is-now being built to Baschfeld (on the Wemmets-
weiler and Nonnweiler railway, p. 178).

The train now tunnels through the heights of Montclair, round
which the Saar makes a considerable circuit.

29M. Mettlach (560 ft.; Zur Saar, very fair), with 1600 inhab. and
the imposing buildings of a suppressed Benedictine abbey (1737-71),
originally founded in the 8th cent. by St. Ludvinus, and now oc-
cupied by the extensive earthenware-factory of Villeroy § Boch
(2000 workmen). The modern parish-church contains a reliquary of
the 12th cent. and other valuable objects from the old treasury of
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the abbey. The ‘Museum’ at the factory (application for adm. at
the hotel) contains specimens of the very tasteful productions of
the works since their establishment in 1810, and also numerous
pieces of ancient and modern pottery of all kinds. The pretty park,
with the ruined choir of the Romanesque Chapel of St. Ludvinus
(restored), is generally accessible to the public. Fine view from
the Pavilion (1/g M.; restaurant). — On the left bank of the Saar
lies Keuchingen, an artizan colony, connected with Mettlach by an
iron bridge.

From the Pavilion (see above) la&leasmt forest-path ascends to %40111-.)
the ruined castle of Montclair (1060 ft.; *View), destroyed in 1 by
Elector Baldwin of Tréves (key kept by the park-keeper at Mettlach). —
On the left bank of the 8aar, opposite the N. point of the Montclair hills,
rises the Clef (1475 ft.; rfmts. on Sun.), reached from Keuchingen in
112 br. by a white-marked path ascending to the left from the highroad.
The hill, which was once fortified as the key to this district, affords a
fine survey of the two arms of the valley of the Saar, separated by a
narrow strip of land.

The line follows the right bank of the Saar; picturesque scenery,
particularly near (34 M.) Taben, high above which to the left is the
Taben Chapel, commanding a fine view. — 38 M. Serrig is the
best starting-point for a visit to the Klaus or chapel of Castel, rising
on a precipitous rock on the right bank.

From the station we descend in 5 min. to the 8aar, cross it by boat,
and descend the left bank for about 100 paces until a narrow side-valley
opens on the left. We ascend this to (20 min.) the entrance of the park
surrounding the chapel (if the gate is closed, the key must be called for
at the village of Castel, /s M. distant). The ‘Klaus’, on a bold rock over-
hanging the Saar, is a chapel restored in 1838 by Frederick William IV.,
in which he deposited the bones of his ancestor, the blind king John of
Bohemia, who fell at Crécy in 1346; the modern sarcophagus is of black
marble. Fine views of the valley of the Saar and of 8aarburg, which may
be reached from Serrig by a pleasant walk along the river in 1 hr.

401/, M. Beurig is the station for —

Saarburg (*Post; Restaurant Thinnes, both withgardens), pictur-
esquely situated in a basin, and commanded by the considerable ruins
of a castle of the Electors of Tréves; a tunnel leads under the castle -
to the town, Pop. 2100. The Gothic Church of St. Lawrence was .
erected in 1856. The Leuk, which here unites with the Saar, forms -
a waterfall, 60 ft. high, near the ‘Post’. The Pavilion, on the height ‘
to the S., opposite the castle, commands a fine view. — 43 M. %
Schoden. .

The line descends the valley of the Saar, passing (456 M.) Wil- :
tingen, where remains of Roman buildings were recently dis- -
covered, (r.) Scharshof, and Ober-Emmel, celebrated for their wines,
to (491/; M.) Conz (265 ft.; Post), below which it enters the valley
of the Moselle. Conz (2000 inhab.) is the Roman Contionacum, °
whence several imperial edicts were dated. A few remains of the
imperial villa mentioned by Ausonius (p. 190) are still recognisable
near the church. Conz is also united with Trdves by a special
branch-line (5 M.) passing the stations of Zewen and Euren.
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501/ M. Karthaus (Railway Hotel), the junction of the Metz
and Luxembourg lines (p. 188). — 531/; M. Lowenbricken.

55 M. Tréves. — The RarLwar Srariox (PL D, 3) tor all passenger
trains is on the right bank of the Moselle, on the E. side of the town. —
The station on the left bank of the Moselle serves merely for the local
traffic to Cons and Ebrang. .

Hotels. *PoxTa l\mn (Pl n.c 3).manopen situation opposite the

Porta Nigre, with ILS‘[:-IO.B 1, D.3 ﬂotu.
pE Treves (Pl. a; C. 4); mee (Pl d; B, ), Briicken-Str.,
R.28,B. 1, D. 2/, .&; (PL C,l).inthclorlmnkt,&l‘[g 2‘:,

B.1.4.D. §.4m f., pens. t'h-&.l Horxe px Lrxxusotze (Pl. ¢; C, 4),
R. 225, B. 1, D. 2\, pens. 6-9 .4 ; Asxxz, cor. of Metsel-Str. and Johannes.
Str., R.11%4. D. 1-1}, } — Near the rail. station: Rricusaor, B 24.D.2.4;
Bamrxaors-HorsL, R. 13/¢-21/s, D. 11/,-2 4 ; BoTiL DT Rarx, R.i'[z-&. D. ﬂlx.l

very lur
B *Demschenke, Sim Str., mear the Porta Nigra, with
shady garden, D. (l{pl)?.l- *Zum Stern (Fischer), in the market; Schmits,
Fleisch-Str.; Kuwfs, Neu-Str. 2; Bawr and Keiserbef (rooms to let), both
in the Fleiach—&r, good, with gardens; Zum Rawmer (rooms), Brod-Str. 2,
D. 1Y 4. — Beer. *Perta Nigra (see above): b-mhna- Puhr-su..wﬂh
garden; Minchener Kindl, Simeons-Strasse. — Bad--h on the
hmght.sonthelehbankoftheludle.mpm Casine. in the Korn-
markt; Katholischer Birgerverein, Viehmarkt, these two clubs to which
stranger: may be introduced by memberz (good wine). Tirewiris (Rom. Cath.
house of all), Jacobs-Str. 9.
Baths. Warm Baths, Brod-Str., and St. Martinsbad , Zurlawben (Pl.
B, 2). River Baths at the latter (in summer) and oa the left bank of the
Ko P e tain e o, inciing et s
ive wi e town, i F
for 1 pers. 5, 2 pers. 60 pf.; each additiomal pers. 25 pf. more. —
To the entrance of Belicowe, X. Matthias, Pallien, 1 pers. 75 pf., each addit.

person ,wMaHdndtbe'M(p.lﬂ'I),lm 1 &,
each uldil. 0 pf. Lon drives accordimg to To I
(p- 188) two-horse carr. about 6 4. — By time. fntueh‘l.hr., 1-2 pers. 50,

34 pere. 75 pf.

Tramway from the Railway Statioa (Pl. D, 3) vid the Nord-Allée and
Simeons-8tr to the Market (P1. C, 3), and thence by the Fleisch-8tr. to the
Moselle Bridge (Pl. A, i), and bv the Brod-Str. ¢ the Neathor (P1. B, 5),
Loweabriicken (see above), and St Matthias (p. 1SS)

Pest and oﬂ.(PLB,C.l\.l-‘lemhs&"&

Steambeat to Ceblenz, sce B. 25; 1o Bermcastel, see p. 1.

Treves 1435 ft), Ger. Tvier, on the right Innkottlelosene,
n&&LOOOmhb.(bMPmmh) said to be the oldest town in
Germany, belonged to the Civitas Treverorwm, or territory of the
Treveri. a tribe of Belgic Gauls conquered B.C. 56 by Cesar. It is

® uncertain whether there was a settiement here in pre-Roman times.
The Roman town, Cslomia Augusta Treverorwm, was probably
founded by Augustus, and invested with the rank of a coleny by
Claudius. In the reign of Diocletian Trdves became the capital of
Belgica Prima, and during the dth century it was frequently the
residence of the Roman Emperors. The numerous relics of that age
in the vicinity are among the finest om this side of the Alps. Om the
introduction of Christianity by Comstantine, Agricius of Amtioch
was (328) elected first Bishop of Trives, and for mearly 15 ceaturies
the town continued to be the resideace of the bishops. archbishops,
and el s, till C1 Wenceslans of Saxony, the last elector




Digitized by GOOS[Q



Digitized by GOOS [G




Porta Nigra. TREVES. 24. Route. 183

(1768-1802; d.181%), transferred his residence to Coblenz in 1786.
On 10th Aug., 1794, the French captured the town, and in 1815
it was ceded to Prussia. The bishopric was re-established in 1802.

The surrounding vine -clad hills and wooded heights, and the
rich plain in which the town with its red sandstone walls and
numerous towers is situated, are strikingly picturesque.

‘Trevir metropolis, urbs amenissima,
Quee Bacchum recolis, Baccho gratissima,
Da tuis incolis vina fortissima

Per dulcor!”

The MarkeT (PL. G, 3) lies nearly in the centre of the town. The
‘ Rothes Haus' (Pl. b), situated here, a late-Gothic building of the
15th cent., was formerly the Rathhaus and had an open arcade on the
groundfloor. It bears the inscription: ‘Ante Romam Treviris stetit
annis MCCC’, referring’ to a medimval tradition that Trdves was
founded by Trebeta, son of the Assyrian king Ninus. The building
was taken over by the town in 1900 and is in process of restoration.
An ancient Column in the Platz, supposed to date from 958, was
renewed in 1723, and is surmounted with a cross with the Lamb of
God. The Petersbrunnen, a beautiful Renaissance fountain, was
erected by Elector Johrr of Schonberg in 1595. Behind it rises the
spire of the St. Gangolphs- Kirche. — In the Dietrich- Str. is the so-
called Propugnaculum, dating from the early Romanesque period
and said to be the oldest domestic building in Germany.

The Simeons-Strasse, leading out of the market-place towards
the N., terminates in the *Porta Nigra (Pl. C, 3), a well-preserved
town-gate with towers of defence, and the flnest of the Roman
structures at Trdves. This magnificent relic, dating from the 3rd
or 4th cent. of our era, is 115 ft. long, 75-93 ft. high, and 29 ft. in
depth. It consists of three stories, with two gateways, 23 ft. in
height, and is constructed of huge blocks of lias sandstone, blackened
with age and fastened with iron braces instead of mortar.

The Porta Nigra was a fortified city-gate, the exterior of which could
be closed by a portcullis and defended by the two towers. If the enemy
succeeded in storming the gate he found himself in the ‘propugnaculum’,
a small enclosed court, secured on the side next the town by a barricade
and exposed to a raking fire from all parts of the gate-house. At both
ends there are still traces of the junction of the gate with the walls, and
at the W. end is a doorway, which opened on the ramparts. A portion
of the old Roman wall has been uncovered on the N.E. side of the gate,
underneath the medieeval wall. In 1028-35 the E. tower was occupied by
a Greek hermit named Simeon, and on his death the structure was con-
verted into two churches, one above the other. In 1817 all the later ad-
ditions were removed except the apse at the E. end, and in 1876 the
original Roman structure was thoroughly disclosed.

In the interior are a number of Roman antiquities, architectural frag-
ments, stone coffins (one containing a tall skelcton), and broken sculptures.
Admission daily, 9-11; at other times on application to the custodian of the
Roman Palace (p. 18‘?). Entrance on the W. side.

To the E. of the Market Place lies the DoMrrEIHOF, a small
square with a Statve of Emperor William I., in bronze, by F. von
Miller, erected in 1893.
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The Cathedral (Pl. , 4), the nucleus of which was probably a
quadrangular basilica erected by the Emp. Valentinian 1. (364-75),
either for a court of law or as a baptistery, is one of the oldest
churches in Germany. This basilica, which was of the same breadth
as the present edifice, and extended from the second pillar from the
‘W. entrance to the E. apse, seems to have been converted into a
Christian church during the Roman period. In the centre stood
four huge granite columns, connected by arches, some remains of
which lie in the cloister-garden (see below). The church was partly
destroyed by the Franks, but was restored in the original style by
Bishop Nicetius (528-66), who held the see from 532 to 561. It
was afterwards again devastated by the Normans, and restored by
Archbishop Poppo (1016-47) and his successors, who increased its
size by an addition of one-third at the W. .end, in the style of the
original Roman edifice, and also built an apse. The E. apse was
added by Bishop Hillin 31152-69). The vaulting of the nave and
aisles dates from the 13th cent.; the circular, dome-roofed treas-
ury was not built till the 17th. — The various periods at which the
structure has been built are all clearly visible on the N. exterior;
the Roman work consists of red sandstone and bricks, that of Arch-
bishop Poppo is partly of brick and partly of limestone. Several
Roman arches and Frankish capitals have also been exposed to
view in the interior by the removal of the stucco.

The INTERIOR is Oopen the whole day except from 12 to 2 (verger's house
behind the cathedral, No. §). The organ and organ-case date from 1832.
Beneath the organ, in the W, apse, is the t of an hbishop of
the 14th cent. (perhaps Baldwin, brother of Henry VIL), in front of which
is a white marble font. The Pulpit, adorned with reliefs of the Beatitudes,
the Last Judgment, etc., dates from 1572. In the vaults repose 26 arch-
bishops and electors. The finest monuments are those of Johann III1. (von
Metzenhausen, d. 1640; restored in 1898), on the wall of the N. aisle, and
Elector Richard III. (von Greiffenklau, 4. 1531), the successful opponent of
Protestantism. On the latter are medallions with portraits of the elector on
the left, and his most violent antagonist, Frans von Sickingen (p.169), on the
right. The two monuments are excellent speci: of the G Renais-
sance at its zenith, both in their general plan and in the conception and
execution of the decoration and figures. — The choir-screens, the steps
with statues of Constantine and St. Helena, and the im?oaing high-altar
date from 1652-1700. To the left of the last is the bishop's throne. — The
Treasury (adm. on week-days at 11.30, by tickets procured from the verger,
1 M; at other times 3 4 for 1-3 pers.) contains the Shrine of St. Egbert, a
small enamelled altar of the 10th cent., and several Romanesque re-
liquaries with the heads of Matthew the Apostle and the Empress Helena,
a nail from the Cross, relics of the 11th and 12th cent., a late-Romanesque
censer, and some richly-bound Gospels of the 9th-13th centuries. — In a room
above the cloisters is preserved the ‘Holy Coat’ without seam, exhibited
at rare intervals, and attracting vast crowds of pilgrims.

On the 8. side of the cathedral are the beautiful Cloisters of the
13th cent. (shown by the verger). They are adjoined by the sacristy,
built in 1900, and an early-Gothic double-chapel. — To the 8. of
the cloisters is the —

*Liebfrauen-Kirche (Pl. C, 4), one of the most interesting early-
Gothic churches in Germany, buiit after 1240, probably in imitation
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of the abbey-church of Braisne near Soissons, and lately restored. It
is in the form (approximately) of a circle (60 yds. long, 49 yds. broad,
124 ft. high), intersected by a vaulted cross-structure, and supported
by 12 slender pillars. The principal Portal is richly decorated with
soulptures, symbolical figures of the Old and New Testament, etc.

The INTERIOR is remarkable for its harmonious proportions. The figures
of the Apostles painted on the pillars in the 15th cent. are visible all at
once from a slab of slate in the pavement, about 8 paces from the entrance.
The modern stained-glass windows, made at Brussels after Steinle’s designs,
depict the fifteen mysteries of the rosary. The church contains numerous
monuments of ecclesiastical dignitaries, and the y of Bishop Theodulf,
who died in the 6th century. The choir is frescoed with scenes from the
life of the Virgin by Ehrich and Doringer (1835-97). The altar-piece to the
right of the choir (St. Sebastian; closed) is wrongly ascribed to Guido Reni.
Farther on is a sculptured group of the Holy Women at the Sepulchre in
the late-Gothic style. The sacristy has an interesting old side-door with
exquisite ornaments and contains the t of Joh 8 i
(d. 1664), with his portrait. — This church also is closed from 12 to 2; the
sexton lives opposite the chief portal.

The Town Library, at the Gymnasium (Pl. C, 4; open on week-
days 9.30-12; adm. 75 pf.), contains numerous rare printed works
and several valuable manuseripts. .

Among the printed books are several ‘incunabula’ or works of the
15th cent. (when the art of printing still lay in its cradle, ‘in cunabulis’),
including the Bible of Fust and Gutenberg of 1450, and the Catholicon of
1460. — One of the most interesting MSS. is the Codezx Aureus, containing
the four Gospels, presented by Ada (d. 809), a reputed sister of Charle-
magne, to the Ai)bey of 8t. Maximin. It is illuminated with allegorical
paintings, and the binding is superbly adorned with jewels and a cameo of
uncommon size, probably representing the family of Constantine. The *Co-
dex Egberti, dating from about 970, is perhaps the finest extant specimen of
the art of illumination at that period. The Liber Aureus contains docu-
ments of the convent of Priim, ranging from the 9th to the 11th century.
and admirably illustrating the advance of the illaminator's art. — Sever:
letters of Luther, one from Bliicher on the death of Queen Louisa, etc.
are also interesting. The Ante-Chamber contains portraits of Electors ol‘
Tréves, the Duke of Alba, Huss, S8ickingen, and others.

The Trinity, or Jesuits’, Church (Pl C, 4), is decorated with
stained glass from Munich and wall-paintings by Steffgen.

In the S.E. QuarTER there are several interesting relics of the
Roman period and the Museum.

Bounding the Constantins-Platz on the E. are the Palace Bar-
racks (Pl. G, D, 4), formerly the palace of the Electors, with late-
Renaissance portals in the court, sculptures on the fagade, and a
baroque staircase dating from 1701. The building includes the old
Roman Basilica (see below).

The Basilica (P1. C, 4), built entirely of brick, probably in the
reign of the Emp. Constantine (306-337), served originally for the
administration of justice and for commercial purposes, like the
similar ancient Roman stractures at Rome itself and elsewhere.
Early in the middle ages it was the seat of the governors appointed
by the Frankish sovereigns, and in 1197 it was made overto the
archbishops. In 1846-56 it was restored and consecrated as a Pro-
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testant church. The imposing interior, terminating in an apse at the
N. end, is lighted by a double row of windows. The verger is sum-
moned by ringing the bell beside the guard-house in the Constantins-
Platz (fee). The basilica is 225 ft. long, 100 ft. wide, and 98 ft. high.

The N.W. side up to the lower row of windows, the apse, ard the
lofty arch between the nave and the apse are all antique. The S.
fagade and the E. side, on the other hand, are almost entirely modern.
The entrance for the public was at the 8. end; the two smaller entrances
near the apse were probably for the use of the judges. The interior was
richly decorated with painting, some relics of which may be inspected
in the museum. Below the floor was a hypocaust, or he ting-apparatus. —
Over the altar is a tabernacle with four columns of yellow African marble,
presented to Frederick William IV. by the Khedive of Egypt.

From the Constantins-Platz we reach the Ost-Allde, in which
the Museum lies, by passing the Palace Barracks and out through
the Mus-Thor.

The *Provincial Museum (Pl. C, 5), a handsome Renaissznce
building in red sandstone, erected in 1885-89, contains an exten-
sive and highly interesting collection of Roman and other an-
tiquities, a number of pictures, and a collection of art-industrial
objects, Open free in summer on Sun. & Wed., 11-1, and on other
days, at the same hours, for a fee of 50 pf.; from 9 to 11 and 2 to 6
(except Mon.) and in winter adm. is obtained by a fee of 75 pf. to
the custodian, who lives in the S. wing. Shortguide 60 pf.; illustrated

catalogue by Dr. Hettner, 1 .4 60 pf.

Ground Floor. — To the left, Roous I-IV: *Roman Tombs from Neu-
magen, dating from about 100-260 A. D. and depicting the ancient dwellers
on the Moselle in their costumes and their daily life. Many of the sculp-
tures illustrate the culture of the vine on the Mosclle.

Roous Vand VI: Stone Monuments from the City of Tréves. In Roox V:
Inscription from a monument dedicated to L. Caesar, the adopted son of
Augustus, the oldest inscription found in the Rhine districts. — Roox VI:
Heathen coffin with skeleton and sepulchral objects of the 8rd cent. A. D.3
Christian Inscriptions, from the cemeteries of 8t. Paulin, 8t. Maximin,
and St, Matthias, bearing testimony to the spread of Christianity at Tréves
in the dth and 5th ceunt. ; reproduction of a wooden coffin with Christian
emblems, found in 1833 in the church of St. Paulinus in the stone sarco-
phagus, which according to tradition contained the remains of St. Pauli-
nus (d. about 850). — Room VII: Technical objects of Roman origin. —
Roox VIII: Most recent discoveries.

Sunk Floor. Room XI: Milestones of A. D. 121 and 139 from the Roman
road from Tréves to Cologne; Votive Monuments from the emvirons of
Tréves. Mercury with Bacchus as a child. — Roox XII: Roman Tomd Mon-
uments from the environs of Tréves. — Roox XIII: Romanesque, Gothie,
and later sculptures.

First Floor. Roou XIV: *Roman Mosaic, probably from about A. D. 300,
found during the erection of the Museum (upwards of one-third is lost),
representing Muses teaching wise men, the Months with their gods, the
Signs of the Zodiac, and the Four Seasons. — Roou XV : Roman Antiquities
Jound at Tréves. Antique marble columns; *Torso of Cupid; *Torso of
Amazon, based on the same original as the Mattei Amazon in the Vatican;
torso of an athlete; smaller objects from the Roman Baths, particularly
combs and hair-pins; mural paintings; mosaics; statue of Jupiter. —
Roox XVI: Antiquities found in the Environs of Trives. Mosaics from
Roman villas; sixty *Hermae, with Roman and Greek portraits, popular
types, and heads of divinities; Coins and Bromeses; plans of Roman buildings.

— Roou XVII: Bronzes. — Roox XVIII: Earthenwarz versels and lamps. —
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* Roox XIX: Roman Tombs, found mostly beside the Porta Nigra and in the
¢Neue Weg', and re-erected as they were found. — Roox XX : Roman Drinking
Cups; terracottas; glass, rings, and cut stones. — Room XXI: Pre-Roman
Antégquities. — Roox X : Frankish Antiquities and a small Greek and
Egyptian collection. — Room XXIII. Collection of Coins: Roman coins minted
at Tréves, in chronological order; coins of the Electors of Tréves.

Roox XXIV. In the cabinets in the centre of the room: ivory carvings;
Limoges enamels ; bronze dish of the 12th cent. with representation of
the Good Samaritan. On the walls a number of pictures, mostly of the
Rhenish and Netherlandish schools (largely copies). — Roou XXV: Collee-
tion of Rhenish stoneware; majolica and porcelain; collection of glass
(16-18th cent.).

The *Roman Palace (Pl. C, 5), entered from the Promenade
and also from the Palast-Platz, lies at the S.E. corner of the town,
and forms a picturesque group of ruins, part of which is 65 ft. high.
In the middle ages the building was used alternately as a church and
as a fortress. The rubbish in the interior accumulated to such an
extent, that one of the windows was once used as an entrance to the
town. — Visitors ring at the entrance.

The best-preserved part of the edifice is a Rectangular Room, with
three apses, at the 8.E. end, formerly lighted by two rows of arched
windows, and heated by channels for hot air, many of which are still
visible. To the right and left of this chamber stood two Towers, one
of which is still extant and commands a fine view of the ruins and of
the town (ascent by a steep spiral staircase). — At the N.W. end, where
the excavations are still in progress, various circular and square rooms
and subterranean passages have been brought to light. — The keeper
(50 pf.) has also the key of the Porta Nigra (p. 183). -

On a rising ground about i/, M. to the E. of the Palace
is the *Amphitheatre (Pl. D, 5), locally known as the Kdskeller,
situated among vineyards. This arena, still in excellent preserv-
ation, with a diameter from N. to S. of 76 yds., and from E. to
W. of 53 yds., was capable of accommodating 7-8000 spectators.

That at Verona held 20,000 spectators, the Colosseum at Rome

0-50,000.) The E. half is built into the rocky side of the hill, while
the W. is raised to the same level by artificial means. At the N.
and S. ends are gateways, each with three openings, that in the
centre leading to the arena, and those at the sides to the seats for
spectators. There are also two entrances for the public on the W.
side. The dens for the wild beasts and the chambers for the gladi-
ators are still traceable adjacent to the arena. The amphitheatre
was probably built in the reign of Trajan or Hadrian. In 306 Con-
stantine here sullied his fame by causing several thousand Franks,
with their leaders Ascarich and Ragais, to be torn to pieces by
wild beasts; and in 313, a number of captive Bructeri were bar-
barously sacrificed for the amusement of the people. — The Amphi-
theatre affords an excellent view of Trdves by morning-light.

Adjoining the Kaiser-Strasse are the Roman Baths (Pl. A, 5),
an imposing structure of the 4th cent. A, D., 660ft. in length, ex-
cavated in 1877-85 (adm. 25 pf. ; plan 10 pf.). The principal fagade
was turned towards the N. The masonry above' the level’ of the
ground has almost entirely disappeared, though at the beginning of
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the 17th cent. it was preserved up to the second story. The position
of the cold baths (frigidarium), the tepidarium, and the caldarium,
the large basin of warm water, the heating.apparatus, and other
parts of the building can still be traced.

Adjacent is the Moselle Bridge (Pl. A, 4; tramway, see p. 182),
with eight arches, some of the buttresses of which are of Roman
origin. The second and seventh buttresses from the town-side were
blown up by the French in 1689, and restored in 1729. The bridge
(620 ft. long) has recently been skilfully widened and levelled. —
On the left bank of the Moselle is the Local Station mentioned at
p. 182. — The conspicuous Column of the Virgin (‘Mariensiule’).
on the hill (2 M. from the bridge), commemorates the promulga-
tion of the dogma of the immaculate conception of the Virgin.

The best *View of Tréves in the afternoon is obtained from the
hill on the left bank of the Moselle above the village of Pallien
(P1. A, 1), and opposite the suburb of Zurlauben (ferry; Pl. B, 1, 2).
At the landing-place of the ferry is a board indicating the way to
the Café Bellevue (P1. A, 2). Beyond the Napoleons-Briicke, car-
rying the Aix-la-Chapelle road over the ravine of the Sirzenicher
Bach, a path ascends to the right to Schneider's Hof (Pl. A, 1) and
the * Weisshaus (P1. A, B, 1), with a pretty park and a restaurant
(cab, see p. 182). About 11/p M. higher up is the Kockelsberg (re-

staurant), commanding an admirable view.

About 3/, M. to the S. of Tréves is situated the venerable Church of
St. Matthew (comp. Pl. B, 8; tramway, see p. 182), dating in its present
form from the 12th cent., with alterations ma.ge in the 16th and 18th cent.,
and said to contain the sarcophagus of the Evangelist (a favourite resort of
pilgrims). Beside it is a Roman cemetery. — About 8/; M. to the N. of the
town is 8t. Paulin (P1. D, 2), with an interesting rococo church of the
early part of the 18th cent., richly adorned with frescoes. In the vicinity
is a spot marked by a Cross where some of the early Christians suffered
martyrdom at the hands of the Romans. In the crypt are their tombs
with their names inscribed. Near it is the venerable Abbey of St. Mazimin,
now a barrack (Pl. D, 3).

The RamLway rroM TrEvEs T0 LuxeMBoURG (fares, see p. 180)
is the same as that to Saarbriicken as far as (41/3 M.) Karthaus (see
p. 182), the [seat of the German custom-house (p. 180). Opposite
the station on the right is an old Carthusian convent, since 1884
occupied by Franciscan nuns, who have restored the handsome
baroque church. The train now crosses the Moselle.

T M. Igel (Willmerstedt), an inconsiderable village, contains
one of the most interesting Roman relics to the N. of the Alps,
the celebrated *Igel Monument, popularly called the ‘Heidenthurm’
(heathens’ tower), and visible from the railway (to the right, below
the church). The monument is a square sandstone column, 75 ft. in
height, and 161/, ft. broad at the base, and was erected as a funeral
monument by the rich mercantile family of Secundini, probably
in the latter half of the third cent. after Christ, It bears; appro-

date inscriptions, some of which are now illegible, and also
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several reliefs of scenes of daily life and mythological representa-
tions, such as Hylas and the Nymphs, Achilles being bathed in the
Styx, Mars and Rhea Sylvia, the Apotheosis of Hercules, Perseus
and Andromeda, and Hercules with the apples of the Hesperides.
From the church on the hill behind the monument a fine view is
enjoyed of the country around (best by evening-light). — Above
Igel, which may also be visited from Wasserliesch (see below), are
extensive gypsum-quarries.

Near (91/; M.) Wasserbillig the line crosses the frontier of
Luxembourg; scenery picturesque; the Sauer (Sure) here unites
with the Moselle, after having for some distance formed the bound-
ary between Prussia and Luxembourg. Near its mouth is the priory
of Langsur. From Wasserbillig to Diekirch (8013 M.), railway in
2-28/4 hrs, via Echternach, see Baedeker's Belgium and Holland.

Near (10 M.) Mertert the train quits the Moselle and ascends the
valley of the Sure. 15 M. Wecker; 19 M. Roodt; 221/ M. Miins-
bach; 241/3 M. Oetringen. The train then crosses the Pulvermiihlen-
Thal by a viaduct 275 yds. long and 100 ft. high. The station of
Luxembourg, situated on the right side of the valley of the Pétrusse,
is connected with the town by a handsome viaduct.

32 M. Luxembourg (Hétels Brasseur, de Cologne, de I’Burope,
des Nations, de Luxembourg), see Baedeker’s Belgium and Holland.

The RAILwAY ¥RoM TREVEs TO METZ (fares, etc., see p. 180),
a jprolongation of that described in R. 2D, ascends the valley of
the Moselle above Tréves. — 11/ M. Lowenbriicken. 41/o M. Kart-
haus, the junction of the Saarbriicken and Luxembourg lines (see
pp. 181, 188). Below the bridge at Conz (p. 181) the train crosses
the Saar, affording a view of the pretty valley of that stream. 8 M.
Wasserliesch, 1/ M. to the 8. of Igel (see above); 13 M. Welilen.
Near (15 M.) Nittel the train passes through a tunnel. 18 M. Winche-
ringen; 23 M. Palzem. On the right, close to the Moselle, the cha-
teau of Thorn; farther on, to the left, the chiteau of Biibingen.

25M. Nennig. The station is at the village of Wies, 1 M. from the
little Luxembourg town of Remich on the left bank of the Moselle,
and as far from the village of Nennig (poor inn). In the last
are the remains of a Roman villa, excavated in 1852, contain-
ing a remarkably fine *Mosaic Pavement, 49 ft. long and 33 ft.
broad (now protected by a wooden covering; fee). It is nearly as
large as the Mosalc of the Athletes in the Lateran at Rome, and
perhaps surpasses that celebrated work in artistic execution. The
principal scene represents a combat of gladiators, and is surrounded
by seven medallions with animals, fencers, and musicians.

29 M. Perl, the last Prussian station. — 32 M. Sierck (Hotel de
Mets, very fair), a small and ancient town with 1200 inhab., pictur-
esquely situated on the right bank of the Moselle, and commanded by
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the conspicuous ruins of a castle of the Dukes of Lorraine. About
6 M. to the N.E. is Schloss Mensberg, popularly known as Schloss
Marlborough, from its occupation by the great British general.
36 M. Mallingen ; 381/ M. Konigsmachern.

431/, M. Diedenhofen, Fr. Thionville (Hotel Mehn ; Post), a forti-
fied town of 10,000 inhab., on the Moselle, is the junction for Luzem-
bourg (see below) and of branch-lines to (28 M.) Teterchen (p. 174),
and via Hayingen to (101/;M.) Fentsch, with numerous blast-furnaces.

FroM DIEDENHOFEN TO LUXEMBOURG, 20'/2 M , railway in /31 hr. 2 &
70, 1 .4 80, 1 .4 20 pf.). The line crosses the Moselle. Stations Gross-Het-
tingen, Sufigen, and (13 M.) Bettembourg, the first place in the grand-duchy
of Luxembourg; then Berchem and d'/z M.) Luzembourg (p. 189).

47 M. Ueckingen; 49 M. Reichersberg; 51 M. Hagendingen ;
63 M. Maisires, with blast-furnaces. — 591/, M. Devant-les-Ponts,
outside the Porte de France of Metz. To the right, on the hill,
lies Fort Friedrich Karl (formerly St. Quentin), and beside it is a
monument to Bismarck. The train describes a wide curve round
the W. gide of the town, crosses the Mosellle, and enters the chief
station of (66 M.) Mets (p. 174).

25. From Coblenz to Trdves by the Moselle and by
Railway.

RAILWAY (69 M.) in 2-8Y/s hrs. (fares 9 .4, 6 4 80, 4 .# 50 pf.; express
10 .4 10, 7 .4 50, 5 & 30 pf.). — Views to the left.

SrtzaMBOAT (119 M.) four times weekly in summer (May 15th to Sept. 30th)
from Coblenz to Tréves in 2 days, spending the night at 7r . The
descent from Tréves to Coblenz (Mon., Wed., Thurs., & Sat.) takes 12-13 hrs.
Fares for the ascent 9 or 6 &, descent 111/ .# or Y 4 60 pf. Comp. the
local time-tables. The river is sometimes 30 l1ow that the steamboats have
to cease running. Restaurants op board the steamers (B. 114, D. 3-1 4¥),
with good wine. — The steamboat-pier at Coblenz lies between the bridges
over the Moselle; that at Tréves is near the Briicken-Thor (Pl. A, 4). There
are also local steamer services between Coblenz and Cochem and between
Berncastel and Tréves.

The *Valley of the Moselle is not unworthy of comparison with that of
the Rhine. The scenery is remarkably picturesque at places, the wooded
and vine-clad hills present a great variety of form, and the valley is
enlivened with smiling villages. The finest portion is between Coblenz and
Berncastel. The prevailing stillness affords a pleasant contrast to the noise
and bustle of the Rhine. Charming excursions may be made in the wooded
and sometimes rocky lateral valleys, and magnificent views are afforded by
the tops of numerous hills, often crowned by picturesque ruined castles.
The region watered by the Moselle is also rich in political and historical
associations, extending back to the time of the Romans ; and a Roman poet,
Deci agnus A (circa 309-92), has celebrated the praises of this
river in & poem entitled ‘Mosella’. 'i‘he Moselle wines have long been
famous for their delicate bouquet (see p. xxiii). The pedestrian will find
the valley admirably adapted for a walking-tour, which is greatly facili-
tated by numerous fairly-comfortable though small and unpretending inns.

The letters R.B. and L.B. denote the right and left banks with reference
to the traveller descending the river.

The best roads for cyclists are alternately on the right and left banks:
from Coblenz to Treis R.B., then to Alf L.B., Bullay to Trarbach R.B.,
Traben to Kinheim L.B., Kindel-Berncastel-Thiornich R.B.; from there L.B.,
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in dry weather, along the Moselle, otherwise vid Becond and the Hohe
Kreuz Inn to Schweich; thence R.B. to Tréves.

At certain steamboat-stations passengers are landed and embarked
in small boats (fee 10 pf.). .

Coblensz, see p. 105. The train skirts the base of the Karthause
(p.110), and above (2 M.) Moselweis (Risschen) crosses the Moselle.

21/ M. Qiils (steamb. stat. ; Zillien), a prettily-situated village.
The train traverses the orchard-like district of Giils, skirting the
vine-clad hills, and passes Lay, a village on the right bank.

5 M. Winningen (steamb. stat.; Schwan, on theriver, with garden-
restaurant; Adler, both very fair), a market-town with 2000 inhab.,
once belonging to the county of Sponheim, and hence forming,
like several other places on the Moselle (Enkirch, Trarbach, etc.),
a Protestant ‘enclave’ in the midst of the Roman Catholic Elector-
ate of Traves. Wine is much grown in the environs.

Farther up the river the left bank consists of lofty and precipi-
tous rocks, called the Winninger and Coberner Ulen, producing the
best flavoured wine of the Lower Moselle. — On the opposite (r.)
bank lies Dieblich (Sauer), with a handsome church.

L.B. (91/M.)Cobern (steamb. stat.; Simonis, fair), commanded
by two castles of the Knights of Cobern, thelast of whom was exe-
cuted at Coblenz in 1536 as a disturber of the public peace. The rail.
station lies above Cobern, near Gondorf (see below). A steep foot=
path ascends through the.vineyards (the path with the pilgrimage-
stations is longer, but easier) to the picturesque Niederburg. It is,
however, preferable to ascend direct to the (35 min.) Oberburg, fol-
lowing (20 min.) the finger-post pointing to the right at a bend in
the road (fine view of the Niederburg and the valley). Within the
Oberburg, or Altenburg, is the ®*Chapel of St. Matthias (key obtained
from J. Reif, Scheidergasse 7, in the village), a hexagonal edifice
measguring 5§ ft. from angle to angle. It is the most elegant work
of the late-Romanesque style in the Rhineland, dating from 1230
and probably inspired by the church of the Holy Sepulchre at Jeru~
salem, which had lately become known through the Crusades. The
central portion rises above the rest,and is borne by six columns. The
elaborate decorations are executed in a masterly style, and the
acoustic properties of the chapel are excellent. It was restored by
Emp. William II. in 1894, and the old painting has been renewed.

Farther up, on the same (1.) bank, lies Gondorf (Haupt, R. 11/3-2,
pens. 31/o-4 4, very fair), with the Tempelhof, a recently restored
Gothic castle, and an old chiteau of the Counts and Princes Von der
Leyen, now intersected by the railway. The village is mentioned as
early as 871 under the name of Condravia, and on account of the
numer6éus Roman and Frankish tombs found here is supposed to
have been the Roman harbour of Contrua.

On the opposite bank lie Niederfell (Anker) and Kiihr.

10t/; M. Lehmen (steamb. stat.), with a castellated manor-house.
The river is bordered here with precipitous crags:
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R.B. Oberfell. — L.B. (13 M.) Cattenes, at the mouth of a ravine
containing thirteen mills.

R.B. Alken (Sonntag), an old place with medi®val houses and
fortifications, now comes suddenly into view. On the hill above it
rise the towers of the old castle of Thuron, or Thurant, built by
Count Palatine Heinrich about 1200, and a frequent object of
quarrel between the Counts Palatine and the Electors of Cologne
and Trdves. It was besieged by the two Archbishops in 1246-48,
when 600,000 gallons of wine are said to have been consumed by
the assailants. — 15 M. Loef (Sternburg) is the station for —

R.B. Brodenbach (steamb. stat.; Post, R. 11/3-2, D. 11/5-2 4,
very fair), pleasantly situated at the base of lofty wooded hills.

Just above Brodenbach is the mouth of a narrow ravine, which ex-
pands about !/2 M. from the river and contains a number of mills, Near
the first of these a footpath diverges to the left between two rocks and leads
past & (3 min.) point of view to the (}/z hr.) *Ehrenburg, the finest ruin on
the Moselle, situated on an isolated peak (rfmts.). A vaulted, winding
carriage-way leads to the foot of the two towers, which command a

beautiful panorama (unpleasant stair). — From the Ehrenburg to Boppard,
2!/z hrs.; see p. 118. '

An overhanging cliff is now passed on the left bank, beyond
which the valley of the Moselle expands.

16 M. Hatzenport (steamb. stat.) and Boes (Heidger, R.&B.2 4;
Krans, both very fair), two long contiguous villages, above which
rises an old church. The railway-station is 3/4 M. above Hatzenport.

About 3t/2 M. to the W. (diligence from Hatzenport twice daily in 1 hr.)
lies Miinster-Maifeld (815 ft. ; Sonne, Maifelder Hof, both well spoken of), an
ancient town with 1600 inhab., from the 6th cent. onwards the chief place
in the Meginovelt, or Megingau, which extends hence to the Rhine. The
conspicuous Church, formerly belonging to an abbey, is the successor of a
basilica of 8t. Martin, which existed here as early as 633. The front with
its two round towers, resembling a fortress, and a curious elevated chapel
in the interior, perhaps date from the 10th cent. (or the 12th?); the choir
and choir-chapels are in the transition-style of 1225-80; while the nave, in
the developed Gothic style, was completed at the beginning of the 14th cen-
tary. — Carr. from Miinster-Maifeld to (8 M.) Schloss Eltz (see below) and
back 5 .#; diligence to Mayen (p. 207) daily in 2!/4 hrs.

R.B. Burgen (steamb. stat.), at the mouth of the Beybach-Thal.
Opposite rises the massive tower of Bischofstein, erected in 1270, —
In the Beybach-Thal, 7 M. farther up, is the ruin of Waldeck.

191/, M. Moselkern (Burg Elts, very fair; Balmes), at the mouth
of the Elts.

In the narrow, tortaous valley of the Eltg, 4 M. above Moselkern, lies
S_qm-oss Evrtz, which may also be reached from Miinster-Maifeld (see above)
vid Wierschem in 1Y/, hr., or from Hatzenport (see above) on foot vid Lasserg
in 1%/4 br., or from Miiden (p. 193) in 1 hr. — The road from Moselkern
to Eliz crosses the Eliz several times. Pedestrians pass by the church
or below the railway-arch and ascend the left bank of the Eltz, crossing to
the (25 min.) right bank a little on this side of the second mill (inn). Beyond
the mill they proceed to the left along the guden-fenooi cross the mill-
stream by a small bridge, and follow the slope of the hill to the (b min.)
road. In 2 min. more they again quit the road and follow the footpath
to the left, which leads up and down hill (divergence to the right to be
avoided), ﬁnﬂly crossing to the left bank and ascending to the castle.
B.efroshmenu may be procured at the forester's, below the castle.
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*Schloss Eltz, an ancient residence of the Counts of Eltz, is most
picturesquely situated upon a lofty rock, surrounded by wooded hills.
The different parts of the chateau date from the 12-16th cent., and have
been to a great extent restored. The rooms are furnished in the styles
of different centuries, and are adorned with family-portraits, armour, and
weapons. In the Rittersaal (knights’ hall) is a visitors’ book, which
contains the autograph of the Prince of Wales (now Edward VIL.). Visitors
may enter the court at any time; admission to the interior is obtained
on written application to the Count of Eltz at Eltville (p. 131) a week
beforehand. — Opposite Schloss Eltz are the ruins of Trutzeliz, or Baldeneltz,
erected by Archbishop Baldwin of Tréves to command the castle, with the
counts of which he carried on a protracted feud.

201/ M. Miden (Hofer), opposite the entrance of the pretty
Liitgser-Thal.

231/a M. Carden (steamb. stat.; Brauer), below which is a cave
in which St. Oastor, whose bones now repose at Coblenz (see p.107),
is said to have dwelt in the 4th century. The present Church, once
part of an abbey, was erected in 1183-1247 on the site of an earlier
one founded by the saint. The interior contains several late-Gothic
sculptures. Of the picturesque late-Gothic Cloisters nothing remains
‘except one walk. To the N. is the Romanesque Chapter House. To
the E. of the church, near the railway, is the Tithe House, an inter-
esting specimen of a Romanesque secular building of the 12th cent.,
with fine windows; it was restored in 1894. The Burghaus, at the
lower end of the village, is a Renaissance structure of 1562.

A marked path leads from Carden to (41/2 M.) Schioss Eiltz (see above).

R.B. Treis (steamb. stat.; Wildburg, well spoken of), with 1600
inhabitants. In the valley behind it are the ruins of the Wildenburg
and Schloss Treis. The old church is of the late-Gothic period, the
new church was built in 1830. — From Treis a road leads over the
hill to (41/3 M.) Bruttig (p. 194). In the Flaumbach-Thal is the
ruined convent of Engelport.

241/9 M. Pommern, atthe mouth of the Pommerbach, in the valley
of which are the ruins of the nunnery of Rosenthal, founded in1170.
— 271/3 M. Clotten (Sehl, good wine), with the ruins of a castle and
an interesting old church.

30 M. Cochem. — Hotels. *Uniox, near the landing-stage, 1/z M. from
the station, R.1 .4 70-2 .4 70, B. 80 pf., D. 2/s, pens. 51/2-6 #; ScuLoss-
HTeL, Schloss-8tr. (good view), R & B. from 2!/z, D. 11/2-21/2, pens. from
4 M: GerMaxia, R. 2-21/2, D. from 13/4, pens. from 4 .4, well spoken
of; 8tapT CoBLENZ. R. 11/2-2, B. 3/;, D. 11/,-2, pens. 3!/3-4 4 ; StaDpT K4LN,
Ravené-8'r., R. 1122, B. 1, D.2, pens. 4!/>-5 # (with garden-restaurant);
KAISER, R. & B. frrm 2, pens. from 2!/ #; HOTEL-RESTAURANT KEMP, near
the pier (pens. 4 .4). — Restaurant on the Knippchen.

otor Omnidus between Coch and Senhals (p. 194) 4 times daily.
Diligence to (8!/2 M.) Kaisersesch (p. 208) twice daily.

Cochem (282 ft. ; steamb. stat.), a district-town with 3600 in-
hab., at the entrance of the Ender-Thal, is one of the prettiest
places on the Moselle, especially as seen from the right bank. In
the pleasure-grounds by the river is a War Monument. Adjoining
the picturesque Ender-Thor is a timber house of 1625.

The old *Castle, on the hill to the S. (4 M. from the station:

BaeDekkR's Rhine. 15th Edit. 13-
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reached from the pier via the Zollgasse and Schloss - Str.), de-
stroyed by the French in 1689, was frequently occupied by the
Archbishops of Tréves in the 14th and 16th centuries. It was re-
stored in 1868-78 for Herr Ravené by the Berlin architect Rasch-
dorff, with the aid of ancient plans and views. The principal tower is
adorned with a huge figure of St. Christopher, in mosaic, by Salviati.
Visitors apply for admission in the restaurant at the entrance
(1 pers. 75 pf., a party 50 pf. each); only a few of the sumptuously
decorated rooms are shown if the proprietor is in residence.

On the right bank, opposite Cochem, lies Cond (good wine at
the Traube); fine view from (/g hr.) the ‘Conder Tempelchen’.

In the EXDER-THAL, on a hillabout 3 M. from Cochem, rises the tower
of the Winneburg, the most ancient seat of the Metternich family, destroyed
by the French in 1689. The road to Kaisersesch (p. 208) ascends the Ender-
Thal. A pleasanter route is to ascend vid Cochem Castle to the Lescher
Linde (view), go thence by the Lescher Hof to Faid, and return vid the
‘Winneburg. °

The train now passes through the Cochemer or Ellerer Berg to El-
ler(see below) by means of the Emperor William Tunnel(22/3 M. long,
taking 6 min. to traverse), the excavation of which through the
clay-slate occupied 31/; years (1874-77) and cost about 200,000L.;
it is vaulted throughout.

The Moselle sweeps round the Ellerer Berg in a winding curve of
more than 12 M. in length, which the steamer takes 21/2 hrs. to traverse
in ascending and 11/z hr. in descending. The banks here are particularly
picturesque.

At Sehl (left bank), 1 M. above Cochem, a fine retrospect is enjoyed
of Cochem, its castle, and the Winneburg. — L.B. Ebernach, once a
priory, now a lunatic asylum.

R. B. Valwig. Picturesque groups of rocks.

L.B. Nieder-Ernst and Ober-Ernst. Between them a modern church
with two towers. Above the sharp bend which the river makes here.
about 3 M. above Cochem, lies —

R. B. Bruttig (steamb. stat,; Friedrichs, unpretending), a small town
with quaint medieval houses.

R. B. Fantkel, lying somewhat inland. — L. B. Ellenz (Dehren, very
fair, pens. 3l/s .‘)

R.B. Beilstein (st b. stat.; Lip ; Burg Metternich), & quaint
little town nestling at the foot of the rocks, is overlooked i»y the old
imperial castle of the same name, which afterwards belonged to the
Electors of Tréves, and then to the Counts (now Princes) of Metternich-
Winneburg; it was destroyed in 1688.

L.B. Poltersdorf. — R.B. Briedern. — R.B. Mesenich (Anker).

R.B. Senheim (steamb. stat.; Schneiders, very fair), with a high-lying
church. Opposite lies —

L.B. Senhals (Henrichs, Deis, both very fair); omnibus twice daily to
(4 M.) Eller (p. 195). Farther on, Nehren, and the manor-house of Lehmen,
with its old tower.

L.B. Ediger (steamb. stat.; Friderichs), surrounded with old fortifica-
tions, and possessing numerous medigeval buildings and a late-Gothic church.
There are extensive vineyards here. We now reach Eller (p. 195), 4 M.
above Senhals.

33 M. Eller (Friedrichs), with old manor-houses. Above it, on
the right bank, are the ruins of Stuben (see-below), while on the
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left bank, at the base of the wooded Calmond, in the pretty valley
of the Eller, is the mouth of the Emperor William Tunnel (p. 194).

The train crosses the Moselle, passes through a tunnel (370 yds.
long), and skirts the right bank, with a fine retrospect of the vine-
clad slopes of the Calmond. 34 M. Neef, with an old manor-house.

At the centre of the curve which the river describes round the
Petersberg, to the left, are situated the ruins of the monastery of
Stuben, founded in the 12th cent. and suppressed in 1788. Farther
up, on the left bank, Bremm (Hutter, unpretending), with a late-
Gothic church and quaint medizval houses, said to be the first place
on the middle Moselle where vines were planted. Then Aldegund,
with an old church and a handsome modern one.

361/, M. Bullay (Marienbury, R. & B. 21/,-3, D. 2, pens. 4-6 .4,
fair; Vier Thiirme, similar charges; Rail. Restaurant, very fair), on
the right bank, the station for Alf and the baths of Bertrich
(p. 196) on the opposite bank, and also for Zell (p. 193). — Contin-
uation of the railway to Trdves, see p.197. Steamboat journey from
AIf to Tréves, see p. 193.

From the Bullay station we may reach the ‘Vierseenplatz’ (Four Lakes
View) on the Kdnfg (iron finger-post by the roadside near the station) in
about 1/2 hr. Beautiful view of the Marienburg and the Moselle country,
superior to that from the Marienburg itself. Descent in 1/3 hr. to Merl.
(Interesting walk from Alf or Bullay to the Marienburg, Kaimt, Zell, Merl,
Konig, Bullay: 3 hrs.)

The road to the ferry turns to the right at the station of Bullay
and then leads again to the right below the railway to the village
of Bullay and the Alf ferry. — By following the railway a little
farther and crossing the double iron lattice-bridge (of which the
higher level supports the railway, the lower the ordinary roadway),
we reach the foot of the Marienburg, which is ascended hence
by a good footpath to the left in 20 min. (path to the right to the
‘Waldfrieden, see below).

Alf. — Hotels. Post, R. 13/:-23/4, B. 3/y, D. 21/2, pens. 41/2-8 .4; Ban
BERTRICH, very fair; BoRG Arras, R. & B. 2, D. 11/,-13/, & ; ScuoNe Avs-
SICHT, on the Moselle, unpretending. — Pension Nollen, 4-b M ; Pens. Wald-
frieden (see below), R. 2 .4, B. 60 pf., D. 11/3-21/3, pens. 8-b 4. — Diligence
to Bertrich (p. 196) twice daily in 1!/, hr., starting from the railway-station
of Bullay (fare pf.); also Omnidus several times a day; diligence to
(413Y/2 M.) Lutzerath (p. 197) every morning. — Carriage to the Marienbarg
and back 4 .4 ; to Bertrich, with one horse b .4, two horasecs 7 .4.

Alf, a village with 1300 inhab., well suited for a stay, lies at
the mouth of the picturesque valley of the Alf, on the left bank of
the Moselle, opposite Bullay, to which a ferry plies (carriages
cross the bridge mentioned above). — The road from Alf to the
Marienburg (2 M.) ascends behind the Pens. Nollen to the Pension
Waldfrieden (see above; view), passes the view - platform (fine
panorama) on the Prinzenkopf (20 pf.), and then follows the narrow
ridge (fine view on both sides).

1 The *Marienburg (377 ft.; Restaurant, very fair, pens: 41/s°.4),
with the ruins of a castle said to have once existed here, or of the

13*
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nunnery erected on the same spot in 1146, is one of the finest
points on the Moselle. The view embraces the wooded and vine-clad
slopes of the Moselle, the smiling villages on its banks, the
summits of the Hunsriick and the Eifel, and two detached reaches
of the river, resembling lakes.

Pleasant walks may be taken from the Marienburg to Merl (p. 198)
or over the Bar] (935 ft.) to Kaimt (p. 199). — As Alf lies at the lower
end of a circuit of T/ M. described gy the Moselle, steamboat-passengers
on the way up the river may quit the boat at Alf, ascend to the Marien-
burg, and regain the steamer at Piinderich (3/¢ br. in all). The steamer
takes 11/ hr. to ascend from Alf to Pinderich, and passengers need not
quit the Marienburg until after the boat comes in sight at Briedel.

A fine route, but one not easily followed without a guide. descends
from the Marienburg to the Valley of the Alf and Bertrich (3/; hr.; see
below). From the ‘Schone Aussicht' on this route a path leads to the
chapel on the Reiler Hals (view), whence we may descend to Piunderich

Station (p. 197).
) FroM ALFr To BERTRICH, 51/3 M. The road at first ascends the
romantic Valley of the Alf, between the Sollig and the Prinsenkopf,
and then, at (11/ M.) the ‘Fabrik Alf’ (now a rope-walk), ascends
the valley of the Uesbach. At the top of the hill lie the ruins of
Burg Arras, said to have been built by Abp. Robert of Tradves in 938
for a charcoal-burner and his two sons, who had distinguished them-
selves by their courage in the destruction of a band of Hungarians.

Bertrich. — Hotels. *Prrz, connected with the Curhaus, R. 24, B. 1,
D. 3, pens. without 8. 5-71/z .#; *ApLer, R. 2-2!/;, D. 21/,, pens. from
5 M&; *DRrel REICHSERONEN, R. 1!/2-3, D. 21/;, pens. 5-7 .#; KURFGRST,
R. 11,8 4, B. 80 pf., D. 2/, pens. 5-6 .#, well spoken of; DHEIN, R. 11/3-2,
D. 2, pens. 5-6 .4; TrauBg, R. 13/,-2, pens. 4-5 #; ViLta Mepuwa, R. 10-
40 4 weekly, B. 1 .#; ROouErBaD, pens. 41/2-5 #; ViLLa DILLENBURG,
pens. 41/,-6 &; Havs ArnpT, pens. 51/2-TY/2 M ; MARIENHOHE, {1/ M.
from the village, pens. from 4 4. — Restaurant Schweizerhaus.

Oarriage to Alf and Bullay 5, with two horses 8 4. there and back
6 and 8 .4 ; two-horse carr. to Pulvermaar 12, to Manderscheid and back 24,
Daun and Belvedere near Manderscheid 22, Daun and back 24-25 4.

Visirors' Tax, 4 pers. 9, a family 18 4.

Bertrich (540 ft.), a small watering-place with 400 inhab.,
delightfully situated in a secluded valley, and visited annually by
2000 patients, may be described as a kind of modified Carlsbad,
the waters of which are specially efficacious in gout, rheumatism,
and nervous, liver, and intestinal complaints. The warm springs
(90° Fahr.) contain Glauber’s salts. Pleasant walks have been laid
out in all directions. On the Romerkessel, an eminence where the
Roman relics now in the garden of the bath-establishment were
found, is a small Protestant chapel.

The road to Lutzerath through the valley of the Ues crosses that
stream about 1/ M. from the Cur-Garten. To the left, beyond the
bridge, is the Elfen-Miihle (restaurant). Ascending to the left before
reaching the mill, and after 90 paces following the lower path to
the right, we reach the *Kaskeller (‘cheese-cellar’), a grotto com-
posed of basaltic columns, each formed of 8 or 9 spheroids, resembling
Dutch cheeses. Nesr it is a Waterfall, 16 ft. in height (often dry
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in summer), crossed by a graceful bridge. A basaltic stream of lava
is visible in several places in the bed of the Uesbach.

Pleasant walks may be taken from the Kiskeller to the (1 hr.) Enters-
burg; to the (11/3 hr.) Rddelheck (15685 ft.; refreshments at the adjacent
forester’s), which commands an extensive panorama, and thence to the
(/2 hr.) Reinhardslust, on the génth leading from the Rédelheck to the
mouth of the Uesbach (see p. 186); to (3%/4 M.) Péinderich (see below); and
to B M) ngirsbach (see below). .

If we follow the road to Lutzerath 800 yds. beyond the Elfen-Miihle, as
far as the kilométre-stone 9.8, diverge here to the right by the old road,
ascend to (20 min.) the second cross-road, and follow the footpath to the
left past the Maischquelle, we reach (in 1/, hr. more) the Falkenlei

1 ft.), a semi-conical hill, the 8. side of which is a precipice 170 ft.
in height, exhibiting the geological formation of the interior. At the
bottom lie solid masses of lava; at the top scoriee and slag. Numerous
caves and clefts have been formed in the rock, in which the temperature
seldom exceeds 48° Fahr. The rocks are thicinly covered with yellowish
red moss and lichens. The summit {shelter-hut) affords an extensive view
of the volcanic peaks of the Eifel; the highest are the Hohe Acht (p. 102),
the Niirburg (p. 102), with a tower on its summit, and the Hohe Kelberg
(2130 ft.); to the N.W. the prospect is circumscribed by the long isolated
ridge of the Mosenberg (p. 209), a little to the left of which rises the
Nerother Kopf with its ruin (p. 206). A very steep path descends to the
highroad on the side of the hill opposite to that by which we ascended.

As the starting-point for. a Visit To THE EIFEL (p. 202), Bertrich is
better adapted for drivers (carr., p. 196) than for walkers, as the first
part of the route is rather featureless. From the Elfen-M#hle the road
ascends to the left to (2!/z M.) Hontheim, and then follows the ridge to the
right to (3 M.) Strotzbiisch. From S8trotzbiisch we may follow the road for
about 2 M. more and then proceed to the left vid the Rimersberg to the
(1/3s M.) Pulvermaar (p. 209). — Walkers may descend to the N. from the
Falkenlei to Kesnfus and follow the highroad thence to (38/s M.) Lutzerath
Maas, very fair), which is about 41/ lg from the Pulvermaar.

RArLwAY FrRoM Burray To Trives. Beyond Bullay the train
crosses the Moselle by the double bridge mentioned at p. 195, and
penetrates the Prinsenkopf (p. 19) by a curved tunnel, 480 yds.
in length, which emerges upon the river above Piinderich (p. 199).
The railway is next carried along the hill by an imposing viaduct
with 92 arches, each 24 ft. wide. — 381/ M. Piinderich, the station
for the village on the right bank, 11/4M. farther down (p. 199; ferry).

FroM PONDERICE TO TRABEN, 7M., branch-railway in 1/, hr. (fares 70,
A5 pf.). 1 M. Reil (p. 199); 2 M. Burg (p. 199); 44 M. Enkirch (p. 199);
T M. Traben-Trarbach (p. 199).

Beyond Piinderich the train quits the river, and enters the
Alfthal by means of another tunnel (530 yds.) through the Reiler
Hals. (The valley of the Moselle is regained at Schweich, p. 198.)

To the right in the Alfthal, half concealed by the trees, is seen
the church of the old canonry of Springirsbach, founded in 1107,
but rebuilt in the Italian style of the 18th century. Adjacent is
Nicolay’s Inn (pens. 31/ #). To the N. is the beautiful Kondel-
wald, traversed by a path along the Signal to Bertrich (p. 196).
The line ascends the Alfthal, past (42 M.) Bengel and Kinderbeuren
(Wirz), and beyond a tunnel 635 yds. in length reaches —
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44 M. Uersig (Bahnhof-Hétel), 2 M. from the village of that name
on the Moselle (p. 200), to which an omnibus runs twice daily.

The train now descends into the valley of the Lieser.

From (471/;M.) Wengerohr a branch-line (21/; M., in 40 min.)
runs to Wittlich (*Well, R. 13/,, B.3/,, D. 2, pens. 41/o-b A&
#“Traube, R. 11/5-2, B.38/s-1, D.11/4-2, pens. 4-6 #; Losen, similar
prices), a district-town with 4100 inhab., prettily situated on the
Lieser. Pleasant walks may be taken to the Pleiner Miihle, Kunowald,
Affenberg (20 min.; Restaurant Philippsburg), etc. — Diligence to
Manderscheid, see p. 210; to Himmerod and Eisenschmitt, see p.212.

From WENGEROHR TO BERNCASTEL, 10 M., local railway in 3/-1 hr.
The train descends the vine-clad valley of the Lieser. 2 M. Platien;
5 M. Siebenborn, the station for Noviand; 5/ M. Maring. Near (1 M.)
Lieser it reaches the Moselle, opposite Miiklheim (p. 201). 91/, M. Cues
(p- 201), opposite (10 M.) Berncastel (p. 200).

The Lieser is crossed. To the right lie the hamlet of Biirscheid
and the village of Altrich, to the left the Haardter Hofe. Beyond
the watershed between the Lieser and the Salm we reach —

52 M. Salmrohr, 11/o M. from which is the pilgrimage - resort
Eberards-Clausen, an old abbey with an interesting church (carved
altar of the second half of the 15th cent.). — 57 M. Hetzerath
(630 ft. ; Paltzer).

59 M. Fiohren. — 62 M. Schweich (steamb. stat.; Denhart),
1 M. from the station, on the Moselle. The train then passes through
the tunnel of Issel, 850 yds. in length. — 64 M. Quint, with an
iron-work (p. 202). — 65 M. Ehrang (Umbach), a station on the
Eifel railway (p. 207), is also connected with Tréves by a branch-
line (5 M.) passing Biewer and Pallien (p.488). The Moselle railway
crosses the river beyond Pfalsel, and reaches —

69 M. Trdves, see p. 182.

The Moselle from Alf to Trbves.

The distance from Alf to Trdves by the river is about 62 M.,
The first place passed by the steamboat after leaving Alf is Merl
(Croff, well spoken of), on the right bank, 2 M. above Bullay (p. 195).
At the lower end of the village rise the ‘Eisthurm’, belonging to
the former fortifications, and the Severinsthurm, a clock-tower of
the destroyed church of that name. — R.B. (13/4 M. farther on)
Corray, a suburb of —

Zell (steamb. stat.), — Hotels. Fice, with terrace, R. 112212, B. 1,
D. 21z, pens. 4-8 M, very fair; Ka1seruor, R. 2-21/2, B. 3/s, D. from 1%/,
pens. from 4 4, with garden on the river, well spoken of. — Omnibus
to Bullay, 60 pf.; diligence to Piinderich.

Zell, a district-town with 2700 inhab., surrounded by remains
of old walls, presents an attractive picture and invites to 5|4§l'olouged
stay. Theinteresting old Electoral Chiteau was builtin 1643. Hand-
some new Town Hall. Fine view from the Hocheollis(E.) and from
the Bummkopf. — Opposite (ferry) lies — :
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L.B. Kaimt, whence a picturesque path leads along the base
of the Barl to (1 hr.) the Marienburg (p. 196).

R.B. Briedel (Schneider), commanding a good view of the S.
and W. sides of the Marienburg.

R.B. Piinderich (rail. stat., see p. 197; Kallfelz, unpretending),
a picturesquely-situated village. Opposite the steamboat-pier is
the path mentioned at p. 196, which ascends to the Marienburg in
1/4 hr. Farther on, high up on the left bank, are the mouth of the
Pringenkopf Tunnel (p. 197) and the viaduct of the railway, which
then enters the Alfthal (p. 195) by the Reiler Tunnel.

R.B. Reilkirch, 11/4 M. above Piinderich, is the churchyard of
the village of Reil (railway, see p. 497; Nahlbach-Miinich), which
lies a little higher up on the opposite bank. Beyond Reil the left
bank is very steep.

R.B. Burg. —R.B. Enkirch (Anker, R.11/5-2, D.11/ .4, B.60 pf.;
Steffensberg, both fair), a large village, named Ankaracha in the
earliest documents. Good wine is raised on the Stephansberg.

L.B. Kovenich, a small group of houses, built chiefly with
the ruins of Montroyal (see below). — L.B. Litsig.

On the top of the lofty rocks to the left (R.B.)lies Starkenburg,
with the ruins of a castle, in which, about the middle of the 14th
cent., the Countess Laurette von Starkenburg detained Archbishop
Baldwin of Traves in captivity for an attempted infringement of
her rights, until he paid a large ransom for his liberation. To the
right rises the Trabener Berg (892 ft.), on the flat top of which are
traces of the fortress of Montroyal, constructed by Louis XIV. in
1686, but demolished in 1697 in pursuance of the Treaty of
Ryswyck. The hill commands a beauntifal view. — At the apex
of the curve which the river makes round this hill lie —

L.B. Traben (rail. station, see p. 197) and (R.B.) Trarbach.

Hotels (generally well spoken of). A¢ Traben: KAISERHOF, at the
railway-station, R. & B. from 21/, D. 2-21/3, pens. from A1/; #; GERMANIA,
plainer, — At b’rarbach: Aporr, with veranda on the Moselle, R. & B. 2/,
D. 2, 8. 11/, pevs. 41/>-5'/; #; BeLLEVUE, R. & B.2Y,, D.2, 8.1/, pens.
4-41/; 4 ; MARX, on the road to the Wildbad, new. — Restaurant. Briicken-

schenke, on the right bank, a quaint establishment, with view-terrace
(good wine). — Casino, at Trarbach, good wine (introduction required).

Traben and Trarbach, each with about 2500 inhab., most of
whom are Protestants (comp. p. 191), are connected by a bridge
(toll § pf.) built in 1899. Both have a large trade in wine, and the
number of new buildings bears witness to their prosperity. Nearly
all the old houses in Trarbach were destroyed by a fire in 1857. —
On the hill above Trarbsh (reached in 20 min.) is the ruin of the
Grdfinburg, built, according to the legend, by Countess Laurette
von Starkenburg with the ransom of Archbishop Baldwin (see above).

At Trarbach opens the Kautenbach-Thal, a valley enclosed by wooded
and rocky slopes, in which is the small but well-equipped Wildbad
Trarbach (pens. 5-81/; 4, with restaurant), with thermal ‘baths prescribed
in cases of gout. About 11/ M. farther up is the older Bad Wildstein
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(Kiiss's Inn, R. from 2, B. 3/, D. 2, pens. from b .#), supplied from the
same springs. Omnibus to fraben station. — We may follow the valley
to the village of Longkamp and descend through the Tiefenbach-Thal (p. 204)
to Berncastel (in all 31/2 hrs.), or we may cross the hill from Trarbach to
Berncastel direct (3 M.). Carriage from Trarbach through the two valleys
to Berncastel 12 4.

At Trarbach begins the district of the ‘Upper Moselle’, which
produces the ‘Zeltinger Schlossberg’, ‘Berncasteler Doctor’, ‘Braune-
berger’, and other highly-prized varieties of Moselle wine. "

L.B. Rissbach. — R.B. Wolf. The ruins on the hill are those
of a monastery.

L.B. Croff (Zur Grdfinburg, unpretending) possesses an inter-
esting half-timbered house with two oriel-windows.

L.B. Kinheim (Echternacher Hof).

R.B. Kindel. — R.B. Losenich. — R.B. Erden, noted for its
wine.

On the left bank, below Uerzig, is a tower built into the red
sandstone rock, formerly a castle , afterwards a hermitage, known
as the Michaels-Lei or Nicolaus-Lei.

R.B. Uerzig (*Post), a place of some importance, which once
possessed an independent jurisdiction. It is 2 M. from the station
mentioned at p. 198, the road to which first ascends somewhat
steeply and then descends (diligence in /g hr. ; omnibus 50 pf.).

R.B. Rachtig. — L.B, Machern, once a nunnery.

R.B. Zeltingen (Post; M. Stroh; Neyses), celebrated for its wine.
The whole of the slopes from Rachtig to Berncastel are covered with
vineyards, the best those on the Schlossberg.

L.B. Wehlen. — R.B. Graach (Velten). Adjacent to the church
is a former convent. The Martinshof, or Josephshof, a little lower
down, the Himmelreich, and the Kirchlei all produce esteemed
varieties of wine.

R.B. Berncastel. — Hotels. °Drrr Konige, well situated on the
left bank, near the Cues Hospital (p. 201), new, R. & B. 2/>-4, D. 2l/s,
S. 11/2, pens. 5-7 4 ; Post, R. & B. 11/2-2, pens. 41/3-5 4 ; RomiscHER KAISER,
R. 1%—;, B. 60 pf., pens. 8Y/2-5 M. — Burg Landshut, restaurant with wine
and beer; Mosella, wine-room at the Cues station.

Berncastel (360 ft.), a prosperous town with 2300 inhab., carries
on a large trade in wine and offers one of the most attractive pictures
on the Moselle. The quaint old town is for the most part crowded into
a narrow side-valley. In the market-place are the Rathhaus, con-
taining three ancient drinking-cups, and the old Pillory. At the
upper end of the town, on the river, are the new District Offices.
A sunny path ascends to (20 min.) the ruined electoral castle of
Landshut, now the property of Emp. William, which commands a
beautiful view of the Moselle and of the picturesque valley of the
Tiefenbach (key of the tower at the hotels; 20 pf.). Several other
points of view have recently been made accessible by promenades.
The wines known as ‘Berncasteler Doctor’ and ‘Badstub’ are much
prized.
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The Tiefenbach-Thal, through which runs the road to the Hunsriick,
vies with the valley of the Ahr (p. 97) in the grandeur of its rock-form-
ations. There is a waterfall near a chapel, 1 M. from Berncastel; and
from this point we may proceed to the right, through a lateral valley, to
(3/s hr.) Monzeifeld (view) and (1 hr.) Veidens (see below). — From Bern-
castel to Trarbach over the hill the distance is 8 M.

A LocAL STEAMER plies on Mon., Wed., Thurs., & Sat. between Bern-
castel and Tréves, leaving the former in the morning, the latter in the
afternoon (fare 3 or 11/ 4). — A railway along the right bank is projected.

Berncastel is connected by an iron bridge with —

L.B. Cues, the birthplace of the learned Cardinal Nicolaus
Cusanus (d. 1464), who founded a hospital here and bequeathed
to it his library, containing some valuable MSS., 2 number of
Codices, and rare old impressions. The hospital owns several of
the vineyards in the neighbourhood. New Protestant church. Cues
is the terminus of the branch-railway mentioned at p. 198.

R.B. Andel. — L.B. Lieser (Mehn; Baum), a well-built village
at the mouth of the brook of that name.

R.B. Miihlheim (Fischer, very fair, R. & B. 2, D. 11/, pens.
31)o #), a village of some importance, at the entrance to the
picturesque Veldens Valley, with Burg Veldens and the villages of
Veldens (Bottler) and Thal Veldens.

R.B. Dusemond. — R.B. Neu-Filzen. — R.B. Filzen.

L.B. The Brauneberg, famous for its wine (p. xxiii). At the
upper end of the Brauneberg, on the hill, lies Monzel, below which,
on a small headland, is Kesten (Licht, plain but very fair; footpath
in 11/¢hr. to Pisport, see below). The hills of Ohligsberg and Neu-
berg, on the other bank, also produce excellent wine.

R.B. Winterich, beyond which the rocky slopes of the Geierslei
approach close to the river.

L.B. Minheim, at the apex of a sharp curve in the river.

R.B. Reinsport (Fuchs). A little inland lies Niederemmel,
destined to be a station on the new railway. — R.B. Miistert.

L.B. Pisport, the ancient Pingontius Portus, has been for cen-
turies famous for its wine. Hence vid Clausen to the rail. stat. of
Salmrohr (p. 198), 61/s M.

L.B. Ferres, the Boveriis of ancient charters, 3/, M. above
Pisport.

A little higher up, the Thron, a rapid stream abounding in fish,

flows into the Moselle on the left. The village of Thros or Diron (Feilen),
in its narrow valley, is noted for its wine (‘Hofberger’).

R.B. Neumagen (Neumagener Hof; Hoffmann), the Roman No-
viomagus, where Constantine had a palace, mentioned by Ausonius.
Extensive excavations made in.4877-86 near the church (a build-
ing of 4190) showed that a large and strong fortress was after-
wards constructed on the site of the palace as a protection against
the aggression of the Germanic tribes. Many Roman tombstones (now
at Tréves, p. 186) were used in the foundations.

L.B. Trittenheim, with a handsome church, the birthplace of
Johann Trithemius, the historian (4. 1516).
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R.B. Leiwen. — R.B. Kowerich. — L.B. Cliisserath (I'raut),
at the mouth of the Salm, 41/, M. from Hetzerath (p. 198).

R.B. Thornick. — R.B. Detzem (‘ad decimum’, i.c. the tenth
Roman milestone from Trdves). Opposite, —

L.B. Ensch. — L.B. Schleich. — L.B. Pilich, where remains of
a Roman villa have been excavated. — L.B. Mechring, an old place.
— L.B. Lirsch. — L.B. Longen.

A little inland on the right bank, between the last-named two
villages, on the side of the hill, les Rigl, the Rigodulum of
Tacitus, where the Roman general Cerealis conquered the rebel-
lious Treveri, and took their leader Valentinus prisoner, A.D. 70.

R.B. Longwich (Sonntag), prettily situated. — R.B. Kirsch,
nearly opposite Schweich (p. 198).

L.B. Between Issel and Ehrang (p. 198) is the iron-foundry of
Quint (‘ad quintum’, i.e. 5 Roman miles from Traves).

R.B. Ruwer (Longen); in the valley of the brook of that name,
through which ascends the railway from Trdves to Hermeskeil (33 M.,
in 21/, hrs.; Hot. Wagner; Post), lie Griinhaus and Casel, both
famed for their wine.

L.B. Pfalsel (Palatiolum), where Adela, daughter of King
Dagobert I., founded a nunnery in 655.

Traves, see p. 182.

26. The Volcanic Eifel.

The Eifel is a bleak mountainous district situated between the Moselle,
the Rhine, and the Roer, about 45 M. in length, and 25 M. in breadth. The
E. part is called the Hohe Eifel, near Adenau and Kelberg, and com-
prises the Hohe Acht (2410 ft.; p. 102), the Niirburg (2180 ft.; p. 102), the
Aremberg (p. 102), and the Erensberg (2265 ft.; p. 205); the W. part is the
Schneifel ({.e. Schnee-Eifel), in the neighbourhood of Prim (p. 205); and
the 8. part is the Vorder-Eifel, or Volcanic E{fel, extending as far as
the Rhine (Laacher See, p. 101), and embracing Gerolstein, Daun, Mander-
scheid (p. 210), and Bertrich (p. 198). The Vorder-Eifel is very pic-
turesque at places, and is also very interesting in a geological point of
view owing to the numerous traces it bears of former volcanic action,
such as the streams of lava, slag-hills, ‘Maare’, or extinct craters fllled with
water, etc. Comp. Dronke-Stiippers's ‘Die Eifel® (Cologne, 1900; 2 #) and
Dr. von Dechen’s ‘ Geognostischer Fihrer durch die Vordereifel’ 2nd ed., 1886 ;
8 .#). A pleasant account of the district is afforded by ‘In the Volcanic
Eifel’, by Katharine and Gilbert Macquoid (illus.; 1896).

a. Railway from Cologne to Trdves.

112 M. RarLwaY in b/, hrs. (fares 14 4 40, 10 & 80, 7 4 20 pf.).

Cologne,, see p. 26. As far as (61/3 M.) Kalscheuren the line
follows the direction of the Left Rhenish Railway (R.10); it then
tuns to the right, and intersects the Vorgebirge (p. 80). 10 M.
Kierberg; 133/ M. Liblar, junction for light railways to Euskirchen
(p. 203) and Horrem (p. 16); 171/, M. Weilerswist; the station for
Vernich: 21 M. Derkum.
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241/, M. Euskirehen (500 ft.; Rheinischer Hof, R. & B. 3-4,
D. 21/ M#; Traube), a town of 10,200 inhab., with cloth-factories,
lies on the Erft. Itis the junction of the Cologne line with branches
to Diiren and Bonn.

Frou EuskircHEN T0 DOREN, 181/2 M., railway in %/4-1 hr. (fares 2 .4 10,
1.460, 1 #10pf.). — 8 M. Ziilpich ( Koiner Hof, R. & B. 21/,-21/2.4), an ancient
town (§1m inhab.), the Roman Tolbsacum, where in 496 the Alemanni were
defeated by the Franks, in consequence of which victory Clovis became
a convert to Christianity. The handsome Romanesque church of 8¢. Peter
dates from the 11th and 12th centuries. — 181/z M. Diren (see p. 14).

FroM EUSKIRCEEN To BoxN, 21 M., railway in 1!/4 hr. (fares 2 4 80,
2 M4 10, 1 & 40 pf.). — The line crosses the Ey/t. 2 M. Cuchenheim; 41/2 M.
Odendory. About 2 M. to the S.E. of (7}/2 M.) Rheinback (Wald-Hdtel ; Kauth,
R. 1-11/4 &) rises the Tomberg, with a ruined castle, the round tower ot
which dates from the 18th or 14th cent. (view). — 101/s M. Meckenheim
(Dolf, Eichen, both well spoken of), a village with 2000 inhab., once forti-
tied. — 21 M. Bonn, see p. 84.

Frou EUSKIRCHEN TO MUNSTEREIFEL, 8!/z M., raflway in 8/; hr. (fares
90, 60, 80 pf.). — Miinstereifel (918 ft.; Hillebrand, R. & B. 21/4-28/4, D. 13/,,
8. 1Yy, pens. 8t/>-b ; Post, both very fair), a small town (2700 inhab.)
prettily situated on the Erft, has a late-Romanesque church of the 12th
cent., with an older crypt and a good monument of the 14th century. The
old walls and gates of the town arepicturesque. — About 6 M. to the S.E.
of Miunstereifel (beyond Roder!) rises the basaltic Michelsberg (1880 ft.),
with a pilgrimage-chapel and fine view.

To the right rises the picturesque old castle of Veynau. 291/; M.
Satzvey; 33 M, Mechernich (98D ft.; Schwarz), to the left of which
are extensive lead-mines and foundries, with tall chimneys, one
440 ft. high. Beyond a tunnel, the line steadily ascends.

391/; M. Call (1245 ft.; Nessgen; Reinhard), a village with
forges.

Frou CaLL To HELLENTHAL, 10Y/2 M., railway in 1 hr. — 31 M. Gemind
(Bergemann; Breuer), at the junction of the Urst and Olef, the waters
of which are to be collected in a reservoir about & M. higher up, in con-
nection with a new power-station. — 5'/z M, Olef. — 7l/2 M. Bchleiden
(Koiner Hof, unpretending), with 500 inhab., two ancient churches, and
a modern chidteau. — 10 M. Blumenthal (Metz), a little above which rise the
imposing ruins of the castle ot Reifferscheid, mentioned as early as 975, the
ancestral seat of the Princes and Counts of Salm-Reifferscheid-Dyck. —
10Y/3 M. Hellenthal (Schinck), picturesquely situated on the Olef.

42 M. Urft (Schneider). The old Premonstratensian abbey of
Steinfeld, founded in the 10th cent. and now a reformatory, lies
1 M. to the S.W. (not visible); the church is large and well-pre-
served. — 45 M. Nettersheim (1480 ft.), on the Urft.

491/, M. Blankenheim (1640 ft.), which lies 21/ M. from the
station (diligence thrice daily; Eifeler Hof), is situated in a narrow
valley to the E., with the picturesque ruins of the ancestral castle
of the knights of Blankenheim, built in the 12th century. The
remains of a large Roman villa were discovered here in 1894. The
Ahr (p. 97) rises at Blankenheim, where its sources are enclosed
by a wall.

The line continues to ascend, until at (52 M.) Sehmidtheim
(1826 ft.), with an old chitesu of Count Beyssel, it-crosses the
watershed between the Urft and the beautiful *Vatley of the Kyll,
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which it enters at (571/3 M) Jiinkerath %1420 ft. ; Kreisch ; Brink-
mann), the station for Stadtkyll (Post), 3 M. to the W. Jiinkerath,
which possesses a large foundry and an extensive ruinedcastle, prob-
ably occupies the site of the Roman station Icorigium. — 60 M.
Lissendorf (13601£t.). The train descends, passing between this point
and Tréves over 44 bridges and viaducts, and through 10 tunnels.

63 M. Hillesheim (1290 ft.; Kloep, Fasen, both very fair), a
small town with 1200 inhab., 2 M. to the E. of the station. The
(4 M.) Kyller Hohe commands a beautiful view.

The Casselburg (see below) may be ascended from Hillesheim station in
11/ hr. We descend the valley of the Kyll to (20 min.,) Niederbettingen
and (/2 hr.) Bewingen. We then take the footpath to the left, beyond
the signal-man’s hut, and ascend to (}/z hr.) the top.

FroM HILLESHEIM TO ADENAU by road, 1712 M. The best plan is to
leave the road at (3 M.) Kerpen, with a ruined castle, and proceed to
(11/2 M.) Niederehe (Schmitz), with an old convent-church containing in-
teresting monuments. Thence by a footpath, along the stream, to the
Nohner Mihle, the ruin and waterfall of Dreimithlen, and Ahitte (Fasen).
From Ahiitte we follow the valley of the Akbach to (!/z hr.) the pictur-
esque ruin of Neu-Blankenheim. Hence we ascend by a path to the right
(E.) to the (/2 hr.) Nohn road, follow this to Kirmudscheid, and either
take the road to the right vid Wirst and Honnerath or proceed vid Bar-
weiler (Servatius), Wiesenscheid, and Nirburg to Adenau (p. 102); or we
may go vid Antweilesr and Aremberg to Dimpeifeld (p. 102).

The most interesting part of the line begins below Hillesheim.
The valley, which is fertile and well-cultivated, is enclosed by pre-
cipitous and partly-wooded limestone rocks of most picturesque
forms. To the right of the village of Pelm (*Bahnhof-Hétel; Britz;
station on the Andernach railway, 11/4 M. to the N. E. of Gerolstein;
see p. 208), famed for its ‘Gerolsteiner Schlossbrunnen’ waters, rises
a wooded hill (1560 ft.) crowned with the ruined Casselburg (ascent
by the road from the Kyll bridge in 20-25 min., from the Hillesheim
rail. station in 11/4 hr.), once the ancestral castle of the knights of
Castelberg. The main tower, 164 ft. high, commands a splendid
view of the Kyllthal and the Eifel. The key is kept at the forester’s
opposite (rfmts.).

The Papenkaul (p. 206) may be reached from the forester’s house in
40 min.; near it is a stalactite cavern, known as the Buchenloch, in which
some colossal fossilised bones were lately found. From the Papenkaul we
descend to Gerolstein in /4 hr., Epa.ssing the lime-tree mentioned below.

The valley of Gees, to the S.E. of Pelm, abounds in fossils.

69 M. Gerolstein. — Hotels (1/z M. from the station); *Post, with
veranda, restaurant, and garden; Heck, R. & B. 2-21/3, D. 11/,-13/, ¥, very
fair; GEROLSTEIN, R. 11/5-21/2, D. 11/; .#, unpretending.

Railway Station (restaurant) on the opposite bank of the Kyll.

Gerolstein (1230 ft.), with 1300 inhab., one of the most pictur-~
esque places in the Eifel, is situated on the side of a rocky hill, and
commanded by a ruined castle, built by Gerhard von Blankenheim
in 1115, and afterwards in the possession of the Counts of Mander-
scheid. The Castle, reached from the station in 1/4 hr., past the
church, and then to the left, affords a fine view of the Kylithal
and the lava-formations on the opposite side.” The"best' view of
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Gerolstein itself is obtained from the Linden-Strasse, a few hundred
paces beyond a large and venerable lime-tree, on the footpath to the
Munter Ley, reached in 5 min. from the Kyll bridge by crossing
the railway. The view from the (20 min.) flag-staff, higher up, is
more extensive but less picturesque. Still farther up is the Papen-
kaul (1825 ft.), a small extinct crater, from which a narrow stream
of lava descends by a grassy valley on the N. side into the Kyllthal
(from the Papenkaul to the Casselburg 1/p hr.; red way-marks).
The entire neighbourhood of Gerolstein is very interesting in a geo-
logical point of view. Besides the volcanic formations, aqueous lime-
stone, containing innumerable fossil shells, also oceurs. The best
known: of the numerous minersl springs are the Florabrunnen, the
Sprudel, snd the Hansabrunnen, the water of which is freely ex-
ported. — The volcanic Dietzenley (1905 ft.), 3 M. to the S., near
Bilscheich, commands an extensive view. — Railway from Gerolstein

to Daun and Andernach, see p. 208.

FroM GEROLSTEIN TO 8. ViTm, 8681/3 M., by the ‘Hohe-Venn-Bahn',
railway in 2%/, hrs. The chief intermediate station is (16 M.) Priim (1400 ft.;
Goldener Stern, R. 11/2, pens. 41/3-5 4 ; Kaiserhof, pens. 3 .4), situated on the .
brook of that name, at the 8. end of the Schneifel (p. 202), anciently the seat
of a Benedictine abbey founded by the Merovingians in 720, and once in the
enjoyment of political independence, but suppressed by the French in 1801.
Pop. . The church, containing the tomb of Lothaire I. (d. 8565), dates
from the 16th century. About 5 M. to the N. are the picturesque ruins of
Schinecken. — 21 M. Bleialf. — 36Y/; M. 8t. Vith, an old town with 2000 in-
hab., is the junction of lines to Maimedy and Aiz-ia-Chapelie (see p. 13)
and of a military railway to Ulfingen (Luxembourg).

Walkers should choose the OLp RoaDp FROM GEREOLSTEIN TO DauN
(10 M.), which diverges to the right from the new road at the upper end
of Pebm (p. 204). It ascends rapidly and soon reaches its highest point at
(3 M.) Kirchweiler (Schleemer), whence the Erensberg (2263 ft.) to the N. and
the Scharteberg ft.) to the 8., the latter even more distinctly recognis-
able than the former as an extinct volcano, may be ascended. The cir-
cular crater is sur ded with blistered of slag. About 100 ft.
helow the summit begin the lava- st which d d towards the N.
8., and E. The last of these, although almost everywhere covered with
‘rapilli’ (or ‘lapilli’, small round nodules of lava) and volcanic sand, is
traceable by the occasional protrusion of the rock through its superficial
covering, and may be ined in the q ies worked in it in the di-
rection of Steindorn, where a transverse section of two streams lying one
above the other is exposed to view. The lowest stratum consists of
porous and but slightly cleft basaltic lava; above it lies slag, 8-4 ft. in
thickness; mnext comes a layer of rapilli and volcinic sand; and finally,
next the surface, basaltic ‘1iva again. A little farther to the 8. is the
Nerother Kopf (2420 ft.). a hill of slag crowned with a ruined castle and
containing a picturesque grotto. — Beyond Kirchweiler the hilly road to
Daun next passes Steinborm, where there is a mineral spring (to the left
the Felsberg, to the right the Rémmerfch, two craters with lava-streams),
and Neuskirchen.

To the right, beyond Gerolstein, are the castle-like rock of
Auburg and the steep crags of [the Munter Ley}(see]above). At
Lissingen are two castles, adjoining each other and still occupied. —
74 M. Birresborn (1205 ft.; Krone), a village of 1000 inhab. on the
right bank of the Kyll, connected by a stone bridge with the railway
station on the left bank. About1!/4 M. above the village is situated
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the Mineral Spring of Birresborn, the strongest and best-known of
the chalybeate springs of the Eifel.

761/y M. Mirlenbach (1060 ft.; Krumpen), a village (1000 inhab.)
with the ruins of a castle founded by the Merovingians and rebuilt
in the 17th century. — 78 M. Densborn (1210 ft.), with two ruined
castles. The limestone-rocks are now succeeded by variegated sand-
stone. The line traverses a pleasant wooded tract, and passes the
villages of Zendscheid and Utsch and the suppressed Cistercian nan-
nery of St. Thomas, built in 1185. The fine church was erected in
the transition style about 1225. The train passes through a tunnel.

841/, M. Kyllburg. — Hotels. *Errerer Hor, 8 min. from station,
with veranda, R. 28, B. 3/y, D. 2, pens. 41/>-81/; #; BreeN, R. 1-11), B. 3/,
D. 11/3-2. pens. 4-4Y/; M ; Post, R. 11/2 #, B. 60 pf.; GERONNE. — Eife}-Bad
(on the Kneipp system), pens. 40-50 4 weekly.

Kyliburg (895 ft.), another very picturesque place, with 1100
inhab., lies on an eminence paxtly enclosed by the Kyll. From the
station we follow the road as far as the Kyll bridge and then, at
the tunnel, the steep main street to the Stern Inn. Hence we may
ascend to the right to the Mariensdule (20 min.; key at the rail-
way-station, 25 pf.), a tower affording a fine view of Kyllburg. On
2 height to the left, reached by way of the ‘Eifeler Hof’, stands the
handsome Gothic Stiftskirche (1200 ft.), built in 1276, with good
choir - stalls, interesting tombstones, and stained glass of 1534,
from designs after Diirer (key kept at the par ge, the last h
to the right, opposite the old watch-tower). The adjacent cloisters,
recently restored, and the chapter-house, to the E. of the cloisters,
date from the 14th century. A pleasant promenade (indicated by
a finger-post at the upper well, to the left) leads round the slope of
the hill for about 2 M.; another, the ‘Ringpfad’, runs along above
the left bank and is reached by orossing the bridge and keeping to
the right. Fine view from the ‘Wilsecker Linde’, to the S., also
reached by crossing the stream and turning to the right.

On a height on the Kyll, 11/3 M. to the W. of Kyllburg, rises the

chiteau of Malberg, incorporated with an old castie and commanding a
fine view.

Vid Eisenschmiit (T1/z M. ; diligence) or vid Oberkail, Bettenfeld, and the
berg to Manderscheid, see p. 210s

U

The train now passes through a short tunnel and crosses the
Kyll. The brook here describes a circuit, which the railway cuts off by
means of the Wilseck Tunnel. — 88 M. Erdorf (18D ft.; Weinard)
is the station for Bitburg (4 M. distant; diligence six times daily
in 4 br.).

The road to Bitburg crosses the Kyll. Immediately beyond the bridge
a road leads to the right to (2 M.) Fliessem (Leonardy), near which, in
the Odrang, are the remains of a Roman villa with several fine Roman
mosaic pavements (fee to the keeper). The Odrang is }/zhr.’s walk from
Erdorf by the path diverging to the left from the Fliessem road.

Bitburg (1008 ft.; Post; Junggeburth) was the Bedae Vicus of the Ro-
mans, and a atation on their road from Tréves to Cologne, several of the
milestones of which have been found in the neighbourhood.Pop. 2800.
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The line continues to follow the picturesque wooded *Valley of
the Kyll, bounded by sandstone-rocks. The brook now becomes na-
vigable for rafts. Tunnels and bridges follow each other in rapid suc-
cession, and numerous mills are passed. At Hiittingen is a picturesque
waterfall, 46 ft. high, but often scanty in summer. 93 M. Philipps-
heim (600 ft.), the station for (11/;M.) Dudeldorf, with an old castle.
95 M. Speicher ; the village, with important potteries, lies on the hill,
11/, M. to the E. 97 M. Auw, with a pilgrimage-church, erected in
1708-46.— 1041/, M. Cordel (4801t.), with large quarries, where hun-
dreds of fiint-axes have been found. To the right of the station rises
the ruined castle of Ramstein, erected in the 14th century. — 107 M.
Ehrang, the last station, lies at the junction of the Kyllthal with the
valley of the Moselle, and is connected by a line of rails with the
Quint (p. 202). Beyond Pfalsel, the Moselle is crossed; the station
of Tréves is at the E. end of the town.

112 M. Tréves, see p. 182.

b. Railway from Andernach to Mayen and Gerolstein.

581/3 M. RaLway in about 4 hrs. (fares 5.4 70, 3 # 80 pf.).

From Andernach to (91/o M.) Niedermendig, see p. 102. — 121/, M.
Cottenheim (Eich; May). To the right is the Mayener Bellenberg,
beyond which rises the Ettringer Bellenberg (see below).

141/, M. Mayen (780 ft.; Kohlhaas, in the Markt, R. 11/5-2,
B. 3/4, D. 11/y 4; Miiller's, both very fair), a town with 12,000 in-
hab., possesses a late-Gothic church and a partly-preserved castle
(Genoveva-Burg, restored in 1893-94). To the N. of the station are
several lava-quarries, but nearer the surface than those at Nieder-
mendig, and some of them partly open.

The lava-bed in which they are worked is the outlet of the ancient
volcano of Ettringer Bellenberg (1405 ft.), 11/2 M. to the N. of Mayen. The
E. side of the crater commands a fine view of the fertile plain of the Mai-
feld and Pellenz between Mayen and Andernach, and of the Rhine Valley.
A more extensive view is enjoyed from the Hochsimmei (1820 ft.), ascended
from Mayen in 11/3 hr., vid St. Jokann. — A good road leads from Mayen
to the N.W., through the pretty valley of the Nette, to (3 M.) the well-
preserved turreted chiteau of *Biirreshesm, on a hill partly surrounded
by the Nette. It is mentioned in history as early as the 12th cent., and
now belongs to Count Renesse-Breitbach.

Diligences ply once a day from Mayen to (18!/z M., in 4-41/2 hrs.)
Adenau, vid Clirrenberg and Virneburg (Miiller); and to (101/z M., in 2}/3 hrs.)
Miinster-Maifeld (p. 1&2).

"The train skirts the town, crosses the valley of the Nette by a
viaduct 115 yds. long, passes the station Mayen- West, and then pen-
etrates the watershed between the Nette and Elz by a tunnel 520 yds.
in length. A shorter tunnel follows,

21 M. Monreal (980 ft.; Lunnebach), charmingly sitmated in
the valley of the Elz, has two ruined castles, the Resch and Mon-
real. The latter, the more important of the two, dates from 1229.
The chapel in the cemetery contains some interesting remains of

old frescoes.
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Fine retrospect as we proceed. — 25 M. Urmersbach, in the
Stellbach-Thal. — 27 M. Kaisersesch (1500 ft.; Post, very fair,
pens. 3 .4 ; Schwan) lies 2/3 M. from the station. In the wood, near
the latter, may be distinguished the broad embankment of a Roman
military road, almost parallel with which are a moat and rampart,
extending across the whole Eifel district.

Excellent slates (‘Clottener Leien’) are quarried at Masburg, Urmers-
back, and other places to the N.-W. and W. of Kaisersesch.

Frox EarsersgscH 1o CocHEx (p. 193), 9 M., diligence twice daily in
2 hrs. (in the other direction 21/ hrs.). The road passes Landkern, with
the small Dreifaltigkeits-Capelle (‘Chapel of the Trinity’), containing an an-
cient column, with curious reliefs of the Trinity, the Crucifixion, and the
Virgin with her dead Son. Farther on the road joins the Ender-Thal and
passes near the Winneburg (p. 194).

The railway ascends beyond the Wolfsberg (1785 ft.) to (30 M.)
Laubach-Miillenbach (1575 ft.), with a view extending on the S.W. over
the Vorder-Eifel, and on the S. over the hills of the Moselle to the
Hunsriick. — 33 M. Uersfeld. — 36 M. Ulmen (1455 ft.; Bahnhofs-
Hétel, R. & B. 2-21/, M ; Fransen; Schlags), on the Ulmener Maar,
with a ruined castle and a high-lying church. — 391/, M. Utserath.

From (42M.) Darscheid (Kauth) a picturesque walk may be taken
through the Lehwald and over the Hardt to (11/4-11/o hr.) the Wein-
felder Maar (p. 209; comp. the Map). The view from the Hardt
resembles that from the Mauseberg.

The line now descends along the Firmerich (1620 ft.), an ex-
tinct crater, into the valley of the Lieser.

441/, M. Daun. — Hotels. °Scuramu, at the W. end of the town,
R. & B. 2-2'/;, D. 11/2-2, pens. 4-0 4 ; “HomuMEs, near the S. end of the town,
similar prices; DAUNER Hor, near the station, R. & B. 2&3—2%, D. 11/2-2, pens.
32 K. — Bathing House at the Gemiinder Maar (p. 209; key kept at Daun).

Carriage to Manderscheid or Lutzerath. 10-12 4. — Diligence twice
daily to (10 M.) Manderscheid and (9/z M.) Gillenfeld.

The Railway Station of Daun lies on the left bank of the Lieser, the
town on the right.

Daun (1310 ft.), a town with 41100 inhab., lies picturesquely in
the valley of the Lieser, on the slope of a hill which is crowned
with the remains of the old Schloss of the Counts of Daun, a cel-
ebrated family, several members of which distinguished themselves
in the Austrian service. The castle was stormed in 1352 by Baldwin
of Trdves and William of Cologne. The building on the hill, which
was formerly occupied by a bailiff of the Elector of Tréves, is now
the chief forester’s residence. Several mineral springs.

To the 8. of Daun rises the Wehrbiisch (1607 ft.), a lava-hill, crowned
with a pi t in of the war of 1870-74. — To the
W. of Daun is the Warth (1625 ft.). The Nerother Kopf, mentioned at
P.- 205, is 4 M. to the N.W.

The train ascends the valley of the Lieser to (46 M.) Rengen and
reaches its highest point (1860 ft.) beyond (501/3 M.) Dockweiler-
Dyeis. Then through a pretty valley to (031/3 M.) Hohenfels, in a vol-
canic basin, (57 M.) Pelm, and (681/; M.) ‘Gerolstein’(see p. 204).
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c. Walk from Daun to Kyllburg vik Gillenfeld and Manderscheid.

Firsr DAY. By the Dauner Maare, the Mduseberg, and Mehren to the
Pulvermaar, 8 hrs.; to Gillenfeld, 1/z hr.; vid the Belvedere to Manderscheid,
23/4 hrs. — SECOND Dax. Over the Mosenberg to Bettenfeid, 11/2 hr.; to
Ei, hmitt, 11/z hr.; th to Kylburg, 7V/2 M.

Our first goal is the three DAUNER MAARE, or crater-lakes of Daun,
which lie 21/5-4 M. to the S.E. of Daun, in an extensive bed of
voleanic deposits, consisting of scoriz, rapilli, and occasional strata
of volcanic tufa. We follow the Manderscheid road (from which,
1/ M. from Daun, a road diverges to the left to the church of
Weinfeld and Schalkenmehren) to the village of Gemiinden (1 M.),
which lies to the right on the Lieser. A finger-post indicates the
way (to the left) to the (0 min.) Gemiinder Maar and the Miuse-
berg. The *Gemiinder Maar (1335 ft.) is the smallest of the crater-
lakes of Daun. Itlies in a partly-wooded basin, and is about 18 acres
in area and 125 ft. in depth. Those who do not wish to descend to
the bank of the lake proceed direct to the Miuseberg (way-post).
In 10 min. the shady road emerges from the wood and affords a
beautiful *View of the Gemiinder Maar, with Daun and its wooded
hills beyond it. We then ascend to (10 min. farther) the nearly
barren summit of the Méuseberg (1840 ft.), which commands a
fine view, especially from the trigonometrical signal on the E. side.
In the foreground lie the solitary Weinfelder Maar (1590 ft.),
another of these crater-lakes, 42 acres in area and 170ft. in depth,
and the Weinfelder Kirche, the only relic of the village of Weinfeld,
now used as a burial-chapel. (From the Mauseberg back to Daun ¥i4
the Weinfelder Kirche, 3/¢ hr.) — To the S. E. of the Weinfelder
Maar les the Schalkenmehrer Maar (1380 ft.), the third of the lakes
of Daun, 55 acres in area, 65 ft.in depth, and drained on the S.
side by the Alfbach (p. 196). The bed of peat on the E. side is
believed by geologists to be the site of a still older crater, which
was afterwards partly filled in consequence of an eruption from the
crater now occupied by the lake.

A well-marked path (‘Lieser-Weg') leaves the Schalkenmehrer Maar
on the left for Trittscheid, and follows the Lieser down to Manderscheid
(3-81/2 hrs.).

By proceeding towards the E. across the ridge between the two
Maare, we reach (11/oM.) the village of Mehren (Herbrand-Knodt ;
Frangen, both very fair), situated on the highroad 41/, M. to the
S. E. of Daun and 3 M. to the S. of Darscheid (p. 208 ; a pleasant
walk through the Lehwald). — Near Steineberg, about 11/4 M. from
Mehren and 2 M. from Darscheid, is the Ringwall, an extensive
prehistoric burial-ground commanding a fine view (best from the
platform at the top).

‘We follow the road, parts of which are shaded by trees, for about
4 M. farther, take the Gillenfeld road to the right, and diverge by
a footpath to the left to the *Pulvermaar (13501t.); themostbeau-
tiful and, after the Laacher See (p. 104), the largest of these crater-
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lakes, 99 acres in area and 250 ft. deep, situated in a basin fringed
with woods. The hills (ca. 230 ft.) on its banks consist almost en-
tirely of volcanic sand, which appears as a black powider in the water
of the lake. On the S. side rises the Romersberg (1565 ft.), a con-
siderable rock composed of slag. From this point to Strotzbiisch,
see p. 197: to Lutzerath, 5 M.

About 11/3 M. to thc W. of thc Pulvermaar lies the village of
Gillenfeld (1336 ft.; Clasen, Zillgen, both vory fair; diligence to
Daun, p. 208; carr. to Manderscheid 8 .4).

At 8'rohn, 2 M. to the 8. of Gillenfeld, the valley of the Alf cuts into
the lava-deposits of the Wartesberg (1605 ft.), one of the largest volcanic
* hills of the Eifel. It is undoubtedly acrater, though its form is not easily
recognized as sach.

FroM GILLBENFBLD TO MANDERSCHEID, 6 M. After about 1 M.
the road lcads for a short distance through wood, affording a view
of the small Holzmaar to the right. Eckfeld is passed 2 M. farther
on, and then (1 M.) Buchhols, with the church common to these
two villages. Near Buchholz, beyond Hoffmannn's Inn, a footpath di-
verges to the right, which is joined 10 min. farther on by another
path coming from the church of Buchholz. Here we again turn to
the right and after a walk of 10 min. more through trees reach the
*Belvedere, one of the most beautiful points near Mandcrscheid,
which affords a striking view of the castles of Manderscheid rising
from the valley below, with the Mosenberg and other hills in the
background. The stump of a column from a Roman villa on the
Mosenberg commemorates the visit of Frederick William IV. in
1833. — From the Belvedere we may descend by a steep and
fatiguing path to the (12 min.) Lieser and re-ascend in 12 min. more
to the saddle by the upper castle, near which we enjoy to the left
a charming view of the lower castle; thence by the ridge to a small
view-temple and to (10 min.) Manderscheid. — Another path is
indicated by a finger-post about 80 yds. before we reach the Bel-
vedere, leading in 1/4 br. to Nieder-Manderscheid, in the valley of
the Lieser, where we regain the highroad. The road crosses the
Lieser (fine view from the bridge) and ascends to (3/4-1 M.)
Manderscheid.

FroM DaUN TO MANDERSCHEID, direct (10 M.; diligence twice daily in
21/4 hra.). This road passes above Geminden (p. 209) to Weyersbach, quits
the valley of the Lieser, and ascends to Uedersdorsf. The lofty and im-
posing masses of lava which the road traverses between these villages are
believed to owe their origin partly to a volcano to the 8. of Uedersdorf,
which culminates in the Weberley (1630 ft.), a slag-hill near the valley of the
Kleine Kyll, and partly to a volcanic mountain (1770 ft.) rising towards the
N.W. Halfway between Uedersdorf and Mand heid lies Bleckh

Manderscheid. — Hotels. Zexs, R. 11/2-2, B. 3/, D. 11/3-2, pens.
3'/>-b #; He, R. & B. 22, D. 13/4,-2, pens. 4 #; MOLLEJANS, R.11/2,
B. 3/, D. 2-3, pens. 4-41/; 4, all three fair. — CARRIAGE to the Mosen-
be g b, to Eiscnschmitt 8, to Daun 8, to Wittlich 9-10, Bertrich 15. Gillen-
feld 6. Kyllburg 14 (vid Himmerod 168), Gerolstein via Nerothl| 42 4.

" Diligence t Daun, see p. 208; to ({21/2 M.) Wittlich (p. 198) once daily
in 28/4 hrs., vid G@ross-Litgen and Minder-Litgen.
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Manderscheid (1270 f¢.), a village of some importance, with 850
inhab., lies on a lofty plain between the Lieser and the Kleine
Kyll. On the S. E. side, in a singularly picturesque situation, are
‘two *Castles, perched on jagged slate-rocks rising precipitously from
the deep valley of the Lieser, the ancient seat (first mentioned
in 889) of the Counts of Manderscheid who became extinct in 1780.
The upper castle now belongs to Count Briihl, the lower one to the
Eifel Verein. Manderscheid-is a good halting-place for a day or
two. Fine views from the Constantinswdldchen (there and back
3/4hr.) and the Friedrichsplats (there and back 25 min.). To reach
the above-mentioned Belvedere (35 min.) we take the footpath to
the left, 250 paces beyond the bridge over the Lieser, which leads
up from behind a shrine, and twice crosses the Buchholz road,
after which we follow this road as far as the wood and then diverge
to the left.

The most interesting volcanic mountain of the Eifel is the con-
spicuous, three-peaked MoseNBERG, 1 hr. to the W. of Mander-
scheid. We first follow the Bettenfeld road, which descends into
the valley of the Kleine Kyll, crosses the stream at the Heidsmiihle
(inn), and rapidly re-ascends. We take a path to the left at the
second bend, which traverses ficlds, passes the marshy Hinkelsmaar,
and th;n leads to the left to the barren summit (shelter-hut built
of slag).

The Mosenberg (1720ft.) is a long hill of lava extending from
N. to S., wooded on the E. side, but denuded by volcanic action on
the W. It has four craters, the lava-walls of which rise fantastically
to a height of 50 ft. The basalt and slag which form the summit
have here protruded 250 ft. through the grauwacke. The N. crater,
formerly filled with water, was drained in 1846, and now yields
peat. The huge lava - stream which has issued from an opening in
the S. crater may be traced as far as the (3/4 M.) Horngraben (foot-
path), where it reaches the Kieine Kyll, and rises in perpendicular
lava-cliffs 100 ft. in height. The comprehensive view extends as
far as the Hunsriick on the S, — By following the Horngraben from
the Mosenberg we may reach the (1 hr.) Manderscheid and Kyli-
burg road near the Neumiihle (see below).

On the plateau, 1 M. to the W. of the Mosenberg, lies the village of
Bettenfeld (Stadifeld, clean), whence a road leads to (4Y/z M.; footpath
shorter) Eisenschmitt (p. 212) and another (partly footpath; warked in
blue) to (3/4 hr.) the Saimthal, and so to (3/s br.) Oberkasi (p. 212).

About 11/z M. to the N. of the Mosenberg lies the Mcerfelder Maar
(105 ft.; 60 acres in extent, 38 ft. deep), one of the largest craters of the

.Eifel, but containing no water except on one side. Oa the W. bank is
the village of Meerfeid.

FroM ManpemsomEip To Kyrieure, 14 M. [Walkers should
follow the path vid the Mosenberg and Bettenfeld, which is in-
dicated by blue marks and from Bettenfeld on leads through wood.]
The road soon descends into the valley of the Kieine Kyll, crosses
the river, and passes the (21/, M.) Neumiihle, where the above-

14+
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mentioned path from the Mosenberg joins the road. Just beyond
this point the Fischbach flows into the Kyll. The scenery of the
valley here is picturesque and imposing. The road then winds up
the left bank of the Fischbach, and after 11/, M. divides, the left
branch leading to Wittlich (p. 198), the right to Kyllburg. The
latter leads through wood to (31/o M.) —

7 M. Eisenschmitt ( Wagner-Jung, very fair; Miiller, new), on
the Salm. — In the valley of the Salm, 1/y M. to the 8., on the
road to Wittlich, is the cloth—factory of Eichelhiitte (Inn, with
garden, pens. 4-5 .4). About 11/; M. farther down are the extensive
ruins of the Benedictine abbey of Himmerod, founded in 1439 by
St. Bernard of Clairvaux; the Gothic cloisters are the chief
remains (inn).

From Eisenschmitt we ascend in windings, which pedestrians
may avoid (steep path in 20 min.), to (11/3 M.) Schwarsenborn
(Timpen), b!/g M. from Kyllburg. Farther on we pass (1 M.)
Oberkail (Jabusch), with the scanty ruins of an old castle, a church
erected in 1787, and fragments of a Roman wall, which once
extended from this vicinity to Bitburg. We reach (41/o M.) Kyliburg
by the bridge over the Kyll (see p. 206).

27. From Coblenz to Wetzlar.
Ems and the Valley of the Lahn.
Comp. Maps, p. 112, 316.

64 M. RaiLwaY by Niederlahnstein to (10/z M.) Ems in 1/3-3/; hr. (fares
1.4 40, 1 4 10, 70 pf.), to Weislar in 2/3-81/s hrs. (8 .4 40, 6 4 30, 4 .4
20 pf.; express 9 4 40 pf., T .4, & 4 90 pf.). Nassau, Schaumburg, Lim-
burg, Weilburg, and Wetzlar are the most picturesque points.

Coblens, see p. 100. The train crosses the Rhine by the bridge
mentioned at p. 110, and passes through a cutting on the landward
side of Horchheim (comp. p. 143)

3 M. Niederlahnstein (p. 113 ; Railway Restaurant), the junction
of the railways from Ehrenbreitstein and to Wiesbaden (p. 140).
Travellers for these lines change carriages.

The train now skirts the Allerheiligen-Berg (p. 113), crosses the
Lahn, and ascends on the left bank, where the line from Ober-
lahnstein (p. 114) is joined. Several iron-works are observed. The
river is provided with numerous locks to facilitate the navigation
of the barges which convey to the Rhine the ores yielded by this
district. — 6 M. Friedrichssegen, the station for the lead and silver
mines of the same name, which lie about 11/ M. to the E. — 81/3 M.
Nievern, with the large Nieverner Hiitte.

10!/ M. Ems. — Hotels (the large ones generally open in summer
only; hotel-omnibuses at the station). On the right bank of the Lahm:
*RoYaAL CurBAUS, With its dépendance Commissariats-Gebdude, R. 2:10, B. 11/,
D. 82, pens. from T/, 4 ; *HOTEL DES QUATRE-SAT80NS ET DE L’EUROPE, near
the Cursaal, R. 2!/25, B. 11/, D. 81/z, pens. 8-11 4 ; “HOT&L D'ANGLETERRE,
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at the lower end of the promenade, with large garden, R. from 3'/2, B. 11/2,
D. 81z, pens. from 8 .4; °DarMsTADTER HOF, near the bridge, R. 2/3-b,
B. {1/s, D. 312, pens. 8 .4; B3reL DE RUSSIE, near the Wandelbahn, R. 2-6,
B. 11/;, D. 31/2, pens. from T 4. — PROMENADE, near the bridge, with
café and open-air restaurant, R. 2 .4 203 .4 70 pf., B. 1.4, D. 2 & 30 pf.,
pens. 51/3-1Y/2 4, well spoken of; BristoL, opposite the Vier Thiirme,
with garden, R. 21/3-5'2, B. 1, D. 21/2, pens. 528 .4; StapT Wiks-
BADEN, opposite the Wandelbahn, R. 3-‘1, B. 1, D. 2!/, pens. from 6,
electric light 1 4 per week; MgTROPOLE; Hor voN HoLLaND, R. from 2,
B.1, D. 2 3. 5-6 4; Lowe, BR. 11/3-3, B. 1, D. 2, pens. 57 4;
‘WEILBURGER Hor, R. 2-21/2, B. 3/s, D. 11/4-2, pens. 4!/3-6 #; Wrisses
Ross (see below), R. 2-81/2, B. 1, D. 21/; 4 ; KAISERHOF; SCHUTZENHOF,
opposite the Vier Thiirme, with its dépendance Rhenania, R. 24, B. 1,

.2 & 30 pf. — In the lower part of the town: HOTEL-PENS. SoLTAU, pens.
5'/+-8 A4 ; HorEL-PENs. ScHLOss LaNeeNaU, R. 11/24, B. 1, D. 2-2!/3, pens.
5-8 .. — RaEgINISCHER HoOF (good and moderate), in the village of Ems. —
On the left bank (cooler than the rig‘ht bank): *RGMERBAD, with a private
spring (p. 214), R. 21/s-15, B. 11/s, D. 81z, pens. from 8 .4 ; *HOTEL GUTTEN-
BERG, with lift and garden, R. 241/3, B. 11/, D. 81/, pens. from 8 4 ; HoTeL
pE FLANDRE, opioaite the station, with garden, R. 11/3-8, B. 1, D. 2, pens.
5-7 4; HitsL Rovar: HOTEL-PENsION 8CHLOSS JOHANNISBERG, D. 2 4,
well spoken of. — HOTEL-RESTAURANT ROTTMANNSHOHE (p. 215), prettily
situated halfway up the Malberg, with view.

Private Hotels, On the right bank: °Vigr THORME (p. 218), in
the grounds of the Curhaus, with lift, R. from 2!/2, B. 11/s, D. 3, pens.
from T'/s 4. On the left bank: *VirLa BeLra Riva, with its dépendance
Villa Petit Elisée, near the Kaiser-Briicke. R. 21/o-4, B. 11/, D. 31/3, pens.
T/2-10 8. — There are also numerous LopciNeg Housks, most of which also
receive passing travellers. Some of them are very comfortably fitted up.
The more remote houses are of course the least expemsive. Breakfast
and tea are provided at all of these, but dinner more rarely.

Restaurants and Oafés. Curhaus, with table d’hdte, and Cursaal, both
of the first class; Villa Beriot, with a garden, on the left bank of the Lahn;
Kaiser-Café and Café Ziepert, both also fectioners; 4l fa, these three
near the station; also at all the hotels. Hohen-Mailberg Restaurant (p. 215);
Schweigerhduschen, on the slope of the Malberg (p. 215); Jungfernhdhe,
2 site the Baderlei (p. 216); Silberau, at the end of the Konig-Wilhelms-

ée; Lindendach (&1215), 11/ M. from the Cursaal. — Wine: Goldenes
Fass, opposite the Cursaal; Old German Wine Room, opposite the Vier
Thirme. — Beer: Lywe, Weisses Ross, Goldenes Fass, Stadt Wiesbaden, Ale-
mannia, Weilburger Hof (for all these, see above); Villa St. George, Labn-
8tr. 86, with garden, D. 11/2-2 4.

Oabs. Drive within the precincts of the town, one-horse cab, 70 pf.,
two-horse cab, 1 .4 ; per hr. 3 or 4!/2 4; to Kloster Arnstein and back,
10Y/z or 16 .4 ; to Kemmenau and back 7Yz or 11 .4; to Ober-Lahnstein
TV or 11, there and back 9Y/s or 14. to Arenberg and back 10 or 15, to
Nassau and back 61/; or 10 .4. Cabs drawn by mules or ponies are cheaper.

Wire-rope Railway to the to&of the Malberg (p. 215), starting near the
Kaiser-Briicke, in 8 min. (fare 80, down 50 pf., return-ticket 1 .4, sub-
scription for a month 5 .#); trains almost hslf-i:ourly.

Visitors® Tax, after a shg of T days, for 1 pers. 18 .4, each addit.
member of the same family 9 .#. Day-ticket, admitting to the Cursaal
and the afternoon and evening concerts, 80 pf., or, on special occasions,
1 4. — The charges for baths vary in the different houses from 1 4
to 3 4. — For drinking the waters at the royal springs a ticket (‘Br
karte’; 6 .#) is necessary.

Music 7 to 8.30 a.m., the hours during which the waters are drunk;
4 t0 5.80 p.m. in the public grounds; and 8 to 9.30 p.m. in the Cursaal. At
the latter symphony-concerts are also given. — Theaire, in'the HAt. Mctro-
pole (see above).
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of slate crowned with the Concordia Thurm (860 ft. ; rfmts.), a view-
tower. Halfway up is the Mooshiitte, a pavilion commanding an
admirable survey of Ems, below whichis a monument to the warriors
of 1870-71. We reach the summit in 3/,~4 hr. by following the
Graben - Strasse, above the Curhaus, and then ascending by the
stony footpath passing the war-monument and the Mooshiitte, or by
the broad road to the right farther on. The Bismarck Promenade,
diverging to the left at the beginning of the latter, leads round the
Pfahlgraben to the (3/4 br.) Bismarck Tower on the Klopp, whence
we descend to Dorf Ems (fine views).

The Kemmenauer HBhe, or Schéne Aussicht (1440 ft.), 11/z hr. to the
N. of Ems, is one of the highest points to the N. of the Lahn, and com-
mands an extensive and interesting view of the valley of the hhine, the
Taunus, and the Eifel Mts.

On the hill between Ems and Braubach are situated the Oberlahn-
sleiner Forsthaus, 1/ hr. from the siation of Hof-Zollgrund (p. 115), and
the village of Friicht, which contains the burial-vault of the famous
Prussian minister Baron 8tein (1757-1831; see below). The epitaph contains
a tribute to the strong and upright character of the statesman. Frau Epp-
stein at Friicht keeps the keys of the chapel (gratuity). — A direct road
leads from Ems to Friicht (3 M.); or we may reach it by woodland paths
in 3/ hr. from the Malberg (p. 215). The route vid the Schweizer-Thal
to Miellen and the railway-station of Nievern (1 hr.) is recommended in
returning.

RoaD to Schwalbach ( Wiesbadern) vid Nassau, see’p. 144.

RAILWAY To WETZLAR. Leaving Ems, the train passes Dause-
nau (Nasssuer Hof), on the right bank, with an ancient octagonal
tower, and still surrounded by old walls. The church (restored)
dates from the 13th, its vestibule from the 15th century. Near
Nassau we cross the Lahn.

151/3 M. (from Coblenz) Nassau. — Hotels. MGLLER, at the sta-
tion; KroNE, R. 11/2-2, B. 3/;, pens. from 41/s .#; HOTEL Nassau, Bahn-
Str. 2. — BELLEVUE, prettily situated on the left bank of the Lahn, R. 11/2-2,
D. 11/¢-21/2, pens. 4-6 M. — Union Brewery, with garden.

Hydropathic and Pine-Bath Establishment, to the W., on the road to
Ems, board and medical advice 51/2, R. 1-5 .4 per day.

Nassau (265 ft.), a small and ancient town (1900 inhab.), believed
to have existed as early as 790 under the name of Nasonga, is prettily
situated on the right bank of the Lahn (which is here crossed by a
suspension-bridge), and is much frequented by summer-visitors.
It was the birthplace of the celebrated Prussian minister Baron
Stein (see above), the last scion of a noble family that had resided
here since the 13th century. The Schloss, though modernised, dates
from 1621, and now belongs to the Countess von der Grében. In
1815 Stein caused a Gothic tower to be added to commemorate the
war of independence. This was a favourite resort of the illustrious
proprietor, who embellished it with various reminiscences of that
eventful period. Others connected with the war of 1870-71 have
been added. (Admission on Mon., Wed., & Frid., 9-11 & 2-6;
visitors deposit a donation for a charitable purpose in a box at the
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entrance.) The Schloss-Park is open to the public daily, except
Sundays, 8-12 a.m. and 2-7 p.m.

On the opposite bank of the Lahn rises a wooded eminence
(ascended from the station in 25 min.), crowned by the ruined
Castle of Nassau, erected in 1101 by Dudo IV., Count of Lauren-
burg (p. 248), whose descendants henceforth assumed the name of
Nassau; it has been suffered to fall to decay since the end of the
16th century. Lower down on the same hill are the ruins of Burg
Btein (1/3 M. from the suspension-bridge), the ancestral seat of the
Barons Stein, the earliest mention of which is in 4458, and which
was inhabited down to the end of the 17th century. The projecting
rook in front of it bears a Monument to Stein, consisting of a
highly characteristic statue in marble, by Pfuhl of Berlin, beneath
a Gothic canopy of red sandstone, 61 ft. in height, inaugurated in
1872. In his right hand the great minister holds a scroll with the
date 11th June, 1807, in allusion to his memorial regarding the
reorganisation of the Prussian state. The terrace affords a survey
of the valleys of the Lahn and Miihlbach.

The rocks of the Hohe Lei, reached from Nassau in 3/; br. (donkey
21/2 M), command a beautiful view, including the monastery of Arnstein.

Beyond Nassau the railway follows the right bank of the Lahn,
and is soon carried through a series of tunnels. Before and beyond
the second, a glimpse is obtained on the right of Burg Langenau
(3M. from Nassau, 1 M. from Obernhof), built in 1244, the ancient
seat of an Austrian family, the Rhenish branch of which became
extinet in 1603. The watch-tower and external walls are well pre-
served; within the latter farm-buildings have been erected. Beyond
the castle, on the opposite bank, rises the Kloster Arnstein, with its
church of the 12th cent. (enlarged in 1359, restored in 1885), and
other buildings, picturesquely situated on a wooded eminence. A
castle of very anoient origin which once stood here was converted
by the last Count of Arnstein or Arnoldstein into a Premonstratensian
monastery in 1208 (suppressed in 1803). It is most easily visited
from Obernhof (see below). On leaving the station we turn to the
right, and after 300 paces follow the path to the left, indicated
by a finger-post, to (3/4 M.) Arnstein (refreshments at the Kloster-
Miihle). A picturesque path leads hence to (41/3 M.) Nassau, vid
Hollrich and Berg-Nassau.

Near (18 M.) Obernhof are lead and silver mines. The station
is on the left bank and the village (Kloster Arnstein Inn) on the
right bank of the Lahn. A fine point of view in the vicinity (reach-
ed in 20 min., by an easy but shadeless path) is known as the
Goethe-Punkt, from a visit made to it by Goethe in 1814.

The line now passes through a long tunnel, beyond which the
valley contracts. Then a long curve. High up, on the slope of the
left bank, is situated the ‘Alte Haus’, a solitary fragment of wall
belonging to the old nunnery of Brunnenburg.
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241/ M. Laurenburg (320 ft.), with silver-smelting works, a
small chiteau, and the ruins of the ancestral residence of the Counts
of Nassau, who were originally Counts of Laurenburg (comp.p.217);
this castle is first mentioned in 1093 and was already a ruin in 1643.

The pi:turesque Rupbach-Thal debouches at Lauenburg. — From Laur.n-
berg a road leads vid the village of (256 min.) Scheid to (20 min.) Geilnau,
with a mineral spring, in the vallcy of the Lahn, which here describes
a wide bend.

Beyond the Cramberg Tunnel the train stops at (28 M.) Balduin-
stein (355 ft.; Noll); the imposing ruins of the castle of that name on
the right, built in 1319, rise in a narrow ravine behind the village.
A good road (carriages at the station) leads through the village in
3/4 hr. to the castle of Schaumburg; walkers ascend the steep foot-
pathfin about 25 minutes.

On the right, a little farther on, the loftily-situated castle of
Schaumburg (915 ft.), first mentioned in 1494, overlooks the valley
from a wooded basaltic peak. It was once the seat of the princes of
Anhalt-Schaumburg, at a later period that of Archduke Stephen of
Austria (d. 1867), and is now the property of Prince George Victor
of Waldeck. The castle was built before 1194, but the oldest parts
of the present building date from the 18th cent. ; the modern part,
in the English-Gothic style, was erected for Archduke Stephen by
the architect Boos of Wiesbaden. The rooms are empty; picturesque
view from the tower (adm. till 6 p.m. 25 pf., to the tower 10 pf.).
Fine park. At the foot of the castle is a good Inn (with pension),
with a picturesque garden. — We descend at first through wood,
and then through the village of Birlenbach to (3 M.) Dietz.

29 M. Fachingen (375 ft.; Anker) derives importance from its
mineral water, of which a large quantity is annually exported.

30 M. Dietz (360 ft.; Victoria, R. & B. from 21/5, D. 11/5, pens.
from 4 .4, very fair; Hof von Holland ; Rail. Restav.rant; Restaurant
Fuchs, at the rail. station), with 4300 inhab. and large marb'e-
polishing works, picturesquely situated on the hillside, close to the
Lahn, is commanded by the Peters- Kirche, built in the 13th cent.,
and by an old Castle of the Counts of Dietz and Nassau, now a house
of correction. The old Bridge across the Lahn is supported by
buttresses erected on two others belonging to an earlier bridge
(destroyed in 1552), which lie unbroken in the bed of the river. —
Through the valley of the Aar, which joins the Lahn at Dietz, runs
the Schwalbach and Wiesbaden Railway (see p. 144).

On the left bank,, 1 M. from Dietz, and connected with it by a
beautiful avenue of limes, is Schloss Oranienstein, erected in 1676,
now a Prussian military school.

32 M. Limburg (360 ft.; *Preussischer Hof, * Nassauer Hof, R. &
B. from 21/, D. 2 .#, good wine at both; Alte Post, all lcss than
1/4 M. from the station; beer at the Actienbrauerei, on the Wies-
baden road), an old town with 8500 inhab., a place of some im-

ortance in the middle ages, and now the seat of a Roman’ Catholic
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bishop, with many picturesque old houses, is situated on the Lakhn,
which is crossed here by a bridge constructed in 1315.

Near the rail. station are a new Protestant Church (Gothic) and a
War Monument. — The narrow streets of the old town ascend direct
to the *Cathedral, with its seven towers, the ‘Basilica St. Georgii
Martyris erecta 909', as the inscription above the portal records. It
rises conspicuously above the river, from the right bank of which
the best view of it is obtained. It was founded by Conrad Kurzbold,
the powerful Salic count of the Niederlahngau, remains of whose
Castle adjoin the church. The present structure (sacristan opposite
the entrance), a remarkably fine example of the Transition style,
erected in 12413-42, was skilfully restored in 1872-78. The ground-
plan shows the ‘centralising’ tendencies of the Rhenich architects of
the period. The interior has galleries, arcading, and richly articulated
surfaces. The mural paintings of the 13th cent. have been freshened
up. The church contains a font of the 13th cent., and a monument
(also 13th cent.) to the founder (d. 948), with a recumbent figure,
in front of the high-altar. The stained glass is modern. — The valu-
able treasury of the cathedral, preserved in the Parish Church, next
door to the bishop's residence, is shewn only on Wed., 11-12 and
3-6 (1-5 pers. 3 .&; apply to the dean). — A beautiful view of the
cathedral is obtained from the right bank of the Lahn.

A small STRAMBOAT plies between Limburg and Dehrn (p. 220), affording
a fBne view of Limburg cathedral and of the church of Dietkirchen (p. 220).

FroM LiMBURG TO AU, 50 M., railway in 4 hrs. This line traverses
a fertile but somewhat uninteresting district. — 181/z M. Montabaur ( Goldene
Krone), a district-town with 3600 inhab., refounded by the Archbishop of
Tréves in 1217 on the site of an ancient village and named Mons Tabor. —
22 M. Biershahn (950 ft.), the junction of the line to Engers (p. 4). — From
(251/3 M.) Seltcrs (840 ft.) a branch-line runs to Hackenturg (see below). —
The train now enters the valley of the Holzback. The next stations are
Marienrachdorf, Dierdorf, with a chiteau and park of Prince Wied, Rau-
bach, with the large paper-mill of Hedwigsthal, Puderbach, Seifen, and
Neitersen. — 46'/z M. Altenkirchen (°Luyken, R. 21/¢-21fe, D. 11/, pens.
4-41/; M), an industrial town on the Wied, with 2000 inhab., near which
the French under General Kleber defeated the Austrians in 1796. It is
the junefion of a line to Hadamar and Limburg (see below). — 49 M.
Obererbach; 6112 M. Breitscheid. — 60 M. Au, see p. 60.

FroM LIMBURG TO ALTENKIRCHEN, 40 M., railway in 3 hrs. — 6'{; M.
Hadamar (420 ft.; *Nassauer Hof), a pleasant little town (2200 inbab.)
with an old castle. — Several unimportant stations. Above (17 M.) Wester-
burg, on a conical basaltic hill, rises the chiteau of Prince Leiningen. —
23 M. Kord is the station for Marienberg (1590 ft.; Ferger), a summecr-
resort, 812 M. to the E. (diligence twice daily). — 311/z M. Hachenburg
(1245 it.; *Krone; Nassauer Hof), a town of 1700 inhab., with a chiteau
of Prince Sayn, built in the 13th, and restored in the 17th century.
Railway to Selters, see above. About 13/ M. to the N.W. of Hachenburg
is the former Cistercian convent of Marienstatt, founded in 1222 by
Heinrich III. of Sayn, with an interesting Gotbic church. — 40 M. Alten-
kirchen, see above.

From Limburg to Wiesbaden, Hichst, and Frankfort, see R. 20e.

The banks of the Lahn now become flatter. To the left lies
Dietkirchen, with the oldest church in the country, built before 801,
on a rocky hill rising abruptly from the river.”Onthe Tahn 11/, M.
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farther up, are the village and old castle of Dehrn (steamboat from
Limburg, see p. 219). — 34!/ M. Eschhofen ; 36 M. Kerkerbach.

361/, M. Runkel (370 ft.; Zur Lahnbahn, plain), an ancient
town with 4100 inhab., situated on both banks of the Lahn, com-
manded by an extensive old castle of the Princes of Wied, dating
from about 1159, perched on a rocky height, and now occupied by
the local authorities. On the hill opposite lies the village of
Schadeck, with an old castle (10 min. from the station; pretty
view). The vineyards on the steep banks of the Lahn below Runkel
are the last in this region. — Near (38!/; M.) Villmar (Basting) are
considerable marble quarries. The Bodenstein, on the left bank of
the river, bears a sandstone statue, 8 ft. high, of Conrad I. (911-918),
by L. Cauer. — 43 M. Aumenau (410 ft.), with ironstone-mines and
slate-quarries. Near (441/3 M.) Fiirfurt rises the ruined castle of
Grdveneck. After a succession of tunnels, bridges, and viaduets, the
train reaches —

50 M. Weilburg (Deutsches Haus, Traube, both very fair;
Nassauer Hof; Pension sum Riomischen Kaiser, well spoken of), a
small town with 3700 inhab., the residence of the Dukes of Nassau-
Weilburg down to 1816. Their chateau, built in the 16th cent. and
enlarged in 1721, picturesquely situated on a rocky eminence, is occu-
pied by the district-authorities. The Stadtkirche, near the chiteau,
built in 1707-11, contains the family vault of the ducal family.

To the 8. is the entrance to the pretty Weilthal, up which a railway
runs vid (212 M.) Freienfels. (A M.) Essershausen, (512 M.) Ernsthausen,
(6'/2 M.) Weilmilnster, and (@B M.) Rohnstadt, to (10 M.) Laubus- Eschbach.
From Freienfeld, with a ruined castle, a pleasant walk (2 hrs.) may be
made past the deer-park of Prince Solms, to Philippstein, with picturesque
ruins of a castle, and Braunfels (see below). — About 3 M. to the NW. of
Weilburg, on a steep basaltic hill, rises the ruin of Merenberg (key at the
village-school ; 20 pf.).

The wealth of the district consists in the presence of red iron-
stone, yielding 45-50 per cent of pure metal, between the layers of
slate. About 200,000 tons of ore are mined in the Weilburg district
yearly, in procuring which upwards of 2000 miners are engaged.

52 M. Lihnberg; 56 M. Stockhausen. — 58 M. Braunfels. In
the neighbourhood are several iron-mines.

On a hill 21/z M. to the S. of the station of Rraunfels (local railway;
carr. 3 ) is the small town (1500 inhab.) of Braunfels (385 ft; *Schloss-
Hotel, with a terrace, R. 2-3, B. 1, D. 21/, pens. 5-7 #; Schine Aussicht;
Hot. Seyd, well spoken of ; Solmser Hof, plain), the residence of the Prince
of Solms-Braunfels, whose extensive *Schloss, dating in part from the
late-Gothic period, contains interesting old armour and other curiosities
(adm. 30 pf., free on Thurs.). Pleasant grounds; fine view from the tower.

— Charming walks in the surrounding woods, and longer excursions may
be taken.

60 M. Burgsolms. From (64 M.) Albshausen (Deutscher Kaiser)
we may walk in 1/; hr. to the suppressed Premonstratensian abbey
of Altenberg, with its fine early-Gothic church (end of 413th cent.).

64 M. Wetzlar (475 ft.; Herzogliches Haus, in the town, very
fair, R. & B. 21/, D. 2 #; Hbtel Kaltwusser, comnercial, Kessel,
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both near the station ; Ortenbach’s Restaurant, wine), with 8900 in-
hab., ogce a free imperial town, is picturesquely situated on the
Lahn opposite the mouth of the Dill, 3/4 M. from the station. The
town extends along a height on the left bank. The most con-
spicuous building is the Cathedral (at present under restoration),
the oldest part of which (N.W.) dates from the 11th cent., while the
N. side, the finest part, was erected in the 14th and 15th, and the
portals in the 15th and 16th centuries. The terrace planted with limes
is adorned, on the S. side, with a monument to soldiers who fell in the
Franco-Prussian war, by Lehr. When the church was converted into
a Gothic edifice, the two low Romanesque towers (‘Heidenthiirme’)
were left standing within the large unfinished towers of red sandstone.
The nave of the cathedral is used by both Protestants and Roman
Catholics, the choir by the latter only, — On the terrace to the N.
is a War Monument. — To the S. of the cathedral, in the Butter-
markt, which is embellished with a bust of Goethe by Lehr, rises the
Guard House, built of red sandstone. — The Reichskammergericht
(courts of justice), with the imperial eagle, is opposite the Herzog-
liches Haus. The building of the Archives, near the Hauser Thor,
finished in 1806, contains Prussian state-papers.

Goethe resided at Wetzlar for some months in 1772, when he
was engaged in professional work at the Reichskammergericht, and
is said to have occupied a house, indicated by a marble tablet, in
the narrow Gewandgasse, near the corn-market. Various events
here and in the environs suggested his ‘Sorrows of Werther'.

The original of Werther was a certain Herr Jerusalem, secretary to the
Brunswick embassy, who shot himself in a house (with two bow-windows) in

the Schiller-Platz, near the Franciscan church. The Deutsches Haus, or
Lodge of the Teutonic Order (reached by the street to the left of the new
guard-h , opposite the 8. t pt of the cathedral), was the residence of
Charlotte’s father, named Buff, the manager of the estates of the Order,
and still contains & room with a few memorials of her. The house is
distinguished by an inscription; apply for admission to the custodian, who
lives behind the cathedral. Outside the Wildbacher Thor is the ‘Werther
Brunnen’, shaded by a venerable lime-tree, a favourite resort of Goethe,
by whom the pretty environs of Wetzlar have been highly extolled. A
broad road ascends on the left bank of the Lahn to (1}/2 M.) Qarbdenkeim,
the Wahlheim of Werther, situated on a hill commanding a pleasant view
of the valley. Most of the old houses in the ‘Werther-Platz’ in front of
the church were burned down in 1866. A monument here marks a
favourite seat of the poet. The traveller may return by the Bismarck Tower,
commanding a fine view. — On the slope of the Stoppeiberg (1315 ft.; view-
tower), 3 M. from Wetzlar, lies the pleasant village of Volpertshausen, in
a house in which (now a school) the ball described in Werther took place.

About 1/ M. to the S.W. of Wetzlar rises the ruined castle of
Kalsmunt, which is said to be built on Roman foundations. At the
foot of the hill is the Schiitzen-Garten (keys of castle at Wald-
schmidt’s, Schiller-Platz; 10 pf.).

From Wetzlar to Cologne or Giessen, see R. 8; to Lollar, Cassel,
and Berlin, see Baedeker's Northern Germany.
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Railway Stations. The CENTRAL StatioN (Pl B, 4, 5), a 4arge and
handsome building, with a good restaurant (D. from 12 to 2 p.m. 2 )
and baths (1 ), lies on the W. side of the town. On the E. side of the
town is the Osr-BanNmoF (Pl. H, 8) for trains to Hanau, Aschaffenburg,
and Bavaria, which join the Central Station trains at Hanau, and also
for trains to Eberbach (Stuttgart). The BEBRA StatiON (Pl. E, F, 6), in
Sachsenhausen, is the first stopping-place for the trains to Hanau, Fulda,
Bebra, etc. The OrrenBacH StatioN (Pl. F, @, §) serves the local trains
to Offenbach. — City AGENCIES of the railways: Schottenfels & Co., in the
Frankfurter Hof (see below); International Siceping Carriage Co., Kaiser-
Str. 1. — The hotels do not send omnibuses to meet the trains. Csbs
and tramways, see p.223. .

Hotels (all those of the first class have lifts and electric lighting, and
are generally heated by hot air). At the Central Station. *HOTEL D*ANGLE-
TERRE, Bahnbofs-Platz,, corner of Kaiser-Str., R. from 4, B. 1 .# 40 pf.,
D. at 1 o'cl. 4, from 5 to 8 o’cl. 52, pens. from 10 & ; *HiTeL DE Roussie
(Pl. k; B, 5), Bahnhofs-Platz 4, R. 2125, B. 114, D.4 .#; *HOreL BeristoL
(Pl. v; B, 4,5), with restaurant, café, and American bar, R & B. fr)m 4,
D. from 8 .1,- *GrAND-HéTEL NaTIONAL (Pl 1} B, b), R. 2Y/7-1/2, B.1 4 20 pf.,
D. 8 .4 ; *GraxD-HOTEL CONTINENTAL (PL. m}; B, B), R. 21/3-8, B. fllq, D.4-5.4;
Germania (Pl q; B, b), with garden, R. 2‘/2-1, B.1, D. 21,81/, #; *Savoxy
HoteL (Pl h; B, b), a hdtel garni, R.3-10, B. 1}/, .#; HoreL RovaL (Pl x;
B, 4, 5), Kronprinzen-8tr., R. 11/2-3, B. 3/y, D. 1/2-8 .4 ; *Deurscnsr KAIBER
(Fl. 03 B, b), Wiesenhiitten-Platz 86, R. & B. 3-b, D. 21/, pens. 6-8 #;
ReicnsaoF, Hohenzollern-Str. 12, at the corner of the Nidda-Str.; 8tapT
FrankrFurt (Pl. r; B, §), KOLNer Hor (Pl. s 5 B, §), Bauxaor-HOTeL (Pl. t;
B, b), three unpretending h in the Bahnhofs-Platz; STUTTGARTER
Hor, Kronprinzen-Str. 59, R. 11/>-8'/2, B. 1, D. 1123 .#; BaszLEr Hor
( Christliches Hospiz), Taunus-Str. 85, R. 11/2-5, B. 3/;-4, D. 13/s M. — In the
Town. *PaLAsT-HOTEL FoRsTENHOF (Pl b3 C, i) Gallus-Anlage 2, R. from 4,
B. 112, d¢j. 4, D, b M; *FrankrurTER HoF (Pl. a; D, 4), Kaiser-Plats, a
large establishment, with restaurant, American bar, post, telegraph, and
railway-offices, R. & B.from 4'/2, D. (1 p.m.) 4, pens. (in winter) from 10 .4 ;
*HoTerL ImMPERIAL, Opern-Platz, with restaurant, new; *Swax (Pl. d; D, 8),
at which the peace of 10th May, 1871, was concluded, Steinweg 12, at the
Theater-Platz, R. 3-6, B. 11/,, D. 8-31/, pens. from 8 .4 ; *Pariser Hor (Pl. e
D, 3), Schiller-Platz 5, R. 3-7, B. 11/4, D. 8-4, pens. from 8 4. — *HOTEL DE
L'Un1oxN (Pl f; D, 3), Steinweg 9, R. 2/2-4, B. 11/, D. 3 .4; *HOTEL DREXEL
(Pl i; F, 8), Grosse i’ﬁedberger-th 18, commercial, R. 21/3-31/2, B.11/;, D.
8 .8. — Tauxvus HoteL (Pl. w; D, 8), Grosse Bockenheimer-Str, 6-10, R. 2-4,
B.1, D.11/:-2/; #; CeNTRAL HoTEL (Pl. g; D, 4), Kaiser-Piats, at the corner
of Bethmann-8tr., well spoken of, R. 21/;-4, B. 1, D. 2 #; Prixz HerseIcH,
Scharnhorst-Str., R. 2-3 .#; HOreL pE BruxeLLks (Pl. u; D, ), Grosse
Gallus-Str. 14; Drer Karser (Pl. p; D, 4), Grosser Hirschgraben 6, R. 11/¢-2,
B. 3%/, .4 ; WORTTEMBERGER HOF (Pl. n; E, 8, 4), Falirgasse 41, with restaurant
(beer); AuessUrRGER HoF, Vogelgesanggasse (Pl. E, 8, 4), unpretending;
STADT FRIEDBERG, Grosse Friedberger-Str. 84, R. 11/-2 4, B. %0 pf., D. 1}/ M,
fair; GRGNER BAUM, Grosse Fischergasse 4 (P1. F, 4), R. 11/p-13/s, D. 11/ #.

Pensions, all very fair. Miss White, Eschenheimer-Anlage 32; Mrs.
Emerson, Bockenheimer - Landstrasse T; Germania, Bockenheimer - Land-
strasse 64; Oranien, Beethoven-Str. 63 (5-9 #); Frdiulein Olga Clouth,
Beethoven-Str. 74 Pens. Internationale, Staufen-Str. 31 (5-7 M#); l!étrgpou,
Gallug-Anlage 1 and Girtnerweg 24 (41/2-7 #); A. Barth, Niedenau 52 (3-6.8) 5
Pension Terminus, Mainzer-Landstrasse 51 (from 5 .#); Vorster, Linden-Str. 17
(4-6 #); Benn, Feuerbach-8tr. 31, pens. from 8) 4 weekly (for ladies and
families) ; Frdulein Klees, Bockenheimer-Anlage 21 (41/2-6 ).

Restaurants. WinE. “Malepartus, Grosse Bockenheimer-Str. 30, D.2Ve ¥ ;
*Buerose, Goethe-Str.29 (1st floor), D. 2 & 8 .#; Prinz von Arkadsien, Grosse
Bockenheimer-8tr. 9, with terrace, D. 11/2 & ; Wolff, Borsen-Platz1’; *Falstaf,
Theater-Platz 7, D. from 11/ M; Bernhard, Grosser Kornmarkt 10, with




Digitized by GOOS[Q



Digitized by GOOS[Q



Practical Notes. FRANEFORT. . 28. Route. 223

‘old-German® drinking-room on the upper floor; at the Theatre (p. 284), at
the * Pabmn Garden (p.285), and at the *Zoological Garden (p.235). — Continental
Bodega, 8chiller-Platz 2 (8panish and Portuguese wines). — Frankfort Cider :
Kilp, Alte Maingerga:se 20; Teutonia, Pauls-Platz 11. — Brer. Kaiserhof,
Goethe-Platz 5, D. 1 4 70 & 2 4 70 pf. (Pilsen beer, Vienna cuisine);
°Minchner Hofbrdu, Haus Alemannia, Schiller-Platz 4, D.11/2.4; * Kaisergarten,
Opern-Platz 2a, with garden, much frequented in summer; Taunus, Grosse
Bockenheimer-8tr. 6, D. from 1l/s #; Zur Oper, Opern-Platz 2; Lowenhof,
Zcil U; Café Newf, Bibergasse 8 and Birsen-Platz, D. from 1 .4 20 pf.;
Stadt Ulm, Schifergasse 9; Lowendriu (‘Braustiibl’), Grosse Bockenheimer-
8.r.2; Pilsener Bierhalle, Borsen-Platz 9, Pfungstidter Bierhallen, Vilbeler-
Str. 26 and Grosse Bockenheimer-Str. 2§; Krokodil. Zeil 45, unpretending
and popular; Tannhduser, Kaiser-Str.71. Automatic Restaurants in the Zeil,
Kaiser-Str. (No. 69). etc.

Cafés. *Café¢ Bauer, Schiller-8tr. 2, with mural pain'ings; *Bristol, in
the Pariser Hof (p.232); Fahrig & Wolff, at the Hot. Bristol (p. 222 ; Orpheum
Neue Zeil 80; Goldschmidi, Allerheiligen-8tr. 88 (Jewish); Kaiser-Café
Kaiser-Str. 58. — Confectioners. °F. R. Biitschly, Kaiser-Str. 23; *A. Bitschly,

¢ Guethe-Platz, with ladies' café; Johmer, G: ethe-8ir. 25; Lehr, Opern-Plats;
H. Kurtz, Steinweg4 (‘Frankfurter Brenten®). Chocolate: De Giorgs, Lieb-
frauen-8tr. 3; ‘Kakaostube’ in the Goethe-Platz.

Post and Telegraph Office, in the Zeil (Pl. E, 3; p. 225).

Oab Faves (from 11 p.m. to 6 a.m. double

¢J
L

fa es): 1-2 pers.| 8 pers. | 4 pers
M pf. M pf. | Mpf.

Drive in the 1st Zone (blue line). . . . .| — 60 —8 | 1—
Drive in the 2nd Zone (red lin:) . 1— 120 | 140
g hr. in the town . . . . .. .. 1— 120 | 1
1hr.inthetown. . . . .. ... 180 2 — 2 —
Every additional 10 minutes . . . . — 25 — 30 l — %
1/ hr. ontside the towa. . . . . . . 120 160 | 15)
1 hr, ou'side the town . . . . . ... .. 2 10 27 ; 270
Every additional 10 minutes . . . . . . . — 85 — 4 | — 45

Luggaze, 20 pf. for each ar'icle over 201hs.
The Tazameter Cabs, distinguished by the tull hats of the drivers,
have a different tariff for engagements by time.

Electric Tramways (10 pf., including tran:fers). Thc following lines need
alune be mentioned: 1. (white name-boards) Central Station (P1. B, 4)- Kaiser-
Str.-Zeil-Zoological Garden-Ost-Bahnhof (P1. H. 8). — 2. (white boards) Central
Station-Kaiser-8tr,-Weis«frauen-Str.-Pauls-Platz (Pl E, ). — 3. (white board+)
Ceniral Station - Kaiser-8tr. - Schillei-Platz (Pl. D, 38)- Eschenhcimer-Thor-
Eschenheime:-Landstrasse(Pi.D,2. 1)- Holzhause :-8tr.—4.(white boa-ds)Central
Station-Mainzer-Lanstrasse-Opern-Plat (P1.C,3,2)- Palm Garden(Rossert-Str ;
Pl. A,1).—b. (green boards) Cenirai Station-Feuerbach-Str. (P1. B, 3,2)-B- cken-
hei Landstr: (Palm Garden -Bockenheimer War e.— 6. (blue b rards) Palm
Garden (Rossert-8tr. ; Pl. A, 1)-Opern-Platz-Goethe-Sir.-Zeil-Zoological Garden
(P1. H, 2,8). — 7. (white boards) Bockenheimer Warte-Opern-Platz-Zeil-Berge -
Str. (Pl. G, H, 2, 1)-Bornheim. — 8. (gre:n boards) Bockenheimer Warte-Opern-
Platz-Ncue-Mainzer-8tr.-Unter-Main-Brii:ke (Pl. D, 5)-Sachsenkausen (Offen-
bach Local 8tation). — 9. (yellow board-) Pulm Garden (Rossert-Sir.; Pl A,1)-
Opern-Platz - Unter-Main-Briicke - Sacisenlausen (Local Station).

Light Railways: 41 8Teax TraMwaY to Eschersheim and Heddernheim,
28 trains daily in 24 min. (comp P1.D,2,1); the line is now being extended
to Oberursel. — 2. ELECTRIC RAILWAY from Sachsenhausen to Offendach,
starting from the old Main bridge and stopping at Oberrad, every 20 min.
(fares 20, 156, 10 pt.). — 8. The WarLpBaHN (‘Forest Line’) is a steam-
tramway running from Sachsenhausen (Unter-Main-Briicke, Pl. D, 5, and
Offenbach Station. Pl. F, §) in three directions to the Frankfurter Stadt-
wald, the favourite point for short excursions ; stations. Forsthaus (restaurant),
Neu-Isendury, Niederrad (p. 289), and Schwanheim (p. 240).

Baths. Warm at the *8tddissche Schoimmbad (P). F, 8), Allerheiligen-
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Str., at Gred’s, Leonhardsthor (Pl. E, 4), and at Alt’'s, Alte Mainzergasse
(Pl. D, 4). Turkish, etc., at Sachsenhausen, Schaumain-Kai 41. River Baths
in the Main (Pl. F, G, 4 and C, D, 5).

Theatres. *Opera House (Pl. C, 2, 3; p. 233) and Town Theatre (P1. D, 35
p. 225), both the property of the town (ticket-offices also at Schottenfels's,
Kaiger-Platz 17, and Fuchs’s, Zeil 9). — Variety Theatre at the Orpheum,
Neue Zeil%80-82.

Concerts. The Museums-Gesellschaft gives 22 orchestral conmcerts in
the Saalbau on Frid. evenings and Sun. afternoons in winter, and also
ten evening concerts of chamber-music.

Permanent Exhibitions of Art at the Kunsiverein (Pl. D, 3), daily
9.30-6, holidays 10.30-1, (1 #); Bangel's Picture Saloon, Kaiser-Str. 663
Schneider’s Kunstsalon, Rossmarkt 23; Hermes, Liebfrauen-8tr. 8. — Castan’s
Panopticum, Kaiser-Str. 67.

British Consul: F. Oppenheimer, Esq., Consul General, Bockenheimer
Landstrasse 8; C. W. Schwarz, Esq., Vice-Consul. — United States Oonsul :
Richard Guenther, Esq., Consul General, Kaiser-Str. 49; George H. Murphy:
Fsq., Vice-Consul General; 8. W. Hanauer, Esq., Deputy Consul General,

English Church Service in the French Church, Goethe-Platz 7, at 11.1b
a.m. and 3.80 p.m.; Chaplain, Rev. G. W. Mackenzie, Korner-Str. 13.

Chief Attractions (one day). In the morning the Rossmarkt and Goethe-
Platz and the monuments there, Goethe's House (p. 226), the Romer (p. 227),
Cathedral (p. 229), the old bridge over the Main, and the Stidel Institution
(p. 286); afternoon, Palm Garden (p. 235); evening, Opera House (p. 238).

Frankfort on the Main (300 ft.), with 305,000 inhab. (including
29,000 Jews and a garrison of 2200 soldiers), formerly a free town
of the Empire, lies in a spacious plain bounded by mountains, on
the right bank of the navigable Main. On the left bank of the river
lies Sachsenhausen, a suburb connected with Frankfort by five stone
bridges, and by an iron suspension - bridge. In a commercial and
still more in a financial point of view, Frankfort is one of the most
important cities in Germany. The old part of the town consists of
narrow and ungttractive streets, but the Zeil, the Neue Mainzer-Str.,
Kaiser-Str., Frieden-Str., etc., boast of many handsome modern
buildings. The town is surrounded by ‘Anlagen’, or public grounds,
laid out on the site of the fortifications removed in 1806-12. Beyond
these are suburban streets extending to Bornheim on the N.E. and
Bockenheim on the N.W. The most fashionable quarter is the West
End, between the Taunus Promenades, the Bockenheim High Road,
and the West-End-Platz. The industrial interests are mainly con-
centrated in the S.W. part, beyond the Galluswarte (Pl. A, 4, 5).
The air of wealth and importance which pervades the city affords an
indication of the success and extent of its commereial relations,

Frankfort is first mentioned in 793 as the seat of the royal residence
(‘Pfalz’) of ‘Franconofurd’ (ford of the Franks). and in 794 Charlemagne
held a convocation of bishops and dignitaries of the emglre here. After
the erection of a new palace (comg. . 228) by Louis the Pious in 822
the town soon reached such a hig e%ree of prosperity that at the time
of the death of Louis the German (876) it was already looked upon as
the capital of the East Frankish Empire. In 1333 Frankfort had become
practically independent of the royal power, and in the 16th cent. it was
officially recognized as a ‘free imperial town’. One of the most important
of the privileges which it received was the confirmation of the Easter

Fair in 1330; the Autumn Fair had been tioned by Frederick II. as
early as 1240. To these fairs the town owed the importance ‘it enjoyed
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during the 16th and 17th cent. as a centre of domestic and foreign trade,
It was also the headquarters of the German book-trade down to the end
of the 18th century. From the time of Frederick Barbarossa (1152) on-
wards most of the German govereigns were chosen at Frankfort, and in
1358 it was recognised by the Golden Bull of Charles IV. (p.229) as the

ermanent seat of the elections. On the dissolution of the Empire in 1806,

rankfort was made over to Carl von Dalberg, Primate of the Rhenish
Confederation (previously Archbishop of Mayence), and in 1810 it became
the capital of the gund-dneh;l of Frankfort, which included Aschaffenburg,
Hanau, Fulda, and Wetzlar. From 1815 to 1866 it was one of the four free
cities of the German Confederation and the seat of the Diet, and in 1866
it passed to Prussia. The formerly Hessian town of Bockenkeim was in-
corporated with Frankfort in 1895.

a. Kaiser-Strasse and Zeil.

The *Central Railway Station (Pl B, 4, 5), a large and hand-
some building by Eggert and Frantz (1883-88), is one of the finest
and most convenient stations on the Continent. It is richly adorned
with allegorical sculptures (Genius of Steam, Electricity, Agriculture,
Industry, etc.) and cost about 1,650,000¢. Its erection, and the re-
moval of the Western Stations outside the Taunus-Thor, have com~
pletely changed the appearance of the S.W. part of the town. The
principal approach to the inner town from this side is the imposing
Kaiser-Strasss (Pl, B, 0, D, 4). At the point where this street
crosses the Gallus Promenade (Pl. C, 4) are a Clock Tower and (to
the right) the New Theatre (p. 234). The street then leads vid the
Kaiser-Platz, with its tasteful fountain, to the RossmarxT (P1. D, 3),
in the W. half of which rises the Monument of Gutenberg, erected in
1858, a fine group on a large sandstone pedestal, designed by Ed. von
der Launitz, The central figure with the types in the left hand is
Gutenberg, on his right Fust, on his left Schéffer. On the frieze
are portrait-heads of fourteen celebrated printers, with Caxton
among them. In the four niches beneath are the arms of the four
towns where printing was first practised, Mayence, Frankfort,Venice,
and Strassburg. Round the base are figures representing Theology,
Poetry, Natural Science, and Industry.

The GosTEE-PraTz (Pl. D, 3), which adjoins the Rossmarkt on
the N., is embellished with Schwanthaler's Monument of Goethe,
erected in 1844, twelve years after the poet’s death. The reliefs on
the pedestal in front are allegorical; on the sides are flgures from
Goethe's poems. — On the left is the French Reformed Church of 1792
(French service on Sun. at 9.30, English at 11.30 a.m. and 3.30
p-m.). — Farther on, in the Theater-Platz (P1. D, 3), rises the Old
Theatre (erected in 1782), which it is now proposed to pull down.

Adjoining the Rossmarkt on the N.E. side is the ScHiLLER-
Pratz (P D, 3), with the Hauptwache, built as a guard-house in
1729 but no longer used as such, and a Statue of Schiller in bronze,
from a model by Dielmann (1868). Among the handsome buildings
enclosing this square are the Bavaria, the Alemannia, and the Haus
sum Kaiser Karl. T» the rightrises the Katharinen-Kirche(P1. D, E, 3),

Bagpeker’s Rhins. 15th Edit. 15
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built in 1680, with numerous tombs (one of 1378) and modern
stained-glass windows from designs by Steinle and Linnemann.

‘We now enter the Zeil (Pl1. E, F, 3), a broad and handsome
street, the busiest in Frankfort, consisting chiefly of attractive shops.
To the left is the handsome General Post Office (Pl. E, 3), built
by Ahrens and Prinzhausen in 1892-94 and adorned with groups in
copper by Hausmann. The monument to Emp. William I. in the
court, with a colossal bust, is by Kriiger (1895). The old Palace of
Prince Thum and Tazis, built in 1734, which contained the assembly-
hall of the German Diet (Bundestag) down to 1866, now also belongs
to the post-office (entr., Grosse Eschenheimer-Str. 26).

The Liebfrauen-Strasse, the first cross-street on the 8., leads into the
heart of the Old Town. Immediately to the left stands the Rom. Cath.
Liebfrauen-Kirche (Pl. E, 8; 15th cent.), with three old tombstones (one, in
the left aisle, of 1322). The Liebfr: -8tr. is continued to the Rémerberg
(p- 227) by the Neue Kriame, passing the Old Ezchange (Pl. E, 4).

Farther on the Schifergasse leads from the Zeil to the left to the .
disused Cemetery of St. Peter (p. 234), and the Borne-Str., beyond
the Market (P1. E, 8), to the right to the old Jewish quarter (p. 232).
— In the Nrur Zpm, to the left, are the Police Headquarters
(P1. F, 3), beyond which are the handsome Law Courts (P1. F, 2, 8),
a German Renaissance structure by Endell (1884-89). — Friedberg
Promenade and Zoological Garden, see p. 235.

b. The Old Town. S8treets on the Right Bank of the Main.

The picturesque network of streets in the Old Town affords a
good idea of the original Frankfort, though some of them have now
been cleared away to make room for new thoroughfares.

At Grosse Hirschgraben 23 is the *Goethe House (P1. D, 4), where
the poet was born (28th August, 1749) and spent his boyhood (open
on week-days 8-1 & 3-6, on Sun. and holidays 10-1; adm. 1 .#).
The house was purchased by the ‘Deutsche Hochstift' in 1863, and
has been restored to the condition in which it was after the altera-
tions made in 1755 (see ‘Dichtung und Wahrheit’).

The GroUND FLOOR contains the dining-room and kitchen. The former
was also the rcom of Catharina Elsabeth Goethe (1731-1808), Goethe's
mother. — On the staircase are the ‘Roman Views' mentioned in ‘Dichtung
und Wahrheit’.

FirsT FLoor. The three rooms towards the street were those occupied
by Lieut. Thorenc in 1759. The ‘Karl August Room’ (1.) was occupied for
several days in 1779 by the Duke Charles Augustus of Weimar, when
visiting Goethe's parents. — Towards the court is the music-room.

SecoND FLOOR. The middle front-room contains the picture-gallery of the
foet‘s father, Councillor Johann Caspar Gosthe (1740-82), arranged as it was in

T65. To the left is his study, from the corner-window of which he could
watch the goings-out and comings-in of his son. To the right is the bedroom
of the poet’s parents, and beyond is the room in which their illustrious son
(Vii;o a_?so was born. — At the back is the room of Goethe's sister Cornelia

Tarrp FLoor. The middle front-room was the young Goethe's study,
where he created Gotz, Clavign. Werther, and Faust." In ‘the  adjoining
room to the left is his puppet-theatre. ’
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The archway in the court leads to the Goethe Museum, contain-
ing reminiscences of the poet’s boyhood and also of his later relations
with his native town. It is adorned with marble busts of him and
of his parents.

On the walls are the larger portraits of Goethe, his family, and others.
On the rear-wall are the ‘Joseph Paintings’ by Traut and BSeckats. —
The show-cases and cupboards contain smaller relics, such as silhouettes,
autographs, MSS.. drawings, letters, views of places mentioned in ‘Dichtung
wnd Wahrheit’, etc. — The rooms above the museum contain the Goethe
Library of the Deutsche Hochstift (p. 226), a specialized collection of the
classical period of German literature, with Goethe as its centre (20,000 vols).

‘We follow the Hirschgraben towards the S. to the Mint (P1. D, 4),
and then proceed to the left through the new Bethmann-Str. and
between the still unfinished additions to the Romer (see below), to
the Pavis-Prarz (Pl E, 4), with the Church of St. Paul (bell to
the right), a rotunda built in 1833, where the German parliament
of 1848-49 held its meetings.

The RourrBRRG (P1. E,4), or market-place in front of the Rémer,
which down to the end of last century no Jew was permitted to enter
(comp. p. 232), is the centre of the Old Town and was the scene of
those public rejoicings after the election of an emperor which Goethe
so graphically describes in his autobiography. The Justitic Fountain
in the centre, erected in 1543, and adorned with a stone figure of
Justicein 1611, was completely renewed in 1887 and furnished with
a figure in bronze. While the coronation banquet was being held in
the Romer this fountain ran for 41/ hr. with red and white wine.

The *Rémer (Pl. E, 4) is the name now applied to the Town
Hall, which consists of a group of twelve separate old houses and
various large new buildings between the Romerberg, the Romergasse,
the Buchgasse, .and the Barfiissergasse (open daily 8-7, 50 pf.; Mon.
& Wed. 10-4, free). Three of the houses in the Romerberg were
supplied in 1896-98 with new late-Gothic fagades, with lofty gables,
from the plans of M. Meckel. These are the so-called Alt-Limpurg,
at the corner of the Limpurgergasse, the seat in the 17th cent. of the
influential patrician guild of that name; the Haus sum Romer, prop-
erly so-called, fitted up in 1403, along with the ‘Goldener Schwan’
behind it, as a town-hall, with large halls on the groundfloor; and
the Haus Loewenstein. The Haus Frauenstein (r.), formerly the head-
quarters of another patrician seciety, has a painted fagade in the
taste of the 18th century. The Salshaus, at the corner of the Wedel-
gasse, has rustica pillars and fine iron screens; the end-fagade is
carved in wood. The Haus Wanebach, Wedelgasse 3, is a character-
istle timber structure of the 416th cent., with a small and picturesque
court; it was restored in 1838-90. The fagade of the Goldener Schwan
dates from 1731. Beyond the court, in the Limpurgergasse, is the
Haus Silberberg, restored in 1898.

The new buildings (1900-1903) were designed by Von)Hoven and
Neher. The ‘Siidbau’, extending on the W. to the Buchgasse, with

15*
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its lofty tower, is in the German Renaissance style; the smaller
‘Nordbaw’, which is connected with it by a bridge over the Beth-
mann-Str., is in the baroque style.

InTERIOR. The fine vaulting of the gateway in the Haus Silberberg
and the winding staircase in the court of the Alk'Lim’yurg A deserve
attention. — From the front hall the handsome Kaiser-Treppe (1742) ascends
to the left to the —

*Kaisersaal (adm.free on Mon.andWed.,1C-1; on other days, 9-8, by ticket,
50c., obtained in the court), where the new emperor dined with the electors
and showed himself from the balcony to the people assembled on the Rémer-
berg. The hall, which is covered with tunnel-vaulting in wood, was com-
pleted in 1411, repeatedly restored, and thoroughly renewed in 1888-53. 1t
18 embellished with Poriraits of the Emperors, by Veit, Bendemann, Les-
sing, Rethel, Steinle, and other artists. Among the finest are Charlemagne
(768-814) by Ph. Veit (W. wall), and Frederick I. Barbarossa (1152-1190), by
Lessing, a figure full of majesty and repose. Above the portrait of Charle-
magne is the Judgment of Solomon by Steinle (1844). The marble statue of
Emp. William I. (d. 1888) is by Kaupert (1891). — We next enter the —

‘Wahlsimmer (election-room), remodelled in 1731-82, where the electors
met to deliberate on the choice of an emperor.

The new ‘Siidbau’, entered from the front hall, contains the Rathskelley ;
above this and adjoining the Wahlzimmer is the Festsaal, approached by
the new Fesitreppe, or grand staircase.

The 8. side of the Romerberg is bounded by the Nicolai-Kirche

Pl. E, 4), an elegant church of the 13th cent., with one aisle only
N.), and a massive tower adjoining the choir. It was altered in the
late-Gothic style in 1450 and restored in 1842-46. Altar-piece, a
Resurrection by Rethel.

A little to the S. of the Romerberg is the old Fahr-Thor, to the
left of which, at the corner of the quay, rises the Rententhurm, a
relic of the old fortifications erected in 1455. Adjacent is the Saal-
hof (P1. E, 4), built in 1717, and occupying the site of an imperial
palace of that name (‘caula regia’), which was built by Charlemagne
and renewed by Louis the Pious in 822 (comp. p. 224). The palace
was mortgaged by the emperors in the 14th cent., and was frequently
altered, particularly in the 18th and 19th centuries, so that no ex-
ternal trace of the original edifice now remains. The only old part
is the Romanesque chapel (now a private room).

On the Main, a little lower down, is the Roman Catholic
Church of 8t. Leonhard (Pl. E, 4), begun in 1219, probably on the
site of the royal grange, with a late-Gothic choir built in 1434,
the whole completed in 1507, and restored in 1808-11 and 1882.
The two Romanesque towers of the choir belonged to the original
stracture. On that to the N. is seen the imperial eagle, said to have
been bestowed by Lewis the Bavarian on the abbey for services ren-
dered to him in deflance of the papal ban.

INTERIOR (entr. in the N, aisle). The ‘Salvator-Chérlein', or chapel to
the left of the choir (1503), is notable for its vaulting with the detached
ribs. The two Romanesque portals in the left aisle formed the entrances
to the church before its extension. Over that to the E. is an old relief.
Ancient mural paintings, including a Last Judgment (restored) above the
triumphal arch. The altar-piece to the right of the choir is by Steinle.
Adjacent, at the entrance to the side-chapel, is a Last Supper by Holbesn
the Elder (predella of the altar-piece mentioned at p. 281).
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On the Untermain Quay (No. 15) is the Rothschild Library, open
11-1 and 4-8, Sun. 10-1.

The street called the Marxr (Pl. E, 4) leads from the Ri-
merberg towards the E. to the cathedral. At the corner of the
Romerberg, on the right, is the house Zum Grossen Engel, of 1662,
in the Gothic and Renaissance styles. Behind is the Niirnberger Hof,
a timber-built house with a Gothic passage and rich cross-vaulting.
To the left, Markt No. 44, the Steinerne Haus, a castle-like Gothic
building (1464), with round-arch frieze and corner-turrets, a statue
of the Virgin, and a fine vaulted gate. Adjacent, in the narrow court
of No. 30, are two carved friezes representing the Fall and the Pro-
digal Son, in the style of H. 8. Beham (16th cent.). Nearly opposite
is the Tuchgaden, where the guild of butchers offered a draught of
honour to the emperor when proceeding after his coronation from
the cathedral to the Romer. Farther on, Markt No. b, is the Goldene
Wage, with a rich fagade and a fine stucco ceiling on the upper floor.
Opposite is the Haus sum Rebstock, with a picturesque court.

The *Cathedral (St. Bartholomew; Rom. Cath.; P1. E, 4), origin-
ally founded by Lewis the German about 870 and reconsecrated
in 1289, is the oldest church in the city. The short Gothic nave and
aigles date from the rebuilding in 1235-39, the choir was erected in
1315-38, and the unusually long transept in 1846-563. The cloisters
were added in 1348-1477 and the tower in 1415. The Wahlkapelle
dates from 1350, having apparently been erected in connection with
the Golden Bull (p. 225); the late-Gothic Scheidkapelle in the S.
aisle, from 1487. The church was seriously injured by a fire in
August, 1867, but was restored in 1889-81 by the architect Den-
singer. On that occasion the vault of the nave was raised, the
cloisters were completed from the old plans, and the tower, left un-
finished in 1512, and now 312 ft. high, was finished from the designs
of the architect Hans von Ingelnheim (1483), which had been dis-
covered in the municipal archives. The crowning of the tower with
an octagonal cupola surmounted by a spire is peculiar. In 1901-2
all the buildings surrounding and masking the cathedral were
cleared away.

Interior. Access to the church is obtained by the N. portal (best time,
about 10-11 a.m., closed 11.80-25 good light necessary). — In the N. transept
are the Tombs of Johann von Holghausen (d. 4! and Rudolph von
Sachsenhausen (d. 1870). — The chapel adjoining the choir on the left
contains a terracotta group of the Death of Mary, presented in 1480. The
beautiful five-light window was executed by Dixon, after an ancient design
from Cologne. — In the chapel to the right is a Resurrection, converted
into an altar in 1855. Adjacent are a canopy (modern figure of the Virgin)
and a fine terracotta ciborium ({14th cent.). — By the 8. portal is the tomb
of Andreas Hirde (1648), with a relief of the Mocking of Christ. — The
f) in the t pt, by Steinle and Linnemann, represent events from
the history of the town: the Council of Frankfort (794); Reconciliation of
Otho I, and his brother Duke Henry (941); Conrad 1II. and St. Bernard of
Clairvaux (1147); Burial of Giinther von S8chwarzburg (1848); Capistrano
preaching repentance (1484); Albert Achilles of Brandenburg carried into
the meeting of the electors (1486); Coronation of Maximilian TT. '(1664);




230 Route 28. FRANKFORT. b. Old Town:;

and the Imperial procession to the Romer. — The coronation of the em-
perors used to be solemnised by the Elector of Mayence beneath the cross-
ing, originally before the altar that stood here until 1741, The rite of the
‘raising to the altar’ which took place immediately after the election, was
celebrated at the high-altar. To the right is the Wahlkapelle (election
chapel), where the actual election of the emperors took place; at the
entrance stands the beautiful monument of the German king, Génther von
Schwarsburg, who died in 1349 at Frankfort, where he had taken refuge
from his opponent Charles 1V. The armordal bearings around it belong
to the families who erected the monument. The original inscription is in
0ld-German, the new one in Latin.

The Cuoir is generally closed. The choir-sialls date from 1854. Above
them are ancient frescoes in the style of the Cologne achool, representing
the life of St. Bartholomew, dating from 1407. The tabernacle in the choir
dates from the early 16th cent. and is perhaps by Madern Geriener, the first
architect of the tower. To the right is a Crucillxion by Vas Dyck.

The frescoes in the Nave, by Steinle and Linnemann, represent the
patrons of the church and other subjects. — The Scheidkapelle (p 229),
with stained-glass windows after ient designs, contains repr tati
of the Seven Works of Mercy, executed by Grdis from Steinle’s designs. —
The TowgrR commands a fine view (open in summer 7-7, in winter 9-43
adm. 25 pf., Wed. & 8at. afternoons free). The chamber at its base is
painted as a vestibule or ‘Paradise’.

On the outside of the N. wall of the choir is a large Crucifixion,
executed in tufa in 1609 for the Frankfort patrician Jacob Heller.

The house Dom-Platz No. 4, to the E. of the cathedral, béars a
small relief of Luther, in memory of the tradition that on his journey
to Worms (p. 282) he preached a sermon here.

To the 8., Weckmarkt 1, are the Municipal Record Office (Archiv-
gebiude; Pl. E, 4), built in 1874-77 from designs by Densinger, and
the old Leinwandhaus (or Drapers’ Hall), dating from the end of tho
14th eent., restored in 4892 and again in 1900-2. The upper story
of the former contains the historical archives, while the lower story
and the entire Leinwandhaus are devoted to the *MunioreaL His-
TORICAL MusBUM (open free on Sun. and Wed., 10-1, and on the
1st & 3rd Sun. in each month, 2-4; other days, 9-1 & 3-6, 60 pf.).
Most of the rooms are poorly lighted. Director, O. Cornill; good
‘Guide’ (1902) 50 pf.

Room 1. (Entrance Hall of the Archive Building). Municipal banners
(16-18th cent.), civic uniforms and weapons of Frankfort; instrumen's of
tortare; on the walls, tombs from the old 8t. Peter's Cemetery (p. 234)
and smith's work; stained glass of the 14-15th cent.; ‘Giamt’s Column®
from Heddernheim. — Roox 1I. Ethnographic Collection. — Roex III,
Costumen of citizens from 1700 to 1850; Frankfort official costumes; doll's
house (1748) ; Jocal costumes from the neighbourhood of Frankfort ; peasant’s
room from Hesse. — Roou IV. Egyptian Collection; Grmco-Italic vases and
bronzes; objects from lake-dwellings in Switzerland; objects from tumuli
in the vicinity of Frankfort. — Roox V. Roman, Frankish, and early-
German antiquities; vases, bronzes, glass, large Mithras-relief; Greek,
Etruscan, and Roman helmets. — Roou VI. Armour and weapons. — In
the Passack leading to the Leinwandhaus are smaller weapons.

Roox VIL. On the ceiling, two large eagles from a canopy used at
coronations; eagle from the fountain on the Rémerberg (p. ;3 guild-
banners, guild-signa; state coaches and sleighs, an early type of veloci-
?ede, etc. — CuapPEL (formerly the Debtors’ Prison). Old choir-stalla
1622) and pulpit; stained glass (13th cent.). — Through the corridor to
the right we reach Roou VIII, which contains *Paintings by early-German
masters (16-16th cent.), ctc. On the main wall to the right,are 1B sections
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of a large altar-piece (the Passion) painted in the studin of Hans Holbein
the Elder in 1501 for the former Dominican church. 2nd Central Section:
320-335. Lower Rhenish School, Series ot paintings (end of the 15th cent.), from
the Carmelite church. 3rd Section: Conrad Fyoli (?), 9. Virgin and Child
with St. Anna, 260, 264. Birth and Death of the Virgin; 2656, Old copy,
by Jobst Harrich of Nuremberg, of Diirer’s celebrated Assumption, which was
painted in 1509 for Jacob Heller, purchased in 1615 b{ Elector Maximilian
of Bavaria, and destroyed by fire at Munich in 1674 (the wings are the
original productions of Diirer’s studio). Ath Section: 273-2756. Hams Baldung
Grien, Baptism of Christ. On the rear-wall: no number, Siyle of Rogier
van der Weyden, Small altar-piece; 308, 809. M. Grinewald, 5S. Cyriac and
Lawrence (grisaille); 299. Franconian ﬁchool, Presentation in the Temple
(161h cent.). In this room are also chests and cabinets (15-17th cent.),
small examples of ecclesiastical art (12-16th cent.), albums (17-18th cent.),
and patents of nobility (12-19th cent.). — Through the corridor to the right
we reach Roox IX. Portraits of citizens of Frankfort (17-18th cent.),
ecclesiastical vestments (14-18th cent.), etc. — Room X. Zinc, copper, and
brass work (17-19th cent.), musical instruments (16-19th cent.), etc. — We
turn back to the Corrrpor. The glass-cases tain articles ted
with the Jewish ritual, medizval church utensils, guild paraphernalia,
astronomical and optical instruments, and the old standard weights and
measures of Frankfort when a free city. — STaRricasg: Old views and
plans of Frankfort.

First Floor. The cabinets in the CoRrIiDOR contai ie insigni
views of Prankfort, seals, coins, etc. Among the 0ld documents is the ‘Golden
Bull® (see p. 224). Portraits of emperors; Coronation of JosephI.—Roox XI.
Iron-work ; German stoneware and fayence; Italian majolica; guild bowls
and goblets; table-service by Wenzel Jamniizer of Nuremberg. The corner
cabinet represents a citizen's room of the 18th century. — We return through
the corridor to Roou XII. 1st Cabinet: French atove in the ‘Empire’ style;
room from the Neue Krame in the same style; ivory carvings; paintings
by Frankfort artists (17-19th cent.). 20d & 3rd Cab.: Paintings, the best
of which (beside the first window in Cab. 3) is a Madonna in an arbour of
roses, of the School of Meister Wilhelm of Cologne id. 1378). Here are also
watches (48-19th cent. ), snuff-boxes, and trinkets (17-19th cent.). — Room XIII.
Glass (15-19th cent.). 1st Cab.: Views of Frankfort, including a Panorama
of Frankfort in 1811, by Morgensitern (pen-and-ink sketch); miniatures.
2nd Cab.: Room from the Kruggasse; in the centre a French pianoforte
in %‘inmpire’ style. 3rd Cab.: Fans; memorials of Borne, the author
(p- 5

To the S.E. of the cathedral, in the Fahrgasse, is the late-
“Gothic Haus zum Fiirsteneck (No. 17). — At the 8. end of the
Fahrgssse, with its picturesque old houses, is the 0ld Bridge
(Pl F, 4) over the Main, constructed of red sandstone and 870 ft.
in length. It is mentioned in a document of 4222, but has been
several times restored. The middle of the bridge is embellished
with a Statue of Charlemagne (1843). Near it is a medimval iron
cross, with a figure of Christ. The presence of the cock which sur-
mounts it is explained by the tradition, that a cock became the
victim of a vow made by the architect, to sacrifice to the devil the
first living being that crossed the bridge. — For Sachsenhausen,
see p. 236.

The quay flanked with lofty houses, which extends along the
right bank of the river, is called the Schdne Aussicht (Pl F, 4).
A tablet on No. 17 indicates the house in which the philosopher.
Arthur Schopenhauer (1788-1860) lived in 1843-569 (the dates on the

tablet are wrong). At the upper end, the Upper Main Bridge, built
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in 4878 by Lauter, crosses the river. In front of it are a Bust of Les-
sing, in marble, by Kaupert, and the —

Town Library (Pl. G, 4), built by Hess in 1820-25, with a con-
spicuous Corinthian portico, and altered and enlarged in 1891-93 by
Wolff. On the attic stories of the wings are eight statues of pro-
minent citizens of Frankfort; and in the pediment is a fine group
by Schierhols. Director, Prof. Fr. Ebrard. ¢

In the INTERIOR, at the foot of the staircase, is a marble Stalue of
Goethe, by P. Marchesi (1838), besides which there are busts in marble of
Brentano, Bohmer, Savigny, aud other Frankfort celebrities. The ceiling-
painting is by F. Kirchbach. — The library containa about 215,000 vols.,
an exhibition of valuable MSS., printed works, bindings, etc. (the latter
open free, week-days 10-12, Sun. and holidays 11-1; catalogue 10 pf.). The
handsome Reading Room, with an extensive reference library and a good
supply of newspapers, is open on Mon.-Frid. 10-1 and 4-8, Sat. 10-1.

At the back of the Library, Lange-Str. No. 4, is the Hospital of
the Holy Ghost. In the grounds adjoining the Rechnei-Graben (pond;
PL G, 8, 4) 1s a Bust of Schopenhauer (p. 231), erected in 1895.
From the Rechnei-Graben the Rechneigraben-Strasse leads to the
W. to the Borne-Platz, in which is a Synagogue, built in 1881. At
the N.W. corner of the square diverges the Borne-Strasse (P1. F, 3),
formerly the Judengasse, the dingy houses of which have been
removed with the exception of the old House of the Rothschild Family
(No. 26, to the right).

Down .to the régime of the Prince Primate (p. 225) in 1806, the Juden-
gasse, or Jews® Street, was closed every evening, and on Sundays and
holidays throughout the whole day, with lock and key, and no Jew might
venture into any part of the town under a heavy penalty. In spite of
this tyranny, many denizens of these squalid purlieus flourished, and among
them the now enormously wealthy Rothschild family.

At the end of the Birne-Strasse stands the old Synagogue,
erected by Kayser in 1855-60. The Bornheimer-Strasse leads hence,
joining the Fahrgasse (p. 231), to the Zeil (p. 226).

c. Northern Part of the Inner Town.

From the S.W. corner of the Rossmarkt (p. 225) the Grosse
Gallus-Strasse (P1. D, 8, 4) leads to the old Taunus Gate. To the
left is the house (No. 19; memorial tablet) in which Otio von Bis-
marck lived when Prussian ambassador to the Diet in 1852-58. —
At the end of the street we turn to the right into the Nrur MaINzRR
Strassg, in which, to the left (No. 49), stands the building of the
Polytechnic Soriety, containing Eon the 1st floor) the *Museum of
Art and Industry (Pl. C, 3), a collection of considerable value (open
10-5, on Sun. & holidays 10-1.30; adm. 50 pf., free on Sun. & Wed. ;
closed on Mon.).

Roox 1. .

o D 8, e 0, Peton 3y Ao, Ol o

Roox II., with Renaissance panelling. Book-bindings, from the Gothic
period onward; leather hangings (17-49th cent.). — Roou III. *Panelling

from the Haus zam Fiirsteneck (p. 231), dating from 1645 (ceiling only &
plaster cast).
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RooMs IV & V., Plaster casts. — Room VI. Exhibitions (changed
periodically) from the Library (see below). We turn back to Room I
and enter —

Room VII. Iron-work: railings, door-kmockers, locks, keys, etc. —
Room VIIL Costly stuffs, includiog Coptic fabrics of the 5-8th centaries.

Roou IX. Wood-carvings; tapestry (15th cent.). In 8ec. A: elaborately
cirved Renaissance cabin:t from Lyons (18th cent.); Italian wedding-chests
of the early Renaissance (ca. 1480); Florentine ciborium, in the style of
Desiderio da BSettignano; Italian majolica, including a plaque from Faenza,
representing the Crucifixion, after an engraving by Agostino de’ Musi (1621),
a pupil of Marcantonio; Italian Renaissance door-knockers. Sec. B: German
and Dutch Renajssance furniture (16-47th cent.): inlaid cupboard from
Rothsnburg (2nd half of 16th cent.), Dutch oak lineu-chest (ca. 1600&;
ebony drug-chest from Augsburg (17th cent.); German stoneware. Sec.
furniture (17th and early 18th cent.); ‘Altar of the Prelates’, from Mayence
(1720), with fine intarsia work and (modern) silver reliefs; hntombment, a
relief in lead by R. Donner. In the centre, modern and other glass

Roou X. Furniture and carvings (i8th cent.), iocluding a rococo
console-table (ca. 1720); German, French, and Delft fayence ; English stone-
warey fine porcelain from Hochst. — Room XI. Oriental work: Persian
and Turkish fayence; Persian glass (18-19th cent.) and tiles (13-16th cent );
Spanish-Mauresque majolica; Japanese pottery, lacjuer-work, and bronzes.
On the walls, Oriental fabrics.

Roox XII. Linel Collection of farniture, porcelain, etc.: Dutch cabinet
in red lacquer (18th cent.); French escritoire in the style of Louis XVI.;
Dresien and Frankenthal porcelain (*Allegorical Group); works in tinj;
German stoneware; two *Reliefs, in ivory, wood, and marble, by Haber-
s'umpf (1714 ; Busanna, Jos2ph and Potiphar’s Wife). — Watches, snuff-boxes,
and trinkets.

Roox XIII. Works in metal. In the centre, reproductions of old gold
and silver plate. In the wall-cabinet, small antique works of art; repro-
ductions of the silver treasures found at Hildesheim and Boscoreale, — ‘The
articles exhibited in Roons X1V and XV are periodically changed.

The adjoining building on the left contains, on the 1st floor, the
Library of Art and Industry (open Tues. to Sat., 10-1 and 6-9, in
winter also on Sun., 10-1; Director, Dr. Stader).

Farther on are the Bank of Trade and Industry (1.), the Imperial
Bank(r.), and the Frankfort Bank (1.). — In the Junghof-Str., which
here diverges to the right, are the Saalbau, by H. Burnitz, for con-
certs and balls (Nos. 19, 20), the Deutsche- Vereins-Bank (No. 11),
and the Frankfort Art Union (No. 8; adm., see p. 224). The
Junghof-Str. ends at the Rossmarkt (p. 225).

Near the old Bockenheimer Thor rises the magnificent *Opera
House (Pl C, 2, 8), designed by Lucae (d. 1877), and opened in
1880. It can accommodate 2000 spectators. The sculptures in the
pediment in front are by Kaupert, those at the back by Rumpf, both
of Frankfort. Most of the mural paintings in the interior were exe-
cuted from cartoons by Steinle; the drop-scene, representing the
Prologue to Faust, is by Beer and Grdts (after Steinle); and the
proscenium-frieze by O. Donner von Richter. — Opposite the Opera
House, in the Taunus Promenade (p. 234), is a Monument to Emp.
William 1., by Buscher, erected in 1896. — From the Opern-Platz
to the Palm Garden, see p. 230.

‘We now retarn through the Grosse-Bockenheimer-Str. or the
new and busy Goethe-Strasse (P1. D, 3) to the Theater-Platz (p. 220).
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The Borsen-Str. leads hence to the left to the New Exchange (Neue
Borse; Pl. D, 3), built by Burnitz and Sommer in 1879, with a
handsome Renaissance hall (business-hours 42-2). The N.E. and
W. galleries contain a Commercial Museum (9-6, adm. 50 pf.). — The
modest house at the end of the Borsen-Str. (No. 19) is the pro-
visional abode of the Academy of Social and Commercial Science
(founded in 1901).

The Schiller-Str., which starts from the Schiller-Platz (p. 225)
and skirts the E. side of the Borsen-Platz, leads to the old Eschen-
heimer Thor (PL. D, 2). The cireular Eschenheimer Thurm (Pl. D,
E, 2), erected in 1400-28 on the site of an earlier square tower,
is the finest of the few ancient tower-gateways of the city now
extant. — In the Bleich-Str., a few yards to the E. of the tower,
is the Senckenberg Institution (Pl. E, 2; open free on Sun. and
Frid., 11-1, and Wed., 2-4; on other days fee 50-75 pf.), founded
in 1763 by Johann Christian Senckenberg, a physician of Frankfort.
It comprises a fine Natural History Collection, a Library, a Botanic
Garden, an Anatomical Theatre, and a Hospital.

Farther along the Bleich-Str. stands the Protestant Charch of
8t. Peter (Pl. E, 2; 1893-95), built and fitted up in the Renais-
sance style that prevailed in N. Germany at the period of the Refor-
mation, The tower is 265 ft. in height. The principal entrance is
in the Bleich-Str. The S. termination of the terrace, behind the
choir of St. Peter’s, is formed by a War Monument, erected in 1878
to the memory of the natives of Frankfort who fell in 1870-71, cast
in bronze from a model by Eckhard. — To the S. is the old ST, PETRR’S
CeMETERY (Pl E, 2) containing the tomb of Goethe’s mother (p. 226)
and an ancient group of the Crucifixion.

We now either return by the Schifergasse to the Zeil (p. 226),
or proceed to the N.E. along the Vilbeler-Strasse to the old Fried-
berger Thor (P1. F, 2; p. 23D).

d. The Promenades and Quter Quarters of the City.

The ProMeNADES (p. 224) encircling the old town are embel-
lished with statues of eminent and patriotic citizens of Frankfort
(names, see Plan). Among them may be singled out that of Senator
Guiollet, creator of the Promenades, in the Taunus Promenade (P1. C,
8, 4; band in summer, 12-1), near the Emperor William Monument
(p- 233), and Ludwig Birne (1736-1887), the author, by Kaupert,
in the Bockenheim Promenade (P1. C, D, 2).

In the Gallus Promenade (p. 225)rises the New Theatre(PL D, 4),
built in 1900-2 after designs by H. Seeling. It holds 1200 spee-
tators. The sculptured figures and reliefs on the fagades are in-
spired by Goethe’s ‘Dichtung und Wahrheit’; the ‘Dichtung’ group on
the main fagade and the reliefs on the S. fagade are by Varnesi, while
the ‘Wahrheit’ group and the reliefs on the N, fagade are by Haus-
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mann. The sculptures in the pediment are by Klimsch. The promi-
nent gilded dome, 169 ft. high, is surmounted by a copper statue
10 ft. in height, representing Frankfort as Protector of the Arts,
after Herold. A garden and a large restaurant adjoin the theatre.

In the Bockenheimer Landstrasse, 1 M. from the old Bocken-
heimer Thor (p. 233; electric tramways), is situated the *Palm Garden
(PL A1), a pleasant park containing a large palm-house, extensive
conservatones, a rose-garden, cycling track, lawn tennis courts (skat-
ing in wlnter), etc, Adm. 1 .4, Sun. 50 pf. "Concerts in the afternoon
and evening. *Restaurant, see p. 222. — In the Beethoven-Strasse,
to the left of the Bockenheim road, is the Christus- Kirche (Pl. A, 23
built by Kauffmann in 1883. — The Brentano-Platz (PL B, 2)
contains a monument to Clemens Brentano (1778-1842), the poet

Outside the Eschenheimer Thor, at Eschersheimer Landstrasse
No. 4 (railway to Eschersheim, see p. 223), is Dr. Hoch’s Conser-
vatorium of Music.

The Eckenheimer Landstrasse (Pl. F, 1; electric tramway, see p. 223),
diverging to the N. from the Eschenheun ’Promenade, leads to the (‘l M)
Cemetery, which is entered by a Doric colonnade with an imposing gate
and contains a number of well-executed monuments.

The ARCADES on the E. side contain the vaults of some of the prin-
cipal families of Frankfort. Near the middle is a reliel by Pradier. The
last vault to the left (key kept by the custodian; b0 pf. longing to the
von Bethmann family, contains an admirable *Relief by i‘horvaldam to the
memory of a Herr von Bethmann who died at Florence (1812) of an illness
caused by his exertions on the occasion of a fire at Baden near Vienna.

On the N. side rises the Mausoleum of Elector William II. of Hesse
(d. 1847) by Hessemer, containing a crucifix in marble by Zwerger, and two
marble sarcophagi with lifesize figures of the prince and his wife by
Launite. Two other monuments near it are to the memory of the soldiers
and insurgents who fell in 1848. To the left of the main entrance is the
tomb of the philosopher Schopenhauer (d. 1860).

Immediately to the E. of the new cemetery is the Jewish Burial
Ground, open daily except Sttnrdnys On the N. side is a large marble
urooph;‘i;n with Hebrew i P , by L ts, to the y of Carl
M. von hschild (d. 1855).

The Hessian Monument (Pl. F, 2), outside the Friedberger
Thor, was erected by Frederick William II. of Prussia to the Hes-
sians who fell on 2nd Dec., 1792, in the attack on Frankfort, then
occupied by the French under General Custine.

On the opposite side of the Friedberg road is Bethmann's Mu-
seum (P1. F, 2; open in summer 10-1 and 3-5, on Sun. & holidays
and in winter 11-1; fee 50-75 pf.), a circular building containing
several sculptures, among them *Ariadne on the panther (1814), the
masterpiece of Dannecker of Stuttgart (d.1841). —The Luther-Kirche
(PL G, 1) was built in 1894, after plans by Kauffmann and Neher.

On the former Pﬂngstweidc outside the Friedberg Promenade,
and reached by electric tramways Nos. 1 & 6 (p. 223), is the
*Zoological Garden (Pl. H, 2, 3; Restaurant), with its extensive
grounds, large assembly hall and terrace. The tower commands a
fine *View. In the sunk ﬂoor of the artificial ruin is-a salt-water
aquarium (D0 pf.). Adm. 1 .4 ; concerts in the afternoon and even-
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ing. — The Schiitzenbrunnen in the square to the W. of the Zoological
Gardens commemorates the ‘Schiitzenfeste’, or national rifle com-
petitions, held at Frankfort in 1862 and 1887,

e. SBachsenhausen.

On the left bank of the Main lies the suburb of S8achsenhausen
(p. 224), said to have been founded by Charlemagne, and assigned
by him as a residence.to conquered Saxons. To the left, on the
Main, is the Deutsch-Ordenshaus (P1. F, 5), or House of the Teu-
tonic Order, erected in 1709. A little to the E. are the large Cattle
Market and Slaughter House. To the right is the Church of the
Magi (Pl. E, 4), rebuilt by Denzinger.

Farther down the river, on the handsome Schaumain Quay, is
the ¥Stidel Art Institute (Pl. D, 5), an establishment to which
Frankfort owes its high rank in the artistic world. It was founded
by Joh. Fried. Stidel (d. 1816), a citizen of Frankfort, who be-
queathed his piotures and engravings, his houses, and his fortune
to the town, in order to found a School of Art (now attended by
about 200 students). The collections, which are continually being
added to, consist of pictures, engravings, and drawings by eminent
masters, and numerous casts. The handsome building now occupied
by the collections was erected with the surplus funds of the institu-
tion from the designs of Oscar Sommer, and was opened in 1878.
It consists of a large central building in the Italian Renaissance
style, with a fine portal approached by a broad flight of steps, a
dome, and two projecting wings. The material is gray sandstone.
The six large reliefs above the round-arched windows are very
effective. Open daily except Mon. ; free on Tues., Thurs., Frid., &
Sat. 10-1, Sun. 11-1, & Wed. 11-4, at other times 1 .# ; catalogue
1 M. Director, Dr. H. Weissdcker, the first volume of whose elab-
orate catalogue (the old masters; 21/ ) was issued in 1900.

Ground Floor. The octagonal VESTIBULE contains casts from the
tomb of Maximilian 1. at Innsbruck. — The rooms to the left of this are
devoted to the Library and the collections of Drawings and Engravings;
the latter collection, containing 60,000 specimens, is one of the finest in
Germany (adm. Tues.-Sat. 11-1, and, except Thurs., 5-7). — The rooms
on the right tain Casts of ient, ieval, and Renai sculp-
tures. In the middle of the room are a few Greek vases and (No. 181) a
*Shield of Hercules in bronze, modelled by L. von Schwanthaler from He-
siod's description. The ante-room to the left contains (No. 99) a Terra-
cotta Altar ascribed to Gdorgio Andreoli of Gubbio (16113 colouring revived)
-nd a *Madonna (in aandutone{) by 7. Riemenschneider (No. 126), probably
the most perfect single figure by that master.

Upper Floor. S8traight in front of the staircase we enter an ANTE-RooM
containing & bust of Stadel, by Zwerger, and a few casts. The other rooms
are occupied by the —

**Picture Gallery (the old masters on the left and the modern
works on the right). It is especially rich in speci of the early-Flemish
8chool (16th cent.; Room 1II) and in Dutch paintings of the 17th centnrg.
The gem of the numerous North Italian works of the 15-16th cent. is

the ‘splendidly coloured masterpiece of Moretto (No. 46, Room ). The
early -German schools are scantily represented. Among the modern
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works are numerous paintings of the older Diisseldorf School, and of the
so-called ‘Nazarenes’, of whom Overbeck at Rome was the chief, as well
as a few examples of other German and foreign masters reeently added. —
The names of the artists appear on the picture-frames.

To the left of the staircase, through Corridor X, we enter —

Roou I (corner-room). Early 8panish and Italian Masters (14-15th cent.)
ia. Spanish School, Madonna, from Teruel (ca. 14C0); 7. Fra Angelico, Ma-
donna enthroned with angelic musicians; 16, Fiorenzo df Lorenzo, Madonna
enthroned, with 8S. Christopher and Sebastian; 33, 84. Carilo Crivelli, An-
nunciation (parts of a large nlhrgiece now at Milan). Also several Flor
entine reliefs of the Madonna (16th cent.).

Roox II. Italian and Spanish Masters. To the left: 43a. Titian(?),
Portrait ; *07. Velasques, Cardinal Gaspar Borgia, marked by delicacy of
psycholo’fiu] characterisation and vigorous colouring; 68. Velazques (studio-
giece) he Infanta Margarita, daughter of Philip IV. and comsort of
Kmp. Leopold I.; *58a. Coello, Charles II. of 8pain. — 20. Lombard School

(Bart. Veneto?), St. Catharine of Alexandria; 39. Cima da Conegliano,
Madonna; 59. Spagsoletio, Susannah ; *A2. Parmigianino, Portrait of a lady ;
*2AB, Moretio, Madonna with the four Latin Church Fathers, 8S. Gregory,
Jerome, Ambrose, and Augustine (damaged to some extent); 16. Perugino,
Madonnay 19. Macrino d’Alba, Triptych for an altar (‘a tempera’): the
Virgin, with 88. Joachim and Anna on her left, and on her right 8t.Joachim
receiving the promise. — 47. Moroni. Dominican monk; 22a. Correggio,

d of Casalmaggiore (spoiled); 52. Canaletto, Palace of the Doges at
Venice, — 9. Verrocchio, Madonna and Child (studio-piece); 14a. 4. Bronsino,
Portrait; 4. Moretlo, Madonna enthroned, with 88. Anthony and Sebastian ;
18. Bart. Veneto, Portrait.

Roox III (to the right of Room II.). Earlier Flemish aud German
Masters (15-16th cent.). To the left of the entrance: **98. Jam van Eyck,
‘Madonna of Lucca’, formerly in the possession of the Duke of Lucca;
*39. Petrus Cristus (a pupil of Jan van Eyck), Madonna (1457); 110. Qerard
David, Annunciation; 101. Rogier van der Weyden, Three sections of an
altar-piece of 8t. John (replicas of the paintings in the Berlin Museum);
Master of Fiémalle, 108. 8t. Veronica, *104. Virgin and Child, 102(.)éo$posite),
Trinity (grisaille, parts of a large altar-piece from Flémalle), 100. Penitent
Thief (fragment of a larger picture). — Entrance-wall: 108a. Dirk Bouts,
Madonna and Child ; *100. Rogier van der Weyden, Virgin with 88. Peter, John
the Baptist, Cosmas, and Damian, probably painted about 1450 for the Medici
in Florence; 108. Gerard David, 8t. Jerome before the Cross; *97. Dirk Bouts,
The Tiburtine Sibyl foretelling the birth of Christ to the Emp. Augustus.
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CABINETS IV (& V). Mostly Netherlandish and German works of the
16th century. 93. Master of the Death of the Virgin, Pietd, 8t.Veronica,
Joseph of Arimatheea (a triptychs; 1524). — CaB. V: L. Cranach the Elder,
87. Crucifixion, 88. Venus (1682): 73. Hans Baldung Grien, Witches'
Sabbath (1623); 74. French School (16th cent.), Portrait; 85. 4. Darer, Girl
of the Fiirleger family (copy of the Augsbnra{pletum; freely retouched);
95, 96. Barth. Bruyn the Elder, Portraits; 107. Memling (?), 118. Q. Matsys (*),
Portraits; 83. A. Diirer(?), Job's wife pouring water on him to alleviate
his sufferings; 337. Adam Elsheimer, Paul and Barnabas at Lystra (early
work); *T1. Holbein the Younger, 8ir George of Cornwall, holding a carnation.

Cas. VI (VII, & VIII). Netherlandish and German Works (17th cent.).
288. J. van der Heyde, Chiteau ot Loenersloot (figures by A. van der Velde);
205. Adr. van Ostade, Barn (1656); 284a. W. van de Velde the Younger. Sea-

iece ; *320. Adr. van de Velde, Meadow beside a forest (early work; 1658);
818. 8. de Viieger, The salute; 153. David Teniers ths Younger, The smoker;
204. Gerard Terburg, Woman drinking wine (damaged); *338. 4. Elsheimer,
Landscape with Bacchus and nymphs; 310. Ph. Wouverman, Cavalier at the
door of a tavern. — CasB. VII: 157c. Teniers the Younger, Amoretti in the
workshop of an alchemist; 808a. 4. Owyp, Dutch landscape; *147, *148.
A. Brouwer, Operations on peasants; Jan Steen, 216. Alchemist about to
throw his last thaler and the silver ornaments of his weeping wife into the
crucible, *215. Man jesting with a girl; 208. Ger. Dou, Girl with a candle
preparing supper. — Cab. VIIL: 152. Teniers the Founger, 8t. Jerome. —
To the right is —

Roox IX. Netherlandish Masters of the 17th century. To the left of the
door: 183. Rembrandt, David and Saul (ca. 1633); 260. Everdingen, Storm
at sea. — °399a. Tischbein, Goethe in the Campagna (1787). — . Th. de
Keyser, Equestrian portrait; 184. F. Bol, Portrait (164); 156. Teniers the
Younger, Rustic tavern; 244, 8. van Ruysdael, The ferry; *478, *1H. Frans
Hals, Man and his wife (163%); 181. School of Rembrandt, Parable of the
Labourers in the Vineyard (signature forged); *149. 4. Brouwer, A bitter
i)oﬁon; Teniers the Younger, 151. Cattle, 156. dompanioaxgicture to No. 155;

29. Rubens (?), Distgnes looking for & man (sketch); 308. J. G. Cuyp, Por-
trait of a boy; , J. D. de Heem . Breakfast-tabley 822, Jan Weenir,
Hunting trophies (1681). — 252. Ph. Koninck, Landscape; 167d. Teniers the
Younger, Boors dancing. — 273. J. van Ruysdael, Landscape (a late work);
*131. C. de Vos, Child in a small chair (1627); 820a. A. van de Velde, Stag-
hunt; 250. dert van der Neer, Landscape (1652).; 206a. 4. van Ostade, Pig-
killing (1637); 217. P. Janssens, Lady at a writing-table (signature forged);
*245. Sal. van Ruysdacl, River-landscape ; *157a. Teniers the Younger. Physician
in his study; 193. Aert. de Gelder, Portrait of the artist (1685); 241. J. van
Goyen, Harlem Meer; *317a. Jan Vermeer van Delft, The astronomer; 290.
M. Hobbema, Edge of a wood; 182. Rembrandt, Margaretha van Bilderdyk
(1633); 807. 4. Cupp, Cattle; 127. Rubens, King David playing the harp; 2(!1
Everdingen, Norwegian landscape with a saw-mill. — At the end of the
room to the left is —

Coxrripor X. Mostly nnimportmt works of various schools. 1st Sec.:
50. Téepolo, Continence of Scipio; b1. B. Belotto, Venice from San qu;gio
Maggiore. — 2nd Sec.: 7Aa. B. dtrigel, St. Catharine of Alexandria; TSa.
H. Baldung Grien, Adoration of the Holy Child (ca. 1520); 116. Fiemish bchool,
Revellers (1650) — 4th Sec.: German School (18th cent.). — bth Sec.:
Netherlandish School (47th cent.). — We now cross the landing to
corridor XII, to the right of which is —

Roou XI. Modern German works, including Overbeck’s Joseph sold by
his brethren (AT1; cartoon for the fresco in Berlin) and water-colours’ and
cartoons by Ed. von Steinle.

CorRIDOR XII. 1st Sec.: 526. A. Burger, View of Frankfort (1875); no
number, H. Thoma. Landscape. — 2nd Sec. : *Thoma, Eve; A57a. Lunteschiitz,
Schopevohauner (4855); 525. Burger, Family prayer. — 8rd Sec.: 467b. Lord
Leighton , Portrait of himself (1852); 40i. J. F. Morgenstern. Frankfort
harbour; 450. C. Morgenstern, Bay of Villafranca, — 4th(8ec.: 524, Burger,
Rustic meal; no number, Schdnieber, Architectural subject.

Roox XIII. Lessing, 410. Afier the storm, 439, Crusader at rest (1889),
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4. Patriarchal Oak; 414. W. Sckadow, The Wise and Foolish Virgins; 460,
Gailait, Abdication of Charles V., a small replica of the é)ictnre at Briissels.

Roox XIV. Large *Fresco ‘)y Philip Veit (No. 416), representing the
‘Introduction of Christianity into Germany’, with figures of ‘Italia’ and
‘Germania’ on thrones. This work, the masterpiece of the painter, com-
pleted in 1838, was skilfully sawn out of the wall in the old building and
transferred hither. — The room also contains numerous water-colours and
cartoons by Steinle and reeent acquisitions (Steinhausen, Landscape, The
artist’s wife).

RooM XV. 413. Overbeck, The Triumph of Religion in the Arts (1840);
419. P. Veit, Repose on the Flight into Egypt; 405. J. 4. Koch, Historic
landscape, with the Rape of Hylas; 429. Richter, 'Thunderstorm in the Sabine
Mountains (1830). We now enter —

Roox XXI. End-wall: *438, Lessing, Ezzelino in prison, refusing
spiritual consolation and resolving to die of hunger; *430. M. von Schwind,

he ‘Sangerkrieg’ at the Wartburg (reproductfon in oil of the fresco in
the Wartburg). — 441b. Steinle, Mary Magdalen at the Sepulchre; 458a.
Feuerbach, Roman woman; *Ad7. J. Becker, Shepherd struck by lightning;
458 ‘3‘ Wenglein, Landecape ; 467 a. Alma Tadema, Festival of Dionysus (1871).
— ABL. Rethel, Daniel in the lions’ den. — 532, 4. Lier, Potato harvest; 462a.
1‘;?0-, Cattle ; 4568. 4. Achendach, Storm at sea (1887); 538. Bafsch, Cattle;
*A37. C. F. Lessing, John Huss at the Council of Constance, one of the most
celebrated works of the Diisseldorfschool ; 444. Steinle, Tiburtine Sibyl (1848).

CaB. XVI. Ph. Veit, 421a. Moses in the ark of bulrushes, 421. Visitation
(1868), 418. Portrait of a clergyman; 404 Koch, Noah's sacrifice; 481. B,
von Schwind. Dance of Elves (1844).

Cas. XVII. 444a. Steinle, Portrait (4848); Schirmer, 468q. The Good
Samaritan , 458h. On the Tiber (1842) ; 424 a. Rottmann, Near Aulis (Greece);
468d. Dreder, Italian landscape.

Cas. XVIII. Modern German School. 580. Bocklin, Villa by the sea;
no number, *Lenbach, Emp. William I., Bismarek, and Moltke.

Cas. XIX. 586. Lembach, Portrait of Brentano, the artist (1884); no
number, Grétsner, Monks' quartette; 531. Defregger, Tyrolese woman; no
number, Tribner, Negro reading a newspaper.

Cas. XX. No number, Mesdag, Sea-rcene; A. Stsley, Lendscape with
river; 4880. Uhds, Christ at Emmaus; 535. Zigel, Flock of sheep; *Lieber-
mann, Orphan-children of Amsterdam.

In the S.W. part of Sachsenhausen we may mention the Hippo-
drome (P1. C, 6), opened in 1899, the Royal Institute of Experimental
Therapeutics,and the Town Hospital. —In the Hithner-Weg (Pl. G, 6)
is the Willemer- Hiuschen, celebrated through Goethe and Marianne
von Willemer (1814; now owned by the town).

From Frankfort to Nauheim and Cassel, see Baedeker's Northern
Germany. The first stations are : Bockenheim (p. 68), Eschershein-
Heddernheim, (6 M.) Bonames, and (9 M.) Vilbel.

A little to the S.W. of Heddernheim, on the road to Praunheim, is the
so-called Heidenfeld, where the remains of a Roman town, the chief place
in the Civitas Taunensium, with a stone fort of the time of Domitian, were
discovered in 1826. — At Vilbel the remains of a Roman bath have been
found in Messrs. Siesmayer’s nursery-gardens.

FroM FRANkFORT To MAYENCE (Hessische Ludwigsbahn ), 23/o M.,
in 86 min.-41/, hr. (fares 2 .4 90, 2.4 20, 1 .# 50 pf.; express
3.4 20, 2 4 40 pt.). — The train starts from the Central Station
(p. 221) and crosses the Main. 21/, M. Niederrad; ‘also‘a station
on the “Waldbahn' (p. 223), with the Frankfort racecourse. — The
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line runs at first through the Frankfort ‘Stadtwald’, but afterwards
affords a view of the Taunus to the right. 4 M. Goldstein, junction
of the line from Sachsenhausen; 7 M. Schwanheim; 9 M. Kelster-
bach; 14 M. Raunheim; 16 M. Riisselsheim; 18 M. Bischofsheim
(p. 261). — 21 M. Gustavsburg-Kostheim. Gustavsburg was made
a fortress by the Swedes in 1633 and is now a manufacturing sub-
urb of Mayence ; Kostheim lies on the opposite (right) bank of the
Main, The train then crosses, by the bridge mentioned at p. 165,
to the Neuthor Station, and runs thence beneath the citadel to the
central station in Mayence (p. 164).

29. The Taunus.

The name Taunus, in the wider sense, applies to the whole of the
mountainous region between the Main, the Rhine, and the Lahn, but is
usually restricted to the thern mountains of that district, sloping down
to the Main and Rhine, and extending from Nauheim on the E. to Ass-
mannshausen on the W. Geologically, the range consists of clay-slate with
grauwacke on the N. The hills are covered with forests of beech and
pine. The highest points are the Greal Feldberg (2887 ft.), the Little Feld-
berg (2110ft.), and the Aitkdnig (2615 ft.).

One and a half or two days suffice for & glimpse at the most inter-
esting spots in this district: Railway to Homburg, where the night is spent,
1/2-3/s hour. Next morning, ascent of the Feldderg in 31/ hra., either via
the Saalburg or direct; descent to Kdnigstein 1}/3 hr.; thence by Falkenstein
to Cronderg 11/z hr.; or by the Rossert to Eppstein in 3!/3 hrs. Those who
devote a single day to the Feldberg generally start from Cronberg or Kinig-
stein. — All routes and paths in the Taunus are marked with colours
which are explained by ‘Central Tablets’ ted at the erossings and in
the charts (1 .4 25 pf.) published by the ‘Taunus Club’.

CrcLisTs may make a pleasant tour by riding from Homburg to (3 M.)
Oberursel, (8 M.) Cronberg, (2!/2 M.) Kinigstein, (4 M.) Fischbach, and (3 M.)
Eppstein. The distance from Konigstein to Hochst is about 7 M.; the
portion before Soden (3 M.) takes careful riding.

a. Taunus Railway from Frankfort to Castel (Mayence) and
Wiesbaden.

RAILWAY to Castel (20/ M.) in 1/3-1 hr. (fares 2 .4 80, 2 410, 1 4 40 pf.;
express 3 M 10, 2 # 30pf.). — To Wiesbaden (26 M.) in '44-1'/9 hr. (fares
3 4 40, 2°4 60, 1 .4 0 pf.; express 3 ¥ 80, 2 4 90 pf., 2 A).

The Taunus Railway, one of the oldest in Germany, was opened
in 1839. Leaving the town, the train skirts the Main, which flows
into the Rhine between Kostheim (see above) and Castel ; the river
is occasionally seen. The Nidda is now crossed,

51/ M. Hachst (290 ft.; Schmidt, Humboldt-Str., at the rail.
station, D. 1 .4 20 pf.; Hotel Casino, Casino-Str.; Hirsch, Nassauer
Hof, both in the Haupt-Str.; wine at the Schine Aussicht, also
rooms), a Roman frontier-fortress in the time of Augustus (comp.
p. 244), and now a thriving little town with 14,000 inhab. and large
dye-works. has belonged to Mayence since 1352. The porcelain
factory (1740), which once enjoyed considerable reputation, was
destroyed by the French in 1794. The Rom. Cath. Church of St.
Justinus, on the lofty right bank of the Main, beyond ‘the Haupt-
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Str., a 9th cent basilica, many times rebuilt, has a Gothic choir added
in 1443. The Statue of Bismarck (1899) is by Alois Mayer. A palace
of the Electors of Mayence here, built in the 46-17th cent.,
destroyed by the Frankforters in 1634, but the handsome tower and
the moat still remain. The bullding is now used as a municipal
office. Behind it is the Rothe Haus, which in the 18th cent. was
a summer-residence of the Electors.

From Hochst to Konigstein, see p. 246; to Soden, see p. 247; to Eppstein
and ZLimburg, see p. U8.

91/, M. Hattersheim. The white Hofheim Chapel (p. 248) and the
Meisterthurm can be seen on the nearer spurs of the Taunus.

At (131/; M.) Fisrsheim (Hirsch), a village on the Main, omni-
buses and carriages are in waiting to convey travellers to the
(41/2M.) baths of Weilbach (sulphur-springs), with their Curhaus and
pleasant grounds. The village of Weilbach lies 3/4 M. to the N. of the
baths. Pleasing view from the ‘Kanszel’ (pulpit), a hill with four
trees, 1/o M. above Diedenbergen, and 3 M. to the N. of Weilbach.

171/s M Hochheim (405 1t.; Schwan, fair; wine at Payer's), a
small town with 3000 inhab. , celebrated for its wines. The most
esteemed is yielded by the vineyards of the old Domdechanei(deanery).
The sparkling ‘Hock’ made at Hochheim (whence the name), is
much prized, and is largely exported to England (comp. p. xxiv).

On entering (201/; M.) Castel (p. 154 ; Anker) the line intersects
the fortifications. The station is situated close to the bridge over the
Rhine (comp. Plan of Mayence, p. 154). Through-carriages for the
Rheingau are detached from the train here (R. 20

The pier of the MaYENCE S8TEAMER lies about 300 ydo from the urival
glatt‘orm (to the left; p. 164). — OmniBUs and TraMwaY to the Central

tation in Mayence, see p. 154. CaB to Mayence (preferable for travellers
continuing their ‘)oumey at once by steamer), one-horse 1 ., two-horse
11/s A4 (bridge-toll extra); each box 20 pf.

23 M. Curve is connected by a short branch-line with Biebrich

(p.136). — 26 M. Wiesbaden, see p. 145.

b. From Frankfort to Homburg.

11 M. Ra1LwaY in 28-43 min. (fares 1 4 60, 1 .4 20, 80 pf.). Trains start
from the Central Station; best views on the left

The Homburg line coincides with the Cassel line as far as @Mm)
Bockenheim, now included in Frankfort (electric tramway, p. 223),
with a picturesque church, an old watch-tower, numerous factories,
and large barracks. — We then cross the Nidda. 4 M. Rodelheim,
junction of the Cronberg line (p. 240); 71/o M. Weisskirchen, —
91/4 M. Oberursel (Schiitzenhof, very fair; Bar; Pension Alemannia),
a small but very old town, is much visited by the Frankforters in
summer. (Ascent of the Feldberg from Oberursel, see p. 247;
electric tramway to the Hohe Mark.)

11 M. Homburg. — Railway Btations. 1. Ceniral Station, Untere

Luisen-8tr., for the line to Frankfort. — 2. Friedberger Bahnhof, 2 min.
walk farther down, for the lines to Friedberg and Usingen.

BAEDEKER'S Rhme 15th Edit 16
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Hotels (all with electric light; most of the larger ones with garden
and lift, closed in winter). *HOTEL pu PaRc, Kaiser-Friedrich-Promenade ;
*HoTeL VICTORIA, Luisen-Str., B. 5-12, B. 1)/2, déj. 8, D. at 7 p.m. 5, pens.
from 10 #; *HOTEL AUGUSTA VICTORIA, pens. from 9 ., in the same
street; *GraNp HOTEL aAND ViLLA FURSTENRUHE, in the same street, R.
from &l/g. B. 11/3, déj. 8, D. (7.30 p.m.) 6, pens. from 10l/; .#; °*BELLEVUE,
Ludwig-8tr., opposite the Cur-Garten, R. 8-7, B. 112, déj. 21/2-8, D. 4-b,
Benn. from !i‘/z }: *MarTROPOLE, Ferdinand-Platz, near the station, R. 3-8,

. 1155, déj. 21/, D. 4, pens. from 9'/z 4 ; *Savoy, Kisseleff-Str., B. from 3,
B. 11/, d¢j. 2fz, D. 4, pens. from 9 4; *HOTEL MiNgrva, Kaiser-
Friedrich-Promenade, corner of Ludwig-Str., R. 3-15, B. 1/, D. at1 p.m. 4,
at Tp.m 5, pens. from 8 #; *ADLER, Luisen-Str., open all the year round,
R. from 8, B. 11/, déj. 2/, D. at 1.16 p.m. 3, pens. from 8 4. All these
are of the first class. — CENTRAL, Luisen-Str., opposite the Curhaus;
‘WINDSOR, opposite the Cur-Garten, R. 8-5, B. 11/;, D. 2-3, pens. from
8 M#; HOTEL d’ANGLETERRE, Luisen-Str., near the station, well spoken
of. — 8econd-class (recommended to passing travellers): STRASBBGRGER
Hor, Thomas-Str.; ScEiTzENHOF, Auden-Str. i; FrankrurTez Hor,
Elisabethen-8tr. 19, R. 11/5-21/3, pens. from 4z 4 ; SaaLBavu, Untere Luisen-
Str.; GOLDENE ROSE, Luisen-Str. 26, R. from 1 #; E1seNBaHN-HOTEL, at
the station, the last two quite unpretending; BrauNscEWEIG, Luisen-8tr. 72,
near the station, a Jewish house. — There are also many private hotels
and pensions. — The pleasantest Private Lodgings are in the Kaiser-Friedrich-
fhromenade and its cross-streets, the cheapest are in the upper part of

e town.

Restaurant at the Curhaus. — Beer. Central Hotel, D. from 13/s 4&;
Strassburger Hof, D. 13/, M ; Hotel Windsor; Schéitzenhof; Saalbay. — Con-
foctioners: Brake, Luisen-Str. near the Curhaus; Lorcher, Elisabethen-Str.

Music in summer, 7.30-8.30 a.m., by the Springs; at 3.30-5 and 810 p.m.
in the Cur-Garten. Adm. for passing travellers 1 ., Sun. 50 pf. Also a
theatre, concerts, and balls.

Visitors’ Tax: 1 pers. 20 #, 2 pers. 30 .#, 3 pers. 33 .4, 4 pers. 44 4,
e;)ch addit. pers. 6 .#; for those staying not more than a week, 8, 12, 16,
! Oarriage with one horse from the station to the town, 1-2 pers. 70 pf.,
3-4 pers. 1 .#, box 20 &Jf.; within the town or to the mineral springs,
with one horse 50 or 70 pf., with two horses 1 4 ; per day 18 and 22 .&.
To Cronberg with one horse 9 or 10, with two horses 12 4.

Electric Tramway from the Central Station to Dornholshausen (20 pf.),
and to the Saalburg (40 min., 60 pf.; in winter on Sun. only), with branch-
lines to the Gothic House, in the Grosse Allée, and to Kirdorf.

Post Office, Lui Str., opposite the Curhaus.

English Church, Ferdinand- Str., near the railway -station, with 500
sittings; Bun. services during summer at 8.30a.m., 11 a.m., and 4 p.m.
Daily Matins at 8.30 a.m. — Presbyterian Services in the Schlosskirche at
11.30a.m. and 7.16 p.m. in July and August.

Homburg vor der Hohe (640 ft.), a town with 12,600 inhab.
(inel. Kirdorf), situated amid the S.E. spurs of the Taunus Mts.,
formerly belonged to Eppstein (p. 249). It was the residence of
the Landgraves of Hesse-Homburg, a collateral line of the grand-
ducsl family of Hesse, from 1662 to 1866, when this branch of the
family became extinct, and is one of the most popular watering-
places in the Rhineland (about 12,000 visitors annually, one-third
of whom are English).

The uninteresting old town, with remains of the old town-wall
and three towers, lies 1/, M. above the rail. station. The visitors®
quarters le in the new town, between the Luisen-Str. and the Cur-
Park. In the Lumssex-StrAssE, which runs.from -the station to
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the N.W., are the chief Hotels, the Theatre, the Curhaus, the Post
Office, the Town Hall, and a War Monument.

In the Karser-FRIEDRICH-PROMENADE are marble busts of Emp.
Frederick I111. and his Consort, by Uphues, Near it is the elegant
Russian Chapel, by L. Jacobi (1897).

The Curhaus, the chief rendezvous of visitors, built in 1841-43
by the brothers Blanc, of Monte Carlo, and several times enlarged
since 1860, contains a number of very handsome apartments, a well-
supplied reading-room, and (until 1904; comp. p. 244) the Saal-
burg Museum (adm. 10-12 & 3-6; 25 pf.), with a well- arranged
collection of antiquities found on the Saalburg (p. 244) and in the
neighbourhood of Homburg, a good model of the Saalburg, and a
reconstruction of a Roman watch-tower. A terrace on the N. side,
partly covered with glass, is a favourite resort in fine weather, and
the corridors of the groundfloor afford a sheltered promenade during
rain.

At the back of the Curhaus is the Cur-Garten, to the right of
which are the Curhaus Baths, renovated in 1902. Hence we descend,
crossing the Kaiser-Friedrich-Promenade, to the fine *Cur-Park,
which is about 125 acres in extent. Broad walks lead hence to the
right to the Lawn Tennis Courts, the Solquelle (bored in 1898), and
the Whey Cure Institute, much frequented in the afternoon. This
lies at the beginning of the ‘Brunnen-Allée’, containing the chaly-
beate and saline Sprines, the chief of which is the Elisabeth-Brunnen,
famous as a salt-spring even in Roman times. Near the two ad-
joining ‘Trinkhallen’ are well-kept flower-beds, a palm-house, and
the band-stand. The Stahlbrunnen and the Luisengquelle are less
saline than the Elisabethbrunnen, but are richer in iron, especially
the first-named. The Kaiserbrunnen and the Ludwigsbrunnen are
used chiefly for bathing. Near the last is the large * Kaiser- Wilhelm-
Bad, built by L. Jacobi and opened in 1890 (bath-hours 7-1 and
4-6, Sun. 8-12). .

At the W. end of the town (we ascend the Luisen-Strasse and
Schulgasse and turn to the left through the Herrengasse) rises the
Schloss, which was erected, partly of stone from the Saalburg, by
Landgrave Frederick II. in 1680-85, was rebuilt in 1820-40, and
was fitted ap in 1866 for the use of the royal family of Prussia.
Above a gateway in the upper court is the front half of an equestrian
statue, and opposite to it a bust of the landgrave, who, under the
leadership of the Great Elector, decided the victory of the Branden-
burgers over the Swedes at Fehrbellin in 1675 by the spirited charge
of his cavalry. In the N.E. corner is a Roman portico from Brau-
weiler (p. 16). The Weisse Thurm, which rises here to a height of
188 ft., 18 a relic of the old castle of Hdnberg (14th cent.) and
eommands an extensive view. The Palace Garden is open to the
public. Adm. to the interior of the palace, 1-2 pers. 1 4, each
addit. pers. 50 pf., to the tower H0 & 20 pf. (on Sun: 25 pf. only

16+
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for both palace and tower). — Adjoining the E. corner of the Schloss
is the Old Protestant Church, with the burial-vault of the Landgraves.

WaLks. Besides the Cur-Park mentioned at p. 243, the traveller may
also visit the Hardt or Hardtwald, adjoining theé Curhaus grounds; the
Grosse Tannenwald, V/z hr. to the N.W. of Homburg, on the Grosse Allée,
near the Gothic House, built in 1825 and used by the Landgrave as a hunt-
ing-seat (restaurant; elec. tramway, see p. 212); the Kieine Tannenwald
(dairy), 20 min. to tile ‘W.; the Luther-Eicke, 3/¢ hr. from Dornholshausen
(see below), whence the path is indicated by blue crosses; the Wildpark
(restaurant) with its numerous deer, !/4 hr. from the Gothic House; the
Goldyru%(ib% ft.), 1 br. from the Gothic House. — Ascent of the Feldberg,
see p.

An EXPEDITION TO THE SAALBURG may be made by the electric tram-
way (p. 242). Beyond (1Y/4 M.) Dornholzhausen (Scheller, D. 1}/3, pens. 4 4 ;
Deutsches Haus, unpretending) the tramway ascends rapidly (maximum
gradient 1:18) to the comfortable Saalburg Ins (view-terrace), on the ridge
of the Taunus. Walkers from Dornholzhausen follow a path indicated by
yellow marks, which leads straight on to the S8aalburg in 1 hr.; or they
may follow the blue-marked path via the Luther-Eiche to the (1 hr.)
Herzberg (1980 ft. ; view-tower) and thence a path indicated by green marks
in 1/g-3/; hr.

The Baalburg (1381 ft.), on the ridge of the Taunus between the roads
leading to Usingen on the right and to Obernbain on the left, was one
of the forts belonging to the Pfahlgraben (Limes), a line of intrenchments .
844 M. long constructed about 70 A.D. to protect Rhetia and the Germanic
provinces against the warlike Germans and fulfilling this function for
about two centuries. It extended from Kelheim to Lorch, then turned
northwards to Miltenberg, and finally stretched towards the N.W. to Ems and
Rheinbrohl (p. 74). — The Saalburg, which is the largest, so far as known,
of the forts on the Pfahlgraben (measuring 725 by 471 ft.), was discovered
in 1863 by the excavations of Cohausen and Jacobi, and the work of
restoration is being partly carried out by the latter. It is generally
regarded, though without definite proof, as the fortress re-erected by
Germanicus, son of Drusus, ‘super vestigia paterns praesidit in monte Tauno’.

Leaving the station, and passing the ruined camp (taverns, wells, etc.)
and the commandant’s house (left), we soon reach the 8. gate, the Porta
Decumanas (No. & on the inset in the Map, p. 240; 25 ft. wide), which,
together with the adjoining wall (10-15 ft. high), the bridge over the two
trenches, and the E. gate (Porta Principalis Dextra), has now been restored.
At the entrance are a good plan of the fort and a bronze statue of
Emperor Antoninus Piug by J. Gotz (1901). The Sfaalburg Museum (p. 248)
is to be removed in 1904 to the newly-restored Praeforium, in the middle
of the fort. A short distance beyond the Porta Praetoria (No.1 on the
plan) or N. gate, rises the Pfahlgraben itself, here distinctly recognis-
able. The Roman military road leading from the 8. gate to Heddernheim
(p- 289) was flanked, in the customary fashion, by tombstones. The mortuary
house re-erected a little to the left, on the ancient foundations, contains
a few relics (key kept by the custodian of the 8aalburg; fee).

At the Dreimihlborn, /2 M. to the N.E. of the Saalburg, to the right
of the Oberhain road, and also at the Drususkippel, some remains of Ger-
manic-Roman open-air forges have been preserved. — A road, leaving the
Usingen road to the right, about 250 yds. beyond the fort, descends vid
the Lochmahle (restaurant) to (20 min.) the Saalburg station (p. 215).

About /4hr. to the E,, beyond the mortuary house, rises the Froh-
liche-Mawnnskops (1680 ft.; belvedere), the path to which is indicated at
first by red, then by blue marks. The blue-marked path goes on to the
Gickelsburg (1685 ft.), with remains of an ancient circular fortification, and
the Pelagius-Plats , where it rejoins the red-marked path (R )
by which we may return through the Hardtwald to Homburg.

The ascent of the Feldberg may be made in 21/2-3 hrs, from the Saalburg
by following the path (indicated by yellow marks) outside the intrench-
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ment. About 1 hr. from the top is the S8andplacken (p. 247). From the
Saalburg inn the shortest route follows at first the path (green marks) viid
the Herzberg (p. 244).

Frox HoMBURG TO UsINGEN, 141/; M., railway in about 1 hr. — 21/s M.
Seuldery. — 3 M. Friedrichsdorf (Adler; Weisser Thurm, a restaurant above
the town). founded by Huguenots in 1687, is a small industrial town,
formerly belonging to Homburg, with 1200 inhab. who still retain their
French tongue. Branch-line to Fiiedberg, see below. — 41/ M. Kdppern.
_ 7_73 M. Saalburg, the station for the Saalburg (p. 244); 81/ M. Wehrheim
(1047 ft.); 14 M. Anspach, the station for (b M.) Neu-Weilnau and (5 M.)
Bchmitten (p. 209). — 141/ M. Usingen (906 ft.; Adler), a small town with
1900 inhab., residence of the Princes of Nassau-Usingen from 1659 to 1774.

Frox HouBURG TO FRIEDBERG, 14 M., railway in /-1 hr. — The line
diverges to the E. from the Usin% line at (3 M.) Friedrichsdors (see above),
b M. Holzhausen vor der Hbhe (807 ft.); 6 M. Rodheim vor der Hohe; 8 M.
Rosbach vor der Hohe. — Priedbery, see Baedeker's Northern Germany.

¢. From Frankfort to Cronberg or Konigstein. Feldberg.

FroM FRANKFORT To CRONBERG, 10 M., railway in about 3/, br.
(fares 1 4 40 pf., 1 4, 70 pf.). — 41/ M. Ridelheim (p. 241);
61/ M. Eschborn; Ti/s M. Nieder-Hochstadt.

. 10 M. Cronberg. — Hotels. *Kaiser FrIZDRICH, nearest the station,

with modern comforts, R. 3-7, B. 4, D. from 11/;, pens. 6-10 #; FRANK-
rURTER Hor, with good paintings by Frankfort artists in the dining-room;
ScHiTZENHOF, B 1!/2-21/; B. 1, D. 13/4-2/;, pens. 41/2-6 .4, all with gardens
and views. — Hahn's Restaurant, at the station, /2 M. from the town,
very fair,

Cronberg (1015 ft.), a small town with 2800 inhab., is picturesquely
sitnated on a hill, surrounded by orchards and chestnut-groves, and
commanded by a Castle (1095 ft.) of the 13th cent. and by a Chéteau
of the 16th (restored). These belonged to the Knights of Cronberg,
who resided here down to 1704, when the family became extinct.
They are now the property of Princess Frederick Charles of Hesse
(no admission). Cronberg is a favourite summer-resort of the citizens
of Frankfort, including quite a colony of artists, who possess a
number of pleasant villas in the environs, and, like Konigstein, it
is also well adapted as headquarters for excursions into the Taunus
region. About 1/ M. to the N.E. is Schloss Friedrichshof, built in
1889-91 for the Empress Frederick (d.1901), but now also belonging
to Princess Frederick Charles. A monument to Emp. Frederick I11.,
by Uphues, was erected here in 1902.

At the entrance to Cronberg is a ‘Central Tablet’ (p. 240). —
The road to (2 M.) Falkenstein (diligence daily; also omnibus)
follows the main street of the village. After about 4 M: the road to
" Konigstein (p. 246) diverges to the left. Walkers take the footpath
through the woods to the left, immediately beyond this road, and in
20 min. more reach the village of —

Falkenstein (ca. 1310 ft.), about 41/ M. from Kouigstein. It
contains the Curanstalt Falkenstein, and close by are the Frankfurter
Hof (pens. 5 .4) and the Taunus Inn. The wooded hill to the; W. is
crowned with the ruin of Burg Falkenstein (1465 ft.),” thepath to
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which (12 min.) is indicated by a finger-post at the upper end
of the town. This castle, the ancestral seat of the powerful Arch-
bishop Kuno of Traves, was eracted in the 14th cent. on the site
of the ancient fortress of Niiring, and was destroyed in 1688.
*View from the tower (key at the village). The adjacent Teufelstein
and the Dirrsche Hduschen are also good points of view.

The road from Cronberg to (3 M.) Kdnigstein (diligence once
daily ; omnibus oftener) is at first identical with that to Falkenstein
(p. 245). — From Soden to Konigstein, see p. 248.

Frox FrankrorT (HicasT) To KonrasTRIN, 10 M., light railway
in about 3/4 hr. (fares 1.4 60 pf., 1 & 10 pf.; through-carriages
from Frankfort by certain trains); best views to the right. — From
Frankfort to (51/g M.) Hochst, see p. 240. — The railway diverges
to the right from the main line and pursues a N. W. direction to the
Liederbach-Thal, affording on the way fine views of the Taunus
range (r.), and later of the Hofheimer Capelle and the Meisterthurm
(p. 248). Chief stations: 41/y M. (from Hochst) Miinster (560 ft.);
b1y M. Kelkheim-Fischbach (p. 249), the latter 11/ M. to the N.W .,
near the Staufen and the Rossert; 8 M. Schneidhain (890 ft.;
p. 249). — We pass below the S. side of the castle.

Konigstein. — The Railway Station (1105 ft.) lies about 1/3 M. below
the town. — Hotels. *HdreL Prarr, with large garden, R. 2'/2-81, B. 1,
D. 21/s, pens. 510 #; *HoTer CoLnoseus, with garden, R. 11/2-3, B. 1,
pens. 5-61/2 & ; BENDER, STaDT FRANKFURT, both plain. — Beer at Messer's
and at Prohaskty’s. — durhaul Taunusblick (physician, Dr. Kohnstamm);

Dr. Amelung’s Curanstalt; Hydropathic Establishment. — Visitors’ Tax,
1 pers. b, families 8-10 4.

Konigstein (1190 ft.), a picturesquely-situated little town with
2200 inhab., many pleasant villas, and a chiteau of the Grand-Duke
of Luxembourg, is one of the most popular resorts in the Taunus
region. To the W. of the town rise the imposing ruins of the Castle of
Konigstein (ca. 1310 ft.), which was destroyed by the French in 1796.
This stronghold is mentioned in history for the first time in 1225;
in 1581 it came into the possession of the Electors of Mayence,
whose armorial bearings are still to be seen over the entrance; in
1792 it was captured by the French, and in 1793 by the Prussians.
The vaults and casemates are still partly preserved. Fine view

from the tower.

ExoursioNs. From the E. end of the town we may ascend to (20 min.)
the view-tower on the Hartenbery. The village of Mammolshain, prettily
situated !/ hr. farther on, amid fruit-trees, lies 20 min. above Cronthal
(ﬁ' . — A path, indicated by green marks, leads from the E. end of
the town to (85 min.) Burg Falkenstein (p. 245). — From the N. end
of the town a road leads through the pretty Bilithai to (3!/3 M.) Ruppertshain,
1 M. above which is Eppenhain. Near the latter is the Rossert (p. 249), also
reached from Konigstein by a picturesque direct route vid Schiessborn
(2'/4 hrs.). — From Konigstein to Eppstsin, b M., see p. 9.

The highest point of the Taunus Mts. is the Great Feldberg
7880 ft.), the top of which consists of quartzose rock, while the
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slopes are composed of clay-slate. The whole mountain, except the
flat grassy plateau on the summit, is clothed with wood. The dining-
room of the older of the two inns at the top (D. 2, pension 4 &)
contains some good pictures by Frankfort painters. The view
tower on the summit (98 ft. high), built in 1901-2, commands an
admirable panorama in clear weather, which, unfortunately, occurs
but seldom. The block of quartz, 10 ft. in height and 35 ft. in
breadth, near the inns, is mentioned in a document as early as 812,
and has been known as the Brunhildenbett since 1043.

To the S.E. of the Feldberg rises the *Altkonig (2615 ft.), to the
S.W. the Kleine Feldberg (2710 ft.). The summit of the former is
enclosed by a huge double girdle of loose stones, with a rectangular
outer rampart on the S.W. side. The outer circle has a circumference
of 1660 yds., the inner one of 1260 yds. The stones of this pre-Ro-
man fortification were probably originally arranged in layers with
trunks of trees between, so as to form a perpendicular wall.

A8ORNT OF THE FELDBERG FROM FALKENSTEIN (13/4 hr.). A broad road
(white marks) ascends gradually from the upper part of the village to
(2 min.) a finger-post indicating a path on the left to the Hattensteiner
Schlag and the (3/4 hr.) Puchstanz, an open space in the wood (rfmts. at
the refuge-hut in summer), whence the top is reached in 3/4 hr. more. —
A gath marked with red leads to the right from the upper end of Falken-
stein vid the Streng-Hiltte to the Alksndg. The path from the Altkonig
to (85 min.) the Fuchstanz is marked at first with yellow (path to Ober-
ursel), then with green marks.

ASCENT OF THE FXLDBERG FROM KONIGSTEIN, 21/ hrs. (carriage 12 .#).
We ascend the Frankfort and Limburg road for about 21/z M., then take
the Reiffenberg road to the right, which leads vid the Seelenborn to the
(11/2 M.) Rothe Kreuz (inn). Thence we may either follow the red marks,
to the right, vid the (11/4 M.) saddle between the Liitle and the Great Feid-
berg, to the (20 min.) summit of the latter; or, following the blue marks,
we may make a détour of about }/z M. vid the remains of a Roman fort
and entrenchments discovered in 1892.

FroM OBERURSEL (3 hrs.). The new road 